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CHARLES ARMAND TTJFIX, MARQUIS DE LA
ROUERIE,

Brigadier-general is the Continental Army of the American
Revolution.

A Memoir read before The Historical Society of Pennsylvania, May 7, 1S77,

BY TOWNSEND WARD.

About four years ago, at my request, aji acquaintance of

mine, a gentleman of Brittany, who had been with the un-

fortunate Maximilian in his expedition to Mexico, visited

the Hall of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania. In ex-

amining the interesting portraits that adorn the walls, his

attention was suddenly arrested, and he exclaimed, u Ah!

there you have the unfortunate Armand, the Marquis de la

Eouerie. I wa3 born at no srreat distance from his ruined

castle ; I have now lived for several years in Germantown,

and have often made inquiries concerning him, but no one

could tell me of him ; his very name appeared to be un.

known to the descendants of the people with whom he served

during the long years of your Revolutionary War. Perhaps

you can tell me of him V*

It seemed almost like a reproach to hear these remarks, for

as long ago as the year 1859 I had intended to prepare some

Vol. ii.—

1
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2 General Armando Marquis de la Rouerie.

notice, however brief, of Armand's romantic career. The
subject had then acquired a new interest here, from the

acquisition by the Society of his undoubted original portrait,

which you now see before you. 1

Among the families, with whom the foreign officers were

most intimate in this country, was that of Mr. John Craig, of

Philadelphia. His wife, whom he had married in Tobago,

one of the TVest Indies, was a highly educated and accom-

plished woman, who spoke several of the modern languages

with great facility. His house, where he kept up a generous

hospitality, was much frequented by the Chevalier la Lu-

zerne, the Duke de Lauzun, Count Fersen, the Marquis de

Chastellux, and, among others, by the Marquis de la Rouerie.

Du Ponceau, the Aid-de-Camp of Baron Steuben, in his

manuscript memoirs, now in the possession of our Society,

thus writes of the mistress of the house.

"While speaking of the stars of that day (1782), I must

not forget Mrs. Craig, the mother of the present Mrs. Nicholas

Biddle. She was the wife of a respectable merchant, who,

at that time, had not made the fortune which he came to-

afterwards. She was a little woman, but perfectly beautiful.

She had her education in Europe, and spoke French and

Italian with perfect purity. She had read a great deal, and

her manners were most attractive. She would not have been

out of her place in the most brilliant circle of Europe. She

had two sisters-in-law, Jenny and X-ancy, both still living

(1839), who contributed to the agreeableness of her society.

Her house was the resort of all that was elegant and accom-

plished. I shall never forget the happy moments that I en-

joyed in that delightful society."

On Armand's return to France in 1784, he manifested his

appreciation of the kindness he had received here, by sending

to Mrs. Craig his portrait. This descended to Mr. Edward
Biddle, her grandson, and a few years since passed into pos-

session of this Society.

After gathering from Mr. Binel the little that he could

tell, though it was little indeed but of the ruin left by the

1 An engraving1 from this portrait accompanies this Memoir.





General Armand, Marquis de la Rouerie, 3

deluge of blood of the French Revolution, I gleaned from our

various volumes what faint allusions they contained concern-

ing the gallant volunteer, who had earned the esteem and

love of Washington, and whose memory had so nearly faded

from the earth. With this rather scant material, and with a

few of Armand's letters, courteously lent me from among the

collections of the curious, and the traditionary reminiscences

kindly furnished me by the Reverend Mr. "Wildes, together

with the remarks by Chastellux and Chateaubriand and Ali-

son, I have endeavored to write the story of one of the men
of our Revolution.

The Castle of de la Rouerie, near Basonge, in Brittany, is

in ruins, and the Turin family, which once possessed it, is now
extinct. The structure was of stone, with several towers, and

was surrounded by an ample moat, faced with stone, and fed

by a small lake or pond, of the extent of about one hundred

acres. There was a drawbridge over this moat, and a port-

cullis to guard the entrance to the castle. An extensive forest

in the rear belonged to its lord. In front, beyond the lake,

was a lande, as it is there called, or heath. The domain was

of considerable extent, about five thousand acres, on which

there were perhaps thirty-five families on the cultivated parts,

with some fifteen families attached to the forest. Besides

owning this ample estate, the Tufins were the feudal lords of

all the country around, for the distance of about ten miles.

The courts of justice for the people were held by them, and

they received the tithes of that region. They ranked among

the distinguished and illustrious families of Brittany.

Here, in 1756, was born Charles Armand Tufin, Marquis

de la Rouerie. In his early youth, this nobleman entered a

regiment of the French Guards, commanded by the Duke de

Biron; 1 and in no long time was inspired with a passion for a

beautiful actress, Mademoiselle Beaumenil, which soon led to

a duel. The fear of a mesalliance excited opposition on the

part of his family, from whom, however, he escaped, to seek a

refuge in the Monastery of La Trappe. It has been said, but

with what amount of truth cannot now be known, that the

1 Sparks' Washington, Letter to the Duke, vii. 394. February 3, 1781.





4 General Armand, Marquis de la Bouerie.

Marquis, on a visit to his beloved, found her lying on the floor

beheaded ; and that it was the shock which he experienced

from this scene that drove him to the retreat of perpetual

silence. 1 Whether this was the case, and whether his family

secured his release, as is asserted, or he himself effected it, the

fact is known that early in the rebellion of the American

Colonies against the Crown of England, the Marquis left

[Nantes in the American ship Morris, commanded by the gal-

lant Captain Anderson, who bore despatches from Dr. Franklin

to the Congress. A recent statement is, that " Armand fled,

and concealed himself in a Trappist monastery, where he

finally discovered himself, and was taken to the ancestral

castle. Afterwards, on his return to the Garde-du-Corps, he

discovered the betrayer of his love affair, and shot him in a

duel. Thereupon he fled to Xantes."3

Christopher Marshall, in his Remembrancer, writes, "April

13, 1777, Acct. came of ship from France, being chased

by three men-of-war for a whole day. (The captain) finding

he could not get clear, ran her aground and blew her up, after

securing all her papers and crew ; but Captain Anderson him-

self, who, staying too long, was lost with the ship." On the

same day, John Adams, then in Philadelphia, writes to his

wife, that this vessel, "with cannon, arms, gunlocks, powder,

etc., was chased into Delaware Bay by two or three men-of-

war; that she defended herself manfully against their boat3
•

1 No doubt this belief arose from a striking incident in the life of the

founder of the order of the Trappists. The pleasures and dissipation of a

French nobleman, Bouthillier de Ranee, -were suddenly converted into devo-

tion and melancholy by the following circumstance- His affairs had obliged

him to absent himself for some time from a lady with whom he had lived in

the most intimate and tender connections. On his return to Paris, in order

to surprise her agreeably, and to satisfy his impatient desire of seeing her,

he went without ceremony or previous notice to her apartment. She lay

stretched out an inanimate corpse, disfigured beyond conception by the small-

pox; and the surgeon was about to separate the head from the body, because

the coffin had been made too short. De Ranee for a few moments was motion-

less with horror, and then retired abruptly from the world to a monastery, in

which he passed the remainder of his days in the greatest mortification and

devotion.

2 Rattermann, Deutsche Pioneer, viii. 437.





General Armand, Marquis de la Rouerie. 5

and barges, but finding no possibility of getting elear she ran

aground. The crew, and two French gentlemen passengers,

got on shore, but the captain, determined to disappoint his

enemy in part, laid a train and blew up the ship, and lost his

own life, unfortunately, in the explosion. I regret the loss of

so brave a man much more than that of the ship and cargo.

The people are fishing in order to save what they can, and I

hope they will save the cannon. The French gentlemen, it is

said, have brought despatches from France to the Congress." 1

An account, rather more circumstantial, which appeared in

Hazard's Register of August 21st, 1830, states that Captain

Anderson, when he formed his determination to blow up the

vessel, communicated it to the Marquis de la Rouerie, and

requested him to deliver the despatches. Armand jumped
into a boat with them, and endeavored to pass through the

British vessels. The boat was struck by a shot and went

down, but Armand saved himself by swimming, and reached

the land as the Morris blew up. He travelled one hundred

miles on foot to Philadelphia, and delivered the despatches to

Congress.

On the 10th of May, 1777, Armand received a commission

in the Continental Army as Colonel. On the same day

Robert Morris wrote to General Washington a letter, to be

carried by Armand, and introducing him ; saying he had

received letters concerning Armand which " he was obliged

to attend to and put great faith in, from persons worthy of

the utmost credit. I find he is a little disgusted at an ap-

pointment made for him by Congress this day ; and I believe

it was through the inattention of a committee, which I shall

get set right again in a short time."2

At his own instance Armand was directed to raise a par-

tisan corps of Frenchmen, not exceeding the number of two

hundred ; and on the 10th of July, Congress ordered that two

thousand dollars be advanced .to him. On the 26 th of

November, also in 1777, Lafayette writes to Washington, from

Haddonfield, New Jersey, that the previous evening he had

1 Letters of John Adams, i. 213.

* Corr. of the Revolution : Letters to Washington, i. 375.





6 General Annand, Jlarquis de la Roverie.

had a successful engagement with the enemy near Gloucester,

in which the Frenchmen who were with him were Colonel

Armand, Colonel Laumoy, and the Chevaliers Du Plessis and
Giniat. 1 Armand fought at Red Bank, in Fleury's detach-

ment,2 was at Brandywine, and no doubt also at Germantown,
Valley Forge, and Monmouth, but I have failed to find any

evidence as to the latter places. At Valley Forge, Washing-
ton writes to him not to enlist deserters. 3

In a letter to Robert Morris, January 29th, 1778, Armand
states that he had been recommended by Washington to

Lafayette for the contemplated expedition against Canada,

and that he was to command a corps of light infantry. 4 This

fell through, and Armand-'s Corps was taken into Continental

pay on the 25th of June, 1778, by order of Congress. On the

11th of October, a letter from him is written from somewhere

near Kingsbridge, Xew York. 5 " The Legion again went into

Winter Quarters on the upper Delaware, where, with Pulaski's

Corps, it served as a protection to Pennsylvania."6

The early organization of Armand's Legion, as to the

names, rank, dates of commission, and time of enlistment of

the officers and privates, may be found in Saffell's Records of

the Revolutionary War.7 The companies of Count von

Ottendorff, Anthony Seelin, John Paul Schott, Jost Driesbach,

and Jacob Bauer, composed of volunteers who could not

speak English, were in the legion. The Baron de Wehtritz

was a Lieutenant in Company Xo. 4, and George Schaffner

was a Lieutenant in Company No. 3.

On the 4th of February, 1779, a letter from Armand, dated

the preceding day, was read in Congress, who thereupon

ordered that the Commander-in-Chief be directed to give

orders for recruiting Armand's Corps to its full complement,

and to settle the relative rank of officers under the degree of

1 Sparks' "Washington, v. 171.

* Saffell's Records of the Revolutionary War, 530.

8 Sparks' Washington, v. 298.

4 MS. letter in possession of Mr. Simon Gratz.

* MS. letter in possession of the late Wm. B. Spragae, D.P.

* Rattermann. Deutsche Pioneer, viii 438. 7 Saffell, 219.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found




General Armand, Marquis de la Bouerie. 7

Brigadier. The following day a letter from Armand was
read, begging leave to return to France, whereupon it was
"Resolved, That Congress have a high sense of the disin-

terested zeal and services of Colonel Armand, Marquis de la

Rouerie, but are restrained from manifesting their good
opinion of him by further promotion, as the same would be
incompatible with the arrangements of the American Army

;

and that on his own request he have leave to return to

France; that upon his departure the President grant him
such certificate as the recommendations or certificates he may
have received from the Commander-in-Chief or other General

Officers under whom he hath served, may entitle him to." 1

Of this permission he did not immediately take advantage.

On the 13th of February, 1779, Congress appropriated ninety-

four thousand dollars to Armand for the purpose of recruiting

his corps, which, however, was not to exceed the complement
of a regiment.

Armand had now for some time been- actively engaged,

particularly in Westchester County, INew York, and there-

abouts, opposing the corps of Simcoe and Emerick, and of

Baremore the loyalist. His corps was assigned in the summer
of 1779 to the command of Gen. Robert Howe. On the 14th

of June, 1779, General Heath "reached Springfield; was met

some distance out of town by Colonel Armand's dragoons,

and was by them escorted into the town, and again out of it/*2

On the 21st of June, it appearing to Congress that Lt.-Col.

Klein's plan of raising a corps of German deserters had failed,

the Sergeant and four privates were transferred to Armand's.

July the 2d, Gen. Heath writes that " Moylan's Horse crossed

the river to reinforce the left ; they were to be followed by

Armand's Legion."3 On the 20th, if the date be correct, " Sun-

day 20, 7 month," Armand was in Boston, and was lodging

in the house of Mrs. Cass in Quaker Lane, wThence he sent a

brief note to Col. Armstrong, aid-de-camp to Gen. Gates. In

it he speaks of his intention to pay his respects to Gen. Heath

1 Journal of Congress, Sparks' Washington, vi. 172.

« Heath's Memoirs, 205. 8 Ibid. 206.





8 General Armand, 3Iarquis de la Houerie.

on the following day. 1
" General Robert Howe writes from

Kidgefield, Connecticut, to Henry Laurens, August 3d, "I am
directed by the General, with a part of my division, viz.,

Glover's Brigade, Moylan's and Sheldon's Horse, and Armand's
Independent Corps, to take command in this neighbourhood,

to cover this country and protect the inhabitants as much as

possible from the insults and ravages of the enemy.*' 2

" In the summer of 1779, the campaign around Xew York
was very active, and especially so on the part of Simcoe's newly

organized troop, the ( Queen's Rangers,' who made it lively

for the Americans. Simcoe's Corps was constantly in the van-

guard of the army, and executed a number of bold, clever,

and successful undertakings. Armand, who was now assigned

to Colonel Lee's command, was sent against them with his

light cavalry, and succeeded in taking the bold partisan pri-

soner3 on the Raritan River, in the neighbourhood of South

Amboy, X. J., just as Simcoe was setting out on an expedition

for the destruction of several boats, October the 1st, 1779.

"

4

The capture of Baremore is thus related by General Heath.
" Kovr. 7, 1779, at night, Colonel Armand proceeded with his

corps from near Tarrytown to the vicinity of Morrisania, to

the house of Alderman Leggett, where he surprised and took

Major Baremore and five other prisoners. The secrecy, pre-

caution, gallantry, and discipline exhibited by the Colonel and

his corps on this occasion did them much honour. In the

capture of Major Baremore, the inhabitants of the adjacent

country were relieved from the frequent excursions of a

troublesome officer.'"
5 Washington, writing of Armand in

1780, says of this enterprise, " In the last campaign particu-

larly he rendered very valuable services, and towards the

close of it made a brilliant partisan stroke, by which, with

much enterprise and address, he surprised a Major and some

1 MS. letter in possession of Col. F. M. Etting.

* Materials for History, Zenger Club, 1861, 145; and Sparks' Washington,

vi. 305.

* Siracoe says that he was seized by Mariner, a refugee from New York.

—Simcoe's Journal, p. 117.

4 Eattermann, Deutsche Pioneer, viii. 437. 5 Heath, 223.





General Armand, Marquis de la Bouerie. 9

men of the enemy in quarters, and brought them off without

loss to his party." 1 On the 2d of December, 1779, Armancl,

with some of his corps, went down to Morrisania, and took

a Captain Cruser, of Earemore's Corps, and two men prison-

ers. 2

These traces in the career of Armand are somewhat like

the fossil foot-prints the geologist finds—they possess a cer-

tain value as evidence, but the being who made them is yet

to be found, and to be described. Legend lends its aid, and

has preserved, though dimly, through the lapse of a century,

some of the impressions made on the minds of the people of

the time by the adventurous young Frenchman. The Rev.

George D. Wildes, D.D., Rector of Riverdale, Xew York,

writes to me the following as the account he has been able

to gather of the story in the famous region known to Xew
Yorkers as the "Neutral Ground," and it is doubtless all that

can now be obtained. He says that " Armand was an officer

of light horse, stationed in 1779 at Croton, some twenty miles

above this, near the Hudson, and was distinguished for a

dashing courage and admirable address, in successive forays

and expeditions down the valley from Yonkers to Kingsbridge,

the crossing point from southeastern Westchester into what

was then the northern limit of Xew York City.

" Directly back of my church and rectory, at the distance

of half a mile, runs the old Albany Post Road, during the

Revolution the main and only avenue to the then ' West' from

New York. In this valley and at about the same distance is

Vault Hill ; a noted point of observation for Washington
while encamped in that neighbourhood at various dates during

the war ; the Van Courtlandt Manor, the house a fine specimen

of the old English country mansion, built in 1748, but still

occupied by the Van Courtlandt descendants, and the whole

camping ground of the American, French, and British armies

during the same period more or less in occupation. The

valley was the scene of many a fierce encounter between the

Hessian Yagers and De Lancey's Loyalists on the one side, and

1 Washington and his Generals, Phila., 1848, ii. 260. * Heath, 225.





10 General Armand, Marquis de la Rouerie.

on the other, Col. Greene's, Col. Sheldon's, and Col. Armand's
Horse. Armand especially seems to have distinguished him-

self repeatedly in bold night attacks upon the quarters of the

Hessians at or near Kingsbridge. Bolton, the historian of

"Westchester County, and tradition, alike identify Armand as

the hero of one remarkable encounter, which, with some others

of that summer, doubtless afforded the main material for some

of the most graphic features of Cooper's novel of The Spy.

"A small stream, still called Tippet's Brook, or the Mosholu,

runs southward through this valley. Colonel Armand having

ridden rapidly under cover of the night from his quarters on

the Croton, certainly twenty or more miles, charged at full

speed upon a body of the German Yagers, wThose outposts were

at Warner's Store, as it is still called, the grandsons of whose

then proprietor are residents at this time of the same neigh-

bourhood. Armand came cautiously upon a vidette of the

Hessians, posted at a little spring, some rods above Warner's,

and killing the sentinel, dashed down upon the outpost de-

tachment, and after a quick but hard fight taking the survi-

vors prisoners, dashed up the avenue of the Van Courtlandt

mansion, the reputed headquarters of the detachment. The
alarm having extended to Kingsbridge, and Armand being

pursued by De Lancey with his Loyalist Cavalry, he was only

able to signify his presence in the valley, to the surprised

officers of the Hessian detachment, by the shouts of his

squadron as it hurried by in retreat, pursued by De Lancey.

For miles up the valley the fight between De Lancey and

Armand continued, the latter frequently turning upon the

foe and inflicting severe loss. With the greater number of his

prisoners Armand regained his quarters at Croton, on this, as

on other marked occasions, receiving the special thanks of

Washington.
" I have no record of the full military service of Colonel

Armand, but it is safe to say, that in a region, with the ex-

ception of that in and about the cities and vicinity of Char-

leston and Savannah, more marked, during the Revolution,

than any other by the ravages of distinctively partisan strife,

and stirring passages of what is technically termed 'combat,'
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rather than 'battle,' no name stands more prominent in the

records and traditions of the day than that of Col. Armand.
The gallant Frenchman made his mark with his sword in

many a heavy fight, as he before and afterwards made it by
his grace and courtliness in the social circles of his French
home.

"In visiting your Historical Rooms, my attention was
arrested by the portrait of a cavalry officer, which I at once

saw must be that of a foreigner. The uniform, like that of

the French Troopers of De Lausun of Rochambeau's Army, led

me at first to think that the portrait was one of some officer

of the force of that general. It probably was not the dress 1

of Armand's Cavalry as a body, but most likely that of the

time of his military service in France after his return from

America. Mr. Stone stated to me that the portrait was Ar-

mand's, and a new interest at once attached in my own mind
to the name and fame of one, of whom I am glad you are

about writing a memoir. I have frequent occasion to pass

along the scenes of his exploits, by night on some parochial

duty, and never, without thinking of the gallant trooper, and

fancying that I hear the clatter of squadron hoofs, as I pass

throusrh the secluded glen in which is situated the fountain

still bearing the name of Pisley's Spring."

A part of Armand's Corps accompanied General Sullivan's

Expedition in August and September, 1779, against the Six

Nations, but it is not clear that Armand himself was with it.
2

This expedition, by utterly destroying the habitations, fields,

and crops of the Indians in New York, completely broke their

military power, and secured repose for the interior of Penn-

sylvania. This was most important, for by reason of favorable

natural passes through the mountains, the territory of Penn-

sylvania was more easily invaded by Indians than that of

the adjoining States. It was of supreme importance that the

1 It may have been the uniform brought by Armand from France in 1781.

One of the fibres in the large engraving of the Surrender of Cornwallis

appears in it.

1 Sparks' Washington, vi. 276.
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bounteous supplies of her rich valleys, which stretched far

westward of the settlements in Xew York, and the innumer-

able wagons which carried these supplies to the Continental

armies, should be undisturbed. The views of Washington

and Reed, expressed, as the dates of their letters show, some

months prior to Sullivan's march, sufficiently prove Washing-

ton's ability to .meet a military necessity, for it was by him

that the expedition was planned. Its success had no doubt

the effect of entirely removing all cause of certain complaints

against Armand's Corps. Whether these complaints were

well founded or not, it is now impossible to judge, for the

matter, as Reed says, was in a manner suppressed. In a case,

therefore, where everything ha3 been left vague and indefinite,

we are to bear in mind that a soldier is sometimes apt to be

rough, and that the citizens whom he is required to protect

are often unreasonable.

On the 27th of April, 1779, Washington writes to Reed,

President of Pennsylvania, " I am not conscious of the least

partiality to one State, or neglect of another. If any one have

cause to complain of the latter it is Virginia, whose wide ex-

tended frontier has had no cover but from troops more imme-
diately beneficial to the southwestern parts of Pennsylvania

;

which besides this has had its northern frontier covered by

Spencer's, Pulaski's, and Armand's Corps ; its middle by
Hartley's and some independent companies." 1

Reed replies to Washington on the 8th of May, 1779. He
claims, and justly, that Pennsylvania had raised a greater pro-

portion of men for the war than any other State, and asserts

with equal justice her pre-eminence in furnishing artificers,

manufacturers, and transportation. He adds, "That we have

been by far the greatest sufferers on the frontier, have had
more people killed and more county desolated, we presume

cannot be doubted. If Virginia and the other States have

suffered by the ravages of the Indians in any proportion to

this State, the particulars have never reached us ; and as the

idea of our receiving any protection from Armand's and Pu-

1 Sparks' Washington, vi. 236.
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laski's Corps must have arisen from some misapprehension or

mistake, we beg leave to assure your Excellency that we never

derived the slightest benefit from them, but on the other hand
are still smarting under their abuse and desolation, the com-

plaints of which we suppressed, and the complainants per-

suaded to bear with patience their losses and sufferings." 1

"While the duties of Armand's command were of extreme

delicacy, it seems clear that among those who composed it

there were some unfit for such a service. There was attached

to the corps a company of cavalry called Marechqusee, whose
duties appertained chiefly to the police of the army. In an

encampment it was the business of this useful corps to patrol

the camp and its vicinity, for the purpose of apprehending

deserters, thieves, rioters, etc., and the soldiers who should be

found violating the rules of the army. Strangers without

passes were to be apprehended by them, and the sutlers in the

army were under the control of the commander of the corps.

In time of action they were to patrol the roads on both flanks

of the army, to arrest fugitives, and apprehend skulkers.2 The
nature of these duties was calculated to excite discontent,

exercised as they were sometimes, perhaps, with unnecessary

severity.

A paper among a collection ofautographs shows thatArmand
was at Sing Sing, on the 24th of November, 1779, and thence

made a requisition on Maj.-Gen. Greene for saddles, bridles,

etc., for the Light Dragoons of his Independent Corps. 3

About the beginning of the year, 1780, Armand appears to

have left the scene where he had been so long and so actively

engaged, for it is at this time that his name appears in fhe

annals of the war in the Southern States. He hoped to enlist

three hundred men, discharged from the Pennsylvania line, in

his legion, and applied to President Reed for aid. 4 Traces of

his command, however, remained, for in the Colonial Records

of Pennsylvania, under the date of December 31, 1779, it is

stated that " Captain Schott, who now commands the corps

1 Penna. Archives, vii. 378. 2 Sparks' Washington, vi. 462.

* Manuscript in possession of Mr. R. Coulton Davis.

4 Penna. Archives. 2d Series, vol. iii. 383.
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formerly called Armani's, returns the strength of his command
at thirty-five men." The translation of their commander left

them as shorn sheep, for it is recorded in these same volumes

on the 13th of December, 1780, that "Henry Redskin, captain

of a company of light dragoons in Colonel Armand's Legion,

prays to be furnished with clothing by the State." On the

10th of February Congress resolved to comply with Armand's
application for a leave of absence of six months, after the end

of the next campaign. He also applied for promotion to the

rank of Brigadier, but Congress "(though conscious of his

merit, and that he has upon all occasions exhibited undoubted

and distinguished proofs of his great zeal, activity and vigil-

ance, intelligence and bravery; and in the last campaign,

particularly, rendered very valuable services), not thinking

it expedient under the present circumstances of the army to

comply with his request, as it would too much interfere with

the arrangement lately established, and be injurious to the

rights of other colonels who have been longer in service than

Colonel Armand ; and being desirous, as well to promote the

public interest, as to testify their good opinion of Colonel

Armand by offering him an opportunity of continuing in the

service of the United States

:

"Hesolved, That the remains of the legion of the late Count

Pulaski be incorporated with the corps of Colonel Armand,
Marquis de la Rouerie, in such manner as the Commander-in-

Chief of the Southern Army shall think proper ; the united

corps to be formed into a legion to be commanded by Colonel

Armand; Provided, however, that General Lincoln has not

already entered into measures for complying with the resolu-

tion of Congress of Dec. 29, 1779."

On the 22d of June, 1780, Armand, in a letter to the

Governor of Xorth Carolina, says, "General Caswell told him
yesterday that should the men he might enlist from the militia

be counted as a part of the quota of this State, he would not

have the least objection to their enlisting with him." He
sends the Governor a journal, and states that " in it he will

find the resolve from Congress concerning that subject ;" and

adds, "should your Excellency be of opinion that my enlisting
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men for the Continental service would be of benefit to the

State I would be happy for this precise order." 1 "With the

little preparation the Americans in the South were able to

make, they were ill-prepared for the shock of war that was

soon to come.

Count Pulaski had fallen before Savannah ; and on the fatal

field of Camden, the remnant of his corps, incorporated with

that of the Marquis de la Rouerie, were soon to see Baron de

Kalb fall mortally wounded into the arms of his friend the

Chevalier du Buisson. The overwhelming disaster of the

Southern army under Gates involved the usual consequence

—

a loss of discipline, which has naturally led to great obscurity

in accounts of the affair.

A careful examination fails to convince me that Colonel

Armand deserves all that has been charged upon him with

regard to a defeat that left no future for General Gates, but

which seems to have only inspired Armand to a renewed and

to a still more generous effort in the cause he had espoused.

It is necessary, however, to pause a moment, and to review the

statements of those who were actors in the scene, and of others

who surely were well qualified to speak on the subject with

something like authority.

When Gen. Gates took command of the Southern Depart-

ment, the force under him did not exceed fifteen hundred men,

mcludino- Armand's Dragoons, in horse and foot. Armand'3

Legion did not exceed one hundred men. General Henry Lee

says :
" White and Washington, after the fall of Charleston,

had retired to Xorth Carolina, with a view of recruiting their

regiments of cavalry (Moylan's and Baylor's originally), which

had so severely suffered at Monk's Corner and at Linier's Ferry;

and they solicited Gen. Gates to invigorate their efforts by the

aid of his authority, so as to enable them to advance with him

to the theatre of action. Gates paid no attention to this pro-

per request, and thu3 deprived himself of the most operative

corps belonging to the Southern Army. Although unfortu-

nate, these regiments had displayed undaunted courage, and

1 MS. letter in the possession of Mr. E. II. Leffingwell, New Haven, Conn.
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had been taught in the school of adversity that knowledge
which actual service can only bestow. It is probable that this

injurious indifference on the part of the American commander,
resulted from his recurrence to the campaign of 1777, when a

British army surrendered to him unaided by cavalry; 1 leading

him to conclude that Armand's Corps, already with him, gave

an adequate portion of this species of force. Fatal mistake ! It

is not improbable that the closeness and ruggedness of the

country in which he had been so triumphant, did render the

aid of horse less material ; but the moment he threw his eyes

upon the plains of the Carolinas, the moment he saw their

dispersed settlements, adding difficulty to difficulty in the

procurement of intelligence and provisions ; knowing too, as

he did, the enemy had not only a respectable body of dragoons,-

but that it had been used without intermission, and with much
effect, it would seem that a discriminating mind must have

been led to acquiesce in the wish suggested by the two officers

of horse.

"To the neglect of this salutary proposition, may with

reason be attributed the heavy disaster soon after experienced.

In no country in the world are the services of cavalry more to

be desired than in that which was then committed to the care

of Major-General Gates; and how it was possible for an officer

of his experience to have been regardless of this powerful

auxiliary remains inexplicable. Calculating proudly on the

weight of his name, he appears to have slighted the prerequi-

sites to victory, and to have hurried on to the field of battle

with the impetuosity of youth ; a memorable instance of the

certain destruction which awaits the' soldier who does not

know how to estimate prosperity. If good fortune begets

presumption instead of increasing circumspection and dili-

gence, it is the due precursor of deep and bitter adversity/' 2

The want of cavalry was not the only defect in the organi-

1 "Gates was yet on his way to supersede Schuyler, when Schuyler's mili

tary prevision and provision had whipped Burgoyue."

—

Schuyler and Prac.

tzcal Strategy, by Gen. J. Watts de Peystcr, 2.

^ * Lee's Memoirs of the War in the Southern Department, i. 160.
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nation of the army of Gates. " The corps of Armand shame-

fully turned its hack, carrying confusion and dismay into our

ranks.
7 ' 1 Lee accounts for this hy saying the officers were

" generally foreign, soldiers chiefly deserters. It was the last

corps in the army which ought to have been entrusted with

the van-post, because, however unexceptionable the officers

may have been, the materials of which the corps was com-

posed did not warrant such distinction.'"2

Dawson, a good authority, says, " The British Legion

Cavalry, which formed the enemy'3 advance, charged the

American Legion Cavalry, which, under Colonel Armand,
formed the advance of the American column. In conformity

with the order of General Gates, the latter received the charge,

and the flanking parties, under Colonel Porterfield and Major

Armstrong, pouring in a destructive fire, the enemy fell back.

The light companies in their rear coming up to support them,

the cavalry renewed the attack, and succeeded in driving

Colonel Armand back, in some confusion, upon the Maryland

line, Colonel Porterfield being severely wounded." Dawson
in continuation, speaks of the fortune of the field as " alter-

nating between the two legions.
"
3

The best authority on the subject of the disaster at Camden
is Colonel Otho Holland Williams, Adjutant-General, and an

actor in the drama. In his account published in the Appendix

to Johnson's Life of Greene, he gives the orders of Gates of

the 15th of August, 1780. The part referring to Armand is

as follows :

—

"After General Orders.—The troops will be ready to

march precisely at ten o'clock (at night), in the following

order, viz. : Colonel Armand's advance ; cavalry, commanded
by Colonel Armand ; Colonel Porterfield's light infantry upon

the right flank of Colonel Armand, in Indian file, two hundred

yards from the road; Major Armstrong's light infantry in the

1 Lee's Memoirs, i. 177. See also Gen. Thoma3 Pinckney in Hist. Mag.

for 1866, p. 246.

2 Lee's Memoirs, i. 177.

9 Dawson's Battles of the United States, i. 615.

Vol. 11.—

2
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same order as Colonel Porterfield's, upon the left flunk of the

legion.

" In case of an attack by the enemy's cavalry in front, the

light infantry upon each flank will instantly move up and

give, and continue, the most galling fire upon the enemy's

horse. This will enable Colonel Armand, not only to support

the shock of the enemy's charge, but finally to rout them ; the

Colonel will therefore consider the order to stand the attack

of the enemy's cavalry, be their number what they may, as

positive." 1

A sort of council of war would seem to have been held,

fctr Col. Williams continues, "Although there had been no

dissenting voice in the council, the orders were no sooner

promulgated, than they became the subject of animadversion.

Even those who had been dumb in council, said that there

had been no consultation ; that the orders were read to them,

and all opinion seemed suppressed by the very positive and

decisive terms in which they were expressed. Others could

not imagine how it could be conceived, that an army, consist-

ing of more than two-thirds militia,*and which had never been

once exercised in arms together, could form columns, and per-

form other manoeuvres in the night, and in the face of an

enemy. But, of all the officers, Colonel Armand took the

greatest exception. He seemed to think the positive orders

respecting himself implied a doubt of his courage—declared

that cavalry had never before been put in the front of a line

of battle in the dark—and that the disposition, as it respected

his corps, proceeded from resentment in the General, on

account of a previous altercation between them about horses,

which the General had ordered to be taken from the officers

of the army, to expedite the movement of the artillery through

the wilderness."3 Kapp, in his account in the life of De Kalb,

fails to be as emphatic as "Williams.3

Armand's cavalry was very little reduced. 4 ISTo doubt they

were thoroughly disorganized, for Seymour, a Sergeant in the

1 Johnson's Life of Greene, i. 492. * Kapp's De Kalb, 206, 7.

1 Ibid., i. 493. * Johnson's Greene, i. 499.
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Delaware Regiment, in his manuscript account of the Southern

Campaign, writes, 16th of August, 1780, " As for Armong's

Horse they thought upon nothing else but plundering our

waggons, as they retreated." 1 This they did with celerity, as

they threatened, for " when it was resolved to evacuate Char-

lotte: 'If,' said one of the officers, 'you will make de retreat,

we will retreat faster dan you.'
"2

Colonel "Williams in his relation says, " If General Gates

intended to risk a general action, conscious of all circumstances,

he certainly made that risk under every possible disadvantage

;

and a contemplation of those circumstances would seem to

justify Colonel Armand's assertion, made in the afternoon of

the day in which the battle was fought: 'I will not,' said he,

4 say that we have been betrayed ; but if it had been the pur-

pose of the General to sacrifice his army, what could he have

done more effectually to have answered that purpose?'
"3 If it

is upon the relation of Colonel Williams that Bancroft bases

his charge, his language is much too decided, when he says,

"Their cavalry was in front, but Armand, its commander, who
disliked his orders, wa3 insubordinate."4 The language of

brave and impetuous men who dominate in camps and battle-

fields, is not that of a refined and artificial life. So different is

it that we must depend for its correct interpretation upon the

actors in such scenes. It may, therefore, be considered certain

that, if Armand had been insubordinate, Colonel Williams

would himself have said so. The expressions of Armand seem

to be justified by the arrogant presumption of Gates ; a pre-

sumption that led to consequences so disastrous, that an author

has been led to say, "From the battle-field to which he

hastened without a general's preparation, he was swept away
amidst the first rout. Well might censure fall very heavily

on General Gates for the precipitation and distance of his

retreat. His first stop was at Charlotte, ninety miles from

the scene of action, and he scarcely halted or drew rein, until

he reached Hillsborough, one hundred and eighty miles from

1 MS. of Hist. Soc. Penna. * Ibid. 498.
1 Johnson's Greene, i. 501. * Bancroft's U. S., x. 320.
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Camden. It is said that his hair grew white as he flew wildly

away from the scene of his disastrous defeat which he had
counted upon as the stage of assured triumph." 1

On the 8th of September the legion was sent to forage, and

make cantonments in Warren County, from whence Armand
went to Philadelphia,2 and Colonel Ternant temporarily filled

his place.3 There were but forty horses left, but these were

serviceable, and in the autumn of 1780 they were the only

cavalry which Baron Steuben could use in Virginia. 4

Washington, on the 11th of October, 1780, recommended to

Congress that Armand's Corps should be kept up. He says,

" The two officers I have mentioned, Lee and Armand, have

the best claims to public attention. Colonel Armand is an

officer of great merit, which, added to his being a foreigner,

to his rank in life, and to the sacrifices of property he has

made, render it a point of delicacy as well as justice, to con-

tinue to him the means of serving honourably."5

From his camp at the Cheraw, on the east side of the Pedee,

General Greene wrote to Washington, on the 28th of Dec.

1780, " I have been obliged to send Major Kelson's Corps of

horse, and Colonel Armand's Legion to Virginia, both being

unfit for duty, for want of clothing and other equipments ; and

the difficulty of subsisting them is much greater here than

there. Before my arrival, General Gates made an attempt to

employ part of Colonel Armand's Legion, and fifteen of them

deserted on the march from Hillsborough to Charlotte, which

obliged him to recall them. I wish your Excellency's direc-

tions respecting this corps, as they are totally deranged, and

cannot be fit for service for some time."6

Among the letters of Armand which have been preserved,

is one dated £Torth Carolina, 19th Sept. 1780. He certifies

that the " Chevalier de Vandore, who served as a volunteer

during the campaign 1779, and part of this campaign 1780,

1 Major-Gen. Schuyler and the Burgoyne Campaign of 1777, by Gen. J.

Watts de Peyster, pp. 3, 4. 2 Johnson's Greene, L 506.
8 Kapp's Steuben, 621. 4 Rattermann. Deutsche Pioneer, viii. 444.

5 Sparks' Washington, vii. 252.

6 Corr. of Rev., Letters to Washington, iii. 191.
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in the independent legion under my command in America,
has lost at the battle of Campden in Xorth [South] Carolina

two French commissions in the Regiment of Bourgoirne, one
of Lieutenant and the other of Second Lieutenant. He lost

also that day several papers, among which was a certificate

from me in which I had explained my good sense of the ser-

vices and bravery of the Chevalier- le Vandore* during the

campaign 1779, which certificate his Excellency General
Washington had been pleased to approve of and rendered

more othantical [authentic] by his private opinion of the merit

of the Chevalier. The Board of "War had also wrote on the

same paper their sense of the Chevalier's deserving conduct.

I certify also that he was at the battle of Campden where he
behaved as a brave officer.

Armand M'quis de la Roueme." 1

Attached to this letter of certificate are autograph endorse-

ments by Richard Peters of the War Office and by General

Washington.

In a letter to Washington, of February 28, 1781, from Head-

Quarters, High Rock Ford, on Haw River, General Greene

writes, " I am convinced that Colonel Armand ?

s Legion can

render no service on its present footing. The officers refuse

to go on duty with the men ; thirty-eight, out of a detachment

of forty men, deserted to the enemy, and the Baron Steuben

was obliged to order a number of them to join their regiments,

who are prisoners at Charlottesville."2

The disaster at Camden, as may be judged by its conse-

quences, was great enough to have crushed an ordinary mind.

Many, no doubt, supposed the end of Armand's usefulness had

come, but Washington, as we have seen, believed it not. Rising

superior to fortune Armand now took advantage of his six

months' leave of absence, and in February, 1781, sailed for

France. A letter which he wrote in Paris on May the 2d, of

that year, addressed to Colonel Lawrence,3 i3 on the subject

1 Manuscript in possession of Mr. Ferdinand J. Dreer
1 Com of Rev., iii. 247.

* Manuscript in possession of Col. T. Bailey Myers.
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of his intended shipments to America, for in France he pur-

chased everything necessary for arming and equipping a new
legion, and on his return to America he advanced the cost

of them to Congress. 1 It would seem as he came back that

Armand landed at some Northern port, for it is stated in the

Journals of Congress, September 28th, 1781, that " £90. had
been advanced to him by the Governor of Massachusetts, and

§660., specie, for pay for six horses purchased by Armand to

go to Philadelphia, to be paid by the Superintendent of

Finance. The Board of War and Superintendent of Finance

were to take order for the recruiting: and mounting of Colonel

Armand 's Legion to its establishment."

Early in June, 1781, Simcoe relates that on the Upper Ri-

vana, " within two miles of Baron Steuben's encampment, a

patrole of dragoons appeared; they were chased and taken: it

consisted of a French officer and four of Armand's Corps."2

This was no doubt while Colonel Ternant was in command,
for at Yorktown, " the fragments of Armand's Legion were

again united, by the junction of the main army under Wash-
ington with that under the Marquis de la Fayette and Baron

Steuben, and formed the first Battalion of the Legion Cavalry

under the Duke de Lauzun. This was next attached to the

command of Choisy, together with a brigade of American

militia. Choisy with some four thousand French troops held

the investment of Gloucester Point opposite Yorktown. They

served also to prevent the retreat of Cornwallis from York-

town, as also more effectually to perfect the siege. The

cavalry had also to prevent the English from foraging. Ewald

once attempting to forage from Gloucester was gallantly driven

back by Armand's Legion.''3 When the Marquis de la Fayette

moved from Greenspring, "the cavalry of Colonel Armand
and Lieut.-Col. Mercer's command, led by Major McPherson,

followed next ; and they were supported by the Pennsylvania

line, led by the fearless General Wayne."

Thomas McKean, President of Congress, writes to Wash-

1 Chastellux, i. 183. * Simcoe's Queen's Hangers, 216.

* Rattennann, Deutsche Pioneer, viii. 446.
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ington from Philadelphia, Oct. 12, 1781, "We shall be obliged

to complete Colonel Armand's Legion, and I despair of doing

it with Americans, if all the Field Officers are French Gen-

tlemen. There is now a vacancy, by the resignation of the

Major ; and if the Colonel would approve of Captain Allan

McLane, who is now on half-pay, to be his Major, it would
save the half-pay, oblige a very deserving officer, be a means

of speedily filling his corps, and greatly tend to the public

benefit. I should be happy if you and the Colonel were of

this opinion." 1

After the surrender of Cornwallis, Armand's Corps went to

New York with Washington's army ; and in February, 1782,

the Colonel was directed to report himself to General Greene

in the Southern Department.2 On the 26th of March, 1783,

he was made a Brigadier-General, being then, as Washington

wrote, one of the oldest colonels in the service.

The honorable career of this gallant Frenchman was now
drawing to a close in the country to which he had expatriated

himself, for the Revolutionary War was practically at an end.

Early in 1783, his legion was stationed at York, in Pennsyl-

vania, and it was subjected to the attempts of artful men to

engage in that mutiny which occasioned the removal of Con-

gress from Philadelphia to Princeton. John Dickinson, Presi-

dent of Pennsylvania, wrote to the President of the Confede-

rate Congress, July 27th, that he had been informed that

letters had been sent by the principal authors of the late dis-

turbance, to excite General Armand's Legion to join in the

mutiny,3 but nothing further appears on the subject.

In October, a petition to Dickinson from a number of the

inhabitants, complained that many of the troops were mis-

chievous and troublesome. The petitioners, however, say,

"they contrive it so crafty that it is a hard matter to discover

the facts;" that they, the petitioners, had "been very subtilly

deceived, at first, being only required to keep them for a few

days;" that the troops, being quartered on the inhabitants,

deprived them of the benefit of letting apartments ;
that this

1 Corr. of Rev., iii. 422. 2 Washington and his Generals, il 2G0.

* Penn. Archives, x. 62.
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burthen was not general throughout the Commonwealth, and

that the troops might be more conveniently quartered in bar-

racks. 1 All history shows us how almost incessantly mili-

tary power has been used without regard to the feelings of

those subjected to it; and we are, therefore, not surprised

that on this, as on every other occasion, such use became irk-

some to the citizens of a free Commonwealth, and that it called

forth their remonstrances.

The object of the petitioners was soon accomplished. On the

18th of November, a number of the inhabitants of York pre-

sented an address to the Marquis, representing that they heard

his legion was about to be disbanded, and that he was soon to

return to his native land, and expressing " their high sense

of the strict discipline, good conduct, and deportment of the

officers and soldiers of the corps, whilst stationed amongst

them for ten months past." Armand replied to this address

in a well-written letter on the following day. The signatures

to the petition are by persons mostly of German origin, while

those on the address to Armand are generally of English

names. It may, therefore, be possible that some feeling of

nationality entered into the question. Iso charge is made
against the commander himself, who, no doubt, invariably

exhibited the chivalric courtesy so characteristic of the days

of the old French Monarchy, the remembrance of which is by

some still fondly cherished. Although a century has passed,

we are yet near enough to that distant era for the writer of

this to have been told by the venerable Du Ponceau, and the

recollection of French courtesy filled him with pride, that the

army of Rochambeau, in its march from jSTewport to York-

town, was so thoroughly well-conducted, that there was not

even a single instance of one of the soldiers taking an apple

or a peach from an orchard without leave having been previ-

ously obtained.2

1 Perm. Archives, x. 133.

* "It was given out in general orders, that if a Frenchman shonld have a

dispute with an American, the Frenchman should be punished, whether he

was in the right or in the wrong, and this rule was strictly adhered to. I

believe there is no example of anything similar in history."—Du Ponceau

MSS.
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Among the manuscripts of Mr. Leffingwell is a " Return of

the men belon^in^ to the State of Massachusetts who served

in the First Partisan Legion commanded by Brigadier-General

Armand, Marquis de la Rouerie, discharged November 15,

1783." 1

On the 25th of November, Armand wrote to the Governor

of Virginia, inclosing a return of his men who had been

enlisted in Virginia, and stating that they had been dis-

charged from the service on the 15th of that month. And
on the 9th of March, 1784, he wrote to Mr. Read, of South

Carolina, thanking him for introducing the very nattering

resolution passed by Congress on his motion.2 On the 10th

of May a letter from him and other French officers was read

at the General Meeting of the Cincinnati, requesting that they

might be represented therein. 3

In social life, Armand endeared himself to many friends,

and their descendants have been taught to cherish his memory.

In the army he enjoyed a well-earned reputation, and was high

in the esteem of its illustrious chief, who, in a letter of the

16th of May, 1784, to Count Rochambeau,* expressed a wish

that the Marquis should be promoted by the King of France.

This request was doubtless the result of the following letter

addressed to Washington, by the mother of the Marquis.

At " La Rouerie," January 30. 1784.

Will the hero of our Age—the man of all time—the object

of admiration to all nations and enthusiasm to France—the

great Washington
;
permit a woman of France and Brittany,

with boldnesslndeed, but with still greater admiration, after

these imposing attributes, to mingle her feeble voice with the

tribute of praise which every one pays to the great man.
Some compare him with other men ; with Trajan, with

Alexander, with Fabius, and other heroes of antiquity ; or

from those of modern times, they select the talents and virtues

1 Manuscripts of Mr. E. H. Leffingwell, New Haven, Conn.
1 Journal of Cong., and Manuscript Collection of Thomas Addis Em-

met, M.D.
* Contributions to American History, 1858, 98.

* Sparks' Washington, ix. 44.
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of each to form a perfect whole, but they find at last, as I
could have told them, only a resemblance to Washington.
Permit this familiar style, it is the language we address to

the gods.

"Washington, I have a son. He is about to leave you. He
has served under your orders—he has fought under your eye.

You know him—you do more, you honour him with your
esteem.

Communicate this flattering opinion to our Ministers. The
judgement of a man like you has an all-powerful influence.

Whoever merits and has been honoured by your good opinion
acquires a right to that of every one else.

That the Fates may spare your days, full of glory for your-
self, and precious to posterity, for the sake of both, is the
ardent prayer of the most humble of your servants,

THE MOTHER OF COLONEL ARMAND. 1

It was about this time that Armand finally returned to

France, where, however, he did not forget his friends in

America. As an evidence of his great regard he sent, as has

already been said, to a member of the Craig family of this

city, his portrait, a fine work of art which was long at " Anda-

lusia," but which some years ago passed from the Biddies and

found its appropriate place in the gallery of the Historical

Society of Pennsylvania. Washington wrote to the Marquis

in 1785, 2 and again in 1786
;

3 this latter time in reply to a

letter of the 20th of January, 1786, from Armand giving

information of his marriage. His wife was like himself, a

Breton.

It can readily be understood that his years of military life

had developed Armand into the being that Chateaubriand

met ;
graceful in person, elegant in manner, martial in appear-

ance, handsome in features, and resembling the portraits of

the young Seigneurs of the League. "The rival of La Fayette

and de Lauzun, the predecessor of La Rochejaquelin, the

Marquis de la Rouerie had more intellect than they ; he had

been more frequently beaten than the first ; he had carried

off* an actress from the opera like the second ; he would have

1 Manuscripts of the late Rev. Win. B. Sprague, D.D.

* Sparks' Washington, ix. 138. s Ibid. 190.
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become a companion in arms of the third. He scoured through

the forest of Brittany along with an American Major (Schatf-

ner), and accompanied by an ape seated on the croup of his

horse. The law students at Eennes loved him on account of

his hardihood in action, and the liberal turn of his ideas." 1

Armand was now at homeland in 1788 the French Minister

of War gave him the appointment of a Colonel of Chasseurs.

The ancient monarchy of France was, however, approaching

its dissolution. A century before that time, Richelieu had

lured the nobles to abandon their duties of local administra-

tion, and to engage in a life of plutocratic ease at Versailles,

and then by appointing officers for the conduct of all affairs,

he had, by this system of centralization, destroyed the prin-

ciple, that of confederation, on which only have free institu-

tions ever been based. It was as if firm but rude dams, con-

structed by practical though illiterate men, had been removed,

and now beautifully executed plans on paper of something

not existing, more sightly in their merely ideal appearance,

but of no substance, were attempted to be substituted therefor.

Such paper productions, miscalled constitutions, however

pleasing to the eye, have therefore never proved to be barriers

against the absolutism of accumulated power. The harmony

of the old French system of feudal confederation, ill-constructed

as it was, being destroyed, the national faith on which it

reposed ceased to exist, and consequently anarchy of thought

began to prevail. This disturbed mental condition had been

thrown into a state of fermentation by the return of Count

Rochambeau's Army, after its success at Yorktown. Deluded

with the mistaken belief that a declaration of a love of liberty

would secure that inestimable prize, each succeeding measure,

as in its turn it was proposed, no matter how wild or prepos-

terous, was for the moment hailed by the many, as the one

thing necessary, the infallable specific to cure all ills—to make

man perfect. Even the Abbe* Raynal became alarmed. " Ter-

rified at the frightful results of his writings, in May, 1791,

being then in his eightieth year, he presented himself at the

> Chateaubriand, i. 179.
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bar of the Xational Assembly, and sternly and fearlessly

remonstrated with that dreaded tribunal, on the rash and

iniquitous course which they were pursuing. The line of

argument which he adopted was sufficiently curious. One

of his principal charges against the Assembly was, that they

had literally followed his principles ; that they had reduced to

practice the reveries and abstracted ideas of a philosopher,

without having previously adapted and accommodated them

to men, times, and circumstances." 1

Soon it was held that to be well-dressed was a crime, and

the term first applied to the ill-clad soldiers at Valley Forge,

Sans Culotte, was adopted and gloried in by the wretches who
dominated the nation. To their distempered minds, destroy-

ing seemed to be creating; and "France got drunk with blood,

to vomit crime." The bands that passed along the streets of

Philadelphia during that era, added their senseless plaudits

as they sang

—

Vive la! the French Convention,

Vive la! the rights of man,

Yive la!. America,

For 'twas with you it first began.

For a time the mind of Armand was swept along with that

of others, but when the scheme of suppressing Parliaments

began to be carried into effect, the Marquis remembered he

had been a gentleman before he became a soldier, and that

he was a Frenchman, because he was a Breton ; he, therefore,

threw up his commission, and assumed a leading position in

his native province. He attended the Assembly at Yannes,

where twelve Deputies were chosen ; he was one of the twelve

;

he was afterwards confined in the Bastile, with his colleagues,

but wa3 allowed to see his mother. The good ladv found her

son, as at a hunting party, quite gay. He was released, and

on his triumphant return to Brittany, he proposed an oath

which bound the nobility to permit no innovation of the

rights and privileges of the Province. He was the chief

means of confirming the nobility in their resistance to the

1 George Selwyn and his Contemporaries, iii. 370.
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revolutionists. The Province remained a passive spectator of

the convulsions which agitated Paris, and the Marquis re-

mained on his estate until 1791.

There existed in Brittany an association called Fendeurs,

composed of woodmen or wood-cutters, and there were sports-

men and many noblemen who did not think it a disgrace to

be a brother Fendeur. If a gentleman was attacked by ban-

ditti, if he had lost his way, if he was benighted, all he had

to do was to strike a tree with a certain number of blows
?

which would designate him as a Fendeur, and bring to the

wanderer a guide. On hearing the blows, men, women, and

children would issue from the cabins, bearing lighted branches

of fir to illuminate the path. lie who could give the best

supper, was to receive him as a guest. In the morning the

Fendeurs, with their guns on their shoulders, would see their

visitor home. This seems to have been well appreciated by

Taine, who says, "In like manner, in France, if, during the

Eevolution, La Vendee alone followed the lead of its gentle-

men, it is because alone in France the gentlemen of La

Vendee, country folks, and sportsmen lived and remained in

intimate intercourse with the peasants." 1

Possessing a native genius of command, having experience

and a thorough knowledge of the world, urbane and polished

in manner, and persuasive in speech, with an affability the

most pleasing, and an address the most insinuating, La

Eouerie had all the requisites for the leadership of a party

;

he arranged a plan to serve the cause of his King, becoming a

gentleman devoted to him. Through the Fendeurs he effected

among the honest, frank, and courageous people an organiza-

tion which numbered forty thousand confederates. Many of

the inhabitants of [Normandy, Maine, and Anjou joined them-

selves to Brittany. Indeed, he "established the counter-

revolution in near fifteen of our Departments."2 The Marquis

1 Taine's Notes on England, 173.

* Report on the Conspiracy of Brittany. 13th of 1st Month, Second year

of the Republic, by Claude Basire, p. 2. This work and also the Liste des

Emigres, next to be quoted, belong to the valuable collection of books on
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gave what means he possessed, aud ladies of distinction con-

tributed to the enterprise. Xo secret was ever better kept

than by this confederacy, yet some of its movements became
known to Danton through his spy, Laligant-Morillon. 1

The Marquis de la Rouerie, with all his care, was thus ex-

posed to danger; he had to sustain a siege in his castle against

the Orleans Dragoons, and he ably defended the mansion.

Among the company there was his cousin, the beautiful

Molien le Tronjoli, who, in addition to personal charms, pos-

sessed a superior mind, a solid education, and the courage of

a heroine. She took her station in the defence, and fired with

destructive effect at the dragoons. In the course of the action

the wood-work of the castle unfortunately took fire, so that

further defence soon became impracticable. The Marquis and

his friends retreated through the garden, and escaped into the

forest.

In the rapid succession of events the States-General of France

had degenerated into a National Assembly ; the character

of La Rouerie could not but be known to them, and a price

was therefore set on his head. In the First Supplement to

the Alphabetical List of the Condemned, he is recorded under

the name of Tufin. This book of blood gives his prename as

Armand, and hi3 surname as La Royerie, and his last profes-

sion or quality, as ex-Marquis. His last known domicile is

described as in the Municipality of Saint Sauveur-des-Landes,

of the District of Fougeres in the Department of Lie et Yalaine,

and here, too, it is stated, was the situation of the goods he

possessed. The date of the List is given a3 the 17 Pluviose,

An 2.
2

This seems to be the most proper place to quote Basire>

who, writing at the time, and an enemy of La Rouerie, yet

does not attempt to belittle his victim. He says, "Armand
Tnffin la Rouerie, a nobly born Breton, a personage truly ex-

the first French Revolution, numbering about fifteen hundred volumes, which

were presented to the Society by the late Dr. Thomas B. "Wilson and his

brother William S. Wilson.
1 Basire, 11, 12.

1 Liste des Emigres in Library of Hist. Soc, Penna.
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traordinary, who joined to strong passions, a supple mind; to

the Machiavelism of the aristocracy, a talent for negotiations;

and to the intrepidity of the soldier, the views of a great

general, was the principal author of that astonishing con-

spiracy. After having conceived the entire plan, his vast

genius embraced even its minutest details. He prepared its

execution with an ability really incomparable. Calonne testi-

fied his satisfaction in energetic terms, and in a letter dated

Schonborlust, October 4, 1791, he charged Armand, to himself

indicate the places of disembarcation for the emigres and for-

eign troops. The conduct of la Rouerie gave him the con-

fidence of the Bourbon emigres, from whom he received, in

the month of March, 1792, the commission of Chief of the

Counter-revolution of the West, with thirty-nine blank brevet3

for officers whom he should think proper to employ under

him at the great rising that they prepared in that unhappy

country." 1

Continuing, Basire relates that the confederacy was in " con-

sternation at the news of the retreat of the King of Prussia.

The inhabitants of Guernsey and Jersey, much discontented

with the gatherings of the emigres, had cried out so loudly,

that the English Government put an embargo on both islands.

These reverses had dispirited the whole party. La Rouerie

alone had lost nothing of his pride. That indefatigable con-

spirator, rarely reposing, ran from chateau to chateau, from

committee to committee, to raise their hopes. Always wan-

dering in the forest or on the mountains, fully armed, he never

kept the beaten roads, and often passed the night in grottoes,

inaccessible to others, at the foot of an oak, or in a ravine.

All retreats were good for him ; and he never remained twice

in the same place. The difficulty of seizing a man as prudent

as he was intrepid, that the brave Cadenne, Lieutenant of the

Gendarmerie, for so long a time had followed everywhere

without success, and the want of material proofs, which the

aristocracy knew so well how to exact when it was surprised,

and which the magistrates, deceived or perfidious, were obsti

1 Basire, 5, 6.
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nate in regarding as necessary, above all in the Departments
influenced by the association, rendered the position of our
emissaries very embarrassing." 1

The Marquis was a Fendeur ; to fly from Robespierre and
Carnot and Danton, he dwelt in the forest. Seized with ill-

ness, he was removed, at the request of a physician, to the

chateau de la Fausse-Inguan, near Cancale, where Monsieur de

la Guyomerais lived retired with his wife and two daughters.

They were strangers to La Rouerie. The brave and unfor-

tunate Marquis fell a victim to the malignancy of the fever

which had seized him ; or, as is said by some, expired from

the effects of poison given him at the instance of members of

the revolutionary party at Paris. Basire says, he expired in

an excess of rage.2 He died suddenly on the 30th of January,

1793, shortly after the execution of Louis XVI. , and was

buried privately by moonlight. About a month afterwards

his remains were disinterred by the revolutionists, and, un-

fortunately, the papers, placed in a bottle, and buried with

him, revealed the names of associates, some of whom were

subsequently arrested and guillotined. De la Guyomerai3,

his wife and daughters were seized at the same time. Among
the papers of the Marquis was found a brief note from Ma-
demoiselle Molien; it was thought sufficient evidence of guilt

that she had dared to write to him. She was thrown into

prison at Rennes, and was sent thence to Paris with the family

of Guyomerais, where all five perished by the guillotine. The

lovely and interesting Mademoiselle Molien le Tronjcli, of

Brittany, displayed a courage far beyond her sex. From a

friendly priest she received the last consolation that religion

can give ; and as she submitted her beautiful neck to the fatal

axe, the heroic young creature cried out from the scaffold,

"Vive la Rouerie."

It has been an agreeable task to gather the material for

1 Basire, 13.

* Basire, 16. It is, however, believed in Brittany, by the descendants of

the friends of La Rouerie, that the spy, Laligant-Morillon, arranged with

Cheftel, Surgeon-in-Chief of Armand's forces, to poison the Marquis, and

that he was paid for the foul deed the sum of two hundred thousand francs.
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the sketch here presented of one who served us in America,
and who undoubtedly bore a part of no little prominence in

the history of France. Difficulty as to dates, and vagueness

as to events, will be readily appreciated when it is understood

that under the name of "Rouarie Armand Tallin," in the Xou-
velle Biographie Generate, of Paris, 1862-G, among other mis-

takes of minor importance, he is spoken of as serving in the

" Army of Rocharnbeau." In the absence of exact information

it has therefore been thought best to make no attempt, by the

omission of statements slightly varying, at a flowing narrative.

Alison, surely a good authority, refers in the twelfth chapter

of his History of Europe to the Marquis and his great effort,

and with his graphic account, which seems to be based upon

Basire's Report, or else upon Beauchamp's History, which I

have not been able to consult, this memoir may fitly be con-

cluded. "During the summer of 1792, the gentlemen of Brit-

tanv entered into an extensive association, for the purpose of

rescuing the country from the oppressive yoke which they had

received from the Paris demagogues. At the head of the whole

was the Marquis de la Rouerie, one of those remarkable men
who rise into eminence during the stormy days of a revolution,

from conscious ability to direct its waves. Ardent, impetuous,

and enthusiastic, he was first distinguished in the American

war, when the intrepidity of his conduct attracted the admira-

tion of the Republican troops, and the same qualities rendered

him at first an ardent supporter of the Revolution in France;

but when the atrocities of the people began, he espoused, with

equal warmth, the opposite side, and used the utmost efforts

to rouse the noblesse of Brittany against the plebeian yoke

which had been imposed upon them by the National Assem-

bly. He submitted his plan to the Count d'Artois, and had

organized one so extensive as would have proved extremely

formidable to the Convention, if the retreat of the Duke of

Brunswick in September, 1792, had not damped the whole of

the West of France, then ready to break out into insurrection.

Still the organization continued, and he had contrived to en-

gage not only all Brittany, but the greater part of the gentle-

men of La Vendee, in the cause, when his death, occasioned

Vol. ii.—3
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by a paroxysm of grief for the execution of Louis, cut him

off in the midst of his ripening schemes, and proved an irre-

parable loss to the Royalist party, by depriving it of the

advantages which otherwise would have arisen from simulta-

neous and concerted operations on both banks of the Loire.

The conspiracy was discovered after his death, and twelve of

the noblest gentlemen in Brittany perished on the same day,

in thirteen minutes, under the same guillotine. They all

behaved with the utmost constancy, refused the assistance of

the Constitutional clergy, and after tenderly embracing at the

foot of the scaffold, died exclaiming Vive le Hoi. One young
lady of rank and beauty, Angelique Desilles, was condemned

by mistake for her sister-in-law, for whom she was taken. She

refused to let the error be divulged, and died with serenity,

the victim of heroic affection."
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A PEXXSYLVANIA LOYALIST'S INTERVIEW WITH
GEORGE III.

Extract from the MS. Diary of Samuel Shoemaker.

[Samuel Shoemaker was a resident of Philadelphia, be-

longing to the well-known family of that name which emi-

grated from Cresheim in Germany in 1686, aud settled at

Germantown. He was a member of the Society of Friends,

and prominent as a merchant in Philadelphia. From 1755 to

1766 he was a member of the Common Council, and in the

latter year was elected a Member of the Board of Aldermen,

which office he held until the fall of the Charter Government

in 1776. In 1761, he was appointed a Justice of the Peace,

and held the office for many years. He was one of the signers

of the u Xon-Importation Agreement" of 1765. In 1769, he

was chosen Mayor of the City, and for two terms, in 1767 and

1774, was its Treasurer. He sat as a member from the City

in the Provincial Assembly from 1771 to 1773.

Mr. Shoemaker remained in Philadelphia upon the entry

of the British Army, in September, 1777. It is said that

during its occupation he again fulfilled the duties of mayor,

but this i3 not fully substantiated by the records. The Colo-

nial Charter Government in the city came to an end in 1776,

and it remained without one until 1789, during which period

there was no such corporate office.

Upon the evacuation of the city, in June, 1778, Mr. Shoe-

maker accompanied the army, and went to Xew York, where

he remained until November, 1783, when he sailed for Eng-

land, accompanied by his son Edward, a few day3 before the

evacuation of that city.

Mr. Shoemaker was a pronounced Loyalist, and was distin-

guished for his zeal on the side of the Crown, in consequence

of which he was attainted of treason and his estate confiscated.

While in Xew York he exerted himself for the relief of the

Whig prisoners, and by his intercessions with the British
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authorities numbers of them "were liberated and allowed to

return to their homes. While in London he was, as his Diary

shows, frequently consulted by the Commissioners appointed

by the English Government to pass upon the claims of the

Loyalists for losses. lie returned to Philadelphia in 1789,

and died in 1800.

This diary was kept for the entertainment of Mrs. Shoe-

maker, 1 who did not accompany her husband abroad. At the

time to which the following extract refers, he was spending a

few days at Windsor with his friend Benjamin West, the

artist. The interview here described is probably the one

referred to by Mr. Sabine in his " Loyalists of the American

Kevolution."]

First Day, Octo'r 10, 1784.

This morning at 8 'Clock thy son accompanied B. West's

wife to the King's Chappel where he had the opportunity of

seeing: the King and several of the Princesses. They returned

before 9 when we were entertained with breakfast, at which

we had the Company of Mr. Poggy the Italian Gent'n, Mr.

Trumble,2 Mr. Farrington,3 and West's two sons. About 10

thy son accompanied Farrington, Trumble, and West's eldest

son in a Kide through Windsor Forrest, having first been with

West and I to his Eoom in the Castle to see a picture of the

Lord's Supper which he had just finish'd for the King's

Chappel. After part of our Company were gone to take their

Ride, West informed me that the King had order'd him to

1 Samuel Shoemaker m. first, 8th 12 mo. 1746, Hannah, dan. of Samuel

Carpenter, by his wife Hannah Preston, a granddaughter of Governor

Thomas Lloyd, and secondly, 10th 11 mo. 1767, Rebecca, widow of Francis

Rawle, and dau. of Edward Warner (see Penna. Mag., Yol. I. p. 459), by

his wife, Anna, dau. of William Coleman.

2 Colonel John Trumbull, a well-known officer of the Revolutionary Army,

son of Governor Jonathan Trumbull, of Connecticut. He was at this time

studying painting under West, and afterwards became a distinguished artist.

* George Farrington, a noted English landscape and historical painter.

He studied under West, removed to India, and died there at the early age

of 34 years.
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attend at his Painting Room in the Castle at one 'Clock, when
the King and Queen and some of the Princesses, on their

return from Chappel, intended to call to see the Painting of

the Lord's Supper which he had just finished, and West told

me it would be a very proper time and Opportunity for me
to see the King, Queen, and the rest of the family, as they

came from the Chappel, and therefore requested me to

accompany him and his Wife and the Italian Gent'n, and

walk at the Castle near the Chappel, till service was over,

when he must repair to his room to attend the King, aud

would leave me with his Wife in a proper Station to have a

full view of the King and family.

Accordingly, a little before one O'Clock, West and his Wife,

the Italian Gent'n and I, walk'd up to the Castle and there

contin'd walking about till the Clock struck One, when we
observ'd one of the Pages coming from the Chappel. West
then said he must leave us

;
presently after this two Coaches

pass'd and went round towards the Door of the Castle leading

to West's Room. In these two coaches were the Queen and

Princesses
;

presently after the King appear'd, attended by

his Equery only, and walk'd in great haste, almost ran to meet

the Coaches at the door of the Castle above mentioned, which

he reach'd just as the Coaches got there, as did West's Wife,

the Italian Gent'n and I, when we saw the King go to the

Door of the Coach in which the Queen was, and heard him

Bay, "I have got here in time" and then handed the Queen out,

and up the Steps, into the Castle—the Princess Royal, Prin-

cess Elizabeth, Princess Mary, and Princess Sophia, with Col.

Goldsworthy the Kings Equery, the Hanoverian Resident, and

Miss Goldsworthy, sub Governess to the two young Princesses,

followed. They all went into the Castle, when I hear'd the

King say, "tell him to come in," but little did I think Iwas the

Person meant, and West's Wife, the Italian Gent'n, and I were

about going off, when West came out of the Castle and told

me the King had order'd him to come out and bring me and

Mrs. West in. I was quite unprepar'd for this ; however, it

was now too late to avoid it. The Italian Gent'n now left us

and went to walk the Terras, and West and his wife and I
t
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went into the Castle and were ushered up to the Room where
the King and Royal family were, and there introduc'd. Flat-

tered and embarrassed thou may suppose, on my entering the

Room, the King came up close to me, and very graciously

said, " Mr. S. you are well known here, every body knows
you," &c. (complimeutary w'ch I can't mention). He then

turned to the Queen, the Princesses, &c, who stood close by,

and repeated, " Mr. S." I then made my bow to the Queen,

then to the Princess Royal, to the Princess Eliza., Princesses

Mary and Sophia. The Queen and each of the Princesses were
pleased to drop a Curtesy, and then the Queen was pleased to

ask me one or two Questions ; the King and Queen and the

four Princesses, the Hanoverian Resident, Col. Goldsworthy,

Miss Goldsworthy, West and his Wife and I were all that

were in the Room. The King condescended to ask me many
questions, and repeated my answers to them to the Queen and

to the Hanoverian Resident, and when to the latter, I observ'd

he spoke it in German, which I understood. Among other

Questions, the King was pleased to ask me the reason why the

Province of Pennsylvania was so much further advanc'd in

improvement than the neighbouring ones, some of which had

been settled so many years earlier. I told his Majesty (think-

ing it w'd be a kind of Compliment to the Queen's Country-

men) that I thought it might be attributed to the Germans,

great numbers of whom had gone over in the early part of the

settlement of that Province, as well as since. The King smiled

and said, "it may be so, Mr. S., it may in some measure be

owing to that, but I will tell you the true cause,—the great im-

provement and flourishing State of Pennsylvania is principally

owing to the Quakers" (this was a full return for my compli-

ment to the Queen's Countrymen) for whom I observe the

King has a great regard. Finding the king so repeatedly

mention 'd what I said to the Hanov'n Resident and to the

Queen, in gentian, on the King's asking me a particular ques-

tion, I took the liberty to answer in German, at which the

King seemed pleased, and with a smile, turned to the Queen

and said, " Mr. S. speaks German," and also mentioned it to

the Hanoverian Resident, after which the King was pleased
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to speak to me several times in German. Then the Queen
condescended to ask me several Questions, one of the last,

whether I had a family. On my telling her that I was once

bless'd with a numerous family, but that it had pleased Provi-

dence to remove them all from me, except a Wife and two Sons,

this visibly touched the Queen's delicate feelings, so much
that she shed some Tears, at which I was greatly affected.

She is a charming woman, and if not a Beauty, her manners

and disposition are so pleasing that no Person who has the

Opportunity that I have had can avoid being charm'd with

the sweetness of her disposition. The Princess Royal is pretty,

has a charming Countenance indeed ; the Princess Elizabeth

very agreeable, but rather too fat or bulky for her height.

Mary and Sophia are pretty, but being so young their looks

will alter.

After being graciously indulged with the opportunity of

conversing with the King and Queen, and being in the Room
with them three-quarters of an hour, they all departed and

went to the Queen's House.

I cannot say, but I wished some of my violent Countrymen

could have such an opportunity as I have had. I think they

would be convinced that George the third has not one grain

of Tyrany in his Composition, and that he is not, he cannot

be that bloody minded man they have so repeatedly and so

illiberally called him. It is impossible ; a man of his fine

feelings, so good a husband, so kind a Father cannot be a

Tyrant.

After the Royal family were gone, West and his wife and

I return'd to West's house where we were soon join'd by the

Italian Gent'n, and those who had been out Riding, and at

three O'clock were entertain'd at a genteel Dinner and spent

the afternoon and evening together very pleasantly till 11

'Clock when we retir'd to Bed. This happens to be B. West's

birthday ; he has now enter'd his forty-seventh year.
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Philadelphia, Friday, June the 8th.

The Beautiful young Lady (the Morning) being Risen from

her Bed, and with a Countenance blooming with fresh Youth

and Sprightliness like Miss M y S r with soft Dews
hanging on her pouting lips, began to take her early walk

over the Eastern Woods, when I Rose from my Bed and pass'd

two Hours in writting, the rest of the time till Breakfast I

spent with my Fiddle and Flute: After which I went to Mr.

Strettells, from thence with Commission 'rs and their Levee,

to Mr. Abraham Taylors, where in Company with the Gov-

ernor and some more gentlemen of the City, we Din'd, afte*

Dinner I return'd to my Room and made out a fair copy of

the Speech the Comm'rs designed to make at the opening the

Treaty ; In the Evening I made haste to the Rendezvous of

the Fair, much Elated with the Thoughts of Spending a few

hours so agreeably as I propos'd in the Company I was going

to make one in : On coming to the Place I found the Lady
had been punctual to the Appointment: I was lucky enough

not to be Engaged with any more but the young Lady of the

House, and her Acquaintance my Favourite ; In a very little

time I found my self alone with the latter. On which to

Improve my Acquaintance and the Opportunity, I broached a

Serious Discourse with her, which was not carried on long be-

fore I found her a person towhom Xature had been as bountifull

in Regard to her Mind, as I before observ'd she had been Care-
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full of her Body; to be short, what with her Wit and Quick-

ness of Expression, Join'd to the Influence of her Beauty and

manner of Behaviour, I was Possess 'd with a Pleasure much
easier felt than Describ'd, and can only be Imagin'd by those,

who know what it is to Enjoy the Company of a AVoman
Every way Agreeable. As for my Self I have more of what

Shakespeare calls the Milk of Human Kind than not to have

a particular Pleasure in the Company of the Fair Sex, and I

now begin to think it Iuseperable from my Constitution, as I

have few leisure hours but what I would Devote to the Charms

of their Conversation did Opptys offer:

but, to Return to my Company, which I left

for the sake of this little Digression, I found them so As:ree-

able that I staid till the Young Lady was oblig'd to go Home,
where I Conveyed her, and took my leave for the Xight. I

return'd to my Room, where I Read till 11 O'clock, and then

to Bed, the Commissioners and some of the Levee spent some

of the Evening hours at the Governors Clubb.

Philadelphia, Saturday the 9th.

This Morning, Rose by 6 and Carried the Public Journal

to the Commissioners for their perusal, and Breakfasted at

their Lodgings : This day the Commissioners Agreed to give

an Entertainment to his Honour the Governor and other Gen-

tlemen of the City, accordingly I went to Engage a Tavern

for the Purpose, and Agreed with the Keeper of the Tavern

in "Water Street, who was to have a handsome Dinner ready

by 2 O'clock in the Afternoon, in the Forenoon an Invitation

went to the Intended Guests. At 1 the Commissioners and

their Levee Repair'd to the Tavern and a little past 2 we sat

down to a very Grand Table having upwards of Fifteen Dishes

on it at once, which was Succeeded by a very fine Collation,

among the many Dishes that made our Dinner was a large

Turtle, sent as a present to Governor Thomas from a Gentle-

man of his Acquaintance living in Providence ; after taking

away the Cloath, we had the Table Replenished with all the

sorts of Wine the Tavern cou'd afford, and that in great

Abundance: Betwixt the hours of 3 and 4 I went with the
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Young Gentlemen of our Company in order to see what sort

of Horses those persons had, with whom I had Engag'd Horses

to carry us to Lancaster : I forgot to tell that at 12 O'Clock

was sold Public Vaudue several Goods belonging to the prize

taken by the Wilmington Privateer of this Town, Amongst
which was a Cannaster containing about 25 lbs of fine Snuff,

which the Company Purchas'd for £13. 10 Shs., that Cur-

rency, it was a present from the Vice Roy of Xew Spain to

the Prince of Palermo, and sells for Ten Dollars a pound in

the Havanna. Spent the Evening in the Company of the

Comm'rs and their Train, and at 10 O'clock went to my
Lodgings, at 11 Arriv'd at the Secritarys Office. An Ex-

press from ISTew York with his Majesties Declaration of Warr
against France, which came to that place in his Majesty's

Sloop the Swallow in days from London.

Philadelphia, Sunday, June the 10th.

This morning at 7 O'Clock I Rose, when I found a very

great Alteration in the Air, by the fall of a good deal of Rain

in the Xight, which was very much wanted both to Cool the

Excessive heat of the Air, and to Refresh the Fruits of the

Earth, having had none near where we was, for 20 days past,

and what with the Closeness of the Buildings, the Reflection

of the Sun from the Stone Pavements, Brick Walls, and Glass

windows, together with the dryness of the Season made living

in the City very uneasy ; at 9 'Clock an Express was Dis-

patch'd for Annapolis with the Declaration of Warr. I kept

my Room till after 12, the forenoon being heavy and Drisling

Rain, after which I went with Bob. Brooke 1 to the Comm'rs
Lodgings, and in their Company and the rest of their Train

went to Dine with Messrs. Dayy and Carson, thence in after-

noon to the Presbyterian Meeting, where I heard a very Good
Sermon in the words in the 20 Cha. of the Hebrews 21 and 22

Vers: After the Dismissing of this Congregation, I went a

1 In several cases we have inadvertently allowed this name to be spelt

Brooks.

—

Ed.
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Second time to Join the Xew Lights 1 where I found one Treat2

holding forth, but never in my life did I hear or see any like

him pretend to mount a Pulpit. I thought with my Self

Surely he was very Dark and wanted some Xew Light very

much. I cou'd not for my Life find the least Connexion be-

tween any of the Sentences of his Discourse, at last being tir'd

with this Harangue I came of, and with a Gentleman of my
acquaintance went to Capt. Macky's, where in Company of

these agreeable young Ladies I drunk Tea, and spent the

Evening untill 8 O'clock, at wrhich time we went to the Mora-

vian Meeting,3 where I had the pleasure to hear an Excellent

Comment on that Passage in Scripture Relating to the Prodi-

gal Son, and after some very Agreeable Church Musick, half

an hour after 9, they broke up, the Women at one door and

the Men at another ; from this I parted my Acquaintance, and

went to Mr. Strettells where I Sup'd, and then went Home to

my Room.

Philadelphia, Monday, June the 11th.

This Morning before 5 O'Clock I got up and made some
Journal Entries, and amus'd my self with my Fiddle and
Flute till Breakfast, then I went on Board of Capt. Win
bound for Jamaica, where I pass'd away the Forenoon, and
from the Ship went to Mr. Strettell's and Din'd with the

Commissioners: at 4 in the Afternoon, they with their Levee
waited on his Honour the Governor, in order to attend to the

Declaration of Warr, a few Minutes after we got to the Gov-
ernor's came the Mayor Council, and the Corporation, and
then began the Procession, First the Constables with their

Staffs, and the Sheriffs and the Coroner with their White
Wand3 ushered the way, then his Honour the Governor, with
the Mayor on his Right, and the Recorder of the City on his

left hand, following them were Colonels Lee and Beverly,4 and

1 Vide vol. i. 412.

* The Rev. Richard Treat, pastor of the Presbyterian Church, at Abing-

ton, Pa.—See Sprague's Annals, vol. iii. p. 100.
3 It stood at the S. E. corner of the present Bread nnd Race Streets.
4 Win. Beverly was born abont 1673. He was the second son of Major

Robert and Catherine (Hone) Beverly. His father emigrated to the Colony
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the Gentlemen of their Levee, next was the Council, and after

them the City Corporation, and then the Rear Composed of

Towns Gentlemen, &c'., in this Order two and two, we went

with Solemn Pace to the Market Place, where Secretary Peters1

Proclaimed War against the French King and all his Subjects,

under a Discharge of the Privateers Guns, who had haul'd out

in the Stream for the Purpose, then two Drums belonging to

Dalziel's Regiment in Antigua (then in Philadelphia with a

Captain Recruiting) Beat the Point of Warr, and then the

Ceremony Concluded with God Save the King, and three loud

HuzzaV.2 the Comm'rs retunrd with the Governor in this

Coach to his House, where we follow'd and Drunk Tea, from

thence to the Coffee House, and then the Commissioners went

with his Honour to the Clubb : I took my Land Tacks aboard,

and Crowded away for Mr. Levy's, where I found Miss Levy
alone, but I was not long there before I was Bless'd with the

Agreeable Company Miss Molly, which Seem'd to enter the

Room like a Goddess, Smiling and all Cheerful, as I always

found her ; I am Xo Painter, Xeither do I pretend to any

thing that way, yet I cannot pass by this Lady, without giving

you a Rough Draught of her. I cannot say that she was a

Regular Beauty, but she was Such that few cou'd find any

Fault with what Dame Mature had done for her. She was

of the Middle Size (which I think is the Stature that best

becomes the sex), very well Shap'd: her Eyes were Black, full

of Fire, and well Slit, they had something in them Remarka-

bly Languishing, and seem'd to Speak the Softness of a Soul

of Virginia from Beverly, Yorkshire, England, about 1660, with a consider-

able fortune. Wm. Beverly was prominent in the affairs of the Colony, and

was said to have been a man of culture, and to have possessed (for the time) a

respectable library; several volumes from which, bearing his autograph, are

in the possession of the Editor. The date of his death is not known.
1 The Rev. Richard Peters, who was Rector of Christ Church from 1762

to 1775.—See Dorr's Christ Church, p. 283.

2 The declaration of war, which was witnessed by Black in Philadelphia,

is that known in the history of America as the Old French War, which

terminated in 1748 with the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle. The documents rela-

ting to the event described by the Journalist will be found in Col. Records,

vol. iv. 689-697.
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.Replete with Goodness, her Eye-brows black and finely ArchYl,

her Nose was well turn'd, and ofa Just Bigness, and her Mouth
was Neither wide nor very little, with Lips of a fine Red, and

when they moved discovered two Rows of Teeth white as

Ivory and Regularly well Set ; her Forehead round and Smooth,

as for her Hair, it was a Shining black, but noways harsh.

Her Neck, her Arms, and Hands seem to have been made and

fitted for her Face, which was of a Complection made up of

the Lilly and the Rose. Such was her Person, and I assure

you the Charms of her Mind and Conversation was not less

Amiable ; but I must Confess my Self unable to say Anything

Adequate to this Lovely Young Creature ; the Bloom of Roses

and Lillies might a little Illustrate her Countenance, or their

Smell her Sweetness. But to Comprehend her entirely, Con-

ceive—Youth, Health, Beauty, Neatness, and Innocence,

Imagine all those in their utmost Perfection, any way Place

the Charming Molly's Picture before your Eyes. To Return

I had the Pleasure of her Company till after 9, in which

time I had no small satisfaction ; My Eyes was my Greatest

Sense ; when I view'd her I thought all the Statues I ever

beheld, was so much Inferior to her in Beauty that she was

more capable of Converting a man into a Statue, than of

being Imitated by the Greatest Master of that Art, and I

Surely had as much delight in Surveying her, as the Organs

of Sight are Capable of Conveying to the Soul: as usual I

seed her Safe home, and Return'd to Mine, and about 11,

went to Bed full of pleasing Reflections.

Philadelphia, June the 12th.

At 6 O'Clock this Morning I got up, and took a Walk out

to the Fields till Breakfast, wrote till 12, and then went to

the Commissioners' Lodgings,- and with them to the Tunn

Tavern, where in Company with the Governor, and four or

five more we Din'd : after Dinner & a few Glasses of what

was very Good, I went with some of our Company to the

Billiards Table, where we spent the Afternoon, and return'd

to the Coffee House, from which I went to the Clubb :
and

passed the Evening, And at 11 went to my Lodgings. This
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day Messrs. Littlepage 1 and Brooke, being tired of the Town
set out for Lancaster, where they were to wTait the coming of

the Indians.

Philadelphia, Wednesday, June the 13th.

This Morning was up at half a hour after 6, went to Mr.

Strettells, where I did some Business with the Commissioners,

and Eat Breakfast. Returned to my Room and Dress'd, and

Join'd the Commissioners and the Levees in order to sro to

Dinner at Mr. William Allans.2 After Dinner I went accord-

ing to a former Appointment to a Tavern where I was to meet

a Townsman & some more of my Acquaintance in order to

take a Cheerfull Glass and pass a few hours in Conversation,

We sat till near Xight : and one of our Company would have

me go with him to a House where he had an Invitation to Make
One in a Party of Pleasure, away we went together turning

several corners and Windings, at last we entered a pretty large

House, and he Introduced me to a Company of five young

ladies and two Gentlemen, they Receiv'd me kindly and ask'cl

my acquaintance why he did not Come soon enough to Drink

a Dish of Tea, he made his Excuses and then followed a Gene-

ral Silence, which did not Reio-n Ions; before one of the Ladies

began a Discourse on Love, wherein she pull'd all the other

Sex to Pieces. Setting forth the Constancy of their Sex, and

the "[Instability of ours, every One of the Young Ladies put in

an Oar and helpt her Out, at last being quite tir'd of the Sub-

ject, or rather being run out, and at a Loss what More to say,

the Lady that began it turn'd from it, artfull enough to criti-

cising on Plays, and their Authors, for sometime that con-

tinued. Addison, Prior, Otway, Congreve, Dryden, Pope,

Shakespeare, &c. &c. &c. were names often in question; the

words Genius—and no Genius—Invention, Poetry, Fine things,

bad Language, no Style, Charming Writing, Imaginary and

1 Colonel James Littlepage appears in the list of subscribers to the edition

of the "Acts of the Virginia Assembly," Williamsburg. Wm. Hunter, 1752.

Folio. He is believed to have been the father of the celebrated Lewis Lit-

tlepage, diplomat and soldier.

2 For Sketch of Wm. Allen, see article by E. F. deLancey, Pexna. Mag.

toL i. p. 202.
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Diction (as the Author of Da : Simple says), with many more
Expressions, which Swim on the Surface of Criticism, seein'd

to have been caught by those Female Fishers for the Reputa-
tion of "Wit, at last they Exhausted this Subject, and gave
Truce to their Tongues a little, and after a little chit chat &
a few Glasses of Madeira, My Acquaintance and I took leave,

on our returning to his Lodgings where I staid this Xight, I

ask'd him what Lady that was was so very Talkative, and run
out so much against the Inconstancy of our Sex ; he answered

me that Lady had some Reason for what she said on that head

for that she had been Courted and Engaged to a Young Man
for sometime, but that he had lately broke off from her, for

some Reasons not yet known: I told him, I believed she was
one of those Generally call'd Fine Ladies, that have so little

of what is called Character, that it was difficult for him to

describe her to me. That they were a Composition of caprice

—and whim—they Love—and Hate—are Angry—are Pleas'd

without knowing any Reason for either. Always Affecting a

Great deal of Good Mature, are Frightened out of their Wits
at the Sight of any Object in Bodily pain, and yet Value not

how much they rank People's Minds. But I must Justify

them as far as they have no Minds of their own, they have no

Idea of Others Sensations ; they cannot I think be well liable

to the Curse attending Eve's Trangression, as they do not

Enjoy the Benefit propos'd by it of knowing Good from Evil.

Such was the light in which I viewed Mrs. Talkative ; and

such she Deservedly might be called, for after I got to his

Room, I was for sometime in the Condition of Men Escaped

from Shipwreck, who, tho' they Rejoice in their Safety, yet is

there such an Impression left on them, by the Bellowing of

the Wave3, the Cursing and Swearing of Some of the Sailors,

the Crying and Praying of Others, with the Roaring of the

Winds, that it is sometime before they are themselves again

:

After some Reflections on what we had seen and heard we

went to Bed after 11.

Philadelpha, Thursday, Jnne 14th.

"We Rose about 7 O'Clock and pass'd the time away till

Breakfast in Reading, after Breakfast I took my leave after
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promising him to come in the Afternoon, to go to pay a Visit

to a Gentleman of his Acquaintance Just come from the AVest
Indies ; from this I came to Mr. Strettell's, and at 1 O'Clock
with the Commissioners I went to his Honour the Governor's
to Dinner, where there was a Sumptuous Entertainment, and
a fine Company, at 3 O'Clock I came off in order to make
Good my Engagement with My Acquaintance, and Accord-
ingly found him in his Room waiting My Coming: we took

a turn towards the Centre House, and Return'd to the Gen-
tleman lately come from the West Indies, who had a Room
& Lodg'd in a Private House ; he Made us very welcome and
made a Bowl of fine Lemon Punch with Jamaica Spirits, in

about an hour after us, came two more Young Men, which
appear'd to he of his acquaintance ; we all got soon very well

acquainted, and as one thing begets another of its species, so

one Bowl finished, another supply was Directly got till we
was very Jovial : I cou'd observe thro' the whole of our Dis-

course that one of the Company had everything he said so

Tinctured with a Self Sufficiency, and Detracting of Others,

that I cou'd not help having a Mean Opinion of him: His

whole Discourse turn'd on the Indiscretion of some one or

other of his acquaintance, which he would Express great

sorrow for, but in my opinion, only affected to Pity them, for

an Excuse to fix People's minds on their faults, and to make
the Company see his own Imagined Superiority ; . . . .

It was near 12 at Kight before we thought of parting, I

niov'd to my Acquaintance that it was time for me to with-

draw, Accordingly he got up, and we took leave of the Com-
pany, in our way I told him the Xotion I had of one of the

Gentlemen that Compos'd our Company : He Answer'd My
Opinion was not certainly Groundless. ... I wou'd tell

you a very touching Story of that Gentleman, but it is late,

if you will go with Me Home, I will give it you in the

Morning, as it was past Mid-Xight and his Lodging3 nearer

than mine, I consented and went home with him, after we got

to the Room we were not long before we were in Bed, where

I must leave you and go to Sleep.
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Philadelphia, Friday, June the 15th.

This Morning was pretty far Advanced before we knew

where our heads lay, and it was 9 O'Clock before we got up,

we went Directly to Breakfast ; and three or four Dishes of

warm Tea had a very good Effect on me, after Breakfast,

I mov'd to be gone.

[The Journal of William Black ends abruptly with the last entry given.

It has been printed entire with but one or two exceptions, wherein the writer

of it allowed himself to digress so far from his own observations, and to

speculate at such length on the vagaries of the human disposition, that he

grew exceedingly tedious, and the Editor felt that it would be unkind to allow

the good reputation which the Virginia Secretary has a second time gained

in Philadelphia—for he was no doubt considered a jolly fellow in 1744—to

suffer by printing what is written in a very different vein from the conversa-

tion with which he probably entertained Miss Molly Stamper.

In endeavoring to literally follow the copy of the Journal furnished to the

Editor, a few errors have been made that would not have occurred had the

proofs been submitted to the careful revision of the gentleman to whose kind-

ness the readers of the Magazine are indebted for the most interesting picture

of society in our city during Colonial days that has been printed for many
years. The Editor of the Magazine has added to the Journal a few notes of

local interest, and as it would be unfair to make Mr. Brock responsible for

the sins of others, the following corrections are noted in Vol. I.

The fact regarding Eobert Strettell to which our correspondent calls

attention in the Notes and Queries of the present number is new to us. On
page 409, it is stated that in 1744 Clement Plumstead was a common coun-

cillor, and William an alderman ; it should have been vice versa. The date

of Tennant's preaching in the Old Academy should be 1744, aud not 1774

as stated on page 412. John Sober does not appear to have been an alder-

man, as mentioned on page 413. The second note on page 418 refers to the

MS. ; it should read p. 247.

The Virginia Commissioners left Philadelphia for Lancaster shortly after

Black closed his Journal. By a strange piece of good fortune, the Diary of

the Secretary of the Maryland Commissioners has been preserved, and the

first entry in it is dated the day following the last one in Black's. At Lan-

caster the Commissioners from the provinces met and the two secretaries

lodged together. As the Journal of the Marylander is of great interest in the

history of this State, its publication will shortly follow that of Black.

—

Ed.]

Vol. il—

1
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THE WHARTON FAMILY.

BY ANNE H. WHARTON.

(Continued from page 459, Vol. I.)

28. Robert "Wharton 4 (Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Richard 1

) was
born, Jan. 12, 1757, at his father's country seat in Southwark.

Although his future career proved him to be possessed of

abilities of a superior order, Robert "Wharton early evinced a

decided distaste for learning ; consequently, at the age of four-

teen, his studies were relinquished, and he was apprenticed to

a hatter. During his mayoralty, he frequently alluded to

this portion of his life, remarking that he greatly respected

those who were masters of a trade, which sentiment being

generally known, it became convenient for those, who desired

to avoid the penalties of the law, to declare themselves hat-

ters. Pleasant as this may have been, as a matter of conversa-

tion in later years, Mr. Wharton, after serving his time, left

his trade to enter the counting-house of his half-brother,

Charles.- While in this position, he gratified his taste for

field sports, and became a member of the "Gloucester Fox
Hunting Club," instituted in 1766, of which he was Presi-

dent wThen it disbanded in 1818. In 1790, Mr. Wbarton
became a member of the "Schuylkill Fishing Company, of

the State in Schylkill." In 1812, on the death of Samuel

Morris, the venerable Governor of the Company, he was

elected to fill the unexpired term, to which honorable position

he was re-chosen for sixteen successive years, when, in conse-

quence of the increasing infirmities of age, he tendered his

resignation of office and membership.!

Mr. Wharton was a member of City Councils from 1792

to 1795. His more prominent career began in 1796, when he

* Robert "Wharton's name appears in the Philada. Directory of 1785 as flour

merchant, Water, between Walnut and Spruce Streets,

f Memoir of the Schuylkill Fishing Company.
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was appointed alderman for the city, under the mayoralty

of Hilary Baker, Esq. During this year a formidable riot

occurred, which threatened to interfere seriously with the

commercial interests of Philadelphia, as sailors, in large num-

bers, took part in the melee, and held possession of the wharves

on the Delaware. Robert Wharton was empowered by Mr.

Baker to act in his stead, and in meeting and quelling this

insurrection, he signally displayed the executive ability and

great personal courage, which were his distinguishing charac-

teristics.

Another incident, which took place during Mr. Wharton's

term of office as alderman, speaks most eloquently of his

disregard of danger in the discharge of his duty. In 1798,

the yellow fever broke out in the Walnut Street Prison,

where several hundred persons were confined. Mr. Smith, the

jailer, resigned his position, as did several deputy jailers, upon

which Mr. Wharton volunteered his services as jailer, taking

up his residence in the prison and fulfilling all the duties of

the office. While the fever raged within the prison walls,

some of the more desperate of its inmates planned an insurrec-

tion, in order to escape from confinement and the much dreaded

pestilence.* Being warned of the danger, Mr. Wharton, armed

with a fowling-piece, and accompanied by several keepers

provided with muskets, prepared to meet the insurgents.

His company consisted of not more than seven or eight men,

one of them being a colored prisoner, detailed for outside

prison work, who entreated Mr. Wharton to permit him to

bear arms in his service ; after kneeling and taking the most

solemn oath to defend the supporters of the law, this man
was provided with a musket, and acquitted himself so bravely

that he was subsequently pardoned. Passing through the first

gate of the prison, Mr. Wharton turned the key of the gate

which communicated with the cells in the west wing of the

building, by which forethought he secured himself from

trouble from that quarter; and entering the second gate, with

* "The mutiny occurred in the yard, some of the prisoners, taking advan-

tage of the visit of the physician, escaped from their cells and called upon the

convicts in the yard to assist them."

—

History of the Ydloxo Fever, 179S.
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his handful of men stood ready to meet the convicts, who
advanced armed with crow-bars, pickaxes, etc. The order

was given to halt and surrender, and, being disregarded, Mr.
"Wharton gave the order to his own men to fire, which was
immediately obeyed. Fire-arms, as usual when opposed to

an undisciplined rabble, proved an all-sufficient argument,

and the rioters finally yielded, two of their number having

fallen mortally wounded. One of these men sent for Mr.

Wharton, when dying, and said, " It is well for you that you

conquered us, for if successful, we intended to plunder and burn

the city." This prisoner had been wounded in two places, one

ball being from Mr. Wharton's fowling-piece, the other from

a musket ; an autopsy proved that the ball which entered the

vital part was a musket ball ; this is Mr. Wharton's own ac-

count of the affair,* although he was wont to add that he

should not have hesitated to kill the man, as he was dis-

charging his duty, and had taken aim with that purpose in

view. Upon the assembling of the grand jury of the 4C Court

of Oyer and Terminer'' in the next year, Robert Wharton,

who was then Mayor of the city, addressed the foreman, by

letter, and requested an investigation of the circumstances

connected with the rebellion in the prison, in these words

:

"Permit me, Sir, through you to request that the grand jury

will be pleased to investigate the transaction ; for although

the verdict of the Coroner's inquest was clear and satisfactory,

as far as laid with them, yet it certainly is a matter of too

much importance (as the lives of two fellow creatures were

taken) to last without a minute enquiry being made by your

highly respectable body." The grand jury made a special

presentment to the Court in Feb. 1799. . . After relating

the circumstances they presented "Robert Wharton and all his

associates, as doing an act which was of imperious necessity

and their duty as officers, men, and citizens, were not only

fully justified, but which we further present as highly meri-

torious and deserving the thanks of their fellow citizens."

* Communicated by his nephew, Mr. G. W. Wharton.
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The Court received this document and ordered it to be put

upon record.*

The City Councils met Oct. 1G, 1798, when Robert Whar-
ton was unanimously elected Mayor of Philadelphia, succeed-

ing Hilary Baker, who died of yellow fever Sept. 25, 1793.

Mr. Wharton held this honorable position during the fol-

lowing years: 1798-99; 1806-07; 1809-10; 1814-19; 1820-24.

Of the success and popularity of Mayor "Wharton's several

terms of administration, it is needless to dwell, his frequent

re-elections to office proving the esteem in which he was held

by his fellow-citizens. Many incidents are related of him, of

his suppressing insurrections, preventing escapes from prison,

and of ferreting out plots and counter-plots against the estab-

lished authorities, all indicative of constant vigilance, keen

insight into character, great presence of mind, and a singular

intrepidity of spirit
;

qualities, which gained for him the

confidence and affection of the people, and which, added to a

good share of common sense and a jealous care of all that

nearly concerned the interests of the city which he governed,

have caused Mr. Wharton to be acknowledged, by thinking

men, then and since, as one of Philadelphia's best mayors.

The following, which appeared in one of our journals, Jan.

13, 1829, proves that the earnestness in vindicating the law,

which distinguished Mr. Wharton as a young man, was not

wanting in later years.

On the evening of the 9th inst., about 4 o'clock, whilst the

fire was raging at the warehouse of Mr. Albrecht, directly

opposite the dwelling of the subscriber, in Third Street below
Spruce, the front door of his house was repeatedly and violently

assaulted by a mob of from ten to fifteen persons, who insisted

on entering to obtain, as they said, victuals and drink. At that

time a number of citizens, firemen, and others, whose presence

on the occasion was known to be for useful purposes, had been

admitted into the subscriber's house to partake of refreshment.

Though frequently cautioned to desist, the mob persisted, and
so far succeeded in the first instance as to prevent the door

being shut, notwithstanding the efforts of several gentlemen

to close it. The undersigned was then compelled to resort to

* Philada. Gazette, March, 1799.
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more efficient means of defence. He threw open his door, and
armed with an instrument of defence, he advanced to moot
these lawless intruders: he again admonished thorn to desist,

and assured them he would, at all hazards, defend his house
from their intrusion. They were for a moment cheeked, hut
one of them, more resolute than the rest, swore he would enter,

and at the head of his associates advanced for the purpose ; a

severe blow received by him at the threshold of the door,

stopped, however, their progress. The door was then closed

and fastened. Shortly after they renewed the attack, and by
violence, split and started one of the panels of the door. A
gentleman in the entry heard them propose to set fire to my
house, and they immediately introduced fire under the door,

which was extinguished by the same individual. The under-

signed deems it a duty he owes to his fellow-citizens, as well

as to himself, publicly to state these circumstances, and to oiler

a reward of Twenty Dollars for the discovery and conviction

of all or any of the individuals concerned in the outrage.

ROBERT WHARTON.

In politics he was an ardent federalist. The following is an

extract from a letter written to his brother, Colonel Franklin

Wharton, in 1808.

" Our city as to traffic is almost a desert, wharves Crowded

with empty Vessels, the noise and buz of Commerce not heard,

whilst hundreds of labourers are ranging the streets without

employ, or the means of getting bread for their distressed

Families, this is the blessed fruit of Creeping within our Own
Shell—not so in the days of "Washington, when difficulties ap-

proached, our Country assumed a bold attitude, gave employ

to our brave seamen, mechanics, and others, and convinced

our opponents we were not to be Dragooned into their Views."

Mr. Wharton was elected a member of the City Troop, June

19, 1798, and became its Captain Aug. 15, 1803, " without

having served in any of the intermediate grades." Subse-

quently, on the formation of a regiment of cavalry by the city

and county of Philadelphia, he was elected its Colonel, and

was then, June 14, 1810, placed upon the Honorary Roll of the

Troop. In 1811, Colonel Wharton was elected Brigadier-Gene-

ral of the 1st Brigade Pennsylvania Militia. In 1814, when
the troop went into active service, although fifty-seven years

of age, he volunteered, and served in the field as a private
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soldier, under his former lieutenant, Captain Ross. In October,

of the same year, when a Committee of Councils of Philadelphia

waited on him to inform him of his recent re-election as mayor
of the city, they found him in camp, busily engaged, taking

his turn as company cook. It was only upon their earnest

solicitation that he was induced to accept his discharge and

return to Philadelphia.*

Mr. Wharton was vice-president of the "Washington Benevo-

lent Society, his name being first on the list of original sub-

scribers. He was m. Philada. Dec. 17, 1789, by Bishop White,

to Salome dau. of William Chancellor, by his wife, Salome

Wistar. He d. in Philada., March 7, 1831. He had two

children, who d. before him.

98. Joseph, b. May 31, 1791 ; d. June 4, 1791.

99. Kobert Owen, m. Charlotte Musgrave, and d. s. p. She afterwards m.

Tyler.

31. Rachel Wharton 4 (Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Richard 1

), b. Aug.

27, 1762; m. Dec. 13, 1781, William son of Robert Lewis, by

his wife, Mary Pyle, and d. 1836. He d. Xov. 6, 1801, aged

53. They had seven children.

100. Joseph Wharton, b. Jan. 27, 1783 ; d. Oct. 20, 1805.

101. Robert Morton, b. Aug. 20, 1786 ; m. Martha R. Stocker.

102. William, b. Sept. 15, 1788.

103. Wharton, b. July 23, 1791 ; m. Frances Cuthbert, and d. s. p. Nov.

8, 1857.

104. Franklin, b. June 12, 1794; d. June 26, 1794.

105. Hannah Owen, b. June 6, 1795 ; m. Richard Wistar.

106. Anna Maria.

33. Franklin Wharton4 (Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Richard 1

), b.

July 23, 1767; m. at Christ Church, Philada. Oct. 1, 1800,

Mary dau. of William Clifton. She d. in Washington, Aug.

31, 1813. He was appointed Colonel Commandant of the U. S.

Marine Corps, under the administration of Jame3 Madison.

Colonel Wharton died in Xew York, Sept. 1, 1818, and was

buried in the churchyard of old Trinity. The following is

* "His 'First Troop City Cavalry.'
"
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the announcement of his death in the Washington " Xational

Intelligencer."

"At ISTew York, on the 1st instant; Lieutenant-Colonel
Franklin Wharton, Commandant of the Marine Corps, and
for many years a resident of the headquarters of the corps in

this city. His conduct through life was marked with every
virtue that could dignify the man; and the sincere affection

of his numerous relatives and friends bears ample testimony
to the amiable and honorable qualities of his heart. He has
left six sons to lament the loss of a father whose paternal care

and kindness were most exemplary. Respected and beloved
by those who knew him well, the society of Washington will

long lament, in the decease of Colonel Wharton, the loss -of

one of its most benevolent and hospitable members."

He had eight children.

107. Clifton, b. Oct, 22, 1801 ; m. Oliveretta Ormsby.

108. George Washington, b. May 12, 1803; m. Emmeline D. Stout.

109. Franklin, b. June 3, 1804; m. 1st, Baylor; 2dly, Wal-
ker; 3dly, Octavie Coycault.

110. William Lewis, b. Dec. 17, 1805 ; m. Ellen J. Brearley.

111. Ellen Clifton, b. May 18, 1807; d. Jan. 7, 1808.

112. Anna Maria, b. 1803 ; d. Aug. 22, 1809.

113. Alfred, b. June 1, 1810; m. Adelaide C. Passage.

114. Henry Williams, b. Sept. 27, 1811; m. Ellen G. Nugent.

34. Reynold Wharton5 (James,4 John,3 Thomas,2 Eichard 1

).

His name appears in Philada. Directory, 1785, as shipbuilder,

Front St., Kensington. He had two sons, who are named in

their grandfather's will.

115. James.

116. Joseph.

37. Peregrine Hogg Wharton5 (James,4 John3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. Feb. 14, 1765 ; m. Jane, dan. of Benjamin Brown,
b. May 17, 1776. He d. May 27, 1811. They had ten children.

117. Anthony Morris, b. Jane 19, 1794; d.

118. Peregrine, b. Dec. 2. 1795 ; d. Dec. 7, 1795.
119. William, b. Nov. 13, 1796.

120. Frederick Augustus, b. August 13, 1798.

121. Henry, b. Sept. 4, 1800; d. March 5, 1804.

122. Lewis, b. Oct. 24, 1802.

123. Mary Ann, b. Aug. 17, 1804; m. Samuel P. Griffitts.
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124. Clementine, b. Oct. 26, 1806 ; d. May 1, 1810.

125. Chamless, b. Dec. 16. 1S08 ; d. Dec. 18, 1808.

126. Jane, b. Nov. 12, 1S09 ; d. infant.

38. George "Wharton5 (James,' John,3 Thomas,2 Richard1
),

m. Mary, dau. of James Doughty. She d. Oct. 31, 1832, aged

55 years, 9 mo. They had nine children.

127. Jane, m. 1st Daniel Morris ; 2dlv, Thomas Pickering.

128. Charles Doughty, b. Feb. 27, 179S; m. Maria DonneL

129. Joseph, Hi.

130. George, d. infant.

131. Margaret Doughty, m. David Stuart.

132. Rebecca Louisa, d. unm.

133. George, m.

134. William.

135. Edwin, d. infant.

42. Kearney Wharton5 (Thomas, Junr.,4 John3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), m. £Tov. 11, 1795, at Magnolia Grove, her father's

house on the Delaware, Maria dau. of John Saltar, by his

wife Elizabeth Gorden. She d. June 16, 1867, aged 92. Mr.

Wharton was elected President of the Common Council of

Philada. Oct. 16, 1798. In 1799, his name is affixed to an

address from the Select and Common Councils, on the subject

of supplying the city with wholesome water, and subsequently

to "An Ordinance Providing for the raising of a Sum of

Money on Loan," for the same purpose.* He d. Jan. 4, 1848,

aged 82, and was bu. at Oxford Church. He had six children.

136. Thomas Lloyd, b. 1799; m. Sarah A. Smith.

137. Lloyd, b. Feb. 25, 1801 ; m. Margaret A. Howell.

138. John Saltar, d. unm. Aug. 10, 1835, aged 36.

139. Elizabeth Saltar, b. 1803; m. Thomas Morris.

140. George Saltar, d. nnm. Aug. 7, 1844, aged 33.

141. James Saltar, b. 1817.

* "True American," Feb. 1799.

(To be continued.)
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REY. JACOB DUCHE,

THE FIRST CHAPLAIN OF CONGRESS.

BY THE REV. EDWARD DUFFIELD NEILL,
PRESIDENT OF MACALESTER COLLEGE, illXX.

On the outside of the eastern wall of Saint Peter's Church

in Philadelphia, there is a marble tablet in memory of Eev.

Jacob Duche, a timid, amiable, and accomplished man, whose

life was clouded by an error of judgment. As posterity lores

details, a biographical sketch of this person, fuller of incidents

than those which have been printed, has been prepared for the

Magazine of the Pennsylvania Historical Society.

Jacob Duche', the younger, w^as the grandson, not the son

as Drake states in his Dictionary of Biography, of Anthony

Duche, a French Protestant, wTho came with his wife to Phila-

delphia in the same ship as William Penn. 1

His father was Colonel Jacob Duche, a prosperous citizen

and vestryman of Christ Church,2 his mother was Mary

Spence; his parents were married Jan. 13th, 1733-4. His

mother died when he was quite young, and on June 5th,

1747, hi3 father married a widow Bradley, whose maiden

name was Esther Dufheld. He was born A. D. 1737, and

was a student of the Academy, which, in A. D. 1755, became

the College of Philadelphia, now the University of Pennsyl-

1 The following anecdote has often been printed. William Penn on the

voyage borrowed from Duche about thirty pounds. After landing, Penn

offered a valuable square of ground in the centre of the City, in lieu of the

money. " You are very good, Mr. Penn. and the offer might prove advanta-

geous/but the money would suit me better." "Well! well!" said Penn,

" thou shalt have thy money ; but canst not thou see that this will be a

great city in a very short time ?" [The name of Duche does not appear in

any of the lists of persons who came over in the Welcome.— Ed.]

2 On the 2d of April, 1756, Jacob Duch6 was chosen Colonel of the Regi-

ment of Philadelphia County. He was Treasurer of the Lottery drawn in

1753 to erect the steeple of Christ Church, and purchase its chime of bells.
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vania. In November, 1754, the students of the Philosophy
class gave a public exhibition, the first of the kind in Phila-

delphia, in the presence of the trustees and a large audience

of ladies and gentlemen. Among the distinguished persons

present were the Lieut. Governor Robert Hunter Morris, his

predecessor in office James Hamilton, and His Excellency John
Tinker, Esq., Governor of Xew Providence. The exercises

were opened with a prologue by Jacob Duche, and concluded

by a pert and humorous epilogue, spoken by a Master Billy

Hamilton, a child under nine years of age. Both of these

pieces were published in a London Magazine. During his

student life, with a young man's enthusiasm he became in-

terested in the political questions of the day and was an

adherent of the Anti-Quaker party, the feeling against the

Friends being very bitter after Braddock's defeat.

On the 17th of May, 1757, he graduated in the first class

of the College, 1 and in July, went as a clerk with Governor

Denny to make a treaty with the Indians at Easton. He and

William Peters afterwards showed their prejudices by testify-

ing : That, when we used to meet Indians anywhere in the

streets of Easton, or in our evening walks after business, they

would generally accost us with this question in their broken

English, "Are you a Quaker, a Quaker?" If we answered

"Xo;" they moved from us, looked very stern, and said

"We were bad man, bad man, Governor's man." But, if

we answered in the affirmative, as we did sometimes to try

them, that we were Quakers, they would smile and call us

1 His six classmates were : Francis Hopki'nson, whose sister he married,

Hugh Williamson, Paul Jackson, John Morgan, James Latta, and

Samuel Magaw. The first two are well known in American History ; of the

others we learn the following :

—

Paul Jackson was of Scotch-Irish parentage, and became Professor of

Languages. His Latin compositions which were published secured for him

a reputation for correct taste and accurate scholarship.*

John Morgan, born A. D. 1735, became one of the founders of the Medical

Department of the College, and he wa3 appointed by Congress, in 1775, Medi-

cal Director General.

James LaHa became a distinguished Presbyterian clergyman.

Samuel Magaw became Rector of St. Paul's Church, Philadelphia.
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"Brothers,'' and say, ""We were good man, Quaker good man

;

Governor's man, bad man, good tor nothing."

This year he decided to go to England to complete his

studies. The Rev. William Smith, the President of the

College, expressed his estimate of the youth in these words

:

"Jacob Duche is a young gentleman of good fortune, bred up

in our College, under me. He has distinguished himself as a

scholar and orator, on many public occasions, and from the

most disinterested motives has devoted himself to the church.

He proposes to spend some time at the University in England."

Crossing the Atlantic, he became a student at Clare Hall,

Cambridge, but in 1759, he had returned to Philadelphia, and

was licensed as Assistant Minister of Christ Church, and its

offshoot, Saint Peters, at the corner of Third and Pine Streets,

which was begun in 1758, and finished in 1761, at a cost of

£3310, to accommodate the congregation in that part of the

city.

His labors were commenced under some discouraging cir-

cumstances. The Rector of the Church was old and incapaci-

tated; Sturgeon, the first Assistant Minister, a graduate of

Yale, was a faithful man but a poor preacher. In the choice

for a second assistant the consresration was divided. A large

portion was in favor of the Rev. W. McClenaghan, an Irish-

man, who had been a non-conformist minister in Portland,

Maine, and then at Chelsea, Massachusetts, where, in A. D.

1748, he became an Episcopalian ; he favored a strict inter-

pretation of the doctrines of the Thirty-Xine Articles, insisted

that the surplice should not be worn at the communion table,

and Dr. Johnson, President of King's College, wrote ; " He
affects to act a part like Whiten*eld." 1

1 In May, 1761. a convention of the Episcopal Clergy sent a remonstrance
to the Presbyterian Synod, in session in Philadelphia, at the same time com-
plaining that certain Presbyterian clergymen had interfered in the settlement

of Mr. McClenaghan, and had sent a letter to the Archbishop of Canterbury
on the subject.

The complaint was respectfully considered, and on the 26th of Miy the

Synod expressed their sorrow that there should be an occasion of difference,

"and were of opinion that the brethren complained of had acted without due
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"While Duche* was appointed and licensed by the Bishop

of London, the disaffected compelled the old Rector to allow

McClenaghan also to act as a third Assistant, and he was paid

by private subscription.

After Duche began his ministerial labors, he married, July,

1760, Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Hopkinson, and his

father erected for his use an elegant and large brick mansion

nearly opposite St. Peters' Church, on the east side of Third

Street, between Union and Pine, which was demolished forty

or fifty years ago, to give place to modern improvements.

His earnest preaching without notes, and distinct and fer-

vent reading of the liturgy attracted good congregations. A
letter written on the 8th of August, 1760, states that Mr.

Duche, " that shining youth is so much more popular than

Maccleaghan."

Soon after he entered upon his duties as Assistant Minister

he was chosen as Teacher of Oratory in the College of Phila-

delphia, probably as an assistant to his former instructor,

Ebenezer Kinnersley, whose wife Sarah DufHeld wa3 sister

of Duche's Church-warden Edward Duffield, and the niece of

Col. Jacob Duche's second wife.1

consideration, and improperly in that affair." As the result of the McCle-

naghan controversy, St. Paul's Church, on Third below Walnut Street, was

erected by subscription.

1 Benjamin, the grandfather of Edward Duffield, settled on a large tract

of land purchased in 1682, in England, of William Penn, by his brother-in-

law Allan Foster, in the upper part of Philadelphia County. He was the

first settler in the neighborhood, and was much troubled by the pilfering of

the Indians. He built a house in Moreland Township, on an estate called

Benfield, but about A. D. 1713 became a citizen of Philadelphia City. He

died in May, 1741, in his eightieth year, and in the graveyard of Christ

Church, corner of Fifth and Arch Streets, his tombstone still stands. Esther,

his twelfth child, born A.D. 1701, become the second wife of Colonel Jacob

Duche\

Joseph, his eighth child, born A.D. 1692, was on the 7th of February,

1747, buried in the same graveyard. Three children survived him; Eliza-

beth, who married Dr. Samuel Swift ; Sarah, who became the wife of Ebe-

nezer Kinnersley. Edward, born A. D. 1720, married Mary Parry, a

grand-child of Owen Humphreys. He was one of tLe original members of
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His first published sermon, printed by Benjamin Franklin

and David Hall, appeared in 1763 with this title, "The Life

and Death of the Righteous: preached at Christ Church,

Philadelphia, on Sunday, February 13, 1763, at the funeral

of Mr. Evan Morgan, by Jacob Duche, M.A. One of the

Assistant Ministers of the United Cburches of Christ Church

and St. Peter's, and Chaplain to the Right Honourable, the

Earl of Stirling."

In 1764, the Rev. Hugh Xeill, once a Presbyterian minister

the American Philosophical Society, and a delegate to the first General

Convention of Prot. Episcopal Church, held in 1785, in Philadelphia.

Before the Declaration of Independence, he lived most of the year at

the ancestral homestead, Benfield, in Moreland Township, Philadelphia

County. While the British Army was in possession of Philadelphia, the

family of Benjamin Franklin passed much time there. Sarah Frauklin

.(Mrs. Bache), in Private Correspondence of Franklin, published in 1859,

writes, in 1779, to her father, then in Paris: "Mr. Duffield's family desired,

when I wrote, to remember them to you. The youngest daughter I have

introduced this winter to the Assembly. She is like her mother. The
Ambassador [French] told me he thought her a great acquisition to the

Assembly." On the 14th of September, she again writes :
" I can assure

you, my dear Papa, that industry in this house is, by no means, laid aside.

Mr. Duffield has hired a weaver that lives on his farm, to weave eighteen

yards, by making him three or four shuttles for nothing, and keeping it a

secret from the country people, who will not suffer them to weave for those

in town. My little girl has just returned from Mrs. Duffield's. I think my.

self lucky to have had such a friend."

Franklin in his will appointed as Executors. Henry Hill, John Jay, Francis

Hopkinson, and Edward Duffield, of Benfield, in Philadelphia County. In

the Codicil, he says, " I request my friend Mr. Duffield, to accept moreover

my French wayweiser, a piece of clock-work in brass, to be fixed to the wheel

of any carriage."

The Registers of Christ Church furnish the following memorandum of the

children of Edward Duffield.

Name. Birth. Baptism. Burial.

Mary, May 11, 1752, July 19, 1752, June 4, 1754.

Catharine, Aug. 23, 1774.

Sarah, Jan. 1, 1756, Feb. 3, 1756,
Elizabeth, Sept. 10, 1761, Sept. 23, 1761, July 28, 1784.

A son [Joseph], April 25, 1785.

Benjamin, Dec. 15, 1799.

Edward, Jan. 13, 1764, April 13, 1764,

Edward Duffield and wife, and his children, Sarah, the wife of Stacy Hep-

burn, and his son Edward were buried in front of All Saints' Church.
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in !N*ew Jersey, then Rector of the Episcopal Church at Oxford,

in Philadelphia County, wrote that Mr. Duche was enthusias-

tic and mystical, a follower of Behmen and William Law.

In easy and graceful style he wrote several essays on the

letters of Junius, which were published in 1774, under the

signature of Tamoc Caspipina, an acrostic upon the title of

his office, The Assistant Minister of Christ Church and St

Peter's in Philadelphia in [North America. 1

On Sunday, the 21st of April, 1771, he preached a sermon

occasioned by the death of Richard Penn, one of the Proprie-

tors of Pennsylvania, which was published under the title of

"Human Life a Pilgrimage: or the Christian a Traveller and

Sojourner upon Earth."

On ^November the 7th, 1773, Duche preached a sermon at

the dedication of the Episcopal Church, still standing above

Holmesburs; and known as All Saints. It had been built at

the expense of persons residing in the neighborhood, one

of whom was Edward Duffield, Duche's friend and connection.

To the congregation assembled on that occasion, Duche spoke

of the edifice as " this plain, decent, and commodious building,

erected at your own private cost."

The Rev. Richard Peters, who succeeded Dr. Jenney, having

resigned in 1775 the Rectorship of Christ Church and Saint

Peter's, Duche was promoted to the position.

When it was seen that a rupture between the Colonies and

parent government might take place, Dr. Cooper, President

of King's College, New York, the Rev. Jonathan Boucher and

Henry Addison, of Maryland, visited Philadelphia, and after

conferring with the Rev. Dr. Smith, and the Episcopal clergy

of the City, it was agreed that they would not lend their

influence to weaken the power of the home government.

This agreement could not, however, be kept, for Smith

and Duche' were carried away by the more patriotic feelings

of their parishioners.

On Monday, the 5th of September, 1774, the first General

1 The letters of Caspipina were reprinted in Bath, England, in 1787, in 2

vols. 16mo., in London in 1791, in 1 vol. 8vo.. and at Dublin in 1792, 2 vols.

They were also translated into German and printed at Leipzig in 1778.
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Congress of the Colonies assembled in the Carpenters' Hall,

Philadelphia. It was composed of fifty-one delegates, trained

under ditierent religious and commercial interests, yet roused
to resist what they considered the oppression of Great Britain.

On the next day it was moved that, before considering the

important business which had brought them together, the

session of the day following should be opened with prayer, to

which Jay, of Xew York, and Rutledge, of South Carolina,

did not, at first, assent, owing to the members having different

denominational preferences. On motion of Samuel Adams,
of Massachusetts, a Congregationalist, it was at length decided,

that the Rev. Jacob Duche should be invited to officiate.

In compliance with this request, on the morning of the 7th,

Mr. Duche appeared in Carpenter's Hall in his robes, attended

by his clerk, and read a part of the Morning Service of the

Church of England, the clerk making the responses. The
Psalter for the day included the 35th Psalm, which was pecu-

liarly appropriate. Samuel Adams wrote,two days after, to Dr.

Joseph Warren, soon to die in battle at Bunker Hill : "After

settling the mode of voting, which is by giving each Colony

an equal voice, it was agreed to open the business with prayer.

As many of our warmest friends are members of the Church

of England, I thought it prudent, as well as on some other

accounts, to move that the service should be performed by a

clergyman of that denomination. Accordingly the lessons of

the day, and prayer were read by the Reverend Doctor Duche,

who afterwards made a most excellent extemporary prayer,

by which he discovered himself to be a gentleman of sense

and piety, and a warm advocate for the religious and civil

rights of America."

John Adams in his diary entered the following :
" Mr.

Reed returned with Mr. Adams and me, to our lodgings, and

a very social and agreeable evening we had. He says we were

never guilty of a more masterly stroke of policy than moving

that Mr. Duche might read prayers. It has had a very good

effect.".

John Adams also wrote to his wife the enthusiastic descrip-

tion of the first prayer in Congress, which has been embalmed
in American literature :

—
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"You must remember this was the next moruing after we
heard the horrible rumor of the cannonade of Boston. I never

saw a greater effect upon an audience. It seemed as if Heaven

ordained that Psalm to be read on that morning. After this

Mr. Duche, unexpectedly to everybody, struck out into an

extemporary prayer, which filled the bosom of every man
present. . . . Episcopalian as he is, Dr. Cooper himself

never prayed with such fervor, such ardor, such earnestness and

pathos, and in language so elegant and sublime, for America,

for the Congress, for the province of Massachusetts Bay, and

especially the town of Boston." 1

On the 10th of May, 1775, the Second Congress of the

Colonies met in Philadelphia, at the State House, and as soon

as the necessary officers were elected, it was ordered: a That

the Rev. Mr. Duche be requested to open the Congress with

prayers to-morrow morning; and that Mr. Willing, Mr. Sulli-

van, and Mr. Bland be a Committee to wait on Mr. Duche',

and acquaint him with the request of the Congress." The
next morning he appeared and officiated, and upon motion, it

was "Resolved, That the thanks of the Congress be given to

the Reverend Mr. Duche, for performing Divine Service,

agreeable to the desire of Congress, and for his excellent

prayer, so well adapted to the present occasion."

On the 7th of July, 1775, Duche preached in Christ Church,

before the First Battalion of Militia of the City and Liberties,

from the 1st verse of the 5th Chap, of the Epktle to the Gala-

tians on the Duty of Standing Fast.

This sermon was published and dedicated to Washington

;

to whom he wrote, " If the manner in which I have treated

the subject should have the least good influence upon the

hearts and actions of the military freemen of America, or

should add one more virtuous motive to those, by which I

1 In the Journals of Congress nnder date of Sept. 7, 1774, we find the

following "Agreeable to the resolves of yesterday, the meeting was opened

with prayers by the reverent Mr. Duche. Voted, That the thanks of the

Congress be given to Mr. Ducb6, by Mr. Cushing and Mr. "Ward, for per-

forming Divine service, and for the excellent prayer which he composed and

delivered on the occasion."

YOL. II.—

5
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trust they are already actuated, it will be the best return I can

receive from my fellow-citizens for this labor of love. I have

long been an admirer of your amiable character, and was glad

of this opportunity of paying to you my little tribute of

respect."

The 20th of July had been designated by Congress as a

general fast-day, and on the 19th it was agreed, u That the

Congress meet here to-morrow morning at half past nine

o'clock, in order to attend Divine service at Mr. Duehe's

Church ; and that in the afternoon they meet here, to go

from this place to attend Divine service at Doctor Allison's

Church." 1 Duehe's Sermon, called the "American Vine,"

upon the 14th verse of the 8.0th Psalm, was printed.

On Monday morning, October 23d, 1775, Richard Henry

Lee wrote to General Washington, " 'Tis with infinite concern

I inform you, that our good old Speaker, Peyton Randolph,

Esq., went yesterday, to dine with Mr. Harry Hill, was taken

during the course of dinner with the dead palsy, and at nine

o'clock at night died without a groan. Thus has American

Liberty lost a powerful advocate, and human nature a sincere

friend."

Mr. Randolph at the time of his death was the President

of Congress, and that body requested the Rev. Mr. Duche to

prepare a proper discourse to be delivered at his funeral.

The Pennsylvania Gazette of the 25th, after alluding to Ran-

dolph's death on the Sunday previous, remarks: " His remains

were removed to Christ Church, where an excellent sermon on

the mournful occasion was preached by the Rev. Mr. Duche,

afterwards the corpse was carried to the burial ground, and

deposited in a vault, till it can be conveyed to Virginia."

1 Dr. Alison's Church was the First Presbyterian, situated near Christ

Church, the south side of Market Street, above second. Francis Alison

was born in Ireland in 1705, and educated at the University of Glasgow.

He at one time kept a school at Thunder Hill, Chester Co., Pa. He was

the Rector of the Academy and Master of the Latin School that in 1755

became the College of Philadelphia, and was then elected Yice-Provost

of the College, and Professor of Moral Philosophy, which position he held

until 1779, the year of his death. Duch6 was one of his pupils.
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In the minutes of Christ Church and St. Peter's, there is

the following entry:

—

"At a meeting of the vestry at the Rector's, July 4, 1776.

Present, Rev. Jacob Duche, Rector; Thomas Cuthbert, Church

Warden ; Jacob Duche, Robert Whyie, Charles Stedman,

Edmund Physick, James Biddle, Peter Dehaven, James Rey-

nolds, Gerardus Clarkson, Vestrymen.
" Whereas, the Honourable Continental Congress have re-

solved to declare the American Colonies to be free and inde-

pendent States ; in consequence of which it will be proper to

omit those petitions in the Liturgy wherein the King of Great

Britain is prayed for, as inconsistent with said declaration,

Therefore, Resolved, that it appears to this vestry to be neces-

sary for the peace and well-being of the churches to omit the

said petitions ; and the Rector and Assistant Ministers of the

united churches are requested, in the name of the vestry and

their constituents, to omit such petitions as are above men-

tioned."

Four days after the adoption of this, Duche received the

following note from John Hancock, the President of the

memorable Congress, that had just declared the independence

of the Colonies :

—

Philadelphia, July 8, 1776.

Sir : It is with the greatest pleasure I inform you that the

Congress have been induced, from a consideration of your
piety, as well as your uniform and zealous attachment to the

rights of America, to appoint you their Chaplain. It is their

request, which I am commanded to signify to you, that you
will attend on them, every morning at nine o'clock.

I have the honour to be sir, with respect, your most obedient

and very humble servant,
JOHN HANCOCK,

President.

Sabine, in his History of the Loyalists, gives the following,

as Duche's first prayer, after the Declaration of Independence:

"0 Lord our Heavenly Father, High and Mighty, King of

Kings, and Lord of Lords, who dost from thy throne behold

all the dwellers on Earth, and reignest with power supreme

and uncontrolled over all kingdoms, empires, and govern-





6$ Rev. Jacob DitchL

ments, look down in mercy, we beseech thee, on these our

American States, who have fled to thee, from the rod of the

oppressor, and turn themselves on thy gracious protection,

desiring to be henceforth dependent only on thee : to thee do

they now look up for that countenance and support which

thou alone canst give: take them, therefore, Heavenly Father,

under thy nurturing care
;
give them wisdom in council, and

valour in the field ; defeat the malicious designs of our cruel

adversaries ; convince them of the unrighteousness of the

cause, and if they still persist in their sanguinary purposes,

0! let the voice of thine own unerring justice sounding in

their hearts, constrain them to drop the weapons of war from

their unnerved hands in the day of battle. Be thou present,

God of wisdom, and direct the counsels of this Honourable

Assembly ; enable them to settle things on the best and surest

foundations, that the scenes of blood may be speedily closed,

that order, honour, and peace may be effectually restored, and

pure religion and piety prevail and flourish among thy peo-

ple! preserve the health of their bodies, and the vigour of

their minds : shower down on them, and the millions they

represent, such temporal blessings as thou seest expedient for

them in this world, and crown them with everlasting glory in

the world to come. All this, we ask, in the name of Jesus

Christ thy Son, and our Saviour, Amen."
On the 17th of October, Duche informed Hancock by letter

that the state of his health and parochial duties obliged him
to decline the honor of continuing Chaplain to Congress, but

some asserted that it was Lord Howe's influence more than

his poor health which induced the resignation.

Congress requested the President to thank him for "the

devout and acceptable manner in which he discharged his

duty," and presented him with one hundred and fifty dollars.

On the 30th of October, the following was read by the Se-

cretary of Congress, " Mr. Duche presents his respectful com-

pliments to Mr. Hancock, and begs him to acquaint the

honourable Congress that he is much obliged to them for the

kind manner in which they have expressed their approbation

of his services. As he accepted their appointment from
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motives perfectly disinterested, he requests Mr. ILincock to

put the one hundred and fifty dollars into the hands of the

Board of War, or of any other Board he may think proper,

to be applied by them to the relief of the widows and children

of such of the Pennsylvania officers, as have fallen in battle

in the service of their Country."

When the British troops approached Philadelphia, in 1777,

Duche's timid nature made him despondent, and he decided

to remain in the city should they enter it and accept of such

clemency as should be extended to him. On the Sunday fol-

lowing the occupation of the city he officiated in Christ Church,

using the established form of worship and praying for the

king. This prompt act of apostasy did not shelter him
entirely from the feeling created by his former course, and

as he left the church he was arrested at the door " by an

officer and conducted to jail under the immediate command
of Sir William Howe. He remained there one night only

;

his friends having in the mean time made known his change

of sentiments."

Ten days after his release from prison he addressed a letter

to Washington of such a pusillanimous character, that the

sentiments it expresses and the confession which it makes are

evidences of the severe trials to which his shrinking disposi-

tion had been subjected ; to consider them otherwise is to

believe, that when he uttered his earnest appeals to Heaven,

in behalf of Congress and the cause which it upheld, he pol-

luted his holy calling and was guilty of an act so profane that

the mind naturally seeks a more charitable interpretation. In

his letter to Washington, he spoke of Congress as not fit to

be his associates, and urged him with his army, to resume

his allegiance to the Crown. He protested that he had always

abhorred the idea of separation from the mother country ; that

a few days after the fatal Declaration of Independence he had

received Mr. Hancock's letter acquainting him that he was

appointed Chaplain to the Congress ; that he was surprised

and distressed at an event which he was not prepared to ex-

pect, and that being obliged to give an immediate attendance,

without the opportunity of consulting his friends, he easily
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accepted the appointment. This letter was conveyed to

Washington, by Mrs. Ferguson, an accomplished loyalist,

the daughter of Dr. Thomas Graeme, of Graeme Park, Mont-
gomery County. The General in a letter to Congress alluded

to the communication, in these words: "To Mr. Duche's

ridiculous, illiberal performance I made a very short reply,

by desiring the bearer, Mrs. Ferguson, of Graham Park, if

she did, hereafter, by any accident meet with Mr. Duehe, to

tell him I should have returned it unopened, if I had had

any idea of its contents." To Francis Hopkinson, Washing-

ton w^rote, " I am still willing to suppose that it was rather

dictated by his fears than by his real sentiments. ... I

never intended to make the letter more public than by laying

it before Congress. I thought this a duty which I owed to

myself."

When Francis Hopkinson, a Signer of the Declaration of

Independence, and a member of Congress, read this letter from

his sister's husband, he was overwhelmed with mortification,

and felt that it must have been written while a bayonet was

pointed at the breast of his brother-in-law. His letter to

Duche* at the time is a noble record of patriotism and

fraternal affection ; after pointing out the weakness he had

been guilty of, and the censure to which he had exposed

himself, Hopkinson said :
" I tremble for you, for my good

sister, and her little family, I tremble for your personal safety.

Be assured I write this from true brotherly love. Our inti-

macy has been of a long duration, even from our early youth
;

long and uninterrupted without even a rub in the way ; and so

long have the sweetness of your manners and the integrity of

your heart fixed my affections."

A letter published in the ]STew Jersey Gazette, written Dec.

24, 1777, has the following, "We hear that on Friday last

Lord Cornwallis, General Cliveland, Sir George Osborne, and

the Rev. Jacob Duche sailed from Philadelphia." The object

of his visit to England was to appease whatever feeling existed

in the minds of his superiors in the Church on account of his

having acted as Chaplain to Congress.
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Mrs. Duchd subsequently proceeded, with her children, to

New York, but owing to ill health did not then proceed to

England, and on the 9th of June, 1779, her brother Francis

Hopkinson asked permission of the Executive Council of

Pennsylvania for her return. In the spring of 1780 she again

went to Xew York, and from thence to England, and in

December, the Pennsylvania Assembly resolved :
" That the

Honourable Thomas McKean, Chief Justice of this Common-
wealth, be permitted to occupy and possess the house and lot,

with the appurtenances thereof, which was the property of

Rev. Jacob Duche, the younger."

Mr. Duche', in 1779, published two volumes of Sermons,

dedicated to Lady Juliana Penn, daughter of the Earl of

Pomfret, and widow of Thomas Penn, who had honored his

early youth with her kind countenance and protection. The

design of the frontispiece to each volume was furnished by his

friend and fellow Pennsylvanian, the distinguished historical

painter to the King, Benjamin West. The engraving of

Angels appearing to the Shepherds was copied from the

painting in Rochester Cathedral. In time he received an

appointment of Secretary and Chaplain of an Asylum of

Female Orphans. Every year he became more interested in

the visions of Swedenborg.

After peace was declared he wished to return to Philadel-

phia, and wrote to Washington disclaiming having intention-

ally sought to give him a moment's pain, or to have advised

an act of base treachery from the thought of which his

soul would have recoiled. He asked him to forgive what a

weak judgment but a very affectionate heart once presumed

to advise. The purport of this letter was no doubt to ask

the influence of Washington, in furthering his wish to return

to his native country ; and so it was understood by the Gene-

ral, who in reply said that if that event depended upon his

private voice it would be given in favor thereof with cheerful-

ness, but that the question must rest with the authorities of

Pennsylvania. His friends did not think it was wise to

encourage him in his wish, until the acerbities caused by the

Revolution and his defection were mollified, and his aged
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father then weut to him, and in 1788 died at Lambeth, near

London. 1

His son Thomas was a student of West, and was an artist

of some ability.

John Pemberton, a distinguished minister of the Society of

Friends, and a fellow Philadelphian, who was at London in

1789, found Duche's mind much confused by the constant

reading of the writings of Behmen and Swedenborg. He
relinquished all church preferments, not thinking it right to

receive money for preaching. His wife and two daughters

were devoted Christian women. While in London, one

of Peraberton's friends assisted in nursing the young artist

Thomas Duche* in his last sickness, caused by the bursting of

a bloodvessel. On March 31, 1789, calling at his father's

house for the purpose of watching by the bedside, the Eev.

Mr. Duche* met him with a smile and said, " He is well, he is

happy, and I am happy. He died about half an hour ago,

and departed most gloriously."

Pemberton writes from Philadelphia, in August, 1790, to a

fellow religionist, " I am glad to find my countryman, Jacob

Duche, was so sustained under the great trial experienced.

My love to him and wife. I wish to see him through all

mixtures, and to become truly simple, and open to the instruc-

tion of the ' still small voice/ This will settle his mind, and

give him more true wisdom and instruction than many volumes

of books, and dipping into mysterious writings, that may and

does tend more to perplex than to edify.''"2

During the latter part of his residence in England, he was

quite different in his ways from other clergymen. One Sun-

day he was invited to preach in St. Paul's Cathedral. Another

minister read the Communion Service, and while they were

singing, Duche entered the pulpit, laid his written sermon on

1 Iq the Gentleman's Magazine, of London, for 1788, is the following

:

"Aged 80. Sept. 28, Jacob Duch6, Esq., late of Philadelphia, and father

of the Rev. Mr. Dnche\ Chaplain to the Asylum.
* Thomaa Spence Duche, only son of Rev. Jacob Duche\ was born at

Philadelphia. His portrait of Bishop Seabury, engraved by Sharpe, is

dedicated to Benjamin "West, by his friend and pupil. He was. at the time of

his death, 26 years and 6 mos. of age; he was buried in Lambeth Churchyard.
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the cushion, and knelt in silent prayer. While thus engaged,

he felt that he ought not to preach that sermon. Arising, he
laid it aside, took a text from the epistle of the day, and
preached as the Spirit prompted.

In 1787 he was present at Lambeth, when his old associate

"William White was consecrated as one of the first Bishops

of the Protestant Episcopal Church of the United States of

America. He returned to Philadelphia in May, 1792, and
for a few weeks was, with his family, the guest of his friend

Bishop White, who wrote :
" During their being with me,

there took place the interesting incident of his visit to Presi-

dent "Washington ; who had been apprized of and consented

to it ; and manifested generous sensibility, on observing on the

limbs of Mr. Duche*, the effects of a slight stroke of paralysis

sustained by him in England." His wife died in 1797, 1 and

the next year he was interred by her side in St. Peter's Church-

yard. Says the inscription upon the marble tablet :

—

"On Wednesday morning, January 3d, 1798, the Rev. Jacob

Duche passed from his temporal to his eternal and angelic life,

aged 59 years, 11 mos., 3 days."

His friends could not mourn his departure. In the lines

attributed to Isaac Watts

—

" Softly his fainting head he lay

Upon his Maker's breast

;

His Maker kissed his soul away,

And laid his flesh to rest."

1 The following obituary is in the June number of the Gentleman's Maga-

zine for 1797 :

—

" In the city of Philadelphia, North America, Mrs. Duche, wife of Eev.

Jacob Duche, formerly Chaplain of the Asylum in St. George's Fields.

"This lady met with her death, in the following uncommon manner : while

opening a sash window, the sand-bag upon the window fell on, and struck the

back part of her head with such violence that she survived but few hours.

" In the circle of her acquaintance, both here and in America, she will be

as sincerely lamented, as she was deservedly esteemed and affectionately

admired. She was a most sincere and practical Christian, of a meek temper,

the product of an improved mind, a communicative disposition, and an affec-

tionate heart. Unknown to the world, she shone in the narrower but im-

portant sphere of domestic life, in an eminent degree, findiDg her happiness

at home."
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SAMUEL JOHN ATLEE.

BY SAMUEL W. PENNYPACKER.

(Centennial Collection.)

The family of Atlee reached distinction very early in the

history of England. Contemporaneous with Richard Cceur

de Lion was Sir Richard Atte Lee, who appears conspicuously

in the ballads of Robin Hood, and who is represented in the

" Lytell Geste" as saying

—

"An hondreth wynter here before

Myne Aunsetters Knyghtes have be."

Antiquarians mention others of the name who lived later,

and were of almost equal note. As to what was the connec-

tion between these ancient knights and the Pennsylvania hero,

whose career I have undertaken to sketch, genealogists give

ns no certain information. His father, William Atlee, of

Fordhook House, England, married against the wishes of his

family Jane Alcock, a cousin of William Pitt, and being, per-

haps for that reason, thrown upon his own resources, obtained,

through the assistance of Pitt, a position as secretary to Lord

Howe. He came with Howe to America, landing in Phila-

delphia, in July, 1734. 1

Samuel John, the second child of the runaway couple, was

born in the year 1739, at Trenton, "New Jersey, during the

temporary residence of his parents at that place. His father

died in Philadelphia in 1744, and his mother, persuaded by

the friendship and acting under the advice of Edward Shippen,

removed with her five children to Lancaster, Pa., where the

earlier year3 of his life were spent. From the Reverend

McGraw, a man of note, who united the two congenial occu-

1 For materials for this sketch I am much indebted to Samuel Yorke

Atlee, of Washington, D. C, and to the article of John B. Linn, in the

American Historical Record, vol. iii. p. 44.8.
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pations of a Presbyterian divine and a pedagogue, he received

as thorough an education as could well be obtained in those

days, and afterwards commenced the study of law.

This pursuit, adopted in extreme youth, was abandoned at

the breaking out of the French and Indian War, when an

ardent temperament and a sense of duty induced him to enter

another field, more brilliant and more active, in which he was

destined to perform services of great benefit to the cause of

his country, and well worthy the remembrance of posterity.

He was commissioned an ensign in Col. 17m. Clapham's

Augusta regiment on the 23d of April, 1756, having then

only completed his sixteenth year, and was promoted to a

lieutenancy, Dec. 7, 1757. 1 The testimony of Major James

Burd, at about that date, is that he was sprightly, spirited,

possessed of culture, and attentive to his duties.

In the summer of 1757, he narrowly escaped death at the

hands of the Indians. He and Sergeant Samuel Miles, long

companions in arms, went together about half a mile from

Fort Augusta to gather plums. The tree stood in a cleared

space near a spring which has since borne the name of " The
Bloody Spring." While they, heedless of danger, were busily

engaged in plucking and eating the fruit, a party of the wily

foe, under cover of the wood and brush, had succeeded in get-

ting almost between them and the fort. As it chanced, how-

ever, just at that time a soldier of the Bullock Guard came to

the spring to get some water, and the Indians, unable to resist

the temptation or fearing discovery, fired at and killed him.

His misfortune saved Miles and Atlee, who forsook their ban-

quet of plums and hastened with all speed to the fort. 2

Atlee participated in the Forbes' Campaign against the

French and Indians, and was engaged in a battle near Fort

Du Quesne, Sept. 15, 1758, and in another at Loyal Hanna,

Oct. 12, 1758. He was commissioned a captain, May 13, 1759,

and was in the service altogether eleven years, during which

1 Fenna. Archives, vol. iii. p. 89, 336.

1 Amer. Hist. Rec, vol. ii. p. 51.





76 Samuel John Alice.

time he was taken prisoner, once by the French and another

time by the Indians. From a letter written to Major Burd,

June 6, 1757, it would appear that he was then in command
at Fort Halifax.

On the 19th of April, 1762, he married Sarah Richardson,

the daughter of a reputable farmer in the neighborhood of

Lancaster, and, at the close of his protracted term of military

service, retired to a farm near that city in the expectation of

passing the remainder of his life in the enjoyment of domestic

happiness and tranquillity. He was not, however, long to

remain undisturbed. But a few years had elapsed before the

constantly increasing difficulties between Great Britain and

her colonies had culminated in a resort to arms, and Atlee

was one of a very small number in Lancaster County who
possessed military experience. During the year 1775 he was

constantly engaged in organizing and drilling troops. In the

spring of 1776 the Assembly of Pennsylvania determined to

raise a force of fifteen hundred men for the defence of the

State, to consist of two battalions of riflemen and one of

musketry.

The musketry battalion comprised eight companies, each

having a captain, lieutenant, ensign, two sergeants, two cor-

porals, a fifer, drummer, and fifty-two privates. The uniform

of the men seems to have been blue coats faced with red,

white jackets, and buckskin breeches. The two battalions

of riflemen were consolidated into one regiment under the

command of Samuel Miles, the old friend of Atlee, and John
Cadwalader was chosen as the colonel of the musketry. Cad-

walader, however, declined, because his request for the com-
mand of the other battalion had not been complied with, and
on the 21st of March, Atlee was selected to fill the vacancy

in preference to Col. Daniel Brodhead and Major Coates, who
had made application for the position. Caleb Parry, a descen-

dant of one of the Velsh families of the Chester Valley, was
appointed Lieutenant-Colonel, and James Potts, Major. The
ranks of the other officers were fixed in the following order:

—
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Captains.

Patrick Anderson,

Peter Z. Lloyd,

Francis Murray,

Abraham Marshall,

Thomas Herbert,

Abraham Dehuff,

John Nice,

Joseph Howell, Jr.

Lieutenants.

Walter Finney,

Matthias Weidman,

Morton Garret,

John Davis,

Joseph McClellan,

Kobert Caldwell,

Barnard Ward,

Peter Shaffner.

Ensigns.

James Lang,

Wm. Henderson,

Alex. Huston, Jr.,

John Kirk,

James Sntor,

Henry Valentine,

Michael App,

Joseph Davis. 1

Atlee left his wife and her family of young children without

any other attendant or assistant than John Hamilton, a man
hired to do the work on his farm, who was in consequence

excused from the performance of military duties, and hastened

to his command.

Some empty houses at Chester and Marcus Hook were

rented for barracks, and the work of recruiting and drilling

commenced. Money, however, was scarce, equipments were

scanty, and the services of the troops were in demand to assist

the Continental Army almost immediately. Parry took four

companies to Philadelphia on the 13th of June, and the re-

mainder of the battalion soon followed.

Its strength was as follows :

—

July 1st. Aug. 1st.

Anderson's Company, 56 49

Lloyd's « 61 38

Murray's u 52 49

Marshall's {< 44 (Now Jos. McClellan's) 50

Dehuff's u 64 59

Herbert's tt 57 55

Nice's It 55 50

Howell's u 55 47

444 397*

On the 3d of July, Congress made a requisition upon the

Council of Safety for as many of these battalions as could be

spared, to be placed under the orders of the Commander-in-

Chief, and receive Continental pay and rations.

About half of Atlee 's battalion were then without firelocks,

1 Votes of Assembly, vol. vi. p. 702.

1 Penna. Archives, vol. iv. p. 780 ; vol. v. p. 4.
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but the necessity for their presence was so great that they were

ordered to march on the 5th, and arrived at Amboy on the

21st. Though inadequately equipped, they, according to the

testimony of an observer, "alarmed the enemy not a little."

On the 2d of August, Atlee wrote, from Perth Amboy, that

many of the men were without either shirts, breeches, or

stockings, in their present state they could not be kept clean,

and, if it had not been that they were in the face of the enemy,

he would consider the maintenance of strict discipline a cruelty.

On the 11th of August, he marched to Xew York, bearing

a letter of introduction to Washington from Gen. Hugh Mer-

cer,but with his troops "in a disgraceful situation with respect

to clothing." They encamped with the rest of the army on

Long Island.

Before light, on the fatal morning of the 27th of August,

word came that a picket on the lower road leading to the

Narrows had been attacked, and with the first dawn, Stirling's

brigade, consisting of the battalions of Smallwood, Haslett,

Lutz, Kichline, and Atlee, in all about twenty-three hundred

men, were sent to repel the enemy. About half after seven

o'clock they met the left wing of the British Army, consisting

of nine regiments of infantry with artillery advancing under

command of Gen. Grant. Atlee was sent forward to check

the enemy at a morass, and he sustained a severe artillery fire

until the brigade formed upon a height. He then filed off to

the left, and seeing a hill about three hundred yards ahead,

advantageously situated to prevent any flank movement, he

marched toward it to take possession. When within fifty

yards of the summit he was, however, received by a heavy-

fire from the enemy, who had anticipated him.

At first, his detachment, consisting of his own battalion and
two companies of Delaware troops, wavered, but they soon

recovered, and charged with so much resolution that the

British were compelled to retire from the hill, with a loss of

fourteen killed and seven wounded. The men, flushed with
their advantage, were eager to pursue ; but Atlee, perceiving

a stone fence lined with wood about sixty yards to the front,

and thinking it might prove to be an ambuscade, ordered a
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halt. His conjecture proved to be correct. A hot fire was

poured into them from behind this fence, but was returned with

so much vigor that the enemy retreated. In this engagement,

lasting for fifteen minutes, the brave Parry, long lamented as

the first Pennsylvania!! of distinction to lose his life in the

Revolutionary War, was struck on the forehead by a ball and

instantly killed.

The British afterwards made two successive efforts in force

to gain this eminence, but were both times repulsed with

severe loss, including: anions; their killed Lieut.-Col. Grant.

After the failure of their last attempt, however, Atlee dis-

covered that the American left and centre had been driven

back, and that the enemy had swept around to his rear. He
sent word of his successes to Stirling and asked for orders,

but getting no reply he concluded to retire and join the

brigade. Much to his astonishment, he found that it had
withdrawn without his having been informed. He still had
time to make good his retreat, but perceiving the rear of the

Americans in the act of crossing a body of water and a force

of British grenadiers advancing against them, with the instinct

of a true soldier, he led his fatigued troops to the attack, and
by a determined effort succeeded in holding the enemy at bay
long enough to enable his friends to escape, and to prevent all

chance of his following their example.

After several other struggles, wearied and worn out with
hopeless and continued fighting, and not having eaten or

drunk for twenty-four hours, he with the remnant of his

force, about forty men, was compelled to surrender. 1 He
might well claim, as he afterwards did, that to the exertions

of his battalion the preservation of the American Army on

that disastrous day was largely due. On the 5th of September,

Col. Daniel Brodhead wrote :
" poor Atly I can hear nothing

of. Col. Parry died like a hero." And the next day, Jos.

Reed in a letter to his wife said : "lam glad Atlee is safe,

because everybody allows he behaved well."2 The battalion

1 Atlee's Journal. Penna. Archives, sec. series, vol. i. p. 511.

* Reed's Reed, vol. i. p. 231.





80 Samuel John Atlee.

lo3t in commissioned officers : killed, Lieut.-Col. Parry and

Lieut. Moore
;

prisoners, Col. Atlee, Captains Murray, Her-

bert, Xice, and Howell, Lieut. Finney and Ensigns Henderson,

Huston, and Septimus Davis ; and missing Ensign App. There

were prisoners and missing among the non-commissioned

officers and privates :

—

Sergeants. Drummers. Privates.

Anderson's Company, 1 9

Murray's t 10

Herbert's * t 8

Dehuff's '

< 6

Nice's i
9

Howell's '
t 7

McClellan's t 12

Late Lloyd's t 1 14

1 1 75 l

The shattered condition of the battalion is attested by a

letter from Capt. Patrick Anderson, who took command, to

Franklin on the 22d of September ; in which, after referring

to the losses in the battle and subsequent discouragements, he

says : that the number remaining for duty was only eighty-

three, and that u want of necessarys Sowered the men's minds.

Deficiencys in their Stipulated Rations hath Increased it."

Atlee was held as a prisoner until October 1st, 1778, about

twenty-six months, and was for a part of the time confined on a

prison ship. He was one of a very few who possessed sufficient

courage to continue wearing the rebel uniform after finding

that it led to insult and abuse. He and Miles,- still com-

panions, made strenuous efforts to relieve the wants of those

prisoners who, as winter approached, suffered from the lack

of clothing and provisions. Houssacker, a Major of Wayne's

battalion, who had deserted to the enemy, came among them

to endeavor to persuade them to pursue the same course, say-

ing that Washington was compelled to pay enormous bounties

to keep any force in the field, and that the war was virtually

ended, but his efforts received no encouragement.2 Shortly

1 Penna. Gazette, Sept. 11, 1776.

1 Graydon's Memoirs, p. 205, 218.
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after Atlee's exchange, the Supreme Executive Council of

Pennsylvania, through their President Joseph Reed, recom-

mended him to Washington for promotion to the grade of

a Brigadier-General ; saying, that " his merit and sufferings

rendered him worthy their Regard & Attention," but without

success, there being no vacancy. At this juncture, however,

his old friends of Lancaster County, proud of his career, trans-

ferred him from the field to the council, electing him a mem-
ber of Congress, Xovember 20, 1778.

He took his seat December 24th, and served in this capacity

until October 28, 1782, omitting one year. In Congress he

was at once awarded a prominent position, and his name is

associated with the principal measures coming before that

body, especially with reference to the conduct of the war.

He was one of two members appointed to attend the board

of war, and one of five to visit the !New Hampshire grants.

He was a member of the committees to which at various

times were referred Washington's plan for a western expedi-

tion in 1779, the attack upon the fort at Paulus Hook, Brod-

head's Expedition against the Mingo and Muncy Indians, the

revolt in the Pennsylvania line in 1781, the court of inquiry

as to Gen. Gates' conduct of the war in the South, " the late

murderous and wanton execution of Col. Haynes" in 1781,

^the victory at Eutaw Springs, the advancement of Knox and

Moultrie to be Major-Generals, and the raising of troops. Just

before the close of his last term he participated in a scene

which, though the actors were our revolutionary forefathers

and the subject the dry details of a mathematical calculation,

nevertheless provokes a grave smile. $1,200,000 had to be

raised to pay the interest on the public debt, and the com-

mittee, having the subject in charge, made a report, appor-

tioning the amount among the different States. Delegates

from no less than eight of the thirteen were on their feet

immediately trying to get their respective allotments reduced.

Maryland wanted to transfer part of her burden to Connec-

ticut, and Connecticut thought she was overloaded already.

Rhode Island tried to give a part of her quota to ]S"ew Jersey ;

Massachusetts and Pennsylvania a part of theirs to Virginia.

Vol. ii.—6
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New York, Xew Hampshire, and Georgia, more modest, onlj

asked to have their respective proportions diminished, the last

" because of the ravages of the war." As, however, each motion

was supported by the delegates from the interested State alone

and opposed by all the others, the report of the committee

was finally adopted. 1

Atlee served as Lieutenant of Lancaster County, a position

of much labor and responsibility in 1780; and in 1783 was

elected a member for that county of the Supreme Executive

Council of Pennsylvania. On the 23d of February, 1784, he,

William Maclay, and Francis Johnston were appointed com-

missioners to treat with the Indians for the unpurchased lands

within the limits of the State.

They met the chiefs of the Six Nations at Fort Stanwix,

X. Y. (Rome), on the 24th of October, and these transactions,

which secured to Pennsylvania the title to land now forming

fourteen entire counties and portions of others, are worthy of

a brief reproduction. Atlee, on behalf of the commissioners,

said to the Indians, that the young men who were now
numerous required more territory, and that they, according

to the customs of their forefathers, had come to purchase, so

that the settlements might be made in peace ; that for this

purpose they had brought a valuable and suitable cargo as a

compensation, but that since the lands were remote a great

consideration ought not to be expected. The Indians took a

day to deliberate, and replied through a chief of the Senecas

that it was not their wish to part with so much of their hunt-

ing-grounds, and they pointed out a line which they hoped

would prove satisfactory.

This proposition the commissioners rejected, adding that the

privilege of hunting might be retained, and that they had an

assortment of goods of the first quality valued at §4000, which

certainly ought to convince the Indians of the many advan-

tages flowing from trade with their brothers of Pennsylvania.

The chief then replied, that, since they wanted to keep the

way smooth and even and to brighten the chains of friendship,

1 Journals of CoDgress.
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they would agree, but as lands afforded a lasting and rising

profit, and as Pennsylvanians were always generous, they hoped

to receive something further the following year. An addi-

tional §1000 was promised, and the deeds were signed. The
commissioners went from there to Sunbury, and thence to Fort

Mcintosh, Pa. (Beaver), where they met the Wyandots and

Delawares, who had a claim on the lands. These tribes con-

firmed the sale after vainly endeavoring to retain a small re-

servation. 1 By lying on the damp ground during this journey,

Atlee contracted a cold from which he never recovered. He
was elected a member of the Assembly in the years 1782,

1785, and 1786, and, while attending the session in Philadel-

phia in 1786, ruptured a bloodvessel during a paroxysm of

coughing, and died on the 25th of November.

" So past the strong heroic soul away,

And when they buried him, the little port

Had seldom seen a costlier funeral."

His remains, attended by two celebrated divines, and fol-

lowed by the Supreme Executive Council, the Assembly which

had adjourned for the purpose, the magistrates of the city,

army officers, and a numerous concourse of citizens, were

borne to Christ Church-yard and there interred. The news-

papers of the time, recognizing his worth and services, pub-

lished warm eulogies upon his character, and his death at the

early age of forty-eight years was universally deplored. There

is, however, a darker side to the picture. The public service

of Atlee, requiring the abandonment of home and family, and

attended by exposure and deprivation, was performed not only

at the expense of his health and comfort, but of his private

fortune. In 1780, 1782, and again in 1783, he suggested to

the Assembly the propriety of some remuneration. A few

days after his death, a petition from a number of citizens,

accompanied with vouchers, was presented to the Assembly,

setting forth his labors in the cabinet, and the field, in the

cause of the State, and the United States, and asking that his

family receive some adequate compensation. So far as we

1 Minutes of Assembly, 1784, p. 314.





84 Major-General Nathaniel Greene.

have been able to ascertain, the matter was permitted to

slumber without action.

It is now too late to repay in any way these debts to the

worthies of the American Revolution, but we can at least see

to it that ourselves and our children preserve a lasting sense

of gratitude for their services, and that in the hurry and bustle

of our present growth and prosperity their courage and sacri-

fices from which we derive the benefit be not permitted to fall

into forgetfulness.

Dr. ¥m. P. Dewees, of the University of Pennsylvania, said

of Atlee, that he was a very handsome man, of faultless man-
ners. He had a fresh and ruddy complexion, brown hair, and
blue eyes, and his military bearing set off to advantage an

erect and full figure.

His "personal respectability" impressed President Madison.

That he could be moved to anger is proven by the fact that

he inflicted personal and public chastisement upon a very

celebrated man of the time who said something derogatory to

the character of Washington. He left nine children, one of

whom married the daughter of Anthony Wayne, and from

this union the only living descendants of that great captain

derive their origin.

MAJOR-GENERAL NATHANIEL GREENE.

BY GEORGE WASHINGTON GREENE.

(Centennial Collection.)

^atha^ttel Gree3TE was born on the 6th of June, 1742, at

Potowomut, in the town of Warwick, Rhode Island. His

father was a farmer, a miller, an anchor-smith, and a Quaker

preacher. His first years were passed on the farm, in the mill,

and at the forge. His first text-books were the Bible and

Barclay's Apology. A chance acquaintance, formed in a

ramble over the fields, first awoke his desire for knowledge

methodized. A visit to Xewport, to buy a book, threw him,
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by another chance, into the company of Ezra Stiles, then chief

of American scholars, who taught him what books to buy.

His first taste of science was in the rigorous demonstrations

of Euclid, which he studied by the corn-hopper, as it shook

down the golden grain, or by the forge while the iron was

heating under the blast of the huge bellows. At the same

time he did his daily tasks so well, performed his filial duties

so cheerfully, that his father, casting his prejudices behind him,

gave him a Latin master. The memory of those who first

stimulated the curiosity and shaped the thoughts of youth,

should not be forgotten. Greene's teacher was a well-trained

Scotchman of the name of Maxwell. Shall I say that it was

chance also which brought this good scholar to the little

village of East Greenwich, just as a new genius was entering

upon the struggles of life ?

From Maxwell, Greene learned to love the Latin poets, and

took special delight in Horace. Locke, also, whom the pro-

gress of intellectual and political science in our days has left

somewhat in the background, but who was the chosen guide

of our fathers, became the companion of his pillow. His

father had a lawsuit, and the future general bought Black-

stone's Commentaries and Jacobs' Law Dictionary, and made
himself master of their contents, in order to follow up the case

more intelligently. Butler's Analogy confirmed his taste for

profound reasoning, and Swift's vigorous English awakened

his sense of style. To form his own style he engaged in a

correspondence with Samuel Ward, his junior by many years,

but who was enjoying the advantages of a liberal education

in the young Rhode Island college. He got his Greek and

Roman history from Plutarch and Rollin ; his English from

Hume and Rapin. Hume's essays he read with deep interest,

and carefully meditated the generalizations of Ferguson's Civil

Society. A local reputation was the natural fruit of such a

youth, and on his removal to Coventry, where a branch of the

iron-works had been established, he was chosen to represent

the town in the General Assembly. His first act of citizen-

ship was to set measures on foot for the establishment of a

school.
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Thus Lexington found him with a mind trained to observa-

tion and thought, a body hardened by the sports and labors

of country life, and a character formed by an attentive study

of books and men. He was early to see that the dispute

between England and her colonies must sooner or later be

decided by the sword, and set himself to prepare for his part

in it by the study of military history, and of works on the art

of war. He was among the first to perceive that the strength

of the colonies lay in their union, and that to succeed they

must rise above local prejudices and learn to look upon the

thirteen parts as an undivided and indivisible whole. " For
my own part," he wrote to Governor Ward on the 16th of

October, 1775, "I would as soon go to Virginia as stay here.

I can assure the gentlemen to the southward, that there could

not be anything more abhorrent proposed, than a union of

those [the northern] colonies for the purpose of conquering

the southern colonies." When the moment for action came,

he threw off his Quaker garb and took a leading part in the

formation of an independent company, still known in Ehode
Island as the Kentish Guards.

The severe discipline of the siege of Boston followed, in

which he won for life the confidence and affection of Wash-
ington. In the movements around New York he took an

active part, though for a portion of the time ill with fever.

Trenton and Princeton came next—a brilliant surprise and a

bold change of base—which foiled the well-directed efforts

of the enemy, and won secure wTinter quarters for our weary

men—in all the glories of which he largely shared. It was

in the dark hours of that decisive winter that Greene first

crossed the threshold of Independence Hall. For communing
with him in unrestrained confidence, Washington had laid his

heart bare before him, telling him what he foresaw, what he

feared, what he needed, and saying: "Go and tell these things

to the Congress, for you know them all, and I dare not trust

them to paper."

The echoes of the "Declaration" were still lingering around

these walls when Greene first entered their hallowed precincts.

There sat John Hancock, who first put his name to the con-
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secrated roll, as president; graceful, dignified, fully conscious

of the weight which high bearing gives to high position. At

the table by his side, was Charles Thomson, with long white

hair and Hashing cavernous eyes ; a schoolmaster once, but

now hazarding a princely fortune when he signs his name as

secretary. And there they all sat in anxious consultation, and

bent their inquiring eyes on the embassador of Washington.

And from time to time, as the war dragged slowly on,

revealing new dangers and calling for new sacrifices, Greene

returned to that shrine of freedom to take counsel with Con-

gress in the name of his beloved leader.

You remember the Brandywine, where, by a march of four

miles in forty-five minutes, he threw himself between the

routed right wing of the Americans and the exultant British,

checked their advance and saved the artillery. You remember

Germantown, where he again covered the retreat, and brought

oft' his troops in safety. You remember Monmouth, and how
gallantly he bore himself on that bloody day—the day on

which the American soldier first united discipline with valor.

You remember Springfield, where he commanded alone, and

by his judicious choice of positions and obstinate resistance

held the veteran Knyphausen at bay. I will not dwell upon

the creative energy which gave, in his hands, such efficiency

to the Quartermaster-General's Department, nor pause to

remind you that, by his acceptance of the hated burthen at a

most critical period of the war, he sacrificed his military

ambition to his sense of duty and his love for Washington.

But I cannot refrain from reading to you a letter of Wash-
ington, which covers the whole ground:

—

"As you are retiring from the office of Quartermaster-

General, and have requested my sense of your, conduct and

services while you acted in it, I shall give it to you with the

greatest cheerfulness and pleasure. You have conducted the

various duties of it with capacity and diligence, entirely to

my satisfaction, and, as far as I have had an opportunity of

knowing, with the strictest integrity. When you were prevailed

on to undertake the office, in March, 1778, it was in great

disorder and confusion, and by extraordinary exertions you so





88 Major-General Nathaniel Green*.

arranged it an to enable the army to take the field the moment

it was necessary, and to move with rapidity after the enemy
when they left Philadelphia. From that period to the present

time your exertion* have been equally great. They have appeared

to me to he the result of system, and to have been well calcu-

lated to promote the honour and interest of your country. In

fine, I cannot but add that the States have had in you, in my
opinion, an able, upright and diligent servant."

I now turn to the South and to that marvellous campaign,

in which—and here I but borrow the words of Robert Morris,

Superintendent of Finance: "He found in hi3 own genius

ample compensation for the want of men, money, clothes,

arms and supplies."

England, unable to subdue her colonies by the North, turned

her arms against the South. Savannah fell an easy conquest.

Lincoln held out thirty days in Charleston against the com-

bined forces of Clinton and Arburthnot, but was compelled to

capitulate. The victorious English spread like a torrent over

the Carolinas and Georgia. Gates, with the fresh laurels of

Saratoga on his brow, was sent to hold them in check, but

was crushed at Camden. "Whom shall we send now?" was
the anxious question. The country and' the army answered,

"Greene."

"I think I am sending you a general," wrote Washington
to a Southern friend, " but what can a general do without

men, without arms, without clothing, without stores, without

provisions?" And following the same train of thought he
wTrote to Governor Lee, of Maryland: "The entire confidence

I have in the abilities, fortitude, and integrity of General

Greene, founded on a long and intimate experience of them,

assures me that he will do everything his means will enable

him to do, and I doubt not that candid allowances will be

made for the peculiar difficulties he has to encounter. I re-

commend him to your State as worthy of its utmost confidence

and support, and to your Excellency in particular, as one whom
I rank among the number of my friends."

Greene hastened to put himself at the head of his army, if

a body of two thousand three hundred and seven men, only
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eight hundred of whom were present and fully fit for duty,

could be called an army. Gates had resolved to go into winter

quarters; but Greene, who felt that he must first of all awaken
the moral sense of his officers and men, ordered a forward

movement and pitched his camp at Cheraw, on the banks of

the Pedee, just within the borders of South Carolina. Here
he could organize his forces, tighten the reins of discipline,

and establish relations with the Governors of the States on

which he depended for reinforcements and supplies. This he

called his camp of repose.

Short, however, was the repose ; for Cornwallis, England's

best general, was advancing with an army, superior in num-
bers, perfect in equipments and discipline, and flushed with

recent victory. Without moving his main body the American

general threw out a detachment under Morgan to alarm his

adversary for his left flank. This brought on the brilliant

victory of the Cowpens and the masterly retreat of the Ameri-

can army across the Dan, which lured the British general from

his base and won for the Americans the chief fruits of victory.

Ten days of skilful manoeuvring prepared the way for the

hard-fought field of Guilford Court House. Cornwallis,

though master of the ground, shrank from a new trial of

strength with his persistent adversary, and fell back with his

shattered forces in swift retreat upon Wilmington. All the

plans of the Englishman had been thwarted. All that the

American had attempted he had done. Then arose the diffi-

cult question: should he pursue Cornwallis into Virginia or,

borrowing a lesson from Roman history, strike at his posts in

South Carolina?

"Remote from reinforcements," he wrote to Washington

on the 29th of March, fifteen days after the battle of Guilford,

"inferior to the enemy in numbers, and no prospect of support,

. . . I am determined to carry the war immediately into

South Carolina. The enemy will be obliged to follow us or

give up their posts in that State. If the former takes place

it will draw the war out of this State and give it an opportu-

nity to raise its proportion of men. If they leave their posts

to fall, they will lose more than they can gain here. If we
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continue in this State the enemy will hold their possessions in

both. All things considered, I think the movement is war-

ranted by the soundest reasons, both political and military.

The manoeuvres will be critical and dangerous, and the troops

exposed to every hardship. But as I share it with them I

hope they will bear up against it with that magnanimity

which has already supported them, and for which they

deserve everything of their country."

On the 6th of April the adventurous march began. On the

20th he sat down before Camden. A check at Hobkirk's Hill

was followed, like the defeat at Guilford, by the retreat of the

enemy. For it must be remembered that though he lost bat-

tles he won campaigns. Post after post, Fort Watson, Cam-

den, Fort Motte, Fort Granby, Augusta, with its three forts,

fell in rapid succession, and on the 22d of May he laid siege

to Ninety-Six. Another momentary check wras also followed

by the fruits of victory, and in the middle of July he paused

in his marchings and counter-marchings, to give his weary

men a short breathing space on the High Hills of Santee.

One more bloody battle and one more bold advance drove the

enemy from all their remaining strongholds in the interior,

and by the end of November the city of Charleston, a few sea

islands, and a narrow strip of coast were all that was left to

England of her conquest of the Carolinas.

"With the peace of 1783 Greene's public life ended. On the

19th of June, 1786, he died ; too soon to take the part that

belonged to him in the civil history of his country, and dis-

play wrhat Hamilton has designated " the enormous powers

of his mind." He died, too, in the darkest hours of the

Confederation, leaving the country, to whose service he had
consecrated himself, still doubtful whether her hard won
independence would prove a blessing or a curse.

" General Greene," wrote Washington to Rochambeau in

July, " lately died at Savannah, in Georgia. The public, as

well as his family and friends, has met with a severe loss. He
was a great and good man indeed."

"General Greene's death," he wrote to Lafayette almost a

year later, " is an event which has given such general concern,
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and is so much regretted by his numerous friends, that I can

scarce persuade myself to touch upon it, even so far as to say

that in him you have lost a man, who affectionately regarded

and was a sincere admirer of you."

As the political horizon grew darker, and he was looking

around him for a strong arm to lean upon, his thoughts went

back to the truthfulness and devotion of Greene, and he wrote

to Knox :
" In re^rettinsr, as I have often done, the death of

our much lamented friend, General Greene, I have accom-

panied it of late with a query whether he would not have

preferred such an exit to the scene which it is more than pro-

bable many of his compatriots may live to bemoan."

The highest honors were paid to Greene's memory every-

where. The Society of the Cincinnati by a special resolution

admitted his eldest son to the order at the.age of eighteen,

and solemnized his obsequies by public observances, in which

Hamilton pronounced the funeral oration. Congress voted

him a monument at the seat of government. For ninety years

this resolve lay forgotten in the constantly accumulating mass

of Congressional documents, till a Senator from Rhode Island,

Henry Bowen Anthony, allied to Greene by blood, and mind-

ful of what great nations owe to their great men, demanded

its fulfilment, and before two more years shall have run their

course an equestrian statue from the skilful hand of that emi'

nent American sculptor, Henry Kirk Brown, shall take its

place in the goodly company of America's great men, con-

spicuous amid the adornments of the national capitol, and

recall to grateful remembrance the patriotism, the wisdom,

the valor, the civil and military genius of Nathaniel Greene.
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MEMORIAL NOTICE OF JOHN McALLISTER, Jr.

Head by Charles M. Morris, before the Historical Society of Pennsylvania,

January 14, 1878.

Mr. President: Since the last meeting, our Society has

lost iti oldest member in point of years, and one of its most

respected. I refer, as you readily conjecture, to the late Mr.

John McAllister, who died on the 17th of December last, at

the venerable age of 91 years, 5 months, and 18 days. Ex-

cept the late Horace Blimey, who had reached his 96th year,

I do not recall any of our members who has attained so great

an age; though one of them, the late Samuel Breck, had

reached 91 years and 46 days. Mr. McAllister was admitted

into this Society on the 26th of March, 1828 ; and for nearly

half a century contributed, statedly, to its support and useful-

ness. His father (named also John McAllister) was a native

of Scotland, who came to this country just before the Revolu-

tion. He soon identified himself with our country, and the

newspapers of the time inform us, that in the Grand Federal

Procession which, on the 9th of July, 1788, celebrated in this

city the adoption of the Constitution of the United States,

" Mr. John McAllister and his journeymen" represented the

manufacturers in the branch of business to which he belonged.

Our late fellow-member was born, as appears by an entry, in

his own handwriting, made in our " Birthday Book," on the

29th of June, 1786, in our own city, at the northeast corner

of Market and Second Streets ; and the whole of his long life

was passed among our own citizens, and before their eyes.

That at the close of it, those citizens generally should lament
his departure is a conclusive proof that it was passed with
credit and usefulness. ISTo man, by virtue of his place of birth
and scene of life, had a better title to be a member of +he His-
torical Society of Pennsylvania.

Although from Mr. McAllister's boyhood it was the pur-
pose of his father to devote his son to mercantile pursuits, the
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father determined to give him a collegiate education. If his

son was to be engaged in commerce or trade, he saw no reason

why that son should not be a well-educated, enlightened, and

liberally-minded merchant or trader ; one whose understand-

ing and conscience, alike, should be instructed and made fit

for the work to which his life wa3 to be devoted. He, there-

fore, sent his son to the University of Pennsylvania, at which

seat of science he graduated with credit in the year 1803. lie

entered, in 1804, into the counting-house of Montgomery &
^ewbold, merchants of that day, in our city. In 1811, how-

ever, a partnership in trade which had existed between his

father and a certain Mr. Mathews becoming dissolved, the son

took the place of Mr. Mathews, the retiring partner. The
firm—which was now known as " John McAllister & Son"

—

soon became respected through the whole country, and stood

at the head of the department—one as much scientific as of

trade—which embraces for its subjects, optical and mathe-

matical instruments. Our late member remained in partner-

ship with his father until the death of the latter, A. D. 1830.

He himself retired from business five years afterwards ; hand-

ing it over, A. D. 1835, to his sons, one of whom still continues

the business of his father and grandfather, and still maintains

their long-established credit of every kind.

At all times of his life, and even as a boy, Mr. [McAllister

was fond of liberal occupations and studies. Before the seat of

Government left this city—while John Adams was President,

and even while the august presence of Washington was to be

seen in our Senate and Representatives—he had reached an

age which made him, in a way, capable of enjoying the great

political debates which, in those days, distinguished the Con-

gress of the United States ; and he frequently visited both

Houses. It was the day when Ellsworth and Cabot and

Schuyler and King and Stockton and Morris and Ross and

Bingham adorned the Senate, and when Dexter and Sedgwick

and Trumbull and Sitgreaves and Boudinot and John Mar-

shall dignified the House. Mr. McAllister often expressed

the pleasure with which he listened to the debates, and espe-

cially to that with which he listened to the memorable speech
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of Mr. Marshall, afterwards Chief Justice, in the case which
so much agitated the country, of Jonathan Robins. ' Of later

days—after his retirement from business—as he grew older,

and as his mind fed upon recollections, his tastes led him
much into the subject of our local antiquities ; and his collec-

tions of ancient pamphlets, newspapers, maps, and manuscripts

being large and well-arranged, his memory clear, and his

judgments both moral and intellectual sound, he was con-

tinually appealed to for information about men, things, and

events of former days in Philadelphia. He was always oblig-

ing in imparting the benefits of his recollection and judgment.

Undoubtedly, much knowledge that relates to our men and

city since the close of the last century has departed with him.

It was a proof of his scientific mind, and of his capacity to

apply it practically, that to him we are indebted for the

admirable system of numbering houses according to the num-

ber of the streets, which first marked our city, and which since

has been found so generally convenient, that it has been adopted

in the Capital, and is likely to prevail wherever the plan of

streets at all allows it.

Up to the close of his long life, Mr. McAllister took a lively

interest in all that concerned Philadelphia. In the recent

successful efforts to place our University upon a higher base,

and to endow it liberally, he took an especial interest. At
the time of his death he was the oldest living graduate of the

College, and at the meeting of its Alumni, in the year 1876,

as you, Sir, who presided on that occasion will remember, he

sent a note, which was read amidst the acclamations of all, in

which he expressed his deep interest in the welfare of the

College where he had graduated seventy-three years before!

In our own Society he took no less an interest. To our

Endowment Fund and to our Publication Fund, especially,

he looked with interest, as being means by which the Society's

stability was certain to be secured and its usefulness enlarged.

Our new Magazine of History and Biography commended

itself highly to his judgment.

Though Mr. McAllister was not much communicative of

his inner thoughts and feelings on the great topics of Religion,
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enough is known to assure us that he was a profound believer

in the truths of Revelation. He read the Scriptures con-

stantly ; the Xew Testament often in the original Greek. He
attended devoutly on religious worship. lie did justly ; he

loved mercy; he walked humbly with his God. And we may
not and do not doubt that he has entered into that rest of

another world, which awaits the upright man upon this.

MEMORIAL NOTICE OF STEPHEN TAYLOR.

Read by Townsend Ward before the Historical Society of Pennsylvania,

January 14, 1878.

Mr. President: On the 8th of December, 1877, a late

member of our Society, Stephen Taylor, died at his residence

in Frankford Avenue, and was buried on the 12th of that

month in the Odd Fellows' Cemetery. He was in his seventy-

third year, having been born in Miffiinsburg, Union County,

of this State, on the third of April, 1805. He was of a good
old Pennsylvania stock, being descended from ancestors con-

temporaneous with Penn, who settled in the vicinity of Tini-

cum and Upland.

In the year 1835 Mr. Taylor was delegated by the Grand
Sire of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows to organize a

Lodge at Mineral Point, Wisconsin. One had already been

instituted at Cincinnati, and thus that in Wisconsin was the

second in order of time in the vast region of the northwest.

Continuing to remain in a country that greatly interested

him, Mr. Taylor soon became Assistant to Major John P.

Sheldon, Register of the United States Land Office at Mineral

Point, a position which he held until the year 1841. He
prepared and published an early map of the Lead Region of

Wisconsin, and in 1842 contributed to Silliman's Journal an

interesting illustrated paper on the curious animal-shaped

mounds of Wisconsin.

In the year 1843 Mr. Taylor returned to his native State,





96 Stephen Taylor.

and established himself here as a conveyancer. In the course

of time his sterling qualities became known to his fellow-

citizens, and when the city of Philadelphia and the surround-

ing districts were consolidated, he became the Controller of

the enlarged municipality. I need not say that Mr. Taylor's

administration of the affairs of an office which had sought

him, was in every respect satisfactory.

Mr. Taylor became a member of our Society on the 14th of

October, IS61 ; and on various occasions his appreciation of its

importance was manifested. His attendance was infrequent,

for his residence was remote from the Hall. By his will he

has bequeathed to our Publication Fund the sum of one

thousand dollars, the interest thereof to be used for its pur-

poses until the time shall have come to erect a building, when
it is to go for that use. With a view to extend the interest

in historical studies and to prolong the association of his name
with that of our Society, he desires that our publications may
be sent for life to his nephew, Charles K. Taylor, of Miners-

ville, Schuylkill County. Besides the legacy mentioned above,

Mr. Taylor leaves one thousand dollars to the Wisconsin His-

torical Society, and ten thousand dollars as a Charity Fund to

the Grand Lodge of Masons of Pennsylvania.
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RECORDS OF CHRIST CHURCH, PHILADELPHIA.

BURIALS, 1709-1760.

CONTRIBUTED BY CHARLES R. HILDEBURN.

Aug.

May
Aug.

Oct.

June
May
"Nov.

Mar.
July
June
May
July
Aug.
Oct.

Aug.
Feb.
Dec.
ISTov.

Sept.

Feb.
Dec.
Dec.
Aug.
July
Mar.
Mar.
Mar.
Jan.

Feb.
Sept.

May
July
Aug.

(Continued from page 464, Vol. I.)

12, 1726. Brightwell,

26, 1727. "

23, 1717. Brindley,

Britt,

Brittain,

Broaclhurst,

Brocas,

Broken,
Bromage,

u

Bromley,
Brook,

9, 1731.

14, 1727.

5, 1737.

3, 1709.

31, 1731.

10, 1749.

30, 1745.

10, 1748.

6, 1748.

6, 1734.

25, 1752.

16, 1758.

7, 1735-6. Brooke,
10, 1718. Brooks,
11, 1722.

25, 1729. "

5,1729-30. "

14, 1736. "

23, 1738. "

14, 1740. "

29, 1752. "

5, 1739-40. Broom,
5, 1750-1. Brouse,

20, 1709-10. Brown,
19, 1710-11.

7, 1710-11.

17, 1711.

26, 1720.

26, 1720.

5, 1728.

Vol. ii.—7

William, son of John and
Elizabeth.

Martha, dau. of Jonathan.
Margaret, dau. of James and

Mary.
Mary, wife of James.
Thomas, son ofJames andAnn.
Anne, wife of James.
William.
William.
Elizabeth, dau. of Thomas.
Priscilla.

Anne, wife of William.
Elizabeth, dau. of William.
James.
Elizabeth, dau. of Jonathan.
Jonathan.
Henry, Esq. Gen'ell Invita.

Thomas, son of Charles and
Jane. [Anne.
John.
Charles.

Eleanor, dau. of John.—Por-

John. [ter.

Amos, son of Charles.

Catherine, dau. of Jonathan.
Thomas.
John.
James. [Grisal.

Thomas, son of Eobert and
Benjamin.
James, son of James and Eliza-

Mary, [beth.

Mary, dau. of Mary. Base

Francis. [born.
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Mar. 31

Dec. 19

July 9

Dec. 13
Sept. 13
Jan. 12
Sept. 2

Aug. 4
Aug. 7

Dec. 10
June 16
April 28
June 3

Nov. 12
June 18
July 10
Sept. 10
Aug. 24
Dec. 16
May 16

Feb. 10
Aug. 6

Oct. 5

Oct. 31

Sept. 21

Aug. 18
Sept. 23
Aug. 17
Nov. 4
Oct. 24
June 16
Sept. 20
Aug. 7

June 19
June 26
Aug. 19
July 21
Sept. 6

May 27
Feb. 20
July 23
Sept. 14
Aug. 28
Aug. 5

Oct. 19

172
1732.

1735.

1736.

1737.

1738-9
1741.

1745.

1745.

1746.

1747.

1751.

1752.

1754.

1755.

1756.

1756.

1759.

1759.

1714.

1730-

1751.

1756.

1756.

1758.

1714.

1744.

1726.

1736.

1751.

1752.

1749.

1759.

1710.

1734.

8-9. Brown,

1.

1754.

1753.

1758.

1718.

1733-4
1725. Budd,
1729.

1730.

1733.

1733. u

Browne,
u

Brownel,
Brownhill,

u

Bruch,
Bruck,
Brueno,
Bruestar,

Brumwell,

Bruno,
u

Brunson,
Brusterson,

Bruss,

Bryan,
Bryant,
Buckin,
Buckingham,
Buckley,

Thomas.
James. Chas. Williams's ser-

Thomas. [vant.

John.
Joseph, son of John.
Solomon.
John. Mariner.
Elizabeth, wife of Thomas.
Thomas, son of Thomas.
Catherine, wife of John.
Elizabeth, dau. of Jeremiah.
Michael.
Anne, wife of Joseph.
John, son of Joseph.

dau. of Preserve.

dau. of Joseph.
dau. of Joseph.

Eleanor.

Eebecca, dau. of John.
Elizabeth, dau. of Sarah and
Patience, widow. [James.
Elizabeth, dau. of William.
William.
William.
Sarah, dau. of Thomas.
Mary, dau. of Charles and
John, son of John. [Anne.
Edward, of Barbadoes, Gent,
Charles, son of Thomas. Beg.
Pebecca, dau. of John.
Francis, son of John.
Daniel.

Hans.
John. Breese.

John.
Jehosheba,
John, son of Charles.

dau. of John.
Edward.
Elizabeth, dau. of James.
Lucy, dau. of Thomas.
James, son of Thomas.
Mary, dau. of Thomas.
Wheliey, dau. of Thomas.
Thomas.
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Feb. 3, 1733-4. Budd, Charles, son of Thomas.
June 24, 1736. " Mary, wife of Thomas.
Nov. 21, 1736. " Susannah, dau. of Thomas.
Oct. 23, 1744. Budden, Richard, son of Richard.
April 26, 1747. u Richard, son of Richard.

June 3, 1742. Buddin, Hannah, dau. of Richard.

Mar. 15, 1758. Budding, dau. of William.
Sept. 16, 1736. Bulah, Rebecca, wife of John.
Oct. 11,1725. Bullard, Benjamin, ofBarbadoes. Gent.
Sept. 2, 1750. " Charles.

Oct. 3, 1729. Bulley, Esther, dau. of William.
Oct. 26, 1730. " Elizabeth, dau. of "William.

Nov. 2,1721. Bullock, Mary, wife of William.
Nov. 4,1722. " William.
Mar. 17, 1726-7. " Thomas.
Mar. 1,1731-2. " Samuel.
Jan. 2, 1738-9. " Rebecca, wife of John.
May 13, 1740. " Thomas, son of John.
Nov. 23, 1744. " Rachel, dau. of George.
July 12, 1755. " George.
Oct. 20, 1756. " son of George.
Dec. 17, 1758. " George.
July 16, 1728. Bully, John Jennings, son of Mr.
April 19, 1749. " William, Esq. [William.
Aug. 2, 1759. " Sarah. [Margaret.
Aug. 26, 1718. Bulock, Thomas, son of Thomas and
July 28, 1711. Bunyon, Ann, dau. of Isaac and Mag-
Sept. 14, 1733. Burch, David, son of David, [garet.

Jan. 16,1736-7. " Dehaws, son of John.
Sept. 8, 1740. " Susannah, dau. of John.
June 15, 1717. Burchfield, Abraham, son of Matthew and

Sarah.
Sept. 6,1717. " Sarah, wife of Matthew.
Aug. 2, 1741. Burck, John.
Jan. 4, 1742-3. " John, son of John.
May 3, 1748. " Elinor, wife of Patrick.
April 30, 1733. Burd, Elizabeth, dau. of Jeremiah.
Sept. 26, 1743. Burden, Catherine, dau. of John.
June 21, 1745. " Elinor, dau. of John.
July 23,1747. " Sarah, dau. of John.
Jan. 20, 1709-10. Burges, James.
June 14, 1736. Burk, Joseph, son of Benjamin.
Jan. 13, 1736-7. " Sarah Ann, dau. of John.
Feb. 11, 1736-7. " William, son of John.
July 3, 1738. " Margaret, wife of John.
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;Nov. 13, 1751. Burk,
Aug. 17, 1735. Burn,
June 28, 1729. Bumell,
Sept. 19, 1725. Burrel,

Kov. 8, 1752. Burroughs,
Sept. 11, 1745. Burrows,
July 19, 1747. u

Aug. 19, 1757. It

July 30, 1759. u

May 20, 1714. Busell,

Dec. 31, 1717. Busey,
Dec. 10, 1746. Bush,
Sept. 1, 1730. Butcher,
Feb. 1, 1726-7 . Butler,

Aug. 9, 1738. u

Mar. 9,1739-40. "

June 7, 1741. u

Mar. 20, 1747-8 . "
May 23, 1714. Buttler,

Dec. 4, 1748. Butwall,
Dec. 9, 1748. u

Feb. 3, 1743-4 . Bywater,
May 9, 1745. u

May 4, 1749. 44

Dec. 1, 1750. 44

Aug. 22, 1755. 44

Aug. 11, 1756. 44

Aug. 26, 1757. 44

Oct. 11, 1759. 44

Oct 5, 1718. Bvwatter,
Mar. 21, 1737-S .

* "

Feb. 3, 1741-2!. Cadder,
Sept. 13, 1736. Cadman,
Mar. 21, 1737-£5. "
Apri' 26, 1750. 44

Nov. 1, 1736. Caine,

Mar. 24, 1747-$). Calcut,

Feb. 12, 1749-5 0. Callahan,

Oct. 27, 1759. Callahoon,

£sov. 6, 1759. Calvert,

July 27, 1755. Cambel,
Jan. 31, 1728-9. Cambridge,
July 7, 1746. Canipbel,
July 19, 1746. 44

Susannah, dau. of William.
Elizabeth, wife of Thomas.
Elizabeth.

Ann, servant to Dr. Bard.
Arthur.
Elizabeth. Strangers' Ground.
George, son of Arthur.
William.
William.
Joseph, son of Joseph and
William. [Sarah.

John.
John.
Mary, dau. ofThomas. Stran-

Thomas. [gers
5 Ground.

Mary, dau. of Thomas.
Thomas.
Mary.
Mary, dau. of Thomas and
John. [Mary.
Bathia.

Sarah, dau. of Jervis.

William.
Jervis.

Joseph, son of Jervis.

dau. of William.
dau. of William.

Thomas, son of William.
Jarvis, son of William.
Joan.

Ann, wife of William.

John.
Elizabeth, dau. of Anthony.
Elizabeth, dau. of Anthony.
Elizabeth, wife of Anthony.
Enos.

Mary.
John.
Mary, dau. of Morris.
Mary, dau. of Thoma3.
John.
Giles. Presbyterian Ground.
John, son of John.
Catherine, son of John,
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Feb.
Feb.
Mar.
Feb.
June
Oct.

Feb. 12
Dec. 6

June 15
4

18
2

2(3

Sept.

Oct.

Jan.

Jan.

July 10
June 6

Oct. 13
Oct. 15
Jan. 8

Nov. 10
Jan. 8

May 23
April 16
Mar. 14
June 18
Oct. 16
Sept. 19
Aug. 24
June 28
Jan. 6

Aug. 29
Oct. 9

Feb. 3

Mar. 17
Sept. 4
July 14
Dec. 30
June 23
June 21
July 24
July 12
Oct. 30
April 19

1753. Campbel,
1757.

1728-9. Campbell,
1729-30. "

1732. "

1733.

1757.

1731.

1744.

Campion,

1756.

1733.

Canady,
Cane,

1738-9. "

1749-50. "

1751. u

1751.

1723.

1738.

1752.

1748.

Canterbury,
Capper,
Cappock,
Cappock,
Car,

1726- 7. Carber,

1754. Carbut,
1756. Carear,
1730-1. Carleton,

1732.

1759.

Carley,

Carlisle,

1742. Carmack,
1736. Carmalt,
1738. u

1743-4.
1747.

1751.

1755.

1756.

1756.

1740.

1750.

1759.

1712.

1722.

1723.

1729.

1731.

Carmick,
Carmm,
Carne,

u

Carney,
Carpenter,

Jobn, son of Thomas.
wife of Thomas.

John.
Archibald.
James, son of John.
Rachel, dau. of John.
Allen.

George.
Mary.

son of Patrick.

Abel.
Mary, dau. of William.
Anne.
James, son of James.
Giles.

Robert.
John, son of James.
Mary, wife of James.
Anthony.
Edward. Strangers' Ground.
Susannah, dau. of Joseph.

Abraham.
Alice.

Walter, son of "William.

Hugh.
James.
Sarah, dau. of Joseph.

Benjamin, son of Joseph*

Joseph, son of Joseph.

Jane, wife of Joseph.

Benjamin, son of Joseph.

John.
Joseph.

dau. of Stephen.

Edward, son of Thomas.
Simon, son of John.
Ann. [boeca.

John, son of Philip and Re-

Joshua.
Charles, son of Capt.

Elizabeth. Strangers' Ground.

Mary, dau. of Samuel.

(To be continued.)
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JANUARY MEETING OF THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY
OF PENNSYLVANIA.

A quarterly meeting of the Society was held on the evening of January

14, 1678, the President (Mr. Wallace) in the chair.

The order of business being suspended, the President introduced Mr.

William Brooke Rawle, who read a short sketch of Samuel Shoemaker, of

Philadelphia, a loyalist of the American Revolution, with extracts from his

diary.

Mr. William J. Morris was introduced, and read a sketch of Alexander

Lawson, the engraver, from material furnished by his daughter to Mr. Jor-

dan, and arranged with some additions by Mr. Ward.

Mr. Samuel W. Pennypacker read a memoir of Colonel Samuel J. Atlee.

Mr. Longstreth exhibited and placed on deposit a map of the Northwestern

Territory, engraved by John Fitch, and a prospectus for the sale of lands

thereon.

Mr. R. J. C. Walker presented to the Society certain papers, including

—

1st. An order for an election, dated on the 29th day of September, 1696,

and signed by Governor William Markham.

2d. A commission of Governor John Penn, dated Nov. 3d, 1766.

3d. A broadside, dated September 23, 1766, issued by Gov. John Penn.

Additions to the library since the last meeting were reported to be one

hundred and eighty-six ; of which one hundred and thirty-one were bound

volumes; three, maps; two, manuscripts; and twenty-two, miscellaneous.

Mr. Ward announced the death, on the 8th of December, of Mr. Stephen

Taylor, and read a brief sketch of his life ; he announced also that by his last

will, Mr. Taylor had left 61000 to the Trustees of the Publication Fund of

the Society, the same to be paid on the death of his wife.

Mr. Charles M. Morris announced the death, on the 17th December, 1877,

of John McAllister, Jr., at the age of 91. He also read a sketch of his life.

Dr. Ruschenberger moved the thanks of the Society to the several gentle-

men who had addressed it. and the same were unanimously voted.

The minutes of the proceedings were read aad approved.
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ISTOTES AKD QUERIES.

Notes.

Champlain's Expedition into "Western New York in 1615. and tiie

RECENT IDENTIFICATION OF THE FORT BY GEN. JOHN S. CLARK.—There has

always gathered around Champlain's expedition into the land of the Five

Nations, a romance inseparable from bold and gallant adventure. It was

not perhaps prudent, it was not war, but it was brilliant, and it had all the

dash of a zealous explorer, eager to see something new.

While Virginia was just struggling into life, and the States of Holland

were organizing into a government "the few frail structures thrown up at

New Amsterdam and Fort Orange, while New England was still a desert,

its woods not yet tuned to echo the psalmody of the Puritan. Samuel de

Champlain, who had fought too long against the Leaguers in France to

relish listless idleness, had explored the New England coast and mapped ail

its harbors, had founded Quebec, ascended the Ottawa, and reached Lake

Huron, had discovered the lake that bears his name, and taken a hand in

Indian wars.

There was just the stir and the freshness in it all that charmed hiim In

1615, he was at a Huron town near Lake Simcoe, and his Huron and Algon-

quin allies were planning a great expedition against an enemy who lay beyond

Ontario (the beautiful take), in the lake-dotted fertile territory to the south.

The town of a tribe, whom he styles in his narrative the Entouohonoron3, was

to be the point of attack. A kindred nation, the Carantouanais (Great tree

—

Garonta-(go)wane), st»ut warriors, living in three towns near the Susque-

hanna, were to co-operate with the Hurons. Would Champlain take a hand

in the matter? Of course he would. One of his men, Stephen Brule, started

with twelve Indians to communicate their plans to their allies, the Caran-

touanais, and reached their town after daringly crossing the enemy's country.

Champlain, with the rest of his Frenchmen, joined the great Huron war

party, and after the usual feasts and dances, the Frenchmen and their dusky

allies left the town of Cahiague, their starting-point, north of Lake Simcoe.

Of this expedition Champlain is our historian, for he was always rea«iy

with his pen, and as a trained navigator mapped a coast or country with no

little skill and accuracy. His account appeared first in a volume ot his

voyages, published at Paris in 1619, with a picture of the Indian fort
;
and

in an abridged form in a general collection of his voyages, published in the

French capital in 1632. and accompanied by a map of New France, on which

the course of the expedition over New York soil, and the position of the

fort which the Hurons and their French allies attacked, are laid down.

The Recollect Sagard wrote, subsequently to the expedition, two worrfs,

his " Great Voyage to the Huron Country." and his "History of Canada;

but neither^of these volumes throws any further light upon the route pursued.

or the citadel which the allies proposed to take. The later work of the

Recollect LeClercq, based on manuscripts of Champlain's time, introduces a

few new facts, but is too vague to be of any service in the main question.

The documents bearing upon the point are, therefore, Champlain's narra-

tive (1619), the picture of the fort, and the map in the edition of LGJ-.

Unfortunately, these have not been found so clear that scholars have agreed

on the route followed, or the position of the fort which Champlain depicts.

The discussion has lasted some years, and opinions have differed wideij.
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Various sites have been assigned to the fort, extending from the neighbor-

hood of Oneida Lake on the East, to Canandaigua on the west, from the land

of the Oneidas to the homes of the Senecas ; while one history of Canada
wildly puts it on Lake St. Clair. The Hon. 0. IT. Marshall, one of the

earliest to treat it in a scholarly manner, maintained that the fort was south

of Oneida Lake and near Lake Onondaga. In the newly-established Maga-
zine of American History, he defends his position with skill and learning.

Dr. O'Callaghan, a veteran in New York history, followed by Parkmau and
the Canadian scholars, Ferland and Laverdiere, holds the opinion that the

fort was on Canandaigua Lake ; while Brodhead, in his History of NewYork,
and Clark, the historian of Onondaga, adopted Mr. Marshall's view.

After long and patient study of the position of the various towns in

the Iroquois country, at different epochs, which gives him exceptional famili-

arity, not only with their town sites, but of the great Indian trails. Gen.
John S. Clark, of Auburn, has taken up the Champlain Expedition seriously,

and the results attained are remarkable, and seem destined to afford scholars

a satisfactory solution of this vexed question.

His theory was embodied in a paper read before the NewYork Historical

Society, at their April meeting in 1877, and has received from his later

researches support that appears conclusive. As it was a question in which,

as a student of the French period of operations, I was personally interested,

I listened to his paper with the deepest interest and ; as I have not noticed

any discussion of its main features, or appreciation of the research and patient

investigation it displayed, I ask a space among your contributors.

Mr. Marshall, in his article on the Expedition, in the January number of

the Magazine of American History, inclines to reject the map as not being

in the volume published in 1619, nor appearing till long after the date of the

Expedition. " There was no map to the edition of 1619, and the one which
accompanied that of 1632 was not constructed until seventeen years after

the date of the expedition, as appears from a memorandum on its face. It

may not have been compiled from authentic data. . . . It is also worthy
of note that the map is not once referred to by Champlain in his text."

Unable to reconcile the text and map, Mr. Marshall is inclined to reject the

latter, and his theory seems to require it.

But the map is evidently Champlain's, and he was too good a hydrographer
for us to reject his map as a guide for parts he actually visited. His wonder-
fully accurate surveys of the New England harbors prove his ability, and we
know how he gleaned information from the Indians as to parts he was yet to

visit. There we expect no accuracy. He embodied such information as he
could acquire. In the present case we must take his map of the route as

authentic.

General Clark seeks a theory which will reconcile the text and the map,
and be compatible with both. If he has succeeded, this alone will give his

system extraordinary weight as a mere probability. If at the same time the

position he points out corresponds completely to the picture of the fort and
its surroundings, no question being raised as to the authenticity of the picture

which is in the edition of 1619, the probable approaches the certain. That
no other site is known that will answer all the conditions required seems
decisive.

The Editor of the Magazine of American History opens his September
number with an article by Hon. George Geddes on "The French Invasions

of Onondaga." The writer, without entering upon a direct examination of

Champlain's narrative and map, but simply taking the statements of recent

writers, questions the probability of the position assigned on Onondaga Lake,

on the bluff on the north shore near Liverpool, and argues that it was on the

table-lands east of Jamesviile.





Notes and Queries. 105

It thus raises a new theory, but is valuable chiefly as showing that the
site to which Mr. Marshall leaned is not free from grave objections.

In the same number of the Magazine, the Editor, in his remarks under the
head "Notes," misinterprets the conclusions both of Gen. Clark and of
Hon. Mr. Geddcs. making the former place the fort at the western extroniitv

of Oneida Lake, where he never placed it at all, and Mr. Geddes adopt the
Fort St. Mary's theory, which he disputes.

Let us try to follow Champlain on his war-path more than two hundred
and sixty years ago.

The Huron town Cahiague, from which the Huron war party set out,

Sept. 1, 1615, was some years later called by the Jesuits St. Jean Baptiste,
and though it may have been removed from the original site a few miles,

cannot be far from the position given it on Du Creux's map, between Lake
Simcoe and Lake Couchiching. They embarked on the latter lake, entered
Simcoe, and having, as we have seen, sent Brule with twelve Hurons to the
Susquehanna region to notify their allies, they made the portage to Sturgeon
Lake, and thence through Pigeon. Buckhorn. Clear, and Rice Lakes, the Onto-
nabeeand Trent Rivers, plying their paddles where there was a good stretch of
water, or making a toilsome portage over land at the frequent rapids. They,
finally, after 64 leagues travel, reached Quinte Bay. and sailing up that
sheet of water, reached the waters of Lake Ontario. Up to this point there

is little difference of opinion.

The first difficulty arises as to the point whence they started in their

canoes to cross the end of Lake Ontario, and the point they reached. A
dotted line on the map. which has been presumed to mark the course by
which the expedition advanced, starts from a little peninsula just beyond
the mouth of Quinte Bay. This Clark takes to be the place where Kingston
now is, while Mr. Marshall evidently makes Champlain pas3 out of the bay
west of Amherst Island, and discards the peninsula.

Confusion is created at this point in translating Champlain. He says,
" On estants nous fismes la traverse en Tun des bouts, tirant a. l'Orient. qu
est Tentree de la grande riviere Sainct Laurent, par la hauteur de quarante

trois degres de latitude, ou il y a de belles isles fort grandes en ce passace.

Nous fismes environ quatorze lieues pour passer jusqu'a l'autre coste du

lac, tirant au sud, vers les terres des ennemis."

All who have discussed this matter treat the expressions " tirant a l'orient

—tirant au sud" as giving the course followed by Champlain, but the ex-

pression is in the singular, while all the participles in the narrative, referring

to the party, are in the plural, chassants, estants. ayants traverse ; and the

expression "tirant a" is constantly used by Champlain in topographical

descriptions to give the lay of the land. In this case it answers this view

perfectly. "Where being (on the shore of Lake Ontario) we made the cross-

ing at one of the extremities, which trends eastward, and which is the com-

mencement of the great river St. Lawrence, at 4-3° N. latitude, where there

are many fine large islands in this passage. We made about fourteen leagues

to pass to the other side of the lake, which trends southward towards the

enemies' country."
Mr. Marshall inclines to make him cross from the peninsula below Quinte

Bay by the chain of islands, eastward the Inner and Outer Ducks, Great and
Little Galop, Calf and Stony Islands, to Stony Point in Jefferson County.

The map, however, if the dotted line shows the advance of the expedition,

makes the start from a peninsula beyond Quinte Bay, and on the north

shore, and the course mainly south. The conjecture, therefore, discards the

map and makes a landing at a difficult place, so that he has to suppose they

debarked lower down.
Gen. Ciark thinks Kingston the starting-point, and makes them run east
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a distance not given, then southerly fourteen leagues (35 miles) from the

commencement of the Saint Lawrence. He makes the landing-place to have

been at Little Sandy Lake, which is thirty-five miles from the St. Lawrence.

That Champlain was actually at the head of the St. Lawrence of which he

gives the latitude seems almost certain. For one who had founded a trading

settlement on the lower river, the examination and exact locating of the head

of the river, when he was so near it, seem imperatively demanded. If the

dotted line is not that of advance but of return, with which it really agrees,

there is nothing to militate against the view that he took the course sug-

gested by Gen. Clark.

From the landing-place the expedition marched along the shore four

leagues, over a sandy plain crossed by several small streams and two small

rivers, many ponds and prairies, fine woods, containing a great many chestnut

trees. The map shows only the final point of this shore march, as though

the canoes kept on to that point, the text in fact making them conceal the

canoes at the landing, and then at the end of the ten miles. But the map
shows three ponds near the shore.

The country, from Little Sandy Lake to Salmon River, according to Gen.

Clark, exactly answers the distance given ; it is as Champlain describes, an

agreeable and beautiful country; it has many small streams and two small

rivers flowing into the lake, with ponds and meadows, and woods of oak,

hickory, and chestnut. Even the three small lakes noted on Champlain's

map are identified by him as North and South Ponds in Jefferson County
and Little Sandy Lake, and there are at no other point on the Ontario shore

three similar lakes or ponds.

At the end of the four leagues the expedition left the shore of the lake,

and as the map indicates, at the mouth of a river flowing from three small

lakes. Mr. Marshall holds that they passed Salmon River. The next stream

is Salmon Creek, which is. according to Gen. Clark, the terminus of the march
along the shore. According to him no other stream in that part has the

branches issuing from lakes that are called for by Champlain's map. Mr.
Marshall held this river to be the Oswego, but this is evidently too far from

the point reached after crossing, and nothing in Champlain's narrative sug-

gests a suspicion that he ascended the Oswego, or became aware of the chain

of lakes which it drained, for as he lays down only Oneida Lake, he evidently

was ignorant of those on the west.

Champlain says : "All the canoes being thus hid, we left the shore of the

lake . . . and continued our way by land twenty-five to thirty leagues.

Daring four days we crossed a quantity of streams, and one river proceeding
from a lake which empties into that of the Entouohonorons."
The dotted line on Champlain's map. after twice crossing the river, which

they followed from Lake Ontario, strikes off towards a lake, south of which
is the town they were going to attack. In the reproduction in the Magazine
the dotted line goes to the town : in the original, however, it stops before

reaching the lake, near which the town is placed.

Both Mr. Marshall and General Clark agree that the river crossed was
the outlet of Oneida Lake, and that the lake referred to was Oneida
Lake. The latter point is attested by a fact which Champlain notes, that

the lake contains beautiful islands: and General Clark calls attention to

something which is. we believe, not generally known, that Oneida Lake is

the only one in Central New York which contains any islands great or small.

If General Clark and Mr. Marshall have differed, here they stand together.

The dotted line of the march on the map, to coincide with Champlain's
text, should have been continued across Oneida outlet, which it already

approaches on the map.
The next question is, what was his next course ? Champlain's observant
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eye had seen the islands in Lake Oneida, which he so accurately notes. His
route, therefore, must have taken him to a point from which he could see
them. If he turned towards Onondaga Lake, whether to the point favored
by Mr. Marshall or that suggested by Mr. Geddes, he would not have seen
Oneida Lake with its islands. General Clark, therefore, holds that crossing
the Oneida outlet at Brewerton he passed the great Canaseraga swamp, ami,
following the great trail east, reached a commanding position on the line of
that trail, from wiiich the country can be seen for miles, and Oneida Lake
and all its islands is full in view.

To bring Champlain and his allies to this spot agrees with the narrative
and the map. Where next? The distance given by Champlain makes it

certaiu that the town was within a known distance of Brewerton.
General Clark here brought to the solution of the question a series of facts

which he had accumulated by patient study and examination. The Iroquois
are spoken of as a sedentary people, and compared with the Algonquius were
so : but from time to time they moved their towns. The reasons for this

were several. Sometimes a town proved too much exposed to hostile attack

or unhealthy: but when this was not the case a few years made a town
unsuited for occupancy. Women did most of the cultivation, they cut and
brought in firewood, they kept the house in order. As their fields were
never enriched, a succession of crops for ten years would exhaust them so

that the yield wTould not repay their toil. Wood at first would be accessible,

but when the women had to make long journeys to cut the wood and had to

toil back with their loads, they were as ready for moving into new quarters

as any lady could be. Moreover, smoke and vermin in a few years made a house
untenantable, and these good ladies had a prime way of house-cleaning, by
burning the house up and getting a new one. Studying every accessible old

map, studying the sites of Indian towns in various parts of the Onondaga
country as still easily determined, General Clark found that the towns moved
westward, and tracing town site after town site back to the east, he found
that a town occupied from about 1600 to 1630 by the Onondagas was one
in the town of Fenner near the north line on lot sixty-four, east of Perry-

ville. It was, as stated to him, between two small streams, and adjoining a

pool or pond.
To reach the site of this Indian town, where the relics found are all anterior

to European trade, Champlain would, after crossing Oneida outlet, take a

trail which crossed the very elevation whence the lake with its beautiful

islands would lie full in view.

General Clark had not visited the spot when he read his paper before the

New York Historical Society, but fixed upon that spot as giving all the

features of the picture of the Iroquois town in Champlain, the two streams

and the pond, as answering all the requirements of Champlain's narrative,

and reconciling the map and the narrative.

He has since visited the site, and finds it so wonderfully to sustain the

picture and description given by Champlain, a3 to leave not the slightest

room for doubt. Many know the picture in the French work of the hexa-

gonal palisaded town, fitting to the curve of the stream on either side, and
the pond beyond. The pond is Nichol3 Pond, a sheet of about eight acres;

a stream enters the pond, and another issues from it. inclosing the remains

*of an ancient palisaded town of the stone era, of hexagonal form. The ground
around is in many places swampy, the solid groundf being the spots where
the picture introduces figures, or the cavalier.

Certainly, nowhere else in the length and "breadth of the State can an
Indian fort of the last epoch of the stone period be shown so shaped and so

situated.

Mr. Marshall had done much in his early effort to solve the question and
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direct attention to it. and his refutation of the Canadaigua Lake theory
seems complete. But from the crossing of the Oneida outlet, he speaks with
the diffideuce of a real scholar, conscious of the difficulty of fixing upon a
precise locality. His earliest theory that it was south of Oneida seems now
fully sustained.

General Clark has not only shown great care and accuracy in tracing a
line of travel that reconciles the map and the narrative consistently, and
agrees with the distauces given by Champlain, but has shown the true clue

to the last part of the narrative, by turning to account Champlaiu's remarks
as to the islands in Oneida Lake. But he deserves the higher credit of having
brought to. the historical study of our earlier period a new element, the
accurate and careful identification of the sites of the towns successively
occupied by each of the Five Nations. Possessed of this element, he was
able, not to say that he thought the town attacked by Champlain may have
been here or there, but to follow the Indian trail, and, pointing to a recog-
nized and recognizable Iudian town site, say: Here was the identical spot
where the Hurons, aided by Champlain and his attendant Frenchmen, were
repulsed by the Antouohonorons, and the French commander wounded and
compelled to retreat. The Antouohonorons he thinks but a form of the
name Ontwehonwe (Men-alone, the only men), which the Five Nations
applied to themselves, the tribe attacked by Champlain being really the
Onondagas.
The array of five hundred men, which Stephen Brul6 was to accompany

from the Susquehanna district toco-operate with Champlain in his attack on
the Onondaga Fort, did not arrive before that stout palisade till two days after

the retreat of the Hurons with the wounded French leader; they too retired,

but kept up the war till they were totally conquered by the Iroquois.

Brule had an eventful life. While trying with a small party of Indians
to reach the Huron country, they were attacked and scattered. Brule at

last fell in with a few Iroquois going to the fields, and endeavored to ap-

proach them in a friendly way, assuring them that he was not of the nation
that had just attacked them. They treated him as a prisoner and proceeded
to torture him. As they endeavored to tear a religious object from his neck,

he threatened them with the vengeance of Heaven. A sudden clap of thunder
with vivid lightning was to their mind a fulfilment of his threat. He was
released, his wounds cured, and a party of warriors escorted him for several

days. He reached the Huron country, but did not see Champlain for nearly

two year3. "When Canada was taken by Kirk, Brul6 went over to the

English, but finally returned to the Huron country, and became a thorough
Indian. At last he gave offence to his new countrymen, and they not only

killed, but ate him.

The result attained by General Clark is one that I think will interest

many who are not antiquarians. To the Pennsylvania historical scholars it

will be interesting, especially, to know that his next object is to study the

territory of the group of tribes, including those known to Champlain at this

time as Carantouannais, to the later French writers as Gandastogues or

Andaste3, to the Dutch as Minqnas, to the Virginians as the Susquehannas,
and to the Pennsylvanians as Conestogas. They formed a confederacy like

the Herson, Neuter, and Iroquois groups, but have been generally over-

looked, as the country was settled after their overthrow, when it was
occupied by Delaware3 and Shawnees. Gen. Clark's great experience in

the study of the location of Indian towns, a military eye which recognizes at

once the strategic value of the positions selected by the Indians, will cer-

tainly lead to results as gratifying to Pennsylvania history as his recent

discovery has been to that of New York.
John Gtlmary Shea.





Notes and Queries. 109

Gottlieb Henry Ernest Muhlenberg, D.D., was bom Nov. 17th. 1753.

at New Providence. Montgomery Co., Pa. His parents were I>r. Henry
Melcbior Muhlenberg, known as the " patriarch" of Lutheranism in Pennsyl-
vania; and Anna Maria Weiser, a daughter of Conrad Weiser, well known
in the early colonial history of Pennsylvania.

His early education he received at New Providence, and, after the removal
of his father, in 1761, to Philadelphia, in the public schools of the city. In

1763 he was sent, with his two older brothers, via England, Holland, and
Brunswick, to the University of Halle, where he spent seven years, aud
completed his education.

He returned to Philadelphia in 1770, and the same year was ordained by
the Lutheran Synod of Pennsylvania a minister of the Gospel, and became
an assistant of his father in Philadelphia, Barren Hill, and on the Raritan
in New Jersey.

In the year 1774 he was elected third associate pastor in Philadelphia,

and the same year was married to Mary Catharine Hall.

In December, 1776, with his wife and child, he was obliged to flee from
Philadelphia in consequence of the expected arrival of the British, and in

September, 1777, was again driven away during their occupation of the city,

and returned about a year afterward, the British having left in June, 1778.

In 1779 he was elected pastor at New Hanover, Montgomery County,
and remained there about a year, whence he was called to Lancaster, Pa.,

where he served as pastor of Trinity Lutheran Church for thirty-five years,

until his death, which took place there May 23, 1815.
The most of his lite was spent in labors connected with the preaching of

the Gospel ; but he gave a great deal of attention, during his leisure hours,

to the study of natural history, especially botany, in which he was quite

eminent, and was often called the American Liuua3us. He held a corre-

spondence for many years with the most distinguished botanists of Ger-
many, England, and this country, and was a corresponding member of many
of their scientific societies. He left behind several printed books on the

subject of botany, and a German and English Dictionary, and much mate-
rial in manuscript upon theological and scientific subjects.

Harrisburq, Pa., int 17S7.—In July of this year the Rev. Manasseh Cut-

ler, on his way to Ohio, passed through Harrisburg, and left this description

of the place in his journal :
" This is a beautiful town ; it contains about one

hundred houses, all built in less than three years ; many of them brick, some
of them three story, built in the Philadelphia style ; all appear very neat.

A great number of taverns, with handsome signs. Houses all two story

;

large windows. About one-half of the people are English. People were

going to meeting; they meet in private houses; have no churches yet.

People appear very well dressed, some gav." See communication by the

Rev. Joseph F. Tuttle, D.D., to the N. J. Hist. Society, May 16, 1872.

An Old Almanac.—I have in my possession "A Pocket Almanack for

the year 1755. Fitted to the Use of Pennsylvania, and the neighbouring
Provinces. With several useful Additions. By R. Saunders, Phil. Phila-

delphia : Printed and Sold by B. Franklin and I). Hall."
The book is interleaved, and a memorandum on one of the leaves ha3

enabled me to ascertain that it belonged to Robert Strettell. I copy a few

of these memoranda:

—

"Jacob Wolf a lusty Boy & Girl with him (that he said was hi3 Sister)

were at my House beging, said he was brot in by Capn Moor consigned to

Benjn Shoemaker."
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•

" 7th Apl. Nathaniel Dawson schoolmaster near the Crooked Billet says

he expects a letter from Dublin to my Care."
" Meind. that on the 17th day of Ap'ril 1755 John Roberts offered me £C00

for my Lands of Rcigate and to have Credit for the Money until next

Spring1

, but I refused unless he wd pay Interest from that day."
" Memd. the 21 May took my Wife Son & Daughter Strettell & Daughter

Ann in a Chaise to visit James Hoskins & Nich Lord vrent in the Chaise

with me."
[June] " My son Amos set off for Virginia in Co : with Mark Khuil on

Tuesd the 3 Inst abt 4 o'clock in the afternoon Jas. Steel was to accompany
them as far as Upper Marlbrough in Maryland. My said Son Sc Mark retd

to Philada. on Monday ye 16 June a little after one o'clock (thro' Mercy) in

Health but Ja Steel not then retd."
" On Friday ye 29 of Augt 1755 Col. Dunbar came to Philada. with the

remainder of Sr Peter Halket's and his own Regimts and of the 3 Inde-

pendant Companys the same day I saw Captn Terrance Mulloyat the Coffee

House."
" Captn Terrence Mulloy came to lodge at my house on Tuesday ye 2

Septr and continued so to do until the Army march' for New York on Wed-
nesday the first of October."

" Mayor's Court for October began on Friday ye 17th and ended Satr ye
18th."

"Memd. That ye 29 of March 1756 James Miller came before me and
acknowleeged the Deed made by him & Willm Jackson to be true & desires

the same may be recorded as his and Wm Jackson's Deed."
"Widow Peters in Blackhorse Alley Petitions for a Recommendation to

the Govr to be admitted to sell liquors by Small Measure."
" N. B. James Miller desires that his Father's Bond may be left with me

for sd Jas. Miller. N. B. I spoke to Geo. Emlen ye 24 June abt the Boud
[was] answerd to speak to Samuel Jones to deliver it to me."

W. D.

Lost Governors of Pennsylvania.—Among some colonial papers, I

lately found Two Commissions, officially signed and sealed. Both are

issued " By the President and Council of the Province of Pennsilvania and
Territorys Thereunto belonging."—The one is dated at " Phila. ye 6th of ye
2nd mo. 1685," and is signed by " Tho. Holme President ;" the other is dated
"9th of the 2nd mo. 1686." aud is signed by " Wm. Clark President."

I have never found these men in any of the published lists of " Governors
of Pennsylvania," even in the late and verv complete one of Dr. Wm. H.
Egle.

Watson, in his "Annals," vol. i. page 142, refers to Holme as follows—in

speaking of Penn's Treaty: "But the fact is, a3 the records I inspected

lately at Harrisburg will show—that the actual treaty for the lands of the

present Phila. was made in the year 1685 by Thomas Holme, as President

of the Council, in the absence of Wm. Penn—who was then returned back
to England."
Can any one fix the dates between which these men presided over the

Council? and thus give them that place in our colonial history to which
seemingly they have as much right as Thos. Lloyd, Ewd. Shippen, Jas.

Logan, and Anthony Palmer—all " Presidents of Council ?"

D. McN. S.

Zeisberoer, in his MS. history of the Indtan Nations, states :
" In the

spring of 1765 two seals were shot in the Susquehanna by the Indians at

Wyoming. As they were a novelty never before seen, all the Indians of the
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neighborhood were summoned to see them. Having examined thorn and
satisfied their curiosity, they counselled together what should be done with
them, and whether or no they should eat them. At last an old Indian said :

' God has sent these animals to us, aud as they came from him. they would eat
them.' Accordingly they prepared a meal of them ; all partook and relished

the new dish."

Old Swedes' Church (Gloria Dei).—Mr. Park McFarland, jr., 311
Walnut Street, Philadelphia, has made a complete copy of the Marriage
Record of this interesting church from 1750 to 13G3, and proposes publishing
the same in numbers of about 80 pages each, at 50 cents per number.

Mr. Benjamin D. Hicks, of Old Westbury, Queen's County, X. Y., is pre-

paring for publication a genealogy of his family, and would be glad to corre-

spond with any one on the subject. He particularly wishes to trace out
fully the branch of his family which settled in Bucks Co., Penna., about 1740.

®trcri*s.

John Byep.s.—Who was John Byers whose name frequently occurs in the
Pennsylvania Col. Records and Pennsylvania Archives as a member of

the Council of Pennsylvania from Cumberland County, 1731 ?

Wa3 he a physician, and did he marry an Edwards? H. E. X.

Patrick, an Indian Doctor, and John Hickman.—Can any of the readers

of the Pennsylvania Magazine give me any information concerning one
Patrick, an Indian Doctor, and John Hickman, an " intelligent Indian,''

who formerly lived in Tulpehocken, but in 1745 were residents of Sha-
mokin, Pennsylvania ? J. W. J.

Commodore John Hazelwood.—Among the persons conspicuous in the

naval engagements and other military events on the Delaware River, just

prior to and during the occupation of Philadelphia by the British in 1 TTT— v*.

was Commodore Hazelwood, Commander of the naval force of Pennsylvania
on that river. Congress, on the 17th of October, 1777, expressed its high

approval of his brave and spirited conduct, and on the 4th of November
following, in token of its " high sense of his merit," in his defence of his

country before Red Bank against the British fleet—'' Whereby two of their

men of war were destroyed, and four others compelled to retire"—voted him
" an elegant sword" to be provided by the Marine Committee. The Supreme
Executive Council of Pennsylvania also expressed its high sense of his

bravery and honorable efforts But beyond this, and a few letters of his own
or of Col. William Bradford, Chairman of the Pennsylvania Navy Board,

about him, I am unable to learn much of his history.

Can any of your readers enlighten me on the subject ? A biographv of

him would be of interest. M- & &

Niarian Wischeart.—Any information concerning Niarian Wischeart,

one of the subscribers to the first Philadelphia Dancing Assembly in 17 iS.

will oblige Chas. R. Hildebukn.

Paul Allen wrote an ode. which was sun? to the tune Rise, Columbia tit

the "late Celebration in Philadelphia of the victories of the Allied Armies
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over Bonaparte," which is given in the Spirit of Seventy-Six of March 1,

1814, printed at Georgetown, D. C, beginning
" Pledge we the man, who while he fights,

Rejects the bloody wreath of Fame."

Do you know anything of the author? T. II. M.

James Smith.—Information is desired concerning the parentage and ances-

try of James Smith. His family are supposed to have been members of a

church, near the Neshaminy, iu Bucks County. Fenna. He was a farmer.

and sold his place about 1795 or 7, to remove to Virginia, whither his brother

had gone to live, but he fell a victim to yellow fever in Philadelphia, on

his way thither ; when all records of the family were lost.

He was born in Bucks County, Penna., in 1738. and married a Mrs. Anna
Monck (widow of Nicolas Monck), who was the daughter of Robert Worrall

and his wife Jenny English. Anna Worrall (Monck) was born 1755 in Bucks
County, and had by her 1st husband Nicolas Monck two children, Jane and
Sarah; and by her second husband James Smith, seven children, two who
died youug, and Robert, James, Samuel, Eliza W., and Anna.
A sister of the said James Smith married a Mr. Semple.

A sister of Anna Worrall (Monck 1

) Smith 2
, wife of James Smith and

daughter of Robert Worrall— viz., Elizabeth Worrall—married Charles

Fleming, son of Samuel Fleming, of Flemington, N. J., who married Esther

Muney, a French Protestant, from whose family the town of Muncy, Penna.,

took its name.
Information i3 also desired concerning the ancestry of the beforementioned

Robert Worrall and his wife Jenny English. G. A. L.

Georoe Hutchinson.—Information is also desired as to the maiden name
of the wife of a certain George Hutchinson, who was born in Edinburgh,
Scotland; married in Tyrone County, Ireland, previous to 1755; and came
to Pennsylvania not later than 1756, and resided for a period at or near
Kingsessing, near Philadelphia; had a store in Second Street, Philadelphia;

had a daughter Sarah Hutchinson, who married in Philadelphia.

G.A.L.

Utiles.

Robert Morris (Vol. I. pp. 333, 471).—The last number of your very
valuable publication contains a communication from the Rev. Horace E.
Hayden, of Brownsville, Pa., wherein he distrusts the statement, made by me
in my sketch of Robert Morris. presented by Mrs. Hart, his great grand-

daughter, at the meeting in Independence Hall, July 1, 1876, and printed

on page 341 of the Pennsylvania Magazine, controverting the popular fal-

lacy, without the shadow of a foundation to support it, that Robert Morris
died in prison. The proof of the facts is so clear and open, that '* he who
runs may read," for it is spread upon the public records of the United States

Court. The very courteous and complimentary manner of Mr. Hayden's in-

quiry leads me, however, briefly to relate them, but in doing so, I am forced to

anticipate a very important chapter in my forthcoming " Life of Robert
Morri3," upon the subject of his imprisonment and subsequent discharge.

On the 4th of April, 1800. Congress, sitting almost within the shadow of

the prison walls wherein was confined Robert "Morris, passed the first Bank-
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rapt Act for the United States. Under this statute, on the 28th of July of

the following year, a commission of bankruptcy was issued out of the United
States District Court for the District of Pennsylvania, upon the petition of
John H. Huston, a creditor against Robert Morris, directed to John Uallo-
well, Joseph Hopkinson, and Thomas Cumpston, Commissioners. The next
day he writes to his son. Thomas Morris, at 'Canandaigua, Xew York: " I

have this day been served with official notice, that some of my creditors are
trying to make a Bankrupt of me, and the 31st of this month, that is the day
after to-morrow, is appointed for the Commissioners to hear them." After
Tarious preliminary proceedings, on the 26th of August, the proof of sundry
debts, amounting in the whole to about $3,000,000.00, having been made,
Mr. Morris was adjudicated a bankrupt, and released from his confinement
in prison. The following day, "Thursday Morning, 27 Aug. 1801," he writes

to his son Thomas : "As I know the contents of this letter will be very
pleasing to you and your family, I embrace the first opportunity to tell you
that I obtained my liberty last evening, and had the inexpressible satisfaction

to find myself again restored to my own home and family. I have, however,
still to go through some disagreeable scenes before I can fairly cast about
for a new pursuit, but after what I have sustained, what is to come seems
nothing." The " disagreeable scenes" were of course his examination before

the Commissioners, preceding his discharge. No nobler monument exists

or can be raised to his integrity and his honor, than his detailed statement
of his property, and his answers to the formal interrogatories with his inci-

dental remarks thereon, made in these proceedings, to the Commissioners. The
beginning of December found these " disagreeable scenes" at an end, and on
the 5th, he writes to Thomas Morris :

" My business was finished in the Dis-

trict Court without opposition, and I now find myself a free citizen of the

United States without one cent that lean call my own." REMEMBER ! !

!

these words are the literal truth uttered by a man in the sixty-eighth
year of his age, who for seven years had supported the government on
his own credit and out of his own pocket, and to whom the country owf.d
and still owes its independence more than to any other single man, not
excepting George Washington. Are Republics ungrateful?

Philadelphia, Feb. 1878. Charles Henry Hart.

P. S.—T should like to know the proof of relationship to Robert Morris

of the " Mr. Benjamin Morris," mentioned by the Rev. Mr. Hayden ?

Dunster (Yol. I. p. 469).—The will of Charles Dunster is recorded in the

office of the Surveyor-General of East Jersey, at Perth Amboy, where there

are a very few wills interspersed in a perplexing manner with other papers.

Having made a few extracts some time since in a hasty manner, I give them
with the remark that a large portion of the latter part of the will was omitted
by me owing to want of time, but my impression is that some of the bequests
were annulled in the codicil. I shortly afterwards entered in my note-book
that Daniel Donaldson, nephew 1 of the testator, changed his name according
to the will of his uncle Charles Dunster, to Daniel Donaldson Dunster. It

is evident that from this line the New Jersey Dunsters descend, as Charles

Dunster appears to have left no issue.

The extracts are as follows, " Charles Dunster, the Parish of Perth Amboy
in the Co. of Middlesex in America" . . "gives £100 to John Mackallow.
of Chiswiok, in the Co. of Middlesex, Gent. To John Wemijs, of the Parish
of St. Martins' in the Fields in the s'd Co., Surgeon, £50. William Sincular,

of the same. Perriwigg maker, £50. John Boughton, of New Inn, in the

said Co., Gent., £50.

1 Query? Great nephew.
Vol. ii.~8
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" Margaret Wallice. of St. Martins' in the Fields. £50. Nicholas Mandell,
of the same, Gent., £50. Mrs. Jannet Sutton, wife of Thomas Sutton, £20.
Isaac Ashley, of the City of London, merchant, £100. Evander Mackever,
of the City of Edinborough, vintener, £50. To my sister Margaret Punster,
wife of Daniel Roy. £200. To my niece Mary Donelson, wife of Andrew
Donelson, £50. To Gilbert Eliot, of the Parish of St. Martin in Fields, in

Co. of Middlesex, Gent., £50. To my nephew Duncan Wright, Gent., now
residing in the Kingdom of France, 1 shilling in full satisfaction of all claim
he or his heirs may have on me. To Thos. Nichols, of the City of London,
Merchant, £100.

41 My good Friend James Alexander, Attorney-General, \ of all lands that
I have taken up or is to be taken up in the Jerseys, \ all mines and minerals,

£ My Proprietary right of what land or otherwise shall come to my share
of the late Joseph Ormston, of London, Deceased, of his estate in America,
reserving that tract of land, formerly belonging to my Lord Neal Campbell,
commonly called 1650 acres. To Michael Kearney, 100 acres of land. My
Friend George Robinson, Fifty pounds, he lives at the White horse in Lum-
ber Street, London. I do bequeath to Marcella Fagan, writer hereof. £20,
to buy mourning. James Alexander, Att'y-Geh. of the Jerseys, and Mr.
Michael Kearney, of Perth Amboy, Mr. John Maecalah, of Cheeswick, in

Co. of Middlesex, in old England, and Mr. John Boughton, Att'y at Law in

London, to be my executors, but the said James Allexander and Michael
Kearney shall act as to my American affairs."

The will mentions friends and relations in the Highlands of Scotland, in

the county of Perth. Dated Perth Amboy, April 25, 1706. Witnesses
Phins. Mclntoshe, Alexander Mackdowell, Marcella Fagan. Signed Charles

Dunster. The codicil is dated, Feb. 16, 1726-7. I omitted to cote the date

of the proving of the will. Charles Dunster is not mentioned in the index to

Whitehead's East Jersey. This work, and the Rev. Edward Hatfield's

History of Elizabeth and Union Counties, New Jersey, also Whitehead?-*

Analytical Index to Colonial Documents, will be found of great service in

reference to some of the persons mentioned above, who doubtless had more
or less connection with the early settlement of Perth Amboy. The Rev.
Samuel Dunster, D.D., apparently of London, was one of the subscribers to

Churchhill's Voyages, London, 1732. His arms are engraved without the

tinctures ; they appear to be those mentioned by Burke in his General Armory
ed., 1864, as "Dunster (Scarington, Co. Somerset ; granted 17 June, 1664),

Gules, a buck's head in base ar. attired or, in the dexter chief a castle of
the third."

Camden, New Jersey, Feb. 15, 1878. William John Potts.

Robert Strettell (Vol. I. p. 241).—I propose to correct several errors

in the note on page 241 of the Pennsylvania Magazine relative to Robert
Strettell and his family, and also add a few additional facts which may be of

interest.

Robert Strettell's father, Amos Strettell, was not an Irishman, though
for many years a resident of Dublin, to which city he removed in 167S-9
from Cheshire, Elngland, his native place. Amos was son of Hugh Strettell

(died 7 mo. 5, 1671), and Mary, his wife (died 7 mo. 11, 1662). who were
among the first Friends in that county. They were both buried in Friends'

burying-ground Mabberly,- Cheshire.

Amos Strettell was twice married. His first wife, Ann. daughter of Roger
and Mary Roberts, of Dublin, died 11 mo. 8, 16b5-6, only surviving her

marriage a few years. It is related that "she was buried in Friends'

burial-ground by Stephen Green, the loth of the same month, being the first

day of the week after the evening meeting, when John Burnyeat [an eminent
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minister in the Society of Friends] bore a living" powerful testimony to the
truth and great love of God to the children of men by so clearly manifesting
the same by the glorious shining of the light of his son Jesus Christ in the
hearts of the children of men."
Amos Strettell's second wife was Experience, daughter of Robert Cuppiacre

(born in Cumberland, England, 1619), and Elizabeth his wife, daughter of
Joshua and Sarah Warren, of Colchester. Amos and Experience were mar-
ried at her father's house at Lambstowne, county of Wexford, Ireland, 1st

mo. 23, 1692-3.

Philotesia, the wife of Robert StrettelL was a sister, and not daughter, of

John Owen, of London. She was daughter of Nathaniel Oweu (died 11
mo. 7, 1724), formerly of Seven Oaks in Kent, afterwards of Coulsdon in

Surrey, and subsequently of Rcigate in the same county, by Frances Ridge
(born 1662, died 2 mo. 6, 1724), his second wife. Philotesia was born at

Coulsdon, 5 mo. 17, 1697, and was married to Robert Strettell at Reigate, 5
mo. 18, 1716.

Robert and Philotesia Strettell had the following children, all of whom
came to America with them in 1736 or 1737, except the first, viz., John
Strettell, an eminent merchant of London, born in Cheapside, the 29th of

8th month, 1721 ; died in the same city in July or August. 1786. He had
an only child, Amos Strettell, whose descendants are probably living in Eng-
land.

Amos Strettell. Born in England—died in Philadelphia. 1780. He had
two daughters, Frances and Ann, who married respectively the brothers

Benjamin and Cadwalader Morris, and whose descendants can be found on
the published " Morris Tree." Also a son Robert, who died without issue.

Frances Strettell, born in England. Married Isaac Jones. They were
parents of Robert Strettell Jones, some of whose descendants are given on
page 360 of the Pennsylvania Magazine.
Ann Strettell. born in England. Probably died unmarried in Philadelphia.

12 mo. 20, 1877. G. V.

Edward Whalley (Vol. I. pp. 55, 230, 359).—My attention has been called

to a letter of Rev. Edward D. Weill in No. 3 of Vol. I. (p. 359). with regard to

the Maryland theories as to the death of Whalley, the Regicide. Dr.

Neill's theory is certainly very plausible, but there lies in its way, to my mind,

a great objection which makes the theory at least weak if not untenable.

The Whalley of Bacon's Rebellion was named Thomas, not Edward (see

Hening's Statutes at Large, vol. ii. p. 370 et seq.). Now it seems to me ex-

ceedingly unlikely either that those in authority could make the mistake of

miscalling a rebel in an official warrant for his arrest, or th it the rebel him-

self would have changed his Christian name rather than his surname when
he settled in Maryland.

Dr. Neill has also made the mistake of jumping too hastily at the conclu-

sion that the Radcliffe of Virginia was the Maryland brother Ratcliffe of

Whalley's will. Ratcliffe is by no means an uncommon name in Maryland,

and the accidental coincidence offers no basis for an argument.
Robert P. Robins.

Aughwick (Vol. I. p. 471).—See page 15 of Rev. Wm. C. Reichel's edition

of Heckewelder's " Names which the Lenni Lennape or Delaware Indians

gave to rivers, streams, and localities in the States of Pennsylvania, Missouri,

New Jersey, Virginia, etc." " Aughwick, corrupted from Achweek, signify-

ing brushy, i. e. over-grown with brush." Note, on same page. " A-che-we-

u-bushy, Zeisberger." The name is Indian. H. E. H.
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Parry (Vol. I. p. 471").—It is stated in the note on Col. Caleb Parry that

Esther, daughter of Caleb and Elizabeth (Jacobs) Parry, married in 1TS9
Guilluam Aertsen ; it should have read Guilliaeui, and the date 1790.

Aertsen*.

Moore (Yol. I. p. 358).— Information is wanted of the descendants of

Thomas and John Moore, probably under the misapprehension that they
were brothers of Andrew Moore, as erroneously stated in Biographical
History of Lancaster County. They were sons of Richard and Mary
(Green) Moore, who arrived 11th of 5th month. 16S6, in the Delaware from
Bristol, England, John Moore, Commander. Probably settled in Concord.
(now) Delaware County, where Richard died about 1695, leaving" issue

—

Mary and John, born in England, Thomas, George, and Susanna. The
widow married Joseph Cloud, of Concord, by whom she had other children.

John and Thomas Moore purchased several hundred acres of land at the
present site of Downington. and the latter established a mill there as early

as 1718. John died Jan. 1720-7, without issue. Thomas married in 1713
Mary Pyle, and probably left issue. Cope.

Hamptox (Vol. I. p. 359).—Simon Hampton was of Edgmont, 1729. 1730,
'37, '40; of Thornbury, 1747, '49, '54. etc.. to 1771: died in Concord, March
1st, 1774, doubtless at the house of his son-in-law. John Baldwin. Widow
Sarah died in Bethel before April 20. 1782. They were not Friends, but
their son Samuel was admitted into membership 12 mo. 25, 1750-1. and daugh-
ters Rebecca and Sarah 2 rno. 26, 1753. Other children were Walter and
Thomas Hampton. Rebecca married Robert Pyle, of Bethel, 11 mo. 8. 1753.

Thomas married Esther Pyle. 1756 or '7. Sarah married John Baldwin,
March, 1761. Robert Pyle obtained the family Bible, as appears by the

administrator's accounts. There was a John Hampton, of Edgmont, 1722,

whose wife wa3 Ann. He removed to Deer Creek, Maryland, before 1767.

Benjamin Hampton was a single freeman in Edgmont, 1729, 1732 ; a taxa-

ble, 1734-1749; of Willistown. 1754-1766. Administration of his estate

granted to Rachel Hampton, 1767. Cope.

Rustox (Vol. I. p. 358).—Dr. Thomas Ruston was the son of Job Ruston,

an influential citizen, and active member of the Presbyterian Church, who
settled on Elk Creek in Fagor's Manor, Chester County, about 1739 ; his resi-

dence being in what is now Upper Oxford Township, near Forestville. Dr.

Ruston married Mary Fisher, the daughter and only heir of William Fisher,

by whom he had three children. Thomas, Mary, and Charlotte. The last

married Richar-d 31., son of Col. John Hannum, of West Chester, and went to

Kentucky. For some notice of Job Ruston and Dr. Thomas Ruston see his-

torical sketches of Fagg's Manor and New London Presbyterian Churches
and Colonial Records. Cope.

Jonathax Whitaker.—Information is wanted'regarding Jonathan Whit-
aker, who in 1752 purchased a tract of land on Mine Brook in the present

Somerset County. N. J., on which his family resided, and which is now in

the possession of his descendants. He came to America in the 17th. or

early in the 18th century, was of English birth, and a member of the Presby-
terian Church. Was the J. W. mentioned on paore 312 of the History of

Elizabeth, X. J., by Dr. Hatfield, the one who settled at Mine Brook ? A
son of J. W., of Somerset County (named Nathaniel), graduated at Princeton
in 1752. He is said to have been born on Long Island ; he was a Presbyterian
minister. Any information of the family previous to 1752 will greatly oblige

E. K. Whitaker-
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[Pennsylvania is so deeply indebted to the German settlers

who found a Lome within her borders, for the rapid and sub-

stantial advances which she early made towards prosperity,

that it is eminently proper we of the present day should con-

sider the causes which led those emigrants to leave their

fatherland to seek that domestic happiness which was denied

them at home.

In some cases the improvement of their worldly condition

may alone have been the motive ; but in most instances it was

the desire for freedom in the exercise of their religious views,

or to escape from the persecution which the profession of

those convictions had brought upon them. Such, at lea^t,

was the incentive which prompted those followers of Menno

1 The article entitled " Vriendschapsbetrekkingen tusschen de Doopsge-

einden hier te lande en die in Pennsylvanie," appeared in the "Doopsgezinde

Bijdragen" for 1869.
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Simon, who came to Pennsylvania from Switzerland, from

Alsace, and from the Palatinate, whose industry, frugality,

and integrity proved so beneficial to the colony.

How valuable the German element was to Pennsylvania in

colonial days, is well attested in a speech of Gov. Thomas,

one of the most intelligent of the deputies of the Penns, to

the Assembly in 1738. " This Province," he said, " has been

for some years the asylum of the distressed Protestants from

the Palatinate and other parts of Germany, and I believe it

may with truth be said that the present flourishing condition

of it is, in a great measure, owing to the Industry of those

people ; and should any discouragement divert them from

coming hither, it may well be apprehended that the value of

your lands will fall, and your advances to wealth be much
slower ; for it is not altogether the goodness of the soil, but

the number and industry of the people, that make a flourish-

ing country."

The following article by Dr. Seheflrer, of the Mennonite

College at Amsterdam, will be found to contain information

which will be new to most of our readers, regarding the early

movements of the German Mennonites to this country ; the

indorsement of its translator, whose investigations into the

history of that denomination give weight to his opinion,

would at any time warrant our printing it ; and it seems par-

ticularly appropriate that it should be reproduced at a time

when our Wesiern States are receiving large additions to

their population from the followers of one whose disciples

nearly a century and a half ago aided so materially in devel-

oping the resources of this Commonwealth.

As we read Dr. ScherTer's paper, we are reminded of the

changes that have occurred in the condition of the Mennon-
ites since the period of which it treats, and of the widely

different circumstances under which the present emigration to

Kansas and other localities in the West has been undertaken.

Then the agent of George I. feared that the distance to the

Allegheny mountains from the sea-coast was so great, that it

would prevent the acceptance of the offers made to induce the

settlement of lands beyond them, and with an accommodating
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conscience he spoke of them as being about thirty miles (pro-

bably German ones) from the Atlantic coast. Now the mem-
bers of a community equal in numbers to the population of

one of King George's colonies, are seeking their homes

midway between the Atlantic and Pacific shores. Then the

more fortunate of the denomination in Holland were being

importuned by their needy brethren from Switzerland and

Germany, For the means of reaching what has proved to them a

"promised land." Xow the professor of a college founded by

the Dutch Mennonites sends his greeting to a similar institu-

tion, whose existence is, in part, owing to the exertions of

those poor men from the mountains of Switzerland, who had

lived far from cities and towns, whose speech was rude and

uncouth, and difficult to understand ; wTho wore shoes heavily

hammered with iron and large nails, and who were very

zealous to serve God.

—

Ed.]

The extensive tract of land, bounded on the east by the

Delaware, on the north by the present £Tew York, on the west

by the Allegheny mountains, and on the south by Maryland,

has such an agreeable climate, such an unusually fertile soil,

and its watercourses are so well adapted for trade, that it is

not surprising that there, as early as 1638—five and twenty

years after our forefathers built the first house in Xew Am-
sterdam (New York)—a European colony was established.

The first settlers were Swedes, but some Hollanders soon

joined them. Surrounded on all sides by savage natives,

continually threatened and often harassed, they contented

themselves with the cultivation of but a small portion of the

land. After, however, King Charles II. had, in settlement of

a debt, given the whole province to William Penn, there came

a great change. There, before long, at his invitation and

through his assistance, his oppressed fellow-believers, fol-

lowers like himself of George Fox, found a place of refuge.

They settled on the Delaware, and, united by the common suf-

ferings endured for their convictions, they founded a city, to

which they gave the suggestive name of the city of Brotherly

Love (Philadelphia). The province itself received the name
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of Pennsylvania from the man who brought its settlers over

from a land of persecution to his own estate, and has bonie it

to the present time, though its boundaries have been extended

on the north to Lake Erie, and on the west beyond the Alle-

gheny mountains to the present Ohio.

In accordance with the fundamental law established April

25, 1682, complete freedom of conscience was assured to all

religious communities, and William Penn and his* associates

saw a stream of those who had been persecuted and oppressed

for their belief pour into the colony, among whom were many
Mennonites from Switzerland and the Palatinate.

In Switzerland for nearly half a century religious intoler-

ance had been most bitter. Many who had remained there

were then persuaded to abandon their beloved native country

and betake themselves to the distant land of freedom, and

others, who had earlier emigrated to Alsace and the Palatinate,

and there endured the dreadful horrors of the war in 1690,

joined them, hoping in a province described to them as a para-

dise to find the needed comforts of life. The travelling ex-

penses of these exhausted wanderers on their way through

our fatherland were furnished with a liberal hand from the
44 funds for foreign needs" which our forefathers had collected

to aid the Swiss, Palatines, and Litthauers. These emigrants

settled for the most part at Philadelphia, and to the north-

ward along the Delaware.

One of the oldest communities, if not the oldest of all, was
that at Schiebach or Germantown. The elder of their two
preachers, Wilhelm Rittinghausen, died in 1708, and in his

place two new preachers were chosen. The same year eleven

young people were added to the church through baptism, and
two new deacons accepted its obligations. Moreover, the

emigration of other brethren from the Palatinate, with Peter

Kolb at their head, who were enabled to make the journey

by the aid of the Xetherlanders, gave a favorable prospect of

considerable growth. Financially, however, the circum-

stances of the community left much to be desired. In a letter

written to Amsterdam, dated September 3, 1708, from which
these particulars are derived, and which was signed by Jacob
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Gaetschalck, Harmen Karsdorp, Martin Kolb, Isack Van
Sinteren, and Conradt Jansen, they presented " a loving and
friendly request" for " some catechisms for the children and

little testaments for the young." Beside, psalm hooks and

Bibles were so scarce that the whole membership had but one

copy, and even the meeting-house needed a Bible. 1 They urged

their request by saying " that the community is still weak,

and it would cost much money to get them printed, while the

members who came here from Germany have spent every-

thing and must begin anew, and all work, in order to pay

for the conveniences of life of which they stand in need."

"What the printing would cost can to some extent be seen

from the demands of a bookseller in iSTew York, who beside

only printed in English, for the publication of the Confession

of Faith in that language. He asked so much for it that the

community could not by any possibility raise the money, for

which reason the whole plan had to be abandoned. The propo-

sition was first considered because of conversations with some
people there whose antecedents were entirely unknown, but
" who called themselves Mennonites," descendants perhaps of

the Dutch or English colonists who in the first years of the

settlement established themselves on the territory of Penn-

sylvania. That the young community was composed of

other people besides Palatines has been shown by the letter

just mentioned, bearing the Xetherlandish signature of Ivars-

dorp, a name much honored among our forefathers, and which

1 It is certainly worthy of attention that the first request these people

sent back to their brethren in Europe was for Bibles and Testaments. Jacob

Gaetschalck was a preacher at Skippack. Martin Kolb, a grandsou of

Peter Schuhmacher who died at Gerraantowa in 1707, was born in the

village of "VVolfsheira, in the Palatinate, in 1680, and came with his brothers,

Johannes and Jacob, to Pennsylvania in the spring of 1707. lie married

May 19, 1709, Magdalena, daughter of Isaac Van Sintern, who also united

in this letter. Isaac Van Sintern was born September 4, 1G62, and was a

great-grandson of Jan de Yoss, a burgomaster at Handschooten, in Flan-

ders, about 1550. He married, in Amsterdam, Cornelia Claassen, of Ham-
burg, and came to Pennsylvania with foar daughters after 1G87. He died

August 23, 1737, and is buried at Skippack.
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has become noted through, the existing family in the neigh-

borhood of Dordrecht.

It is no wonder that a half year later the " committee on

foreign needs" cherished few hopes concerning the colony.

They felt, however, for nine or ten families who had come

to Rotterdam—according to information from there, under

date of April 8, 1709—from the neighborhood of Worms and

Frankenthal, in order to emigrate, and whom they earnestly

sought to dissuade from making the journey. They were,

said the letter from Rotterdam, " altogether very poor men,

who intended to seek a better place of abode in Pennsyl-

vania. Much has been expended upon them hitherto freely,

and these people bring with them scarcely anything that is

necessary in the way of raiment and shoes, much less the money
that must be spent for fare from here to England, and from

there on the great journey, before they can settle in that for-

eign land." Naturally the Rotterdamers asked that money
be furnished for the journey and support of the emigrants.

But the committee, who considered the matter " useless and

entirely unadvisable," refused to dispose in thisway of the funds

entrusted to them. It was the first refusal of the kind, and

little did the committee think that for twenty-four years they

must keep repeating it before such requests should entirely

cease. It would in fact have been otherwise if they had

begun with the rule which they finally adopted in 1732, or

if the determination they expressed in letter after letter had

been followed by like action, and they had not let themselves

be persuaded away from it continually—sometimes from per-

plexity, but oftener from pity. The Palatines understood the

situation well. If they could only reach Holland without

troubling themselves about the letters, if they were only

urgent and persevering, the committee would end by helping

them on their way to Pennsylvania. The emigrants of April,

1709, accomplished their object, though as it appears through

the assistance of others. At all events, I think, they are the

ones referred to by Jacob Telner, a Netherlander Mennonite

dwelling at London, who wrote, August 6, to Amsterdam and

Haarlem :
" Eight families went to Pennsylvania ; the Eng-





Mennonite Emigration to Pennsylvania. 123

lish Friends, who are called Quakers, helped them liberally." 1

His letter speaks of others who also wanted to follow their

example, and urges more forcibly than ever the people at Rot-

terdam to give assistance. " The truth is," he writes, u that

many thousands of persons, old and young, and men and

women, have arrived here in the hope and expectation of going

to Pennsylvania, but the poor men are misled in their ven-

ture. If they could transport themselves by their own means,

they might go where they pleased, but because of inability

they cannot do it, and must go where they are ordered. Now,

a3 there are among all this multitude six families of our

brethren and fellow-believers, I mean German Mennonites,

who ought to go to Pennsylvania, the brethren in Holland

should extend to them the hand of love and charity, for they

are both poor and needy. I trust and believe, however, that

they are honest and God-fearing. It would be a great com-

fort and consolation to the poor sheep if the rich brothers and

sisters from their superfluities would satisfy their wants and

let some crumbs fall from their tables to these poor Lazaruses,

Dear brethren, I feel a tender compassion for the poor sheep T

for they are of our flesh, as says the Prophet Isaiah, lxviiL 7

and 8."

It was not long before pity for our fellow-believers was

excited still more forcibly. Fiercer than ever became the

persecution of the Mennonites in Switzerland. The prisons

at Bern were filled with the unfortunates, and the inhuman

treatment to which they were subjected caused many to pine

away and die. The rest feared from day to day that the

minority in the council which demanded their trial would

soon become a majority. Through the intercession, however,

1 " But not only did the leaders of the early Society of Friends take great

interest in the Mennonites, but the Yearly Meeting of 1709 contributed fifty

pounds (a very large sum at that time) for the Mennonites of the Palatinate

who had fled from the persecution of the Calvinists in Switzerland. This

required the agreement of the representatives of above 400 churches, and

shows in a strong light the sympathy which existed among the early Friends

for the Mennonites."

—

Barclay's Religious Societies of the Common-

wealth, 251.
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of the States General, whose aid the Xetherland Mennon-
ites sought, not without success, some results wrere effected.

The Council of Bern finally determined to send the prisoners,

well wratched and guarded, in order to transport them from

there in an English ship to Pennsylvania. On the 18th of

March, 1710, the exiles departed from Bern ; on the 28th, with

their vessel, they reached Manheim, and on the 6th of April

Kimeguen; and when they touched Xetherland soil, their suf-

ferings came to an end at last ; they were free, and their useless

guards could return to Switzerland. Laurens Hendriks, the

preacher of our community at Ximeguen, wrote in his letter

of April 9th :
" It happened that very harsh decrees were

issued hy the rulers at Bern to search for our friends in all

corners of the land, and put them in the prisons at Bern, by

which means within the last two years about sixty persons

were thrown into dungeons, where some of them underwent

much misery in the great cold last winter, while their feet

were fast in the iron shackles. The Council at Bern were

still very much at variance as to what punishment should be

inflicted on them, and so they have the longer lain in prison

;

for some would have them put to death, but others could not

consent to such cruelty, so finally they determined in the

Council to send them as prisoners to Pennsylvania. There-

fore they put them on a vessel, well watched by a guard of

soldiers, to send them on the Khine to Holland ; but on

coming to Manheim, a city of the Palatinate, they put out all

the old, the sick, and the women, but with twenty-three men
floated further down the Rhine, and on the 6th of April came

here to Ximeguen. "Wlien they heard that their fellow be-

lievers lived here, one of them came to me, guarded by two

soldiers. The soldiers then went away and left the man with

me. After I, with the other preachers, had talked with him,

we went together to the ship, and there found our other

brethren. "We then spoke to the ofiicers of the guard, and

arranged with them that these men should receive some re-

freshment, since they had been on the water for twenty days

in great misery, and we brought them into the city. Then
we said to our imprisoned brethren : The soldiers shall not get
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you out of here again easily, for if they use force, ice icill complain

to our magistrates. This, however, did not happen. They went

about in freedom, and we remained with them and witnessed

all the manifestations of love and friendship with the greatest

joy. AVe spent the time together delightfully, and after they

were entirely refreshed, they the next day departed, though

they moved with difficulty, because stiffened from their long

imprisonment. I went with them for an hour and a half be-

yond the city, and there we, with weeping eyes and swelling

hearts, embraced each other, and with a kiss of peace sepa-

rated. They returned to the Palatinate to seek their wives

and children, who are scattered everywhere in Switzerland,

in Alsace, and in the Palatinate, and they know not where

they are to be found. 1 They were very patient and cheerful

under oppression, though all their worldly goods were taken

away. Among them were a preacher and two deacons. They
were naturally very rugged people, who could endure hard-

ships ; they wore long and unshaven beards, disordered cloth-

ing, great shoes, which were heavily hammered with iron

and large nails ; they were very zealous to serve God with

prayer and reading and in other ways, and very innocent in

all their doings as lambs and doves. They asked me in what
way the community was governed. I explained it to them,

and it pleased them very much. But we could hardly talk

with them, because, as they lived in the mountains of Switzer-

land, far from cities and towns, and had little intercourse

with other men, their speech is rude and uncouth, and they

have difficulty in understanding any one who does not speak

just their way. Two of them have gone to Deventer, to see

whether they can get a livelihood in this country."

Most of them went to the Palatinate to seek their kinsmen

and friends, and before long a deputation from them came

back here. On the first of May we find three of their preach-

1 This simple picture is fully as pathetic as that other, which it forcibly

suggests, beginning:

—

" Heu ! misero conjunx, fatone erepta, Creusa
Substitit, erravit ne via, seu lnssa residit,

Incertum ; nee post oculia est reddita nostris."
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ers, Hans Burclii or Burghalter 1

, Melchoir Zallcr, and Bene-

dict Brechtbuhl,2 with Hans Rub and Peter Donens, in Am-
sterdam ; where they gave a further account of their affairs

with the Bern magistracy, and apparently consulted with

the committee as to whether they should establish themselves

near the Palatinate brethren or on the lands in the neighbor-

hood of Campen and Groningen, which was to be gradually

purchased by the committee on behalf of the fugitives. The

majority preferred a residence in the Palatinate, but they

soon found great difficulty in accomplishing it. The Pala-

tinate community was generally poor, so that the brethren,

with the best disposition, could be of little service in insuring

the means of gaining a livelihood ; there was a scarcity of

lands and farm-houses, and there was much to be desired in

the way of religious liberty, since they were subject entirely

to the humors of the Elector, or, worse, still, his officers. For

nearly seven years, often supported by the lSTetherland breth-

ren, they waited and persevered, always hoping for better

times. Then, their numbers being continually increased by

new fugitives and exiles from Switzerland, they finally de-

termined upon other measures, and, at a meeting of their

elders at Manheim, in February, 1717, decided to call upon
the iNetherlanders for help in carrying out the great plan

of removing to Pennsylvania, which they had long contem-

plated, and which had then come to maturity. Strange as it

may appear at first glance, the very land to which the Swiss

tyrants had once wanted to banish them had then become
the greatest attraction. Still there was reason enough for

it ; reason, perhaps, in the information which their brethren

sent from there to the Palatinate, but before all, in the press-

ing invitation or instruction of the English King, George L,

through his agent, (Muntmeester) Ochse, at the court. " Since

it has been observed," so reads the beginning: of this remark-

able paper, " that the Christians, called Baptists or Mennon-

1 Hans Burghalter came to America, and was a preacher at Conestoga,

Lancaster County, in 1727.

* According to Rupp, Bernhard B. Brechtbuhl translated the Wandelnde
Seele into the German from the Dutch.
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ites, have been denied freedom of conscience in various places

in Germany and Switzerland, and endure much opposition

from their enemies, so that with difficulty they support them-

selves, scattered here and there, and have been hindered in

the exercise of their religion,'' the king offers to them for a

habitation the country west of the Allegheny mountains,

then considered a part of Pennsylvania, but not yet belonging

to it. Each family should have fifty acres of land hi fee sim-

ple, and for the first ten years the use, without charge, of as

much more as they should want, subject only to the stipula-

tion that after this time the yearly rent for a hundred acres

should be two shillings, i. e.
y
about a guilder, and less than six

kreutzers. "There is land enough for a hundred thousand

families. They shall have permission to live there, not as

foreigners, but on their engagement, under oath, to be true

and obedient to the king, be bound as lawful subjects, and

possess their land with the same right as if they had been

born such, and, without interference, exercise their religion

in meetings, just as do the Reformed and Lutherans." After

calling attention to the fact that in eastern Pennsylvania the

land was too dear (£20 to £100 sterling for a hundred acres),

the climate in Carolina was too hot, Xew York and Virginia

were already too full for them to settle there with good

chances of success, an attractive description of the country

followed in these words :
" This land is in a good and tem-

perate climate, not too hot or too cold ; it lies between the

39th and 43d parallels of north latitude, and extends west-

ward about two hundred German miles. It is separated from

Virginia and Pennsylvania by high mountains, the air is very

pure, since it lies high ; it is very well watered, having

streams, brooks, and springs, and the soil has the reputation

of being better than any that can be found in Pennsylvania

and Virginia. Walnut, chestnut, oak, and mulberry trees

grow naturally in great profusion, as well as many fruit-bear-

ing trees, and the wild white and purple grapes in the woods

are larger and better than in any other place in America.

The soil is favorable for wheat, barley, rye, Indian corn,

hemp, flax, and also silk, besides producing many other useful
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tilings much more abundantly than in Germany. A field

can be easily planted for from ten to twenty successive years

without manure. It is also very suitable for such fruits as

apples, pears, cherries, prunes, quinces, and especially peaches,

which grow unusually well and bear fruit in three years from

the planting of the stone. All garden crops do very well,

and vineyards can be made, since the wild grapes are good,

and would be still better if they were dressed and pruned.

Many horses, cattle, and sheep can be raised and kept, since

an excellent grass grows exuberantly, lumbers of hogs can

be fattened on the wild fruits in the bushes. This land is also

full of cattle (rundvee), called buffaloes and elks, none of

which are seen in Pennsylvania, Virginia, or Carolina.

Twenty or thirty of these buffaloes are found together. There

are also many bears, which hurt nobody. They feed upon

leaves and wild fruits, on which they get very fat, and their

flesh i3 excellent. Deer exist in great numbers, beside In-

dian cocks and hens (turkeys ?), which weigh from twenty to

thirty pounds each, wild pigeons more than in any other

place in the world, partridges, pheasants, wild swans, geese,

all kinds of ducks, and many other small fowls and animals

;

so that if the settlers can only supply themselves for the first

year with bread, some cows for milk and butter, and vege-

tables, such as potatoes, peas, beans, etc., they can find flesh

enough to eat from the many wild animals and birds, and can

live better than the richest nobleman. The only difficulty is

that they will be about thirty miles from the sea ; but this,

by good management, can be made of little consequence."

Apparently this description sounded like enchantment in

the ears of the poor Swiss and Palatines who had never known
anything but the thin soil of their native country, and who
frequently met with a refusal if they sought to secure a farm

of one or two acres. And how was that land of promise to

be reached? Easily enough. They had only before the 1st

of March to present themselves to one or another well-known

merchant at Frankfort, pay £3 sterling or twenty-seven

guilders each (children under ten years of age at half rates),

that is, £2 for transportation, and £1 for seventy pounds of
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biscuit, a measure and a half of peas, a measure of oatmeal,

and the necessary beer, and immediately they would be sent

in ships to Rotterdam, thence to be carried over to Virginia.

First, however, in Holland, one-half of the fare must be paid

and additional provisions, etc., secured, viz.: twenty-four

pounds of dried beef, fifteen pounds of cheese, and eight and a

quarter pounds of butter. Indeed, they were advised to pro-

vide themselves still more liberally with edibles, and with

garden seeds and agricultural implements, linen, shirts, beds,

table goods, powder and lead, furniture, earthenware, stoves,

and especially money to buy " seeds, salt, horses, swine, and

fowls," to be taken along with them. All of these things

would indeed cost a large sum, but what did that signify in

comparison with the luxury which was promised them?

Should not the Xetherland brethren quickly and gladly fur-

nish this last assistance ? So thought the Palatine brethren.

It is not to be wondered at, however, that the " committee on

foreign needs" judged differently. They knew how much
exaggeration there was in the picture painted by the English

agent. They thought they were not authorized to consent to

a request for assistance in the payment of travelling expenses,

since the money was intrusted to them to be expended alone

for the persecuted, and the brethren in the Palatinate were

then tolerated ; they feared the emigrants would call for more

money ; and in a word they opposed the plan most positively,

and explained that if it was persisted in no help need be ex-

pected. 1 Their objection however accomplished nothing. In

1 The decision of the committee was based on a sound judgment, for we

find no evidence that any provision was made to carry out the offer of the

agent of George I. On the contrary, on the 17th of September, 1717, Gov.

Sir Win. Keith, of Pennsylvania, informed his council " that a great number

of fforeigners from Germany" had arrived in the Province, and had dispersed

themselves over the country, without producing any certificates showing from

whence they came. That it appeared that they had first landed in Britain,

and left there without any license from the government. On the recommen-

dation of the Governor, a proclamation was issued, requiring all the emi-

grants alluded to " to take such Oaths appointed by Law as are necessary

to give assurance of their being well affected to his Majesty and his Govern-

ment; but because some of these foreigners are said to be Menonists, who
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reply to their views, the committee received information,

March 20th, that more than a hundred persons had started, and

three weeks later they heard from Rotterdam that those

already coming numbered three hundred, among whom were

four very needy families who required 600 f. for their

passage, and that thirty others were getting ready to leave

Neuwied. Though the committee had declared positively in

their letters that they would have nothing to do with the

whole affair, they nevertheless immediately passed a secret

resolution, that, " as far as concerns our committee, the friends

are to be helped as much as possible ;" and apparently they

took care that there should he furnished from private means

what as officials they could not give out of the fund. Among
the preachers who were at the head of these colonists, we find

principally Hans Burghalter and Benedict Brechtbuhl.

The desire for emigration seemed to be entirely appeased

in the 'Palatinate until 1726, when it broke out again with

renewed force. The chief causes were higher burdens imposed

upon them by the Elector, the fear of the outburst of war,

and perhaps also pressing letters of invitation written by the

friends settled in Pennsylvania. Moreover, the committee

were guilty of a great imprudence. Though they so re-

peatedly assured the emigrants that they could not and would

not help them, and promised liberal assistance to the needy

Palatines, who abandoned the journey, still, through pity for

a certain Hubert Brouwer of Xeuwied, they gave him and his

family 30 Of. passage-money. Either this became known in

the Palatinate, or the stream could no longer be stayed.

Though some of their elders, together with the committee,

tried to dissuade them, and painted horrible pictures of the

possibility that, in the war between England and Spain, they

might " by Spanish ships be taken to the "West Indies where
men are sold as slaves," the Palatines believed not a word
of it. On the 12th of April, 1727, there were one hun-

dred and fifty ready to depart, and on the 16th of May, the

cannot for conscience sake take any oaths, that those persons be admitted

upon their giving any Equivalent assurances in their own way and manner."

— Col. Records, vol. iii. p. 29.—Ed.
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committee were compelled to write to the Palatinate that

they " ought to be informed of the coming of those already on
the way, so that they can best provide for them ;" and they

further inquired "how many would arrive without means, so

that the Society might consider whether it would be possible

for them to arrange for the many and great expenses of the

passage."

Some did not need help, and could supply from their own
means what was required; but on the 20th the committee

learned that forty-five more needy ones had started from the

Palatinate. These with eight others cost the Society 3271f.

lost. Before the end of July twenty-one more came to Rot-

terdam, and so it continued. Xo wonder that the committee,

concerned about such an outpouring, requested the community
in Pennsylvania " to announce emphatically to all the people

from the pulpit that they must no more advise their needy

friends and acquaintances to come out of the Palatinate, and

should encourage them with the promise .that, if they only

remained across the sea, they would be liberally provided for

in everything." If, however, they added, the Pennsylva-

nians wanted to pay for the passage of the poor Palatines, it

would then of course be their own affair. This the Pennsyl-

vanians were not ready nor in a condition to do. The com-

mittee also sent forbidding letter after letter to the Palatinate,

but every year they had to be repeated, and sometimes, as, for

instance, May 6, 1733, they drew frightful pictures: "We
learn from New York that a ship from Rotterdam going to

Pennsylvania with one hundred and fifty Palatines wandered

twenty-four weeks at sea. When they finally arrived at port

nearly all the people were dead. The rest, through the want
of vivres, were forced to subsist upon rats and vermin, and are

all sick and weak. The danger of such an occurrence i3

always so great that the most heedless do not run the risk

except through extreme want." Nevertheless the stream of

emigrants did not cease. When finally over three thousand

of different sects came to Rotterdam, the committee, June 15,

1732, adopted the strong resolution, that under no pretence

would they furnish means to needy Palatines, except to pay
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their fares back to their fatherland. By rigidly maintaining

this rule, and thus ending where they undoubtedly should have

commenced, the committee put a complete stop to emigration.

On the 17th of March they reported that they had already

accomplished their object, and from that time they were not

again troubled with requests for passage-money to Xorth

America. 1 In the meanwhile their adherence to this resolu-

tion caused some coolness between the communities in the

Netherlands and in Pennsylvania. Still their intercourse was

not entirely terminated. A special circumstance gave an

impulse which turned the Pennsylvanians again toward our

brotherhood in 1742. Their colony had increased wonder-

fully ; they enjoyed prosperity, rest, and what the remem-

brance of foreign sufferings made more precious than all,

complete religious freedom ; but they talked with some solici-

tude about their ability to maintain one of their points of

belief r— absolute non-participation in war, even defensive.

They had at first been so few in numbers that they were

unnoticed by the government, but now it was otherwise.

Could they, when a general arming of the people was ordered

to repel a hostile invasion of the neighboring French colonists

or an incursion of the Indians, refuse to go, and have their

conscientious scruples respected ? They were in doubt about

it, and little indications seemed to warrant their uncertainty.

The local magistracy and the deputed authorities looked

favorably upon their request for complete freedom from mili-

tary service, but explained that they were without the power

to grant the privilege which they thought existed in the

King of England alone. In consequence of this explanation

the Pennsylvania Mennonites resolved to wrrite, as they did

1 This i3 of coarse correct as far a3 the committee at Amsterdam is con-

cerned, but neither emigration nor Mennonite aid ended at this time. The
Schwenckfelders, some of whom came over only the next year, speak in warm
and grateful terms of the aid rendered them by the Mennonites. Their

MS. journal, now in the possession of Abraham H. Cassel, says " Mr. Henry
Yan der Smissen gave us on the ship 16 loaves of bread, 2 Dutch cheeses, 2

tubs of butter, 4 casks of beer, 2 roasts of meat, much flour and biscuit, and

2 bottles of French brandy, and otherwise took very good care of as."





Mennonite Emigration to Pennsylvania. 133

under date of May 8th, 1742, to Amsterdam and Haarlem,

and ask that the communities there would bring their power-

ful influence to bear upon the English Court in their behalf,

as had been done previously through the intervention of

the States-General when alleviation was obtained in the case

of the Swiss and Litthauer brethren. This letter seems

to have miscarried. It cannot be found in the archives

of the Amsterdam community, and their minutes contain no

reference to it, so that its contents would have remained

entirely unknown if the Pennsylvanians had not written again

October 19, 1745, complaining of the silence upon this side,

and repeating in a few words what was said in it. Though
it is probable that the letter of 1742 was not received, it may
be that our forefathers laid it aside unanswered, thinking it

unadvisable to make the intervention requested before the

North American brethren had substantial difficulty about the

military service, and it must be 'remarked that in the reply

written from here to the second letter there is not a word
said upon this subject, and allusions only are made to things

which, in comparison, the Pennsylvanians surely thought

were of much less importance.

In the second part of their letter of October, 1745, which

is in German, the Pennsylvanians write, "as the flames of war

appear to mount higher, no man can tell whether the cross and

persecution of the defenceless Christians will not soon come,

and it is therefore of importance to prepare ourselves for such

circumstances with patience and resignation, and to use all

available means that can encourage steadfastness and

strengthen faith. Our whole community have manifested an

unanimous desire for a German translation of the Bloody

Theatre of Tieleman Jans Yan Braght, especially since in this

community there is a very great number of newcomers, for

whom we consider it to be of the greatest importance that

they should become acquainted with the trustworthy wit-

nesses who have walked in the way of truth, and sacrificed

their lives for it." They further say that for years they had
hoped to undertake the work, and the recent establishment

Vol. n—10
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of a German printing office had revived the wish, but " the

bad paper always used here for printing" discouraged them.

The greatest difficulty, however, was to tind a suitable trans-

lator, upon whose skill they could entirely rely, without the

fear that occasionally the meaning would be perverted. Up
to that time no one had appeared among them to whom they

could give the work with perfect confidence, and they there-

fore requested the brethren in Holland to look around for

such a translator, have a dozen copies printed, and send them

bound, with or without clasps and locks, or in loose sheets, to

Pennsylvania, not, however, until they had sent over a com-

plete account of the cost. The letter is dated at Schiebach,

and bears the signatures of Jacob Godschalck, Martin Kolb,

Michael Ziegler, 1 Heinrich Funck,2 Gillis Kassel,3 and Diel-

1 Michael Ziegler, as early as 1722, lived near the present Skippackville,

in Montgomery County, and was, for at least thirty years, one of the elders

of the Skippack Church. He died at an advanced age about 1763, and left

£9 to the poor of that congregation.
2 Henry Funk, always one of the most able and enterprising of the Men-

nonite preachers, and long a bishop, settled on the Indian Creek, in Fran-

conia Township, now Montgomery County, in 1719. He was ever faithful

and zealous in his work, and did much to advance the interests of his church.

He wrote a book upon baptism, entitled " Ein Spiegel der Taufe," published

by Saur in 1744, which has passed through at least five editions. A more

ambitious effort was the " Erklarung einiger haupt-puncten des Gesetzes,"

published after his death by Armbruster, in 1763. This book was reprinted

at Biel, Switzerland, in 1844, and at Lancaster, Pa., in 1862, and is much
esteemed. He and Dielman Kolb supervised the translation of Van
Braght's Martyr's Mirror from the Dutch to the German, and certified to its

correctness. Beside these labors, which were all without pecuniary compen-

sation, he was a miller, and acquired a considerable estate. He died about

1760.
8 Yillis Kassel came to Pennsylvania in the year 1727, and was a preacher

at Skippack, and one of the representative men of the church. His father

or grandfather, Yillis Kassel, was also a Mennonite preacher at Kriesheim

in 1665, and wrote a Confession of Faith and a number of MS. poems,

which are now in the possession of his descendant, the noted antiquary, Abra-

ham H. Cassel. They describe very vividly the horrible condition of the

Rhine country at that time, and the sufferings of the people of his faith.

The composition was frequently interrupted by such entries as these :
" And
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man Kolb. Not until the 10th of February, 1748, did the

"Committee on Foreign Needs," in whose hands the letter was
placed, find time to send an answer. Its tenor was entirely

unfavorable. They thought the translation " wholly and en-

tirely impracticable, as well because it would be difficult to

find a translator as because of the immense expense which

would be incurred, and which they could very easily avoid."

As "this book could certainly be found in the community,

and there were some of the brethren who understood the

Dutch language," it was suggested " to get them to translate

into the German some of the chief histories wherein mention

is made of the confessions of the martyrs, and which would

serve for the purpose, and have them copied by the young

people." By so doing they would secure " the double advan-

tage that through the copying they would give more thought

to it, and receive a stronger impression."

The North American brethren, at least, got the benefit of

the information contained in this well-meant counsel sent two
and a half years late. In the mean time they had themselves

zealously taken hold of the work, and before the reception of

the letter from Holland accomplished their purpose. That

same year, 1748, the complete translation of the Martyr's

Mirror of Tieleman Jans Yan Braght saw the light at

Ephrata. 1 It was afterwards printed, with the pictures from

now we must flee to TTorms," " In Kriesheim, to which we have again come

home." From one of them I extract :

—

"Denn es ist bekannt und offenbar,

Was Jammer, Elend, und Gefahr
Gewesen ist umher im Land
Mit Rauben, Pliindern, Mord, und Brand.
Manch Mensch gebracht in Angst und Nota
Geschandeliert auch bis zum Tod.

Zerschlagen verhanen manch schoenes Haus,
Vielen Leuten die Kleider gezogen aus

;

Getreid* und Vieh hinweggefiihrt,

Yiel Jammer und Klag hat man gehort."

• A copy of the first German edition of Menno Simon's Foundation (1575),

which belonged to the younger Yillis, and is, so far as known, the only copy

in America, is now in my library.
1 This publication fills so important a place in American bibliography

that it merits a special article ; but it is sufficient in this connection to say

that it waa one of the largest, if not the largest, productions of the press in
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the original added, at Pirniascns in the Bavarian Palatinate,

in 1TS0, and this second edition is still frequently found

among our fellow members in Germany, Switzerland, and the

mountains of the Vosges.

Though the completion of this very costly undertaking

gives a favorable idea of the energy and financial strength of

the £Torth American community, they had to struggle with

adversity, and were compelled, ten years later, to call for the

charity of their Xetherland brethren. Nineteen families of

them had settled in Virginia, " but because of the cruel and

barbarous Indians, who had already killed and carried away
as prisoners so many of our people,'' they fled back to Penn-

sylvania. All of one family were murdered, and the rest had

lost all their possessions. Even in Pennsylvania two hundred

families, through recent incursions of the savages in May and

June, lost everything, and their dead numbered fifty. In this

dreadful deprivation they asked for help, and they sent two
of their number, Johannes Schneyder and Martin Punck, to

Holland, giving them a letter dated September 7, 1753, signed

by Michael Kaufman, Jacob Borner, Samuel Bohm, and

Daniel Stauffer. The two envoys, wbo had themselves sorely

suffered from the devastations of the war, acquitted them-

selves well of their mission on the 18th of the following

December, when they secured an interview with the com-

mittee at Amsterdam. They made the impression of being

"plain and honest people," gave all the explanations that

were wanted, and received an answer to the letter they

brought, in which wa3 inclosed a bill of exchange upon Phila-

delphia for £50 sterling, equal to £78 lis. 5 d.' Pennsylvania

currency, or 55 Of. The newly chosen secretary of the com-

mittee, J. S. Centen, adds: "We then paid their expenses

here, and supplied them with victuals and travelling money,

the colonies. It is a folio of 1511 pages, and is a fine specimen of typo-

graphical art. An edition of 1300 copies was printed, but many of them

being still unbound were taken by the American army during the revolu-

tionary war for cartridge paper. The original price was 20 shillings per

volume.—Ed.
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and they departed December 17, 1758, in the Hague packet

boat.''

After this event all intercourse between the North Ameri-

can Mennonites and those in the Netherlands ceased, except

that the publisher of the well-known " Xame Lists of the

Mennonite Preachers" endeavored, until the end of the last

century, to obtain the necessary information from North

America for his purpose ; but it is apparent, upon looking at

the remarkable names of places, that very much is wanting.

They wrote to him, however, that he might mention as dis-

tinct communities Schiebach, 1 Germantown, Mateschen, In-

dian Kreek, Bleu,2 Soltford,3 Rakkill,4 Schwanin, Deeproom,4

Berkosen,6 Anfrieds, Grotenswamp,7 Sackheim,8 Lower Mil-

ford, with two meeting houses, Hosensak, Lehay,9 Term,

Schuylkill, and forty in the neighborhood of Kanestogis. 10

In 1786 the community in Virginia is also specially men-

tioned. For some years this statement remained unchanged.

The list of 1793 says that the number of the Mennonite com-

munities of North America, distinct from the Baptists, was

two hundred, and some estimate them at over three hundred,

of which twenty-three were in the Pennsylvania districts of

Lancaster and Kanestogis. This communication was kept

unchanged in the Name List of 1810, but in the next, that of

1815, it was at last omitted, because, according to the com-

piler, Dr. A. N. Van Gelder, " for many years, at least since

1801, we have been entirely without knowledge or informa-

tion."

In 1856, R. Baird, in his well-known work, " Religions in

America," says that Pennsylvania is still the principal home

of the Mennonites in the United States, and that they have

four hundred communities, with two hundred or two hundred

and fifty preachers and thirty thousand members, who are,

for the most part, in easy circumstances. Perhaps these

figures are correct, so far as concerns Pennsylvania ; but, ac-

cording to the " Conference Minutes of the entire Mennonite

1 Skippack. * Plain. » Salford. * Rockhill.

5 Deep Run. e Perkasie. 7 Great Swamp. 8 Saucon.

• Lehigh. I0 Conestoga.
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Community in North America, held at West Point, Lee

County, Iowa, the 28th and 29th of May, 1860," the number
of the Mennonites in all the States of the Union amounted to

128,000. After having for many years almost entirely neg-

lected mutual relations, and separated into many small socie-

ties, they finally came to the conclusion that a firm covenant

of brotherhood is one means to collect the scattered, to unite

the divided, and to strengthen the weak. The delegates of

the communities come together annually, as they did the

present year from May 31 to June 3, at Wadsworth, Ohio.

On the 20th of May, 1861, they repeated in their own way
what our fathers did fifty years earlier ; they founded a semi-

nary for the service of the church, with which, since that

time, Dr. Van der Smissen, formerly minister at Frederick-

sta.dt, has been connected as professor and director. May it

be to them as great a blessing as ours has been to us,

October, 1869.
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THE BATTLE OF MONMOUTH.

Letters of Alexander Hamilton and General TVilliam Irvine,

describing the engagement.

On the 28th of June, 1778, a battle occurred at the village

of Freehold, 1ST. J., which has made the name of the unfortu-

nate son of Charles II. memorable forever in American his-

tory. It is not anything connected with the gayety of hi3

father's court, his uncle's sullen revenge, or his own career,

which the name of Monmouth recalls on this side of the At-

lantic. In their stead it conjures up a scene where, beneath

a scorching sun, Washington's army, overtaking the British,

displayed the endurance of veterans, the result of the discipline

and suffering in that school of adversity—Valley Forge. The

meeting of Washington and Lee during this engagement is

one of the most dramatic incidents of the American Revolu-

tion. Washington, in a moment of indignation so intense a3

to resemble passion, exercised a generalship so consummate,

that from that moment all question was at an end regarding

his fitness to hold the commission of commander-in-chief.

Lee, " abashed and confused" at the position in which his

cynical disposition had involved him, and forgetful of the

first duty of a soldier, closed a career which his wilful temper

had turned from one of promise to one of disappointment, if

not of disgrace.

The one hundredth anniversary of this event is so near at

hand, that all relating to it is worthy of attention. The
following letter of Alexander Hamilton, written in the free-

dom of confidence, will be read with interest, as will also that

of our own Gem William Irvine.
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LETTER FROM ALEXANDER HAMILTON TO ELIAS BOUDINOT. 1

Brunswick, July 5th, '78.

My Dear Sir :

—

You will by this time imagine that I have forgotten my
promise of writing to you, as I have been so long silent on an
occasion which most people will be fond of celebrating to

their friends.

The truth is, I have no passion for scribbling, and I know
you will be at no loss for the fullest information. But that

you may not have a right to accuse me of negligence, I will

impose upon myself the drugery of saying something about

the transactions of the 20th, in which the American arms
gained very signal advantages ; and might have gained much
more signal ones.

Indeed, I can hardly persuade myself to be in good humour
with success so far inferior to what we, in all probability

should have had, had not the finest opportunity America ever

possessed been fooled away by a man, in whom she has placed

a large share of the most ill-judged confidence. You will

have heard enough to know that I mean General Lee. This

man is either a driveler in the business of soldiership or some-

thing much worse. To let you fully into the silly and pitiful

game he has been playing, I will take the tale up from the

beginning ;• expecting you will consider what I say as in the

most perfect confidence.

When we came to Hopewell Township, the General un-

luckily called a council of war, the result of which would

have done honor to the most honourable society of midwives,
and to them only. The purport was, that we should keep at

a comfortable distance from the enemy, and keep up a vain

parade of annoying them by detachment. In persuance of

this idea, a detachment of 1500 men was sent off under Gene-

ral Scot2 to join the other troops near the enemy's lines.

1 A portion of this letter -will be (band in the Pennsylvania Packet of

July 16, 1778, but the name of the writer and the strictures on Lee are not

given.

8 Gen. Chas. Scott, of VaM born 1733, died 22 Oct. 1820. He was a non-

commissioned officer in the Braddock Expedition ; raised the first company
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General Lee was primum mobile of this sage plan ; and was
even opposed to sending so considerable a force. The Gen-

eral, on mature reconsideration of what had been resolved

on, determined to persue a different line of conduct at all

hazards. With this view, he marched the army the next

morning towards Kingston, and there made another detach-

ment of 1000 men under General Wayne, and formed all the

detached troops into an advanced corps under the command
of the Marquis De la fayette. The project was, that this ad-

vanced corps should take the first opportunity to attack the

enemy's rear on the march, to be supported or covered as cir-

cumstances should require by the whole army.

General Lee's conduct with respect to the command of this

corps was truly childish. According to the incorrect notions

of our army, his seniority would have entitled him to the

command of the advanced corps ; but he in the first instance

declined it, in favour of the Marquis. Some of his friends

having blamed him for doing it, and Lord Stirling having

shown a disposition to interpose his claim, General Lee very

inconsistently reasserted his pretensions. The matter was a

south of the James River for the Revolutionary Army ; was commissioned

Colonel of the 3d Va. Battalion, Aug. 1776; Brigadier-General April 2, 1777;

wa3 distinguished at Trenton, and was taken prisoner at Charleston, S. C, in

1780. In 1785 he removed to Kentucky, and was Brigadier-General of the

Kentucky TroopS
(

in the expedition under St. Clair at his defeat in 1791.

In June of that year he commanded a successful expedition against the

Indians on the Wabash. In 1794 he was with Wayne in the battle of the

Fallen Timbers. From 1803 to 1812 he was Governor of Kentucky. A
county of Kentucky is named for him.

—

Drake.
The mention of his name in connection with the battle of Monmouth

recalls an anecdote which we would hesitate to give were it not that it has

already found a place in print under sanction of George Washington Parke

Custis vsee Recollections, p. 413). Scott, it is said, was very profane ; and a

friend, after the war, anxious to reform him of his evil habit, a^ked him if it

was possible that " the admired Washington ever swore. Scott reflected for

a moment, and then exclaimed, 'Yes, once ; it was at Monmouth, and on a d:*y

that would have made any man swear. Yes, sir, he swore on that day till the

leaves shook on the trees, charming delightfully. Never have I enjoyed such

swearing before or since. Sir, on that ever-memorable day he swore like an

angel from Heaven.' The reformer abaudoned the General in despair."
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second time accommodated ; General Lee and Lord Stirling

agreed to let the Marquis command. General Lee, a little

time after, recanted again, and became very importunate. The

General, who had all along observed the greatest candor in

the matter, grew tired of such fickle behaviour, and ordered

the Marquis to proceed.

The enemy in marching from Allen Town had changed

their disposition, and thrown all their best troops in the rear;

this made it necessary, to strike a stroke with propriety, to

reinforce the advanced corps. Two brigades were detached

for this purpose, and the General, willing to accommodate

General Lee, sent him with them to take the command of the

whole advanced corps, which rendezvoused the forenoon of

the 27th at English Town, consisting of at least 5000 rank and

file, most of them select troops. General Lee's orders were,

the moment he received intelligence of the enemy's march to

persue them and to attack their rear.

This intelligence was received about Rve o'clock the morn-

ing of the 28th, and General Lee put his troops in motion

accordingly. The main body did the same. The advanced

corps came up with the enemy's rear a mile or two beyond

the Court House ; I saw the enemy drawn up, and am per-

suaded there were not a thousand men—their front from

different accounts was then ten miles off. However favour-

able this situation may seem for an attack, it was not made

;

but after changing their position two or three times by retro-

grade movements, our advanced corps got into a general con-

fused retreat, and even route would hardly be too strong an

expression. Not a word of all this was officially communi-

cated to the General ; as we approached the supposed place

of action, we heard some flying rumours of what had hap-

pened, in consequence of which the General rode forward, and

found the troops retiring in the greatest disorder, and the

enemy pressing upon their rear. I never saw the general to

so much advantage. His coolness and firmness were admira-

ble. He instantly took measures for checking the enemy's

advance, and giving time for the army, which was very near,

to form and make a proper disposition. He then rode back,
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and had the troops formed on a very advantageous piece of

ground ;—in which and in other transactions of the day Gen-

eral Greene and Lord Stirling rendered very essential service,

and did themselves great honor. The sequel is, we beat

the enemy and killed and wounded at least a thousand of

their best troops. America owes a great deal to General

"Washington for this day's work—a general route, dismay,

and disgrace would have attended the whole army in any

other hands but his. By his own good sense and fortitude

he turned the fate of the day. Other officers have great merit

in performing their parts well ; but he directed the whole

with the skill of a Master workman. He did not hug him-

self at a distance and leave an Arnold to win laurels for him
;

but by his own presence, he brought order out of confusion,

animated his troops, and led them to success. 1

A great number of our officers distinguished themselves

this day. General Wayne was always foremost in danger.

Col. Stewart2 and Lt.-Col. Ramsay3 were with him among the

first to oppose the enemy. Lt.-Col. Olney,4 at the Head of

1 This and the remark on page 146, regarding messenger, aids, etc., are

allusions to the course of General Gates.

* Subsequently General Walter Stewart, of Pennsylvania, of whom we hope

at a future day to print a biographical notice.

8 Lt.-Colonel Nathaniel Ramsay, of Maryland, a brave officer, whose meri-

torious services have never received the notice they deserve. At Brandywine

he crossed the stream in front of Knyphausen and engaged the Hessian

Yagers. His services at Monmouth were of the highest order, and there

he received severe wounds. Drake, in his Dictionary, states that Ramsay

was taken prisoner at Charleston in 1780 ; but that misfortune most have

befallen him at a previous time, as the papers of Gen. James Irvine in the

Pennsylvania Historical Society show that he was one of the prisoners at

Flushing, L. I., in August, 1779. He was exchanged December 14, 1730.

He was a delegate to the " Old Congress" from Maryland 1785-87. He was

no doubt the Colonel Ramsay who was one of the pall-bearers at Washing-

ton's funeral, and is said to have been the brother of the historian, David

Ramsay. An obituary notice of him will be found in the Bait. Fed. Rep.,

Oct. 1817. His portrait is in Independence Hall, Philadelphia.

* Lt.-Col. Jeremiah Olney, Rhode Island, died Nov. 12, 1812, aged 62.

He was conspicuous in many battles of the Revolution. After the war he

was President of the Cincinnati Society of Rhode Island. At the Court-

martial of Lee he was one of the witnesses called by that officer.
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Varnum's Brigade, made the next stand. I was with him,

got my horse wounded and myself much hurt by a fall in

consequence. Col. Livingston 1 behaved very handsomely.

Our friend Barber2 was remarkably active ; towards the close

of the day he received a ball through his side, which the doc-

tors think will not be fatal. Col. Silly3 andLt.-Col. Parker4

were particularly useful on the left ; Col. Craig,5 with General

Wayne on the right. The Artillery acquitted themselves

most charmingly. I was spectator to Lt.-Col. Oswald's6 beha-

1 Probably Henry Philip Livingston, whom Drake states was one of

"Washington's family in 1778. He was a son of Philip Livingston, the signer

of the Declaration of Independence.
2 Francis Barber, a native of New Jersey, born 1751. He was educated

at Princeton, and after having finished his studies took charge of an academy

at Elizabethtown, N. J. Alexander Hamilton was one of his pupils. At
the beginning of the Revolution he entered the army and served with dis-

tinction until 1783 ; on the very day upon which Washington announced the

conclusion of peace to the army he was killed by the falling of a tree. In

1781 he was instrumental in quelling the revolt which occurred in the troop3

from Pennsylvania and New Jersey. A biographical sketch of him, with

portrait, will be found in the National Portrait Gallery, vol. ii. edition of

1835.

* Joseph Cilley, of New Hampshire, b. 1734, d. 1799. He was one of

the witnesses at the Court-martial of Lee. He was subsequently Major-

General of the New Hampshire Militia. He was Major of Poor's Regiment

in 1775.
4 We think it likely that this officer was Colonel Richard Parker, of Vir-

ginia, as the Colonel Parker who was present at Monmouth, received his

orders from General Scott, who commanded Virginia troops. Col. Richard

Parker died at the seige of Charleston, S. C, in 1780. He was a Captain

of 2d Virginia regiment 24 Jan. 1776, and afterwards Colonel of the 8th

Virginia.
5 Thomas Craig, Colonel of the 3d Pennsylvania Regiment. He was

born in the present Northampton Co. Jan. 10th, 1740. His parents, Thomas
and Mary, were natives of Ireland. Thomas entered the army early in the

Revolutionary war, and was in the expedition to Canada commanded by

Arnold. He was in the battles of Brandywine, Germantown, and Mon-

mouth, and was at Valley Forge. He died at Allentown, Lehigh Co., Jan.

20, 1832, aged 93. He was a Captain Jan. 5, 1776 ; Major Sept. 7, 1776

;

Colonel, 1777.
6 Eleazer Oswald wa3born in England about 1755. He came to America

a short time previous to the Revolution, and at the beginning of the war

served under Arnold and Ethan Allen at the capture of Ticonderoga. He
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viour, who kept up a gallant fire from some piecess com-

manded by him, uncovered and unsupported. In short, one

can hardly name particulars without doing injustice to the

rest. The behaviour of the officers and men in general was
such as could not safely be surpassed. Our troops, after the

first impulse from mismanagement, behaved with more spirit

and moved with greater order than the British troops. You
know my way of thinking about our army, and that I am
not apt to flatter it. I assure you I never was pleased with

them before this day.

What part our family acted let others say. I hope you
will not suspect me of vanity when I tell you that one of

them, Fitzgerald, 1 had a slight contusion with a Musket ball,

was at Quebec when Montgomery was killed, acting as secretary to Arnold,

and after that officer was wounded led the forlorn hope ; he was spoken of on

this occasion as a volunteer who behaved extremely well. At Monmouth he

was Lt.-Col. of Lamb's Regiment of Artillery, and shortly after the battle,

Knox spoke of him as " One of the best officers of the Army. He resigned

his commission the latter part of 1778. For a number of years he published

in Philadelphia the Independent Gazette. In 1783 he reopened " On it3

original plan and regulation" the well-known " London Coffee House" (still

standing at the S. W. corner of Market and Front Streets), which so far as

its original purposes of " a change for commercial transactions" were con-

cerned, it lost after Col. Bradford retired from it, some time before the close

of the war.

Col. John Parke, in the preface to his translations of the Odes of Horace,

writes that he has addressed several of them to his " Very worthy friend and

fellow-soldier, Lt.-Col. Eleazer Oswald, late of the American Artillery, not

only on account of his ushering this work into the world (he was its printer),

but for his many eminent virtues as a brave soldier and a good citizen. The

hardship he has suffered, and the toils he has endured, and the many trying

vicissitudes he has experienced in the defence of his country entitle him to

the esteem of every patriotic and virtuous American." In 1792, being in

England on business, he crossed to France, and. joining the French Army,

commanded a regiment of artillery at the battle of Jemappe. He returned

to America, and died of yellow fever at New York in October. 1795.

1 John Fitzgerald, of Virginia. As there were two officers of this name

from the same State, it is impossible to give the record of either with cer-

tainty from printed documents. The one mentioned was an aid to Washing-

ton ; the date of his appointment as such is lost ; Mr. Sparks thought that it

was made during 1778, but Geo. Washington Parke Custis speaks of a Fitz-

gerald who was on the staff of "Washington at the time of the battle of
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another, Laurens, 1 had a slight contusion also, and his horse

killed ; a third, Hamilton, had his horse wounded in the first

part of the action with a musket ball. If the rest escaped, it

is only to be ascribed to better fortune, not more prudence in

keeping out of the way.

That Congress is not troubled with any messenger-aids to

give swords and other pretty toys to, let them ascribe to the

good sense of the Commander-in-chief, and to a certain turn

of thinking in those about him whichput them above such

shifts.

What think you now of General Lee. You will be ready

to join me in condemning him. And yet, I fear, a Court

Martial will not do it. A certain preconceived and prepos-

terous opinion of his being a very great man will operate

much in his favour. Some people are very industrious in

making interest for him. Whatever a Court Martial may
decide, I shall continue to believe and say—his conduct was

monstrous and unpardonable.

I am, D. Sir,

Yrs Affecty,

ALEX. HAMILTON.

One wing of the army marched this morning towards the

North River, another goes to-morrow. The enemy by our

late accounts were embarking their baggage. They are three

miles below Middletown. French importunity cannot be

resisted. I have given two frenchmen letters to you. I am

Princeton, Cnstis also mentions a Col. Fitzgerald, no doubt the former aid,

who was with Washington at Alexandria in November, 1799. In the Hist.

Mag., June, 1863, a letter is published from Robert Morris to John Fitz-

gerald, of Alexandria, Va.; also one from Arthur Lee and one from R. H.

Lee to Col. Fitzgerald of the same place. Col. Fitzgerald was one of the

witnesses at Lee's trial.

1 Lt.-Col. John Laurens. Too well known to need special mention. On

account of Lee's reflections on "Washington, in the defence which he pub-

lished after his trial, Laurens sent him a challenge; they met near Philadel-

phia, in a wood situated near the fonr-mile stone on the Point-no-Point Road.

Hamilton acted as the second of Laurens. Lee was slightly wounded.
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very serious about Mr. Toussard, 1 and as far as a Majority in

some Corps, Armand's Pulaski's or such like, would wish you

to interest yourself for him. The Marquis De Vieme,2 I am
so far in earnest concerning that if his pretensions are mode-

rate, and he can be gratified, I should be glad of it—but I

fear they will be pretty high.

LETTER OF GEN. WILLIAM IRVINE OP PEXNA. TO CAPT. JOHN DAVIS.

Camp English Town, New Jersey, June 30, 1778.

Dear Sir :

—

I suppose ere now you will have heard of the action of the

28th instant, not far from this place and within one mile and

a half of Monmouth Court House. Two days before several

large detachments of Light Troops were sent in front in pur-

suit of the Enemy, commanded by General Lee and the Mar-

quis ; in the morning they fell in with and engaged the enemy
but were soon repulsed ; however, the main army got up just

as they were retiring and formed on or near the ground they

left. The two Armies were formed on two hills about a half

mile apart ; about Eleven o'clock an exceeding heavy cannon-

ade commenced on both sides and continued with great vigor

till half after four in the afternoon, when the Enemy went off

precipitately, and left their dead. and wounded on the field.

Our army took possession and encamped on the field. The

enemy drew off about two miles and in the night went off

Bag and Baggage ; as there was no possibility of coming up

with them, as they steer for Sandy Hook, we have given over

the chase, and are now marching towards the upper part of

Jersey. The enemy left about 300 dead on the field, among

1 Col. Louis Toussard, born, France, 1749 ; died, New Orleans, about 1820.

He was aid to Lafayette ; lost an arm at Ehode Island in the fall of 1778.

Author of the Artillerist's Companion,! vols. 8vo., Phila. 1809.

—

Drake.

* Marquis de la Vienne. " He arrived in camp while the army were at Val-

ley Forge, with recommendatory letters to the Marquis de Lafayette." He

had held the rank of Major in the French Army, and upon his own petition

was commissioned by Congress as Colonel in the service of the United

States, "without any pay annexed to said rank." See J. of C, July 15,

1778.
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whom were three field officers and ten other officers. Thus
the pride of the British Tyrant is lowering; in all the actions

hitherto the Americans never took the field. I hope in future

they will always take it. I wrote you about two weeks ago,

and would have wrote oftener, but have been exceedingly ill

:

indeed was obliged to stay at Valley Forge after the army

;

however, thank God, I got up in time to be at the action,

and mend sure fast ; indeed the Brigade I commanded was

posted in front of our Whole Army, about three hundred

yards. 1 ^Notwithstanding we lost but 5 killed and a few

wounded ; I would have wrote General Thompson, but ex-

pected him at camp before this reaches you ; however, should

this not be the case, please present my compliments to him,

and tell him that the 28th was a most Glorious day for the

American Arms ; likewise give my compliments to Capt.

Byers, and tell (him) I meant to write him but am exceed-

ingly hurried and much fatigued with the necessary duties of

my station. I shall be glad to hear from you, and I shall

write you when anything of consequence.

I am, Dr. Sir,

Your most obt. servant,

WM. IRVINE.
Col. John Davis, near Carlisle.

1 When Lee's troops were retreating they so impeded the advance of

Irvine's Brigade that Irvine had to threaten to charge through them before

he could make way to his advanced position.

—

Anecdote communicated by

Dr. Wm. A. Irvine.
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WESTERN PENNSYLVANIA IN 1760.

A Journal of a March from Fort Pitt to Venango, and from thence to

Presqu' Isle. From the Papers of Capt. Thomas Hutchins,

Geographer General of the United States.

[The following journal is in the Hutchins' Papers in the Historical So-

ciety of Pennsylvania. It is possible that it contains the observations of

Hutchins himself, who, at the time it was written, was an officer in the

60th regiment. The value of the paper is in the topographical picture it

gives of the western portion of our State in its original condition. In the

first volume of the papers of Charles Lee, published by the New York His-

torical Society, is a letter by Lee to his sister, in which he states that on

November 19th, 1759, while stationed at Niagara, he " was order'd out on a

scout with one other officer and fourteen men, to discover (if possible) what

was become of the remains of the French Army which escap'd from the Battle :

we had," he writes, "the satisfaction of being the first English who ever

cross'd the vast Lake of Erie ; we pass'd through the French Forts of Presq'

Isle and Yinango, descended down the Eivers of Buffalo and Ohio, and in

14 days arrived safe (tho' naked almost starv'd) at Fort Duquesuc," at

which place, he adds, he found his sister's friend " Mallier, who was in good

health but a little in liquor, as, indeed, were most of the officers I saw there."

If Lee is correct in the assertion that his party was the first English one to

journey over the route it did, it is safe to conclude that the description given

in the Hutchins Journal is the earliest we have of our western territory

after it came under the undisputed control of Great Britain.]

Left Fort Pitt 7th July, 1760, about half an hour past

three o'clock, P. M. ; marched 4J Miles, the first half of the

way through a Rich Firtile Bottom, and the other through a

dry Gully between two Hills, at the end of which we en-

camped on the side of an Hill, where were several good

Springes.

8th. Decamped early in the morning, and Marched 16

Miles. About 7 Miles from Fort Pitt found two or throe

very small Eun3 almost dry ; three Miles further a sharp de-

scent to a small Creek, then Crossed a Meadow three Hundred

Yards over, and went up another Hill, the asscent of which is

not Difficult: Here you see many Hundred Acre3 of clear

Land or Barrens, the Soil of which is bad, excepting only the

Yol. II.—11
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Meadows. From this Creek we found no Water till within

half a Mile of our Encampment. This whole marsh is upon

high Ridges with very small Intermissions the Soil, except

on the Barrens, is tolerably good, and indifferently Timbered

with small Black and White Oaks, very little Water, but a

Redundance of Pea-Vine and other Food. The Woods are

open and free from underwood—Course to the Eastward of

Korth.

9th. At Six in the Morning Crossed the Hill at the foot of

which we Encamped the Preceding Xight, and entered some

Meadows and low Grounds, which Continued near live Miles
;

then Crossed two deep and dry Gully's, and asscended an high

Extensive and Barren Ridge, a Mile and a half in length.

Here we fell into a Small Bottom, and from this place alter-

nately crossed little open Bottoms and small Barren Hills,

till we came to a very high and difficult one leading down to

a Creek about 12 yards over ; called the first Branch of Be-

ver Creek : From our last night's encampment to this place

(10 Miles) we found no Water, a bad Soil, very little Timber,

and a Good deal of underwood, and Plenty of Food even on

the Barrens. Passing this Creek, we went through a very

thick Bottom, and asscendiug a Gentle Hill continued on the

Ridge near two Miles, when we gradually descended into a

small, Dry, infertil Flatt, which, after a Mile and halfs

March brought us to the second Branch of Bever Creek, 30

yards over, where we Encamped. Marched this day 10 Miles.

Course IS. & by E.

10th. This morning ascended a very steep and high Hill,

on the Ridge of which we continued for a Mile, then went

down a pretty smart descent to the third Branch of Bever

Creek, and Crossing it passed through 300 or 400 yards of

low thick Bottom, and gained the foot of a Pretty high sid-

ling Hill, which soon lost itself in fine level open woods, and

these Continued to the fourth Branch of Bever Creek, which

is at least 11 Miles from our last night's Camp. After Cross-

ing this Creek, you go through a thick Swampy Bottom, 400

yards Over, and then fall in with the same kind of Woods
you traversed in the morning. Five Miles from the Fourth
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is the Fifth Branch of Bever Creek, these three Branches,

particularly the last, are only little dirty Runs: A Mile from

the Fifth is the Sixth Branch, where we encamped. This

Branch is a pretty little Brook, with line, Rich, open Mead-

ows gently descending to it on each side : These meadows
are perfectly clear two Miles in length, and are half a Mile

over.—Marched 17 Miles this day. Course to the Eastward

of North.

11th. After ascending the rising Ground on the North side

of the brook, we entered a very narrow rich Meadow, which

soon brought us upon flatt, level, open Woods that Continued

two Miles, when we came upon the 7th Branch of Bever

Creek, a Shallow, rapid, rocky Stream, 60 yards Over
; pass-

ing which, and a thick Shrubby Bottom on the other side, we
came on the same kind of Open Flatt Woods as before, which

Continued, this day's March (14 Miles), interrupted every two

or three Miles by a small Run and a thick Bottom. The

Soil and Timber Still Continues Bad, and the Food Grows

worse. Course X. & by East.

12th. The first 10 Mites of this March are through flatt

open woods, at the end of which you ascend a Chestnut

Ridge, whose descent to Lecornic 1 or Sandy Creek is ex-

tremely steep and difficult ; having crossed this Creek, which

is 4 Miles from Yenango, you ascend another Chestnut Ridge

three miles in length, whose descent to Venango is likewise

steep and difficult. From our Encampment this morning we
had Water every two or three Miles. Lecornic is a Con-

siderable Creek, 50 or 60 yards over. Three or 4 Miles be-

fore we came to the first Chestnut Ridge the Roads were so

full of fallen trees that it was very difficult to pass. The Soil

very Bad and Food scarse. Marched this day 16 Miles. X.

& by E. Easterly.

13th. Marched at one o'clock, P. M., and Crossed French

Creek due Xorth, 100 yards over, Running East into the

1 This is the second Indian name discovered and added to the aboriginal

nomenclature of our territory since the issue of the Historical Map of Penn-

sylvania in 1875. The other was communicated by Mr. John G. Freeze, and

is to be found in the Magazine, Vol. I., p. 225, 6.
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Ohio ; had low ground for a Mile, then ascended a Steep

Hill, at the X. W. Foot of which is a small Run, from whence

we marched 2J Miles through a low Rich Bottom to Sugar

Creek, 10 yards over, five Miles from Venango. This Bottom

continued a Mile further, and is full of Runs: We now
ascended another steep Hill, and alternately traversed little

Hills and low Bottoms for 4 Miles, and then Encamped ; the

Woods are open and very young, the Soil and Timber some-

what better than on the other side of French Creek.

Marched 10 Miles this day. Our Course 1ST. W. & by West.

14th. Marched through low Grounds upon or near the

banks of French Creek, almost all this day—Runs at the end

of One, two and three Miles, and at 4 Miles a Creek 12 yards

wide. Seven Miles from Camp we came upon an high Sidling

Hill opposite Custologa's Town, which is situated on the

South West side of French Creek. Two Miles further are

three Mingoe Hutts, a Mile beyond which we met with the

Richest Meadows I ever saw, quite clear, more than two
Miles in length, and half a Mile Broad. At the end of these

Meadows are three more Mingoe Hutts, near which we En-

camped, having marched 13 Miles. Course X. W. Excellent

Food, fine open Woods, but no Timber.

15th. Marched through very Rich Bottoms, commonly
called Swamps, almost all this day. Runs at four, Eight, and

Ten Miles distance from last night's Camp. At 11 Miles dis-

tance we Recrossed French Creek, (80 yards over, but ex-

treamly shallow) found about half a mile of pretty high open

Woods, then fell into a swamp, 2J Miles over, full of the

largest Cyprus Trees I ever saw. Crossed a Creek 30 yards

over, and encamped on the Xorth side. This Creek and the

4 Miles one mentioned above both Run Eastward. Marched
14 Miles this day, over Course X. X. E.

16th. This morning we ascended a pretty high Hill, and

Continued upon very high Ground, tho' very swampy, for 6

Miles (in which is neither Water nor encamping Ground)

;

then Crossed a Branch of French Creek into a fine Meadow
near a Mile Square ; from whence we had a good Waggon
Road two Miles through flatt open Woods to Le Beauf, which
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stands on a small Branch of French Creek, over which is a

very good Bridge ; this Creek, half a Mile below, Runs
through a Lake a Mile over, but is itself not ten yards wide.

We encamped about a Mile beyond Le Beauf, having Marched
10 Miles, there being no more AVater till within two Miles of

Prisqu' Isle. Our Course this day K". X. E.

17th. This day's March was (two Miles open dry woods

near Prisqu' Isle, and one mile at the other end excepted)

a Continued Chestnut Bottom Swamp, near 2ane Miles of

which are laid with Loggs, but much out of repair. Marched

this day 14 Miles. Our Course North.

PROPOSITION TO MAKE BETHLEHEM, PENNA., THE
SEAT OF GOVERNMENT IN 1780.

CONTRIBUTED BY JOHN W. JORDAN.

[The following correspondence between Lewis Weiss, of Philadelphia,

and the Rev. John Ettwein, of Bethlehem, is of considerable local interest,

and now appears for the first time. The originals are preserved in the ar-

chives of the Moravian Church at Bethlehem.—J. W. J.]

Philadelphia, 14 April, 17S0.

Dear Sir—I was yesterday spoken to hy a friend of mine,

a member of Congress, intimating that Congress had a mind

to change their residence, and that it wa3 proposed by some

members Bethlehem would be a very proper place for making

a Hague, like in Holland. I immediately exclaimed that

Congress was mad I but was stopped when the gentleman de-

clared that Congress would never enter upon the subject, if

they should conceive this plan might put the Society at Beth-

lehem under greater inconvenience, as Congress was able to

relieve them by the payment of money, and other advantages

which would accrue to the trades of Bethlehem. I told him

in my opinion it was impracticable, without ruining and

eating up the Society ; it was a question with me whether,

if every soul was removed from Bethlehem, the houses built
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there was sufficient to contain Congress and the several de-

partments belonging thereto ; and if Congress had a mind to

examine Mr. Edmonds, 1 who happened to be in town, I be-

lieved he could give them information of the number of houses

and inhabitants of Bethlehem and Xazareth, by which Con-
gress would see the impossibility of putting that plan into

execution.

I had really stopped Bro. Edmonds, but was told this morn-
ing I might let him go home, and advised that I should write

for a description of Bethlehem and perhaps Xazareth too, par-

ticularly the number of inhabitants of the several houses and
cabins ; and whenever the matter should come on the carpet,

they would move the Ilouse to send for me for information.

Indeed, I should be very sorry if Congress should come to

reside even in your neighborhood, for it would spoil the

morals of many of your people, and the markets for all of

them.
(Signed) LEWIS WEISS.2

. Dear Sir—As I have been informed that the honourable

Congress intends to shift their residence from Philadelphia to

1 William Edmonds was born 24th October, 1708, at Colford, Gloucester-

shire, 0. E. His father was a merchant, and the family attached to the

established church. In 1736 he immigrated to America, and established

himself in business in New York, and in 1739 married Rebecca Beauvoise, a

French Huguenot. He joined the Moravian Church in 1741, and after the

death of his wife in 1749, removed to Bethlehem. In March of 1755 he

married Margaret Anthony, of New York. In October of that year he was

elected to the Assembly from Northampton. After serving his church in

various secular capacities at Bethlehem and Nazareth, he died at the latter

place 15th September, 1786.

* Lewis Weiss was born in Berlin on the 28th of December, 1717. Ira-

migrated to Pennsylvania in December, 1755, and settled in Philadelphia.

For many years he was the attorney for the Moravian Church. He was one

of the founders of the German Society, and was its President in 1782. He
was commissioned Justice of the Court of Common Pleas for the City and

County of Philadelphia on the 26th of May, 1786. He died on the 22d of

October, 1796, and was buried in the Moravian cemetery at the comer of

Franklin and Vine Streets. One of his daughters m. George Klein, printer,

of Carlisle, and another John Wyeth, printer, of Harrisburg, Pa.
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some other place in this State ; and that some inquiries have

been made of you, whether that honourable body could not

be accommodated here or at Xew York, I take this oppor-

tunity to inform you of the true state of Bethlehem, in re-

gard to its dwelling houses and present inhabitants. You
know our situation well enough, and that it would be impos-

sible to receive them, if they even were willing to submit to

many and great inconveniences.

Bethlehem has about thirty-six private dwelling houses, which

are inhabited by sixty one families, with their different trade

and workshops, so that many a family has but one single

room for themselves and their all. You know the public

buildings, as the meeting-house, schools, the houses of the

single brethren, single sisters, and widows,1 tavern, and mills,

are full of people ; and I may, with truth, observe that no

village or town in this State is so crowded with inhabitants

as Bethlehem now is. Xazareth is not much better ; and as

it lies nine miles nigher to the Blue Mountains, that settle-

ment is the first refuge of the settlers behind the mountains,

as soon as they fear the least danger on account of the In-

dians. Some have already fled to Nazareth (a few days ago),

and how many may follow them soon we cannot know.

Yet, if even the honourable Congress and its appendages

could find the necessary accommodations here and in the

neighborhood, which I know to be impossible, if they will

not live in tents, it would, in my humble opinion, be a dan-

gerous residence for them, as we are so nigh the mountains and

the Big Swamp, from which an enemy could with ease walk
in one night to Bethlehem. And such a treasure as the Con-

gress might be a great temptation for the Indians or their

desperate associates to make a sudden attempt upon the place,

if they were not cowed by a considerable force.

Dear Sir, I must beg the favor of you to be attentive in

this matter, and if you find that there is really such a notion

1 In 1770 Ettwein founded the " Widow's Society of Bethlehem," an asso-

ciation which since that time has conferred its silent charities upon a large

number of women.
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or motive, to make, in the name of the Brethren or in their

behalf, a representation against it, and cause, at least, an in-

spection into our situation and circumstances, before Congress

resolves to move into these parts. We should be very sorry

at the certain disappointment of the Congress in our [unintelli-

gible] that they may not distress the inhabitants of this little

place, disturb its happy constitution, and have nothing for

it but trouble, exposure, and disappointment.

I am, dear Sir, with love and respect,

JOHN ETTWEIN. 1

1 John Ettwein, a distinguished clergyman of the American Moravian

Church, b. Friedenstadt, Germany. In 1754 he was consecrated bishop, and

stood at the head of the church in Pennsylvania until his death in 1802.
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MARY WHITE—MRS. ROBERT MORRIS.

Ax Address delivered by request, at Sophia's Dairy, Harford Co.,

Maryland, June 7th, 1877, ox the occasion of the Reinterment

of the Remains of Colonel Thomas White, before a

Reunion of uis Descendants—Halls,

Whites, Morrises.

BY CHARLES HENRY HART.

I have been invited here to-day to perform not an easy task.

The life of a woman whose chief distinction is the prominence

of her husband, is not likely to be possessed of characteristics

and events, apart from him, of sufficient moment and interest

to be preserved alive for half a century after her decease, and

bear repeating at the end of that time. And yet this is a

grateful task ; for by performing it I hope to gratify that

most laudable desire of man's heart, to knowT something of his

progenitors, that, by imitating their virtues and transmitting

the same to his successors, he may help to improve and bene-

fit the human race. With this end and aim in view, I will

relate all I know of Mrs. Robert Morris—Marv, vounc;est

child of Thomas and Esther [Heulings] White. She was

born in the city of Philadelphia on the 13th day of April,

1749, and on the 21st of May was baptized at Christ Church.

Of her maidenhood, no incidents, even by tradition, are pre-

served, save in the opening verse of Colonel Shippen's "Lines

written in an Assembly Room" 1 to commemorate the beauty

and charms of Philadelphia's belle3, where he says :

—

" In lovely White's most pleasing form,

What various graces meet

!

How blest with every striking charm

!

How langnishingly sweet !"

She must, however, have been carefully trained and educated

in all wromaniy accomplishments to have enabled her to fill,

1 Shippen Papers, edited by Thomas Balch. Phila. 1855.
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with so much ease, and dignity, and grace, the position in

which she was afterwards placed.

On the second of March, 1769, hefore she was twenty, she

was united in marriage hy the Reverend Richard Peters, to

Robert Morris, the future financier of the American Revolu-

tion. Mr. Morris was a native of Great Britain, having heen

born in Liverpool on the 31st of January, 1734. His father,

also Robert Morris*, came to this country and settled at Ox-

ford, on the Eastern Shore of Maryland, where he died July

12th, 1750, when his son was in his seventeenth year. Robert

came to Philadelphia, and entered the counting-house of Mr.

Charles Willing, the first merchant of his day ; and in 1754,

at the age of twenty, formed a copartnership with his son,

Thomas Willing, which lasted a period of thirty-nine years,

and the firm of "Willing; k Morris became the best known and
largest importing house in the colonies. Early taking an

active interest in the welfare of the colonies, Mr. Morris wa3
appointed by the Assembly of Pennsylvania one of the dele-

gates to the second Congress, and entered upon a public career

bo well known as to render a relation of its details on this

occasion unnecessary.

Towards the close of the year 1776, when the British ap-

proached Philadelphia, and Congress retired to Baltimore,

Mr. Morris remained in the city as one of the committee in-

trusted with plenary power to perform all public acts. Mrs.

Morris followed the Congress, and took up her abode at this

very house where we are now assembled, and where her

mother and father were visiting her step-sister, Mrs. Hall,

and here she remained until the early part of the following

March. On the 20th of December she writes to Mr. Morris:
" I long to give you an account of the many difficulty's and
uneasyness we have experienced in this journey. Indeed, my
spirits were very unable to the task after that greatest con-

flict flying from home ; the sufferings of our poor little Tom
distressed us all, and without the affectionate assistance of Mr.
Hall and the skilfulness of Dr. Cole, whose services I shall

never forget, I don't know what might have been the conse-

quence, as it was a boil of an uncommon nature, and required
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the surgeon's hand. AVe had reason to apprehend, too, we
should lose our goods ; the many eireumstanees of this affair

I must leave till I see you, as neither my patience nor paper

will hold out. Ouly that Mr. Hall was obliged, when in a

few miles of his house, to return to Christiana and retake his

vessel, which he accomplished by the assistance of Mr. Han-

cock ; . . . . but after all the dangers, I've the pleasure to

inform you wTe are safely housed in this hospitable mansion."

In another part of the letter she writes :
" I thought I was

prepared for every misfortune ; for, as you observe, of late we
have little else. Yet when Lee is taken prisoner, who is

proof against those feelings his loss must occasion, and add

to that the triumph of our enemy's and the mortification his

sensibility must suffer, Mr. Hall has heard it contradicted

at Bush, and that Mr. Hancock thinks from the circumstance

it's a false report. God send it may be so, hut I've observed

pieces of bad news are seldom contradicted.'*'

On the 30th of the same month, upon receipt of the news

of the victory at Trenton, she writes to Mr. Morris :
" AYe

had been for many days impatiently wishing for a letter

from you, as the news we hear from any other quarter is not

to be depended on; but when the welcomed one arrived, which

brought those glad tidings, it more than compensated tor

what our late unfortunate circumstances prepared our minds

to expect, which was nothing more than our Army's being

on the defensive, and fearing least their numbers were not

even equal to that, but retreat as usual ; but I hope, indeed,

the tide is turned, and that our great Washington will have

the success his virtues deserve, and rout that impious army

who, from no other principle but that of enslaving this once

happy country, have prosecuted this Cruell War. My father

was greatly, thd
>

agreeably, affected at such good news, and I

was the happy means of making many joy full hearts, as we

had many guests added to our large Family to celebrate

Christmas. Mr. Hall is surprised he has not received orders

to March with his Battalion, but only to hold himself in

readiness." She again writes to him on the 15th of January,

after hearing of the Battle at Princeton : " I have received
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five of your letters since my last, besides Mr. Hall's, the con-

tents of which allmost petrified us ;—happy had we been had

the petrifaction reached our hearts, and made them proof

against our feelings in this day of Triall. 1 suppressed mine

all in my power, as I wish to make myself as agreeable as

possible to this family, and as they had invited a party of

young folks to a Twelfth Cake, I tryed to be cheerful ; how
could I be really so when hourly in expectation of hearing

the determination of so important a Battle, and when the

express arrived and pronounced Washington victorious, would

you believe it, your Molly could not join in the general re-

joicing? ISTo ! nor never can at a victory so dearly bought."

In her last letter to him before her return, written on the

journey, she writes : " We are all well in health, and in want

only of your Dear Company to be as happy as the state of our

country will admit off."

On March 15th, 1777, she writes to her " mamma" from

Philadelphia, addressed " To Mrs. White, at Aquila Hall's,

Esqr., near Bush Town, Maryland."—" Last Wednesday noon

I had the pleasure to arrive safe in dear Philadelphia, after a

much pleasanter journey than I expected from our setting off,

and it made me very happy to find myself at home after so

long an absence, with the terrible apprehensions we fled with

of never seems; it a^ain." In the same letter she writes :
" I

suppose Jemmy Hall has told you how everybody exclaims at

my thinness ; several of my acquaintances did not know me
till they had time to recollect, and then declared there was
very little traces of my former self." She concludes with:
" Duty to my father, and love to sister and Mr. Hall and all

the Hospitable Family, whose kindness to me and my exiled

family I shall never forget." In a postscript she adds:
" Billy has been told that the Congress appoint'd him their

Chaplain when in' Baltimore, but has not yet heard it from

them, and begs it may not be mentioned." The " Billy,"

here referred to was none other than her brother, the future

eminent prelate and father of the Protestant Episcopal Church
in this country, Bishop White. In a letter on April 1st, she

writes: "Mr. Hancock intends resigning hi3 seat in Con'
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gress, and going home ; it is imagined he will be appointed

Governor of Boston. They meant to have complimented Mr.

Morris with the Presidentship, hut he told the gentlemen

who informed him of it he could not serve, as it would inter-

fere entirely with his private business, and so begged it might

be dropped Don't you feel quite important? I as-

sure you I do, and begin to be reconciled to Independence."

Mrs. Morris had not been at home a month before fears of

the approach of Howe necessitated preparations, at least, for

seeking: safer refuse. She writes to her mother on the 14th

of April : " We are preparing for another flight in packing

up our furniture and removing them to a new purchase Mr.

Morris has made ten miles from Lancaster, no other than the

famous House that belonged to Stedman and Steigel at the

Iron Works, where, you know, I spent six weeks ; so am per-

fectly well acquainted with the goodness of the House and

situation. The reason Mr. Morris made this purchase, he

looks upon the other not secure if they come by water. I

think myself very lucky in having this Asylum, it being but

8 miles, fine road, from Lancaster, were I expect Mr. Morris

will be if he quits this, besides many of my friends and ac-

quaintances. So I now solicit the pleasure of your company

at this once famous place, Instead of Mennet, where, perhaps,

we may yet trace some vestages of the late owner's folly, and

may prove a useful lesson to us his successors." A fortnight

later she writes: "I am yet on dear Philadelphia ground,

but expect soon to inhabit the Hills, where we shall remain,

if possible, in the enjoyment of all that's beautiful to the eye

and grateful to the taste ; for, as if to add to our mortifica-

tion, are we obliged to leave it ; nature never appeared there

so lovely, nor promised such a profusion of her gifts. We
intend sending off our best furniture to Lancaster, with all

the linen we can spare, and stores of all kind, that our llight

may be attended with as few incumbrances as possible."

" The Hills" spoken of by Mrs. Morris in this last letter,

with so much fervor and admiration, was her summer resi-

dence which Mr. Morris had purchased in 1770, and laid out

in a style and manner unknown in this country at that day.





162 Mary White—Mrs. JRobcrt Morris.

After it passed out of his hands, it was called Lemon Hill,

and now forms that part of Fairmount Park, situate on the

east side of the Schuylkill river south of the Girard Avenue

Bridge, and north of the old water-works. Here he erected

the large house still standing on the knoll of the hill over-

looking the hoat houses of the Schuylkill Navy, together

with extensive hot-houses where he raised all kinds of trop-

ical fruit, a fish-pond, and an ice-house. The " hot-houses"

and the " ice-house" were the first introduced into the colo-

nies. The "famous house" near Lancaster, which Mr. Morris

bought, was none other than that built by the eccentric and

doubtful Baron Henry William Steigel, who came to America

about 1757, from Manheim, in Germany, and the following

year purchased from Charles and Alexander Stedman, of

Philadelphia, a portion of a large tract in Lancaster County,

where he laid out a town which he called from his native city,

Manheim. Here he built an iron furnace and extensive glass

works, and erected the magnificent mansion which Mrs. Mor-

ris mentions as her proposed refuge from the enemy should

they enter Philadelphia. " The Castle," as it was called, was

very large, and contained a chapel, where the " Baron" held

daily service. The wainscotings, mantel-pieces, and cornices

are described as having been very massive and rich, while

the arras-tapestry which covered the walls of the parlor, and

the porcelain tiles encircling the fire-place, were of the finest

order, specimens of each of which have been preserved to the

present time. To this " famous house," then, Mr. and Mrs.

Morris repaired, when in September, 1777, the near approach

of the British army obliged Congress to remove from Phila-

delphia, first to Lancaster, and afterward to York as a more

convenient place, and here they remained until after the

evacuation of the city by Sir Henry Clinton and his troops

early in the summer of 1778.

On the second of July, 1778, Congress reassembled in Phila-

delphia. At this period Benedict Arnold had command in

.the city. Mrs. Morris, writing to her mother in November,

says : " I know of no news, unless to tell you that we are

very gay is such. "We have a great many balls and enter-
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tainments, and soon the Assemblys will begin. Tell Mr. Hall

even our military gentlemen here are too liberal to make any

distinctions between Whig and Tory ladyes—if they make
any, it's in favor of the latter, such, strange as it may seem,

is the way those things are conducted at present in this city.

It originates at Head-quarters, and that I may make some

apology for such strange conduct, I must tell you that Cupid

has given our little General a more mortal wound than all the

host of Britons could, unless his present conduct can expiate

for his past—Miss Peggy Shippen is the fair one." This

lady, I need hardly say, became Mrs. Benedict Arnold, and
suffered with her husband all the ignominy his subsequent

actions heaped upon his wretched head.

In the month of September, 1779, Mrs. Morris was called

upon to mourn the loss of her father,—Col. Thomas White,
who died on the twenty-ninth instant, and to do reverence to

whose memory we are assembled here to-day. The event wa3
communicated to her in a letter1 enclosed in the following from
her brother to Mr. Morris :

—

Mr Dear Sir—The event wh. I prepared you to expect in

my letter of this morning took place at 8 o'clock this evening.

My dear Father's stupor returned at 4, and when he expired
it was without ye least pain. The enclosed you will deliver

whenever you think proper. You know your presence would
be a consolation to us ; but should you have leisure, there

will hardly be time for you to pay your respects to his re-

mains. They talk of Saturday.

I am, Dear Sir,

Your affectionate Friend and Brother,

W w- WHITE.
Wednesday Evening, 10 o'clock.

Three weeks later her mother wrote to her:—

My Dear Child—Yr. letter was doubly welcome, as it is a
long time since I had one from you, and my much altered
circumstances makes the filial notice of my children more

1 For letter to Mrs. Morris, see Yol. I., p. 436, Pa. Mao. of Hist, and Bioo.
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acceptable to me than ever, but you don't tell whether yr.

little fellows are come from Frederick. I think you said last

summer they were to come home in October. I should be

very sorry to miss seeing them, as it is not likely I shall go

up so soon as was expected, for Tommy Hall will not be

ready. It seems repugnant to ye laws of nature for me to

seek a home out of Philadelphia, and yet it is natural for

me to enquire how I shall be able to live there, the necessa-

ries of life here are exorbitant, and with you we are told they

are much higher, the two articles of house rent and firing

would be saved here, which is a great matter ; but there is a

providence who governs the world, and to be told we may
have a reliance on it, is so great a privilege that nothing but

its beins: a Dutv, could cause mankind to revolt from it.

I did not think that the late great event, as it was so long

expected, would have affected my spirits so much as it has

done. I don't know whether it is most wise or foolish to

wish you may never experience the same trial, as it is the

general lot to one to be the survivor. I would not have any-

body see the above, as it may cause a laugh at what was wrote

by one in tears. I was afraid some time ago yr. sister would

not long survive Mr. Hall, but she seems now out of danger,

tho' in a bad state of health. May you have all the blessings

this world can bestow, and when it has an end ten thousand

times ten thousand more than it is capable of giving, is the

prayer
Of your affectionate,

E. WHITE.
23 October, 1779.

Give my love to Mr. Morris, yr. brother, and Polly 'White.

Early in the year 1781, Congress became sensible of the ne-

cessity of erecting the several departments of the government,
similar to those which now exist, in order to give greater

strength and efficiency to their executive authority, and Rob-
ert Morris was placed at the head of that of finance, with the
title of Superintendent ; which position he filled until the first

of November, 1784, when he resigned. Mrs. Jay, on hearing
of the appointment, wrote to Mrs. Morris from Spain : " Txo
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circumstance of a public nature since my absence from Ame-
rica has given me greater satisfaction than Mr. Morris's ac-

ceptance of that important office which he at present holds

;

nor would you, my dear madam, even regret being so fre-

quently obliged to dispense with his company, if you could

be witness to the universal satisfaction it has diffused among

the friends of our country, but w ?

d (were you as malicious as

myself) even enjoy the confusion of our enemies upon the

occasion. Besides the public utility which must arise from the

measure, I have a peculiar pleasure, which results from the

more frequent mention of the person, from whose abilities and

integrity so much is expected, in terms the most grateful to

friendship. Your fears for Mr. Morris's health are, I own,

too well founded, and I think a little address to draw him
into the country, at least of evenings, would be patriotic."

This is not the place to depict the arduous duties which

this appointment imposed, but the wisdom of the choice was
amply justified by the result ; for it is very certain that no

other individual in the country combined so comprehensive a

knowledge of the subject with which he had to grapple, with

that firmness and decision of character and keen sense of

honor, which at once attract universal confidence. In con-

(senting to accept the office, Mr. Morris made it a condition

that he should have the power to appoint and remove at his

pleasure all subordinates connected in any way with his de-

partment, and it is a strking evidence of the respect in which

his personal qualities were held, that these terms were readily

complied with. Xo one requires to be informed of the effect

of his efforts in restoring the public credit,—no person could

have accomplished more than he did ; the only real cause of

wonder is, that with means so limited—in fact without any

public means at all—he could have done so much ;
but he put

his shoulder to the wheel, and the much needed end was gained.

The prominence which this appointment gave to Mr. Mor-

ris, his wealth, ability, and social position, made his home

the centre of all the amenity and civility of the day, and it is

as the hostess presiding over this establishment that we have

some of the most pleasing pictures of his wife.

Vol. ii.—12
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After the alliance with France, this country was visited hy

many Frenchmen of distinction, diplomats, officers, and citi-

zens, and all of them brought letters of introduction to Mr.

Morris, who was esteemed the representative man of the city.

From many of these foreigners we have published accounts

of their travels, and from them gain vivid pictures of society

in Philadelphia and other cities. There were Le Marquis de

Chastellux, L'Abbe Robin, Citizen Mazzei, Le Prince de

Broglie, Le Chevalier de la Luzerne, and many others. The

first of these, who was here in 1780, in speaking of Mr. Mor-

ris says: "Mr. Morris is a large man, very simple in his

manners, but his mind is subtle and acute, his head perfectly

well organized, and he is as well versed in public affairs as in

his own His house is handsome, resembling perfectly

the houses in London. He lives there without ostentation,

but not without expense, for he spares nothing which can

contribute to his happiness and that of Mrs. Morris, to whom
he is much attached." In another place, in describing an

entertainmeut at the Chevalier de la Luzerne's, he says:

" On passing into the dining-room, the Chevalier de la Lu-

zerne presented his hand to Mrs. Morris, and gave her the

precedence, an honor pretty generally bestowed on her."

The Prince de Broglie, wbose narrative was procured re-

cently in France by the late Mr. Thomas Balch, describes a

visit he made to Mrs. Morris in 1782, with considerable mi-

nuteness. " M. de la Luzerne conducted me to the house of

Mrs. Morris to take tea. She is the wife of the Comptroller

General of the United States. The house is simple but well

furnished and very neat. The doors and tables are of a su-

perb mahogany, and beautifully polished. The locks and

hinges in brass were curiously bright. The porcelain cups

were arranged with great precision. The mistress of the

house had an agreeable expression, and was dressed altogether

in white ; in fact, everything appeared charming to me. I

partook of most excellent tea, and I should be even now
drinking it, I believe, if the Ambassador had not charitably

notified me at the twelfth cup that I must put my spoon

across it when I wished to finish with this sort of warm
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water. He said to me : it is almost as ill bred to refuse a

cup of tea when it is offered to you, as it would be for the

mistress of the house to propose a fresh one when the cere-

mony of the spoon has notified her that we no longer wish to

partake of it."

The Chevalier de la Luzerne spoken of in each of these

narratives, who was the Ambassador from France, was on

terms of most familiar intercourse with the family of Mr.

Morris. I have before me an evidence of this in an invitation

to Mr. and Mrs. Morris and Miss Livingston, " together- with

the youngfamily of Mrs. Morris" to dine at Shoemaker's Place

on the following Saturday afternoon ; and it was from this

nobleman that Mr. Morris, on his personal credit, obtained

the twenty thousand pounds in specie which he sent to Wash-
ington, and enabled him to compel the capitulation of Corn-

wallis at Yorktown. The Miss Livingston mentioned in the

invitation was Catharine, daughter of Governor "William Liv-

ingston, of 2s"ew Jersev, and voun^er sister of the beautiful

Sarah Van Brugh Livingston, who became the wife of John
Jay. She afterwards married Matthew Ridley, an English-

man residing in Baltimore, a particular friend of Mr. Morris,

and under whose roof she most probably met him, as she

made one of the Morris family for several years, during the

absence of her sister in Europe, when Mr. Jay represented

the Confederation, first as Minister to Spain, and subsequently

in Paris as one of the Commissioners to arrange the definitive

treaty of peace. Mrs. Jay, writing to Mrs. Morris from

Madrid, under date of Sept. 1, 1780, says: "When I left

Philadelphia I did not also leave the remembrance of the

repeated instances of friendship which has endeared you to

me ; but had I been less sensible of them, surely your recent

kindness to my dear Kitty could not fail of awakening my
gratitude. Accept, my dear Mr. and Mrs. Morris, of my sin-

cere thanks for your kindness to my sister; believe me,
nothing has given me more pleasure than the happiness she-

has enjoyed under your hospitable roof."

These heartfelt words of Mrs. Jay were doubtless called

forth by the letter she had received from her sister written
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the previous July, in which she says :
" In our last distresses

from the invasion of the British troops, Mr. and Mrs. Morris

sent for rue to come and live with them. It was exceedingly

friendly ; and it is certainly no small alleviation to our in-

felicities to have such friends as can feel for us, and hy their

kind endeavors soothe our troubled bosoms to peace and

tranquillity. They have at present a delightful situation

—

Springsberry. Mr. Morris has enlarged the buildings, and

converted the green-house into a dining-room, which far ex-

ceeds their expectations in beauty and convenience/'

The last day of summer, 1781, was a gala day in Philadel-

phia. The military were out and the whole city astir. Gen-

eral Washington was coming, and with him the Count de

Rochambeau and other foreign and American officers of -con-

sideration, who were all on their way to join Lafayette near

Yorktown, hoping, with the aid of De Grasse, who was

hourly expected with his fleet, to capture Cornwallis and his

army. At mid-day the general reached the suburbs, where

he was met by a large number of people and escorted to the

City Tavern, where he held an impromptu reception. From
thence he went to the residence of Mr. Morris, who enter-

tained the eminent officers and their staffs, together with

many citizens, at dinner. In the evening the city was illumi-

nated in honor of the distinguished visitors. A recent writer

has said :
" Justly fell to Eobert Morris the honor of enter-

taining General Washington on this occasion ; for it was to

him the general owed the possibility of this sudden transfer

of the army to Virginia Xext to Washington the

country owes the triumph at Yorktown to Robert Morris."

In the foil of this same year Mr. Morris sent his two elder

sons, Robert and Thomas, aged respectively twelve and ten

years, to Europe, under the care of Mr. Mathew Ridley, be-

fore mentioned, for the purpose of being educated. They

took with them a letter from their father to Dr. Franklin

at Paris, in w^hich Mr. Morris gives his reason for sending

them to be that " the interruption given to the progress of

learning, the distresses which the several seminaries in this

country have undergone the various lucrative employments
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to which masters and tutors have been invited in the progress of

the present war, are circumstances which operate powerfully

to the disadvantage of the present race of American youth, and

which have induced me to take the determination of educating

my two eldest sons, Robert and Thomas, in Europe." They

carried with them also a letter from Mrs. Sarah Bache, Dr.

Franklin's only daughter, to her son Benjamin Franklin

Bache, who was being educated abroad, at the tender age of

twelve, under his grandfather's care. In it she says :
" My

dear Benny :—This letter will be handed to you by the Master

Morris's, who, you may remember, came to take leave of you

the morning you left us. I am particularly happy in their

going to Geneva, as I am sure it will give you great pleasure

to see two old Friends, and have them go to the same school

with you. Their Father and yours have the strongest Friend-

ship for each other. I hope it will be the same with their

sons, and that you will let them have a share in your heart

with [unintelligible]. You will, I make no doubt, do every-

thing in your power, to make Geneva agreeable to them ; they

are very clever boys, and will be strangers there compared

with you."

They were placed to school in Geneva, where they re-

mained five years, making during the vacations brief visits

in the vicinity. One of these visits was to Paris the next

year, which they passed with their mother's friend, Mrs.

Jay, who wrote :
" Your little sons, by passing their holiday

with me, made me very happy. Robert so exceedingly re-

sembles Mr. Morris, that I feel for him a respect mingled with

my love ; tho' at the same time I regret his distance from his

father's example and counsel. Tommy (who is likewise a

fine boy) told me that his last letters mentioned Hetty's and

Maria's illness. I hope they are.now quite recovered, as wrell

as my dear Kitty. Will you embrace them for me?"
In the summer of 1786, under the tutelage of M. de Basse-

ville, they went to Germany, and entered the University of

Leipsic, where they remained nearly two years, returning

home in the spring of 1788. The letters written during their

absence, to them and to their tutor, by their father, are not
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only fraught with good parental advice, but indicate and lay

down a course and system of study, showing mature considera-

tion, and a knowledge of the subject truly remarkable.

On the 25th of May, 1787, there met in Philadelphia the

memorable Convention called together to frame a Constitution

for the United States. To this body Mr. Morris, who had

eleven years before affixed his bold signature to the Declara-

tion of Independence, was a delegate, and it was upon his

motion that George Washington was unanimously chosen to

preside over its deliberations. To his sons at Leipsic Mr.

Morris wrote June 25 :
" General Washington is now our

guest, having taken up his abode at my house during the

time he is to remain in this city. He is President of a con-

vention of* Delegates from the Thirteen States of America,

who have met here for the purpose of revising, amending,

and altering the Federal Government. There are gentlemen

of great abilities employed in this Convention, many of whom
were in the first Congress, and several that were concerned in

forming: the Articles of Confederation now about to be altered

and amended. You, my children, ought to pray for a successful

issue to their labours, as the result is to be a form of Govern-

ment under which you are to live, and in the administration

of which you may hereafter probably have a share, provided

you qualify yourselves by application to your studies. The

laws of nations, a knowledge of the Germanic System, and

the constitutions of the several governments in Europe, and

an intimate acquaintance with antient and modern history,

are essentially necessary to entitle you to participate in the

honor of serving a Free People in the administration of their

Government."

Soon after the adjournment of the Convention, Mr. Morri3

visited Virginia in company with Mr. Gouverneur Morris, on

matters of private business, where he was absent more than

six months. The letters which passed between Mr. and Mrs.

Morris during this period have fortunately been preserved,

and show a cultivation and ease in epistolary composition

now comparatively unknown. His first letter, written from

Baltimore on his journey southward, contains a reference of
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considehible interest on this occasion. lie writes :
" We

arrived here last night all well, after a pleasant journey with-

out any accident, and with fine weather and good roads. . . .

I saw J. Hall at Havre de Grace. Charlotte Hall was at his

house, but being dark and our journey having fatigued, we
did not go thither. They were all very well, and next morn-

ning we visited the mansion of Mr. Hall ; unluckily he had
gone off (half an hour before we arrived) to a Plantation of

his on the other side of Bush River. We were very gra-

ciously, I may say affectionately, received by three charming

young ladies, Miss Molly, Patty, and Sophia. They gave us

good breakfast and a hearty welcome, inquired particularly

after you, and I pressed Molly to go up immediately with

one of her sisters, and pass the winter with you, assuring

them that was your wish, and that you would be exceed-

ingly glad of their company. I flatter myself you will have

them for companions for this winter, and I need not tell you

how much I bid them welcome on my part. If Molly Hall

does go up, I desire that you will engage Mr. Reinagle to

teach her on the Harpsichord, and that you pay the expense

;

do this in the most delicate manner, such as I am sure your

goodness of heart will dictate."

During her husband's absence, Mrs. Morris was made glad

by the return from Europe of her sons Robert and Thomas,

and it was during this same period that the clouds began to

gather around the horizon of Mr. Morris's successful financial

career. In October, 1788, he was again called into public

life, by being elected by the Assembly to represent Pennsyl-

vania in the first Senate of the United States, which was con-

vened in Xew York on the 4th of March, 1789. On the very

day of the meeting he writes to Mrs. Morris :

u I arrived safe

here at 7 o'clock this morning, before Mr. Constable was up.

.... We met the members that are now in this city from

the other States, opened the two houses by entering on the

minutes the names of those who appeared, and adjourned

until to-morrow at Eleven O'clock. There were only Eight

Senators and thirteen assembly men, and before we can pro-

ceed to business there must be twelve Senators and thirty
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members of assembly Last niglit they fired 13 cannon

from the Battery here over the Funeral of the Confederation,

and this morning they saluted the new Government with 11

Cannon, being one for each of the States that have adopted

the Constitution. The Flag was hoisted on the Fort, and

Federal Colours were displayed on the top of the New Edifice

and at several other places of the City ; this, with ringing of

Bells and Crowds of People at the meeting of Congress, gave

the air of a grand Festival to the 4th of March, 1789, which,

no doubt, will hereafter be celebrated as a new Era in the

Annals of the World."

Congress did not organize for business until the eighth of

April, and on the thirtieth, Washington was inaugurated the

first President of the United States. Mrs. Washington did

not accompany the general to New York, but on Tuesday,

the nineteenth of May, accompanied by her grandchildren

Eleanor and George Washington Parke Custis, set out in her

private carriage for the seat of government. She received

ovations all along the route, and on Thursday, when she

reached Gray's Ferry, just outside of the city, she was met
by Mrs. Morris, whose guest she was to be, and accompanied

by her, entered the city escorted by a large concourse of mili-

tary and citizens. On reaching High (Market) Street, near

the residence of Mrs. Morris, she was greeted by the ringing

of bells, the discharge of thirteen guns from a park of artil-

lery, and the cheering shouts of an immense concourse of

joyous people. Mrs. Washington remained with Mrs. Morris

until the following Monday, and then departed for New
York, taking with her Mrs. Morris and her daughter Maria

in her carriage, as her guests. They were met on Wednesday
at Elizabethtown by the President and Mr. Morris, an4
crossed over to New York on the President's barge. On Fri-

day, the 29th of May, Mrs. Washington gave her first levee,

at which Mrs. Morris was present, occupying the first place,

on her right, and at all of her subsequent levees in New York
and afterwards in Philadelphia, when present, Mrs. Morris

occupied the honored place, as also did Mr. Morris when a
guest at the public or private dinners given by Washington.
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Mrs. Morris remained in New York with her husband

until the fifth of July, when she returned home, he being de-

tained at the seat of government by his senatorial duties. On
the 17th he writes to her: " I have received your very pleas-

ing letter of the 10th hist., and was made very happy in read-

ing the narrative of your journey, of your reception at Gen-

eral Dickinson's, the Delaware Works, and, above all, in

Market Street." A few days later he writes :
" I paid a visit

at the President's on Friday Evening (it is the only one I

have paid since we parted). He is mended much in appear-

ance and reality,—the Doctors, however, have had another cut

at him, which has been very useful,—both he and Mrs. Wash-

ington were very particular in their enquiries after you, about

your journey, and were pleased to hear that you had got safe

home. Nelly Custis asked after Maria, and Mrs. Washing-

ton and the President after both Hetty and Maria."

Mainly through Mr. Morris's exertions the seat of govern-

ment was removed the next year to Philadelphia. As soon as

it was settled definitely that the removal should take place,

Mr. Morris, whose residence on High Street east of Sixth Street

was the finest private residence in the city, offered it for tbe

presidential mansion. It was built of brick, three stories

high, and the main building was forty-five feet six inches

wide by fifty-two feet deep, and the kitchen and wash-house

twenty feet wide by fifty-five feet deep, while the stables

would accommodate twelve horses. The front of the house

displayed four windows on the second and third floors, two

on either side of the main hall, and on the first floor three

windows, and a single door approached by three heavy gray

stone steps. On each side of the house were vacant lots used

as p, garden, and containing trees and shrubbery. This prop-

erty Mr. Morris bought in August, 1785, and rebuilt the

house, which had been destroyed by fire New Year's day,

1780. When completed, he removed from his residence on

Front Street below Dock Street, which he had occupied be-

fore and during the dark days of the revolutionary struggle.

Washington wrote from Philadelphia, on his way to Mt.

Vernon, to his Secretary, Tobias Lear, at New York : " The
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house of Mr. Robert Morris had, previous to my arrival, been

taken by the corporation for my residence. It is the best

they could get. It is, I believe, the best single house in the

city. Yet without additions it is inadequate to the commo-

dious accommodation of my family." He subsequently wrote

to Lear from Mt. Vernon :
" Mr. and Mrs. Morris have in-

sisted upon leaving the two large looking-glasses which are

in their best rooms, because they have no place, they say,

proper to remove them to, and because they are unwilling to

hazzard taking them down. You will therefore let them

have, instead, the choice of mine Mrs. Morris has a

mangle (I think it is called) for ironing clothes, which, as it

is fixed in the place where it is commonly used, she proposes

to leave and take mine. To this I have no objection, pro-

vided mine is equally good and convenient ; but if I should ob-

tain any advantages besides that of its being up and ready for

use, I am not inclined to receive it Mrs. Morris, who
is a notable lady in family arrangement, can give you much
information on all the conveniences about the house and

buildings, and I dare say would rather consider it as a com-

pliment to be consulted in those matters, as she is near, than

a trouble to give her opinion of them." On yielding up his

own residence to the President, Mr. Morris removed into the

house at the southeast corner of Sixth and Market Streets,

which had been built by the loyalist Joseph Galloway, and

confiscated to the State on account of his adhesion to the

British crown. Mr. Morris purchased it from the Executive

Council of Pennsylvania shortly after he had purchased the

presidential mansion, to which it adjoined.

The President and Mrs. Washington arrived in Philadel-

phia from Mt. Vernon towards the end of November, and

took possession of their house, where on Christmas night the

first levee in Philadelphia was given. The close friendship

which existed between Mr. Morris and the chief soon spread

to their respective families, and an intimacy was engendered

which neither misfortune nor time could diminish. That

Robert Morris was Washington's most intimate friend—the

man who entered nearest to his heart, and to whom he most
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unbended—is proverbially well known, and the following

ineident of his last levee, held a few days before his retiring

from the presidency, has been preserved and handed down by

an eye-witness i
1 " Washington received his guests, standing

between the windows in his back drawing-room. The com-

pany, entering a front room and passing through an unfolding

door, made their salutations to the President, and turning

off, stood on one side. His manner was courteous, of course,

but always on these occasions somewhat reserved. lie did

not give his hand, but merely bowed, which was the mode
for that day. Mr. Morris came in, and when the President

saw him entering the room, he advanced to meet him, and

shook him heartily by the hand : Mr. Morris, in allusion

partly, perhaps, to the day which may have been cloudy, but

more to the event, repeating as he came forward the lines :

—

4 The day is overcast, the morning lowers,

And heavily in clouds brings on the day

—

The great, the important day.'
"

On the 4th of March, 1797, Washington's second term ex-

pired with the installation of John Adams into the executive

chair. The day preceding he had given a farewell dinner, at

which both Mr. and Mrs. Morris were present. Bishop

White, who was also one of the guests, says :
" During the

dinner much hilarity prevailed ; but on the removal of the

cloth it was put an end to by the President, certainly without

design. Having filled his glass, he addressed the company,

with a smile on his countenance, saying :
4 Ladies and gentle-

men, this is the last time I shall drink your health as a public

man ; I do it with sincerity, wishing you all possible happi-

ness.' There was an end to all pleasantry, and there was not a

dry eye among the company." He showed his esteem for Mrs.

Morris by presenting her with a small profile portrait of him-

self, by the Marchioness de Brehan, with this autograph pre-

sentation :
" The President's compliments accompany the in-

closed to Mrs. Morris."

We now approach near to the period of her husband's great

financial misfortunes, brought on bv his striving: after lar<ze

possessions and his misplaced confidence in one of his asso-

1 The late Hon. John B. Wallace.
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ciates. lie purchased, at merely nominal prices, varying from

a few cents to a dollar an acre, many millions of acres of un-

seated lands in the several States of the Union, some indi-

vidually and others in conjunction with John Nicholson and
James Greenleaf, with whom he subsequently organized the

North American Land Company in February, 1795. Early

in the following year Morris and Nicholson found that they

had joined their fortunes with the wrong man, and endeavored

to extricate themselves by purchasing his interest, but alas I

too late ; the evil seed planted by Greenleaf was too wide-

spread, and had taken too deep root, to be killed out and

eradicated, and thus by his dishonest and rascally conduct

was Robert Morris dragged under and sacrificed. In the

autumn of 1796, Mr. Morris passed some time in Washington,

or, as it was then called, " The Federal City,"—where Major

L'Enfant, who had been the architect of the enormous pile,

partly erected, on the square bounded by Seventh Street,

Eighth Street, Chestnut Street, and ^Valnut Street, and

known as " Morris's Folly," was engaged in laying out the

city plans,—endeavoring to dispose of lots, a large number of

which Mr. Morris had purchased when it was decided that

there should be the permanent capitol of the country.

Finally the crisis came on the fifteenth of February, 1798.

On that day he was arrested at the suit of one Charles Eddy,

and from " the Hills" he writes to Nicholson :
" I am here in

custody of a sheriff's officer. Charles Eddy is the most hard-

ened villain God ever made. I believe if I had bank bills to

pay him with he would refuse them on the ground of their

not being a legal tender." The next day he was taken to. the

debtor's apartment of the old Prune Street Prison, where he

was confined until liberated by the operation of the General

Bankrupt Law on the twenty-sixth of August, 1801, after

undergoing an imprisonment of three years, six months, and

ten days. The country for whose independence, safety, and

salvation he had pledged and given his private fortune in the

hour of its deepest depression and most desperate need, for-

got him when adversity crowded upon him, and neither by

word, act, or deed helped to alleviate the burden of his un-

fortunate situation. The Congress which, without his aid,
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never would have had an existence to hold a session, sat

within the shadow of his prison walls, but lifted not a

voice or hand to save him. Yet one, noble above all, did not

forget him. His great compeer, with Trenton and Yorktown
fresh in his mind, remembered who had given him the gold

which o;ave the two decisive conflicts of the war. In a letter

written by Washington to Mrs. Eliza Powell, he says: "Poor

Mrs. Morris I I feel much for her situation ; and earnestly

pray that Mr. Morris may, and soon, work through all his

difficulties ; in which I am persuaded that all who know him
heartily join me ; as they do, that their ease, quiet, and domes-

tic enjoyments may be perfectly restored." Late in 1798,

when Washington visited Philadelphia to collect and organize

an army, at the time that the relations with France made
such a measure necessary, "he paid his first visit to the

prison-house of Robert Morris." Xor was this all. The fol-

lowing year Mrs. Morris, with her daughter Maria, visited

her eldest daughter Hetty—Mr3. James Marshall, of Vir-

ginia, and while there received the following cordial and

gratifying joint letter :

—

" Mount Vernon, September 21, 1799.

" Our Dear Madam—We never learnt with certainty, until

we had the pleasure of seeing Mr. White (since his return

from Frederick), that you were at Winchester.

We hope it is unnecessary to repeat in this place how
happy we should be to see you and Miss Morris under our

roof for as long a stay as you shall find convenient before you
return to Philadelphia ; for be assured we ever have and still

do retain the most affectionate regard for you, Mr. Morris, and

the family.

With the highest esteem and regard, and best wishes for

the health and happiness of the family you are in, we are,

Dear Madam,
Your most obedient and very

Humble servants,

GO. WASHINGTON,
MARTHA WASHINGTON.

To Mrs. Morris,

in Winchester."
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This flattering invitation reached Mrs. Morris just as she

was starting for Philadelphia, whither she had been called by

the breaking out of the malignant fever of 1799. Mr. Morris

wrote to his son Thomas on the seventh of September: " My
good health continues, altho' our city is again afflicted wiih

sickness. I have, however, got an order of Court for my re-

moval into the country when I shall deem my present situation

dangerous; and in consequence thereof I believe Robert will

go next week to Winchester to bring back your mother and

Maria." This was the third visit of the fever; during that of

the previous year Mrs. Morris lost her third son, "William, who
died October 9th, 1798, in his twenty-seventh year. Mr. Mor-

ris communicates it to Thomas the next day in a letter full of

feeling: "In the midst of grief and distress I write these

lines, altho' they will make you a participator of it. Could

the event be kept from your knowledge I would spare your

friendly feelings for the loss of a worthy brother. Poor Wil-

liam, he has fallen the untimely victim of a billious remitting

fever (not the prevailing Malignant Fever) which has been

hanging about him for a month past ; during that time he

lived low and took medicine, but without effect, and last

Friday night he was seriously attacked ; two able Physicians

did all they could for him, but in vain. He died yesterday

in the forenoon, and his body was immediately deposited in

the Family Vault at Christ Church. I have lost in him not

only a dutiful son, but a friend and companion ; I have lost

those hopes which were hang upon his sense, virtue, and

talents. Had he been spared, he would have made a fine

figure in this world. The only comfort left upon his subject,

that he is translated pure and uncontaminated from this

world of trouble to enjoy that bliss which is promised in

another to the virtuous." This young man showed consider-

able promise, if an opinion may be formed from the letters

he addressed to his parents from London and Paris in the

years '94 and '95. They disclose an observing and discrimi-

nating mind, improved by no little taste and cultivation.

During the confinement of Mr. Morris, his faithful and de-

voted wife and daughter, Maria, were his constant companions.
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Day after day Mrs. Morris visited the prison, and dined at

the cell-table of her unfortunate but noble husband, and while

the malignant fevers which raged terribly in Prune Street

infested the city, she never left him, but continued her daily

visits until she walked through two rows of coffins, piled from

floor to ceiling, in reaching his room. AVith death around

him and beside him, in this, its more direful form, he had no

personal fear. To John Xicholson he writes October loth,

1798 :
" It is wonderful, but, notwithstanding the danger is

now at my chamber door,—for Homer is in the room I for-

merly occupied,—I feel no kind of apprehension, and my
only anxiety is for my wife and daughter and these poor

sick people. I hope my life will be spared, for the sake of

my family, until I get my affairs settled." Three days later

he says to the same correspondent: " I think of moving out

of my room into that formerly occupied by Dr. Huston, in

the back part of the house ; if I do this, it is to give some

comfort to Mrs. Morris, whose distress pierces my heart. As
to myself, I cannot feel afraid or alarmed at the neighborhood

of this disease, although I have tried." By the care of a

beneficent Providence he was guarded and protected through

the ravages of this fell destroyer.

At last Mr. Morris was released from prison. On " Mon-

day morning, August 27th, 1801," he writes to his son

Thomas : " As I know the contents of this letter will be very

pleasing to you and your family, I embrace the first oppor-

tunity to tell you that I obtained my liberty last evening, and

had the inexpressible satisfaction to find myself again restored

to my home and family." Alas ! what a far difierent home

he entered to the one he left. Mrs. Morris at this period

was living in a small establishment on the east side of

Twelfth Street, midway between Market and Chestnut

Streets, which she had been enabled to keep together through

the instrumentality of Mr. Gouverneur Morris, who, not a

relative, was the best true friend Robert Morris ever had.

The title to the four tracts containing three million three

hundred thousand acres in the Gene=ee country, which had

been conveyed to the Holland Land Company by Mr. Morris

in 1792 and 1793, proved defective and required confirming,
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for which Gouverneur Morris compelled the company to pay

Mrs. Morris an annuity of fifteen hundred dollars during her

life, and this was all she had upon which to live. Compare
this picture with those we have presented of a decade and a

score of years hefore. Here, a hroken-down old man, in his

sixty-eighth year, without one cent that he can call his own,

only protected from the storms of heaven by a roof preserved

through the thoughtful instrumentality of an old friend.

There, the first man of the city—the first in wealth, in influ-

ence, and in position—receiving and entertaining Washington
and the officers of the allied armies on their way to the

crowning success of the war ; and again when the city of his

adoption becomes the capital of the Union, yielding up his

private residence—the most magnificent in the city—for the

presidential mansion. These vast changes he survived not

quite five years. On the seventh of May, 1806, he was re-

leased from the harassing cares of this mortal life, and found

a resting-place in the family vault, Christ Church, Second

Street, Philadelphia.

Mr. Morris was a man of remarkable presence—large in

stature, and with a countenance peculiarly open and noble; he

impressed all who approached him with the force of his char-

acter and the strength of his ability. There are portraits of him
painted by Peale, Pine, Trumbull, and Stuart. He possessed

a mind as vigorous and strong as his body

—

mens sana in cor-

pore sano. He wrote with a clearness, purity, and strength

which is only equalled by the volume of his correspondence

;

the number of letters which he wrote with his own hand, in

the midst of the most engrossing public and private duties,

being almost miraculous. He was a genial man, fond of good
cheer, and delighted in sprightly conversation and sparkling

wit. That he was warm-hearted, noble, and generous, his

whole life evidences. On this occasion, let me read to you the

tender affectionate words he wrote to Gouverneur Morris at

Paris, informing him of Mrs. White's death :

—

Philadelphia, Jan'y 2d, 1791.

My Dear Friend—I have just parted from my family,
who are all in mourning. Old Mrs. White, my wife's mother,
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now lies a corpse in her own house. She expired on Friday

evening, the 31st ult., after a short illness, occasioned by a

severe cold taken accidentally, and treated with neglect until

woo late. She did not suffer much pain, and being in her 71st

year, her end was to be looked for; but notwithstanding

these circumstances it came unexpectedly, and therefore has

given a greater shock to the feelings of her two children than

otherwise it would. My wife told me a while ago, when I

mentioned that I had been writing to you, that she recol-

lected you having often professed a regard and esteem for her

mother, and therefore requested me to mention the decease to

you. The old lady was a sensible, good woman, and as such,

exclusive of all considerations of connection, I valued and re-

spected her exceedingly.

We have ever been on terms of the most friendly inter-

course, and I regret the los3 of her as much as if she had been

my own mother. Her daughter grieves at the loss, but has

too much sense and too much integrity of mind to make pa-

rade of grief. To-morrow we shall attend her remains to the

grave, at least myself and my children will ; but I do not intend

that Mrs. Morris shall, for the weather is extreamly cold, and

I do not choose that she should risque her health. I hope,

my dear Governeur, that you and I may live long enough

to meet again in this world. I declare to you, if I were to

indulge a doubt of it, my happiness would be much dimin-

ished, and my stock of happiness has already been so much
curtailed by adversity that I can spare very little of the little

now left.

I hope that you may long be spared an ornament of your

species ; an honor to humanity, and be permitted the full en-

joyments of all the happiness that man is capable of. Pare-

well. You never had nor ever will have a more sincere

Friend than
EOB'T. MORRIS.

Mr. Morris possessed considerable taste for the fine arts,

and encouraged them liberally. For Robert Edge Pine, the

English portrait painter, he built a house on Eighth Street,

Vol. ii.—13
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below Market, adapted for the exhibition of his pictures and

the piosecution of his painting. He aided Jardella, an Italian

sculptor of no mean merit, to establish himself in Philadel-

phia, and during the French Revolution he imported some

of the finest Gobelin tapestry and French marquetry work
ever brought to this country. His will, written by his own
hand two years before his death, closes with these philo-

sophical remarks:

—

" Here I have to express my regret at having lost a very

large fortune acquired by honest industry, which I had long

hoped and expected to enjoy with my family during my own
life, and then to distribute it among those of them that

should outlive me. Fate has determined otherwise, and we
must submit to the decree, which I have endeavored to do

with patience and fortitude."

Such is a portraiture of the man whom Mary White mar-

ried, and whom she survived twenty-one years.

After the death of her husband, Mrs. Morris removed to

Chestnut Street, above Tenth, on the south side, and here she

resided when Lafayette made his famous tour through the

States in 1824. He arrived in Philadelphia on Tuesday

morning, September 29th, and was tendered the grandest ova-

tion he received during his visit as the nation's guest. On
the evening of his arrival he called upon Mrs. Morris, making
her his first private call in the city, thus showing the deep

affection and respect which a separation of thirty-seven years,

amid the vicissitudes of momentous times and the fearful

events of the French Revolution, could not erase. At his

especial personal request, she attended the grand civic ball

given in his honor at the new Chestnut Street Theatre, on the

night of Monday, October 5th. She was at this time in her

seventy-sixth year. On Tuesday, the sixteenth of January,

1827, she joined her beloved husband in the unknown land

of departed spirits, and was buried in the family vault.

Without the attractions of beauty, Mrs. Morris possessed

the highest qualities of mind and heart. She was tall, grace-

ful, and commanding, with a stately dignity of manner which
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ever made a controlling impression upon all with whom she

was brought in contact. There are three portraits of her

;

one, an execrable thing by Charles Wilson Peale, in Indepen-

dence Hall ; the second, a beautiful miniature by Trumbull,

painted about 1790, in the possession of her granddaughter,

Mrs. Ambler; and the third, an unfinished head, by Gilbert

Stuart, in the gallery of the Lenox Library, Xew York, painted

shortly before her death, and said to be the last female head

Stuart painted. From an obituary which appeared some time

after her decease, I extract the following :

—

" On Tuesday, the 16th inst., departed this life, in the 78th

year of her age, Mrs. Mary Morris, relict of Robert Morris,

Esq., formerly a member of the Legislature of this Common-
wealth, a member of Congress long before the Declaration

of Independence, of which instrument he was one of the

signers, the Minister of Finance during the latter years of the

Revolutionary War, a member of the Convention which estab-

lished the present Constitution of the United States, and a

Senator in the first Congress after its adoption.

" His deceased widow, after having enjoyed with him with-

out arrogance the wealth and the honours of the early and

the middle years of his life, descended with him, without

repining, to the privations incident to the reverses of his for-

tune towards the close of it. Since his decease, some of the

liveliest of her gratifications were the occasions frequently

occurring of civilities and services tendered to her by men
who dated the beginnings of their successes in their respective

occupations to the patronage and the aids furnished to them

by her deceased husband in the course of his successful pur-

suits of commerce, some of whose names had been unknown
to her until the occasions which called forth the expressions

of their gratitude.

" Having lived in the unostentatious profession of religion,

and in the faithful discharge of her relative duties, she met

the event of death with entire resignation; and, as is trusted,

with a well-grounded hope of the mercy of God, through the

merits of the Redeemer."





184 Mary White—3Irs. Robert Jforris.

Mr. and Mrs. Morris had seven children, the record of

whose births I read from the entries made by Mr. Morris in

the family Bible :

—

" March 2d, 17G9. Robert Morris was married to Mary, his

wife.

" Decern 'r 19th, 1769, was born Robert, their son, at J be-

fore 11 o'clock at night.

"Feb'y 26, 1771, Thos., their second son, was born at 7

o'clock in the evening.

" Aug'st 9th, 1772, "William, their third son, was born at

10 o'clock in the evening.

"July 30, 1774, Hetty, their daughter, was bom at J pa3t

one o'clock at night.

" July 11th, 1777, Charles, their fourth son, was born at 10

o'clock at night.

" April 24, 1779, Maria, their second daughter, was born at

7 o'clock in the morning.

"July 24,1784, Henry, their fifth son, was born at half

after three o'clock in the morning."
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SKETCH OF THE LIFE OF GOUVERNEUR MORRIS.

BY CATHARINE KEPPELE MEREDITH.

(Centennial Collection.)

Richard, the original member of the Morris family who
came to America, bought an estate of more than three thou-

sand acres near the city of New York, which was invested

with manorial privileges by the Governor, and called Mor-

risania. He died in 1673, leaving an only son, Lewis, who
took an active part in public affairs, and was Governor of Xew
Jersey during the last eight years of his life. He had twelve

children, of whom two, Lewis and Robert Hunter, engaged in

public life. Lewis Morris, last mentioned, son of the Gover-

nor, had eight children ; Gouverneur, the youngest son by a

second marriage, being born at Morrisania, January 31st, 1752.

This second marriage served to alienate some of the family,

especially the elder children, with whom there was little

intercourse for many years ; although, eventually, the breach

was healed.

Lewis Morris died before Gouverneur was twelve years of

age, but, in pursuance of the wish expressed in his father's

will, " that my son Gouverneur Morris may have the best

education that is to be had in England or America," his

mother sent him, when still very young, to live with a French

family at Xew Rochelle. Here he learnt, among other things,

the rudiments of the French language, which proved so use-

ful to him in after life. After going through the usual school

course, he graduated from Columbia College, in the city of

Kew York, in May, 1768, at the age of sixteen. Subse-

quently he studied law under William Smith, afterwards

Chief Justice of the Province of Xew York, and was admit-

ted to the bar in October, 1771, being not quite twenty years

of age.

From the beginning of his career, Gouverneur Morris took
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a lively interest in public affairs, and, in common with many

of the best men of his time, thought a reconciliation possible

between the colonies and the mother country. But this view

was somewhat modified by the news of the Battle of Lexing-

ton, which filled Xew York, as well as every other part of

the country, with the gravest apprehension. The committee

of Kew York City addressed circular letters to the several

committees in the colony, calling upon them to elect delegates

to meet in a Provincial Congress. In three short weeks the

elections had been held, and the Congress was convened in

K*ew York City on May 22d, 1775, with Gouverneur Morris

to represent the county of West Chester. He continued, al-

most without interruption, a member of this body under its

different names of Congress, Convention, and Committee of

Safety, until he went to the Continental Congress about three

years later.

He entered heartily into the work of the Provincial Con-

gress, serving on several committees, the most important of

which being one to draft and report a plan of reconciliation

with England, this hope having not yet entirely died out.

But the next year, when the resolution of the Continental

Congress recommending a new form of government came up
for consideration in the Xew York Congress, Gouverneur

Morris, although only twenty-four years of age, spoke with

force and ability. " Sir," he said, " these and ten thousand

other reasons all serve to convince me that to make a solid

and lasting peace, with liberty and security, is utterly im-

practicable. My argument, therefore, stands thus : As a con-

nection with Great Britain cannot again exist without enslav-

ing America, an independence is absolutely necessary. I

cannot balance between the two. We run a hazard in one

path, I confess ; but then we are infallibly ruined if we pursue

the other."

Morris was soon after sent to the Continental Congress on a

special mission having reference to the excess of pay given to

the !N"ew England regiments, which naturally caused discon-

tent among the troops from New York and the other middle
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colonies. The removal of the inequality soon set at rest the

jealousy which had hecn stirred up.

New York was the last State to sign the Declaration of

Independence, her delegates in Congress not being empowered
to act independently of the New York Convention. But no

time was lost. The Convention met at White Plains on July

9th. The same day a copy of the Declaration of Independence

was received, and a resolution of approval passed. To Gouv-

erneur Morris was entrusted the drafting of the reply which

was sent to the New York delegates in the Continental Con-

gress.

He likewise took an active part in the debates relative to

forming a State Constitution for New York, the mode of

electing delegates to Congress originating- with him. It isO O CD Cj <~D

worthy of note that he earnestly endeavored to introduce an

article recommending the future Legislature to take measures

for the abolishment of domestic slavery, so soon as it could

be done consistently with public safety and the rights of pri-

vate property. Notwithstanding the hearty co-operation of

Mr. Jay and some others, this attempt proved ineffectual.

But while he advocated civil liberty, the same tolerance

wore the garb of religious license when applied to things ec-

clesiastical. For only two days after the recognition of inde-

pendence by the New York Convention, that body sent a

letter, drafted by Gouverneur Morris, to President Hancock,

with this not very liberal request : "We take the liberty of

suggesting to your consideration the propriety of taking some

measures for expunging from the Book of Common Prayer

such parts, and discontinuing in the congregations of all other

denominations, all such prayers as interfere with the interests

of the American cause. It is a subject we are afraid to med-

dle with." Fortunately Congress was no less " afraid to

meddle," and men were left free to pray for Congress or Par-

liament as their conscience might dictate.

On January 20th, 1778, Gouverneur Morris, being one of

the five representatives from New York, took his seat in

Congress, then assembled in Philadelphia. Although only

twenty-five years of age, he was appointed, the very day he
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presented Lis credentials, on a committee to investigate the

state of affairs at Valley Forge. The committee remained

there nearly three months, and reported a plan for the in-

creased comfort of the army, which was approved by Con-

gress.

It was probably during this time that the friendship began

between General Washington and Gouverneur Morris, which

lasted through life. On one occasion the latter seems to have

presumed somewhat upon this. Morris disputed with Ham-
ilton, upon whose authority the story rests, the assertion that

Washington was reserved, even with his intimate friends,

Morris alleging this to be a mere fancy. Hamilton replied

:

"If you will, at his next evening reception, gently slap him
on the shoulder, and say, c My dear General, how happy I

am to see you look so well !' a supper and wine shall be

provided for you and your friends." The challenge was
accepted. On the evening appointed, when Morris entered,

he bowed, shook hands, and, laying his left hand on

Washington's shoulder, said :
" My dear General, I am very

happy to see you look so well !" Washington withdrew his

hand, stepped suddenly back, fixing his eye on Morris with

an angry frown, while the latter sought refuge in the crowd.

Afterwards, at the supper which Hamilton gave, Morris said:

" I have won the bet, but paid dearly for it, and nothing could

induce me to repeat the act." (See Parton's Life of Jefferson^

page 309.)

The faithful part which Gouverneur Morris was taking in

public affairs, seems the more commendable when it is re-

membered that his course was not approved of by his mother,

his early friend and adviser, William Smith, and by many of

his family who adhered to the royal cause. Communication
with his relatives within the enemy's lines was necessarily

infrequent and brief. But in a letter to his mother, written

from York Town, Penna., April 17th 1778, he says: "I re-

ceived great pain from being informed that you are distressed

on my account. Be of good cheer, I pray you. I have all

that happiness which flows from conscious rectitude. I would
it were in my power to solace and comfort your declining years.
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The duty I owe to a tender parent demands this of me, hut a

higher duty has hound me to the service of my fellow-crea-

tures. Whenever the present storm subsides, I shall rush with

eagerness into private life ; hut while it continues, and while

my country calls for the exertion of that little share of abili-

ties which it has pleased God to bestow on me, I hold it my
indispensable duty to give myself to her." While a member
of Congress, Gouverneur Morris served on many committees of

importance, but a detailed account of his work there would

make this sketch too Ions:. Xor did he forego the claims of

society, being fond of social intercourse and amusement.

But he never allowed pleasure to interfere with duty, and,

exercising a wise self-restraint, he did well and thoroughly

whatever he undertook to do at all.

A reply by Morris, not many years before his death, to a

letter asking for written materials respecting the Revolution,

will show how full his days were. " I have no notes," he

wrote, " of what passed during the war. I led then the most

laborious life which can be imagined. But I was still more

harassed while a member of Congress ; not to mention the

attendance from 11 to 4 in the House, and the appointment

to Special Committees, of which I had a full share, I was at

the same time Chairman of three Standing Committees, viz.

:

on the Commissary's, Quartermaster's, and Medical Depart-

ments. I was moreover obliged to labour occasionally in my
profession, as my wages were insufficient for my support. I

would not trouble you with this abstract of my situation, if

it did not appear necessary to show you why I kept no notes

of my services, and why I am perhaps the most ignorant man
alive of what concerns them."

Xot being returned to Congress by Xew York, after five

years' service, Gouverneur Morris began the practice of law in

Philadelphia, and became a citizen of Pennsylvania. The

cause of hi3 non-election does not appear from any authentic

document, but tradition says he was charged with neglecting

the interests of the State, for (what doubtless seemed to him)

the greater interests of the nation.

It was in the streets of Philadelphia, in May, 1780, that he
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met with a fall from his carriage ; his left ankle was dislo-

cated, and some of the bones of the leg broken. Amputa-

tion was resorted to, the le£ being taken off below the knee.

Afterwards, this extreme measure was thought unnecessary,

and it is said the case has been often cited by surgical author-

ities as a proof of unskilful treatment, and to warn against the

mischief resulting oftentimes from a too hasty decision. Even
during the acute pain which followed, his customary cheer-

fulness and good temper never failed him. A friend called the

day after the amputation, who "had it borne in upon him" to

convince Mor.ris of the salutary effects such a trial should

have upon his character. " My good sir," was the reply, "you
argue the matter so handsomely, and point out so clearly the

advantages of being without legs, that I am almost tempted

to part with the other."

In preference to later improvements, Morris always wore a

plain wooden leg, in which he insisted he often had- the gout,

and on account of which he asked and obtained the favor of

being presented as Minister of the United States to the King
of France without a sword, in spite of the breach of Court

etiquette which this involved.

The difficult question of finance had long been a subject of

interest to Gouverneur Morris, and in 1781 he was appointed

by Robert Morris Assistant Superintendent of the Finances

of the United States, holding the position for three years and

a half.

Parton has fallen into the error of supposing Robert Morris

to be the uncle of Gouverneur, but there was no relationship,

at least none that could be traced. (See Parton's Life of Jef-

ferson, page 269 ; also Life of Gouverneur Morris, by Sparks,

vol. i. page 235, note.) General Knox and Gouverneur Mor-
ris were appointed by Washington to consult with the Eng-
lish Commissioners about the exchange of prisoners ; the first

meeting took place at Elizabethtown, N. J., on March 31st,

1782. After the declaration of peace in 1783, Gouverneur
Morris went to Xew York to visit his mother, whom he had
not seen for seven years. At his mother's death, in 1786, the

estate of Morrisania., according to the terms of his father's
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will, passed into the hands of his half-brother, Staats Long
Morris. The latter was married to the Duchess of Gordon,

and settled in England, being at this time a General in the

British Army. Xot caring to retain the property in America,

he parted with it to Gouverneur, the sale including the Xew
Jersey lands as well as Morrisania. Morris was a delegate

from Pennsylvania to the Convention called for framing the

Constitution of the United States, which met in Philadelphia

in May, 1787. It is generally understood that to the pen of

Gouverneur Morris is due the clear, simple and forcible lan-

guage in which the Constitution is expressed.

Although dissenting from the majority of his colleagues

on many important points, and never hesitating to express

his honest difference of opinion, still, when the Constitution

was adopted, he signed it with entire willingness, and felt

real concern for its success.

It has been charged that Morris wished to establish a mon-

archical form of government, but of this there is no proof

whatsoever. It is quite true that in French politics he was

a royalist, believing a monarchy to be the only form of

government suited to that people. From the first he pre-

dicted the downfall of the French Republic.

It is also true that, in the Constitutional Convention, he

advocated measures tending, as he thought, to strengthen the

general government. He tried, in furtherance of this prin-

ciple, to provide in the Constitution that the senators should

be men of property; and, to make them independent of the

changes and chances of political fortune, they were to be

appointed for life, all vacancies to be filled by the Executive.

But better let him speak his own feelings regarding the

Constitution. Writing to a friend, while awaiting its fate,

he says : " This paper has been the subject of infinite investi-

gation, disputation, and declamation. While some have

boasted it as a work from Heaven, others have given it a less

righteous origin. I have many reasons to believe that it is

the work of plain, honest men, and such, I think, it will

appear. Faulty it must be, for what is perfect? But if

adopted, experience will, I believe, show that its faults are





192 Sketch of the Life of Gouvemeur Morris.

just the reverse of what they are supposed to be. As yet

this paper is but a dead letter. Pennsylvania, Delaware,

New Jersey, Connecticut, and Georgia have adopted it. We
wait impatiently the result of their deliberations in Massa-

chusetts. Should that State also adopt it, which I hope

and believe, there will then be little doubt of a general

acquiescence."

In December, 1788, Gouverneur Morris sailed for Europe.

General Washington gave him letters of introduction to

persons of influence in England, France, and Holland. Per-

haps the strongest proof of Washington's confidence in his

friend is his asking Morris to buy for him, in Paris, a gold

watch for his own use, " not a small, trifling, nor a finical,

ornamental one, but a watch well executed in point of work-

manship, large and flat, with a plain, handsome key." Morris

went at once to Paris, where he was well received by the

American Minister, Mr. Jefferson, by Lafayette, and others.

While in London, whither he had been sent by Washington

on important business with the British government relative

to the Treaty of Peace, he heard of his appointment as

United States Minister at the Court of France.

Although opposed to the French Revolution, and having

many personal friends among the Royalists, including the

royal family itself, he administered the affairs of his office

with • impartiality and justice. Perhaps, on one occasion, he

allowed his enthusiasm to get the better of his prudence;

for, seeing the Queen pass, unsaluted by a single voice, he
could not resist calling upon the bystanders to cheer her, and
only refrained himself by remembering in time the neutrality

which his public position imposed. He alone of the Diplo-
matic Corps remained in Paris during the Reign of Terror.

Nor was he without pretext for deserting his post had he so

wished. Once he was obliged to submit to the indignity of
having his house searched for arms by an unauthorized mob.
The same lawless fellows established a rule that no one

should drive along the streets of Paris. Meeting Morris in

his carriage, an onslaught was about to ensue, when the
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Minister hastily shoved his wooden leg from the carriage

door. This saved him his drive, and his life too, perhaps.

As he wrote to Mr. Jefferson: u The position is not without

danger, hut I presume when the President did me the

honor of naming me to this embassy, it was not for my
personal pleasure or safety, but to promote the interest of my
country."

His first concern seems ever to have been for Duty, that

"Stern daughter of the Toice of God!"

In 1793, the recall of the Minister of France to the United

States (M. Genet) being demanded by the latter country, that

of Gouverneur Morris was requested by France as an act of

reciprocity, and could not be refused. He was therefore super-

seded in August, 1794, by James Monroe.

After leaving France, Gouverneur Morris travelled for

some time in Europe. At the instigation of Madame de

Stael, with whom he was on very friendly terms, he interested

himself on behalf of Lafayette, then imprisoned at Olmutz,

whose release he helped to procure.

It was the intention of the Duke of Orleans, now an exile

from France, to return to America with Gouverneur Morris,

but the latter's departure being delayed, Morris wrote to his

agents in Xew York, giving the Duke unlimited credit during
his stay in the United States, and after Morris's own return

to America, in 1798, the Duke and his two brothers were
frequent visitors at Morrisania.

Morris's home voyage lasted eighty days, twenty-three of
which were spent in beating about the shores of his own
country, before the captain could make a safe entrance.

Gouverneur Morris established himself at once at Morris-
ania, intending never again to enter upon public life. Being
chosen, however, by the Xew York Legislature, to fill a
vacancy in the United States Senate, his sense of duty did
not allow him to decline.

He was a Federalist, but during the celebrated "Tie Con-
troversy" differed from his party, and approved the choice of
Mr. Jefferson. Writing to Hamilton some time before the
election, he says, with entire honesty and disinterestedness

:
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"£Tot meaning to enter into intrigues, I have merely expressed

the opinion that, since it was evidently the intention of our

fellow-citizens to make Mr. Jefferson their President, it seems

proper to fulfil that intention." His relations with Mr.

Jefferson were very friendly, after the election, although they

differed widely on all political questions.

Upon the ending of his Senatorial term of three years,

Gouverneur Morris retired to private life on his beautiful

estate at Morrisania, where he lived in princely style, and

from which he only emerged from time to time, on occasions

of public importance. He was elected President of the New
York Historical Society, before which he made two addresses.

A letter written about this time gives some insight into his

mode of life :
" My health is excellent, saving a little of the

gout, which at this moment annoys me." (Was it in the

wooden leg?) "I can walk three leagues, if the weather be

pleasant and the road not rough. My employment is to labour

for myself a little, for others more ; to receive much company
and forget half those who come. I think of public affairs a

little, read a little, play a little, and sleep a great deal. With
good air, a good cook, fine water and wine, a good constitution,

and a clear conscience, I descend gradually towards the grave,

full of gratitude to the Giver of all good."

On Christmas Day, 1809, he was married to Miss Anne
Carey Randolph, of the old Randolph family in Virginia, by

whom he had one son, Gouverneur.

There seems no doubt that Gouverneur Morris was the real

author of the Erie Canal project, the suggestion being made
by him as early as 1777. He was Chairman of the Canal

Commissioners from their first appointment in March, 1810,

to within a few months of his death, three of the four reports

made to the Legislature within this time being from his

pen.

Gouverneur Morris died November 6th, 1816, in the 65th

year of his age, enjoying, to within a short time of his death,

the same good health of which he boasts above. Aware of

his condition, his faculties were unimpaired to the last, his

mind tranquil, his conversation collected, and frequently
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cheerful. lie was buried on his own estate at Morrisania.

His will provided an annuity of $2000 for his wife, and this

unusual clause was added :
" In case my wife should marry,

I give her six hundred dollars more per annum to defray the

increased expenditure which may attend that connection."

Gouverneur Morris was a man of strong convictions and

out-spoken expression. This habit of speaking his mind,

joined to a quick sense of the ludicrous, betrayed him at

times into remarks which gave, his friends offence, but he

never intentionally wounded their feelings. It has been

charged that he was overbearing in conversation ; perhaps so,

to tko presuming and the ignorant. After listening patiently

to a gentleman at the breakfast table who proved a bad listener

when Morris's turn came, " Sir," said the latter, " if you will

mot attend to my arguments, I will address myself to the

tea-pot," and so he did, with much animation of tone and

gesture.

Gouverneur Morris had the rare grace, as Mr. Madison

testifies, of confessing himself in the wrong when fully satis-

fied that his opinions had been too hastily formed. He had

the rarer grace of being ready to give his hearty co-operation

in carying out measures in which his views had been over-

ruled. He was generous, straightforward, sincere, and truth-

loving, having, as one said of him, "no conception of the

pliancy of truth."

In political life he was too independent to be trammelled

by the dictates of party, and in private life, his integrity was

above suspicion ; in neither was he ever influenced by low

aims or selfish ambitions.

He lived not for fame but for duty ; not for self, but for his

country.

He died greatly beloved and venerated by his kinsfolk,

and by all who could rightly estimate his remarkable mental

attainments, and his high moral culture.

" Where's the manly spirit

Of the true-hearted and the unshackled gone ?

Sons of old freemen, do we but inherit

Their names alone ?"
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MEMOIR OF GENERAL SULLIVAK

BY THOMAS C. AMORY.

(Centennial Collection.)

Our memorable struggle for independence demanded for its

successful issue many minds. Men of various nationalities

and religious opinions, from all pursuits and employments,

of strong impulse and generous sentiment, bold for the right

and ready to maintain it in arms or in civil service as peril-

ous, were recognized all over the land as its natural leaders.

By general consent and without distinction whoever possessed

the profound convictions and energy of character suited to

the crisis, who shrank from no sacrifice or danger, needed

little effort of his own to be placed in the front.

£Tew Hampshire abounded in able men, and in Weare,

Langdon and Stark, Folsom, Livermore and Whipple, pos-

sessed sons in whom she might well feel pride. But the

warmth and frlow which distinguished General Sullivan, his

indifference to personal consequences, with his natural gifts

of eloquent expression by lip and pen ; his professional suc-

cess ; his military tastes and aptitudes, all designated him as

singularly well constituted for the conjuncture, commended
him for positions where difficult duties were to be performed

or extraordinary perils to be encountered.

His father, the son of Major Philip O'Sullivan Beare, of

Ardea, on the river Kenmare in Ireland, an officer of the army
that surrendered at Limerick in 1691, was born the year of

that surrender in Ireland, and, having enjoyed the advantages

of a liberal education, in early manhood sought in America

an asylum from political and religious persecutions. At
Somersworth in Xew Hampshire and at Berwick in Maine

he devoted the residue of his life, which was prolonged to his

one hundred and fifth year, to the education of youth. Of
his six children four took an active part in the revolutionary
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strucro-le. Daniel resided at Sullivan in Maine, on French-

man's Bay, near Mount Desert. In command of one hundred

minute men, his active enterprise and bold exploits attracted

the attention of the enemy, and in the winter after the unsuc-

cessful expedition to Castine in 1779, he was taken away at

night from his house by Mowatt in a British frigate, and

imprisoned in the Jersey hulks he perished a victim to cruelty

which was a disgrace to humanity, and which is no longer

practised in civilized warfare. James early acquired reputa-

tion at the bar, and at the age of thirty-one was appointed

Judge of the Supreme Court of Massachusetts, and died 1808

its governor. Eben, also a lawyer, served with distinction in

the Continental Army, offered himself as a hostage at the

Cedars, and rose to the rank of major. Their only sister,

Mary, married Theophilus Hardy, and among her grandsons

were Governor Wells, of Maine, and John Sullivan Wells in

the Senate of the United States from Xew Hampshire.

John, subject of this memoir, born in 1740, was carefully

educated by his father, and after a voyage to the West Indies

studied law at Portsmouth. He early gained distinction and

fortune in its practice. By his earnest and eloquent denun-

ciations of parliamentary encroachments on the rights of the

province and stretches of royal prerogative, by his spirited

contributions to the public press, he attracted attention and

became popular. He early exhibited a taste for military sci-

ence, wa3 familiar with all the great historical battles, and,

holding from 1772 the rank of major under the crown, drilled

his neighbors in squads and companies, until large numbers

of men had become efficient soldiers.

Sent to the Continental Congress in September, 1774, he

drafted one of its important papers, and when at home in

December shared in the attack on Newcastle, to procure arms

and powder, which, being concealed in the church at Durham
opposite his dwelling, were used at Bunker Hill. In the Con-

gress of 1775, he defeated with great power the motion of Dick-

inson for another appeal to the king, and wa3 elected one of the

eight brigadiers who, with Washington and the four major-

generals, Lee, Putnam, Ward, and Schuyler, took command
Vol. ii.—14
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of the army engaged principally in the siege of Boston ; his

brigade and Greene's, under Lee at Medford and Charlcstown,

forming the left wing of the American army. Sent twice to

Portsmouth, he fortified that place against British cruisers;

and when in January the withdrawal of the Connecticut

troops imperilled the army, his influence brought down from

2sew Hampshire two thousand men to replace them.

After the evacuation of Boston in March, 1776, he marched

bis brigade by Providence to Xew York, and thence dis-

patched to Canada, extricated the northern army, seven

thousand in number, prostrated by disease and beset by

greatly superior forces which had been reinforced with troops

from England under Burgoyne, from a position threatening its

destruction; receiving from his officers, many of them greatly

distinguished in the war, high commendation. At Long

Island, now Major-General, with Lord Stirling and Mac-

dou^al as his brigadiers, he commanded on the left of the

outer line in the battle, and after contending for three hours

with the enemy, whose force on the island numbered twenty-

two thousand, with Stirling was taken prisoner. With the

approval of Washington, he submitted to Congress Lord

Howe's overtures for a negotiation. Exchanged, he partici-

pated in the masterly movements of Washington in West
Chester to baffle Howe in his efforts to take our troops at a

disadvantage. The British withdrew to !STew York sorely

pressed by Sullivan, who received in general orders the

acknowledgments of the commander-in-chief.

When Lee was captured on December 13th, 1776, Sullivan,

next in command, marched his army to join Washington, and

with him crossed the Delaware on Christmas night through

the ice. After a night's march in snow and sleet, he entered

Trenton the next morning at eight o'clock, the hour ap-

pointed, at the head of his troops. A thousand Hessians

were taken prisoners, and Rahl, their commander, mortally

wounded. At Princeton, January 3d, he drove the 40th

and 55th British regiments from the town. During the rest

of the winter, in front of the lines at Morristown, he held the

enemy within their entrenchments, preventing their marauds.
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While waiting for tidings of Gen. Ilowe, who had sailed in

July with a large portion of his army for the south, he

planned an expedition to capture several British regiments

exposed on Staten Island. One of his detachments under Col.

Ogden captured ninety men ; he put to flight various bodies

of the enemy that resisted ; but an ignorant or treacherous

guide prevented the complete success anticipated. An inquiry

resulted in the conclusion that the plan was well concerted,

and would have succeeded but for accidents not to be foreseen

or prevented, and that Gen. Sullivan deserved the approbation

of the country, a judgment confirmed by Congress.

At Brandywine he commanded the right wing, consisting

of his own division under De Borre, Stephen's, and Stirling's,

posted along the river. "Whilst Knyphausen engaged the

attention of the left wins- under Washington and Maxwell

lower down, Howe proceeded by a circuit of seventeen miles,

by roads several miles from the river, through dense woods,

in a fog, and crossing above the forks and the ford where

Hazen was stationed, came down the left bank at about two

in the afternoon.

Sullivan, as instructed by Washington, had stationed his

main body at Brinton's Ford, two miles above Chad's, the

Delaware regiment at a ford, probably Jones's, a mile and a

half further up the stream, one battalion of Hazen's at another

ford (probably Wistar's) a mile and a half still further up,

and another at ButSngton's, a mile or more above that. His

troops were thus posted, not only to oppose any attempt of

the enemy to cross the river, but to gain information of their

movements. Sullivan had but four light-horsemen employed

as messengers, and "Washington, assuming himself the charge

of procuring intelligence, sent out for this purpose what cav-

alry he had, and besides several other mounted scouts, Colo-

nels Ross and Bland and Major Spear. Jeffry's Ford, above

the forks where Howe actually crossed, was twelve miles

above Chad's, two at least above Buffington's, or more, as the

roads then ran. That Sullivan exercised due vigilance,

within the limits of his discretion, to ascertain the position

of the enemy, is now generally conceded.
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When reliable intelligence reached him that the British

had actually crossed the Brandywine, and from Washington

what disposition was to be made to oppose them, he imme-

diately recalled his troops from the upper fords, and pro-

ceeded without delay to Birmingham Heights, where Stephen

and Stirliug, nearer headquarters, were already posted at about

right angles with the river. As he commanded their divi-

sions and his own, which together constituted the right wing

of the army, the command of his own division devolved on

Be Borre, his brigadier. "When his division reached the

heights, the enemy was already formed to attack. De Borre

would have insisted upon marching his division on the right

of Stephen and Stirling, as it had laid along the river fronting

across, but there was no time for any such punctilio, and he

was ordered to take position on their left. The array was

still incomplete when the engagement commenced, and

though Sullivan upon his return from the centre, where he

had proceeded to consult with the other generals, endeavored

to restore order and rally the men who had fallen out of line,

hi3 efforts proved but partially successful. His own position

as commander oi the wing was near the guns, and leaving

his division to De Borre and his brigadiers, who were excel-

lent officers, to bring back the men to their duty, he returned

to his appropriate post.

It commanded both the right and left of the line, and to

use the words of Sullivan himself, in his graphic account of

the battle, if carried, "would bring on a total rout, and make
a retreat very difficult," He therefore determined to hold it

as long as possible, to give Stirling and Stephen, as also the

regiments of Hazen, Dayton, and Ogden, which stood firm on
the left, the assistance of the artillery, and cover the broken
troops of De Borre still in confusion. Five times the enemy
drove " our troops from the hill, and as often was it regained,"

and possession of the summit for nearly an hour was disputed

muzzle to muzzle. The battle lasted nearly three hours, and
when Sullivan was at last forced to retreat, it was not in total

disorder. He rallied his troop3 upon a very advantageous
piece of ground, and retarded the pursuit so effectually, that
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the enemy suffered our whole army to pass off with their

baggage and artillery. "Weedon's brigade, under Greene, had

come up double-quick from below, Sullivan joined him, and

the battle continued until nightfall. By their united efforts,

the retreat of the American army was effectually secured, and

the enemy stayed from pursuit. In this engagement Sullivan

had his horse, " the best in America, " shot under him.

That the Americans fought bravely, is sufficiently evident

from their having so long withstood the repeated assaults of

Howe and Cornwallis, vastly superior in number and equip-

ments. Ill nature, reckless of truth and without due regard

for military reputations, travels far to censure; but Lafayette,

Stephen, Laurens, Howard, and many other competent wit-

nesses, bear ample testimony to the coolness, judgment, and

promptitude of Sullivan in moving his men from the river to

the heights, correcting the mistakes of De Borre in the battle

and retreat. It was one of the hardest fought battles of the

war, and as creditable to the American army as if it had re-

sulted in victory. Five days later the two armies were again

confronted, but an engagement was prevented by a violent

storm, and Howe, proceeding to Philadelphia, there remained

till the following June.

Howe's principal encampment was six miles from the city,

at Germantown. Washington left Metuchin Hills at nine

o'clock in the evening of the third of October, for a ni^ht

march of fourteen miles to attack them ; his right wing com-

manded by Sullivan, his left by Greene.

The right wing, with Conway's brigade at its head, fol-

lowed by Sullivan's division, then by "Wayne's, and Stirling

with his division under his brigadiers Xash and Maxwell,

forming the reserve, and closing the column, Sullivan in

command of the whole, but accompanied by Washington, and

by Knox and Pulaski, chiefs of artillery and cavalry, reached

Chestnut Hill soon after daybreak of the fourth. All but

one of the advanced pickets being surprised, dispatched, or

otherwise disposed of, they discovered a mile further on, near

Allen's house at Mount Airy, the grand picket, or advanced

guards of the enemy, in force, with two field-pieces. Sulli-





202 Memoir of General Sullivan.

van ordered forward one regiment from the second Mary-

landers and one from the brigade of Conway to open the at-

tack, and directed Conway himself to fall into line to support

them. The British light infantry, reinforced by the fortieth

and later by two brigades from Germantown, made stubborn

resistance. Sullivan formed his own division in the lane op-

posite the Allen house, and at right angles with the Skippack

road, and ordered them to advance through the fields. He

very soon encountered a considerable force opposed to them.

Wayne coming up and forming on the east side of the road,

Sullivan directed Conway to file in the rear of the line, and

take post on the right flank. This disposition was the more

important, as neither Greene, whose line of march was along

the Limekiln road to the east, nor Armstrong, directed to

advance between the Wissahickon and the Schuylkill on the

west, had been heard from, and the flanks of the right wing

as it advanced might consequently be exposed to attack from

troops whose attention wrould have been occupied by those

generals " had they reached the points they were designed

against." Moylan's horse was at the same time sent to the

extreme right, to watch the movements of the enemy, and pro-

cure intelligence of Armstrong's whereabouts and progress.

In this array the right wing pushed on ; and vigorously at-

tacked the British light infantry on either side of the Skip-

pack road or turnpike, who fell back, leaving their encamp-

ment, but making a stand at every fence, wall, and ditch.

Fences were to be removed, wdiich delayed the pursuit, but

the Americans as they proceeded encountered the enemy in

yet greater strength, and what they supposed to be their

whole left wing; A severe conflict ensued. How numerous

the forces opposed to them in reality were, can only be con-

jectured ; but as Hunter says that Howe knew of the con-

templated attack the evening before, and Howe himself says

he received information of the approach of the Americans at

four o'clock, they were no doubt quite equal in number to

their assailants. Wayne and Sullivan, when the enemy wa-

vered, marched forward with shouldered arms, prepared to

charge when the British withdrew in confusion.
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Sullivan sent his aid, Colonel Morris, to "Washington to in-

form him that the left wing of the enemy had given way, and

to request that Wayne, who had pushed on with equal vigor

and success on the east side of the road, but whose movements

may have been obscured by the fog, might be ordered to ad-

vance against the British right—a prudent precaution if they

were to act without reference to Greene.

It may well have been the design of the enemy to draw the

Americans nearer the town before engaging them in force.

They may have been in some measure surprised and not yet

prepared for an engagement ; but Howe, apprised of what was

impending two hours before, would hardly have left so large

a portion of his army in danger of being cut off without effort

to extricate them. It was reasonable to provide for the pro-

bability that he would do what his duty demanded, and

Wavne accordingly received orders from Washington to pro-

ceed, and as he was already well advanced, his division and

Sullivan's as they passed the Chew house were abreast.

Musgrave with six companies of the British fortieth, after

the conflict at Mount Airy, had taken possession of the Chew
house, a substantial structure of stone, which is still in good

preservation. It stands about midway between Mount Airy

and the market place, a mile or more from either. The gar-

rison fired a few shots without effect at the Americans as they

passed. Washington, who had sent forward Xash with a

portion of the reserve to support Sullivan, and another of its

brigades to support Wayne, retained Maxwell with the third

to reduce the Chew house.

The right wing as it pressed onward was impeded in its

progress by the enemy, who, though routed, took advantage

of every yard, house, and hedge in their retreat. More fre-

quent buildings and dense smoke as the right wing came

nearer the centre of the town, embarrassing their movements,

as a rallying point Col. Howard with his regiment, forming

the left of Sullivan's division, was halted by Ilazen in an in-

closed field near the road, about six hundred yards from the

market-house, but the rest moved on, the troops on the west

of the road down to the School-house lane and across it, if we
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credit Tilghman, one of Washington's aids. White, one of

Sullivan's, had heen killed while on an errand, probably for

ammunition, when attempting to fire the Chew house ; when

or where Sherburne fell, his other aid also killed in the battle,

or General Xash, is not recorded, but the position of the latter

in the front was to the right of Sullivan. The Marylanders,

who fought well at Long Island the year before under Stir-

liug, in some of the relations of this battle were with Xash on

the right flank. That they, the right wing, pressed the ene-

my hard, and penetrated their lines as far as courage could

carry them, some portion of it south of School-house lane, may

well be believed, as likewise the impression that the left wing

of the British had the worst of the fight at this stage of the

battle. Donop and Du Corps, with the Hessians, may not have

actually crossed the Schuylkill, as mentioned in Irving, but

that such an alternative in case of defeat was at least under

consideration, and was provided for, may be inferred from the

original authorities.

Whilst thus engaged with unabated ardor and reasonable

promise of victory, the heavy firing to the east indicated the

approach of the left wing, which from treacherous guides and

the necessity of countermarching, as the position of the enemy

was not as represented, had been delayed. Wayne, finding

that~i*is progress would interfere with Stephen, and recalled

by the firing at the Chew house, fell back, but the ground

failed to be occupied by Stephen who had become bewildered

in the fog. W"e are not permitted to relate what took place

on the left, already familiar in connection with Greene, who,

it is sufficient to say, gallantly bore his share in the conflict.

The right, finding themselves unsupported, their cartridges

expended, their left flank exposed, and the enemy collecting

there to oppose them, Greene's guns apparently receding,

troops flying on the right, and a light horseman in that quar-

ter crying that the enemy had got round us, retired with as

much precipitation a3 they advanced, against every effort of

their officers to rally them. Engaged for three hours, wearied

and worn by twelve hours of constant marching or battle,

thev still effected their retreat, bringing: off their cannon and
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wounded, their loss about seven hundred, being about equal

to that of their antagonists. The misfortunes of the day were

principally owing to the obscurity from the dense fog and

smoke of cannon and muskets which prevented the troops from

discovering the motions of the enemy, or acting in concert

with each other.

Of Sullivan's part in the battle, Washington wrote to the

President of Congress :
" In justice to General Sullivan and

the whole right wing of the army, whose conduct I had an

opportunity of observing, as they acted immediately under

my e7e i I have the pleasure to inform you that both officers

and men behaved with a degree of gallantry that did them
the highest honor."

During the winter Gen. Sullivan remained at Valley Forge,

building a bridge, and in April took command at Providence.

In February, 1778, the Treaty of Alliance had been made with

France, and in July, D'Estaing with twelve ships of the line

and four frigates arrived off Xew York. That city being too

well protected for attack, an expedition against Xewport was

determined upon. Sullivan, on the twenty-third learning this

decision, made preparation and, with fifteen hundred men sent

from the army that fought in June at Monmouth, in two

weeks collected nine thousand. With him were Greene, La-

fayette, Cornell, Varnum, and Glover, all able and experienced

general officers, Crane, Gridley, and Gouvion, distinguished

engineers. On the 30th D'Estaing arrived off Brenton Point,

where he preferred to remain till the troops were ready to

attack the city in order better to command the wind, obtain

supplies, prevent additional reinforcements to the garrison,

recently increased to seven thousand strong, and also to avoid

the land batteries higher up. Three of his vessels were sent

into the east passage to cover the crossing of the American

army. Three British vessels there stationed were burnt by

the enemy themselves, a3 also five on the 5th of August in

the west passage. On the 8th D'Estaing forced the middle

passage, and moored opposite the town, but behind Rose and

Goat Islands, and the troops from Boston, on that day arriving

at Tiverton, crossed the next morning on to the island; a part
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left to join D'Estaing under Lafayette, who proceeded without

delay to the fleet twelve miles below with information of what
had been done.

That afternoon the English fleet, sixty-four sail, hove in

sight. The French re-embarked from Conanicut where they

were landing, and, the wind serving, sailed the next morning

iu pursuit. After capturing several vessels from the enemy,

and being shattered by a violent storm, they went to Boston to

refit. The American army, which had also suffered from the

storm,when itwas over approached Newport, and under able en-

gineers had advanced their lines and constructed redoubts; but

when the volunteers, comprising a large part of the army, and

who had come for a special purpose, learnt there wTas no chance

of French aid, their, stipulated term of service over, many of

them went home, and on the twenty-eighth, the army, inferior

in numbers and effective force to the garrison, withdrew to

Butt's Hill at the north end of the island. There, on Satur-

day, the 29th August, took place wThat Lafayette pronounced

the best fought battle of the war. The right wing, under

Greene, w^ith Yarnum, Cornell, and Glover, repulsed three

attacks of the enemy, but the battle was decided by a bayonet

charge of a thousand men, among them some troops of Mas-

sachusetts, under Livingston, ordered up by Sullivan at the

fitting moment, who drove the British to their entrenchments

from which they did not again venture. The two armies were

equal in strength and numbers. The Americans after thirty-

six hours' march and incessant fighting, deferred action in the

hope that d'Estaing, whom Lafayette had gone to consult at

Boston, would send down his forces. This it was his design

to do, but the approach of Clinton wTith five thousand men
from New York, who actually arrived the next day, made it

advisable to withdraw from the island, which, thanks to Gen.

Glover and his boats, was safely effected that night without

opposition or loss.

In April, 1779, Sullivan relinquished command at Provi-

dence, to prepare for an expedition into Western New York,

to discourage predatory marauds by the Indians on our fron-

tier settlements, retaliate for the massacre of Wyoming and
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Cherry Valley ; and, if opportunity favored, for the capture

of Niagara and an invasion of Canada. His army, consisting

of four thousand men, accomplished the former object ; but

the British were too strong in Canada for the latter to be

attempted. His constitution shattered by five years' constant

exposure in the field, and suffering from an accident in the

Indian campaign, he resigned from the army at the close of

1779, and was recovering from dangerous and painful illness

when chosen again to Congress. He went with reluctance,

and from August, 1780, to 1781 served a year in that body.

He knew what reforms were needed in army administration,

and his efforts to reorganize the civil service, as also the finan-

cial, were ably furthered by his associates, and contributed

largely to the possibility of the Southern campaign and sur-

render of Cornwallis at Yorktown in October, 1781, which

virtually ended the war.

When he first went to Congress, in 1774, although then but

thirty years of age, the accumulations from his practice, we
are told by John Adams, amounted to ten thousand pounds.

Although judiciously invested in farms and mills, the prop-

erty produced little or no income during the war, and com-

manded no sale, unless at a ruinous sacrifice, until it was at an

end. He forbore to call in what was due to him, not to dis-

tress his debtors. His pay, as he had received no deprecia-

tion, realized but little of its nominal value. He was gener-

ous in his nature, and advanced liberally to his companions

in the army, and considerable amounts to at least one French

officer. He had to support his staff and administer the hos-

pitality of his headquarters when in separate command,
which was a heavy charge upon his private fortune. The
horses he lost in battle or in service he had to replace, and

several times his personal effects were captured by the enemy.

His wife and four children at Durham required support.

These various claims upon his purse exhausted his resources,

and he left the army partly from broken health, partly to

protect his family from actual want. When chosen again to

Congress in 1780, he declined, from not having the mean3 to
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go, and the State treasury could allow liiru but a single dollar

a day.

The government owed him four thousand dollars—sixteen

hundred, allowed him by resolve of Congress in August,

1781, was not all paid, lest it should embarrass the public trea-

sury, till some years afterwards. On what was due to him
he had relied for his necessary expenses in Philadelphia ; but

the government resources were exhausted, and he wrote home
in October, 1780, urgently for a remittance. His letter, in-

tercepted and published by Eivington, came to the knowledge

of Luzerne, French Minister to this country, who, of his own
motion, advanced him what was equal to the one year's pay

allowed him by Xew Hampshire, or seventy guineas, and

offered to continue it whilst he continued in Congress. France

was furnishing our army with supplies, paying our ministers

abroad their salaries and expenses, guaranteeing our loans,

and her minister alone in Philadelphia could, without incon-

venience, make such an advance. The two countries had no

conflicting interest, but were equally bent on the point at

issue. Certainly for the acceptance of a loan under such cir'

cumstances no apology is needed here or anywhere to those

who know General Sullivan, and who will admit that he wa3

incapable of a dishonorable thought or deed.

Nor is it out of place to insist that the transmission to Con-

gress in 1776 of Lord Howe's overtures for a negotiation, with

the sanction of Gen. Washington, was perfectly proper and rea-

sonable. His exoneration by Washington from any reproach

of negligence in not procuring information of the enemy's

movements on the Brandywine ought to silence that aspersion.

Lafayette, Laurens, Hamilton, and a throng of officers on the

field, bore willing witness to his coolness and good judgment

in the battle. Washington commended him in unmeasured

terms for his good conduct at Germantown; Congress for the

descent on Staten Island, the siege of Xewport, and the expe-

dition against the Six Xations. Abundant correspondence

disproves the charge that D'Estaing for ten days remained at

the opening of the middle passage at Xewport against his

own judgment and at his dictation ; that Gen. Sullivan crossed
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on to Rhode Island earlier, or withdrew from it later, than

propriety or prudence warranted ; and ail candid minds will

agree that his orders of the 24th August under the circum-

stances were precisely what the occasion demanded, to ani-

mate his dispirited troops to prosecute the siege, and that

only undue susceptibility could have taken umbrage at the

phrases used, when connected with the context of this address

to his army.

The remainder of his days, after he left Congress in 1781

till near its close, when appointed by Washington to the

federal bench, were passed in the service of his native State.

As attorney-general, an office held by himself, his son, and

his grandson for half a century ; as major-general, in which

function he made the military force of the State effective, by

a system of drill and discipline, important from the nearness

of the frontier and from an anticipated renewal of the war

;

as speaker of the Assembly and chief executive of the State,

to'which position he was thrice chosen ; as president of the

convention to ratify the adoption of the Federal Constitution

by Xew Hampshire, the ninth and deciding State, brought

about, as allowed, mainly by his influence and efforts ; as one

of the most energetic in putting down the rebellion of 1786,

in introducing manufacturing industry into the southeastern

section of the State, now one of its busiest centres in the

world, he did his best to develop the country, shape its insti-

tutions, and promote its welfare.

His health, greatly shattered by his military services, gave

way a few years after his appointment to the bench, and he

became for a time a sufferer from the malady which ended

his life on the twenty-third of January, 1795, in his fifty-fifth

year. He was buried in the family cemetery on his farm at

Durham, not far from the dwelling which had been his home

for thirty years. The view from the cemetery over the water

and neighboring hills is interesting and impressive. Across

the river, in which the tide ebb3 and flows from the sea to

the falls near by, stands the handsome mansion long occupied

by his daughter, Mrs. Judge Steele. His widow resided till

her own death in 18.0 in the house where he died, and which
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is still in excellent preservation. Ilis son George, to whom
the name of the Cicero of New England is said to have justly

belonged, dwelt in Exeter, and the farm was most of it sold

by him after his father's death. Only a few acres, embracing

some terraces to the river, gardens and orchards, and the

cemetery higher up, remain attached to the house. The mar-

ble monument over the grave of General Sullivan, bearing a

simple inscription with brief reference to his noble career, is

carefully guarded by pious hands from dilapidation.

Prejudice may rob him of his well-earned laurels. Patriots

who made fewer sacrifices, who contributed less to the grand

result, may be preferred before him. It was no thirst for

fame, no yearning for distinction, that prompted him to

pledge life and all he possessed to the cause of liberty and

what he conceived the true interest of his country. Ear bet-

ter to have deserved well of the country without acknowledg-

ment, than to be laden with its regard and not be justly enti-

tled to it.

We feel assured that future generations, as they come and

pass, will recognize him among the honored throng that estab-

lished our national independence, built up our great republic.

A friend of Washington, Greene, Lafayette, and all the noblest

statesmen and generals of the war, whose esteem for him was

universally known—to whom his own attachment never

wavered—he will be valued for his high integrity and stead-

fast faith, his loyal and generous character, his enterprise and

vigor in command, his readiness to assume responsibility, his

courage and coolness in emergencies, his foresight in provid-

ing for all possible contingencies of campaign or battle-field,

and his calmness when results became adverse. All will admit

that one endowed with natural gifts as an orator, who wrote

readily and well, who was so constituted as to inspire affec-

tion and conciliate support, could not well have been spared

in a cause which depended for success upon elevated traits of

character, superior attainments, inflexible integrity, indomit-

able courage, and unfaltering trust.
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THE WHARTON FAMILY.

BY ANNE H. WHARTON.

(Concluded from page 57.)

43. William Moore Wharton5 (Thomas, Junr.,4 John,3

Thomas,2 Richard 1

), b. Jane 24, 1768 ; m. 1st, Mary Wain,

and 2dly, Aug. 13, 1804, Deborah Shoemaker, who was b. Dec.

18, 1783 ; d. July, 1851. He d. Aug. 14, 1816. By his first

wife he had four children.

142. Mary Waln.
143. Eebecca, b. Aug. 6, 1793.

144. Susan, m. Colin Campbell.

145. Sarah, b. 1797 ; bu. Feb. 25, 1800.

By his 2d wife he had eight children.

146. Mary Moore, b. May 25, 1805 ; d. unm. July, 1868.

147. Deborah Musgrave, b. April 29, 1806 ; d. unm. July, 1871.

148. William Moore, b. June 10, 1807 ; d. unm.

149. Daniel Clark, b. July 9, 1808 ; m. Anne W. Morgan.

150. John Halowell, b. July 9, 1809 ; d. July 26, 1809.

151. Sarah Norris. b. Feb. 11, 1811 ; d. July 5, 1811.

152. Kearney, b. March 4, 1812 ; d. unm. Feb. 1, 1843.

153. Elizabeth Shoemaker, b. June 16, 1813 ; m. William J. McCluney.

44. Sarah Xorris Wharton5 (Thomas, Junr.,4 John,3

Thomas,2 Richard 1

), m. 1st, Benjamin Tallman, M.D., of

Haddonfield, If. J., who d. s. p. She m. 2dly, Samuel son

of Samuel Courtauld, of London, by his wife Louisa Perine

Ogier. He d. 1821, aged 69. She d. 1836, aged 64. They

had three children.

154. Louisa, b. Oct. 7, 1800 ; d. unm. Aug. 27, 1860.

155. Amelia Wharton, b. Aug. 10, 1803 ; m. June 26, 1843, Milton Smith.

156. Sarah Lloyd, b. Feb. 1806 ; ra. July 28, 1830, Milton Smith.

48. Fishbourn Wharton5 (Thomas, Junr.,4 John,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. Aug. 10, 1778 ; m. 1st, May 10, 1804, Susan

Shoemaker, who'd. Xov. 3, 1821; and 2dly, Jan. 20, 1832,
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Mary Ann Shoemaker, sister of his first wife. She d. Xov.

4, 1858. He d. Dee. 3, 1846. By his first wife he had eight

children.

157. Thomas, b. May 4, 1805 ; d. unm. March 7, 1830.

158. George Mifflin, b. Dec. 26, 1S0G ; m. Maria Markoe.

159. FisHBOCRNE,b.Feb.l3,1809; d. nnra. Jao. 3, 1642.

160. Henry, b. Dec. 24, 1810; d. young.

161. Joseph, b. March, 1812 ; d. unm. Aug. 30. 1838.

162. Deborah, b. Feb. 29, 1816; d. Dec. 28, 1816.

163. William, b. Nov. 14, 1817 ; d. youug.

164. Edward, b. Jan. 25, 1819; m. Jane G. Shippen.

165. Elizabeth Fishbouhne, b. Jan. 14, 1821.

By his 2d wife he had two children.

166. Susan, b. April 9, 1837.

167. Philip Fishbocrne, b. April 30, 1841.

52. Sarah Crispin5 (Eachel,4 John,3 Thomas,2 Eichard 1

), m.

William Levis. They had two children.

168. Edmund, m. Elizabeth Thomson.

169. William, m. Elizabeth A. White.

57. Hannah Wharton5 (Thomas,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Eich-

ard 1

), b. Sept. 3, 1753 ; m. Jan. 5, 1785, James Cowles son of

William and Sarah Fisher. They had one son.

170. William Wharton, b. Oct. 1, 1786 ; m. Mary P. Fox.

67. Samuel Lewis Wharton5 (Samuel,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. in Philada. Feb. 14, 1759 ; m. May 30, 1782, by

Eev. William White, to Eachel, widow of Israel Musgrave,

and dau. of James and Eachel McCulloch. lie d. Oct. 27,

1788. They had three children.

171. Samuel, b. May 25, 1783; m. Dorcas Clark.

172. William, d. May 6, 1786, aged 6 mo.

173. Hannah Carpenter, d. infant.

70. Martha Wharton5 (Samuel,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Eich-

ard 1

), m. Samuel B. Shaw, whose will, dated Feb. 27, 1822,

was offered for probate Dec. 1, 1835. She d. Xov. 3, 1821,

aged 53. They had two children.

174. Sarah Lewis.

175. Samuel Wharton.
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75. Hannah Wiiarton5 (Joseph,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Rich-

ard 1

), b. JS"ov. 4, 17G7 ; m. June 24, 1790, William son of

"William Chancellor, by his wife Salome Wistar. She d.

April 13, 1847. They had six children.
*

176. "William, d. infant.

177. William, b. 1792 ; d. unm. May 18, 1876.

178. Child, bu. March 7, 1794.

179. Sarah Wharton, b. 1797; m. Edward Twells.

180. Henry, b. 1804 ; m. Caroline Ciapier.

181. Wharton, d. unm. 1866.

77. Sarah Wharton5 (Joseph,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Richard 1

),

b. April 23, 1772 ; m. Jan. 22, 1795, by Bishop White, at her

father's house, 81 South Third Street, to Jonathan Robeson,

He was commissioned, by President Adams, Lieut.-Yol. Light

Dragoons Provisional Army of the U. S., July 17, 1798.* In

Feb. 1799, he was appointed one of twelve commissioners to

receive subscriptions for shares in a loan for the purpose of

supplying the city of Philadelphia with wholesome water,f
He d. Sept. 5, 1799, aged 44. She d. Aug. 27, 1847. They
had three children.

182. Sarah Wharton, b. Nov. 26, 1795; m. Charles F. Logan.

183. Joseph, b. July 13, 1797; d. April 12, 1793.

184. Elizabeth, b. Feb. 14, 1799 ; d. unm. July 3, 1872.

83. Sarah Redwood Wharton5 (Charles,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. June 1, 1789 ; m. Xov. 19, 1808, William^ son

of William Craig, by his wife Mary Johns. She d. June 15,

1837. He d. July 14, 1869. Their children were—
185. Mart Johns, m. James Hall.

186. Wharton, m. Sarah A. Kruger.

187. Nancy Wharton, d. unm. Dec. 26, 1867.

188. Josephine, m. Samuel Rodman son of Charles Wain Morgan, by his

wife Sarah Rodman.

84. William Wharton5 (Charles,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Rich-

ard 1

), b. June 27, 1790 ; m. at old Pine Street Meeting, June

* "History of the First Troop Philadelphia City Cavalry."

t "Daily Advertiser."

% Mr. Craig ra. 2dly, Beulah, dau. of William Kawle.

Vol. ii.—15
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4, 1817, Deborah, t>. Oct. 24, 1795, dau. of Samuel Rowland
Fisher, by his wife Hannah Rodman. lie d. Jan. 15, 1856.

189. Hannah, b. March 6, 1818; m. Robert Hajdock.

190. Rodman, b. Jan. 26, 1820 ; m. Susan D. Parrish.

191. Sarah, b. Dec. 10, 1821 ; m. Abraham Barker.

192. Charles William, b. Dec. 23, 1823; m. Mary Lovering.

193. Joskph, b. March 3, 1826 ; m. Anne Lovering.

194. Mary, b. Jan. 17, 1828 ; ra. Joseph Thurston.

195. William, b. May 19, 1830 ; m. Anna Walter.

196. Samuel Fisher, b. Aug. 11, 1832 ; d. Feb. 22, 1843.

197. Anna, b. March 30, 1834: d. unm. Nov. 20, 1863.

198. Esther Fisher, b. Jan. 20, 1836 ; m. Benj. R. Smith.

85. Charles Wharton5 (Charles,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Rich-

ard 1

), b. Sept, 20, 1T92 ; m. June 15, 1815, Anne Maria dau.

of Jehu Ilollingsworth, by his wife Hannah Shallcross.* She

was b. March 29, 1796 ; d. Jan. 24, 1865. He d. May 23, 1864.

They had five children.

199. Charles, b. Feb. 26, 1816 ; m. Mary M. Boggs.

200. Elizabeth, b. Feb. 12, 1818 ; m. Charles Illius.

201. Redwood, b. June 15, 1821 ; d. July 19, 1821.

202. Anne Maria, b. July 28, 1824; m. April 2, 1844, Patrick Julius,

son of John Lachausske Bujac, by his wife Celeste Robin. He d.

8. p. Jan. 3, 1854.

203. Edmund, b. May 13, 1831 ; d. unm. Dec. 26, 1856.

86. Hannah Redwood^Tharton5 (Charles,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. Fov. 15, 1794 ; m. Oct. 14, 1813, before Robert

Wharton, to Thomas Gilnllan Ilollingsworth (brother of Mrs.

Charles Wharton), b. April 16, 1791 ; d. Oct. 19, 1864. She

d. June 11, 1854. Their children were

—

204. Charles Wharton, b. Oct. 27, 1814; d. Jan. 10, 1853.

205. Hannah Redwood, b. Jan. 29, 1816; d. unm. Feb. 3, 1868.

206. Elizabeth Shallcross, m. Charles A. Lyman.

207. William Wharton, b. Dec. 14. 1827 ; m. Caroline Newbold.

208. Fanny Redwood, b. Aug. 8, 1833 ; m. Crawford Arnold.

87. Francis Rawle Wharton5 (Isaac,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. Jan. 11, 1788 ; m. April 5, 1826, Juliana Matilda

dau. of Isaac Gouverneur, of New York. He d. Feb. 10, 1862.

She d. March 7, 1870. They had seven children.

* Daughter of Joseph Shallcross, by hi9 wife Orpah Gilpin.
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209. Alida Gouverneur, m. June 25, 1856, John T., son of Rev. James

Montgomery, D.D., by his wife Eliza Dennis Teakle. lie wa3 b.

April 3, 1817.

210. Francis Rawle, b. April, 1828.

211. Robertson, b. Sept. 29, 1829; d. unm. March 31, 18G3.

212. Edward, b. Dec. 9, 1830 ; d. unm. May 27, 1873.

213. Gouvernecr, b. May 23, 1832 ; d. unm. March 15, 1850.

214. Margaret, b. Oct. 2, 1833; d. March 24, 1849.

215. Alfred, b. Sept. 5, 1835; m. Susan Budd.

89. Thomas Isaac Wharton5 (Isaac,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

),
" the second son of Isaac Wharton, was born at the

family residence on Third Street, on May 17th, 1791. He
graduated at an early age at the University of Pennsylvania,

and shortly after graduating began the study of law in the

office of his uncle, Mr. William Rawle, then a lawyer of large

practice in Philadelphia, and previously district attorney under

Washington's administration. In the war of 1812 Mr. Whar-
ton served as a captain of infantry, and was engaged, with his

company, in the duties at Camp Dupont. At the close of the

war he began the practice of law in Philadelphia, and in the

twenty-fifth year of his age married Arabella, second daughter

of Mr. John Griffith, a merchant of Philadelphia, son of the

attorney-general of Xew Jersey of the same name, and brother

of Judge William Griffith, a judge of the Circuit Court of

the United States, and author of several law treatises. Mr.
Wharton was a diligent and discriminating student, and at an
early period of his life was distinguished for his literary taste

and skill. He was one of the contributors to the Portfolio,

under Mr. Dennie's management, and he became afterwards

one of the editors of the Analectic Magazine. It was to law,

however, that his studies were principally given ; and in this

department they bore ripe fruit. To him, in connection with
his uncle, Mr. Rawle and Judge Joel Jones, the codification

of the civil statutes of Pennsylvania was committed ; and the

code they reported, a document much in advance of the legis-

lation of the day, is marked by the impress of their wisdom,
learning, and skill. He was the author of the first editions

of Wharton's Digest, and of the six volumes of Wharton's
Reports. In addition to these works, several historical and
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literary addresses are in print bearing bis name; addresses

marked by strong sense, clear thought, and a nervous and

elegant style. Mr. Wharton's chief labors, however, were

given to bis profession, in which he acquired, chiefly as counsel

on matters of title, a large and commanding practice. In

politics he was attached to the Whig party during its exist-

ence, and was a personal and political friend of Mr. Clay. On

the dissolution of the Whig party, his attachments and consti-

tutional principles led him to unite with leading members of

that party in union with the Democratic. He died on April

7th, 1856, leaving behind him the reputation not only of high

legal abilities, but of spotless integrity and of undaunted

courage in the performance of duty. Of purity and unself-

ishness in domestic relations no truer example could be

found."— F. W.
Thomas Isaac "Wharton m. Arabella Griffith, Sept. 11, 1817;

her mother was Mary Core. She d. Feb. 27, 1866. Their

children were

—

216. Mary Griffith, b. Aug. 24, 1818 ; m. George D. Bland.

217. Francis, b. March 7, 1820 ; m. 1st, Sydney Paul ; and 2dly, Helen

E. Ashhurst.

218. Emily, b. Oct. 12, 1823; m. Charles Sinkler.

219. Henry, b. June 2, 1827 ; m. Katharine J. Brinley.

91. Rebecca Shoemaker Wharton5 (Isaac,4Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. Sept. 1, 1795 ; m. ISTov. 12, 1817, Jacob Ridgway
son ofJames Smith, by his wife Ann Ridgway, b. Oct. 10, 1791

;

d. Sept. 2, 1865. Shed. July 16,1846. They had five children.

220. Margaret Whartox, b. April 4, 1819 ; m. George H. White.

221. Caroline Eidgway, b. Oct. 24, 1820 ; m. Feb. 25. 1851, Samuel sen

of Joseph and Mary Pleasants, and d. s. p. Sept. 27, 1858.

222. Anna Ridgway, b. April 30, 1822 -

r m. William E. Evans.

223. Emily Sophia, b. June 3, 1824; m. James C. Worrell.

224 James Charles, b. Jan. 6, 1827; m. Nov. 7, 1869, Heloise dau. of

Francis Martin Drexel, by his wife Catharine Hookey.

92. John Wharton5 (Carpenter,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Richard1

)

m. April 22, 1809, Xancy, dau. of William Craig, by his wife

Mary Johns. She was b. July 6, 1781.

2?5. William Craig, b. May 7, 1811 ; m. Nancy TV. Spring.

226. Mary Craig, b. Aug. 24, 1814; m. James S. Wadsworth.

227. Thomas Carpenter, b. April, 1819; d. anm.
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101. Robert Morton Lewis5 (Rachel,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,3

Richard 1

), b. Aug. 20, 1786 ; m. Feb. 23, 1815, Martha Rut-

ter dau. of John Clement Stocker and Mary Katharine,—b.

March 11, 1789. He d. Feb. 18, 1855. Their children were—

228. Clements Stocker, b. May 6, 1816; d. Aug. 26, 1816.

229. Kobert Wharton, b. June 22, 1S17 ; d. July 12, 1817.

230. Mary Stocker, b. Oct, 14, 1818 ; d. unm. 1858.

231. Margaretta Stocker.

232. Julia Wharton, b. Aug. 2, 1823; m. Lawrence Lewis.

105. Hannah Owen Lewis5 (Rachel,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. June 6, 1795; m. Richard, son of Richard Wis-

tar. She d. Jan. 30, 1857. They had six children.

233. Sarah, m. 1st, Joseph Hopkinsou ; and 2dly, James Gillilan.

234. Rachel, d. inf.

235. Rachel Lewis, m. Alexander E. Harvey.

236. Richard.

237. William Lewis.

238. Frances, m. Lewis A. Scott.

107. Clifton "Wharton5 (Franklin,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2 Rich-

ard 1

), b. Oct. 22, 1801 ; m. Aug. 21, 1838, Oliveretta, dau. of

Oliver and Sarah Ornisby, of Pittsburg. They had live

children.

239. Clifton Ormsby, b. Aug. 19, 1839 ; m. Jane E. Page.

240. . Oliver Franklin.

241. John Burgwin, d. young.

242. Josephine, m. Pressly N. Chaplin.

243. Mary Etta, d. young.

108. George Washington Wharton5 (Franklin,4 Joseph,3

Thomas,2 Richard 1

), b. May 12, 1803 ; m. Dec. 3, 1829, Em-
meline Davis dau. of Robert Stout, by his wife Elizabeth

Evans. Their children are—

244. Mary Clifton, b. June 3, 1831 ; d. unm. May 5, 1858.

245. Franklin, b. Feb. 11, 1833; d. April 7, 1846.

246. George Washington, b. June 27, 1835; m. Josephine O. Page.

247. Robert Stout, b. Nov. 2, 1837.

248. Elizabeth, b. April 13, 1840 ; d. unm. Aug. 10, 1872.

249. Emmelene Barclay, m. George O. McMullin.

250. Clifton Lewis, b. June 8, 1848 ; m. Letitia Irwin.
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109. Franklin Wharton5 (Franklin,4 Joseph,3 Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. June 3, 1804; m. 1st, Baylor; 2dly, Walker;
3dly, Madam Oetavie Coycault, nee Duverge\ By his 1st wife

he had one son.

251. Edward Clifton, b. Nov. 1827; m. twice.

By his 3d wife he had two sons.*

252. Louis Duverge, b. June, 1844; d. unm. Feb. 1876.

253. Franklin Nicholas, b. 1847.

110. William LewisWharton5 (Franklin,4 Joseph,3Thomas,2

Richard1

), b. Dec. 17, 1805 ; m. Xov. 9, 1829, Ellen Jones

dan. of Col. David Brearley; and d. Oct. 4, 1846. He had

four children.

254. Clifton Tucker, b. July 31, 1834.

255. David Brearley, b. Aug. 7
y 1836.

256. Amanda Jones, b. Oct. 16, 1840 ; m. Frederick H. Gibson.

257. William Lewis, b. April 10, 1842 ; m. Jaue A. Cavanna.

113. Alfred Clifton Wharton5 (Franklin,4Joseph,3Thomas,2

Richard 1

), b. June 1, 1810 ; changed his name to Alfred Whar-
ton Clifton. He m. Dec. 22, 1829, at Princeton, Adelaide

Charlotte dau. of John and Mary Passage, and d. March 30?

1854.

258. Franklin Wharton, b. Oct. 18, 1830 ; d. 1849.

259. Anna Howell, b. June 16, 1832 ; d. May 18, 1835.

260. Mary, b. Dec. 11, 1833; m. Henry P. Ros3.

261. Alfred Clifton WJiarton, d. unm. Aug. 24, 1865, aged 30.

262. Clifton Wharton, b. Feb. 22, 1837.

263. Frances Anna, m. June 8, 1874, Henry son of Henry Freedley, of

Norristown, Pa., by his wife Eleanor H. Pawling.

264. Adelaide Charlotte, b. Feb. 9, 1846 ; d. June 3, 1852.

265. Eosa, b. Feb. 29, 1848 ; d. June 3, 1852.

266. Henrietta, b. Aug. 23, 1851 ; d. unm. Aug. 1874.

114. Henry Williams Wharton5 (Franklin,4 Joseph,3

Thomas,2 Eichard 1

), b. Sept. 27, 1811; m. Jan. 13, 1841, Ellen

G. Nugent. Their children are

—

267. Henry C, b. Nov. 1842 ; d. unm. April, 1870.

268. George, d. 1859.

269. Ellen Clifton, m. William Moore Wharton.

* Their eldest child, Oclavie, d. infant
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BUKIALS, 1709-1760.

CONTRIBUTED BY CHARLES R. HILDEBURN.

(Continued from page 101.)

Jasper, son of Samuel.
Samuel.
Anne, wife of Benjamin.
Bridget, wife of Joshua.

Strangers' Ground.
John, son of William.
Hannah, dau. of Robert.
Rotert.
Mary, wife of James.
Mararet, wife of James.
Thomas, son of Thomas.
Elizabeth, dau. of John.
Thomas.
Thomas, son of ye widow.
Growthilton, wife of William.
William, son of John.
James.
George.
John.
Robert, son of Robert.

Susannah, dau. of James and
Mary.

James, son ofJames and Mary.
Richard, of Barbadoes, Gent.

Jane.
Mary.
Isabella, dau. of Edward.
George-King, son of Edward.
Edward, son of Edward.
Thomas.
Hannah, dau. of William.

Hannah, dau. of William.
wife of David.

William, son of Thomas.
wife of John.

April 15, 1735. Carpenter,

Feb. 26, 1735-6 u

Sept. 25, 1738. u

July 31,1742. u

Feb. 1, 1745-6 cc

Eov. 17,1714. Carr,

Nov. 18, 1716. a

Aug. 30, 1732. u

April 17, 1739. u

July 29,1742. a

Nov. 3, 1743. a

Sept. 11, 1744. u

Sept. 3, 1745. u

Oct. 11, 1748. u

July 31,1750. u

Jan. 29, 1750-1 a

July 24,1712. Carrick,

June 28, 1756. Carson,
Sept. 15, 1759. 16

June 2, 1714. Carter,

Aug. 30, 1716. a

Sept. 7, 1726. u

June . 4, 1730. u

July 1, 1731. it,

Aug. 26, 1734. u

Jan. 8, 1734-5 u

Sept. 27, 1736. u

Jan. 22,1743-4 It

June 20, 1749. cc

Sept. 23, 1752. cc

Sept. 29, 1757. u

Aug. 14, 1758. u

Jan. 9, 1759. tt
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Sept. 19
Sept. 11

Aug. 7

May 15
April 8

Sept. 9

Sept, 19
Dec. 12

Oct. 19
Feb. 21
Sept. 30
Aug. 25

April 7

April 20

July 26

Sept. 11

Jan. 1

Aug. 5

Oct. 8

Aug. 26
Jan. 8

Aug. 20
Aug. 7

Aug. 9

Oct. 4
June 22
Nov. 13
Oct. 10
Nov. 6
Sept. 6
July 1

June 9

Nov. 25
Jan. 18
Oct. 13
June 23
Dec. 31
April 4
July 31
July 26
Jan. 16
Aug. 24
Oct. 20
July 12

Records of Christ Church, Philadelphia.

1746.

1749.

1752.

1738.

1759.

1711.

1711.

1726.

1729.

1730-
1731.

1734.

1737.

1741.

1751.

1751.

1758.

1753.

1744.

1743.

1753.

1750.

1741.

1742.

1729.

1744.

1752.

1756.

1759.

1729.

1731.

1734.

1741.
1742-
1747.

1749.

1753.

1755.

1733.

1740.

1719-

1727.

1749.

1721.

1.

Carteret,

Cartwright,

Carver,

Cary,
Cash,
u
u

u
44

u
a
u
u
u
a
u

Castle,

Cater,

Catman,
Chace,
Chaise,

Chalmer,
44

Chambers,
44

44

Chancellor,
44

44

44

3.

Channel,
44

Chapel,
Chapman,
Chappell,

Charington,
20. Charlton,

Charnock,
Charriton,

Chase,

Cadwalader, dau. of Thomas.
Cadwalader, son of Thomas.
Mary, dau. of Shackerleyer.

Frances.

son of Captain, [beth.

John, son of Caleb and Eliza-

Elizabeth, wife of Caleb.

Caleb, son of Caleb and Re-
becca.

Alice, dau. of Caleb, Senior.

Alice, wife of Caleb.

Caleb, son of Caleb, Junior.

Josiah, son of Caleb.

Caleb.

Caleb Appleton, son of Caleb.

Mary, dau. of Thomas.
Rebekkah, wife of Caleb.

Cynthia, dau. of Thomas.
Mary, wife of Nicholas.

Elizabeth. [poor.

Thomas. Strangers' Ground,
Abigail, wife of Newburn.
Benjamin, son of Newbold.
Andrew.
Andrew, son of Andrew.
George.
Richard. Strangers' Ground,
Henrietta. [poor.

son of Alexander.
William, son of Alexander.
Hugh, son of William.
Mary, dau. of William.
Hugh, son of William.
Mary, wife of William.
William.
John, son of James.

child of James.
Mary, wife of John.
John.
William, son of John.
Thomas, son of Clement.
Judith, wife of Edward. Gent.
Thomas.
Mary. [Mary.
Thomas, son of Thomas and
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June 26
Aug. 27
June 1

April 23
Nov. 19
Dec. 24
Dec. 22
Nov. 11
June 15
May 8

Sept. 21
Nov. 7

Feb. 11

Sept. 3

July 30
June 12
Aug. 11
July 5

June 28
Mar. 24
April 13
Dec. 22
Mar. 24

12
21

3

Dec.
Oct.

July
July 16
July 10
Oct. 26
Mar. 8

July 18
Dec. 7
Aug. 24
June 20
Sept. 8

Oct. 4
Aug. 1

May 29
Jan. 18

2

12
Aug.
Feb.

Jan. 13
Jan. 18
Feb. 22

1732.

1734.

1735.

1731.

1721.

1723.

1748.

1755.

1756.

1733.

1722.

1757.
1749-
1758.

1742.

1734.

1756.

1748.

1749.

Chase,
u

Cheek,
Cheesman,
Cheney,
Chevers,

Chew,

Chilcoat,

Child,
a

50. Childs,

Christian,

Christie,

Church,
u

Clackson,
Clakson,

Clark,

1730-1. Clare.

1731.

1732.

1716-7
1726.

1739.

1740.

1744.

1749.

1756.

1759.

1745.

1759.

1733.

1756.

1712.

1753.

1750.

Clarke,

Clarkson,

Claton,

Clawson,
Claxon,

1750. Claxson,
1739-40. Claxton,
1714. Clay,
1726-7. Claypole,

1736-7. "

1736-7. "

1744-5. "

Mary, wife of Thomas.
Thomas.
Damaris.
Margaret.
Mary.
Adam, Junior.

Joseph.
Mary, wife of Benjamin.

dau. of Benjamin.
Hannah, wife of Thomas.
William, from Jamaica.
William.
Jane, dau. of John.
Matthew.
James, son of Robert.

Edward, son of William.
Elizabeth. [Drowned.
Josiah, son of James.
Sarah, dau. of James.
John, son of John.
Rebecca, dau. of John.
John, son of John.
Thomas.
Henry. Sailor.

Jane, wife of John.
Mary, wife of Henry.
Mary, wife of Henry.
Henry.
Abner.

wife of Abner.
Richard.
Joseph.
Martha, wife of Judo.
— dau. of Matthew.
Richard.
Anne.
Mary, wife of Jame3.

William, son of Joseph.

James, son of James. [Anne.

Hannah, dau. of Robert and

Joshua, son of Joseph. Qua-

kers' Ground.
Edith, wife ofJoseph. Ground
Mary, dau. of George, [given.

Hannah, wife of George.
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July 19, 1746. Claypole, Mary, dau. of James.
July 19, 1749. U Rebekah, wife of James.
July 8, 1751. £< Edith, dau. of James.
Feb. 25, 1740-] .. CIaypool, Joseph. [Edith.

Jan. 5, 1719-:10. Claypoole, James, son of Joseph and
July 30, 1738. " John, son of George.

Aug. 11,1757. Clcaveland, The Reverend.
July 3, 1714. Cleinhoof, Ralph.
Jan. 25, 1739-40. Clemence, Mary, wife of Abraham.
April 18, 1746. Clements, Edy.
Sept. 12, 1751. Clemm, Mary, dau. of William.
Oct. 17, 1743. Clifton, John, son of John.
June 11, 1745. cc Thomas, son of John.
May 12, 1755. cc John. [beth.

Aug. 7, 1710. Climer, John, son ofRichard and Eliza-

Sept. 25, 1751. Clinton, Sarah, dau. of William.
Nov.
Aug.

11, 1756.

3, 1758.

cc c-r\y\ /-\4- T/~kl->-i-»

Clipson,

toUll \JL tj UU.il.

William.
Oct. — , 1725. Closs, Susan, dau. of Hanns and
June 22, 1709. Clouther, Roger. [Elizabeth.

July 26, 1712. u Elizabeth, dau. of Roger and
Dec. 17, 1715. Clubb, Rev. John. [Ann.
June 24, 1723. cc Isabel.

Aug. 22, 1736. Clulow, Anne, wife of James.
Aug. 21, 1748. cc William, son of James.
Aug. 10, 1744. Clyant, William, son of William.
May 19, 1714. Clyiner, Sarah, dau. of Richard and

Elizabeth.

Jan. 4, 1715-i5. « Richard, son of Richard and
Elizabeth.

July 4, 1733. cc Elizabeth, wife of Richard.
Aug. 17, 1734. cc Richard.
July 31, 1744. cc Richard, son of William, Jr.

July 27, 1746. cc Capt. Christopher.
April 26, 1751. cc Capt. William.
Mar. 8, 1726-7. Clynough, Casper, son of Casper.
July 17, 1721. Coant, Mary, dau. of John and Sarah.
July 1, 1747. Coatam, Hannah, dau. of Thomas.
Aug. 7, 1747. cc Elizabeth, dau. of Thoma3.
Nov. 11, 1754. cc Thomas.
Aug. 1, 1757. cc William.
Aug. 6, 1742. Coates, Elizabeth, dau. of John, Jr.

Oct. 1, 1744. cc Mary, wife of Warwick.
Mar. 29, 1744-c>. " John, son of Warwick.
Aug. 11, 1750. cc John, son of John.

(To be continued.)
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MARCH MEETING OF THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

OF PENNSYLVANIA.

A stated meeting of the Society was held on the evening- of March 11,

1878, the President (Mr. Wallace) in the chair.

On behalf of the sculptor, Mr. Joseph A. Bailly, the Hon. Benjamin Harris

Brewster presented to the Society a bust of Gen. Meade, which was accepted

by the President.

Henry Flanders, Esq., read a memoir of Thomas Fitzsimmons, a member of

the Convention which formed the Constitution of the United States, a partner

of the pre-Revolutionary firm of Mead and Fitzsimmons of the city of

Philadelphia.

A biographical sketch of Gouverneur Morris by Miss Catharine Keppele

Meredith was read by Mr. William J. Morn's. William Henry Ruddiman,

Esq., announced the death, upon the 15th of February, of Joseph J. Mickley,

one of the Council of the Society, and read an obituary notice of that gentle-

man.

The President read the Regulations of the Philadelphia Dancing Assem-

bly, of 1748-9, recently found among the papers of John Swift, one of the

four managers ; and presented to the Society by his great-grandson, Mr.

Charles Riche Hildeburn.

The President then announced, that by the charter an election for cer-

tain officers, would be held on the 6th of May, 1878, and that all nominations

must be made at the present meeting.

John Goforth, Esq., nominated the present officers for the places which

would become vacant with the close of the charter year.

The thanks of the Society were unanimously given to the different persons

to whom it was indebted for the papers read and for the reading of them.

The President announced that at eight o'clock, on the evening of Monday,

April 8, 1878, Mr. Solomon W. Roberts, Civil Engineer, would read before

the Society a paper entitled Reminiscences of the First Railroad Across the

Allegheny Mountain.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.

Notes.

Early Swedish Records—Extracts from Parish Records of Gloria
Dei Church, Philadelphia.— Mr. Rudman, anxious for a speedy and accu-

rate knowledge of his cangregution, formed'in 1697 and 1698 a list of all the

families, and classed them in local districts. This was inserted in the book,

still preserved, which also contains the records of baptisms, marriages,

burials, etc. It is here translated from the Swedish. Many of the names
being somewhat altered by time, they are written in the modern way. as

follows: Baptism names—Andrew (Anders), Benedict (Bengt), Isaiah

(Esaia), John (Johan), James (Joens), Laurence (Lorenz), Nicholas (Nils),

Stephen (Staphan), Swan (Svec), William (Olave). This last name ha3

Dot, indeed, any corresponding- in English, William being called Wilhelm in

Swedish ; but the offspring of these Olaves substituted William as in some
degree similar, and of common use; the former is quite obsolete. The fe-

male names are nearly the same in both languages. Brigittaor Bridget for

Brita, and Helena for Elanor, may be noticed. Surnames, little altered,

are: Johnson (Janson), Morton (Mortenson), Swanson (Svenson), Wheeler
(Wieler), Fish (Fisk), of the same meaning. More changed are: Bancson
(Bengtson), Cox (Cock), Lycon (Laiken), Jones (Jonason or Jonson), Toy
(Tay and Tow). Much varied from the original are: Culin (Yan Coelen),

Hewlings (Haling then Huling), King (Cone then Koenig), Boon (Bonde),
Justis (Gustafson then Justison), Urian (Joergen). Garret (Gertson). The
sons of Arian Johnson, at Tinnicum. took the name of Aretzon, and this was
afterwards changed into Archer, which is yet preserved. [Note by Rev.
Dr. Collin.]

New Jersey.—Senamensing, at the other side of the river. Fredric
King, b. in Sept. 1659, married 1686, drown'd Sept. 24th, 1698. His wife

Christina, d. of Jonas Nelson. Their children: Andrew, John, twins, 2£
years, b. Deer. 11, 1694; Elias, 7 years, born in May, 1690; Alexander, 15
weeks, b. March 31, 1697 ; Julia, 4 years, born in Sept. 1693. Their hired

men, John and Peter.

Elias Toy, born in Oct. 1664. His wife Gertrude, d. of Nelson, born 1671,
married Febr. 1690. Their children: Fredric, b. July 30th, 1690; Marg-
ret, b. Deer. 14, 1691 ; Maria, b. Septr. 4, 1693; Christina, born in the year
1694. His wife's sisters: Catharine Nelson, b. May 1st, 1674; Anna do.,

b. July, 1676. Isaiah do., born June 20, 1697.

Caspar Fish, b. Febr. 4, 1651, married Apr. 17, 1675. His wife Marg-
ret, born 1656, died Nov. 14, 1697. Their children : John, 19 vs., born
Septr. 15, 1677 ; Gnstavus, 18 vs., b. Deer. 10, 1678; Elias, 17 ys.'b. June
16, 1681; Caspar, 9 ys., born Febr. 9, 1684; Susannah, b. Jan. 11, 1688;
Maria, 4 vs., born May 15, 1693.

Mrs. Ella, mother of the Steelmans now. Her sons : Eric, aged 16 ys.

;

Charles, 18 ys.

Mouns Cox. His wife Gunnila, d. of Jonas Nelson. Their children:
Peter, 14 years; Jonas, 12; Gabriel, 7; Margaret, 16; Helene, 10 ; Maria,

5; Catharine, 1. His wife
T
s sister, Brigitta, 17 ys.

Peter Matson. His wife Catharine Rambo. Married Febr. 16, 1674.

Their children : Peter, 12 ys., b. May 27, 1685 ; Mathias, 10, b. Augt. 12,





Notes and Queries. 225

1688; John, 3, b. Jane 14, 1G94; Jacob, 4. b. May 25, 1697; Eliza, 19. b.

February 7. 1678 ; Catharine, 17, born Deer. 29, 1679 ; Maria, 14, b. May
11, 1682 ; Margret, 5, born Febr. 1, 1692.

Laurence Hidings. His wife Catharine. Their son Laurence.

Eric Cox. His wife Elizabeth. Their children : Peter, 23 years of age;
John, 21 ; Laurence, 14 ; Olave, 12 ; Helene, 10 ; Margret, 8 ; Anna, 4

;

Maria, 2.

Olave Dahlbo. His wife Catharine. Their children : Andrew, Lau-
rence, Gabriel, Charles. Peter, born 1690 ; John. His mother Elizabeth.

John Rambo. His wife Brigitta, d. of Peter Cox. Their children : John,
born July 6th, 1692 ; Peter, born Jan. 6. 1694; Brigitta, b. Nov. 15. 1685;
Catharine, b. Octob. 4, 1689; Margret, born Jan. 23, 1691; Maria, born
May 5, 1695.

Stephen Johnson. His wife Anna, d. of Matson. Their children : An-
drew, 4 years; John, 1^ years; Jonas, born Augt. 6, 1697. His wife's sis-

ter Gertrude.
John Lock.
Andrew Lock. His wife Christina Fish. Her children by the first hus-

band : Catharine, Peter, Fredric, Elizabeth, John, Regina. The eldest of

them fifteen years old. Her child with Andrew Lock : Maria, 2 years old,

Aug. 15th.

Trumpeter's Creel:—Andrew Anderson Homan. His wife Catharine,
born in Finland. Their children : Olave Anderson, Andrew Anderson, Mi-
chael Anderson, Brigitta.

On the Sea Shore Great Egg Harbor.—James Steelman. His wife Su-
sannah, sister of Elias Toy. Their children : Andrew, 5£ years; Susannah,

3£ years. His mother- in-law Christina. A servant girl.

Peter Steelman. His wife Gertrud. Two children.

Takokan, near Little Egg Harbor.—Eric Mollicka, born in Helsinge-

land and Mora Parish, 62 years of age in Apr. 1698. His wife Ingabor,

sister of Peter Cox's wife. Their children : John, 20 years ; Stephen, 13

ys. the 30th of April ; Catharine, 15 years.

Pennsylvania, this side of the river above the Cliurch, Pacquessung.—
Andrew Bancson, Junr. His wife Gertrud. Their children: Andrew, 2

years ; Elizabeth, 3 months. The girl Magdalen, 10 ys.

Laurence Boor, b. Aug. 1648. His wife Elizabeth, b. Febr. 1654. Mar-
ried in 1671. Their children: Laurence, 19 years; Andrew, born Sept. 20

or 29, 1691 ; Elizabeth, 10 vs., born March 14, 1687 ; Maria, born August
7, 1698. The servant girl Maria, b. 1675.

Peter Rambo, Jr., b. June 17, 1653. His wife Magdalen, d. of Swan
Scuter, born March 25, 1660. Married Novr. 12, 1676. Their children :

Swan, 20 years, b. Octob. 19, 1677 ; Peter, 15, born Dec. 20, 1682 ;
Andrew,

born Apr. 2d, 1691 ; Elias, 4, born Febr. 7, 1694; Jacob. £, born March 28,

1697; Brigitta, 17, b. March 10, 1679. The servant girl Ingabor. 23 ys.

Living by themselves: Ann, the sister of Ingabor, 23 ys. ; Maria, do., 21

ys. ; Helene, do., 10 ys.

Nicholas Jestenberg, b. in 1659. His wife Maria, born in 1663. Married

in 1680. Their children : Ingabor* 16 years, b. 1681 ; Anna, 14 years, b.

1683; Helene, 12. b. 1685; Maria, born Jan. 18, 1690; Brigitta, 6, born

Apr. 11, 1691; Abigail, 4, born March 11, 1697; Peter, 4, born Aug. 3,

1693. Marcus, his wife's sister's son, 13 ys.

Eric Jestenberg. His wife Hasin. The servant girl Regina. A negro

boy.
Mathias Keen. His wife Henrietta. Their children: Maria. 5 years;

Christina, 4; John, 2; Anna, born Sept. 7, 1697; Jonas, born Sept. 16,

1698. A negro boy.
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Christian Classon. His wife Margret. Their children : Clas, 14 years;

Ann, 12; Catharine. 10; Christina, 8; John, 6; James, 2 ;
Elizabeth, 3;

Christian, born Sept. 29, 1697.

Eric Keen. His mother Welamkie. His brothers Jonas and Peter.

Nicholas Lycon. His wife Maria. Their children : John, Peter, Chris-

tina, Gertrnd, Maria, Anna.
Andrew Lycon. His wife Anna. Their child Christina. The servant

girl Catharine.
Hans Lycon. His wife Gertrud. Their children: John, Peter, born

Jan. 2d, 1699.

Gunnar Rambo. His wife Anna. Their children; Peter, 19 years;

Gunnar, 17; Andrew,- 15; Mouns, 13; Gabriel, 10; Mathias, 7; Elias, 4;

Brigitta, 12.

Michael Lvcon. b. 1644. His wife Helena, b. 1650. Married in 1670.

Their children: Nicholas, born Febr. 20, 1677; Mouns, born March 10,

1679 ; Andrew, born March 11. 1682 ; Michael, born Octob. 11. 1666 ;
Zach-

arias, born Dec. 26, 1696 ; Gertrud, born Dec. 16, 1675; Christina, born

Febr. 17, 1634; Helene, born Deer. 29, 16S9.

Wicacoa.— Anna Swanson, widow of Andrew. Her children : Gunnar,

30 ys. ; Christopher, 19 ys. ; Andrew, 11.

Swan Swanson's widow Catherine. Her children : Barbara, 23 ys. ; Cath-

arine, 15 ys. ; and four negroes.

Lydia, widow of Olave Swanson, born in Apr. 1647. Her children : John,

30 ys. ; Peter, 29 vs. ; Lvdia, 17 ys. ; Judith, 9 ys. A colored girl.

Nitapkung. at Schuylkill—John Skute, b. Sept. 4. 1654. His wife Anu-
gott. Their children : Swan, born Jan. 10. 1692 ; Christina, born Septr. 4,

1637. A servant girl of Engl, religion. His brother-in-law Morton Garret.

Garret Morton. His wife Magdalen.
Mouns Justis. His wife Christina. Their children : John, 2 years ; An-

drew, | year. N. B. John Bowler and his wife, daughter of John Jones.

Nicholas Jones. His wife Christina. Their children : Swan, 14 years;

Peter, 10; Andrew, 4; Helene, 12; Margret. 8 ; Brigitta 6; Cicely, 2.

Mouns Jones. His wife Ingabor. Their children : Peter, 4 years ; Mar-
gret, 6 ; Christina, If; Jonas, born Sept. 23d, 1698.

Peter Jocom. His wife Julia. Their children : Peter, 20 years ; Mouns,
19 ; Charles, 15 ; Swan, 12 ; Jonas, 8 ; Andrew, 4 ; John, 1^- ; Catharine, 16

;

Julia, 10. An Indian boy. 20 years.

Thomas Jenderman. His wife Margret. Their children : Euclides, Elsa
(children by her former husband). Longshore ; Maria, d. of Thos. Jenderman.
Andrew Longacre. His wife Magdalen, d. of Peter Cox. Their children :

Peter, 15 years ; Andrew, 13 ; Margret, 9 ; Helene, 7 ; Maria, 5 ; Catharine,
9 months.

Gustavus Justis. His wife Anna. Their children: John, 15 years;
Mouns, 13; Gustavus, 10; Morton, 8; Andrew, 6 ; Peter, 4; Helene, 2

;

Charles, b. Oct. 15, 1697.

Peter Lock.
Tahokaning.—Olave Mollicka. 24 vs.; Eric Mollicka, 22 ; Anna Mol-

licka, Helena, sisters. Anna Runnels, Engl., professing our religion. Her
daughter Elsa, son Olave.
Nishammeni Creek.—Clas Johnson. His wife "Walburg, d. of Mathias

Bancson. Their children : John, 14 ; Laurence, 9 ; Derick, 6 ; Gertrude,

3 ; Barbara.
John Classon. His wife Margret, d. of Johnson. Her [or his] sisters

:

Catharine, 17 ys. ; Elizabeth. 19 ys.

John Enochs. His wife Brigitta. d. of Olave Jestenberg. Their children :

John, 7 years ; Peter, 6 ys. ; Brigitta, 4 ; Anna, £.
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Michael Fredrics. His wife Anna, d. of John Classon. Their daughter
Frances, 20 yrs.

Walburg, widow of Donck Williams. Her son William, born in Nov.
1676.

In the City of Philadelphia.—George Thompson.
Single men : Clement Paul, John Bartholomews, Nicholas Matson, Peter

Homan, Matthew Henricson, Peter Lock.
From the Church down the River, at the Hollander's Creek (near Moy~

amensing).—Benedict Bancson. His wife Catharine. Their children : son
Daniel, 3 ys'.

Andrew Wheeler. His wife Catharine. Their children : John, 7 ys.

;

Andrew, 5; Laurence, 4; Anna, 14.

John Stille. EI is wife Gertrud. Their children : Christina, 13 ys. ; Anna,
12 ys. ; Olave, 10; John, 5; Sarah, 7; Brigitta, 4; Barbara, 4.

Andrew Bancson. b. 1640. His wife Gertrud, b. Oct. 19. 1650. Married
Nov. 22, 1668. Their children : Peter, born March 6, 1677 ; Catharine, b.

Jan. 29, 1679 ; John, b. March 31, 1681 ; Jacob, b. Octob. 19, 1684 ; Brigitta,

b. April 10, 16S7 ; Daniel, b. Jan. 22. 1691 ; Joseph, b. May 2, 1696.

John Cox, Junr., b. Jan. 20, 1673. His wife Margret, born in 1671. Mar-
ried May 25. 1694. Their children : Swan, 2 ys. ; Martha, 2 months. The
servant boy Fredric, 10 ys., part Swede.
John Rambo. Junr. His wife Auna, d. of Michael Lycon, b. Aug. 21,

1673. Their son Peter.

Peter Cox, Junr., b. Jan. 20, 1671. His wife Elizabeth. Their children

:

Laurence, 5 years ; Andrew, 1 i.

Captn. Laurence Cox. b. March 21, 1646. His wife Martha, b. in Augt.
1650. Married May 15. 1669. Their children: Robin, b. Sept. 1681;
Mouns,b. Nov. 4, 16S3; Laurence, b. Aug. 15, 1688 ; Gabriel, b. March 25,

1695; Margret, b. February 18,1685; Deborah, b. July 7, 1693. Note. A
negro girl 14 vs., a heathen. Richard Ross, an Englishman, married a
daughter of Captn. Lawrence Cox.

Richard Rods, Englishman. His wife Catharine, b. Deer. 1669. Their
children : John, Laurence, Richard, Joseph, Benjamin, Martha. His wife

•and children are Lutherans.
Peter Cox. Senr. His wife Helene. Children: Peter, 9 ys. ; Israel, 4;

Mouns, 2 ; Maria, 14 ; Helene, 12 ; Margret, 7.

Matthias Holstein, b. 1642. His wife Catharine, b. 1673. Married in

1688 (sic). Their children : Laurence, b. Sept. 15, 1677; Andrew, b. Jan. 19,

1679; Mathias, b. Julv 1. 1681 ; Fredric, b. Jan, 13, 1684: Peter. Jan. 16,

1691; Henry, b. March 29, 1694; Catharine, b. Jan. 10, 1697.

Andrew Rambo. His wife Maria. Their children : John, Andrew, Peter,

Brigitta, Maria, Martha. Note. Old Peter Rambo. The hired man, Peter
Homan.

Peter Justis. His wife Brigitta. Their children : Peter. Jonas, his

wife's sister's son.

Brigitta, daughter of Mouns. Swan Justis, 20 years ; Andrew Justis, 16

y. ; Maria, a nurse child, 8 years; Charles Justis, Taylor, single man ; John
Justis, widower.
Andrew Jones. His wife Catharine. Their children : Boerje, 5 years

;

Swan, 34 y. ; Jonas, 2.

Gabriel Cox. His mother Margret. His wife Maria. Children : Peter,

9 ys. ; Gabriel, 7; Rebecca, 5; Margret, 3; David, j. The hired man
Matthew.

Valentine Ernest Cox. His wife Margret, d. of Swanson.
Nicholas Boon. His mother Anna. His brothers and sisters : Olave, 20

y.; Andrew, 14: Margret. 18: Brigitta, 16; Ambor, 12.

Peter Boon. His wife Catharine.
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Otto Ernest Cox. His wife Christina. Their son Zacharias, 23 ys. An
Engl, boy, Jacob Davis. 13 ys. Their son-in-law Mathias Nezelius. His
wife Eliza. Their daughter Christina.

Calkoon Hook.—Swan Boon. His wife Brigitta, d. of Swanson. Their
children : Gertrud. 8 ys. ; Catharine, 6 ; Andrew, 2^.

Hans Boon, 28 y.

Morton Morton. His wife Marqret. Their children: Morton, b. June
17, 1675; Laurence, b. Oct. 5, 1678; Andrew, b. Sept, 8. 1681; John, b.

June 1, 1683; Jacob, b. May 24, 1686 ; Matthias, b. Sept. 8, 1690 ; David, b.

Feb. 20, 1695 ; Margret, b. March 27, 1687. John Bartholomews, single

man.
Mouns Peterson. His son Peter, 30 y. His wife Anna Fish. Their

children : Magdalene, 5 y. ; Peter, 2 y. ; Henrietta. A nurse boy, 4 years.

An old man, Nicholas Matson.
Hans Urian. His wife Elizabeth. Their children : John, 18 years ; Fred-

ric, 10 ; Andrew, 7; Ann Mary, 17; Helene, 12; Elizabeth, 8; Dorthea,
5. His stepson Laurence.

Tennicum Creek.—Anan Johnson. His wife Gertrud. Their children:

Helene, 17 years ; Gunnar, 12 ; John, 10 ; Jacob, 3 ; Adam, 1. His wife's

sister's daughter Elizabeth. 7 years.

Mathia3 Morton. His wife Anna, d. of John Justis. Their children:
Andrew, 6 ys. ; Martin, 5 y. ; Maria, 2 y. ; John, b. April 14, 1697 ; Chris-

tina, b. Oct. 23, 1699.

Mortou Morton. His wife Helene. Their children : Mathias, 28 ys.

;

Andrew, 26.

Henric Johnson. His son John Henricson. His wife Magdalen. Their
children : Ann Mary, 5 ys. ; Elizabeth. 3; 2 children not baptized, Andrew,
Sarah, twins, b. Aug. 6, 1697. A hired girl, Brigitta. A boy, Michael,
12 ys.

William Cabb. His wife Christina. Their children : John, Christina,

Deborah, Mary, Elsa, William, Helene.

Crura Creek.—Andrew Henricson. His wife Brigitta, d. of Morton.
Their children : Henric, 6 years: Jacob, 4; Helene, 1.

John Cox, Senr. His wife Brigitta. Their children: Peter, 18 years;,

Charles, 12; Magnus, 9; John, 2; Catharine, 16; Anna, 7; Mary, 4;
Augustus.

Culen's children : Jacob, Reigner, Gregory, Maria.
John Friend. His wife Anna, d. of Henr., Colman. Their daughter Helen,

b. Jan. 26, 1697.

Enoch Enochs. His wife Susannah. Their children : Gabriel, born Feb.
95, 1695 ; Andrew-.
Anna, widow of Nelson. Her children : Sarah, Barbara, Gabriel, Lau-

rence. G. B. Keen.

The First Child of English Parentage Born in Pennsylvania.—The
" Pennsylvania Gazette" for June 28 to July 5, 1739. contains the following :

Philadelphia. On the 30th of May past, the children, grand-children, and
great grand-children of Richard Butfington, Senior, to the number of one

hundred and fifteen, met together at his house in Chester County, as also his

nine sons- and daughters-in-law, and twelve great grand-children-in-law. The
old man is from Great Marie, upon the Thames, in Buckinghamshire, in

Old England, aged about 85, and is still hearty, active, and of perfect

memory. His eldest son, now in the sixtieth year of his age, was the first-

born of English descent in this Province. O. R. H.

Claim to New Jersry in 1784.— In the discussion of the fishery and
boundary question of New Jersey, early deeds conveying such rights become
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of importance. Some time since the writer saw at an old bookstand a
tattered 12mo. volume, which was evidently an English book, and printed by
subscription, as a few subscribers' mimes remained, though the title-page

was gone. The name of this work, " Nature Displayed," is a popular appel-

lation in the literary world ; and is not to be confounded with Dufief'a volume,

or with the '' World Displayed." both on very different subjects.

The author set out for America in 1781, and traveled about the country;

this statement comes in the middle of this wandering narrative. He came
to pursue a claim to New Jersey, based on a newly discovered deed registered

in Dublin, which he had copied and handed about (query in a printed broad-

side) among the skeptical Jerseymen. He speaks particularly of Edmund
Plowden's History, and of the libraries in Philadelphia and Burlington,

which latter, he says, contains many rare pamphlets, and refers also to

Smith's History.

The observations are largely meteorological, the weather having made a
much greater impression on this traveler than anything else, as the places

visited are only briefly mentioned. No copy of this book is to be found in

the Philadelphia Library, or in the Historical Society of Penna. I should
therefore be obliged for the name of the author and some account of his

claim to our State.

A curious instance of long possession under the Scottish law, of the fish-

ings for nearly four hundred years, may be of interest in the discussion, as

that long tenure under the decision of the courts in Scotland did not, it

appears, give undisturbed rights. See the Herald and Genealogist, London,
1873, vol. 7, pp. 461, 465. William John Potts.
Camden, New Jersey.

(Queries.

Martin Funk.—Information is wanted concerning the former residence
of Martin Funk in Germany

—

ivhen he left the old country, and where he
landed. He and his family of seven children were members of the Institu-
tion at Ephrata, Lancaster Co., Pa.

Paxton, Lis. J. M. Hanley.

"An Author "Wanted."—Information is desired regarding the author of
a small octavo pamphlet of 20 pages with the following title : Some

|
Reme-

dies
|

proposed
|
for the

|
Restoring the Sunk Credit

|
Of the Province of

|

Pennsylvania;
|
with

|
Some Remarks on its Trade.

| Humbly Oflfer'd to the
'Consideration of the

j
Worthy Representatives in the General

j
Assembly

of this Province
j
By a Lover of this Country.

|
Amor Patrice, Ratione

valentior Omni,
j
Ovid, ex Pont,

j Printed in the Year, 1721.
|

W. B. R.

Heroes op the War of 1812.—Can any of the readers of the Pennsvl-
vania Magazine give me the title of a book relating to the War of 1812-15,
containing an account of the personal appearance of the heroes of that war ?

J. P. N.

Mellon.—Can some of your readers give a solution to the following que-
ries? 1st. Where the mortal remains of Thomas Mellon, a soldier of the
War of 1812 from Philadelphia, were buried ? Hi3 musket, captured from

Vol. ii.—16
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the third Highlanders at the battle of New Orleans, was kept on exhibition

at Independence Ha;l, Puiladeiphia, as late as lb62 ; it has since ditap-

peared. 2d. The burial-place of Lieut.-Col. James Mellon, of Col. Weston's
Massachusetts Regiment, who was at the defence of Fort Schuyler. August,
1777 ? To what branch of the family did Thomas Mellon and James
Mellon belong ? 3d. Are there any of their descendants living ? 4th.

What was the origin of naming Mdlenville, Columbia Co., New York;
Mellonsville, Laurens Co.. Kentucky ; Mellonville, Orange Co., Florida

;

Millin, Burke Co., Ga. ; Milieu's Bay, Jefierson Co., N. Y. ; Malone or

Malon, Franklin Co., N. Y. ? 5th. "Where were the remains of Greuville

Mellen, a lawyer and poet, who died in the city of New York 5th Septem-
ber, 1841, interred? He was the eldest sou of Prentiss Mellen, who was
Chief Justice and Senator in Cougress from the State of Maine. 6th. Who
were the parents of the Deborah Mellon, who married Samuel Buckman, at
Maiden, Mass., Sept. 1G97, lived afterwards at Weymouth, Me.?

335 E. 16th St., New York. George Mellon.

The Shoemaker Property, Germaxtown.—Watson's Annals, ii. 23. re-

fers to '* Schumacher's ancient house, built in 1686, and till lately standing

in Mehl's meadow ;" and again, p. 33, refers to Mayor "Shoemaker's country

house, the same now a part of the house of Mr. Duval's place, and enlarged

by Col. T. Forrest."

Was not Shoemaker Lane, now Penn Street, named after this family, and
did not <be modern house stand on Main Street at the corner of this lane,

and was not the last owner of the name of Benjamin Shoemaker, whose
daughter, Mrs. Ann Bloodgood, succeeded to it ?

May 9. T. H. M.

Marshall.—Can any reader of the Magazine inform us whether the an-

cestors of John Marshall. Chief Justice, came directly from England to Vir-

ginia, or if they were of the Pennsylvania family, as supposed by some of the

latter? The name of General Humphrey Marshall, of Kentucky, suggests

relationship with the Pennsylvania botanist, on which point the writer would
be pleased to be informed. Cope.

William Moore.—Information wanted concerning William Moore, Presi-

dent of Supreme Executive Council of Penna. from 1781 to 1782.

J. A. M. P.

Early Mention or Coal.—In the Non-importation Agreement entered

into by the merchants of Philada, in 1765. we find "coals," one of the

articles which persons having vessels cleared for Great Britain were allowed

to bring back as ballast. Can any one inform us what kind of coal is

alluded to? G.

Heplies,

Who was John Byers (Vol. TT. p. Ill) ?—The first notice we have found
of him is in a deed to him of three hundred acres of land in West Penns-
borough, Cumberland County. Pa., five miles west of Carlisle, from John
McCallister, who had resided there, and had made improvements on the

land. The deed is dated Nov. 18th, 1751, and he is there said to be " of
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Lancaster County." The same year he is mentioned among the taxables of

Middleton Township. He was. however, originally from Ireland, from which
he emigrated with his brother James at an earlier period. On October 24,

1758, he held a commission from the crown of a justice of the peace, and
acted as an associate judge in the Court of Common Pleas for the county,

with Samuel Smith, Esq. , as President. From this time onward until 178*0,

he acted as a Justice and a Judge (once, Sept. 9, 1766, he is mentioned as

President Judge), having his commission renewed on several occasions a3

the authorities of the State were changed, and as circumstances called for a
reappointment. In 1766 he joined with a number of his associate justices

of the county in a letter to the Governor with respect to the escape from
jail of Stump, the Indian murderer.

In the minutes of the Supreme Executive Council for Nov. 20, 17S1, it is

recorded that "Mr. John Byers, Esquire, attended in council (being elected

Councillor for the county of Cumberland), and took the oath of allegiance

and oath of office required by the Constitution of this State ; and thereupon
took seat at this board as a number thereof." He was a member of thi3

body and a constant attendant upon its sessions for two years whenever it

was together. He, with some others, took a resolute stand in opposition to

the reception of a member from Philadelphia whose election was alleged to

have been carried by the unlawful interference of military officers in his

behalf. A person of the name of John Buyers also appeared before the
Council in the impeachment of Matthew Smith as Prothonotary of North-
umberland County. In 1783, he comes again before the Council in advocacy
of the claims of General William Irvine. During the war he had command,
as a colonel, of a battalion of infantry ; but his principal service in the army
was as commissioner of purchases of flour and provisions under Dep. Com-
missioner Ephraim Blaine, through whose earnest efforts the army was more
than once saved from the necessity of disbanding. The prodigious activity

of these men in this region, in which they staked their large fortunes and un-

sullied reputations, where much odium and small emoluments were sure to be
given them, has never yet received due appreciation. Mr. Byers was for many
years an active elder in the Presbyterian Church of Carlisle, under the care

of the Rev. Captain John Steel, and was one of the trustees to whom the

quarter of the public square, on which its house of worship stands, was deeded
Sept. 20, 1766, and who were named in the charter of incorporation in 1773.

He left a family of at least three daughters, who were married into the

Alexander, the Carothers, and the Henderson families, but I am not aware
of any living descendant who bears his name. The date of his death I have
not yet found. C. P. W.

Carlisle.

Lost Governors of Pexxa. (Vol. II. p. 110).—When William Penn re-

turned to England in 1684, he empowered the Provincial Council to act in

his stead as Governor, Thos. Lloyd being then President of that body.

This commission was read at the meeting of Council, held at New Castle on
the 18th of 6th mo., 1684.

" On the 12th of 7th mo , 1684. Council ordered that upon the decease or

absence of ye present President from this Province or Territories, that it

shall and may be Lawful for the Provll Council, upon any urgent Emer-
gency, to meet together and chuse a Presidt or Vice presidt. as occasion

shall offer, from time to time." (See Col. Records, vol. i. p. 120.) Under
this resolution the following persons, besides Thos. Lloyd, acted as Presidents

of the Council at the time given, and may be considered as Govs, of the

Colony.
William Clayton. 24th Sth mo.. 1684.
Thomas Holme, 30th 1st mo., 1686.





232 Notes and Queries.

William Clark, 9th 2d mo., 1686.

Arthur Cook, 1st 3d mo., 1686.

John Symcock, 3d 7th mo., 1686.

Franci'3 Hamson, in afternoon of 3d mo., 16S6.

Authur Cook, 1st and 2d of 8th mo., 1686.

John Symcock, 16th and 17th of 9th mo., 16S6.

William Clark, 19th 2d mo., 1687. J. H. M.

Samuel J. Atlee (Vol. II. p. 74).—I was very much interested in Mr.
Pennypacker's sketch of Col. Samuel John Atlee, in Vol. II. No. 1.

He was a citizen of Lancaster County for many years. He owned and
resided on the plantation situated on the old Philadelphia and Laucaster

Road, about twenty-two miles east of Lancaster. It was owned for many
years by " King" Thomas Henderson.
By referring to Major James Burd's MSS. journal, while in command at

Fort Augusta, I find some interesting facts in relation to the attack of the

Indians upon the Bullock Guard.
[We regret that our space will not allow us to give the extract from Col.

Burd's Journal, furnished by our correspondent. We refrain from doing so

as the Journal has lately been printed in Vol. II., 2d series, Pa. Archives.

The last extract seut us is dated July 25, and is as follows :

—

Ed.]
" Ordered Lieut. Atlee on the recruiting service from Fort Halifax, and

Lieut. Miles to take post there."

This seems to settle the point that Lieut. Atlee was in command at Hali-

fax, and that he ranked as lieutenant before Dec. 7, 1757. He was, per-

haps, the youngest officer in Major Burd's command, and he must have been

a soldier of great promise, to have ranked older officers in getting the com-
mand at Fort Halifax.

There is another record which also establishes the data for facts not stated.

On the 12th day of November, 1778, Col. Samuel John Atlee took the

following oath before John Whitehill, Esq., who was a Justice of the Peace
for Salisbury Township, where Col. A. resided. The record can be found in

Book " M," at page 542, in the second column of names, in the Recorder's

Office in Lancaster City.
" I do swear that I renounce and refuse all allegiance to George the Third,

King of Great Britain, his heirs and Successors, and that I will be faithful,

and bear true allegiance to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as a free

and independent State, and that I will not at any time do, or cause to be
done, any matter or thing that will be prejudicial or injurious to the freedom
or independence thereof, as declared by Congress, and also that I will dis-

cover and make known to some one Justice of the Peace of the said State,

all Treasons, or Traitorous conspiracies, which I now know, or hereafter

stall know, to be found against this or any of the United States of America.
July 10, 1777.

"Taken prisoner August 27, 1776.
"Exchanged October 7, 1778."

Columbia, Pa., April 16, 1878. Samuel Evans.

The Crisis (Vol. I. pp. 115, 227).- [The following from the London Notes
aod Queries of Sept. 1st, 1877, has been furnished to us by Samuel Timmixs,
Esq., of Birmingham, England :

—

Ed.]
Though I cannot answer Estr's query as to the author of these tracts,

some additional particulars may prove useful. In that invaluable Diction-
ary of Books relating to America, from its Discovery to the Present Time,
by Joseph Sabin, New York and London, 1871, there is a notice of an
edition that seems more complete than any yet mentioned in your pages :

—
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"The Crisis. To be continued weekly during the present Bloody Civil

War in America. [London] Printed and published for the Authors by T.
"W. Shaw, Fleet Street, where letters to the publisher will be thankfully

received. 1775-1776. 2 vols, folio, 91 numbers, pp. 57-4, and Broadsides of

the Declaration, July 4, 1776."

In a note, Sab in says :

—

"In one of Welford's catalogues there arc said to be 93 numbers, the last

being dated Oct. 12, 1776. It was reprinted in part as below: 'The Crisis,

vol. i. containing xxviii. numbers. Loudon priuted ; New York, reprinted

by John Anderson, at Beekman Slip, mdcclxxvi. 12mo. Pp. 236.'
"

Another authority (Gowaus) states this to be very rare, and all ever pub-

lished by Anderson. Sabin mentions a few other editions of only a few
numbers printed at Newport, R. L, and New London, but omits one printed

at Hartford in 1775, mentioned in the bibliography of ante- (American)
revolutionary publications in the 1S74 edition of Thomas's History of
Printing, vol. ii. p. 657.

In the Gentleman's Magazine for March, 1775, will be fonnd the follow-

ing interesting details in regard to this tract and a fellow-martyr with a
nearly similar title :

—

"House of Peers, Feb. 24. 1775. Lord Effingham complained of the

licentiousness of the press, and produced a pamphlet entitled ' The Present

Crisis with Respect to America Considered,' published by T. Becket, which
his Lordship declared to be a most daring insult on the King, and moved
that the House would come to resolutions to the following effect : that the

said pamphlet is a false, malicious, and dangerous libel, subversive of the

principles of the glorious Revolution to which we owe our present invalua-

ble constitution, and of the rights of the people ; that one of the said

pamphlets be burnt by the hands of the common hangman in Old Palace
Yard, and another at the Royal Exchange ; that these resolutions be com-
municated to the House of Commons at a conference, and that the concur-

rence of that House be desired. Which resolutions, being read, were
unanimously agreed to.

"Feb. 27. A conference was held between the two Houses of Parliament
on the subject of the pamphlet published by T. Becket, when the concurrence
of the Commons with the resolutions of the Lords on the 24th was agreed,

and the pamphlet ordered to be burnt accordingly. A second conference

ensued, arising from a complaint of the Earl of Radnor in the Upper House,
and a like complaint in the Lower House preferred by Lord Chewton,
against a periodical paper called the Crisis, No. 3, published for T. Shaw.
In the Lower House the paper in question has been voted a false, malicious,

and seditious libel ; in the Upper House the word treasonable was added,
but upon reconsidering the matter that word was omitted, and the paper
ordered, like the other, to be burnt by the hands of the common hanirman.

" The principles of these offensive publications were diametrically oppo-
site : the pamphlet asserted a right in the sovereign to levy taxes without
consent of Parliament, provided this consent was withheld ; the other, that

every attack upon the fundamental principles of the constitution was treason

against the people."

The same magazine says, p. 148, under date " Tuesday. March 7" :

—

" The Crisis, No. iii., and a pamphlet entitled ' The Present Crisis with

Respect to America' were both burnt at the Royal Exchange gate by the

hands of the common hangman. There wa3 a prodigious concourse of people,

some of whom were at first very riotous; they seized and threw about the

first brush faggots which were brought, and treated the city marshall and
the hangman very ill; but more fugcrots beiusr sent, which were dipped in

turpentine, they immediately took fire, and the pamphlet and periodical
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paper were soon consumed. Both the said publications were burnt in like

maimer at Whitehall the day before." William John Potts.
Camden, New Jersey.

Duffield PARRr (Vol. II. p. 61, at bottom).—Edward Duffield. b. 1720,

is said to have married Mary Parry, a grandchild of Owen Humphreys.
The published ancestry of Dr. Benj. Duffield states that his mother was
Catharine Parry, daughter of David Parry by his wife Mary, daughter of
Owen Humphreys and Sarah Hughes. Inasmuch as Owen Humphreys and
Sarah Hughes were married Sept, 9, 1738, and Edward Duffield to Catha-
rine Parry, June 12, 1751, these statements seem to need revision. Cope.

Philadelphia Doctors (Vol. I. p. 116).—Dr. John Kearsley was twice

married, first to Ann who died Aug. 26, 1747, by whom he had a child

who was buried in Christ Church burying-ground, Dec. 24, 1743. He
married, secondly, at Christ Church, Nov. 24, 1748, Mrs. Margaret Brand.

Chas. E. Hildeburn.

Edward Whalley, the Regicide (Vol. I. 55, 230, 359, Yol. II. 11).—
Mr. Robert P. Robins's paper in your first number has led me to make some
further researches into the regicide's family history, and I think it is clear

that Mr. Robins is mistaken iu supposing that the will of Edward Wale
(whom I take to have been Edward Wall) was made by the regicide.

The letters of Edward Whalley. in the British Museum, prove him to have
been an educated gentleman, which Mr. Robins's testator evidently was not.

We know that Henry Whalley, Judge Advocate General (.brother of

Edward), settled in Ireland, and that at least two of Edward's sons were
captains in Henry Cromwell's regiment of dragoons quartered in Ireland.

I have found in the Public Record Office in Dublin, proceedings instituted

in 1699, in the Court of Chancery in Ireland, by Oliver Whaley against John
Ormsby and Frances his wife, Richard Whaley and Susanna his wife, Jame3
Budd and Lucy his wife, and John Lopdell and Elizabeth his wife, which
throw much light upon the family history of the Whaleys, and I give you
the following extracts from the pleadings.

The Bill states that Henry Whaley was seized in May and June, 1659. of

certain lands in Ireland, as an adventurer in the double ordinance, and that

he made his will dated 7th June, 1659. and thereby devised his lands to his

brother, Edward Whaley, William Gough, and Henry Midleton. Esq., upon
trust to permit his wife to take £150 per annum jointure; then for his son

John for life, with £100 jointure for Susanna his wife ; remainder to his first

and other sons in tail, with a provision for Elizabeth and Rebecca, daughters

of said John Whaley ; remainder to Edward Whaley, brother of said testa-

tor, for life ; remainder to his son Henry and his heirs male; and in default,

remainder to his son Edward and his heirs male ; and remainder, in default,

to the plaintiff, Oliver Whaley, another of the sons of said Edward, and his

heirs male; and remainder, in default, to testator's granddaughters, Eliza-

beth and Rebecca, and that said Henry Whaley was appointed sole executor.

That the will remained in England' as a settlement, until after testator's

death.

That soon after the Restoration, said Henry "Whaley, the testator, came
into England, and on 10th March, 1663, made his claim to the^ Court of

Claims, but died before he obtained a certificate, and said John Whaley, his

eon and heir, obtained the certificate from the Court of Claims.

That Rebecca died v. p., unmarried and under age.

That said Edward Whaley, brother of said Henry (*. e., Edward, the regi-

cide), is long since dead, and said Henry and Edward, sons of said Edward,
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are both dead without issue, and said John outlived them all, and himself
died in 1691, without issue male.

That plaintiff was then iu Loudon, and it was a time of war, and he could
not come to Ireland until lately. Plaintiff found that said John Whaley left

four daughters, who were married to the defendants, Ormsby, Whaley, Budd,
and Lopdell.

That William Gough and Henry Midleton died before said Edward Whaley,
who was the survivor and plaintiff is his son and heir.

The defendants all answered the plaintiff's bill, denying the existence of
this alleged will and the relationship of the plaintiff, and stating that Henry
Whaley died in Dublin in 16G7, having devised all his estates to his only
son John and his heirs forever.

That Henry was a member of Parliament.

That Edward was one of the regicides, and attainted and fled from England,
and they knew nothing of him or his sons Henry and Edward, the younger
being dead.

Several witnesses were examined on interrogatories : the result was that

the bill was dismissed without costs in the year 1700. The following is some
of the evidence :

—

John Wattson. examined October 26, 1699, deposes that he is sixty years

and upwards, and was a servant of and waited on Henry Whaley, and after-

wards bought and sold cattle for his son John Whaley. About 16S3. he was
in London with said John W^haley, who inquired for his friends and relatives,

and met a son of one Captain John Whaley, who was a knight and married a

lady, as deponent heard ; and also met with one Mrs. Goffe, who lived at the

bridge-foot in London, who was also said John Whaley's relation.

Mary Birkhead deposes that about five or six years ago, when her father,

Henry Midleton, Esq., lay ill of his last sickness, Oliver Wrhaley, the plain-

tiff, went to ask him about the will made by Judge Advocate Whalley. She
very well knew Edward Wr

halley, and that he was one of the judges on the

pretended trial of King Charles I., and at the time of the Restoration he
left England. She had known the plaintiff, Oliver, from his infancy, and
that he was son to said Edward Whalley, the " trateor," by Catherine his

second wife, and was born in said Edward's house in King Street, in the

city of Westminster.
Grace Scudamore deposes that she was a menial servant of Edward Whaley,

and knew the plaintiff, Oliver his son, who was born about two years before

the Restoration, Heard that the will was in the hands of Catherine, one of

the daughters of said Edward Whaley. Said Catherine died about seven

years ago. Heard that the Lord Protector was godfather of the plaintiff

Anne, wife of Robert Garrett, deposes that she was married in 1657, and
was servant of Judith, one of the daughters of Edward Wr

haley.

Dame Isabella Shorter heard Edward Whaley went to New England,

where he died.

Wm. Midleton heard Edward Whaley died beyond the seas thirty years ago.

Pat. Carwan, of Athinree, (Athenry Co., Gal way), deposes that Henry
Whaley died in Wm. Gray's house in Copper Alley, Dublin, and was buried

in St. Werburgh's Church there.
Joseph Harvey, examined 4th August, 1699, deposes that he knew Edward

Whalley, who was a colonel in arms under Oliver Cromwell, a Commissary
General of Horse, and Major-General, who had a son named Oliver. Depo-
nent was m the family when Oliver was born, and knew Henry Whaliey,
brother of said Edward, and had seen Rebecca, wife of said Henry.
The decree in 1700 dismissed the bill without costs, thereby showing that

the Lord Chancellor considered the plaintiff had made some case.

I have been unable to ascertain with certainty who Richard Whaley (father
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of the defendant, Richard Whaley) was, save that he was a cornet, and
afterwards a captaiu of horse in Colonel Henry Cromwell's regiment. He
had a grant in 1666 of lands in counties Kilkenny and Armagh, and pur-
chased an estate in County Wicklow, which remained in his family uutil

last year.

. I still incline to the opinion (expressed by me in Notes and Queries, June
26, 1869) that he was a son of the regicide. I hope to discover a list of
officers in Henry Cromwell's regiment, which will, perhaps, clear up this

point.

It is very likely that the defendant, Richard Whaley, did not care to

proclaim, in the year 1699, his relationship to the " Treator" if he were his

grandson.
The pedigree copied by E. D. N., and inserted in your second number, does

not quite tally with the statements in the foregoing chancery proceedings.

Wm. F. Littledale.
Whaley Abbey, Co. Wicklow, Ireland, February 7, 1878.

Pennsylvania Officers and Privates Killed and Captured at the
Isle Aux Noix (Vol. I. p. 226).—J. S. W., in the second number of the

Pennsylvania Magazine, gives an extract from Wilkinson's Memoirs, in

which is related an account of the death of Captain Adams, Ensign Cuth-
bertson, and two privates, and the capture of Captain M'Lane, Lieutenants
McFarren. McAllister, Hogg, aud two privates, all of whom, it is said, be-

longed to the Pennsylvania line. In the second volume of the American
Magazine of History, page 45, in the Diary of Joshua Pell, Jr., a British

officer, we find the following: (Aug. 10, 1776.) " This Isle (Isle Aux Noix)
was well fortified by the French last war, and had a Boom across the River,

in order to stop our entrance into Canada, after the reduction of Tyconde-
roga and Crown Point. I could not but notice the Inscription on a Tomb-
stone in this Island, which is as follows :

—

"Beneath this humble sod
|
Lie

|
Captain Adams, j Lieutenant Culber-

son,
|
&

|
Two privates of the 6th Pensivania—Reg't.

j
Not Hirelings

j
But

Patriots.
|

" They fell not in battle, but unarmed. They were basely murdered, and
inhumanly scalp'd by the barbarous emissaries of the once just, but now
abandon'd Kingdom of Britain.

"Epitaph.
"Sons of America, rest in quiet here,
Britannia blush, Burgo}-ne let fall a tear,
And tremble Europe sons with savage ease [sic]
Death and Revenge awaits you with disgrace.

"The above Provincials were scalped by an advanc'd party of our Indians

on the 20th of June, after they left St. Johns, about three miles from this

place."

Officers of the Frigate Randolph (Yol. I. p. 469).—John F. Watson,
in his Annals of Philadelphia, Vol. It. p. 297, states that his uncle, Simeon
Fanning, was a midshipman on the Randolph, but left that ill-fated vessel

previous to her loss, having been placed in charge of a prize that she had
captured. Mr. Watson also says that another of his uncles, Joshua Fan-

ning, was a lieutenant on the Randolph when she blew up. F. D. S.

St. Vincent and Puke's Land Association (Vol. I. p. 471).—This

should read the " Vincent and Pikeland Association." J. B. L-
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It so happens that the centennial commemorations of revo-

lutionary events are mingling with the bicentenary footprints

in the history of our Commonwealth. We shall celebrate

the two-hundredth birthday of Pennsylvania, before the first

hundred years since the restoration of peace and the achieve-

ment of independence will have passed.

It may seem, perhaps, as if William Penn's journey through

Holland and Germany in 1677, on which I have the privilege

to address you this evening, hardly had so direct a bearing

upon the destinies of our State, as to entitle it to a bicentenary

commemoration. My task diall be to show that, short a3

that journey was, it had a very potent influence on the settle-

ment of Pennsylvania, preparing the way for an immigration,

that rapidly filled the wooded hills and fertile valleys of the

young colony with thrifty formers, and gave to the population

of our State features of a peculiar mould. In fact, that

Vol. ii.—17 ( 237 )
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journey, far from- needing the accidental circumstance of date

for rising into prominence, has an independent interest of its

own, that entitles it at any time to careful consideration.

Let me state at the outset, that the historic significance of

Penn's journey would, very likely, have escaped the know-

ledge of posterity, had the famous founder of Pennsylvania

not kept a record of it, which, fortunately, has ohtained pub-

licity through print. I say fortunately, for it lay till 1694

among his private papers, apparently not destined for the

general reader. lie had written out his journal, merely for

his own satisfaction and that of some relations and particular

friends. A manuscript copy had come into the possession of

the Countess Conway, after whose death it fell into the hands

of friends, who asked and received of the author permission

to print it. This wish was prompted, perhaps, not so much

by the facts that are recorded, as by the intrinsic merit of the

numerous letters and addresses embodied in the narrative.

They set forth in most impressive language the religious

principles of the early Friends, and are for this reason highly

valued as edifying and instructive. Upon the present occa-

sion this feature of the journal has, of course, to be set aside ;

our attention will mainly be given to the persons with whom
Wm. Penn became connected, and to the consequences that

his presence among them had upon the settlement of our

State.

On the 26th of July, 1677, Penn embarked at Harwich for

Briel, in Holland. He was accompanied by George Fox,

Robert Barclay, George Keith, George Watts, John Furly,

William Tailcoat, Isabella Yeomans (G. Fox's stepdaughter),

and Elizabeth Keith. What a precious freight that vessel

carried ! Think of George Fox, William Penn, Robert Bar-

clay, and George Keith all entrusted to the same frail bark

upon the treacherous sea. Xor is it an idle fancy to weigh

the chances of shipwreck. Though not on their outward

voyage, they were, when homeward bound, in great peril.

The leaky vessel encountered a violent tempest, and was kept

afloat only by working the pumps day and night. With the

Bame confidence, however, that inspired the great Roman to
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say to his affrighted captain, in the face of threatening ship-

wreck, " Fear not, thou carriest Ctcsar" we dare look upon

the lahoring ship that conveyed Penn in 1677. lie could

not perish, he had not yet fulfilled his mission. And now,

while we imagine the pilgrims to he on their way to the

Continent, discussing with each other their plans and pros-

pects, let us follow their example, and take a rapid survey of

the field that lay hefore them.

Their ohject can be briefly stated. They wanted to extend

the principles and the organization of the Society of Friends

in two countries of the Continent, in Holland and in Ger-

many. This was no novel enterprise, nor the first attempt in

this direction. The early Friends were, as a matter of course,

eager to convert all Christians to their views, to impart what
they considered the true and undefiled religion to all mankind.

Though their native land, and next to it, other English speak-

ing countries, were the foremost ground of their action, they,

by no means, confined their missionary labors within these

bounds. Xot to dwell upon the venturesome journey of Mary
Fisher to Adrianople, where she tried to bring conviction to

the Turkish Sultan, or th >. equally hopeless task of Samuel

Fisher and John Stubbs to make proselytes in Rome, 1 an

earnest and not altogether unsuccessful effort had been made

to gain converts in Holland and in Germany. With well-

sustained zeal and steadiness a number of Quaker mission-

aries had been active in those countries ever since 1655. In

that year William Ames went to Holland, and continued to

live there for the most part until the time of his death in

1662. He appears to have chosen Amsterdam as his place of

residence, but he extended his efforts to Rotterdam, Utrecht,

the Hague, Schiedam, Leyden, Zutphen, Frisia, the Palati-

nate, Hamburg, Dantzick, Bohemia, and Poland. He spoke

Dutch and German, as well as English,2 and published in de-

fence of his principles a book with questions propounded to

the Reformed Church. These were answered by James Coel-

1 Sewell's History of the People called Quakers, Phila. 1856, vol. i. p. 327.

* See G. Croese, Ilistoria Quakeriana, Amsterdam, 1695, p. 529.
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mann, who in return put sixty questions to the Quakers. W
Ames wrote a rejoinder, and J. Iliggins replied to the ques-

tions. 1 In the Palatinate he enjoyed the respect, and obtained

the protection of the reigning prince, the Elector Palatine,

Charles Louis. It was Wm. Ames who converted a number

of Mennonites in Kriesheim, near "Worms, to his views.2

A friend and colaborer of ¥m. Ames was "William Caton,

who went for the first time to Holland in 1G56, and repeated

his visit in 1657, 1660, 1662, and 1665. Of his stay in Am-
sterdam in 1657, he says : " I arrived there in a very seasonable

and needful time ; for the Friends being but young, and hav-

ing had a pretty sore storm, were somewhat scattered and

scattering, being discouraged and frightened through the

indignation and wrath of the magistrates and priests, which

were kindled against them."

Caton preached also in the Hague, Leyden, Utrecht, Rot-

terdam, Haarlem, Alkmaer, and the Palatinate. During his

stay in Heidelberg (1660), the Prince Palatine treated him
with much regard, and when the Ecclesiastical Council an-

noyed him by an investigation, the Prince expressed his

displeasure at the course pursued. Its Frankfort he wanted

to print some books on the Friends' religious views, but the

censorship exercised by the clergy prevented it; while at

Hauau he met with no obstacle. Wm. Caton married in

1662 Annecke Uirricks, of Amsterdam ; he died 1665.3

Another very active man in the Continental mission was
Stephen Crisp. According to his autobiographical memoir
he made a number of trips to Holland and Germany between
the years 1663 and 1684. 4 Again and again he visited the

principal towns of Holland and Frisia, likewise Emden,
Hamburg, Friedrichstadt in Sleswick, Dantzick, the Palati-

nate, and Crefeld. (
uAnother time he made a journey to the

1 See W. Ames's Life in Friends' Library, vol. xi. ; G. Croese, Historia

Quakeriana, p. 494.

* See Sewell's History of the People called Quakers, i. 261 ; Croese, Hist
Qnak. p. 530.

* William Caton's Life in Friends' Library, vol. ix.

4 They were made in the years 1663, 7, 9, 1670, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 1680, 3 and 4.
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county of Meurs to the town of Crevel, where a meeting was

set up." See Memorable Account of Christian Experiences

of Stephen Crisp, London, 1G94.) lie took on his trip of

1675 particular pains to obtain more lenient treatment for the

persecuted Friends at Emden,and expressed his sentiments on

the subject of oppression in a pamphlet. 1

Stephen Crisp married Gertrude Dirricks, a lady of Am-
sterdam, who was remarkably zealous in the cause of the

Friends. Penn and his companions lodged in her house when
they came to Amsterdam in 1677.

There were still other Friends who occasionally visited the

Continent, and aided in missionary efforts, such as George

Rolf, John Stubbs, John Higgins, William Moore. Benjamin

Furly, an Englishman by birth, who had made .Rotterdam his

permanent home, and was engaged in mercantile business,

should also be mentioned as active in the same field by word

and pen.

There is no question but that in both countries, and notably

so in Germany, the doctrine and peculiar habits of the Friends

met with a strongly-marked antipathy. The word Quaker,

sufficiently reproachful in England, had been adopted in Ger-

many as an epithet designating the very acme of wild fanati-

cism, unsoundness in religion, and daring innovation. For
once, the clergy, the civil government, and the mob were in

unison, all assailing what they gracefully termed the Quaker
abomination. AYhen a Lutheran or a Calvinist was to be

denounced for not strictly keeping within the beaten track,

the most damaging reproach that could be hurled against him
was that he was no better than a Quaker. The very titles of

the books which appeared at that period betray the acrimo-

nious temper that pervades them.2

1 Two other publications, bearing on his experiences in Holland and Ger-

many, are :
" A word of consolation, and a sound of glad tidings to all

mourners in Germany and the parts adjacent, 1670 f "A lamentation over

the city of Groningon, containing an answer to four papers against the

people called Quakers, two by the magistrates, and two lies sung in the

streets, 1670."

2 Here are some of them : Quaker-Grewel, d. i. abscheuliche, aufr'uhrische

verdambliche Irthumb der neuen Schwermerei. Auf Anordnuny- des Rathes
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Considering those circumstances, it is natural to ask: How
did the Friends contrive to breast such a torrent of prejudice,

and to gain a foothold upon hostile ground ?

Like wise tacticians, they made their approaches not over

impassable ravines, or in the face of impregnable strongholds,

such as the orthodox churches presented, but operated against

positions already weakened, and tolerably easy of access.

This vantage ground was offered by the Mennonite congrega-

tions, numerously scattered through Holland, and not alto-

gether wanting in Germany. Wherever the Friends succeeded

in making an impression the Mennonites had been the pioneers,

preparing the way. 1 Such was the case in Amsterdam, Rot-

terdam, Haarlem, Leyden, Utrecht, Harlingen, Hamburg,
Liibeck, Emden, Friedrichstadt, Krisheim, Dantzick, etc. It

should be stated, however, that the Mennonites who joined

the Quakers did so individually ; the congregations kept

their own, and discountenanced all defections. 2

The affinity between the religious principles of the Friends

and of the Mennonites is so obvious, and in many respects »o

striking, that an actual descent of the former from the latter

has been hinted at as highly probable. u So closely," says

Barclay,3 "do these views (sc. of the Arminian Baptists),

in Hamburg gedruckt, 1661. (Quaker Abominations, i. e., horrid, rebel-

lious, damnable errors of the new fanaticism. Printed by order of the

Council of Hamburg, 1661.) Neue Schwarmgeister Brut, von Johann Ber-

kendal, 1661. (New Brood of fanatical Spirits.) Many others of the same

kind are in the library of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania.

1 For evidence, see Croese, Hist. Quakeriana, p. 485, 486, 491, 492, 535.

Also extracts from a letter of William Caton to George Fox, quoted in

Barclay's Inner Life of the Religious Societies of the Commonwealth, p.

247, London, 1876. Caton says that he was allowed to preach in the Men-

nonite Assemblies, and that they expressed their willingness to hear him,

" if he had a nearer way to God," or " one which was more excellent than

theirs."

2 Their desire to keep intact occasionally led to measures of opposition.

The Mennonites in Zutphen barred the doors of their meeting-house against

"Wm. Caton and Wm. Ames. "See Caton's Life in Friends' Library, vol. ix.

p. 453. Croese, p. 500, reports: " Mennonitae religiosiores rigidioresque

iilos (sc. Quakeros) aegris oculis aspicere et illis succeusere.

3 Inner Life, etc. p. 77.
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correspond with those of George Fox, that we are compelled to

view him as the unconscious exponent of the doctrine, prac-

tice, and discipline of the ancient and stricter party of the

Dutch Mennonites." The resemblance of the two sects is the

more apparent, if tested, not by their respective professions

of faith, but by their agreement upon the salient features of

Christian life and duty. Both laid the greatest stress on

inward piety and a godly, humble life, considered all strife

and warfare as unchristian, scrupulously abstained from mak-
ing oath, declared against a paid ministry, exercised through

their meetings a strict discipline over their members, favored

silent prayer, were opposed to infant baptism, and looked upon

the established churches as unhallowed vessels of the divine

truth.

The Mennonites, the meekest of all Christians, after suffer-

ing much bloody and heart-rending persecution, were granted

in the Netherlands the enjoyment of all religious and civil

rights which pertained to the other citizens of the Provinces. 1

Though passionate contests between the factions of the Ee-

formed Church, the Gomarists and the Arminians, fostered,

at times, a spirit of intolerance, the civil authorities were not

inclined to listen to the suggestions of bigotry.2 "When, in

1618, the Mennonites in Aardenburg were hindered in the

free exercise of their worship, the States General issued in

their favor a mandate of toleration. It is a noteworthy fact,

that, at the request of the Dutch Mennonites, the States

General of Holland, in 1660, officially remonstrated with the

Swiss authorities on account of the persecution to which the

Mennonites continued to be subjected in Zurich and Bern,

after a similar intercession by the magistrates of Amsterdam
in 1642 had proved ineffectual.3

The freedom of worship warranted to the Mennonites, the

Collegianten, and other sects in Holland, was the shelter under

which the Friends introduced their doctrines, and organized

1 Barclay, Inner Life, etc. p. 7R.
2 Davies's History of Holland and the Dntch Nation, vol. in. p. 160.
8 Der Blu%e Schauplatz oder Martyrer-Spiegel, Ephrata, 1748, vol. iL

p. 928, 943, and 944.
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their societies. True, obstacles were put in their way, and

some hardships had to he endured, but serious difficulties they

did not encounter. The clergy tried their best to have the

new heresy put down by the strong arm of the government,

and their denunciations against the Quakers at the Synod of

Gouda in 1G59, appeal's to have for some time checked their

progress. "Post hoc parum de Quakeris auditum," is the

summing of Croese, after mentioning that Synod. In Frisia,

a law was really enacted in 1662, banishing Socinians, Bap-

tists, and Quakers, the penalties for violation of this edict

being confinement in the workhouse for five years, while the

informer against one of the proscribed persons was to receive

a reward of 25 florins. 1 But this harsh statute, so inconsistent

with the tolerant spirit of the general government, appears to

have remained a dead letter ; Stephen Crisp, William Caton,

and other prominent Friends travelled through Frisia unmo-

lested.

The common people, as may be expected, could easily be

excited to hostile demonstrations, and rude acts, especially,

when the peculiar habits of the Friends, such as keeping their

hats on, even in places of worship, seemed to afford just pro-

vocation. Cases of rough handling of Friends by the mob in

various Dutch towns are mentioned in the well-known works

of Sewell and Besse. Here is one of the incidents recorded

by the latter: " Peter Hendricks and Jacob Arents went into

a steeple-house, called the Xewe Kerke, at Amsterdam. But

standing with their hats on were thrust out with violence,

and suffered many abuses from the common people."

Also local magistrates would now and then vent their spite

against Quakers by arbitrary expulsions or committals ; thu3,

Wm. Ames was, in 1659, shut up in the mad-house at Rotter-

dam, and kept there for three weeks, but as time wore on,

such acts became scarcer, and when Penn visited Holland

we hear not a word of interference or spiteful treatment.

Even ten years before that time, William Caton could write

from Amsterdam: " Methiuks it is very commendable to see,

1 Croese, Hist Quak. p. 501.
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as I have often seen in this city, Calvinists, Lutherans, Papists,

Baptists of divers sects, Jews, Friends, Arminians, etc., go in

peace and return in peace, and enjoy their meetings in peace

in this city, and that without any trouble to the rulers." 1

. More serious were the difficulties that obstructed the en-

trance of the new doctrine into Germany. In the Catholic

parts of the country dissenters had no ground at all to

stand upon, and most Protestant governments, also, considered

them wicked and pernicious enemies of the Church. "As for

Papists," says Win. Caton,2 "they hate us as new-upstarted

heretics, whom they account worthy of death; and the Pro-

testants, they revile us and upbraid us, as if we were the

Pope's emissaries, and many of them esteem us as not fit to

live upon the earth." Toleration of Separatists was excep-

tional and local. The Schwenkfelders, in Silesia, an inoffen-

sive and thrifty people, were, on account of their religious

creed, the butt of endless persecutions; even their dead were

refused burial in consecrated ground
;

3 the Labadists, though

patronized by a princess, were worried out of their asylum at

Ilerford. The Mennonites were, at few places only, privileged

with freedom of worship. Most numerous they were, com-

paratively, in the Palatinate, where, since the accession of

Charles Louis in 1649, a more liberal course towards Sepa-

ratists had been adopted. 4 Mennonite congregations existed

also at Hamburg, Crefeld, Emden, Altona, Friedrichstadt

(the latter two places belonged to Denmark), and in Dantzick,

then subject to the crown of Poland. It was mainly in these

places, just as among the Mennonites of Holland, that the^

Friends managed to obtain an opening for their religious

views, and to establish little societies of faithful adherents.

But their prospects in Germany would have been hardly

worth a trial, considering the determined opposition of the

churches and the prescriptive policy of the government, had

1 Win. Caton'a Life in Friends' Library, vol. ix. p. 479.

* Caton's Life in Friends' Library, vol. ix. p. 470.

* Kadelbach, Geschichte K. v. Schwenkfelds und der Schwenkfelder, p.

27. Lauban. 1860.

4 See H'ausser, Geschichte der Pfalz. Bd. ii. p. 587.
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there not been unmistakable signs of an approaching change

in religious sentiment. There was a strong under-current of

religious feeling, that bore far away from the broad track of

the established churches; the conviction was deepening, that

the dominant orthodoxy was not the true exponent of pure

Christianity. Men of refined intellect turned away with dis-

appointment from the boisterous controversies and useless

speculations of theologians, 1 honest Christians from the cold

lip-service, and unhallowed life of the clergy. These various

forms of reaction against the deadness, formality, and scho-

lasticism of the churches may be classified under two main

heads, 3bjsticism and Pietism, both prominent factors in the

religious life of that time, and both denounced by the ortho-

dox as a Schwarmerei."

One of the cardinal doctrines of the Mystics was that God's

revelation must come from within, not from without, and that

we must shape our inner life so as to establish and to main-

tain an intimate union with the Divine essence. 2 It will be

readily observed, that the Friends' doctrine of the inner light,

given to us by God for our guidance, bears a strong analogy

to this view of the Mystics. Among these the most promi-

nent during the seventeenth century was Jacob Bohm (1575—

1624), the shoemaker of Gorlitz. His somewhat abstruse

speculations made a deep impression, and were also noticed in

England. Attention has been called to the fact that Giles

Calvert, the publisher of the first Quaker tracts, was also the

publisher of the English translation of Jacob Bohm's writings,

which appeared between 1644 and 1662. William Tallack,

in his work on George Fox (p. 81), goes so far as to call the

German Mystics Quakers before Fox. Baxter says of the

Bohmenists, that their opinions go much towards the way of

the Quakers for the sufficiency of the light of nature, i. e., the

light within. In George Fox's earlier writings, passages

1 See Dorner's History of the Protestant Church, p. 561, and Hossbach'a

Jacob Spener, vol. i. p. 12-40.

2 " Supernatural knowledge does not come from without, for God, Spirit,

and Word are within us." Valentin Weigel in Der guldene Griff, published

1613.
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occur strongly savoring of BuhmV ideas and style. This

evident unison between the Friends and the German Mystics

might, therefore, have encouraged and favored the project of

the English Quaker Missionaries. Another proof of the in-

timate relations existing between English and German forms

of Mysticism is furnished by the fact that the Philadelphic

Societies, which originated with Jane Leade and Dr. J. Por-

dage, rapidly gained ground in Germany. The publications

of both authors were at once translated, and appear to have

obtained a greater circulation in Germany than in England.

The "Secretary of the Society, Heinrich Johann Deichmann,

was a German ; he became the friend and correspondent of

John Kelpius, the so-called hermit of the "Wissahickon. An
accredited agent of the Society, Hermann von Saltzungeu,

was sent to Germany, and found a warm reception in the

Philadelphic circles ; the catalogue of persons called " arnici,"

t. e., well-disposed friends, contains the names of distinguished

men and women in numerous cities of Germany.2 It must not

be thought that the mystic acceptation of God's presence and

agency in the soul of man was confined to a few eccentric

heads; there was no more popular book than Johann Arnd's

Lessons on True Christianity, which, like Tauler's Sermons,

and the " Theologia Germaniea," had a strong leaning towards

mysticism. That the religion of the Friends had something

in concert with the tone of these pious books appears to have

been felt. When George Wunderlich, a plain citizen of Dant-

zick, in 1663, was arraigned before a Court of Inquiry on the

charge of being a Quaker, he declared he liked the Quaker

doctrine, finding how well it agreed with the writings of

Johann Arnd, Johann Tauler, and Thoma3 a Kempis.3

1 About the affinity of the Quakers and German Mystics, see Prof. R. E.

Thompson's exhaustive essay in the New Englander, Oct. 1877, " English

Mystics of the Puritan Period." Barclay in his work on the " Inner Life

of Religious Societies during the Commonwealth," insists on the similarity

of Caspar Schwenkfeld's theology with the teachings of George Fox (p.

247). Schwenkfeld died 1561.

* See L. W. H. Hochhut : History and Development of the Philadelphic

Congregations in Niedner's Zeitschrift fur Historische Theologie, 1865.

Second number.

* B. Figken, Historia Fanaticorum, p. 70.
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The second form of reaction against the barren scholasticism

of the Church was Pietism, indissolubly connected with the

name of Jacob Spener. 1 The great aim of this excellent man,

then the leading minister of the Lutheran Church in Frank-

fort-on-the-Main, was—as has been pithily said—to bring re-

ligious conviction from the head to the heart, to quicken the

action of conscience, and to educate the laity to the idea of a

spiritual priesthood, open to all believers. It was he who in-

stituted the famous collegia pietatis, private gatherings of men
and women for mutual edification, practical lessons, and Chris-

tian work. The innovation was angrily rebuked by most of

his clerical brethren, who saw in it something, if I may use

that term, unprofessional, and intimated that Pietists had a

touch of the Quaker. Though the allusion was made in jeer,

as the most opprobrious that offered, and though the Pietists

by their adherence to the Church and its symbols were in

their locus standi as distant from the Friends as possible, there

were, nevertheless, some features that both had in common,

such as retirement from worldliness, earnestness and fervor in

their devotions, the stress laid on the practical fruits of belief,

the permission given to women to be heard in private meet-

ings. Hence it was a charge frequently brought against

Pietism, that it paved the way to Quakerism and other here-

sies (" quia ad Quakerismum viam sternit et ad alias errores

^aereticos").

More or less allied with this mystical and pietistic bias were

numerous other manifestations of unrest in the religious life

of Germany, some leading to severe asceticism, others con-

nected with millennial doctrines, others, again, productive of

visions, prophetic utterances, inspirations, and ecstacies, while

all contributed to swell the tide of that great awakening

which swept over Germany during the last quarter of the

seventeenth, and the first quarter of the eighteenth century.

One of these side currents, though soon enough ebbing out of

sight, requires some notice here, as for particular reasons it

1 For similar efforts in the same direction and of earlier date, see Tho-

luck, T>as Kirchliche Lebpn im 17 Jalirhundert. vol. ii. p. 37, Berlin, 1861,

and Hossbach, Spener and seine Zeit, vol. i. p. 63.
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attracted the attention of Penn, who may have hoped to

make it subservient to his own purposes on the Continent,

I allude to the sect which originated, and, it might be said,

ended with Jean Labadie. Bom in the southern part of

France (1610), and educated for holy orders, this remarkable

man was in turn Jesuit, Jansenist, and minister of the Re-

formed Church, till his convictions, and, perhaps, his temper,

carried him outside the pale of any established creed. Though

still adhering on important points to the decrees of the Synod

of Dort, he verged upon the question of direct revelation and

the inner light far towards the views of the Friends. The

high ground which he took as a religious reformer, and his

lofty eloquence made a deep impression on several persons of

eminence, such as the pious Jacob Spener, the learned Anna
Maria von Schurman, and notably so on Elizabeth, the grand-

daughter of James L, who was then Abbess of Herford, in

Westphalia. The latter afforded (1670) shelter to the much-

persecuted flock of Labadists, and kept her protecting hand

over them in spite of the outcry raised by the clergy, the

protest of the civil magistrates, and even in the face of an

imperial edict, issued from the Chancery Court at Spires, Oct.

20, 1671. So much interest bestowed upon a kindred sect,

coupled with firmness of character, made Elizabeth, in the

eyes of the Friends, a very important personage for the pro-

spective planting of their principles on the soil of Germany.

If she, the scion of the royal house of England, the sister of

a reigning sovereign (Charles Louis), and the cousin of the

great Elector of Brandenburg (Frederick William), could be

"convinced," the despised sect of the Quakers would have

cast an anchor in Germany, not easily dragged from its moor-

ings.

Such was the outlook upon the lands, towards which Penn

and his companions were borne by favoring breezes in July,

1677. They landed on the 26th of that month in Briel, a

seaport of Holland, and were there met by several old friends,

of whom the journal names Aaron Sonneman, Benjamin Furly,

S. Johnson, and Vettekeuken. B. Furly was an Englishman,

doing business in Eotterdam, perhaps a brother ofJohn Furly,
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who belonged to Penn's party. He had joined the Society of

Friends in Rotterdam, and became subsequently very useful

to Penn as agent for the sale of Pennsylvania lands. The

name Vettekeuken, also, is found in the account of the first

emigration from Germany. When Francis Daniel Pastorius,

in 1683, came to Rotterdam, he took lodgings at the house

of his friend Mariecke Vettekeuken, and was met there by

Benj. Furly, Jacob Tellner, and others.

By way of Leyden the travellers, accompanied by Jan

Roelof, 1 Jan Arents, and Jan Claus, went to Haarlem, where

they attended a meeting consisting of Friends and Menno-

nites. On the 2d of August, the party, increased by some

Friends of Haarlem, Alkmaar, and Emden, arrived in Am-
sterdam, the famous metropolis of Holland. Fain would we
hear from Penn how that busy mart of the world, the Venice

of the Xorth, impressed him, what he had to say on the

political complexion of the country, of the people and their

ways. But in vain do we look in the traveller's note-book

for information of a secular character, remarks on architec-

ture, national peculiarities, government, improvements, scenery,

and the like. He had only one object in view, the spread of

his faith, all other interests were sunk, as it were, below his

horizon. Holland, it may be briefly stated, was at that time

prominent for its prowess of war, its maritime enterprise, its

art-culture, and learning. After passing through a long

series of bloody contests, it had just sustained a war against

the combined forces of England and France ; with the former

peace was concluded in 1674, with the latter hostilities con-

tinued while the preliminaries of a treaty were being discussed

1 J. Roelof (misspelled in the Journal Bocliffs and Rocliffs), was a son of

Berend Roelof, a Mennonite preacher in Hamburg-, who, in 1659, joined the

Society of Friends. See Life of Gerhard Roosen, by Berend C. Roosen, p.

20. Jan Roelof himself was a staunch advocate of the Friends, and took

up the pen in their behalf when they were assailed by Berkendal, a minister of

the Reformed Church. At the foot of a German pamphlet, printed at Am-
sterdam by Christoph Cunrad, in 1681, giving an account of Pennsylvania,

Jan Roelofs van der Werf is named as the agent in Amsterdam, ready to

receive applications. It may be that the latter is identical with the above-

mentioned J. R.
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at Klmuesren. At the "head of the government stood William

III., by the revolution of 1672 Stadtholder of Holland; he

had in this very year espoused Mary, daughter of the Duke
of York, thus paving his way to the English throne.

While Penn is silent on the affairs of the world, he apprises

us of an event that soon after his arrival occurred at Amster-

dam, and which in the history of the Friends, unquestionably,

was of great importance—the holding of a General Meeting.

In Amsterdam a congregation of Friends had been in ex-

istence since 1657, the year in which "William Ames converted

Jacob Williamson Sewel, and his wife, Judith Zinspenning.

Other Quaker missionaries from England, John Stubbs, Wm.
Caton, John Iliggins, Stephen Crisp, and Benjamin Furly,

who visited Holland shortly after, co-operated with Ames in

gaining proselytes. Small societies sprang up in Rotterdam,

Leyden, Haarlem, Alkmaar, Utrecht, and other towns. 1 At
length a general meeting was called, and William Penn, writh

Fox, Barclay, etc., had come purposely to attend it, and to

lend their aid in effecting an organization. In the first session

(2 August), the establishment of monthly, quarterly, and

yearly meetings was determined on, the time for holding them

was fixed, questions of discipline and jurisdiction were con-

sidered and settled. In the Select Meeting, held the evening

of the next day, rules on marriage, printing, collections, and

disbursements were adopted. To the Yearly Meeting at Am-
sterdam, not only the Friends of Holland, but also those in

the Palatinate, Hamburg, Lubeck, and Frederickstadt (a town

1 William Caton, speaking of his stay in Rotterdam and Leyden, 16G0,

says: "I got well to Rotterdam through mercy, where I found Friends

very well in the Lord. After we had sweetly comforted together, I took

leave of them, and went to the city of Leyden, where I also visited that

little flock, with whom my soul at that time was comforted." Stephen Crisp

writes in 1670 :
" I went to Groningen, where divers had believed in the name

of Jesus. ... I left, and returned through Friesland to Amsterdam,

where, by reason of now speaking their own language, meetings grew ex-

ceedingly great, and many strangers came flocking in, and a great openness

I found in the country." (Friends' Library, ix. and xiv.) Many particulars

about the labors of English Friends in Holland are given in Croese, His-

toria Quakeriana.
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in Holstein), were to send delegates. Tims the system of

Meetings, the most simple and democratic that can be devised

for the government of religious societies, was to be extended

over the Continent in the same manner as it had been intro-

duced in England, and other English-speaking countries. ^Ye

cannot help noticing here, how much superior the Friends

were as organizers to other sects that struggled into existence.

The German Mystics, of whatever hue, soared so high above

all things terrestrial, that ordinary business arrangements re-

mained altogether out of sight.

Before leaving Amsterdam, Penn addressed a letter to the

King of Poland, the renowned John Sobieski, who, in 1683,

vanquished the Turks, and saved Vienna, strongly pleading

with him in behalf of the Friends in Dantzick, who suffered

sore oppression by the civil authorities. Strange! Far away

beyond the eastern confines of Germany, near the point where

the Vistula mingles her sluggish waters with those of the

Baltic, on territory then subject to the crown of Poland, a

seed of the Quaker faith had been wafted, and taken root in

the hearts of a few but resolute men. It was no other than

the intrepid William Ames who had wended his steps so far

out of the beaten track of tourists, and carried his testimony

to that distant spot. Very likely he was attracted by the pre-

sence of Mennonites, who, since the middle of the 16th cen-

tury, had found toleration—though not unmixed with inter-

vals of persecution—in several towns of the Vistula country. 1

In the very year of Penn's journey (1677) the protection

hitherto enjoyed by the Mennonites was confirmed to them
by Royal decree, the clamorous opposition of the "Woiwods

notwithstanding. But the same favor was not shown to the

Quakers, who were looked upon with a feeling mixed of dread

and contempt. A very curious account of their hearing be-

fore the municipal authorities of Dantzic has been preserved

in Figken's Historia Fanaticorum (pp. 61-67), but it is too

long to be inserted here. Ames appeared July 15, 1661, "with

1 See Reiswitz und Wadzeck, Glaabensbekenntnisa der Mennoniten,

Berlin, 1824, pp. 25-31.
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head covered," and gave to all questions a fearless, straight-

forward answer. He was in the end told to "pack off"

with the earliest opportunity, which he promised to do, and

left "".with head covered." The expectation that, with the

root cut off, the noxious weed of the new heresy would
speedily die out, was not fulfilled, for, two years later, several

citizens and a woman, who had formerly attended the Luthe-

ran Church, were, by order of the City Councils, examined

by the Burgomaster, Adrian von der Linde, on the charge

of being Quakers, and notified that they must either return

in gremium ecclesice, or be removed. Here Figken's account

closes; it is supplemented by Besse, 1 wTho in speaking of

the same persons, but placing the proceedings " in or about

the year 1677," gives the following most remarkable decree

as the result of the investigation: "Whereas three Quakers

[George Wunderlich, Daniel Abrahamson, and Christian Piit-

tel] have been for some time kept in prison in the Fore-Court

of the Council-House, and that the Honorable Council doth

not think it possible to keep them close enough, therefore,

they have deputed the Servant of the Court to seek oppor-

tunity (the sooner the better) to bring them on board some

ship, to be brought anywhere beyond the Seas, wT ith this

determination, that in case they shall come hither again, they

shall without fail be put into the house of correction, or be

punished with some other hard punishment. Dated in the

Senate the 11th of May. Pursuant to this order they were

put on board a ship, the ' Pillar of Fire,' Hubert Garretson,

Master, and transported into England."

The harsh treatment to which the Quakers of Dantzick

were subjected, had been the occasion of Penn's consolatory

letter written in 1673 : hence it was but natural that they

turned to him for advice, when their wrongs continued un-

abated. The petition to John Sobieski, drawn up in the name

of his suffering brethern, is couched in that fearless, plain, and

impressive language, which has the true stamp of a manly

soul. " Le style c'est Vhomme." After giving a succinct ac-

1 Suffprinprs of the People called Quakers, London, 1763, vol. ii. p. 433.

Vol. ii.—18
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count of the belief of the Friends, and their reasons for sepa-

rating from the Church, the petition thus addresses the King:
** King ! When did the true religion persecute ? When did

the true Church offer violence for religion? Were not her

weapons prayers, tears, and patience ? Did not Jesus conquer

by those weapons, and vanquish cruelty by suffering? Can

clubs and staves, swords and prisons, and banishments reach

the soul, convert the heart, or convince the understanding of

man ?" Very opportune allusion is alio made to the tolerant

principles of Stephen, one of Sobieski's predecessors on the

throne of Poland (1576-1586), whom Penn quotes as saying:

" I am king of men, not of consciences ; king of bodies, not of

souls."

What the valiant kins- thought of Penn's missive is not

recorded. That religious opinions conscientiously held should

not be interfered with, restrained, or punished by the State,

was an idea far in advance of the age, and the reasons that

Penn puts forward for toleration, clear and forcible though

they are, have even to the present not found general recog-

nition. At all events, we learn by a very plaintive letter

of Christian Andreas, of Dantzick, to John Claus, of Am-
sterdam, dated 22 January, 1678, that the Friends continued

to be worried and oppressed. 1

And now, on the 6th of August, the Friends, who had set

out together from England, separated at Amsterdam ; George

Fox, with others of the party, went to Emden, Bremen, Ham-
burg, and Frisia; Penn, accompanied by Keith, Barclay, and

Furly, took the boat to Xaerden, and then the stage-coach to

Herford in Westphalia, to pay a visit to Princess Elizabeth

Stuart, niece of Charles I.

The abbey at Herford (Herwerden), founded about a thou-

sand years ago, by a grandson of Wittekind, was under ex-

clusive imperial jurisdiction, a privilege, which the town
itself had lost by the peace of Westphalia, when it was an-

nexed to the Electorate of Brandenburg. To the abbey still

clung certain traditional attributes of sovereignty, the shadow

1 Besse, Sufferings, ii. 433.
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of a court, consisting of a few hereditary dignitaries and
other honors, more ornamental than exalted. Elizabeth, who
had been solemnly invested as Abbess in 1667, was one of the

most remarkable women of her age. She was born Dec. 26,

1618, the year when the war that proved so calamitous to her

house broke out, being the oldest daughter of Frederick

V., Prince Palatine of the Rhine, who in 1619 accepted the

crown of Bohemia, and, soon after, lost in consequence of the

unfortunate battle of Prague, not only the newly-conferred

dignity, but also his hereditary throne in Heidelberg.

Thus Elizabeth had from infancy a share in the sad disap-

pointments of her parents. The earlier years of her childhood

she spent, in company of two of her brothers, with her grand-

mother, Juliana, the widowed Electress of Brandenburg and

mother of Frederick William, the Great Elector ; when she

was ten years old, she joined her parents in the Hague, and,

naturally averse to frivolous pastimes, pursued the severer

studies of mathematics and philosophy with eminent success.

Not little influence on the development of her mind had the

works and personal acquaintance of the French philosopher

Des Cartes, who since 1629 was domiciled in Holland. He
corresponded with Elizabeth till within a short time of his

death, and his letters to her, full of thought and information,

form a part of his published writings. 1 To Elizabeth he

dedicated the great work of his life, the Principia Philosophic,

declaring that she was the only person that mastered with

equal success the mathematical and metaphysical propositions

of his system. "And," says the philosopher, with a polite

turn so natural to a Frenchman, "what heightens my admi-

ration, is, that so complete a knowledge of all sciences should

be found, not in an old doctor, who has spent many years upon

research, but in a princess, still young, and with features such

as poets give to the Muses and to Minerva."
When Elizabeth was 17 years old, she was offered the hand

1 Her own letters have not been found. Mr. G. E. Guhrauer, who con-

tributed to Raumer's Historisches Taschenbuch, 1850 and 1851, a very full

memoir of Elizabeth's life, made searches in archives, etc., but without sue-
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of Ladislaus IT., King of Poland, provided she were willing

to become Catholic. The offensive condition did not originate

with the King, but was forced upon him by the prelates and

AVoiwods of Poland, who boisterously protested against a

heretic partner of the throne. The Princess, less pliant than

was Henry IV., spurned to purchase her elevation by the

sacrifice of religious convictions.

Many had been the afflictions that checkered Elizabeth's

life. Iler childhood and youth were passed in exile ; at the

age of 13 she lost her father ; a beloved brother, Frederick

Henry, found a sad death by drowning in the Zuyder Zee

;

the heroic struggles of her brother Rupert at the head of the

Cavaliers ended in failure ; her uncle, Charles I., died by the

hand of the executioner; her brother Philip, taking ven-

geance for an affront, killed with his own hand a French

nobleman, and fell at the siege of Rethel ; the apostacy of

her brother Edward, and her sister Louise, the dissolute Ab-

bess of Maubuisson, could not but shock one so sincerely

attached to the Protestant faith ; finally, the immoral conduct

of her brother, Charles Louis, after his restoration to the

throne, was to her a source of silent grief.

In the tranquil retreat at Herford, Elizabeth found at last

the promise of a quiet, contemplative life, such as was best

suited to the sober cast of her mind. She owed the position

of Abbess to her cousin, the great Elector of Brandenburg,

Frederick William, who ever stood at her side as friend and

protector.

Penn had, during his first journey to Germany in 1671,

come to Ilerford upon the same errand as now. At that time,

J. Labadie, received by Elizabeth upon the urgent solicitation

of Anna Maria von Schurman, was staying with his followers1

1 Among these were the two ministers, Ivon and Du Lignon, Henry and

Peter Sehluter from Wesel, Miss Schurman, Mrs. Peter Schluter. nee de

Tries, Miss Wilhelmine de Buytendyk, the Misses Anna, Maria, and Lucia

van Sommelsdyk, Louisa Huygins of Rhynsburg, Emilia van dor Haar from

the Hague. All these, with the exception of the ladies Sommelsdyk. occu-

pied the samp house. As with the Shakers, a mystic dance was part of the

worship. S. Hohcher, The Labadists in Herford, 1864.
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at Herford, and was in high favor with the Princess. So great

was his influence upon her, that he prevented the admission

of Penn to her presence. Since then many changes had taken

place. The Labadists, hated by the clergy, harassed by the

civil authorities, and derided by the people, had, after two

years of incessant pressure, which Elizabeth resisted with

much determination, voluntarily abandoned the field 1 (23 June,

1672). Labadie died at Altona, 1674 ; most of his followers

went to Wiewart, a little village in Friesland, where Penn,

as we shall see, paid them a visit.

The Quakers had in the mean time not failed to make the

best of their improved chances. Robert Barclay, Benjamin

Furly, Gertrude Dirricks, and Elizabeth Hendricks went to

see the Princess, and found a gracious reception. George Fox
and Stephen Crisp tried by letters to open to her the mystery

of truth. Penn, also, had entered into correspondence with

her.

The way being thus prepared, Penn thought the time had

come to approach her with the testimony. He arrived with

his companions at Herford on the 9th of August. Let us

cast a glance at the two principals in the remarkable inter-

views that then took place. Penn, at the age of 33 years, in

the flush of manly beauty, blending all the graces of the

courtly gentleman with the fire of the religious enthusiast,

looking back upon a strangely checkered life, that had led

him from the lawns of Oxford to the prison walls of Xewgate,

the determined champion of religious liberty, and dreaming,

perhaps, of a distant domain, that should be blessed with it

;

opposite to him Elizabeth, who was then in her 60th year, the

granddaughter of a king, and who herself might have been

a queen, an adept in philosophy, the friend of the sages of her

1 An Imperial Edict, issued npon the representation of the magistrate of

Herford. is thus headed :
" An earnest edict of his Roman Imperial Majesty

to the Abbess of Herford, to remove, and no longer to tolerate the Anabap-

tists, new Fanatics, and Sectaries, as Jean Labadie, Peter Ivon, Peter de

Lignon, Henry and Peter Schliiter, and other dangerous and restless spirits."

In the text, the Labadists are styled Quakers and Anabaptists. Elizabeth

paid no attention to the Imperial Edict, which was dated 30 October, 1671.
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time, still seeking an answer to life's enigmas, which science

did not give, in religious experience, in an inward revelation,

such as the ministry of Labadie had led her to hope for.

And now the young Quaker stood before the old Princess, to

teach, to convince, to inspire her.

On the morning of the 10th of August the first meeting

took place by appointment, at which the Princess, the Countess

of Homes, her intimate friend, and a few others were present.

The impression that Penn made buoyed his hopes, and other

meetings were held in the afternoon, and during the following

days. Penn, fully realizing how great issues hinged on the

present opportunity, opened the floodgates of his heart, and

spoke with the unrestrained fervor of conviction. The effect

of his pious eloquence appears to have been marvellous.

"The eternal Word," he says, "showed itself a hammer at

this day, yea sharper than a two-edged sword, dividing asunder

between the soul and the spirit, the joints and the marrow.

Yea, this day was all flesh humbled before the Lord I it amazed

one, shook another, broke another."

According to Penn's account, the Princess was quite wrapped

up by his ministrations. As long as. the Friends stayed at

Herford, they wTere entreated, morning and afternoon, to re-

new their calls, an invitation to stay to dinner having been

respectfully declined. Others also came under Penn's power-

ful influence. The young Countes3 of Homes was very much
interested ; a French lady,1 a companion of Elizabeth, " from

a light and slighting carriage towards us became intimately

and affectionately kind and. respectful to us." The servants

of Elizabeth, lodgers at the inn where Penn stayed, and in-

habitants of Herford that attended meetings were reached by
the " quickening power."

At last the hour of parting came, and most affectionate

was the leave-taking. The Princess wished to unburden her

mind, but overpowered by emotion could stammer only, u I

cannot speak to you, my heart is full," at the same time

Her name is not given. Perhaps it was Mademoiselle de Reneval, who
stayed with Elizabeth at Herford, and afterwards married E. Copper, min-

ister at Miihlheim. See Reiz, Geschichte der Wiedergeborenen, v. p. 200.

—

Ed. 1717.
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clasping her hands upon her breast. Penn, "melted into a

deep and calm tenderness, was moved to minister a few words

softly to her." She recovered, and cordially invited him to

visit her again upon his return. This he did, arriving at

Herford on the 22d of September. As the proceedings dif-

fered very little from those at the first visit, a short reference

to them will serve our purpose. There was a new series of

"tender opportunities,'' fervent exhortations, and startling

effects. Emotion must have run high. The Princess ex-

claimed: "I am fully convinced, but oh! my sins are great
!"

The Countess of Homes, Penn says, was so overpowered, that

she was broken to pieces ; the French lady is reported a3

improved, zealous, and broken. Very likely Penn was led

to hope that the Princess would accept the "testimony," but

she never was definite in her declarations. "I can say little

for myself," she wrote in answer to a letter that Penn addressed

to her between his two visits, "and can do nothing of myself,

but I hope that the Lord will conduct me in his time, by his

way, to his end." Though in full sympathy with the aspira-

tions of the Friends, she took no step to become one of their

number. She died in February, 1680, and Penn paid to her

memory a touching tribute in the second edition of " No Cross

no Crown."

Parting with Robert Barclay at Herford, the rest of the

party, consisting of Penn, Keith, and Furly, set out on the

13th of August, to proceed by way of Paderborn, " a dark

Popish town," and Cassel to Frankfort-on-the-Main. In Cassel

Wm. Penn visited old John Dury, an Englishman, who had

spent most of his life in Germany, zealously laboring for

Christian peace, especially the union of Lutherans and Cal-

vinists. 1 As early as 1633, he was engaged in this work,

having the countenance of eminent statesmen and theologians.

Penn remarks, that " for his approaches towards an inward

principle," he was by some reproachfully called Quaker.

Mosheim said of him, without, however, intending a slur,

" Quakerus ille fuit ante Quakeros."

1 See A. Tholnck, Das Kirchliche Leben des 17 Jahrhunderts, L p. 59,

and.Hossbach, Leben Spener's, i. p. 4.
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In Frankfort, the pilgrims arrived on the 20th of August.

Their coming had been announced to persons of a kindred

mind, and so they were met, before they reached the city, by

two prominent men. One of them was the merchant Vande-

walle, who introduced the three Quakers to a circle of eager

friends, that gathered in his house. Of all persons whom
Penu became acquainted with on that occasion, decidedly the

most interesting was the enthusiastic Johanna Eleonora von

Merlau, a woman of more than ordinary mental abilities. She

is quite a prominent personage in the history of the German
revival, and her peculiar views on important doctrinal points,

as set forth in her writings, drew upon her general attention.

Johanna was born 1644, and consequently of the same age as

Penn. Being the daughter of a nobleman, she moved in

aristocratic society, and was for several years court lady to

the Duchess of Holstein, but the giddy pleasures of her com-

panions had no charms for her, and in spite of taunt3 she led

a devout, religious life. During this time Johanna formed

the acquaintance of an officer of the army, a Mr. de Bretewitz,

the offer of whose hand she accepted ; but she was glad, when,

owing to some misunderstanding, the engagement was can-

celled, as Bretewitz was for her too much a man of the world.

Much to the regret of the Duchess, Johanna at length left

her court, and went to reside in Frankfort with the widow
of a nobleman, M. J. Bauer von Eiseneck (born 1641), who,

like herself, was deeply interested in Jacob Spener's Collegia

Pietatis at the Saalhof. She stayed six years in Frankfort,

from 1674 to 1680, when she gave her hand to the famous

theologian, Dr. Wilhelm Petersen, a voluminous author,

and now Johanna herself began to write works, explanatory

of Apocalypsis, and in defence of the doctrine of the "Res-

toration of all Things." Her views entirely agreed with

those of her husband, but were reached independently. 1

It was Johanna Eleonora von Merlau and Mrs. Bauer von

Eiseneck whom Penn met at Vandewalle's house. Both ladies

took a great fancy to the Quakers, or as Penn has it, " their

1 See the autobiographies of Johanna Eleonora Petersen and Dr. J. W. Pe-

tersen; about Mrs. Bauer, Reiz, Geschichte der Wiedergebornene, iii. p. 97.
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hearts yearned strongly towards us." Johanna gave the

Friends a particular invitation to her house the next morning,

which they complied with. They had, says Penn, a most

blessed opportunity ; the Lord's power appeared, a student,

who resided with a Lutheran minister, whom the young

woman sent for, was broken to pieces, and a doctor of physic

who accidentally came in confessed to the truth.

When, after some days spent in Worms and Krisheim, the

Friends returned to Frankfort, it was again the house of these

two pious ladies where a meeting was arranged, " whither

resorted some that we had not seen before." The religious

exercises lasted till 9 o'clock at night, and then the Friends

had to stay to supper. The ladies joyfully consented to an-

other meeting the following morning (August 29th), which

proved to be " a blessed and heavenly opportunity." On the

same morning, a more public meeting was held at Vandewalle's

house, which was likewise a great success, those present being

in a tender and broken frame of mind. One man, it would

seem, shone by his absence from all these demonstrations, John

Jacob Spener. While his best friends clustered around the

missionaries, the venerable founder of the Pietists was not

seen, although in his earnest zeal to overcome the deadness

and outwardness of the Church, he had much in common with

the followers of George Fox. It must have been a disappoint-

ment to Penn not to have met Spener. He refrains mentioning

his name, but perhaps alludes to him when he remarks:

"Among some of those who have inclinations after God, a

fearful spirit together with the shame of the Cross has en-

tered." It was just at this time that Spener, bitterly assailed

by the old church party, was very careful strictly to define

his position, which he did in two tracts, published in 1677.

While his enemies tauntingly called him the "Frankfort

Quaker," he may have found it embarrassing to meet the veri-

table English Quakers with friendly advances. Xo such

scruples restrained the enthusiastic Johanna Eleonora. " It

will never be well with us," she said, " till persecution come,

and some of us be lodged in the stadt-house, i. e.. prison."

So strong an attachment to principle fully deserved the recog-
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nition which Perm's affectionate letter written to Johanna
from Harlingen contains :

" The sense of your open-hearted-

ness, simplicity, and sincere love to the testimony of Jesus,

delivered by us unto you, hath deeply engaged my heart to-

wards you."

It was by no means an accidental circumstance that Miss

von Merlau and other gifted women appear so conspicuously

in the account of Pemrs travels. For in the contest waged
by mystics and the partisans of emotional religion against

the " deadness" of the orthodox, women of spirit invariably

sided with the former, and several of them, Antoinette Bou-

rignon, Madame de la Mothe Guion, etc., became noted

standard-bearers. It was, in fact, one of the reproaches cast

by the church party upon the " fanatics," that they affiliated

with visionaries of the other sex. A Protestant minister,

J. K. ^Feustking, wrote a wThole book which he called GyneB-

ceum h&retico-fanaticwn, holding up to scorn the long array

of women, that had troubled, and were still troubling the

church with their heretical antics. It is quite a curious gal-

lery of eccentric females, displayed by Feustking in alpha-

betical order; all blessed with illumination, gift of prophecy,

ecstatic visions, angel whispers, etc. They ranged from

women of culture, like Johanna, and her friend, the fair

Hosemunde von Asseburg, who was petted by princes, and

solemnly discussed by eminent clergymen, down to convul-

sive servant girls, who claimed to be the chosen instruments

of Divine grace. It would almost seem, as if these vision-

aries, who in their trance were believed to be en rapport with a

higher world, occupied at that time very much the same place

as in ours the mediums of spiritualism. Johanna v. Merlau,

certainly, wa3 far above the average of the illuminated, but

that she had a touch of their morbid propensity is shown by

her belief in dreams as a means of special revelations. Many
of the persons whom the ill-natured Feustking stigmatizes as

half crazy and mischievous women had the satisfaction to

appear in the publications of the " awakened," as shining

patterns of piety.

Penn's visit to Frankfort had a very important result, not
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then anticipated. The emigration of Germans to America
took its beginning with an association formed in 1682, called

the Frankfort Company. It was this company that planted

Germantown, the first spot where Germans built themselves

new homes on this continent. There were originally ei<rht

stockholders: Jacob Yan de Walle, Caspar Merian, Dr. Johann
Jacob Sch'utz, Johann AVilhelm Ueberfeldt, George Strauss,

Daniel Behagel, Johann Laurentz, and Abraham Hascvoet

;

after some changes and a reorganization, there were in 1686

ten: Jacob Van de AYalle, Dr. Johann Jacob Sch'utz, F. D.

Pastorius, Johanna Eleonora von Merlau, Daniel Behagel,

Dr. G. von Mastricht, Dr. Thomas von "Wylieh, Johannes

Lebrun, Balthasar Jawert, and Johannes Kembler. 1 Five of

the latter were residents of Frankfort ; of the rest two lived

in Wesel, two in Liibeck, and one in Duisburg. Xow, though

Penn in his journal gives the names of only a few persons,

whom he met in Frankfort, the identity of these few with

members of the Frankfort Company, proves the connection of

his visit with its subsequent establishment. Jacob Yan de

"Walle was the merchant in whose house he held the first

meeting, Eleonora von Merlau the lady whom he honored with

his friendship. Both were attendants of Spener's collegia

pietatis. Dr. J. J. Schiitz, an intimate friend of Miss von

Merlau, also belonged to this set.2 Ueberfeldt was a well-

known advocate of mysticism, a devoted follower of Jacob

Boehm. He came in 1674 to Frankfort, where he engaged

in mercantile business, and went in 1684 to Holland, where

in connection with Gichtel, he formed the order of the "An
gelic Brethren." The Duisburg member of the Company,

Dr. Yon Mastricht, became, as we shall see, personally ac-

quainted with Penn, when the latter visited Duisburg ; one

of the members in TVesel, Dr. Thomas von Wylieh, initiated

in that city collegia pietatis after Spener's manner,3 and though

1 Ad original copy of the agreement of the members, with their autograph

signatures, is in possession of our fellow-member, Howard Edwards, in Phila-

delphia.

* Petersen's Autobiography, p. 19.

* Eeiz, Geschichte der Wiedergebornen, iv. p. 59.
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not himself, a near relative of his is noticed in Penn's journal.

Of the Liibeck members of the Company, Kembler and Ja-

wert, nothing is known, but it can hardly be a mere coinci-

dence, that Liibeck, one of the very few cities in Germany

where we hear of Quakers, should also furnish two partici-

pants to the Frankfort Company. To complete the proof

that the project of buying land, and forming a settlement in

Pennsylvania, originated in the very circles that had been in

contact with Penn, we have the statement of Pastorius, con-

tained in an autobiographical memoir, 1 to this effect :
" Upon my

return to Frankfort in 1682, 1 was glad to enjoy the company

of my former acquaintances and Christian friends, assembled

together in a house called the Saalhof, viz., Dr. Spener, Dr.

Schutz, Xotarius Fenda, Jacobus Yan de "Walle, Maximilian

Lerfner, Eleonora von Merlau, Maria Juliana Bauer, etc., who
sometimes made mention of William Penn of Pennsylvania,

and showed me letters from Benjamin Furly, also a printed

relation concerning said province,2 finally the whole secret

could not be withholden from me, that they purchased 25,000

acres of land in this remote part of the world. Some of them
entirely resolved to transport themselves, families and all.

This begat such a desire in my soul to continue in their

society, and with them to lead a quiet, godly, and honest life

in a howling wilderness, that by several letters I requested of

my father his consent, .etc."

Thus we see that the origin of the Frankfort Company is di-

rectly traceable to Penn's visit in 1677. With the exception of

Pastorius, who became the agent of the company, none of the

participants emigrated, though that seems to have been their

1 Inserted in the " Beehive," a large folio manuscript, in possession of Mr.

Washington Pastorius.

2 Probably the German translation of " Some account of the Province of

Pennsylvania in America," which was published in London, 1681 ; the Ger
mau translation appeared in Amsterdam the same year, under the title

:

Eine Nachricht wegen der Landschaft Pennsilvania in America, welche

jiingstens unter dem grossen Siegel in Engelland an William Penn, etc.,

iibergeben worden. Nebenst beygefugtem ehemallgen in 1675, gedruckten

Schreiben des oberwahuten, William Penn. In Amsterdam gedruckt bey

Christoph Cunraden 1681.
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intention at first. Miss Merlau's name, which appears on the

original record, was, in the list of members, replaced by that of

Dr. W. Petersen, the learned theologian, to whom she was mar-

ried by Spener Sept. 7, 1680.

William Penn and his companions left Frankfort on the

22d of August, and arrived the next day at Krisheim, a small

village, about six miles from Worms. ' Here a little con-

gregation of German Quakers had, in spite of many tribula-

tions, managed to hold together ever since William Ames and

George Rolfe in the year 1657 had convinced them. They

were occasionally visited by travelling Friends, who watched

tenderly over this distant offshoot of their brotherhood.

William Caton mentions them in 1660, speaking of the Pala-

tinate, " where in due time we arrived, through the mercy of

the Lord, at a place called Kriesheim, where we found a small

remnant of Friends, that bore their testimony to the truth,

with whom we were refreshed after our long and pretty tedious

journey. There we continued some time, helping them to

gather their grapes, it being the time of their vintage." 1

Stephen Crisp and Wm. Moore likewise visited them. And
now Penn, also, turned his steps to this sequestered spot,2 to

welcome and comfort the simple husbandmen and weavers

who shared his religious.convictions. Though the magistrate

of the village (Vogt), instigated by a clergyman, attempted

to put obstacles in the way of preaching, Penn would not be

baffled, and had, with the Friends of Krisheim, increased by
a u coachful from Worms," a quiet and comfortable meeting.

1 Friends' Library, vol. ix.

2 Unquestionably the village now named Kriegsheim near "Worms is the

place meant. That this bore the older name Krisheim as late as the middle

of the last century I saw by a list of taxables, when I visited the place in

1874, in the hands of Rev. Mr. Keller at Kriegsheim. The distance from

Worms a3 given by Penn (about six miles) also tallies. No remembrance

of Penn's visit clings to the place. The old Quaker families, mentioned by

Besse, Sewel, and Pastorius. are not represented by descendants of the same

names, and to make oblivion complete, the church records, containing regis-

ters of births, marriages, and deaths, were destroyed by fire in 1848. The

disappearance of the old Quaker families is account* d for partly by their

emigration to Pennsylvania, partly by the sacking and burning of Palatine

cities and villages during the French invasions.
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The annoyances to which the inoffensive Quakers of Krisheim
were constantly subjected by the local authorities, he thought,

would be most effectively stopped by a personal appeal to the

sovereign of the Palatinate, Charles Louis. He, therefore,

went, travelling on foot, to Mannheim, where the Prince was
reported to be, but the latter had already left for Heidelberg,

and as Peun had made arrangements for another meeting1 in

Krisheim, he could not follow. He, therefore, put in writing

what he had to say, and this letter is so noble, strong, and

lucid a pleading for liberty of conscience, that we can hardly

be sorry for the disappointment which obliged Penn to sub-

stitute the written for the spoken words. What in the argu-

ment for toleration is said about the aggressive tendencies of

a powerful Church, as arrayed against the State, has a re-

markably modern sound, and might have served as a key-note

to Victor Emanuel or Bismarck in their conflict with ecclesias-

ticism. Speaking of the Clergy, Penn says :
" That in most coun-

tries, it is not only a co-ordinate power, a kind of duumvirate-

ship in government, imperium in imperio, at least an eclipse to

monarchy ; but a superior power, and rideth the Prince to their

designs, holding the helm of the government, and steering not

by the laws of civil freedom, but certain ecclesiastical maxims

of their own, to the maintenance and enlargement of their

worldly empire in their church. And all this, acted under

the sacred, peaceable, and alluring name of Christ, his min-

istry and church; though as remote from their nature as the

wolf from the sheep, as the Pope from Peter." We do not

learn what impression the letter made upon the Palatine. On
a similar occasion Ames interceded, it appears, with good

success. "The conviction, which attended the ministry of

¥m. Ame3, in the hearts of some persons in the Palatinate,

occasioned a fine to be settled on those who gave him enter-

tainment, but the Prince Elector being informed of it, not

only took off the fine, but ordered some of the Consistory who
had sent for William to desist from molesting him. The
Prince's sister also behaved very kindly towards Ames, and

received his exhortations favorably." 1

1 Friends' Library, vol. xi. p. 477.
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When Perm returned by way of Worms to Krisheim, Aug.

26th, no further interference was attempted. A meeting was

held in a barn, and the magistrate himself was one of* the

listeners, carefully ensconced behind the door, The good

man thereupon reported to the inquisitive minister that he

heard nothing but? what was good, and as to heresies he had

not discovered any.

Tn Worms, Penn paid a visit to the Lutheran minister, who
had been one of the attendants at the first meeting in Kris-

heim. Both he and his wife listened to Penn's discoursing

with iuterest,and "not without some sense of our testimony,"

and Penn left, as he did on all suitable occasions, " several good

books of Friends in High Dutch."

2sot many years afterwards, the astounding news reached

the country that the English gentleman, who had so kindly

and impressively spoken to the humble inhabitants ofKrisheim,

was now the proprietor of a vast domain, even much larger

than the whole Palatinate, 1 and that, under laws of his mak-

ing, the fullest liberty of conscience was pledged to all that

settled there. The Quakers and Mennonites of Krisheim

thereupon resolved to take advantage of this godsend, and to

build themselves new home3 in Penn's land. So we find

among the pioneers of Germantown, Peter Shoemaker, Isaac

Shoemaker, Thomas Williams, Arnold and Johann Cassel,

Johann Krey, Gerhard Hendricks, and other immigrants

from Krisheim. The name of the village was renewed in

Germantown, much of what is now called Mt. Airy receiving

the name of Krisheim (884 acres), and to the present day

Cresheim Street and Crisham Creek perpetuate in their appel-

lation the memory of the Palatine village.

The remaining part of Penn's journey we may be allowed to

consider in a somewhat summary manner, as it would be use-

less to re-state from the published account of his travels, that he

met in one city a " serious seeker," held in another a " precious

meeting," and had in a third a " sweet opportunity." Point-

1 Pennsylvania is a good deal larger than Bavaria, Wiirtemburg, and

Baden taken together.
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ing out in a general manner the line of his travel, we shall

dwell only on incidents of particular interest. But how did

he find in a strange land those very persons, who were in a

prepared frame of mind to listen to him ? Without question,

the children of the light, the awakened, the yearners after in-

wardness, the pietists, the sober seekers, etc., knew each

other, or of each other, all over the land, and one in sympathy

with them would have no difficulty to trace them.

After a second visit to Frankfort, Penn took the boat to

Mayence, then up the Rhine to Cologne, where he arrived on

the 31st of August. According to his custom, he is entirely

reticent on the charms of nature and the foot-prints of history,

and disposes of the whole voyage from Mayence to Cologne

in about six lines. In the latter city he found, among persons

of standing, open ears and hearts. In Duisburg, on the Rhine,

which he readied on the 2d of September, he formed the ac-

quaintance of Dr. Gerhard Mastricht, to whom he had a letter

of introduction from a merchant of Cologne. This gentleman

became a few years later a partner in the Frankfort Company,
holding a share that entitled him to 1666| acres of land in

Pennsylvania. At the time we speak of, however, Penn and

Mastricht were engaged on an entirely different business.

East of Duisburg lies Miihlheim, which belonged then to the

domain of the Count of Bruck and Falkenstein, whose castle

is on the left, while the town of Miihlheim is on the right

bank of the Ruhr. The Count had a daughter, of whose

godliness Penn had heard through Princess Elizabeth and

Miss von Merlau. He had letters to her from these ladies,

and Dr. Mastricht, who was well acquainted with the young

Countess, offered likewise some lines of introduction. But
there was one difficulty to be considered. The father was a

rigid Calvinist, who set hi3 face against the pietistic leanings

of his daughter, and, of course, would object to her receiving

a Quaker. Still there might be a way to reach her. On Sun-

days she used to spend the afternoon at the clergyman's house

in Miihlheim, and there Penn could speak to her words of

counsel and comfort. This course was suggested by Dr. Mas-

tricht, and accepted. While the Friends, for Penn appears
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to have been accompanied by his fellow-travellers, were on
their way and near the castle, which lay on the road to Miihl-

heim, they met Iv. Schmidt, the schoolmaster of the neigh-

boring village, Spieldorf, and learned of him that the youno-

Countess had already returned home. In this emergency Penn
requested the schoolmaster to take Dr. Mastricht's introduc-

tory letter to the lady and bring an answer. After about an
hour, the answer came that the Count's daughter would be
glad to meet Penn, and that she was going for this purpose

to return to the minister's house in Miihlheim. The Friends,

therefore, went on, but while passing the castle, ill luck would
have it, that at that very moment the Count came out for a

walk. He had the strangers at once questioned as to their

designs, and discovering—they did not take their hats off

—that they were Quakers, gave full vent to his passionate

dislike. Remonstrance was of no avail, he ordered some of

his soldiers to see them out of his territories. Coming to

Spieldorf, they called on the schoolmaster, and opened to him
" the message and testimony of truth," which he received with

a serious spirit. Penn's remark, that in that neighborhood

the Protestants manifested a more religious, inward, and zeal-

ous frame of spirit than anywhere else in Germany, quite

tallies with the fact, that a mild mysticism, such as repre-

sented by G-. Terstegen, found favor in Miihlheim, and was

cherished by the Pennsylvania immigrants from that place.

The trials of that day were not quite over. When the

Friends, after a weary walk, reached Duisburg late at night,

they found the gates of the city closed, and no alternative was

left, no house being near, but to make their night's quarters

in the fields. About three o'clock they rose, and walked till

five, after speaking to one another "of the great and notable

day of the Lord dawning upon Germany." The first thing

that Penn did when he arrived at the inn was to write two

letters, one of considerable length and tenderness to the

"persecuted Countess," in which he inclosed Miss von Mer-

lau's note, and the other to her father, expostulating with

his coarse conduct. They were both inserted in the journal.

Dr. Mastricht felt much concerned when he learned what
• Vol. ii.—19
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had happened. "Her father/' he said, "has called her a

Quaker a long time, now he will conclude she is one indeed."

The lady managed to convey a kind message to Penn, express-

ing her regret at the rough treatment he had received, and

cautioning him to beware of her father. " It would grieve

her heart that any one "who came in the love of God to visit

her, should be so severely handled; for at some he sets his

dogs, upon others he puts his soldiers to beat them."

The Friends, making part of the way on foot, went over

Wesel and Emmerich to Cleve, every where doing good ser-

vice in their cause. In Cleve, a lady remarked that many
feared to be called Quakers, only for being more serious and

retired in their conversation. Penn replied, there was an

honor to that name ; all sobriety in Germany was called by

it. By way of Ximeguen they then rode to Utrecht, and

here they separated, Keith and Furly going to Rotterdam,

and Penn to Amsterdam, where he arrived on the 8th of

September. What he learned here of the prospects of the

Friends was of a cheering character ; he received a very kind

letter from Princess Elizabeth, and left after a few days with

Peter Hendricks 1 for Harlingen in Friesland. Here he met

again George Fox, and others of the original party. A
monthly meeting, the first appointed for Friesland, Groningen,

and Emden was held on the 11th of September; also a public

meeting attended by Mennonites, Collegians, and others.

Very noticeable was the powerful impression made upon a

Presbyterian minister and a physician. Having written to

his Frankfort friend, Johanna Eleonora von Merlau, a long

letter, containing an account of his journey since he left

Frankfort, Penn set out with John Claus to pay a visit to the

Labadists in Wieward, being particularly desirous to see the

old and famous Anna Maria von Schurman, who had cast her

lot with these people.

Wieward is a little borough in Friesland, near Leeuwarden.
Its most conspicuous building was a spacious castle, called the

1 Hendricks had also accompanied TVm. Caton to Friesland in 1660. He
wrote several books in German to defend the Quaker doctrine against the

aspersions of its enemies.
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"Walta-house, the property of the wealthy Soraeldyke family,

which consisted of three sisters, Anna, Maria, and Lucia, all

in fullest sympathy with the Labadie sect, and a brother,

Cornelius, then governor of Surinam. The ladies had already

belonged to the Labadie establishment in Herford, and one

of them had married Yvon, the associate pastor. All of them

accompanied their revered chief to Altona, and after his death

offered their mansion in "Wieward to the unsteadily drifting

flock as a place of refuge. There the ascetic brethren and

sisters passed their days in pious meditations and devout ex-

ercises, often strolling through the groves in the neighborhood

of their home, whence the prosy natives of the place called

them the "bush people."

They had two pastors, Yvon and du Lignon, but by far the

most prominent person among them was the aged Miss Schur-

man, who, if only half of what her contemporaries tell of her

be true, must have been the most extraordinary woman of her

age. In her earliest youth she gave much attention to artistic

pursuits ; afterwards she became prominent as a scholar. Her
biographer, Dr. Schotel, gives her credit for writing poetry

in Dutch, French, Italian, Latin, Greek, Hebrew, and Arabic.

She was called of the Graces the fourth, of the Muses the

tenth, and a second Minerva. The notable scholars of her

time vied in doing homage to her ; to prove that woman is

intellectually the equal of man, Maria von Schurman was
brought forward as evidence. In her religious convictions

she had been a Calvinist, and her conversion to the Xew
Church, as Labadie's sect was called, was for long time a

topic generally commented upon. She looked upon the change

wrought in her as a Divine mercy, and so fascinated was she

with Labadie's awakening power, that she was resolved to

follow him to every clime, and occupied with him at Amster-

dam and at Herford the same house.

Penn arrived at "Wieward on the 17th of September, but as

it was late, postponed his visit to the next day. And so they

met. Anna Maria von Schurman was then in her seventy-

first year, and in feeble health. She spoke little, told of her

former life, her pleasure in learning, her love of the religion
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she was brought up in, the feeling of deadness that came over

her, and the powerful stroke she received through Labadie's

almost magical influence. The two ministers and the ladies

Someldyke then told their experiences, Perm followed with an

account of his own life, his conversion, and a statement of

his belief. There was on all sides a frank and respectful in-

terchange of views, but the Labadists continued true to their

own convictions.

Anna Maria Schurman died before another year had com-

pleted its circle. The Walta-house, the abode of the Laba-

dists, gradually became so crowded with Xew Church people,

that some step for relief had to be contemplated, and this was
emigration. A settlement in Surinam was attempted, but

failed. Then Jasper Dankers and Peter Schluter were sent

to Xorth America. They explored the country, and gave a

full account of their travels in a journal, which has been pub-

lished in the first volume of the Memoirs of the Long Island

Historical Society, and forms a highly interesting and impor-

tant contribution to the early knowledge of America. In

1683, a Labadist settlement upon communistic principles,

headed and directed by Peter Schluter, was undertaken in

Maryland, near the Pennsylvania boundary line, on a piece of

land called the Bohemia manor.

Many more cities in Xorthern Germany did Penn visit. In

Emden the small society of Friends which about 1674 com-

menced with the conversion of Dr. J. W. Haasbaard and wife,

had been subject to severe persecution, and constant annoy-

ance. 1 Stephen Crisp visited them in 1675, and censured in

a printed paper the vindictive intolerance of the magistrates. 2

When Penn came there on the 16th of September, the con-

gregation had dwindled to a few souls. Dr. Haasbaard had

died in exile, but his mother and his sisters were living. Penn

personally remonstrated with the President of the State

Council, Dr. Andreas, whom he had on a former occasion ap-

proached by letter, and after an argument with him succeeded

in shaming that violent antagonist into an advocate of tolera-

1 See Besse's Safferinsrs. Croese. Historia Quakeriana, p. 518-528.

8 See Friends' Library, xiv. p. 150.
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tiou. In 1686, Quakers were even invited to settle in

Emden. 1

In Bremen, AVilliam Penn was joined again by George

Keith and Benjamin Furly. They found several persons pro-

fessing much sympathy with the Friends, but afraid of owning

a name that was so unpopular. The Protestant minister whom
Penn mentions as stru£°dincr between conviction and fear of

the world, probably was Theodore Undereyck. 2

The last month of the journey was spent in revisiting places

that had been touched before, such as Herford, \V
r
esel, Duis-

burg, Diisseldorf, Cologne, Cleve, Ximeguen, Amsterdam,

Leyden, Rotterdam, and the Hague.

In Duisburg Penn wished to make another attempt to pro-

cure an interview with the young Countess of Bruck, but Dr.

Mastricht, who knew her father's deep-rooted prejudice and

bad temper, frustrated the design, and a Mr. Kuper, who
had been depended upon, likewise refused to lend his hand.3

In Cologne, he was very kindly received by Docenius. the

" resident" of the King of Denmark, probably the same whom
on a former occasion he called "an ancient seeker," that had

his heart opened, and blessed God for having lived to see

Penn. Docenius afterwards followed Penn to Rotterdam and

the Hague to have another interview. The same gentleman,

as we learn by Pastorius's note-book,4 would have liked in

1683 to emigrate to Pennsylvania, but his good lady inter-

posed. She believed in the maxim "let well enough alone."

"Now," said she, "I can ride in a carriage from one house to

another. In America, who knows but I would have to look

after cattle, and milk the cows." That dreadful contingency

settled the case.

1 See Croese, Historia Quakeriana, p. 528. W. Sewel, History, p. 300 of

Phila. ed.

8 Reiz, Gesch. der Wiedergeborenen, iii. 118.
8 This Kuper may be identical with R. Copper, the subject of a memoir

hi Reiz, Gesch. der Wiedergeborenen, iv. p. 199. Copper was minister in

Muhlheim, afterwards in Duisburg, which place he left in 1683, to Join the

Labadists in Wieward. After their dispersion, the Countess of Horn, Prin-

cess Elizabeth's friend, invited him to come to Bielefeld.

4 MS. of the Hist. Society of Penna.
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In Amsterdam, where the Friends arrived on the 8th of

October, Penn had a public discussion with Dr. Galenus Abra-

hams de Haau, the distinguished leader of the Socinian Men-

nonites. This eminent man (b. 1622), honored alike for his

learning and his benevolence, was minister of the Mennonites

from 1648 till 1706. When these in 1663 were divided into

a liberal and a stricter party, Dr. Galenus Abrahams sided

with the former, while Samuel Apostool headed the latter.

The battle of argument between the two champions, Penn of

the Quakers, Abrahams of the Mennonites, caused what wTe

would now call a sensation. The first debate between them

took place qn the 9th of October, and lasted five hours ; the

second on the 11th, was as long. Would that their speeches,

questions, answers, objections, and rejoinders could have been

taken down by the nimble hand of a reporter I The sub-

ject of the discussion was in the main the claim of the

Friends to a complete and correct presentation of the Christian

truth.

The result was highly satisfactory, satisfactory to each side,

as is generally the case. If Gerhard Croese, the author of

the Histovia Quakeriana, who, as a Calvinist, stood aloof of

both parties, may be accepted as an impartial judge, Penn had

the better of the argument. Speaking slowly and consider-

ately, he never was disconcerted by objections sprung upon

him, while Dr. G. Abrahams, becoming entangled in a mass

of words, frequently overlooked the point at issue, and resorted

to pleasantry to cover his retreat. There was, nevertheless,

a very good feeling between Mennonites and Quakers, a kind

of fellow-feeling much stronger than their difference in mat-

ters of profession. And so, when Penn had become proprietor

of the province bearing his name, he cordially invited the

Mennonites1 to seek new home3 under the benign laws of

Pennsylvania. Many of them obeyed his call. Quakers and

Mennonites from Holland and Germany arrived almost simul-

taneously with the first English settlers of Pennsylvania. In

1683 they founded Germantown. When, in 1700, Claas Be-

rends, a Mennonite of Hamburg, joined them, he had occasion

1 Life of Gerhard Roosen, p. 60.
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to report home that there was a lack of shepherds for the flock

of his creed. Already in 17l)8 they could build a church in

Germantown ; the congregation then numbering thirty-two

members. In about sixteen years this church had branched

out to Skippack, Conestogo, Great Swamp, and Manatawny. 1

As to the Hollanders that came to Pennsylvania, they

rapidly amalgamated with the more numerous Germans,

among whom they lived and whose language they adopted.

Of mauy settlers it is not positively known whether they

came from Holland or from Germany. Among the first in-

habitants of Germantown, the following hailed from Holland:

Claus, "Willem, and Gerrard Rittenhuysen, Peter and Dirk
Keyser, Cornells Claesen, Harmen Casdorp, Jacob Telner, Jan
RoelofF Yanderwerf, his son Richard Vanderwerf, Cornells

Sjoerts, Jan and Henrich van der Sluys, Arnold van Vossen,

Cornells van der Gaegh, Jan van de "Woestyne, Matthias and
Isaac van Bebber, some of the Jansens (others were from

Germany), Aret Klincken, Isaac van Sintern, perhaps, also,

Jan Luken, the three brothers Op den Graef, and Peter Hen-

dricks.2

In Amsterdam, Penn had an interview with Gichtel, the

most devoted of Jacob Bohm's disciples, and editor of the

works of the famous German mystic. Princess Elizabeth, a3

appears by her note to Penn, must have had direct informa-

tion about this visit, for she writes: "Gichtel has been well

satisfied with the conferences between you." It is asserted

that Gichtel received overtures both from the Friends and the

Labadists to join their respective societies, but declined.3

1 Morgan Edwards, Materials towards a history of American Baptists.

Much interesting information on the early immigration of Mennonites is

given in Dr. Sheffer's article, translated and annotated by Mr. S. W. Pen-

nypacker in Penna. Magazine, Vol. II. p. 117.
2 Among the Penn papers of the Historical Society, there is an old printed

sheet, without date, in the Dutch, giving information to emigrants, especially

to those that are interested in Pennsylvania. Its heading is : Nader In-

formatie of Onderrechtinge voor de gene die genegen zijn om na America

to gaan en wel voor-namentlijk voor die geene die in de Provintie van Pen-

sylvania geintressirt zijn.

8 Kanne, Leben merkwardiger erweckter Christen, ii. p. 64.
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On the day of his second debate wich Galenus Abrahams,

October 10th, Fenn left Amsterdam in company of G. Fox

and B. Furly. They went to Leyden, the Hague, and Rotter-

dam, holding meetings and gaining the hearts of many private

persons. At Wonderwick, near Leyden, a gentleman of high

station, whose name is not mentioned, was deeply moved in

spirit by Fenn's appeal, and said before the Friends left,
u My

house is blessed for your sakes, and blessed be God that I ever

lived to see you." In Rotterdam, Penn finished and revised

four religious tracts of an exhortative character, one of them

designed for circulation in Holland and Germany. This

method of disseminating their doctrine was freely resorted to

by the Quakers ; the missionary party on their tour through

Holland and Germany distributed books and pamphlets on

the whole line of their travel. In Germany, it may be re-

marked, it was next to -impossible to have anything printed

in favor of the Quakers ; when Caton and Ames made the

attempt, " the printers fearing the reproof of the clergy, durst

not." Upon another occasion, Caton succeeded in Hanau, but

most of the German Quaker pamphlets were printed in Am-
sterdam. 1

On the 21st of October, Wm. Penn, George Fox, George

Keith, and Gertrude Dirick IN'ieson, with her children, took

the boat at Briel, and after a stormy passage arrived at Har-

wich on the 24th. Thus the three months' journey, remark-

able in more than one respect, came to a close. Penn's own
account of his labors is a most valuable contribution to the

history of his life. It furnishes a self-drawn portrait, true as

the reflection of the mirror, and yet entirely different from

any other, belonging to an earlier or later stage of his life.

We are accustomed to look upon him mainly as the founder

of a commonwealth, as a wise and benevolent law-giver. In

a very different attitude he stands before us in 1677. Though
as a trustee of the Byllinge interest in "West Jersey since

1674, he had his attention drawn to the Western Continent,

where even then Burlington received its first settlers, his tour

1 W. Catoa's Life and Travels in Friend's Library, vol. ix.
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through Holland and Germany had none but missionary or

apostolic objects. 1 Travelling from town to town, seeking

opportunities of approach, addressing private and public

meetings, edifying, exhorting, inspiring, and sometimes over-

powering his hearers, unmoved by ill report, undaunted by

difficulties, daring, though himself a stranger in a foreign

land, to plead in behalf of the oppressed natives, his brethren

in faith, for the inalienable rights of conscience, he presents

all the features of a single-minded enthusiast, driven by an

irresistible power. On particular occasions he felt as if sur-

charged by a divine afflatus, and found relief when he poured

out his burthen in spoken or written w^ords.

It is strange that no reference is made in the narrative to

the language which Penn used in addressing people in Holland

and Germany. We do not learn whether he spoke to them in

their own tongue, or through an interpreter, as Fox did. We
may presume, however, that he understood both Dutch and

German, and could express himself in either language with

some fluency. His mother was a native of Holland, Margaret

Jasper, the daughter of John Jasper, a merchant in Rotter-

dam. We regret that we know so little of her, for she

probably transmitted to Penn those traits of mind which

made him the man of history.2 It is not likely that he failed

to learn his mother'3 tongue. As to German, an incident

related in Janney's Life of Penn, shows that he understood

it sufficiently well. When Peter the Great was in England,

the Friends wished to lay before him a correct statement of

their views, and as a knowledge of the English did not belong

to the accomplishments of the Czar, who spoke only Russian

and German, Penn, on account of hi3 familiarity with German,

was chosen to converse with Peter. It is true, during his

journey through Holland and Germany, Penn never was

1 What W. H. Dixon, in his Historical Biography of^m. Penn. says on

page 146 of freqnent conversations at Frankfort with Van de Walle, Behagel,

Schutz, and Pastorins, about American affairs is altogether an invention.

Pastorius was not even in Frankfort at the time.

* Pepys' (Diary, Aug. 19, 1664) credits her with more wit than her hus*

band.
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without a continental companion, such as Benjamin Furly,

Peter Hendricks, or John Claus, but there is nothing to show-

that he needed them as interpreters.

Wonderfully impressive and winning must have been Penu's

dealings with men. Being cast among people, who from high

to low were prepossessed against Quaker doctrines and Quaker

habits, he readily secured, wherever he went, a respectful

hearing, cowed by his calm and dignified presence the brutish

instincts of adversaries—the Count of Falkenstein only ex-

cepted—charmed strangers in spite of themselves with his

gentle power, and mightily stirred the souls of those over

whom he gained control. Not a few persons were drawn to

him by strange sympathy. Docenius, of Cologne, followed

him to Rotterdam, the Hague, and finally to Briel, the port

where Penn embarked. A gentleman in Leyden, formerly

professor at the university, was equally fascinated. "The
men felt our spirits, and, therefore, loved us." Many other

instances of this magnetic power exerted by Penn are recorded

in his account.

Exhaustive as incessant travelling, combined with minis-

terial labor, would seem to be, Penn devoted the intervals of

rest to writing elaborate addresses and letters, some of con-

siderable length, all rich in thought, and throbbing with

fervor. If the tide of feeling sometimes seems to run too

high, if the utterances appear too rapturous, the tone too

sentimental, remember, that all efforts directed against the

coldness and formality of orthodox churches, partook more

or less of this emotional character. Moreover, the religion

of the Friends was then in the flush of youth, exuberant with

spirit, joyous with hope.

TTe cannot think too highly of the noble stand which Penn

took as the champion of toleration and religious liberty in a

country where he was a stranger, or, as he himself expresses

it, " a lonely pelican in the wilderness." He undertook this

difficult task with consummate tact, tempering the strength of

his arguments with gentleness of tone, and resting his appeals

on the highest conception of Christianity. It does not detract

from his merit, that he was in advance of his age, that the
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epithets Quaker and Schwariner outweighed all argument,

and that persecution of all dissenting Christians continued to

be the rule with Church and State.

But there was reserved to him a satisfaction which rarely

falls to the lot of reformer and theorist, the privilege of hav-

ing a field of action placed under his control, upon which to

carry out, and test by experiment the principles that he had

advocated. Already West Jersey had, at his advice, inserted

in her fundamental law the provision which sounds like a

psean to liberty, that no one should " in the least be punished

or hurt in person, estate, or privilege for the sake of his

opinion, judgment, faith, or worship toward God in matters

of religion ; for no man, nor numbers of men upon earth have

power to rule over men's consciences." In giving to Pennsyl-

vania the " Great Law," he established here that freedom of

conscience, which he had pleaded for in court, which he had

advocated in prison, and which he had urged with eloquent

appeals on the King of Poland, the Elector Palatine, and the

City Councils of Emden.

And in Pennsylvania it was also where the seed he had

scattered in Holland and Germany came to a rich harvest,

though in a form not foreseen or intended. If by his words
" the great and notable day dawning in Germany," he meant

a prospective growth of the Friends' religious views in Ger-

many, his hopes were destined to be disappointed. The feeble

sparks which the Friends had left here and there were soon

trodden out, and the yearning after a more intense and spir-

itual religious life sought for itself different channels. 1

But William Penn of 1677 was not forgotten in 1682. I

have already dwelled upon the fact that the grant of a vast

tract of land in the western hemisphere to the travelling

missionary from England was in Germany hailed with joy by

those who had seen and heard him, that the Company founded

1 Jung Stilling, generally well informed in the history of religious enthu-

siasm, asserts in Theobald, which was published 1784, that there had been

no Quakers in Germany. So soon were they forgotten. The little flock of

Friends in Pyrmont seem to have had no connection with the efforts of Ames,

Moore, Crisp, and Penn.
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in Frankfort, which bought five shares, or 25,000 acres of

Pennsylvania land, originated with his personal friends, and

that the Quakers of Krisheim, who in 1677 had listened to

his discourses, belonged to the first settlers of Germantown.

Crefeld, also, where, as we learn of Stephen Crisp, 1 the prin-

ciples of the Friends had found entrance, furnished a number
of purchasers and settlers. Benjamin Furly, of Rotterdam,

Penn's travelling companion, was the agent through whom
the land purchase was negotiated, and passage procured.

Furly, applying to James Claypole, engaged passage for them
on the Concord, master William Jeffries, a staunch vessel of

500 tons burthen. It was to sail on the 17th of July, but, as

the Crefelders were delayed, did not leave till the 24th. 2 This

pioneer guard of German emigrants to America consisted of

thirty-three persons forming thirteen families, the heads of

which were : Dirk op den Graeff, Herman op den Graetf

Abraham op den Graeff, Lenert Arets, Tunes Kunders, Rein-

ert Tisen, Wilhelm Strepers, Jan Lensen, Peter Keurlis, Jan

Simens, Johannes Bleickers, Abraham Tunes, Jan Liicken.3

The Concord had a rather long, but otherwise pleasant pas.

sage, arriving in Philadelphia on the 8th of October, 1683.

James Claypole, who was himself a passenger, thus reports in

his first letter from Philadelphia: "The blessing of the Lord

did attend us, so that we had a very comfortable passage, and

had our health all the way." There was, in fact, a gain in

the number of passengers when the Concord arrived, Peter

Bleickers being born on board. 4

Francis Daniel Pastorius, the agent of the Frankfort Com-
pany, came over a few weeks before the rest, in the America,

Captain Wasey. He at once reported to Penn, who received

him with the greatest kindness, and repeatedly drew him to

his table. What a joyous meeting it must have been when

1 Memorable account of Christian Experiences of Stephen Crisp, London,

1694. " Another time he made a journey into the County of Meurs, to the

town of Crevel, where a meeting was set up."

2 James Claypole's Letter-book, MSS. of the Historical Society of Penna.
3 Germantown Grund und Lager Buch in the Recorder's Office, Phila.

4 Abingtou Meeting Records.
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Penn welcomed his Krisheim friends on the free soil of Penn-

sylvania, where the freedom to worship God was as untram-

melled as the air and the sunlight. They lost no time pre-

paring new homes for themselves in the " German town," and
it was there, in Peter Shoemaker's house, that reun again

edified them with discourse and exhortation.

It was thus William Penn himself who opened the gates

through which Germany poured a continuous and widening
stream of emigration into the new province. For it so hap-

pened, that the very parts which he had visited were soon

afterwards overrun by the armed hordes of Louis XIV. In

bold defiance of treaty stipulations, the French King laid vio-

lent hands on whole provinces of Western Germany, and the

warfare against the unhappy Palatinate was carried on with

unparalleled crueity. Speier, Worms, Mannheim, Heidelberg,

with many other cities, and hundreds of villages, were devas-

tated with fire and rapine. Those that could escape to Penn-

sylvania, blessed the asylum prepared for them, and twice

blessed its enlightened and kind-hearted founder.

Not only the Pennsylvania pioneers of English nationality

recognize in William Penn their head and leader; the -stand-

ard of religious liberty that he planted here, shone as a beacon

sign, also, to the oppressed multitudes of Germany, and gladly

they flocked to the fertile vales, whither the gentle Friend

invited them.

Itinerary of Wm. Penn's Journey in 1677.

July 26th. Wm. Penn, George Fox,

Robert Barclay, G. Keith,

G. Watts, John Furly, Wm.
Tailcoat, Isabelle Yeomans,

and Elizabeth Keith leave

Harwich.

27th. Arrive at Briel.

28th. Rotterdam.

29th. William Penn, Geo. Fox,

J. Furly, and Wm. Tailcoat

in LeydeD.

Aug. 1st. Haarlem.
" Amsterdam.

6th. Penn, Furly, Keith, and

Barclay in Naerden.

8th. Osnabriick.

10th. Herford.

13th. Penn. Keith, and Furly

in Paderborn.

15th. Cas?el.

20th. Frankfort.

23d. Worms.
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Aug. 23d. Krisheim (Kriegsheim).

24th. Frankenthal.

26th. Krisheim.

27th. Worms.

28th. Mayence.
" Frankfort.

29th. Mayence.
" Harabach (Heimbach?).

30th. Bacherach.

" Coblenz.

" Tressy (Breisig?).

31st. Cologne.

Sept. 2d. Duisburg.

" Muhlheim.

3d. Duisburg.

4th. VVesel.

5th. Emmerich.
" Cleve.

6th. Nimeguen.

7th. Utrecht.

" Amsterdam.

10th. Penn with P. Hendricks,

Horn.
" Enckhuysen.
" Worcum.
" Harlingen (meets here Geo.

Fox, John Furly, Is. Yea-

mans, T. R. {?) John Claus

and wife.

Sept. 12th. Penn and Claus to Leeu-

warden.

13th. Wieward.

14th. Groningen.

15th. Delfzyl.

16th. Emden.

17th. Leer.

18th. Bremen.

22d. Herford.

27th. Wesel.

28th. Duisburg.

29th. Dlisseldorf.

30th. Cologne.

Oct. 1st. Dlisseldorf.

2d. Duisburg.

3d. Wesel.

5th. Cleve.

6th. Nimeguen.

7th. Amsterdam.

11th. With Fox and Furly to

Leyden.
" Hague.

13th. Delft.

Rotterdam.

16th. Wonderwick.

17th. Hague.

Delft.

* Rotterdam.

20th. Briel.

22d. Harwich.
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MILITARY OPERATIONS NEAR PHILADELPHIA IN
THE CAMPAIGN OF 1777-8.

Described in a Letter from Thomas Paine to Dr. Franklin.

From the original in the possession op the American Philosophical Society.

Yorktown, May 16, 1778.

Dear Sir: Your favor of October 7th did not come to me
till March. I was at camp when Captain Folger arrived with

the blank packet. The private letters were, I believe, all safe.

Mr. Laurens 1 forwarded jours to me, but by some accident it

missed me, and was returned again to York Town, where I

afterwards received it. The last winter has been rather barren

of military events, but for your amusement I send you a little

nistory how I have passed away part of the time.

The 11th of September last I was preparing dispatches for

you when the report of cannon at Brandywine interrupted

my proceedings. Tha event of that day you have doubtless

been informed of, which, excepting the enemy keeping the

ground, may be deemed a drawn battle. General Washington

collected his army at Chester, and the enemy's not moving

towards him next day must be attributed to the disability

they sustained, and the burthen of their wounded. On the

loth of the same month, the two armies were drawn up in

order of battle near the "White Horse on Lancaster Road, when
a most violent and incessant storm of rain prevented an action.

Our army sustained a heavy loss in their ammunition ; the car-

tuch-boxes, especially, as they were not of the most seasoned

leather, being no proof against the almost irresistible fury of the

weather, which obliged General Washington to draw his army
tip into the country until these injuries could be repaired, and

a new supply of ammunition procured.2 The enemy, in the

1 Henry Laurens, of S. C, President of the Continental Congress from

Nov. 1, 1777, to Dec. 10, 1778.

8 See Penn. Mag. vol. i. p. 297.
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mean time, kept on the west side of the Schuylkill. On Fri-

day, the 19th, about one in the morning, the lirst alarm of

their crossing was given, and the confusion, as you may sup-

pose, was very great. 1 It was a beautiful, still, moonlight

morning, and the streets as full of men, women, and children as

on a market day. On the evening before I was fully persuaded

that unless something was done the city would be lost, and

under that anxiety I went to Colonel Bayard, Speaker of the

House of Assembly,2 and represented, as I very particularly

1 See Morton's Diary, Perm. Mag. vol. i. p. 3.

f John Bayard was a native of Bohemia Manor, Cecil Co., Md., where he

was b. August 11, 1738. At the breaking out of the Revolution he was

a citizen of Philadelphia, and took an active part in the questions of the

day, in favor of the Colonies. He was a member of the Provincial Congress

held in July, 1774, the calling of which compelled the Assembly to appoint

delegates to the general Congress ; and was one of the sixty citizens chosen

on the 12th of November, to see to the fulfilment, on the part of Philadelphia,

of the Articles of Association entered into by that body. In January, 1775,

Mr. Bayard was a member of the Convention of the Province, u the ostensible

object of which was the encouragement of domestic industry, while it really

was meant to exercise a supervision of the conduct of the Assembly ;" the

same year he was chosen Major of the 2d Battalion of City Militia. In

1776, the mercantile firm with which he was connected, Hodge & Bayard,

was engaged in furnishing Congress with arms, and Mr. Bayard was ap-

pointed by the Committee of Safety, with others, to superintend the erection

of powder mills. In June, Mr. Bayard attended, as a member, the meeting

of the " Committee of Conference," held in Carpenter's Hall to decide upon

the manner in which a convention should be called to alter the Constitution

of the Province; it was this body that announced its " willingness to concur

in a vote of the Congress," declaring the independence of the Colonies. On

the 11th of September, 1776, Mr. Bayard was appointed one of the Council

of Safety by the Constitutional Convention, to which position he was reap-

pointed by the Assembly the following year (Oct. 25. 1777). On the 21st

of October, 1776. Mr. Bayard presided at a public meeting in the State

House yard, at which the merits of the new State Constitution were debated,

and on the 28th of the month following, he took his seat as a member of the

Assembly, in the first session of that body held under the new instrument.

In the winter of 1776-7, as Colonel of the 2d Battalion of Penna. Militia,

he took part in the Jersey campaign, and was present at the battle of Trenton.

On the 13th of Dec. 1776, Mr. Bayard wrote to the Council of Safety from

the camp at Bristol : " We are greatly distressed to find no more of the

militia of our State joining General Washington at this time ; for God's Sake
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knew it, the situation we were in, and the probability of sav-

ing the city if proper efforts were made for that purpose. I

reasoned that General Washington was about thirty miles up
the Schuylkill, with an army properly collected waiting for

ammunition, beside which a reinforcement of fifteen hundred

men were marching from the ISTorth River to join him, and

if only an appearance of defence be made in the city by throw-

ing up works at the heads of the streets, it will make the

enemy very suspicious how they throw themselves between the

city and General Washington, and between two rivers, which

must have been the case. For notwithstanding the knowledge

military gentlemen are supposed to have, I observe they move
exceedingly cautious on new ground, and are exceedingly sus-

picious of villages and towns, and more perplexed at seem-

ingly little things which they cannot clearly understand than

at great ones which they are fully acquainted with, and I

what shall we do ; is the cause deserted by our State, and shall a few Brave
men offer their Lives as a Sacrifice against treble their number without assist-

ance ? For my own part, I came cheerfully out, not doubting we should be

Joined by a number sufficient to drive our Enemy back with Shame, De-

spair and Loss . . . . I am far from thinking our cause desperate. If

our people would but turn out . . . . If I thought I could be of any ser-

Tice I would leave my Battalion and come down for a little while; for God's

sake exert yourselves." On the 13th day of March he was appointed a

member of the State Board of War. In Dec. 1777, with James Young, he

visited Washington's camp, to report on the condition of the Pennsylvania

troops, and their letters to President Wharton give a distressing account of

the army previous to the occupation of Valley Forge. On the 6th of Nov.

1778, Mr. Bayard was chosen Speaker of the Assembly ; in 1780, he was
made one of the auctioneers of Philadelphia, and the same year was on a

committee to visit the several counties, and report the causes of the falling

off of the revenues of the State. From the 12th of Oct. 1781, until the same
day the following year he was a member of the Supreme Executive Council

of Pennsylvania, and on the 11th of Nov. 1785, was chosen one of the dele-

gates to the Continental Congress. In 1778, Mr. Bayard removed to Bruns-

wick, N. J., where he filled in turn the positions of Mayor of the city, and
Judge of the Court of Common Pleas. A pupil of the celebrated Gilbert

Tennent, and a friend of Whitfield. Mr. Bayard was throughout his life a
man guided by strong religious convictions. At the time of his death, he
was a Ruling Elder in the Presbyterian Church at New Brunswick. He
died Jan. 7, 1807, aged 68 years.

Vol. ii.—20
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think it very probable that General Howe would have mistaken

our necessity for a deep-laid scheme, and not ventured himself

in the middle of it.

But admitting: that he had, he must either have brought

his whole army down, or a part of it. If the whole, Gen.

Washington would have followed him perhaps the same day,

in two or three days at most, and our assistance in the city

would have been material. If only a part of it, we should

have been a match for them, and Gen. Washington superior

to those who remained above. The chief thing was whether

the citizens would turn out to defend the city. My pro-

posal to Cols. Bayard and Bradford 1 was to call them to-

gether the next morning, make them fully acquainted with

the situation, and the means and prospects of preserving them-

selves, and that the city had better voluntarily assess itself

50,000 for its defence, than suffer an enemy to come into it.

Cols. Bayard and Bradford were of my opinion, and as Gen.

Mifflin was then in town, I next went to him, acquainted him

with our design, and mentioned likewise that if two or three

thousand men could be mustered up, whether we might depend

on him to command them, for without some one to lead

nothing could be done. He declined that part, not being then

very well, but promised what assistance he could. A few hours

1 Col. William Bradford, grandson of William Bradford who introduced

the art of Printing in the Middle Colonies. It is impossible in the limits of

a foot-note to do justice to the valuable and disinterested services he rendered

his State. Born in X. Y. in 1719, he removed to Philadelphia when young,

and was at one time a partner of his Uncle Andrew. In 1742. he published

the first number of the Pennsylvania Journal, and in 1757 the American

Magazine, a monthly periodical, which continued for 12 numbers and supple-

ment. In 1754, in addition to the business of a printer, he opened the Lon-

don Coffee House, and in 1762 a marine-insurance office. He was active

in military affairs during the old French war, and opposed with great spirit

the Stamp Act. During the Revolution he held the commission of Maj. and

Col. in the militia, and was in the battles of Trenton and Princeton, in the

latter of which he was wounded. As Chairman of the State Navy Board,

he was present at the defence of Fort Mifflin. The close of the war found

him "with shattered health, and ruined fortune." Franklin said of him,

"his writing was spirited, his press correct, and his sword active." He
died in Philadelphia, Sept. 25, 1791.
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after this, the alarm happened. I went directly to Gen. Mif-

flin, but he had set off, and nothing was done. I cannot help

being of opinion that the city might have been saved, but

perhaps it is better otherwise. I stayed in the city till Sunday,

having sent my chest and everything belonging to the Foreign

Committee1 to Trenton in a shallop. The enemy did not cross

the river till the Wednesday following.

Hearing on the Sunday2 that General "Washington had

moved to Sweed's Ford, I set off for that place, but learning

on the road that it was a mistake, and that he was six or

seven miles above that place, I crossed over to Southfield, and

next morning to Trenton, to see after my chest. On the Wed-
nesday morning I intended returning to Philadelphia, but

was informed at Bristol of the enemy crossing the Schuyl-

kill.5 At this place I met Col. Kirkbride, of Pennsbury Manor,

who invited me home with him. On Friday, the 26th, a

party of about 1500 men took possession of the city, and the

same day an account arrived that Colonel Brown had taken

300 of the enemy at the old French lines at Ticonderoga, and

destroyed all their water craft, being about 200 boats of dif-

ferent kinds.

On the 26th of September,4 1 set off for camp without well

knowing where to find it. Every day occasioned some move-

ment. I kept pretty high up the country, and being unwill-

ing to ask questions, not knowing what company I might be

in, I was all that day before I fell in with it. The army
had moved about three miles lower down that morning. The
next day they made a movement about the same distance to

the twenty-first mile-stone on the Skippach Eoad, Head-Quar-

1 Paine was at that time Secretary of the Committee named.
* The 21st of September.

* Howe crossed the Schuylkill on the night of the 22d, and morning of

the 23d.

4 Sparks gives no letters of Washington written between the 24th and

29th, on which last date Head-Quarters were at Pennypacker's Mills. Par-

son Muhlenberg, who lived in the vicinity, recorded in his joarnal on the

26th: "The American army came to-day from New Hanover, six miles to-

wards Providence, and then marched sideways across to the Skippak

Road."
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ters at John Wince's. 1 On the 3d of October, in the morning,

they began to fortify the camp as a deception, and about nine

at night marched for Germantown. The number of Conti-

nental troops was between 8000 and 9000, besides militia, the

rest remaining as guards for the security of the camp. Gen.

Green, whose quarters I was at, desired me to remain there

till morning. I set off for Germantown about five next

morning. The skirmishing with the pickets began soon after.

I met no person for several miles riding, which I concluded

to be a good sign. After this I met a man on horseback, who
told me he was going to hasten on to supply the ammunition,

that the enemywere broken and retreating fast, whichwas true.

I saw several country people with arms in their hands running

cross a field towards Germantown, within about five or six

miles of which I met several of the wounded in wagons,

horseback, and on foot. I passed Gen. Xash on a litter made
of poles, but did not know him. I felt unwilling to ask

questions, lest the information should not be agreeable, and

kept on.

About two miles after I passed a promiscuous crowd of

wounded and otherwise, who were halted at a house. Col.

Biddle, D. Q. M. G.,2 was among them, who called after me
that if .1 went further on that road I would be taken, for the

firing which I heard a head was the enemy's. I never could,

and cannot now, learn, and I believe no man can inform truly

1 Scull's map shows that J. Wentz lived on the Skipack Road below the

creek of that name. See, also, map in Penna. Mag-, vol. i. p. 375.

2 Col. Clement Biddle, b. Philadelphia, May 10, 1740. Although his parents

were members of the Society of Friends, in 1764 he formed a military corps

to protect the friendly Indians, who had sought refuge in Philadelphia, from

the fury of the Paxton boys. In 1765, he was one of the signers of the. Non-

Importation resolutions, occasioned by the passage of the Stamp Act. As
Col. of a regiment, and Deputy Quartermaster-General, he took an active

part in the military operations around Philadelphia. He was Quartermaster-

General of Pennsylvania in the expedition under Washington to suppress

the Whiskey Insurrection. His relations with Washington were of an intimate

character, and their correspondence continued until the General's decease.

He died in Philadelphia, July 14th, 1814.—Simpson's Lives of Eminent

Philadelphians.
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the cause of that day's miscarriage. The retreat was as extra-

ordinary. Xobody hurried themselves. Every one marched

his own pace. The enemy kept a civil distance behind, send-

ing every now and then a shot after us, and receiving the same

from us. That part of the army which I was with collected and

formed on the hill on the side of the road near White Marsh

Church. The enemy came within three-fourths of a mile and

halted. The orders on retreat were to assemble that night on

the back of Perkioming Creek, about seven miles above camp,

which had orders to move. The army had marched the pre-

ceding night fourteen miles, and having full twenty to march

back were exceedingly fatigued. They appeared to me to be

only sensible of a disappointment, not a defeat ; and to be

more displeased at their retreating from Germantown, than

anxious to get to their rendezvous.

I wa3 so lucky that night to get to a little house about four

miles west of Perkioming, toward which place in the morn-

ing I heard a considerable firing, which distressed me ex-

ceedingly, knowing that our army was much harassed and not

collected. However, I soon relieved myself by going to see.

They were discharging their pieces, which, though necessary,

prevented several parties from joining till next day. I break-

fasted next morning at Gen. Washington's quarters, who was

at the same loss, with every other, to account for the accidents

of the day. I remember his expressing his surprise that at

the time he supposed everything secure, and was about giving

orders for the army to proceed down to Philadelphia, that he

saw most unexpectedly a part (I think) of the artillery hastily

retreating. This partial retreat was I believe misunderstood,

and soon followed by others. The fog was frequently very

thick, the troops young, and unused to breaking and rallying,

and our men rendered suspicious to each other, many of them
being in red. A new army, once disordered, is difficult to

manage, and the attempt dangerous. To this may be added a

prudence in not putting matters to too hazardous a trial. The
first time men must be taught regular fighting by practice and

by degrees, and though the expedition failed, it had this good

effect that they seemed to feel themselves more important
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after, than before, as it was the first general attack they had

ever made.

I have not related the affair at Mr. Chew's house, in Ger-

mantown, as I was not there, but have seen it since. It cer-

tainly afforded the enemy time to rally, yet the matter was

difficult. To have passed on and left five hundred men in the

rear, might, by a change of circumstances, been ruinous ; to

attack them was a loss of time, as the house is a strong stone

building, proof against any twelve-pounder. General Wash-
ington sent a flag, thinking it would procure the surrender,

and expedite his march to Philadelphia. It was refused, and

circumstances changed almost directly after. I stayed in camp
two days after the Germantown action, and lest my ill im-

pressions should get among the garrison at Mud Island and

Red Bank, and the vessels and galleys stationed there, I crossed

over to the Jersies at Trenton, and went down to those places.

I laid the first night on board of the Champion Continental

galley, who was stationed off the mouth of the Schuylkill.

The enemy threw up a two-gun battery on the point of the

river's mouth, opposite the Pest House. The next morning

was a thick fog, and as it cleared away and we became visible

to each other, they opened on the galley, who returned the

fire. The Commodore made a signal to bring the galley under

the Jersey shore, as she was not a match for the battery, nor

the battery a sufficient object for the galley. One shot went

through the fore-sail, that was all.

At noon I went with Col. Green,1 who commanded at Red
Bank, over to Fort Mifflin (Mud Island). The enemy opened

that day two gun batteries and a mortar battery on the fort.2

1 Col. Christopher Greene, of R. I., b. 1734. He bravely defended Fort

Mercer, at Red Bank, against the attack made by Count Donop on the 21st

of Oct. when that officer was killed. He was with Arnold on his march

through the wilderness, and was taken prisoner at the attack on Quebeck.

On the 13th of May, 1781, his quarters on the Croton River were surprised

by a party of refugees, and he was slain.

—

Rogers.

* Oct. 9th. A heavy cannonade last night and this morning. The British

are about to open batteries to bombard the Fort at Mud Island.

—

Morton's

Diary.
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They threw about thirty shells into it that afternoon, without

doing any damage. The ground being damp and spongy, not

above live or six burst, and not a man was killed or wounded.

I came away in the evening, and laid on board the galley, and

the next day came to Col. Kirkbride's, staid a few days, and

came again to camp. An expedition was on foot the evening

I got there, in which I went as aid-de-camp to General Green,

having a volunteer commission for that purpose. The occasion

was a party of the enemy about 1500, who lay over the Schuyl-

kill at Grey's Ferry. General McDougal with his division was
sent to attack them, and Generals Sullivan and Green with

their divisions were to favor the enterprise by a feint on the city

down the Germantown road. We set oiTabout nine at night,

and halted at daybreak between Germantown and the city,

the advance party at Three Mile Run. As I knew the ground,

I went with two light horse to discover the enemy's picket,

but the dress of the light horse being white made them, I

thought, too visible, as it was the twilight, on which I left

them with my horse, and went on foot till I distinctly saw

the picket at Dickerson's Place,1 which is the nearest I have

been to Philadelphia since September, except once at Cooper's

Ferry as I went to the forts. General Sullivan was at Dr.

Redman's house, and McDougal beginning the attack was to

be the signal for moving down to the city. But the enemy

either on the approach of McDougal, or on information of it,

called in their party, and the expedition was frustrated.

A cannonade, by far the most furious I ever heard, began

down the river soon after daylight,2 the first gun of which

was supposed to be the signal ; but I was soon undeceived,

there being no small arms. After waiting two hours beyond

the time, we marched back. The cannon was then less

frequent, but on the road between Germantown and White-

marsh we were stunned with a report as loud as a peal from

a hundred cannon at once, and turning round I saw a thick

1 Near Fair Hill, on the Germantown Road below the Rising Sun, al-

though occupied by Dickinson, it belonged to the Xorris estate. See map,

Penna. Mag. vol. i. p. 375.

* On the morning of the 23<L
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smoke rising like a pillar and spreading from the top like a

tree. This was the blowing up of the Augusta. I did not

hear the explosion of the Merlin. After this I returned to

Colonel Kirkbride's, where I stayed about a fortnight, and set

oif again for camp. The day after I got there, Generals

Green, Wayne, and Cadwallader, with a party of light horse,

were ordered on a reconnoitreing party towards the fort. We
were out four days and nights without meeting with anything

material. An East Indiaman, whom the enemy had cut down
so as to draw but little water, came up without guns, while

we were on foot on Carpenter's Island, joining to Province

Island. Her guns were brought up in the evening in a Hat.

She got in the rear of the fort, where few or no guns could

bear upon her, and the next morning played on it incessantly.

The night following the fort was evacuated; the obstruction

the enemy met with from those forts, and the chevaux-de-

frise was extraordinary, and had it not been that the western

channel, deepened by the current, being somewhat obstructed

by the chevaux-de-frise in the main river, which enabled them
to bring up the light Indiaman's battery, it is a doubt whe-

ther they would have succeeded at last. By that assistance

they reduced the fort, and got sufficient command of the

river to move some of the late sunken chevaux-de-frise.

Soon after the fort on Red Bank, which had bravely repulsed

the enemy a little time before, was evacuated, the galleys

ordered up to Bristol, and the captains of such other armed
vessels as thought they could not pass on the eastward side

of Windmill Island, very precipitately set them on fire.
1 As

I judged from this event that the enemy would winter in

Philadelphia, I began to think of preparing for Yorktown,

which, however, I was willing to delay, hoping that the ice

would afford opportunity for new manoeuvres ; but the season

passed very balmly away.

I stayed at Col. Kirkbride's2 until the latter end of Jan.

1 Commodore Hazelwood in his letter to President "Wharton states that

the vessels were burned by direction of a Council of Continental and State

officers. See Penna. Archives, vol. vi. p. 49.

a A biographical sketch of Col. Joseph Kirkbride will be found in the

interesting series entitled " Bordentown and its Environs," by E. M. Wood-
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Commodore Hazelwood, who commanded the remains of the

fleet at Trenton, acquainted me with a scheme of his for burn-

ing the enemy's shipping, which was, by sending a charged

boat across the river, from Cooper's Ferry, by means of a

rocket fixed in its stem. Considering the width of the river,

ward, now being printed in the Bordentown Register, and from it we gather

the following: Col. Kirkbride was born on the 13th of 6th month, 1731, at

" Bellevue," Penn's Manor, Bucks Co., Pa. His grandfather, Joseph Kirk-

bride, settled in Penna. as early as 1681. The father of Col. Kirkbride was

Joseph Kirkbride 2d, who m. Sarah Fletcher, of Abington, in 1724. The

parents aud ancestors of Col. Kirkbride had all been members of the Society

of Friends, but the excitement of the Revolution soon carried him beyond

the pales of that sect. Early in the war he was appointed Lieutenant of

Bucks County, and was engaged in collecting recruits, arms, and other sup-

plies for the army. He was subsequently made Col. of the Militia. In July,

1776, he was a delegate from Bucks Co. to the Constitutional Convention,

of which Franklin was President, and was elected a member of the Assembly

the following fall. On the 14th of Feb. 1773, he wrote to President Whar-

ton :
" I propose (if possible) to keep up a competent number of Horse, as

the General finds them very useful I have agreed to raise a

small party of Foot Volunteers to Check the Influence of the Torys below

Bristol, and in the neighborhood near Neshaming, which will be some small

security to the people in that quarter/' The next day he wrote : "lam
doing everything in my power to spirit up a small party to keep down the

Torys until we can get some better defence." In May, 1778, the British

made an expedition out of Philadelphia, and, among other damage com-

mitted, burned the residence of Col. Kirkbride, who thus speaks of the event

in a letter, to President Wharton : " The enemy have lately Burnt two Valu-

able Dwelling Houses, with all my out Houses of Every kind and sort, a

great deal of Furniture Utensils, Corn, Hay, &c, and Tntirely Disloging my
Family, is the only apoligy I can offer your Excellency for my impunctiality.

Notwithstanding, I can say with sincerity, I had rather lose ten such Estates

than to be suspected to be unfriendly to my country." While in public life,

Col. Kirkbride formed an acquaintance with Thomas Paine, which continued

many years. In 1802, after Paine had rendered himself obnoxious to many

of bis former friends in America by the publication of the "Age of Reason,"

he called on Col. Kirkbride, then residing in Bordentown, who, remembering

the eminent service Paine had rendered the country, extended to him a

kindly greeting, although he could not approve of the views expressed in

his work. Upon Mr. Paine's departure, he drove him in his carriage to

Trenton, and was subjected to some extent to the indignities heaped upon

him by the mob. Col. Kirkbride died at Bordentown on the 26th of Oct.

1803, aged 72 years.
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the tide, and the variety of accidents that might change its

destination, I thought the project trifling and insufficient, and

proposed to him, if he would get a boat properly charged, and

take a bateau in tow, sufficient to bring three or four per-

sons off, that I would make one with -him, and two other

persons who might be relied on, to go down on that business.

One of the company, Captain Blewer, of Philadelphia, sec-

onded the proposal; but the Commodore, and, what I wa3

surprised at, Colonel Bradford, declined it.

The burning of part of the Delaware fleet, the precipitate

retreat of the rest, the little service rendered by them, and the

great expense they were at, make the only material blot in the

proceedings of the last campaign. I felt a strong anxiety for

them to recover their credit, which, among others, was one

motive for my proposal. After this I came to camp, and

from thence to Yorktown, and published the Crisis, ISTo. 5, to

General Howe. I have begun i^To. 6, which I intend to address

to Lord Xorth. I was not at camp when Gen. Howe marched

out on the 4th of December, towards Whitemarsh. It was

a most contemptible affair. The threatening and seeming

fury he set out with, and the haste and terror the army re-

treated with, made it laughable. I have seen several persons

from Philadelphia, who assure me that their coming back was

a mere uproar, and plainly indicated their apprehension of

pursuit.

General Howe, in hi3 letter to L. G. Germin, dated Dec.

13, represented General Washington's camp as a strongly-for-

tified place. There was not, sir, a work thrown up in it till

General Howe marched out, and then only here and there a

breastwork. It was a temporary station ; beside which our

men began to think works in the field of but little use.

General Washington keeps his station at Valley Forge. I

was there when the army first began to build huts. They
appeared to me like a family of beavers, every one busy ;

some carrying logs, others mud, and the rest plastering them
together. The whole was raised in a few days, and it is a

curious collection of buildings, in the true rustic order.

As to politics, I think we are safely landed ; the apprehen-
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sion which Britain must be under from her neighbors, must

effectually prevent her sending reinforcements, could ?he pro-

cure them; she dare not, I think, in the present situation of

affairs, trust her troops so far from home. Xo commissioners

are jet arrived. I think fighting nearly over, for Britain

mad, wicked, and foolish, has done her utmost. The only

part for her now to act is frugality, and the only way to get

out of debt is to lessen her Government expenses.

Two millions a year is a sufficient allowance, and as much
as she ought to expend, exclusive of the interest of her debt.

The affairs of England are approaching ruin or redemption,

if the latter she may bless the resistance of America.

For my own part, I thought it very hard to have the coun-

try set on fire abouj; my ears almost the moment I got into it

;

and among other pleasures, I feel in having uniformly done

my duty. I feel that, if not having discredited your friendship

and patronage, I live in hopes of seeing and advising with

you respecting the history of the American Revolution, as

soon as a turn of affairs make it safe for me to take a passage

to Europe. 1

Please accept my thanks for the pamphlets which Mr.

Temple Franklin informed me he has sent. They are not yet

come to hand. Mr. and Mrs. Bache are at Manheim, near Lan-

caster, or I heard that they were a few days ago. I laid two

nights at Mr. Duffel's in the winter. Miss Xancy Clifton was

there, who said the enemy had destroyed or sold a great quan-

tity of your furniture. Mr. Duffel has since been taken by

them, and carried into the city, but is now in his own house.2

1 Paine here alludes to a History of the Revolution, which he had in con-

templation. In the correspondence of Henry Laurens (X. Y. lS6l), a letter

of Paine's will be found on the subject, in which he writes :
" My design, if

I understand it, is to comprise it in three quarto volumes, and to publish one

each year from the time of beginning, and to make an abridgment afterward*

in an easy, agreeable language for a school-book. All the histories of an-

cient wars, that are used for this purpose, promote no moral reflection, but,

like the Beggar's Opera, render the villain pleasing in the hero."

2 Edward Duffield, of Benfield, is no doubt here alluded to. He was a

friend of Franklin, who appointed him one of the executors of his will. In

the winter of 1777-78, a party of British lighthorse took him and several of
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I just now hear they have burnt Colonel Kirkbride's, Mr.

Burden's, and some other houses at Bordentown. Governor

Johnson (House of Commons) has written to Mr. Robert

Morris, informing him of commissioners coming from England.

The letter is printed in the newspapers without signature, and

is dated February 5, by which you will know it.

Please, sir, to accept this, rough and incorrect as it is, as I

have no time to copy it fairly, which was my design when I

began it; besides which, paper is most exceedingly scarce.

I am, dear sir, your obliged and affectionate

humble servant,

Thomas Paine.
The Hon. Benjamin Franklin, France.

NOTES ON THE STAMP ACT IN NEW YORK AND
VIRGINIA.

CONTRIBUTED BY CHAS. B. HILDEBURN.

The manner in which the Stamp Act was resisted in the Northern Colonie9

has been told in detail by Mr. Brancroft. A still more elaborate account of

the failure to enforce the Act in New York has been recently printed in

the Magazine of American History, by Mr. John Anstin Stevens, Librarian

of the New York Historical Society. But little, however, has been pub-

lished in regard to the action of the people of Virginia, and the account

quoted from the Pennsylvania Journal is, therefore, comparatively new. The
letters given are selected from the Swift papers in the writer's possession, and

furnish additional light on the subject.

THE COLLECTOR AND COMPTROLLER OF THE CUSTOM AT NEW YORK
- TO THE SURVEYOR-GENERAL OF THE CUSTOMS.

New York, October r* 28, 1765.

Sir:—

The first Day of November being near at hand, when the

Stamp Act is to take place, and as there is a Great Uproar in

Town, and Threatening Papers having been put up at all our

his neighbors prisoners; they were taken into Philadelphia, and confined in

the Walnut Street Prison.

—

Neill Memorial, Phila. 1875. See also Penna.

Mag. vol. ii. p. 62.
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Doors, TVe are at a loss in what manner to Act, and beg your
Advice and Directions in what manner we are to proceed at

this most Critical time. If the Stamps are distributed no

DoubtWe must use them, but as the Distributor has resigned

his office, and there should not be another appointed, We
would be glad to know whether We Can Clear Vessels with-

out; Certifying that Stamps are not to be obtained, or what
other method will be necessary for us to take in that Case.

We are, with great respect, Sir,

Your Most Obed't and Very hbl'e Servts.

^ ANDREW ELLIOT,
LAMBT. MOORE.

Addressed : On His Majesty's Service To the Hod. Charles Stewart,

Esq., Surveyor-General of the Eastern middle District of America. 1

1 Andrew Elliot was the third son of Sir Gilbert Elliot, Bart. He was in

business in Philadelphia before 1748, was a subscriber to the first
M City

Dancing Assembly" in 1749, and in 1754 one of the four managers. In 175G,

he was a member of Kidd's Company of Philadelphia Associators. aud con-

tinued a resident of this city until, by commission dated January 19, 176-1,

he was appointed Collector of Customs at New York. He " performed his

official duties in a manner highly satisfactory," and had no difficulty of a

serious nature with the people until 1774, " when he seized some firearms, and

was threatened with a visit from the Mohaws and Red Indians, or, in other

words, with a coat of tar and feathers." During the British occupation of

New York, besides the Collectorship, he filled the important office of Super-

intendent-General, and, with the Mayor and a Police Magistrate, administered

the civil government of the city. He was also Receiver-General of ^uit

Rents, and, from 1780 until the evacuation, was Lieutenant-Governor. He
was one of the three persons sent by Sir Henry Clinton to make a last effort

to save Andre. His property in New York and Pennsylvania was confiscated.

and he retired to Scotland at the close of the war. Elliot was a most un-

compromising " Loyalist," and after his return to his native land was very

indignant with his nephew, Sir Gilbert Elliot, afterwards created Earl of

Minto, for having voted in Parliament for the acknowledgment of our inde-

pendence. He married first, Eleanor, daughter of George McCall of this city,

and had one daughter, Eleanor, who married James Janncey, Jr.. of New
York, and after his death Robert Digby, R. N., (brother of Henry. 7th Baron,
and 1st Earl Digby), who, at his decease in 1815, was Senior- Admiral of the

English Navy. Elliot's second wife was Elizabeth, daughter of William
Plum3ted, sometime Mayor of this city. By her he had several children, of

whom Elizabeth married Captain Cathcart. afterwards 10th Baron and 1st Earl

Cathcart; and Agnes Murray married Sir David Carnegie, Bart., represea-
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THE GOVERNOR OF VIRGINIA TO THE OFFICERS OF THE CUSTOMS.

Williamsburg, Nov. 2, 1765.

Gentlemen :

—

I have been sworn in Council to use my utmost endeavors

to put in Execution an Act passed in the Session of the Par-

liament of Great Britain directing what Stamps are to be used

in jour offices in carrying on the Business thereof from the

first Instant. That Act, therefore, is to be your guide, and I

have no advice to give you but that you act in conformity

thereto, every deviation from it must be at your peril.

FRANCIS FAUQUIER. 1

To the Naval Officers of the Colony of Virginia.

the surveyor-general of the customs for the southern

district to the collector of the port at norfolk.

Sir:—

Almost every Officer within my district having applied for

my directions how they were to act in case stamped Paper

tative of the attainted Earldom of Southesk, to which a grandson has been re-

cently restored. Mrs. Deborah Logan, in her recollections of the British

occupation of Philadelphia [The Burlington Smiths, p. 186], says, " Mr.

Eden (afterwards Lord Auckland), and his young wife, a daughter of Andrew
Elliot, and whose mother was a lady of the Plumstead family of Philadel-

phia." This statement, although so minute, is incorrect. William Eden
married Eleanor, daughter of Sir Gilbert Elliot, 3d Bart, and niece of An-

drew Elliot. Her mother was Agnes Murray Kynynmound. a wealthy Scotch

heiress.

Lambert Moore was a son of John Moore, Member of the Provincial

Council of New York, who died Nov. 1. 1749. and grandson of John Moore,

Collector of the Port of Philadelphia from 1702 to 1732. He was Comp-
troller of the Customs before 1766, and held this position until the end of the

Revolutionary War. He was Clerk of the Corporation of Trinity Church

in 1771. His wife, a daughter of Edward Holland, Mayor of New York
City, and Member of the Provincial Council, died June 14, 1767, in the 37th

year of her age. Sabine has confounded him with Thomas Moore, who died

at Norwich, Conn., June 19, 1784, and whose son, Richard C. Moore, was

Bishop of Virginia. For an account of Charles Stewart, to whom the letter

of Elliot and Moore is addressed, see Sabine's Loyalists, 2d edition.

1 Fauquier was Governor of Virginia from 1758 until his death in 1768.
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could not be had, as the time for the Stamp Act's taking place

approached, I delayed answering their respective Letters, hop-

ing it might arrive in time. Agreeable to my hopes it is

come in, but it seems Mr. Mercer is not allowed to distribute

it. The difficulty still continuing, I made application to the

Governor and Council for their advice on this occasion, which
I am by my Instructions directed to do in all difficult Cases,

but they were at a Loss how to advise, and, therefore, declined

giving any opinion. In this situation I scarce know how to

conduct myself, aj3 all Bonds taken otherwise than on stamped

paper, are by the Act of Parliament declared void. However,

being desirous of contributing everything in my power to the

relief of the Trade, I hope I may venture to advise you clear

the Vessels as usual, at the same time granting a Certificate

to the Commander of any Vessel as cleared, that you have

not, nor can by any means procure stamped paper. You will

at the same time, for your own justification, take from under

the Master's hands that he is satisfied to risk such Entry and

Clearance, being fully persuaded of the Case you represent,

and that he will not recur to you for Damages, if for want of

a proper Clearance his Vessel in any other Port should be

seized and condemned. I flatter myself impossibilities will

not be expected of us, and that from the Xature of the Case

our Conduct will stand justified.

PETER RANDOLPH,
Surveyo r-Gen eral.

Williamsburg, Nov. 2, 1765.

ACCOUNT OF COL. GEORGE MERCER'S ARRIVAL IN VIRGINIA, AND HI3

RESIGNATION OF THE OFFICE OF STAMP DISTRIBUTOR. 1

Williamsburg (in Virginia), Oct. 31.

This week arrived in York river, the ship Leeds, Capt

Anderson, in 9 weeks from London, on board of which came

passenger George Mercer, Esq., Chief Distributor of Stamps

for this colony. Yesterday in the evening he arrived in this

city, and upon his walking up streets as far as the Capitol, in

1 Pennsylvania Journal, No. 1197.
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1 is way to the Governor's, was accosted by a concourse of

gantlenien assembled from all parts of the colony, the General

court sitting at this time. They insisted he should imme-

diately satisfy the company (which constantly increased)

whether he intended to act as a commissioner under the

Stamp Act; Mr. Mercer told them that any answer to so im-

portant a question that he should make, under such circum-

stances, would be attributed to fear ; though he believed none

of his countrymen, as he had never injured them, could have

any design against his person ; insisted that he ought to be

allowed to wait on the Governor and Council, and to receive

a true information of the sentiments of the colony (whose

benefit and prosperity he had as much at heart as any man in

it) and that he would, for the satisfaction of the company

then assembled, give them his answer on Friday at ten o'clock.

This seemed to satisfy them, and they attended him up as far

as the Coffee-House, where the Governor, most of the Council,

and a great number of gentlemen were assembled ; but soon

after many more people got together, and insisted on a more

speedy and satisfactory answer, declaring they would not de-

part without one. In some time, upon Mr. Mercer's promis-

ing them an answer by five o'clock this evening, they departed

well pleased ; and he met with no further molestation.
' And accordingly he was met this evening at the capitol,

and addressed himself to the company as follows

:

I now have met you agreeable to yesterday's promise, to

give my country some assurances which I would have been

glad I could with any tolerable propriety have done sooner.

I flatter myself no judicious man can blame me for accept-

ing an office under an authority that was never disputed by

any from whom I could be advised of the propriety or weight

of the objections. I do acknowledge that some little time be-

fore I left England I heard of, and saw, some resolves which

were said to be made by the House of Burgesses of Virginia

;

but as the authenticity of them was disputed, they never ap-

pearing but in private hands, and so often and differently

represented and explained to me, I determined to know the

real sentiments of my countrymen from themselves : And I
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am concerned to say that those sentiments were so suddenly

and unexpectedly communicated to me, that I was altogether

unprepared to give an immediate answer upon so important a

point ; for in however unpopular a light I may lately have

been viewed, and notwithstanding the many insults I have

from this day's conversation been informed were offered me
in e&Lgy in many parts of the colony

;
yet I still natter myself

that time will justify me; and that my conduct may not be

condemned after being cooly inquired into.

The commission so very disagreeable to my countrymen

was solely obtained by the genteel recommendation of their

representatives in General Assembly, unasked for ; and though

this is contradictory to public report, which I am told charges

me with assisting the passage of the Stamp Act, upon the

promise of the commission in this colony, yet I hope it will

meet with credit, when I assure you I was so far from assisting

it, or having any previous promise from the Ministry, that I

did not know of my appointment until some time after my
return from Ireland, where I was at the commencement of the

session of Parliament, and for a long time after the act had

passed.

Thus, gentlemen, am I circumstanced. I should be glad to

act now in such a manner as would justify me to my friends

and countrymen here, and the authority which appointed-

me ; but the time you have allotted me for my answer is so

very short that I have not yet been able to discover that

happy medium, therefore must intreat you to be referred to

my future conduct, with this assurance in the mean time that

I will not, directly or indirectly, by myself or deputies, pro-

ceed in the execution of the act until I receive further orders

from England, and not then without the assent of the Gene-

ral Assembly of this colony ; and that no man can more ar-

dently and sincerely wish the prosperity thereof, or is more

desirous of securing all its just rights and privileges, than

Gentlemen, Tours &c,

GEORGE MERCER

Yol. n.—21
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This declaration gave such general satisfaction that he was

immediately borne out of the Capitol gate, amidst the repeated

acclamations of all present. As soon as night set in the whole

town was illuminated, the bells set a ringing, and every mark
of joy shown at this gentleman's declining, in such a genteel

manner, to act in an office so odious to his country.

DRAUGHT OF GOVERNOR FAUQUIER'S CERTIFICATE OF COL.

mercer's 1 RESIGNATION.

Virginia, ss. :—
I do hereby certify that George Mercer, Esq., appointed

distributor of the Stamps for this Colony, having declined

acting in that character until further orders, declared before

me, in Council, that he did not bring with him, or was ever

charged by the Commissioners of the Customs in England

with the care of any Stamps, particularly for the use of the

officers of the customs in this Colony ; and that he saw some

forms of bonds at the stamp office in England, which he was

informed the Commissioners of the customs had ordered to

be prepared to be sent by them to their several officers in

America.

Given under my hand, and the seal of the Colony, this

day of in the year of the reign

of His Majesty King George the third.

1 George Mercer was a lieutenant in the Virginia line in 1753 ; in Jan.

1754 he " will worthily succeed to a captaincy" wrote Washington, who
seems to have entertained friendly feelings towards him, making him his aid-

de-camp in October, 1755, and selecting him to accompany him to Boston.

In 1757, he had risen to the rank of Lt.-Col. in the new Virginia Regt. In

1763, he was sent to England to press a settlement of the claim of the Ohio

Company, and while there was appointed Stamp Master for Virginia. He
does not seem to have looked upon his forced resignation as binding ; for just

before his return to England, Nov. 1765, he made James Mercer his deputy
;

the power-of-attorney to that effect, and his commission as agent of the Ohio

Company are printed in the Historical Record, vol. iii. p. 587. He was in

London in 1775.
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AN EARLY RECORD OF PITTSBURGH.

[The following is the earliest contribution we have come across respecting

the statistics of the population of Pittsburgh. On the 25th of Nov. 1758,

the ground on which Fort Duquesne stood was taken possession of by the

British. The late Neville B. Craig in his History of Pittsburgh, says :
" We

do not know precisely when the first Fort Pitt was completed, but it was

probably about the 1st of January, 1759." Later in the same year the

threatened hostilities of the French and Indians caused the post to be

strengthened, as is shown in a letter written from there on the 24th of Sep.,

from which we extract the following :
" It is now near a month since the

army has been employed in erecting a most formidable fortification ; such a

one as will, to latest posterity, secure the British Empire on the Ohio." It

is, therefore, evident that the document we print relates to a time within a

year of the permanent establishment of the present city of Pittsburgh, and

as such cannot, we think, be without interest to her citizens.

—

Ed.]

A List of the Number of Men, "Women, and Children not Beloncing to

the Army. Also the Number of Houses and IIutts at Fort

Pitt 22d July, 1760.

1. John Langdale,

2. John Barklit,

3. Hugh McSwine,

4. James Braden,

5. rhilip Boyle,

6. Jno. Greenfield,

7. Edward Graham,

8. Lewis Bernard,

9. Samuel Hyden,

10. William Splane,

11. Robt. Hook,
12. Jno. Pierce,

13. William McAllister,

14. James St. Clair,

15. Erasmus Bokias,

16. John Everlow,

17. George Carr,

Men's Names.

18. Edward Cook,

19. William Bryan,

20. James Harris,

21. Jno. M'Kee—[Imperfect],

22. fm. Work,
23. Wm. Downy,
24. James Milligan,

25. John Lindsay,

26. Alex. Ewing,

27. Andrew Biarly,

28. Isaac Hall,

29. Lazarus Lowry,

30. Uriah Hill,

31. Edward Ward,
32. Wm. Trent,

33. Jno. Finly,

34. Hugh Crawford,
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Men's Names.

35. Joseph Spear, 62. France Ferdinanders

36. Jno. McCluer, Harnider,

37. Thomas Welsh, 63. Nicholas Phillips,

38. James Cahoon, 64. Conrad Crone,

39. Patrick Cunning'm, 65. [Imperfect],—alesby,

40. Sam'l Heyden, 6Q. [Imperfect] ,—dor,

41. James Reed, 67. [Imperfect],

42. Jno. Daily, 68. [Imp.] Sinnott,

43. Charles Boyle, 69. Jacob Sinnott,

44. Wm. Jacobs, 70. Jno. Coleman,

45. Robert Paris, 71. Abram Lingenfilder,

46. ¥m, Fowler, 72. Charles Hays,

47. John Judy, 73. James Sampson,

48. Thomas Small, 74. Matthias Doberick,

49. Cornelius Atkinson, 75. Peter Mumaw,
50. Robert Reed, 76. Jno. Snider,

51. Neil McCollum, 77. Windie Creamer,

52. Jno. Work, 78. Peter Smith,

53. George Tomb, 79. Henry Wumbock,
54. George Sly, 80. Adam Overwinter,

55. Patrick McCarty, 81. Paul Sharp,

56. Chris. Millar, 82. Tineas Smith,

57. Wm. Heath, 83. Philip Byarly,

58. Wm. Winsor, 84. Anthony Baker,

59. Jno. Graham, 85. Chris. Rorabunck,

60. John Robinson, 86. Thomas Bretton,

61. John Duncastle, 87. Joseph George,

88. Ephraim Blane.

Women's Names.

1. Susannah McSwine,

2. Mary Wallen,

3. Mary Atkinson,

4. Martha Reed,

5. Elizabeth Randal,

6. Phebe Byarly,

7. Judah Crawford,

8. Mary Reed,

9. Anna Thomas,
10. Sarah Daily,

11. Heneritta Price,

12. Elizabeth Boyle,

13. Elizabeth Jacobs,

14. Mary Judy,
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"Women's Names.

15. Mary Reed,

16. Marget Pomry,

17. Chris'm. McCollum,

18. Agnus Tomb,
19. Marget Sly,

20. Lydia McCarty,

21.. Lenora Rogers,

22. Elenor Millar,

23. Bridget Winsor,

24. Marget Crone,

25. Susannah Sinnott,

26. Mary Hays,

27. Marget Sampson,

28. Cate Creamer,

29. Chris. Smith.

Male Children.

1. George McSwine,

2. Jacob Byarly,

?. Jno. Reed,

4. Robt. Atkinson,

5. George Reed,

6. Thomas McCollum,

7. Jno. Work,

1. Mary McSwine,

2. Elizabeth Otter,

3. Marget Coghran,

4. Felly Thomas,

5. Susan Daily,

6. Rebekah Boyle,

7. Marget Boyle,

8. Marget Jacobs,

9. Mary Judy,

8. Godfrey Christian,

9. Henry Millar,

10. Chris. Phillips,

11. John Sinnott,

12. Philip Sinnott,

13. Patrick Feagan,

14. George Creamer.

Female Children.

10. Elizabeth Judy,

11. Elizabeth Pomry,

12. Elizabeth Work,
13. Elizabeth Sly,

14. Susanna Sly,

15. Rachel Sly,

16. Fancy Ba—[Imperfect],

17. Mary Sinn—[Imperfect],

18. Marget Cro—[Imperfect].

Houses 146

Ko; of Hutts . . . . . . 36

ISo. of Unfinished Houses . . .19

Total 201
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THOMAS FITZSIMMONS.

BY HENRY FLANDERS.

(Centennial Collection.)

Mr. President, Ladies, and Gentlemen:—
The duty assigned to rue this evening, is to describe, in a

few brief words, the career of a gentleman, distinguished in

his day and generation for valuable public services, and

whose life, both in public and private, was marked by those

qualities of judgment, integrity, and practical ability which

deserve and win the respect and esteem of mankind.

And yet so fugitive is the memory of civic virtue, that

this man, who was a central figure in Philadelphia during

and after the Eevolutionary war, who was repeatedly honored

by his fellow-citizens with high positions, and who acquitted

himself with distinction in them all, is well-nigh forgotten,

even here, in the city of his adoption, and the scene of his

labors.

The soldier's fate is different. He plays his part in a more

conspicuous arena. His career engages the hope3, the fears,

the passions of his countrymen. His skill and valor, at a

critical moment, may avert his country's ruin, or establish its

power. His deeds constitute a striking part of his country's

history, and history, poetry, painting, and sculpture conspire

to emblazon and perpetuate his name.

Thoma3 Fitzsimmons was connected with the family of the

soldier whose sculptured lineaments are hereafter to grace

this hall, and the soldier's fame may serve to recall from the

fast-gathering oblivion the career of the merchant and civilian. 1

Mr. Fitzsimmons was an Irishman and a Catholic, and was

1 This paper, originally prepared for the celebration held at Independence

Hall on the 2d of July, 1876, was road before the Historical Society of

Pennsylvania on the occasion of the presentation to the Society of the bust

of General Meade.
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born in the year 1741. Oppressed, like all his countrymen,

by the prescriptive laws of England, which were directed to

the subjection of his race, and the subversion of his religion,

he sought scope for his energies and ambition in the fresher

scenes of the Xew World. 1 The precise date of his emigra-

tion from Ireland I have been unable to ascertain, but it was
somewhere between the years 1762 and 1765, probably in the

latter year. He settled in Philadelphia, and engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits, i^ot long after his arrival here, he married a

daughter of Mr. Eobert Meade, the great-grandfather of Gen.

Meade, who, like himself was an Irishman, and as a merchant

carried on an extensive trade with Barbadoes, and other West
India islands. This marriage, no doubt, led, in part, to his

forming a partnership with George Meade, a son of Robert,

and who was one of the prominent merchants and shipowners

of Philadelphia. The house was known as George Meade

& Co.

The interval between the arrival of Mr. Fitzsimmons in

America and the Declaration of Independence was a season

of great political excitement. The pretension of the British

Parliament that it could directly impose taxes on the Ameri-

can Colonies opened the fountain of discontent and contro-

versy, and led to that resistance on the one hand, and those

attempts at coercion on the other, which at last resulted in

open war, and the dismemberment of the British Empire.

Katurally enough, Mr. Fitzsimmons warmly espoused the

cause of the Colonies in their contest with the mother coun-

try, and when hostilities actually began he raised and com-

manded a military company, and was engaged in active ser-

vice. He was with General Cadwalader at Bristol and Bur-

lington, in those movements contemporary with the battles of

Trenton and Princeton ; and he was also a member of the Coun-

cil of Safety, and of the Xavy Board, whose duty it was to take

under their care the vessels of war, fire-ships, etc., constructed

for the defence of Philadelphia, and to provide for attacking

1 Later investigations lead to the belief that Mr. Fitzsimmons was born

in Philadelphia, his father having emigrated from the old country, and

settled in that city.
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and defending against attacks of the enemy's ships in the

river.

Not only was he personally active in the cause of hia

adoptttd country, but it appears from the records of the time,

that his house in the year 1780 subscribed £5000 to supply

the necessities of the army.

Such was the impression made by the character and services

of Mr. Fitzsimmons, that, in 1782, he was elected a member
of the Continental Congress. An examination of the Madison

papers shows that during the sessions in which he served, he

took a leading part in the debates, and that on the pressing

question of the hour, the financial situation, his opinions

commanded great respect. He had a strong sense of solvency

and honesty, and on the floor of Congress he reprobated the

conduct of that body for their facility in contracting debt3

they had not the means of paying. His feelings were strongly

enlisted on behalf of that army to whose toils, dangers,

labors, and sacrifices the country was, in great measure, in-

debted for its independence, and he could not contemplate,

without indignation, its disbandment until means had first

been provided to pay the arrearages due to it. He openly

said in Congress, that he concurred with those who hoped

the army would not disband unless provision should be made

for doing it justice.

In connection with this sentiment I will take the liberty to

read from the Madison papers an interesting incident, which

bears upon this part of Mr. Fitzsimmons's career. Under

date of Feb. 20, 1783, Mr. Madison says r
1—

"The evening of this day was spent at Mr. Fitzsimmons's by

Mr. Gorham, Mr. Hamilton, Mr. Peters, Mr. Carroll, and Mr.

Madison. The conversation turned on the subject of revenue,

under the consideration of Congress, and on the situation of

the army. The conversation on the first subject ended in a

general concurrence (Mr. Hamilton excepted) in the impossi-

bility of adding to the impost on trade any taxes that would

operate equally throughout the United States, or be adopted

1 Vol. i. p. 350.
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by them. On the second subject, Mr. Hamilton and Mr.

Peters, who had the best knowledge of the temper, transac-

tions, and views of the army, informed the company, that it

was certain that the army had secretly determined not to lay

down their arms until due provision, and a satisfactory pros-

pect had been afforded on the subject of their pay ; that there

was reason to expect that a public declaration to this effect

would soon be made ; that plans had been agitated, if not

formed, for subsisting themselves after such declaration ; that,

as a proof of their earnestness on this subject, the Commander
was already become extremely unpopular, among almost all

ranks, from his known dislike to every unlawful proceeding;

that this unpopularity was daily increasing, and industriously

promoted by many leading characters ; that his choice of unfit

and indiscreet persons into his family was the pretext, and

with some the real motive; but the substantial one, a desire

to displace him from the respect and confidence of the army,

in order to substitute General ******* as the conductor

of their efforts to obtain justice. Mr. Hamilton said, that he

knew General "Washington intimately and perfectly ; that his

extreme reserve, mixed sometimes with a degree of asperity

of temper, both of which were said to have increased of late,

had contributed to the decline of his popularity ; but that his

virtue, his patriotism, and firmness would, it might be de-

pended upon, never yield to any dishonorable or disloyal plans

into which he might be called ; that he would sooner suffer

himself to be cut to pieces ; that he (Mr. Hamilton), knowing

^ this to be his true character, wished him to be the conductor

of the army in their plans for redress, in order that they might

i be moderate, and directed to proper objects, and exclude some

\ other leader who might foment and misguide their councils;

\ that with this view he had taken the liberty to write to the

\ General on this subject, and to recommend such a policy to

\ him." 1

1 In Hamilton's works, vol. i. p. 327, a letter to Washington will be found

( dated Feb. 7th. It was doubtless the one referred to by Hamilton in the

conversation given, and should be consulted, as it expresses the opinions of

the writer in his own language.
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After the peace, Mr. Fitzsiinmons was for several years a

member of the General Assembly of Pennsylvania, and, in

1787, he sat as a member of the Federal Convention, and his

name appears as one of the signers of the Federal Constitu-

tion. From the brief debates of that body, which have been

preserved, it appears that Mr. Fitzsimmons was opposed to

universal suffrage, and would restrain the privilege of voting

to freeholders. lie was in favor of giving Congress the power

to tax exports as well as imports, and he contended that the

House of Representatives should be united with the President,

as well as the Senate, in making treaties.

At the time the Federal Convention met, the government

of the Confederation possessed neither respect abroad, nor

credit and confidence at home. The Congress, under that

system, could contract debts, but had no power to lay and

collect taxes to pay them. They could call on the several

States for their respective proportions of the public obliga-

tions, but whether the several States would respond to this

call at all, or at what time, or in what manner, depended

wholly upon themselves. The result was natural: the mea-

sures of the Congress were not executed^and that body was
unsupplied with the means to pay debts, which, with a fatal

facility, they had gone on contracting.

In a letter to General Irvine, under date of Jan. 30, 1788,

Mr. Fitzsimmons says: "If at the close of the war Congress

had shown a proper spirit, our affairs now must have worn a

different aspect. All that has since happened was foretold,

and they should have stopped. The Superintendent of Fi-

nance in a letter he wrote them had this sentiment, ' I do not

hold it honest to contract debts I see no probability of being

able to pay.' They could not but acknowledge the truth and
force of the observation, yet they would have dismissed him
for using it had they not been afraid, and they have gone on
in doing what he reprobated. However, that resource is at

an end. "When no person will trust, there can be no debt

contracted."

The adoption of the Federal Constitution changed the as-

pect of affairs. A government was now brought into exist-
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ence which could execute the powers with which it was
clothed. It could lay and collect taxes, and it could pay the

public creditor, even though it might have to print paper, or

coin silver to do it I

It will be remembered that the Federal Convention con-

cluded its labors in September, 1787. The instrument which
it had framed was then submitted to the conventions of the

several States for their ratification. By the 4th of July,

1788, ten States had already ratified it, and thus secured its

adoption. This happy event, as well as the Declaration of

Independence, was celebrated in Philadelphia with great

pomp. The procession, including the military, represented

eighty-eight different trades, occupations, and professions.

Mr. Fitzsimmons, mounted on a horse formerly belonging to

Count Rochambeau, and carrying a flag of white silk em-

blazoned with the ensigns of France and the United States,

represented the French Alliance.

International law, and the general code of the sea, were

represented in that procession by the Hon. Francis Hopkinsou,

Judge of Admiralty, wearing in his bat a gold anchor, pen-

dant on a green ribbon, preceded by the Register's clerk,

carrying a green bag filled with rolls and parchment, and

having the word Admiralty in large letters on the front of the

bag. He wa/accompanied by James Read, wearing a silver

pen in his hat, and by Clement Biddle, Marshal, carrying a

silver car, adorned with green ribbons.

The Constitution ratified, and the government under it or-

ganized, Mr. Fitzsimmons was elected by the city of Phila-

delphia a member of the House of Representatives ; and by

successive elections was continued a member until 1795. On

all practical questions, such as commerce, finance, and ex-

change, he was regarded as one of the most able and efficient

members of the Xational Legislature.

It should delight the heart of a true-born Pennsylvanian to

know that -Mr. Fitzsimmons was in favor of such a tariff as

would encourage the productions of our country, and protect

that infant manufacturer, who, after more than three-quarters

of a century, has not yet attained to adolescence, and who
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still cries for that protective lacteal which was found so use-

ful at his birth.

Nevertheless, the fact is significant, and in the troublous

days of nullification, both Mr. Madison and Mr. Webster, in

vindication of the constitutionality of a tariff affording pro-

tection, regarded it as important historical evidence, that Mr.

Thomas Fitzsimmons, a member of the Federal Convention,

and a member of the first Congress under the Constitution,

was the first to suggest as the clear duty of Congress the so

laying of imposts as to encourage manufacturers.

With the organization of the Federal Government, there

sprang into existence two parties, and those parties, under

whatever change of names, purposes, or objects, have, in some

of their essential lineaments, continued down to the present

day. I mean the Federal party, and the Democratic, or, as it

was then called, the Republican party. In their origin, they

were both, in the main, pure and patriotic. They were com-

posed of men who had gone through the fire and distresses

of a seven years' war, who had put to hazard everything they

held dear to assert their liberties, and maintain their inde-

pendence ; but politically they diifered, and differed funda-

mentally.

The Federal party, in its leadership composed of the choice

and master spirits of the time, men of grace and renown,

while willing, and with the utmost good faith, to give the re-

publican system a trial, were, nevertheless, doubtful of its suc-

cess. They saw that republican forms of government had
everywhere disappeared from the face of the earth, and that

everywhere mankind were held in subjection by the force of

armies and navies. They distrusted the people, and they

feared that political liberty would degenerate into license and

anarchy. They sought, therefore, to make the government

strong and powerful. They construed the Constitution so as

to enlarge and consolidate its powers ; and in all doubtful

cases they leaned to the side that gave power to the govern-

ment. As has been pithily said, they believed the object of

government was to govern.

The Democratic party, on the other hand, were equally dis-
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trustful of a powerful and splendid centralized authority

;

they saw in it the likeness of a Kingly Crown, and they feared

that after having thrown off the yoke of the British connec-

tion, the Federal leaders would impose on them the sem-

blance, if not the substance of the British Monarchy. Read

the political discussions of those days, and you will find that,

on the one hand, the Federalists were in dread of anarchy,

and the Democrats, on the other, were in dread of monarchy.

It was very evident at the close of Washington's second

term, that in the conflict between these opposing fears, the

Democrats were rapidly gaining ground. In the elections of

1794, the rising tide of Democracy submerged and subverted

many of the landmarks and headlands of the Federal power.

Mr. Fitzsimmons went down before it ; being defeated in that

year by Mr. Swanwick, his Democratic competitor. Madison,

then in Philadelphia, communicated the news to Jefferson in

a letter bearing date 2sov. 16, 1794. " In this State," he says,

" the election, notwithstanding its inauspicious circumstances,

is more Republican than the last. Nine, at least, out of thir-

teen, are counted on the right side ; among them, Swanwick
in the room of Fitzsimrnons—a stunning change for the aris-

tocracy."

In a subsequent letter, dated Dec. 4, '94, Madison writes to

Jefferson that " the election of Swanwick as a Republican,

by the commercial and political metropolis of the United

States, in preference to Fitzsimmons, is, of itself, of material

consequence, and is so felt by the party to which the latter

belongs."

"With Mr. Fitzsimmons's retirement from Congress his

political career closed. He retired with the regrets of his

political friends, and with the respect of his political foes.

Henceforward, in a private station, as heretofore in a public

one, he commanded the confidence and esteem of his fellow-

citizens. He was a trustee of the University of Pennsylvania

;

a founder and director of the Bank of North America ; a

director and subsequently President of the Insurance Co. of

North America.

He is described as a man of commanding fisrure, and of
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agreeable manners, though somewhat stately and reserved.

He died August 2G, 181 1, and was buried beside his wife, who
had died the previous year, in St. Mary's church-yard, in 4th

St., below Walnut. lie left behind him no child, no de-

scendant to be the chronicler of his worth, and it is, there-

fore, eminently fit and proper, that the Historical Society of

Pennsylvania should seek to revive his memory, and to lay a

garland upon his tomb.

FRANCIS HOPKINSON.

BY CHARLES R. HILDEBURN.

(Centennial Collection.)

Thomas Hopkinson, the father of Francis Hopkinson, a gen-

tleman of good family, was a native of London. He received

a liberal education, and applying himself diligently to the

advantages within his reach, became a man of fine scholarly

attainments and of large and varied scientific knowledge.

After completing his education he studied law, and on being

admitted to the bar decided upon the rather unusual course,

for men of his profession, of seeking a field for himself in the

New World. In consequence he came at once to this country,

where he arrived about 1731, certainly before November, 1732,

when we find his name as counsel in an important suit before

the Court of Chancery. 1 In September, 1736, he wTas married

by the Rev. Dr. Jenney, Rector of Christ Church, to Miss

Mary Johnson, the only daughter of Baldwin Johnson, by his

wife Mary, widow of Col. William Dyer, of New Castle Co.

In '1741 he succeeded Andrew Hamilton as Judge of Vice-

Admiralty for Pennsylvania, and some years later was called

to a seat in the Provincial Council. While faithfully dis-

charging his official duties he yet found time to seize upon

many opportunities for showing his interest in the welfare of

1 Rawle's Equity in Penna., Appendix, p. 33.
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his adopted country, especially in all that pertained to the

advancement of science and education. lie interested himself

actively in the success of the newly-formed Library Company,

and when the Junto developed into the American Philoso-

phical Society in 1743 was chosen its first president. Dr.

William Smith, in his "Account of the College and Academy
of Philadelphia," refers to its formation as follows: "Many
gentlemen of the first rank in the province gave their counte-

nance to this design, and afterwards became Trustees for it;

but those on whom the chief care of digesting and preparing

matters rested, were—Thomas Hopkinson, Tench Francis,

Richard Peters, and Benjamin Franklin, Esqs."

The active part which he took in these enterprises and his

natural inclination towards scientific pursuits brought him into

close friendship with Benjamin Franklin, who thus acknowl-

edges one instance of the aid rendered him by Mr. Hopkinson

:

"The power of points to throw off the electric fire was first

communicated to me by my ingenious friend Mr. Thomas
Hopkinson, since deceased, whose virtues and integrity, in

every situation of life, public and private, will ever make his

memory dear to those who knew him, and knew how to value

him." He was unfortunately cut off in the prime of life on

the 5th of November, 1751, leaving his family to the care of

his widow, who nobly discharged the trust.

Francis Hopkinson was born in Philadelphia on the 21st of

September, 0. S., or according to the present calendar the 2d

of October, 1737. 1 His mother clearly discerning his talents

determined that he should have the advantage of as liberal

an education as the Province could afford, and accordingly

placed him at the College and Academy of Philadelphia, the

germ of the present University of Pennsylvania. Here he

graduated in 1757, the Master's degree following in 1760.

After leaving college he began the study of law under Ben-

jamin Chew, Attorney-General of the Province, and in 17G1

was admitted to the Bar. In that year he wTas called upon

1 The year of his birth is g-enerally given 1738 ; this is not correct, as he

was baptized at Christ Church, Nov. 12, 1737.
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to perform his first public service, in the capacity of Secretary

to a conference, held on the banks of the Lehigh, between the

Governor and the Indians of that region; his poem " The

Treaty" was suggested by this event. In 1759 he accepted the

position of Secretary of the Library Company, and from Feb.

1764, to May, 1765, fulfilled, as well, the duties of Librarian.

He was also Secretary of the Vestry of Christ Church and St.

Peters, and turned his talent for music to the benefit of the

United Churches, by instructing the children of the two con-

gregations in "the art of psalmody," receiving for his efforts

in this direction the special thanks of the Vestry. These

positions, with the practice of his profession, occupied a large

portion of his time, yet he found leisure for the cultivation of

Belles Lettres and the higher branches of science.

In October, 1765, he established himself for a brief period

as a conveyancer, in an office at the corner of Market Street

and Lretitia Court.

In the spring of the ensuing year an opportunity of gratify-

ing his long-felt desire to visit England, presented itself. Mr.

Redmond Conyngham, being about to return to his native

land, where he had a considerable estate, offered Hopkinson

a passage on board his ship," the "Hayfield," which was to

convey himself and family to Ireland. They sailed from Xew
Castle 1 on the 26th of May, and reached Londonderry on the

27th of June. Writing to his mother, on the 2d of July, he

says :

—

"It was remarkable that the night we left !N"ew Castle that

1 A few hours before his departure he received a copy of the resolutions

passed by the Trustees of his Alma Mater, on the 20th of May. So marked

an expression of esteem has hardly ever again issued from the same source,

and, although published in the National Portrait Gallery, they must find

a place here :

—

"It was resolved that as Francis Hopkinson, Esq., who was the first

scholar in this seminary at its opening, and likewise one of the first who

received a degree, was about to embark for England, and has done honor to

the place of his education by his abilities and good morals, as well as ren-

dered it many substantial services on all public occasions, the thanks of this

institution ought to be delivered to him in the most affectionate and respect-

ful manner."
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Town was illuminated on the joyful occasion of the Stamp
Acts being repealed, and the first night we entered our Har-

bour in Ireland was Midsummer Night, at which time it

is a never failing custom among the Irish to illuminate their

whole country with large fires kindled here and there among
the mountains. A few days after our arrival, Mrs. Conyng-
ham went to Latterkenny, a little village about 15 miles from
Derry, where Mr. Conyngham's mother lives and where his

Estate lies. The day before yesterday I went to see her. All

along the road are built the most miserable Huts you can

imagine, of mud and straw, much worse than Indian Wig-
wams, and their wi etched Inhabitants go scarce decently

covered with ras-s."

A few days later he sailed for Dublin, and a couple of weeks

afterwards pushed on to London, where he expected to meet

Franklin, whose friendship he enjoyed by inheritance and had

cultivated by a correspondence of some years' standing. In

this, however, he was disappointed, as the Philosopher was then

in Germany, and after a few days' sight-seeing he set out for

Hartlebury Castle, the Episcopal residence of his relative the

Bishop of Worcester, which he reached on the 9th of August,

and the next day wrote home:

—

" The Bishop received me with the greatest cordiality and

affection, as also did our cousin, his sister. His Lordship is a

very sedate, sensible Gentleman—is very highly esteemed for

his piety and learning—is a Bachelor and seems to be about

your age, or rather older. The Palace of Hartlebury is mag-

nificent—superb! I cannot pretend to describe it now. The

Halls and Apartments are very spacious and princely, orna-

mented with masterly paintings, Engravings, and most beauti-

ful Stucco work."

In September, he mentions going to Greenwich with Ben-

jamin West and his family to a Whitebait dinner, and early

in the ensuing year dining with John Penn and Lord North

;

he remained in London until June, 1767, when he made

another visit of some length to Hartlebury Castle. Mean-

while he suffered a great disappointment in not being made

one of the newly established Board of Commissioners of the

Yol. ii.—22
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Customs for Xorth America, which his friends had endeavored

to procure for him; "but, to no purpose," he writes, "for it

had Ions: since been agreed that the first American Posts

should be given as a recompense to those who had suffered

and been obliged to resign their offices as Stamp Masters in

the late troubles. I confess I retained all along some hopes

of having one of these Commissions, but as it hath turned

out otherwise, I do think it is much better for me."

He sailed for home about the beginning of August, and in

due time reached his native city, where he resumed his pro-

fession, and engaged to some extent in mercantile pursuits,

having his office and store at his house in Race Street above

Third.

On the first of September, 1768, he married, at Bordentown,

Ann Borden, daughter of Joseph Borden, Jr., and grand-

daughter of Joseph Borden, the founder of the town. From
this time onward we find him taking an active part in the

social and public life of his day. A Warden of Christ Church,

1770 and 1771 ; a Director of the Library Company, 1771 to

1773 ; and in March, 1772, through the influence of Lord

2s"orth, made Collector of the Customs at Xew Castle, with

permission to perform the duties of the post by deputy.

Half the year was spent at Bordentown, and gradually

Hopkinson became more and more connected with Xew Jer-

sey, and in 1774, received another mark of esteem from the

Royal Government by an appointment to a seat in the Pro-

vincial Council. He fixed his residence at Bordentown, which

became his home for several years.

In the middle of June, 1776, a new constitution was adopted

in Xew Jersey, and a change made in its representatives in

Congress, Hopkinson—having resigned his other offices the

moment they became incompatible with his feelings as an

American—was one of the new members, and on the 28th

presented the credentials of the delegation to Congress, and

was at once added to the Committee for preparing a plan of

Confederation. On the 2d of July he voted in favor of the

Resolution of Independency, and two days later for the De-

claration, to which when engrossed he affixed his signature.
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A few days after entering Congress he writes to Dr. Coale,

of Baltimore:

—

"If my poor abilities can be of tbe least service to my
country in her day of trial I shall not complain of the hard-

ship of the task "We are anxious but have lively

hopes of success. Our troops are hearty and eager for action

and full of spirits, animated I really believe by the spirit of

patriotism. When men of fortune turn common soldiers to

fight for their liberties against the hand of oppression, success,

I think, must attend their honest efforts, the tool of tyrannic

power must shrink from before them."

At the recommendation of the Marine Committee, Congress,

on the 18th of November, appointed him "to execute the

business of the Xavy under their direction." 1

When the British found their movement on Philadelphia,

through the Jersevs, to be a failure and besran to draw in their

lines, orders were issued to destroy the property of the most

prominent Whigs; in Bordentown, among the houses burned

was the Borden Mansion. It was spacious and elegantly

furnished. The large French mirrors, the numerous articles

of vertu and art scattered through the rooms were objects of

admiration and wonder to visitors, as well as a matter of

pride to the town. The old lady, Mrs. Borden, seated herself

in a large chair placed on the opposite side of the street, and

there witnessed the destruction of her home and its treasures.

A British officer, struck by her appearance, came to her, and

expressed his sympathy by saying that he had a venerated

mother of his own of whom she reminded him, and therefore

felt deeply grieved for the sad sight before them. Mrs. Bor-

den replied, " This is the happiest day of my life, Sir." "In-

deed, Madam, how can that be?" "Because the very fact of

your burning the chief houses convinces me that you find it

impossible to conquer our people, or you would not so ruth-

lessly destroy such property." Francis Hopkinson's house

was fired at the same time, but escaped in a very curious

manner. Captain J. Ewald, one of the best known Hessian

1 Journal of Congress, vol. u\, p. 462.
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officers engaged in the war, was in command of the detach-

ment to which the British had committed the work of

destruction, and happening to enter Ilopkinson's Horary was

amazed to find it filled with scientific apparatus, in addition

to the books that lined its walls. Picking up a volume of

Provost Smith's Discourses, he wrote in his mother-tongue,

under the coat of arms, "This man was one of the greatest

rebels, nevertheless, if we dare to conclude from the Library,

and Mechanical and Mathematical instruments, he must have

been a very learned man," and in recognizing the philosopher,

he forgot the rebel and allowed the neighbors to extinguish

the flames before any great damage had been done.

All through the war Hopkinson's fertile brain was busy

devising arguments in prose and verse to strengthen and cheer

the hearts of his countrymen, 1 and by the able discharge of his

duties in the administration of naval affairs and as treasurer

of loans he rendered special service to the good cause. And
here we must quote Dr. Push's opinion of the great importance

of his public services as an author—" that the various causes

which contributed to the establishment of the Independence

and federal government of the United States, will not be fully

traced, unless much is ascribed to the irresistible influence of

the ridicule which he (Francis Hopkinson) poured forth, from

time to time, upon the enemies of those great political events."

Whilst Hopkinson was at Bordentown, whither he had re-

tired on the entry of the British into Philadelphia, he received

the first intimation of his brother-in-law Dr. Duche's defection

from the American cause. Enough has been said elsewhere

of Duche's letter to Washington, and of Ilopkinson's scathing

rebuke to the recreant, but the following from Hopkinson to

"Washington has not, it is believed, been published :

—

1 The Battle of the Kegs, one of the best known of all the ballads of the

Revolutionary period, was written in January, 1778, and instantly achieved

a wide-spread popularity. Possessing just enough of the spirit of true poetry

to please the mass, while the rather doggerel versification rendered it easy

to recite, it presented the most ridiculous side of the subject in the wittiest

possible manner.
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Borden Town, 14th Nov'r, 1777.

Sir:—
The Intimacy of my Connection with Mr. Duche* renders

all assurances unnecessary that the Letter addressed by him
to your Excellency on the 8th of Oct. last gives me the greatest

concern. I flatter myself some undue means have been tried

to induce him to write such a Letter so incompatable with
the amiable character he has ever maintained and so fatal to

his Reputation. I could not forbear communicating some of

my sentiments to him on the occasion. These I might pro-

bably have been able to convey to him by secret means, but
did not chuse to incur the imputation of a clandestine corre-

spondence. I have therefore taken the liberty to send the
enclosed letter to you unsealed for your perusal. Resting it

entirely on your judgement to cause it to [be] forwarded or

not. I hope your Excellency will pardon my giving you the
Trouble. The occasion is a very interesting one to me. My
friendship for Mr. Duche calls upon me to do all I can to warn
him against the fatal consequences of his ill advised step, that

he may if possible do something to avert them before it is

too late.

I am, Sir,

With the warmes wishes of my Heart for your welfare,

Your sincere friend & very humble servant,
F. H.

His Excellency Gen'l Washington.

The letter to Duche*, however, seems not to have reached

its destination, as a letter from Washington to Hopkinson,

dated "Valley Forge, Jan. 27, 1778," concludes :—
"Having never found an opportunity of conveying the

Letter which you sometime ago sent me for Mr. Duche, by
such a channel as I thought would reach him, I return it to

you again. The contents have not been made public."

In September, 1776, Governor Livingston appointed him
Third Justice of the Supreme Court of !N"ew Jersey. Erom
the first he was disinclined to accept the position, and so wrote

to his colleague, John Hart, who replied :

—

Prince Town, Sept 12th, 1776.

Dear Sir:—
I have now before me your Favour of the 7th instant. I

am sorry that you intend to Resign the appointment of such
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an important office as one of the Judges of the Supream Court
of this State, at this critical crisus when the assistance of every
Good man is wanted to add treuth to our Xew Constitution

to which I Know you to he a stanch friend, notwithstanding
yours to me is to be considered as a private letter, I thought
the Publick so much Intrested in the affair that I could not
Refrain Leting some of your and my Particular friends know
some thing of your intention, they are no more at a Loss to

guess than myselfe what is the Reason that you Dieline to

accept. But as it is now out of our power to make any alter-

ation they are Desirous that you will Please to Ree Considor
the matter and are of oppinion with me that it is Best for you
as well as the Publick to Take upon yourself the office, I wish
it was in my power to have a personel Conferanee with you
on this important affair but as it is not at present, I must
conclude with Leaving these few broken hints to your seriou3

consideration and am with
Great Regard your Sincere friend

and Humble Servant,

JOHN HART.

Gordon1 says he accepted the position and held it until

President Reed offered him the Court of Admiralty in Penn-

sylvania, hut this seems to rest on no other basis than the fact

of his appointment in 1776, and during the three following

years I can find no reference to his holding a judicial position,

nor does Reed seem to have considered him as other than a

citizen of Pennsvlvania, holding an office under Congress.

A few days after the death of Judge Ross, Hopkiuson

received the following: letter :

—

Dear Sir :

—

Allow me to ask you whether the office of Judge of the
Admiralty in succession to Mr. Ross will be consistent with
your present Post under Congress, and otherwise agreeable.

The Appointment is £500 per Ann. and £15 in every Cause,
besides small Motions, &c.

You may write me in confidence, and believe me,
Sir, Your most Obd't & very Humble Ser't,

JOSEPH BEED.
Walstjt Street, July 14, 1779.

1 History of New Jersey





Francis Hopkinson. 323

The office alluded to by President Reed was that of Trea-

surer of the Continental Loan Office to which he had been
appointed sometime previously. lie at once accepted the

Admiralty, and on the 16th of July, 1779, 1 was commissioned
to the post which had years before been ably filled by his

father. He presided over the Court until, under the Federal

Constitution, Admiralty Jurisdiction became vested solely in

the United States. On the organization of the General Govern-

ment—in spite of a vigorous effort to secure the appointment

of Edward Shippen, the last Judge of the Court of Admiralty
under the Crown—Washington transferred him to the new
Court, accompanying the commission with the following

letter:

—

United States, September 30th, 1789.

Sir:—
I have the pleasure to enclose to you a commission as Judge

of the United States for the District of Pennsylvania, to which
office I have nominated, and, by and with the advice and con-

sent of the Senate, have appointed you.

In my nomination of Persons to fill offices in the Judicial

Department, I have been guided by the importance of the

object—considering it as of the first magnitude, and as the

Pillar upon which our political fabric must rest. I have
endeavored to bring into the high offices of its administration

such characters as will give stability and dignity to our

national Government,—and I persuade myself they will dis-

cover a due desire to promote the happiness of our Country
by a ready acceptance of their several appointments.

The laws which have passed, relative to your office, accom-

pany the commission.
I am, Sir, with very great esteem,

Your most obedient Servant,

GEO. WASHINGTON.
The honorable Francis Hopkinson, Esquire.

1 This commission was without a tenure of office clause, and was superseded

by another, dated April 6, 1780, by which seven years was fixed as the length

of his term. A third commission was issued on the 6th of April, ITS", fur a

like period.
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His admiralty decisions exhibit the extent and breadth of

. his research, to which was added much astuteness in bringing

to light a clear equity view of the cause upon which he gave

judgment, and for this reason, the opinions of Judge Hopkin-

son the second are still held in high esteem by the profession.

Francis Ilopkinson was an active participator in the debates

of the convention of 1787, which formed the present Consti-

tution of the United States. He threw his whole soul into

the matter; his early and unwavering patriotism had long

established him in the confidence of his countrymen, and at

this important crisis he materially helped to bring about the

adoption of the Constitution, not only by his able and states-

man-like discussions, but also by producing a very timely

work of humor in his best vein, published under the name of

the " History of a oSTew Roof." To this brochure the highest

meed of praise was accorded, and men of great distinction at

the time have left their testimony as to its influence on the

public mind.

On Monday morning, May 9, 1791, he was suddenly struck

down by an attack of apoplexy, which in two hours termi-

nated his existence in the 54th year of his age.

His character is thus analyzed by Thomas I. Wharton, in

his JSTotes on the Provincial Literature of Pennsylvania:

—

"A poet, a wit, a patriot, a chemist, a mathematician, and

a Judge of the Admiralty: his character was composed of a

happy union of qualities and endowments, commonly supposed

to be discordant ; and with the humor of Swift and Rabelais,

he was always on the side of virtue and social order."
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THE DESCENDANTS OF JORAN KYN, THE FOUNDER
OF UPLAND.

BY GREGORY B, KEEN.

Joran Kyn,* one of the earliest European residents upon

the river Delaware, aud for more than a quarter of a century

the chief proprietor of land at Upland, New Sweden, after-

wards Chester, Pennsylvania, was born in Sweden about

A. D. 1620.f He came to America in company with Gover-

nor John Printz, in the ship Fama, which "sailed from

Stockholm," narrates Magister John Campanius Holm4 a

fellow-passenger in the same vessel, "on the 16th of August,

1642," and, after stopping at Dahlehamn, Copenhagen, and

Helsingor, left Gottenburg Castle for the " Spanish Sea" (as

the Atlantic Ocean was at one time called) "on the 1st of

November, at noon." The route pursued by them upon their

* This (under the Dutch form of Kijn) is the earliest spelling of the sur-

name met with, and dates from 1663, The older generations of the West
New Jersey branches of the family employed the form of Kijhn. Other

methods, numbering a dozen, Dutch and English, are mere attempts to render

in those languages the sound of the Swedish original. Keen is the first Eng-

lish spelling of the name recorded, occurring as early as 1665, and is the

mode adopted by the family to-day. It has the merit of representing a

close approach to the ancient sound, besides being of cognate derivation, and

yielding a translation of the obsolete old Swedish word. This is more nearly

reproduced in sound and meaning by the German Kiihn. The Christian

name of Jbran was frequently written after the Dutch style of Jurian : it

was sometimes strangely corrupted, but was never properly anglicized as

George.

f Probably not earlier than 1617, or his name should not appear in the

list of "Tydable Persons" residing at Upland in 1677 (which excluded those

over sixty years of age), nor later than 1623, considering the date of his

eldest grandchild's birth.

X See Thomas Campanius Holm's " Description of New Sweden." trans-

lated by Peter S. Du Ponceau, LL.D., and published by the Historical

Society, Chapter YL, where quite a detailed account of the voyage is given.

The Fama was accompanied by another ship named Svanen, the Swan.
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journey was a long one, adopted, says Acrelius, when " the

watery way to the West was not yet well discovered, for mar
of the sand banks oil" ^Newfoundland." They coasted along

Portugal and Barbary, and, passing far to the south of the

Canary Islands, landed at Antigua, inhabited at that time

"by Englishmen and negroes, with some Indians," where they

"spent their Christmas holydays, and were well entertained,"

says Mr. Holm, "at the Governors house." After quitting

this seat of "perpetual summer" (as the same gentleman

depicts it) they encountered " a severe storm," accompanied

at the last "with snow," which "continued above fourteen

days," by which they "lost three large anchors, a spritsail, and

their mainmast, and the ship was run aground; but on the

15th of February, 1643, by God's grace, came up to Fort

Christina, in New Sweden, Virginia," in the precise phrases

of the historian, "at two o'clock in the afternoon." Here the

first three Swedish expeditions had established their chief

settlement under Minuit and Hollender,* and here remained

a short time, also, this fourth and greatest of the colonies,

enjoying friendly intercourse with fellow-countrymen most

glad to welcome them, and happily reposing from the dis-

* Peter Minuit and the first colony sailed from Gottenburg on the ship-

of-war Kalmar Nyckel, accompanied by a smaller vessel called Gripen,

the Griffin, towards the close of December, 1637, and reached the river

Delaware in March, or, at the latest, the beginning of April, 1638. The

second colony, nnder Peter Hollender, sailed from Gottenburg in the same

Kalmar Nyclcel, or Key of Kalmar, leaving the Texel on the 7th of Febru-

ary, 1640, and, after a quick passage for those days, landed at Christina on the

17th of April following. And the third colony sailed from Gottenburg in the

same well-tried vessel, accompanied by the ship Charitas, fitted out at Stock-

holm, and leaving that place for Gottenburg May 3, 1641. Besides these

one other expedition had preceded Governor Printz in settling on the Dela-

ware, a colony of Dutchmen with Jost van Bogardt, who emigrated under

the auspices of the Swedish Crown in the ship Freedenburg, arriving in New
Sweden on the 2d of November, 1640, and who occupied land three or four

Swedish miles below Christina. (Statements based, in great part, on the

authority of MSS. Records relating to New Sweden in the Royal Archives

at Stockholm. Acrelius, who is. in general, remarkably trustworthy and accu-

rate, confounds the colony of 1641 with Printz's expedition, and makes but
cursory mention of that of Hollender.)
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tresses of their long and perilous voyage. The encroachments

of the neighbouring Dutch and the recent repairing of their

little Fort Xassau determined the new Governor to remove,

however, to the more commanding post of Tutseaenungh or

Tinicum, where he erected a "new fort provided with con-

siderable armament/' named by him Nya Gbtheborg, and "also

caused to be built a mansion, for himself and family, which

was very handsome," says Campanius, surrounded by "a fine

orchard, a pleasure house, and other conveniences," and called

by the proprietor Frintzhof. At this place, likewise, accord-

ing to the same authority, "the principal inhabitants had

their dwellings and plantations," and here resided Joran Kyn.

In a " Ralla" dated by Printz at " Kihrstina, June 20, 1644,"

preserved in the Royal Archives at Stockholm * he is men-

tioned (under his appellation of SnohuitCft as a soldier in the

Governor's life-guard,£ and in a " List of Persons living in

ISTew Sweden, March 1, 1648," is once more similarly described.

It was not long before the small island in the Delaware, where

these earlv colonists had their first homes in the Xew World,

had ceased to offer sufficient scope for their fast growing fami-

lies, and was abandoned by many of them for other residences

on the main river shore. The site which proved attractive to

the eyes of Joran Kyn was Upland, and we cannot wonder

at his choice of this abode. £Tot only did the place enjoy the

privilege of close proximity to the seat of government (which

still remained at Tinicum), but it was also favoured in the pos-

* Printed (together with Governor Printz's second official report of the

condition of the young Swedish colony, of the same date) at the end of an

interesting little sketch of this earliest period of our annals, entitled " Ko-

lonien Nya Sveriges Grundldggning, 1637-1642," written by the learned

historian Professor C. T. Odhner on the occasion of the Centennial Exhi-

bition recently held in Philadelphia.

f In the " List" referred to immediately afterwards (written in German)

the name is given as Schneeweiss, which means the same, of course, snow-

white, and was applied to him, possibly, in consequence of some physical

peculiarity, such as the lightness of his complexion. Designations of the

sort were very common in the early Swedish colony.

X Among " saldaterne som dageligen folia forresa, oeh achta pa Gover-

neuren," soldiers who daily attend and travel with the Governor.
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session of great natural advantages (among the rest in being

at the mouth of a navigable stream), and was, moreover,

already in a good state of cultivation, having been occupied

by farm-servants, in the employment of the Swedish Company

who organized the colony, as a tobacco-plantation, as early as

1644.* The tract of land which he acquired was unusually

large, even for those days of liberal grants, extending along

a great part of the eastern bank of Upland Kill, now Chester

Creek, for a mile and a half above its mouth—at the north-

western portion, upon which the Crozer Theological Seminary

is situated at present, three-quarters of a mile in width—and

reaching to the east along the Delaware as far as Ridlev

Creek,f It was about the period, probably, of the departure

for "old Sweden";); of his friend and fellow-soldierg Governor

Printz that he resigned his military functions, and gave him-

self more unreservedly to the pursuits of agriculture ; and

* See the " Relation" and " Bulla" already referred to. These contain

the first mention of the name of Upland as yet discovered, preceding by four

years that presumed to be the earliest at the time of the publication, by the

Historical Society, of the " Record of Upland Court." " The name might

seem rather Englistrthan Swedish," says Mr. Edward Armstrong, " -were it

not known that many of the emigrants came from Upland, a province in

Middle Sweden on the Baltic, to which the natural features of the new

region bore some resemblance." The Iudian name of the country bordering

on Upland Creek was, according to the Royal Swedish Engineer, Peter

Lindstrom, 3fesckopenacJian.

t The boundaries of this estate may, in a measure, be discerned even in

the remnants of it still accredited to him in a drawing of Chester, without

date, but made some time after the arrival of the English settlers, inserted

in Dr. George Smith's well-known " History of Delaware County, Pennsyl-

vania." The identification of them in the text has been confirmed for me,

very kindly, by John Hill Martin, Esq., author of the interesting book on

"Chester" recently published.

X " Gambia Swerige" is a term already applied to his native country by

Governor Printz in his " Relation" of 1644.

\ It will be remembered that Printz was himself a soldier, and before his

appointment to the Governorship of New Sweden Lieutenant-Colonel of

the West Gotha Cavalry, and after his return to his native conntry promoted

to the rank of General. Whether the intimacy of his relations with Joran

Kyn can best be accounted for by the supposition of a companionship in

arms on European battle-fields is matter for conjecture.
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these, with, the care of his youthful family, continued to he

his chief engagements, and detained him ever at Upland,

during the rest of his long life. It is to he regretted that we
can glean so little information, comparatively, ahout the set-

tlers on our river at this remotest period of our history, but

that they were men of more than ordinary energy, savouring

of the spirit of hold Viking ancestry, seems plainly indicated

by the fact of their so early embarkation for our wild and dis-

tant shores. That Joran Kyn was likewise noted for singular

gentleness of disposition, and great excellence of character

—

qualities not always accompanying the former trait—we have

more positive testimony. The Dutch Commissary Huygen,

in a letter to his "cousin," Vice-Director Beekman, dated

"Tinnackunk, 29th M'ch, 1663," alluding to a violent assault

upon him by a certain "miscreant" of Upland a few days

before, speaks of him as " the pious Jurriaen Snewit, a man
who has never irritated a child even."* And the very full

* "Den women Jurriaen Snewit, een mensch die geen kind oijt heft

vertoornt." I am indebted for the expressions (in the very language in

which they "were written by Commissary Huygen) to the kind courtesy of

the accomplished Mr. B. Fernow, late Keeper of the Historical Records

in the Office of the Secretary of State at Albany, and editor of the last

volume of " Documents relating to the Colonial History of the State of

New York," comprising " Documents relating to the History of the Dutch

and Swedish Settlements on the Delaware River." He says that the origi-

nal letter is still in existence at Albany, having been kept by Yice-Director

Beekman among his official correspondence, or sent by him to Governor

Peter Stuyvesant. Mr. Samuel Hazard refers to the circumstance related

in it in his "Annals of Pennsylvania," p. 345, copying from the translation

of the learned, but unfortunately dim-sighted, and, therefore, frequently in-

accurate, Dr. Adriaen van der Kemp. The latter gives both names of Kyn
and Snewit, writing the first, by reason of his infirmity, Kuyp (printed by

Mr. Hazard Kuys), and the second Sneart. The marginal account of the

matter given in the "Annals" seems to indicate that the excellent author of

that work was not aware of Joran Kyn's having survived the dastardly as-

sault, and having brought the criminal to punishment. Both the trial of

the scoundrel, and the letter quoted from, are to be seen at large in Mr.

Fernow's invaluable contribution to our early history, on pages 424-6. The

letter, at least, though not the trial, has been reprinted from this work in

theYIIth Volume of the Second Series of "Pennsylvania Archives" (pub-

lished last August), at page 699.
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report in the "Court Minutes kept at Fort Altena" of the

trial of the offender on the 7th and 16th of April, following,

quite corroborates his judgment.* In conformity with the

order of the Court of Assizes at Xcw York, he obtained,

August 1, 1665, a renewal, by the English authorities, of his

patent for land at Upland, and again, August 4, 1668, a con-

firmation to him of "three lots of land in his possession,''

described in the Abstract of Patents still preserved in the

Office of the Secretary of State at Albany,f He was one of

the seventeen " Tydable Persons" residing at Upland in 1677,

and one of " the responsible housekeepers" named in the

" Census" of 1680. At a court held at Chester the " 3d day

in the 1st week of the 10th month, 1686," he reclaimed a

fugitive servant. At another, held the " 3d day in the 2d

week of the 2d month, 1687," he "made over a deed for a

parcell of land lying and being in Chester with all the appur-

tenances and lotts, dated the 18th day of the 11th month,

1686, to James Saunderlaine and his Heirs forever"—the

estate referred to, probably, in the action of the Court on the

"3d day in the 1st week of the 10th month" following, when
"James Saunderlaine was attested constable for the township

* The process is headed " Jurriaen Kijn, plaint., against Evert Hendrick-

son, the Finn, deft." It appears from Joran Kyn's "remonstrance" that

the man had once before assaulted him, threatening his life, the previous

autumn. " This, however, was settled, but it was under the condition that

if he made trouble afterwards, the complaint about it should be repeated.

The plaintiff said further, that defendant was an unruly man, who troubled

the place at Upland's Kil." Judging from the rest of the testimony elicited,

the Finn seems, indeed, to have been a sort of desperado : he was banished
from Upland for his ill behaviour, and removed to the vicinity of New Castle.

The trial is of special interest to the antiquarian, as indicating the names
of several residents of Upland not elsewhere mentioned as living there.

Among others occurs that of Dr. Tymen Stidden, the surgeon appointed for

the colony by the City of Amsterdam, and the original grantee of a great
part of the land upon which the city of Wilmington, Delaware, is situated.

Of all the persons who then dwelt there Jbran Kyn was the only one who
remained at Upland to connect the history of these very early inhabitants
with the times of William Penn.

t A copy of this patent is also to be seen in the Surveyor-General's Office

at Harrisburg.
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and Liberty of Chester, or that he see the office duly executed

until another be attested in his Roome, which service is upon

the account of his father-in-law Urin Keens farme which the

said James purchased"—a curious entry, certainly, and one

seeming to indicate the recognition in those days of an obli-

gation on the part of large proprietors to maintain the peace

of their respective neighbourhoods. Finally, at a court held

the 6th day of the 1st month, 1687,* he made over a deed

dated " the 1st day" of the same month, conveying a lot in

Chester, adjoining his "lot or Garding" (and where, probably,

his so-called " town-house" was situatedf), to certain persons,

in trust, " to the use and behoof of the said Chester—the peo-

ple of God called Quakers and their successors forever," upon

which ground the First Meeting-house of Friends at Chester

was built. This is the latest mention, it is believed, of Joran

Kyn, as living, and since his name does not appear in Charles

Springer's list of Swedes who were residing on the Delaware

in May, 1693, it seems reasonable to infer that he died during

the interval of time. He was, of course, a Swedish Lutheran

in religion, and, no doubt, was buried either in the cemetery

of his fellow-countrymen at Chester or in the older one at

Tinicum.J He was married, but his wife's name has not come
down to us. And he is the ancestor of ten generations of

* This and the immediately preceding statements are obtained from Re-
cords preserved in the Office of the Clerk of the Court of Quarter Sessions

at West Chester, Pa. Neither here, nor elsewhere in this genealogy, has

any attempt been made to reduce Old Style to New.

t For the position of this property (along the creek, just above the pre-

sent Graham Street) see " Draft of the First Settled Part of Chester," in

the Appendix to Dr. Smith's History, before referred to.

X The church atTinicum (where, naturally, religious rites were celebrated

on behalf of the early generations of the family of Joran Kyn) was the first

erected on the river Delaware, and was built by Governor Printz, and

"adorned after Swedish fashion.*' and consecrated for divine service, with

its burying place, by Dr. John Campanius Holm, on the fourth of September.

1646. "The site of the burying place, and doubtless that of the church

also." says Dr. Smith, "was close on the margin of the river, and is now oc-

cupied by a part of its bed between the Lazaretto and Tinicum Hotel, but

nearer the latter. It is not many year? since human bones were seen pro-

truding from the undermined and receding bank of the river."
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descendants born on American soil—a number probably not

surpassed, and, rather curiously, as far as known, not equalled

by other European colonists of our continent. He had at

least three children, bearing the following names:

2. Hans, ra. Willemka.

3. Jonas, m.

4. Annika, m. 1st, James Sandelands ; and 2dly, Peter Baynton.

2. Hans Kyn or Keen,2 son of Joran Kyn, born, it may be,

in America, was brought up by his father at Upland, and

endowed, at least as early as 1668, with two hundred acres of

laud, a part of the original paternal grant. Here he resided

for several years, having his estate confirmed to him as " one

of ye six* Inhabitants of Upland Towne." In the list of

"Tydables" of 1677 he appears among the persons living at

" Taokanink/'f and at a court at Upland, March 12, 1677-8,

we find him acknowledging a deed of sale of the Upland pro-

perty. He seems to have shared the impulse which led so

many of the Swedish settlers, about this time, to move higher

up the Delaware, to the neighbourhood of the " Sissowokis-

sinck" (now called Wissinoming) and the Pennipack. On
both of these creeks he purchased land, as well as in the

intermediate region. With two:f of the tracts he is accredited

* The others were, probably, his father, Joran Kyn, his brother-in-law,

James Sandelands, the Rev. Lawrence Charles Lock, Capt. Israel Helm (a

native of Sweden, formerly Collector of the Customs at " Passayung,"

member of Capt. Carre's Council, aod Justice of Upland Court, frequently

interpreter with the Indians), and either Jost Danielsen or Niels Matson

(whose wife Margaret is noted as the only person ever tried for witchcraft

in Pennsylvania), or else a certain Villus Lacie or the person to whom he

seems to have sold a portion of his land, Niels Laerson, at whose house—

a

kind of hostelry—the early courts of Upland held their sessions. Some of

the residents at Upland at this time may have been tenants of, or purchasers

from, the six principal proprietors.

t In this list his name is given patronymically merely, as Hans Jurian,

and his brother's similarly, as Jonas Juriaensen.—a primitive practice of

Scandinavian and all ancient races, which not seldom renders the identifica-

tion of persons a difficult task,

t The third, that situated on the Pennipack, embraced "a Certayne

peece of meaddow or marsh Lying and being on the westsyde within Pemi-
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on Thomas Holme's and John Harris's Maps of Pennsylvania,

and the deed for them, dated April 26, 1679, entered on the

back of a grant from Governor Andros, March 25, 1676, has

been in the possession of his descendants ever since.- In it

he is described as "husbandman." He was married and his

wife's Christian name was "Willemka: her surname we are

not acquainted with. Her name occurs, instead of his, among
the chief subscribers to the salary of the Lutheran pastor

Jacobus Fabritius, August 10, 16S4, indicating, apparently,

that he had died before that date. In May, 1693, she is

mentioned as his relict, living with her four younger sons,

with whom she continued to reside at least until the close of

1697. After so lono* a widowhood she became the second wife

of Caspar Fisck, of Gloucester Co., West Xew Jersey,f one of

the more prominent of the early colonists upon the Delaware,

and trustee, vestryman, and warden of the Lutheran congre-

gation at "Wieacoa. She was alive at the time he made his

will, January 5, 1707-8, and may have survived him also.

She had five children by her first husband, all of them sons

:

5. Matthias, b. 1667; m. 1st, Henricka Claassen; 2dly, Sarah.

6. Erick, m. 1st, Catharine Claassen • 2dly, Brigitta.

7. Jonas lived after his father's death with his mother and older brother

Erick at Tacony at least until 1697. About this time he m. Frances,

"sole daughter and heir of Francis Walker," whose name occurs in

the list of " Tydables" residing at Taokanink in 1677. and who

owned a plantation at " Passayuncke" as well as one, indicated on

Holme's Map, situated on the west bank of Neshaminy Creek,

backes Creeke & wthin a halfe a myle of ye mouth thereof, oppositt ouer

against ye house & plantation of Pieter Rambo" (to whom Hans Keen sold

it, acknowledging the conveyance in a Court held at Upland, October 13,

1680), purchased by him of "Erik Mullica, one of the Intressants of Taoka-

nink." This ground, "bounded wth Pemibackes Creeke, & ye fast Land of

Taokanink," now belongs to the City of Philadelphia, and is occupied, at

present, by the " House of Correction." " PimypacJca" is spoken of by

Campanius as an " Indian settlement, very rich and fruitful."

* Although paper merely, not parchment, it is still in good condition. A
copy of the patent is preserved in the Office of the Secretary of State at

Albany; and one of both grant and deed, in the Surveyor-General's Office

at Harrisburg. The last of the land passed out of the ownership of the

family April 10, 1855 : a mortgage on a portion of it is alone retained.

t Margaret Fisck. his former wife, died November 14, 1697.

Yol. ii.—23
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rather more than a mile above its mouth, granted to him by a

patent from Governor Andros, dated March 25, 1G76. To the latter

tract, containing about 225 acres, " called Point Pleasant," in I3en-

salem Township, Bucks Co., Pa., (his wife's heritage.) Jonas Keen

had already removed by 1G99, and he resided on it, at least until

October, 1716, when he purchased a farm of 68 acres, in the same

Township, where he probably dwelt until his sale of it in February,

1739-40. This is the last notice of him met with : his wife was still

alive. He is described as "yeoman" in legal documents. He is

mentioned as contributing to the salary of the Swedish pastor

Andrew Rudman in 1G97, and as subscribing towards the erection,

in 1700, of the Lutheran Church at AVicacoa (his name also occur-

ring in the first list of pewholders), besides making a similar dona-

tion to the congregation in 1704. and aiding in rebuilding the

parsonage at Passyunk in 1717. A child of his was baptized by

Mr. Ptudman in 1699 (the name not given), but nothing more is

known of his posterity.

8. Peter, living with his mother and brother Erick at Tacony in 1697.

From the absence of his name from a deed signed by the rest of the

family, Jan. 25, 1706-7, it may be presumed that he had d. probably

unm. or s. p.

9. George, living Jan. 25, 1706-7, when he is described as "yeoman, of

the Province of Pennsylvania."

3. Jonas Kyn or Keen,2 son of Joran Kyn, was born in Xew
Sweden- and lived at Upland with his father. After his mar-

riage he occupied for a time his brother's land, on which he

built a "new Blocq house,"f but by 1677 abandoned this home
and followed Hans Keen to " Taokanink." We find no trace

of him then upon the west bank of the Delaware, but in 1680

his name occurs among those of " y
e freeholders & Inhabitants

within [the jurisdiction] of the Court at Burlington," entered

in a book of " Burlington Records" in the Office of the Secre-

tary of State at Trenton. The same book also records, and

gives a drawing of, the "ear-mark" by which he used to

designate his cattle. It likewise mentions, under date of a

* At least he was not born in Sweden, if we may trust the accuracy of

Charles Springer's list of the natives of that country who resided on the

Delaware in May, 1693.

f "Neare ye water syde of ye Creeke"—"higher up the Creek," says Dr.

Smith, "than the House of Defence." For the position of the latter see the

" Draft of the First Settled Part of Chester," before referred to, as well as

the note, by Edward Armstrong, Esq., to the " Record of Upland Court,"

p. 202.
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Court, September 6, 1680, from whom he claimed to hold his

land. " Revel's Book of Survey," preserved in the same

Office, contains surveys to him, August 4, 1682, of two "plan-

tations," one of a hundred acres, in the second tenth of Samuel

Jenings, "at or near a place called Fempissinck," conveyed to

him Xovember 2, of that year, and another, of five hundred

acres, adjoining it and to the south," within ye second Tenn

proprieties," purchased by him (jointly with two neighbours)

of Thomas Budd and Thomas Gardner, December 20, 1683.

The former of these was situated on the Delaware at the

mouth of Pompession Creek, extending up the southwest side

of the stream and down the river from that point, within the

limits of what was afterwards called Chester Township, Bur-

lington Co., and is now occupied by the village of Eiverton.

It was here, nearly opposite to the home of his brother Hans,

that Jonas Keen had his " dwelling-house." At a Court held

"at Peter Eambo's," May 17, 1675,* he was appointed by

Governor Andros Ensign of a Company of Militia, composed

of the residents of Upland and the vicinity, commanded by

Captain Hans Jurian of Calkoons Hook, distinguished for its

conversion, two years later, of the " House of Defence" into the

First Court-house of Upland. And Xovember 12, 1678, he

served on the first Jury which appears upon the Record of

Upland Court, "doubtless the first," says Dr. Smith, "that

was empanneled within the limits of Pennsylvania." He was

one of the larger contributors to the support of the pastor

Jacob Fabritius, August 10, 1684, and a member of the

Swedish Lutheran congregation at "Wicacoa, February 2,

1689. He probably had several children, since his household

is known to have comprised eight persons in May, 1693. From
the circumstance that only one of his offspring can be identified

with certainty, it seems likely that the rest died young, or,

being daughters, married, and thus lost the family name. He
died before March, 1702-3.

10. Maks, b. October, 1664; m. 1st, Magdalen Hoppman ; 2 dly, Elizabeth

Laican.

* See " Documents relating to the Colonial History of the State of New
York," vol. xii., p. 527.

(To be continued.)
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30
3

2

Jan
Oct,

Dec
Jan,

Nov. 11
Nov. 20
July 12
Nov. 15

Mar
Dec.
Nov
Aug. 20
July 20
Sept. 2

Aug. 6

Aug. 18
Mar. 17
July 10
Aug. 21
Sept. 8.

July 27
May 8

Nov. 22
Aug. 19
Aug. 18
April 4
Sept. 17
April 20
Jan. 5

Dec. 20
Nov. 19
Jan. 11
Aug. 1

Sept. 19
Oct. 4

Coates,

Coats,

1752.

1736.

1739.
1739-40.
1745.

1745.

1747.

1747.
1748-9.

1750.

1758.

1727.

1744.

1744.

1717.

1717.

1735-6. Coekrane,
1734. Codman,

Coffe,

Coffey,

Cole,

Cobourn,

Coburn,
Cockerill,

1752.

1734.

1729.

1744.

1744.

1746.

1746.

1748.

1759.

1749.

1757.

1757.

1733.

1729-30. "

1735. "

1736. "

1737. «

Colins,
a

Collar,

Collier,

Collings,
u

Collins,

Thomas, son of John.
Thomas, son of Daniel.

Mary, wife of Daniel.

Mary, dau. of John.
John, son of John.
Isaak. An orphan.

John, son of John, Jr.

Bentley.

Hannah, wife of Thomas, Jr.

Rebecca, dau. of "Warwick.
son of Warwick.

Edward.
James, son of Robert.

Jane, dau. of James. Poor.

Mary, wife of Samuel.
child of Samuel.

"William, son of Abigail.

Thomas, son of Anthony.
Mary, dau. of Lewis.

Elizabeth, dau. of Cornelius.

Patience.

Philip. Poor.
Walter.
Philip, son of Mary, widow.
Elinor, dau. of Jeremiah.
James.
Thomas.
Alice.

Ralph.
Edward.
Isabel.

John, son of Edward.
John, son of Edward.
Elizabeth, dau. of James.
Thomas, son of Edward.
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May 22
Aug. 22
Nov. 22
Mar. 15
Nov. 20
Oct. 6

Sept. 13
Nov. 24
June 20
June 20
Sept. 8.

Feb. 7

Sept. 6

Dec. 9

Sept. 8

Nov. 3

Sept. 19
April 18
Aug. 23
Nov. 28
Oct. 16
April 12
April 22
Nov. 6

June 2

Dec. 23

May 8

April 18
Sept. 30
Mar. 31

May 24
May 16
Dec. 4

May 14
Mar. 16
Feb. 5

Aug. 4
Nov. 11

Mar. 2

Aug. 31

July 20

Aug. 9

Sept. 25
Feb. 21

1739.

1739.

1739.

1742-

1744.

1746.

1747.

1750.

1752.

1758.

1734.

1753.

1749.

1750.

1747.

1728.

1731.

1748.

1754.

1712.

1759.

1749.

1741.

1747.

1731.

1736.

1748.

1756.

1758.

1729-

1752.

1758.

1727.

1741.

1729-
1722-

1752.

1756.

1759.

1716.

1721.

Collins,
u
u

3. "
u
u
u

Collohan,
Colman,
Colson,

Coltis,

Colton,

Combes,
Combs,

Comedar,
Comeron,
Comly,
Commons,
Condrel,

Conduit,
Connally,

Connely,
Connoly,

u

30. Connor.
a

u

Conoway,
Conrahy,

30. Conry,
3. Conway,
Conyer,
Conyers,

u

Cook,

1722.

1723.

1726-7.

William, son of Wm. Toor.
Anne, dau. of Edward.
Mary, dau. of Edward.
James, Jr.

Catherine, wife of William.
Sarah, wife of James.
William, son of Ralph.
John, son of Ralph.
Edward, son of Edward.
Mary.
Elizabeth, dau. of John.
Edward.

mother of Capt.

Thomas, son of Thomas.
Anne, dau. of Thomas.
John.
Henry, son of Henry.
Henry.
John, son of Thomas.
Nathaniel.

son of Abraham.
William.
The Reverend Archibald.
Thomas, son of Honora.
Anne.
William.
William, son of Patrick.

Bryan.
William.
Nicholas, son of John.
John.
Michael.
Margaret.
Bradford.
Margaret.
Martha.
Lydia, dau. of Joseph;

Middleton.
son of William.

Mary, wife of Joseph.

James, son of Bartho. and Re-

becca.

Francis, son of Richard and
Richard, Jr. [Mary.

Francis, son of Richard.
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Dec. 14,1730. Cook, Anne, dau. of Richard.

June 24, 1735. u Mary, wife of Richard.
May 2, 1739. (( George, son of John.
May 2, 1746. (6 Henry, son of Zebulon.

Jan. 28,1749-,SO " Priscilla, wife of Zebulon.
Feb. 4, 1756. u Richard.

May 11,1758. a Adam.
Sept. 12, 1759. Cooke, Ainsworth.
Sept. 8, 1720. Cookson, James.
Sept. 2, 1741. Cooley, Matthew.
April 13, 1748. u George, son of George.

Priscilla.July 7, 1758. u

July 29, 1745. Coombe, Henry, son of Thomas.
Nov. 3, 1757. u child of Thomas.
Jan. 4, 1719- 20. Coombs, Jane, dau. of Henry and Ann.
July 8, 1734. . u Henry, son of Henry.
Oct. 22,1750, u Rees, son of Thomas.
Sept. 27, 1717. Cooper, Thomas, son of Peter and
Oct. 25,1717. u Peter. [Mary.
Aug. 27, 1718. u Thomas, son of Peter and
Sept. 26, 1730. u Francis. [Mary.
Dec. 2, 1747. u

• Elizabeth, wife of Joseph.
Strangers' Ground.

June 21, 1749. Coorn, Elizabeth, dau. of William.
Nov. 11, 1757. Cope, Mary, dau. of Nathaniel.

May 18,1759. u "William, son of Nathan.
Nov. 28, 1715. Corbett, William.
Oct. 18, 1716. u Joseph.

Aug. 3, 1749. Corn, Nicholas, son of William.
Aug. 2, 1757. Cornisb, Robert.

June 13, 1759. a William, son of Robert.

May 4, 1755. Cornwall, James.
Nov. 10, 1754. Corporal, John.

June 17, 1756. Corrin, Isaac.

Jan. 2, 1757. u Thomas.
Nov. 16, 1756. Corrins, dau. of Jeremiah.
April 4,1731. Cosins, Anne, dau. of George.

Aug. 22, 1741. Cotes, Daniel.

Aug. 12, 1758. Cotton, William, son of John.

June 16, 1731. Couch, Esther.

Nov. 29, 1731. u Sarah, dau. of Robert.

April 12, 1738. u Samuel, son of William.

Nov. 27, 1739. u Margaret, wife of William.

Nov. 29, 1757. u Rebecca, dau. of Daniel.

July 11, 1758. it Robert.
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Aug. 25, 1759.

May 18, 1717.

Couch,
Couer,

Oct. 14, 1716. Cousins,

May 22,1744.
July 12, 1759. Cowman,
July 29, 1759.

Aug. 2,1713. Cox,

Nov. 9, 1736. u

May 8, 1740. «

Aug. 8, 1745. u

Mar. 29, 1746- 7. "

Nov. 13, 1747. a

Nov. 21, 1748. u

April 3, 1749. a

Nov. 6, 1749. u

April 13, 1750. ((

July 17, 1750. it

Aug. 24, 1750. a

Nov. 17, 1750. ti

April 14, 1752. a

May 24, 1759. u

Nov. 27, 1728. Coxe,
July 31, 1757. u

Sept. 29, 1740. Coyle,
Sept. 7, 1747. a

Dec. 10,1742. Cozens,
June 4, 1759. Craddock,
Feb. 23, 1725-'5. Craiibrd,

June 26, 1712. Craft,

Mar. 17, 1728-9. Crafts,

Sept. 9, 1756. u

Sept. 2, 1741. Craig,

Dec. 29, 1732. Craigg,
Nov. 26, 1758. Cramer,
Aug. 27, 1713. Cramton,
April 7, 1722. Crane,
July 1, 1732. u

Nov. 12, 1732. u

Aug. 24, 1733. u

May 31,1748. Cranfield,
Sept. 10, 1734. Crap,
Sept. 6, 1734. Crapp,
Mar. 15,1730-1. Cratho,

Margaret, dau. of Daniel.

Charley, son of Cornelius and
Abigail.

Elizabeth, dau. of Elizabeth.

William, son of Wm,
Mary, wife of Attwood.
"William, son of Attwood.
Theodosia, dau. of Robert and

Sarah.

dau. of William.
Thomas, son of Mary.
William.
Benjamin.
Elizabeth, dau. of Jane.

Samuel.
John.
Elizabeth, dau.. of John.
Martha, dau. of John.
Samuel.
Rebeccah.
Samuel.
John.
William.
Samuel. Buried in Jersey.

Elizabeth, dau. of William.
Margaret, wife of Michael.

Peter, son of Seth.

Ann. Widow. Poor.

William.
Mary, dau. ofJames and Mary.
Thomas.
James.

wife of Henry.
Thomas. Mariner.
Henry.
Richard.
Rychard, wife ofFrances, (sic.)

Samuel.
Robert.
Elinor.

Mary, wife of Robert.

Patrick.

John.
Mary, dau. of John.
John, son of John.

(To be continued.)
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APRIL A3TD MAY MEETINGS OF THE HISTORICAL
SOCIETY OF PEXXSYLVAMA.

A meeting of the Society was held on the 8th of April, 1878, the Presi-

dent (Mr. Wallace) in the chair.

Mr. Solomon W. Roberts, Civil Engineer, read a paper entitled " Remi-

niscence of the first Railroad over the Allegheny Mountains," in the con-

struction of which work Mr. Roberts was engaged.

On motion of Mr. Du Barry the thanks of the Society were given to him

for his interesting paper.

The President anuounced the names of the following persons as the tellers

at the election of officers on the 6th of May next : Messrs. J. P. Nicholson,

Charles Roberts, Charles P. Keith, R. Patterson Robin3, W. J. Buck,

Charles R. Hildeburn; any two to act, and in the absence of all of them,

Messrs. Frederick D. Stone and Spencer Bonsall.

The annual meeting of the Society was held pursuant to public notice, on

the evening of Monday, May 6th, Vice-President Biddle in the chair.

Mr. Morris, President of the Council, read the annual report of that body.

Mr. William M. Darlington, of Pittsburg, a Vice-President of the Society,

read an address upon " Early Explorations in the Middle Colonies westward

towards the Ohio River."

On motion the thanks of the Society were unanimously given to Mr.
Darlington for the address, and a copy of the same requested for preserva-

tion in the archives.

Mr. F. D. Stone, on behalf of the tellers appointed to take the votes for

officers of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, reported the following

gentlemen unanimously elected :

—

President. Corresponding Secretary. Treasurer.
John William Wallace. John W. Jordan. J. Edward Carpenter.

Vice-Presidents. Council.

William M. Darlington. Richard L. Nicholson,

John Jordan, Jr. Edwin T. Eisenbrey.

Philip Sing Phisic Connor.

Trustee of the Publication and Binding Fund.
Fairman Rogers.

A special meeting was held on the evening of May 28th, Vice-President

Kum in the chair.

The Rev. William G. Andrews, of New Haven, Conn., delivered an
address entitled " The Moravians in the Housatonic Valley."

On motion the thanks of the Society were unanimously given to Mr.

Andrews, and a copy of the discourse requested for preservation.
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NOTES AtfD QUERIES.

Notes.

Early Swedish Records—Extracts from Parish Records of Gloria
Dei Church, Philadelphia.— Paper in the handwriting of the Rev.
Nicholas Collin, D.D.

Claes Johanson died December, 1723, above 60, probably 65 years old.

Nils Laican died December, 1723. probably above 60 years old.

Guuuar Rambo died January, 1724, 75 years old. (Of Pennypack.)
Peter Rambo, vestryman (kyrkorad), died December, 1729, 77 years of

age.

Walborg Janson (Shaminy) died April. 1732, aged about 68 or 70 years.

Nils Johnson died January, 1735, aged 79 years and 8 months.
Old widow Cock (Elizabeth, Eric's widow, from Jersey) died April, 1735;

must have been 80 years old or more. (Had a son Peter, 25 or 26 years of

age in 1700, who was drowned near Matson, and buried in Mr. Rudman's
time.)

Gertru Stille, widow of Johan, died January, 1744, 79 or 80 years of age.

Morten Garret (Sculkil) died January, 1751, aged 75 years.

Peter Cock (Passajuug) died January, 1751, aged 63 years.

Hance Lycon (Pennipack) died September, 1751, above 83 years old.

James Lacony (Senamensing) died May, 1752, aged 73 years.

Andrew Giurgen (Kalkonhuk) died January, 1753, aged 65 years.

John Rambo (Kensington) died July, 1753, aged 60 years.

Susana Keen (Pennipack) died November, 1753, aged 65 years. [Evi-

dently taken like the rest of these statements from the record of burials : to

be corrected, from the Rev. Andrew Rudman's List of the Congregation in

1697-8, to 59 years.]

Andrew Rambo (Passajung) died November, 1753, aged 64 years.

Brigitta Gerts (Skulkil) died December, 1753, aged 75 years.

Andrew Rambo (Pennypack) died February, 1755, aged 64 years.

Margaret Morton (Amasland) died February, 1755, aged 76 years.

Alumkie Scute (probably Armgot, widow of old Scute, from Sculkil) died

March, 1755, aged 91 years.

Hans Gales (Amasland) died March, 1751. aged 59 years.

Gustavus Hesselius died May. 1755. aged 73 years.

Andrew Rambo (Mazong) died July, 1755, aged 71 years.

Mary Hughs died March, 1757, aged 74 years.

Andrew Justis died June, 1756. ajred 66 years.

Elizabeth Hill (wife of Edward Hill) die'd January, 1758. aged 82 years.

Cathrine Rambo (widow of Andrew, from Pennypack) died February,

1758, aged 70 years.

Elizabeth Longaker (widow of Andrew, of Kalk-huk), died February,

1758, aged 78 years.

John Keen (Pennypack) died February. 1758, aged 63 years.

Sven Jokum died August, 1758, aged (if he be the one mentioned by Mr.
Eudman) 73 years.

Stephen Evans died October, 1758, asred 67 years.

Anders Haman, born in Sweden, December,1626, buried at Chester (Up-

land) September, 1700, about. 74 years of age.
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Subscription List.—We, the undersigned churchwardens' of the Wieacoa
congregation, salute our brethren, and notify them that the Rev. Mr. Jacob
Eabritius has now accomplished his official service promised for a year ; and,

therefore, make a friendly request to each individual by our agent, Jacob
Yongh, that they discharge their just debts to him without refusal, so

that we may not be obliged to employ other means, and incur useless ex-

penses, which must fall on those who occasion them. We are also solicitous

to procure a further coutinuance of his service; and, therefore, request all

who are desirous of this to subscribe their voluntary contributions for his

support, respectively, with their names or marks. Given at Wickakau on

the 10th of August, 1684.

Swen Swensson, Guilders 25 John Mattson, Guilders 15

Capt. Lorentz Cock, u 35 And. Weehler, « 20

Anders Bengtsson, << 25 John Cock, u 25
Otto ErnestCock, " 25 Petter Cock, Sr.,

li 20
Petter Rambo, Jr.,

u 25 Mats Holsteen, tt 20
Caspar Fisk, ft 25 Gabr. Cock, ti 25
Petter Nilsson Laij- And. Rambo, tl 25

kan, a 30 Niells Jonason, a 20
Gunnar Rambo, a 30 And. Persson, tt 16
Petter Yochem, tt 30 Jonas Nilsson, 2 bushels of wheat
Olle Nillson Jerst- John Skute, Guilders 25

berg, ti 25 Petter Dahlboe, a 20
Lasse Bonde, ti "20 Mons Jonsson, tt 12

Niels Jestenberg, a 20 And. Jonsson, a 12

Erick Jestenberg, a 15 Petter Cock, Jr.,
a 12

Christian Classon^ " 20 Bengt Bengtson, n 12
Herman Enock, a 25 John Jonsson,

Willamke K'uhn, M 20 Mons Jostasson, u 12
Capt. Hans Mona- Staffan Jonsson a 12

son, M 25 Swen Bonde, a 12
Jonas Kuijhn, U 25 Josta Jostsson, a 16
Fredrick Konig, K 25 John Polsson,

Erick Mollock, it 20 Elias Tay, tt 12
Matthias Kuijhn,2 U 15 John Tanck, tt 20
Mons Cock, it 25 Nils Laykan, it 15
Erick Cock, tt 30 Brita Jostes, 2 bushel s of wheat
Michaell Laykan, it 25 And. Bonde, Guilders 25
Olle Swensson, " 20 Claes Jansson, " 12
Anders Swensson, tt 25 John Claesson, tt 12
John Stille, a 20

Total Guilders 1077, and 4 bushels of wheat.

These 1077 guilders, at the rate of 2 guilders for a shilling, and 4 busheh
of wheat, at a half-crown, made, in the money of this country, 27 pounds 8
shillings and 6 pence. This salary was at that time pretty good, with aid

of perquisites for baptisms, etc.. which Mr. Fabritius received, not only here,

but in the lower parish after the death of Mr. Lock, and in Maryland. (Note
by the Rev. Andrew Kudman.)

Corrections.—In Mr. Rudman's list of his congregation, printed among
the Notes in the last number of the Magazine, page 225, 24th line from the

1 [The first six subscribers, it is presumed. These were the persons chosen
"Trustees" fo? the Church, February 2, 1689.]

* [At this time only seventeen years of age. Others, who contributed
smaller sums, were not yet heads of families.]
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foot, for " Pacquessung" read Pocquessung; 13th line from the foot omit
"23 ys."

;
page 226, line 25, for " Anngott" read Armgott; 4th line from

the loot, omit " [or hisj"; page 227. line 30, for "Ross"' read Boos; page

228, line 18, for "Anan" read A rian; 15th line from the foot, for "Feb.
95" read Feb. 25. G. B. Keen.

Indian Nomenclature.—In the Pennsylvania Chronicle, April 18, 1768,

is an article on the Pyramids in Tioga County, in which the county is spelled

Tiaogo; and the Indian name given for "Standing Stones" is Assenuissing.

While many of the tributaries of the Susque/m?ma seem to be of the

same dialect, as Tobvhanna, Tunkkanna. Lackawanna, and others, we
find in the same stream the Chemung, the Kawanishomwgr, the Fopemetang,

the Mahoning, and on up within the forks, the hjcoming, the Smnaa:aAo-
ning, and others.

It has seemed to me that all the names ending in "ng" could be traced to

a common family, dialect, or tribe ; and those ending in '• na," "sa," or "a"
to some other system of nomenclature. There are a few names not at pre-

sent resolvable into any of the above, but they are all now undergoing exami-

nation, and I hope some day to give you a tolerably complete list of the

Indian names of streams, places, and persons within the forks of the Susque-

hanna. John G. Freeze.

Bloomsburg, May, 1873.

Loss of the Ship Morris.—A correspondent sends us the following ex-

tract from a letter of Mrs. Robert Morris to her mother, mentioning the loss

of the ship Morris, on which Armand. Marquis de la Rouerie came to Ame-
rica. (See Penn. Mag. Vol. II. p. 4.) The letter is dated April 14, 1777.
" There are now three men-of-war in our bay, which looks as if they inclined

this way. Mr. Morris has met with a great loss, as well as the Continent,

by them, the ship Morris with a most valuable cargo of arms, ammunition,
and dry goods. She had provided herself with guns, to keep off any common
attack, but was most unfortunately beset by three, the Roebuck, one of them.

at our capes. She defended herself bravely as long as it was possible, and
then the captain run her on shore, and very bravely blew her up, and, poor
fellow, perished himself in his over anxiety to do it effectually."

Gen. Woodford.—From the Penna. Packet of Dec. 16, 1780, we take the

following: We are sorry to announce to the public that a paragraph which
appeared in a New York paper a few days ago, mentioning the death of the

brave and worthy General Woodford turns out to be but too true. He de-

parted from this city in January last, at the head of a number of Virginia

troops, and by persevering and rapid marches in that uncommonly cold and
inclement season, so far accomplished his design as to get into Charlestown
with the detachment under his command a few days before that place was
closely invested. The fatigues of the siege, in which he bore a very active

part, together with the mortification of becoming a prisoner, and the rigorou3

confinement he suffered, proved too much for his delicate constitution. In

the last decline of his health, he was removed from Charlestown to New
York, where he in a short time paid the debt of nature, and fell a cheerful

sacrifice to his country's glorious cause.

Welsh Settlers of Pencader, Delaware.—The Rev. Rees C. Evan3.

M. A., of Gloucester, N. J., has translated for us two articles, contributed

by him to " Y. Wasg." of Nov. 3d and 10th, 1877, regarding the Welsh
settlers of Pencader. The two contributions are here given as one.

We find from registers in this county that many Welsh people came to
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Philadelphia in the rear 1701, and settled first at Pennypack, near Phila-

delphia, Pennsylvania. Several left Pennypack and settled in the Great
Valley, Chester County, Pennsylvania, in which place they built a church,

which was called " Trediffryn Meeting House." At the time of writing this,

it is called " The Great Valley Church." In the year 1703, a Welsh Colony
went thence to land called " The Welsh Tract," in the State of Delaware.
At present it is called Glascow. It lies between Delaware City and Newark,
and is about ten miles distant from Wilmington. Delaware. The first Welsh
settlers received from Penn. the proprietary, 30.000 acres of land. On this

they began to build a church, and in the year 1706 they finished the building

in which they worshipped God. The first minister of the " little flock" was
the Rev. David Evans, a native of Wales. Mr. Evans not having been an
ordained minister in Wales, and not possessing the required qualifications

for the ministry, it was necessary for him to go to Yale College. There,
after laborious study, he graduated in the years 1713-14. He returned to

preach to the churches of Pencader and Tredyffryn. On account of some
difference of opinion between him and a Samuel James, he resigned his office

at Pencader, but continued to engage in his ministerial duties at the church
at Tredyffryn. In this latter church he remained twenty years, when he left

to officiate in New Jersey, where he remained until his death in 1750. It is

reported of him that he was a very learned man. and possessed high attain-

ments. During his ministerial labors he published a book, entitled " Law
and Gospel," showing the fall of man and his restoration by the gospel. We
find that the successor of Rev. David Evans in Pencader, was Rev. Thomas
Evans, the son of Nathanael Evans, and a relative of the former minister.

He came to this country from Carmarthenshire, and settled in Pencader in

1720. After preaching on trial, he was ordained to the work of the ministry

in the year 1721, and continued to labor there until his death, which took
place in 1742. A few months ago, I was astonished to see the epitaph in

the Welsh language, of Rev. Thomas Evans, iu Pencader Churchyard. Mr.
Evans was remarkable for his zeal in the cause of Education. In Pencader
he established an academy. One of his scholars was the late Abel Morgan,
who became a Baptist minister in New Jersey; and another was one of the

teachers of Mr. Davies, President of Princeton College. Mr. Evans had a
valuable library. His books are, without doubt, scattered here and there.

The Church in that early period was not left without experiencing the cold

winds of religious contention. In the times of Rev. George Whitefield. there

was much trouble, and when Mr. Evans was about to " sleep in Jesus,"

many united with the new body called the " New Light."

Some Welsh, who at that time (1742) spoke the Welsh language, built a
church at Pigeon's Run, Red Lion Hundred, Delaware. Unhappily, this

building was burnt down, and the congregation was scattered between New-
castle and St. George's. To this day, the burial grounds are to be seen, and
the epitaphs are still legible.

Oh. how forcibly came to busy memory a sweet verse whilst walking near
the graves of my kindred, and beneath the willows that overshadowed their

resting places in Pigeon's Run and Pencader ! (Here follows a verse which
cannot well be rendered into English rhyme without impairing the sweetuess

of the original.)

We will now give to the readers of " the Press" (Y. Wasg) an account
of the Welsh ministers of Pencader, and other places in the State of Dela-

ware, from the year 1773 to the present century. Notwithstanding the

religious contentions that took place in the times of Whitefield, and the

scattering of many of the flock, the Rev. Timothy Gryffydd, the third

minister of Pencader Church, extended his duties to a place called Drawyers
and Tredyffryn. In the last mentioned place he preached in the Welsh
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language. When the country was threatened with the attacks of the Indians,

Mr. Gryffydd was appointed commander of* the military companies of the

State of Delaware. After diligently preaching the word of God, and serving

his country faithfully, this soldier was called to his heavenly home, to receive

his reward, in 1754, having ministered for twelve years. Valuable aid was
rendered Rev. Mr. Gryffydd by an excellent scholar and minister named
McDonald, who was the head master of a school established by John Penn.
This school (now Newark College) is situated half way between Philadelphia

and Baltimore, is at present open, and has many students.

The next period that left its severe impress upon the "Welsh settlers in

these parts, as well as upon the whole country at large, was the Revolu-
tionary war.

On the 22d of May, 1776, Rev. Samuel Eakin was the Minister. He was
the first minister who preached in English in Pencader. From that time to

the present, the services have been in the English tongue ; though for the

space of twenty years after, Welsh preaching was kept up among the Baptists.

The services of religion have been observed in Pencader for nearly 170
years, and conducted by eighteen ministers.

The following are their names : Dafydd Evans, Thomas Evans, Timothy
Gryffydd, Elihu Spencer, A. McDonald, Samuel Eakin, Thomas Smith,
William Chealy, John Burton, John Collins, Samuel Bell, Hugh Hammill,
James Mclntyre, H. S. Howell, T. B. Jervis, George Foote, Edward Webb,
and Jason Rogers.
Now, concerning the church buildings in Pencader

:

The first church was built by the first Welsh settlers in 1706. It stood
near where the sexton's house is at present, and a little to the right of the

burial ground. It was an unpretending wooden building, small when
compared with the present one, and was removed to a place on which Mr.
John Thornton now resides.

The second church building was erected by the Welsh in Pencader in the
year 1782, on the spot where the present church stands. It was composed
of better material than the first, the walls and floor being made of bricks.

The bricks were burnt upon a farm now occupied by David Brainerd Faris.

This church was built by Jacob Faris, William Whann, Peter Williams,
Joseph Thomas, and others. The church had no facilities for warming. The
efforts made by the people showed their love to Christ. They rode on horse-

back several mile3 to. hear the word of Life spoken, when sometimes the

snow would be three, and even four feet in depth.
The third church, the present one, is large and commodious. In it worship

the inhabitants of Pencader, who possess much of the 30,000 acres of land
owned by the early Welsh settlers.

General John Philip De Haas.—The following matter is little more
than a collection of " Notes" made at different times and places, and they
are here presented with the Tiope that they may be fitted in with those
from other sources, and thus assist the future biographer. Much of the

data here given is new, and is derived from original and uupubiished letters

and papers which have lately fallen under the observation of the writer.

Drake, in his " American Biography," says, " De Haas was born in Hol-
land about 1735, and came to America with his father in 1750, aud settled

in Lancaster County, Pa." He did live in the town of Lebanon, Pa., which,

nntil 1813, was in Lancaster County, and was then made the county seat of

a new county, called Lebanon, formed out of portions of the old counties

of Lancaster and Berks.

The subject of this sketch first appears in military life a3 an Ensign in the
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1st Batt. Fa. Provincial Troops. 1 John Armstrong, Colonel commanding.
His service seems continuous and his promotion steady. He was Kusign,
January 3, 1758; Adjutant. April 3, 1T5S ; Captain, April 28, 1760: and
Major, June 9, 176-1—serving uuder Colouels Armstrong, Jas. Burd, and
Henry Bouquet.
Judging merely from the date of service and the commanders under whom

he acted, I>e Haas very probably took part in the expedition of General
Forbes against Fort Duquesne, in September, 1758 ; and he certainly was
with General Bouquet while on his march to the relief of Fort Pitt, in

August, 1763, for he obtained lands from the Proprietors for that very ser-

vice. In June, 1764. he was stationed nearer home, being then in command
at "Fort Henry," 2 an importaut post, guarding a pass through the Kittocir

tinny Hills. This fort was on the east side of the Susquehanna River, near

where the Swatara Creek passes through the " Hills," in what is now Bethel
Town, Berks County, and was one of the chain of forts protecting the fron-

tiers of Lancaster. Berks, and Northampton Counties.

From 1765 to 1775 Be Haas appears to have led a peaceful life in

"Lebauon town," signing documents as " one of his majesty's justices of the

peace for y
e county of Lancaster," and engaged in some business connected

with the iron interest of that region, for among the papers mentioned are

orders for " bar iron" by the ton from the neighboring forge at " Speed-
well," then owned by Peter and Curtis Grubb.
He evidently was among the first of those to answer the call to arms in

1775, and in December of that year he returned from Canada, a survivor of

the ill-starred expedition of Arnold and Montgomery.
From an autograph letter, dated Lebanon, January 6, 1776, we learn that

he was busily engaged in recruiting the 1st Pennsylvania Battalion, of

which he was commissioned colonel, January 22, 1776. In this letter he tells

ns that the gunsmiths of Lebanon are at work upon his muskets; but they
complain that, though twice sent for, they cannot obtain the gun-barrels

needed from Lancaster. Returning to Canada with his command early in

1776, he took part in the campaign under General Sullivan.

On August 19, 1776, 3 Colonel De Haas was a member of a court-martial,

held at Ticonderoga, on Colonel Moses Hazen, De Haas being here again
nnder Arnold. At Long Island he appears among the Pennsylvania troop3
nnder General Lord Stirling, and did good service side by side with the
brave Samuel John Atlee, who, like De Haas, was from Lancaster Countv.
On February 21, 1777, Congress commissioned De Haas a brigadier-

general, but his movements after and immediately before this date are
uncertain.

A deposition of General De Haas, made in August, 1779, throws some
light upon his whereabouts in 1777, and from it we glean the following.

He says: On his return from Canada, in December, 1775, he recommended
to the commander-in-chief the establishment of depots in different sections of
the country for the purpose of securing and storing of beef, etc., for the
armies. In February, 1777, De Haas came back to Lebanon upon this ser-

vice, bringing with him " a Lieut., 2 Sergt's, a Drum & Fife, and 40 Rank
and file," and " bought, killed, and salted large quantity of horn Cattle."
The occasion of the trial—of which this deposition forms a part—was a
charge of "illegal imprisonment," made by one John Patton, of Lebanon,
against De Haas. It seems the general had seized this man's dwelling as

a storehouse for army beef, and naturally Patton and his wife were indig-

nant and spoke their minds very freely to the neighbors. De Haas finally

1 Penna. Archives, New Series, vol. ii.
a Called by the Indians Tolheo. See Moravian Memorials, p. 80.
* Loading's "Amer. Hist. Record," vol. iii. p. 445.
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arrested Patton and put him in irons, " to save him from the soldiers." says

the general ; but the suspicion is a very strong one. from the evidence, that
personal motives of revenge had quite as much to do with it, especially as

the general testifies that Patton called him " a d bullock driver gen-

eral," and further, " d those who made him to a general." The general's

testimony is a curious piece of Dutch-English, unfortunately too loug for

insertion here.

In other legal papers among the MSS. mentioned is the testimony of a

tenant of De Haas, in a suit for an arrearage of rent, which fixes the date

of the removal of the general from Lebanon to the city of Philadelphia in

these words: "Mr. John Philip De Haas, late of Lebanon, removed to Phil-

adelphia in the month of Oct., 1779, Sec."

In several letters, in very bad English and worse chirography. De Haa3
complains bitterly of the gout "in hands and feet;" and on May 10, 17^3,

Dr. George Glentworth, of Philadelphia, certifies to the Supreme Court, in

session at Lancaster, that from this cause the general is unable to leave his

room to attend Court.

General John Philip De Haas 1

died in Philadelphia on June 3. 1786—the

date being established by a direct reference to the event in a letter of his

son, John Philip De Haas, to his attorney. Jasper Yeates, of Lancaster, and
by a subpoena issued by the Court to "Lienor and John Philip De Haas,
executors of the late John Philip De Haas," dated September 8, 1786.

The similarity of names of father and son has been a cause of trouble with
biographers—one being mistaken for the other. This son was an Ensign
during the Revolution in his father's regiment, and in the early part of the

present century left Philadelphia and settled upon land on the west branch
of the Susquehanna, granted to his father—then Major De Haas—by the

Proprietors, Thomas and Richard Penn. in 1768 : this land being a portion

of the 24,000 acres taken up by the officers of Colonel Bouquet's command.
The letters of the general and his son are all sealed with an imposing

"coat of arms," which maybe important in proving his ancestry. Unfor-

tunately none of the impressions are perfect. All that can be made out is

the crest, which is " Between two wings displayed, a stag springing," and
at the bottom of the shield, "a stag courant."

September, 1878.
"

D. McN. Stauffer.

Inscriptions in St. Peter's Church-yard, Philadelphia.—"We are

happy to inform our readers that a volume will shortly be issued containing

the inscriptions from the stones in the yard of St. Peter's Church in this

city. The manuscript was prepared several years ago by the Rev. William
White Bronson. Mr. Charles R. Hildeburn is superintending the passage of

the volume* through the press, and has added many valuable notes to the

work of the reverend compiler. Two-thirds of the book has been printed.

It will contain upwards of 600 pages, and will be uuiform in style with
Clark's Inscriptions in Christ Church-yard, Phila. The edition will be les3

than two hundred and fifty copies, and the price $5.

Battle of Monmouth.—The letter of Alexander Hamilton describing the

battle of Monmouth, published in the last number of the Magazine, was
printed from the original, addressed to Mr. Boudinot, in the possession of

the Historical Society of Pennsylvania. It was given to the readers under
the impression that it had never before appeared in print, and it was not

until the number was ready for delivery that the editor was aware that the

letter was included in the Lee Papers, collected by Dr. George H. Moore,

1 The name does not appear in White's Directory for 1785.
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and published by the N. Y. Historical Society. To that society therefore

belongs the credit of having first given this interesting document to the

public; an acknowledgment which is cheerfully made.

Professor Allen's Chess Library.—We take the following from the

Librarian : "A catalogue of the Chess Collection of the late Professor

George Allen, of the University, has been prepared by his executors. Pro-

fessors F. A. Jackson and G. B. Keen. The library is the finest on the

subject in America, and ranks with the three or four best similar ones in

Europe. It comprises about a thousand printed volumes in more than a

dozen languages, besides two hundred and fifty autograph letters, and fifty

engravings and photographs. All departments of Chess lore are represented

in it : many of the works are of the greatest rarity, some of them not in-

cluded in any other private collection, some altogether unique. Three books
as valuable as any, are the copy of Damiano, in the first edition of 1512, Ruy
Lopez of 1561, and the Italian Carrera. There are copies of Tarsia, Gianutio,

Selenus, Salvio, Lolli, Ponziani, Cozio, and all ancient and modern classics

of the game. There are forty-six copies of Philidor, only two or three of

them duplicates, as well as nineteen reproductions of his treatise under other

names. The collections of works relating to Chess Problems, the Knight's

Leap, and the Automaton Chess Player, are remarkably copious, the Chess
Journals extremely numerous, and the Belles-Lettres of the subject rich

beyond all hope of rivalry. The bindings of the books have been described

with great precision by Colonel John P. Nicholson, of the well-knowu firm

of Pawson & Nicholson, Philadelphia, and correspond in solidity and beauty
with the volumes they protect." We understand that efforts are being made
to secure this collection for one of the libraries of this city, an end which we
earnestly hope our liberal citizens will see is accomplished. The mere
bringing together of such a number of volumes on a special subject is the

result of an expenditure of time and money which few, unacquainted with

library management, can appreciate, and its separation would destroy what
should be an enduring monument to a citizen of whom Philadelphia may
well be proud.

The American Printer.—A Manual of Typography, containing practical

directions for managing all departments of a printing office, etc., by Thomas
McKellar, in twelve years has run through eleven large editions. It re-

quires, for the practical man, no eulogy by the reviewer. We therefore

need not commend Mr. McKellar's book to printers by profession. First

published in 18G6, and containing complete instructions for apprentices, with

several useful tables and numerous schemes for imposing forms in every
variety, it is as familiar as household words in every printing office of the

United States. We may speak of it, however, as very useful to authors who
write for the press ; as interesting to every one who desires information as to

life prevailing in the little world of the printing house, and as entertaining

to almost any class of intelligent readers. Years ago we used to read Mr.
McKellar's poetry with pleasure. We are now surprised to see with what
facility he devotes himself to matters far enough removed from the muses.

Coming from the office of a professional letter-founder, we need not say

that the type of this volume has virgin freshness, the ink perfection of color,

and that the volume generally is rich with original designs. In parts we
detect, as we fancy, the experienced eye of Mr. Comly, an important person

in the foundry, now representing the ancient house of Binney & Roualdson
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(Queries.

Foreman—Herman—How

—

Weston—Keen— Rambo—Gfstafson.—la

it known whether George Foreman, of Marcus Hook, afterwards Chichester,

on the river Delaware, Pa., left descendants by his wife Eleanor, daughter of
James and Ann (Keen) Sandelauds ? They were married about 1090, and
were both living in 1693. Similar information desired with regard to Ephraim
Augustine Herman, of Cecil County, Maryland, son of Casparus and Anna
(Keyniers) Hermans, and grandson of Augustyn Hermans, of Bohemia
Manor, and his wife Jannetje, daughter of Casper and Judith Varleth, uf

New Netherland. who married, about 1712. Isabella, daughter of Maurice
and Mary (Sandelands) Trent, of Pennsylvania. As well as in the case of

John How, a merchant of New Castle, on the Delaware, in 172-4. and his

wife Eleanor, sister of Isabella (Trent) Herman. And in that of Thomas
Weston, who was married at St. Paul's Church, Chester, Dec. 21. 1713, to

Eebeckah, daughter of Peter and Ann (Keen) Baynton. Who married (by

1714) Christina, daughter of Matthias and Henrietta (Claassen) Keen, who
was born in Oxford Tp., Philadelphia Co., in 1694, and died, leaving issue,

about 1754? Was it George Shoemaker, of Cheltenham Tp.. whose first

wife was Sarah, daughter of Richard Wain, of Fair Hill ? Of what famiiy

was Susan Kean, who married Anthony Burton, of Bristol, Pa., in 1725 ?

What is known of the descendants of Mans. Mounce. or Moses Keen, who
died at Pilesgrove, in West New Jersey, June 3, 1770. aged 105 years?
Was one of his daughters Christine Keen, who married, Dec. 2. 1724, Peter

Rambo, son of John Rambo, of West New Jersey, by his wife Brigitta,

daughter of Peter Cox? Was another Annika Keen, who married, Dec. 7,

1726, Gustaf Gustafson, of West New Jersey? K.

Bowles.—Can any of your readers give me any information as to who
were " Mrs. Margaret Bowles" (1738), and " Mr. Humphrey Bowles" (

17G7),

of New Jersey ? In the preface (p. xxi.) to "An. Anal. Ind. to the Col. Doc.

of New Jersey," published by the New Jersey Historical Society in 1653,

reference is made to each of these persons as having in their respective pos-

sessions certain public records of the Colony. 1 want the information as an

aid in my investigations relative to Sarah Bowles, who became the wife of

Richard Nixon Jan. 7, 1727-28 (0. S.). I have reason to believe that she

was of New Jersey, as probably Richard Nixon was himself.

Phila. May 15, 1878. Charles Henry Hart.

Octorara.—Can any of the readers of the Pennsylvania Magazine give

me the meaning of the Indian name Octorara ?

Maj. Latour.—A correspondent in New Orleans sends us the following

queries regarding Maj Latour. Where educated ? Whether he held com-

mission in the French army ? If so, what grade ? When did he leave France ?

When did he arrive in St." Domingo, and in what capacity did he go there?

When did he leave St. Domingo ? Did he go thence to Havana ? or dni he

come at once to the United States? How employed in civil life in Louis-

iana ? Where did he go after the battle of N. O*. ? E- A. P.

Colonel John Butler.—Was Colonel John Butler, who commanded the

British forces at Wyoming, July 3, 1778, a native of New England ? If so,

where was he born ? Or was he a native of Old England ? B. C. 3.

Vol. ii.—24
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Paris, Hendron, Tillinghast.—Can any of the readers of the Pennsyl-
vania Magazine give any information regarding a family by the name of

Paris, who came to Philadelphia from Dublin, Ireland, about the year 1700,

or earlier? Mary Paris married for her first husband a man by the name
of Hendrcn, and secondly Joseph Tillinghast, of Providence. R. I. The only

data I have in connection with her is that of the birth of her third child by
the second marriage—Nicholas Tillinghast. May 26, 1726—and the fact

that she was brought from Dublin while very young. E. E. D.

Bruff.—Major James Bruff, of the Revolutionary Army, was command-
ant at Fort Mifflin, near Philadelphia, in 1804. Any information regarding

him or his family, will be thankfully received by Charles Bruff.
40 Portland Aveuue, Brooklyn, N. Y.

General Smallwood.—Can any of the readers of the Pennsylvania
Magazine furnish the undersigned with a list of the children of Governor
Smallwood, of Maryland, and also refer him to some authentic account of

General Sniallwood's life and public services 2 R. P. Robins.

Edward Whalley, the Regicide (vol. i. 55, 230, 359 ; vol. ii. 115, 234).

—

I have read with interest the communication of Mr. Littledale in the last

number of the Magazine, but I cannot' see that he proves that I am " mis-

taken in supposing that the will of Edward Wale was made by the regi-

cide," nor that his reports of the Chancery Court proceedings materially

affect the Maryland theory. "While any communication in No. 1 of vol. i.

was purely tentative (and as such has been successful in calling out informa-

tion which I should otherwise have been unable to obtain), I am unwilling

to abandon the position I there took, until I am convinced by proof absolute

that Edward Whalley of Maryland was other than tradition has always
assumed him to be. While I am perfectly willing then to acknowledge any
such evidence when it comes, I cannot without it adopt Mr. Littledale's view
of the case as it now stands.

In the first place. Mr. Littledale assumes Edward Wale (as signed in the

will) to be Edward IT"all. Without proof this cannot be accepted, for not only

by tradition, but also in public documents, this man. his sons, and his descen-

dants have been called Whalley, and so do these descendants still call them-
selves. Since the last number of the Magazine appeared. I have received

letters from a branch of the family descended from John Whaley, the eldest

son, whose family removed to South Carolina as early as 1693 (now repre-

sented by William Whaley, Esq.. of Charleston. S.C.). which letters confirm

the family traditions on the subject as embodied in the Robins narrative of

1769, showing that the idea that the Whaley of Maryland was the veritable

regicide is by no means a new one, dating back, of course, beyond 1693, as

there had been no communication between the families of Maryland and
South Carolina since the removal of the latter, until I opened (in August,
1878, at a venture) a correspondence with Mr. William Whaley of Charles-

ton. The descendants of Nathaniel Whallet, seated at Whaleyville,

Maryland, and now represented by Messrs. Peter and James Whaley, of

that place, have spelled their name always in this way; and finally, the de-

scendants of Walter Whalley (a younger son of Nathaniel and grandson of
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Edward), now represented by J. C. C. Whalley, Esq., of Lock Raven, Penn-
sylvania—this Walter having settled in Fairfax County, Virginia—also
have been Whalley from the beginning. These different branches of the

family have never, to my knowledge, been in communication with each other.

In the second place, Mr. Littledale argues that Edward Whalley, of Eng-
land, being an educated man, aud the will of Edward Wale, of Maryland,
being the production of an evidently unlettered pen, Edward Whalley and
Edward Wale could not manifestly have been the same. This is the same
criticism, in other words, that has been made by the M Nation" and various

historical writers who have not carefully weighed all the circumstances of

the case. Is it not manifest that the will must have been the composition

of another, owing to the age and infirmities of the testator ? And can any
one expect a feeble and decrepit man of 103 years, and a blind man of
twenty years' standing to boot, to do more than sign with his mark, and thus

give assent to sentiments which were his own, although in the language and
handwriting of another?
The Court of Chancery proceedings, as quoted by Mr. Littledale, throw

no light upon the American side of the question, beyond tending to show
that while the regicide deemed himself safe in reassuming his own name in

Maryland, he still feared the result of discovering himself to any one in

England, and that Whalley in his will leaves his American property only to

those of his children who followed him into exile. In this connection I will

once more call attention to the statement of Frances (Whalley) Goffe. in

her letter to her husband in 1662, where she says: "My brother John is

gone across the sea, I know not whither." (See Hutchinson's History of

Massachusetts, p. 534.) This John*, who accompanied his stepmother and
the younger portion of his brothers and sisters to meet his father in America,
also settled in Worcester County (then a part of Somerset), Maryland. He
had married in England; his wife had died, leaving him one son, Herbert,

and this son had grown to man's estate and was independent. Shortly after

hi3 arrival, John Whalley again married, this time to Mary Radclitfe, ar.d

in 1685 removed to Delaware. Here, about 1693, he died, and in a few
months his widow and children removed to South Carolina. His oldest son

(by the second marriage), Thomas Whaley, bought land and settled on

Edisto Island. This property has remained ever since in the possession of

the Whalleys, and is now in the hands of William Whaley, of Charle-ton,

who is the representative of the family in South Carolina. Sir Herbert
Whalley, Knt., eldest son of John Whalley and grandson of the regicide,

remained, as has been said, in England, came into possession of some of the

family property, and married there. He is now represented by Georae
Hammond Whalley, Esq., of Plas Madoc, Denbighshire, Wales. The late

Sir John Whalley Smythe Gardiner wa3 also, I believe, a descendant of this

Sir Herbert Whalley."
Of Edward Whalley's daughters there were three who followed him to

this country, and who are therefore mentioned in the Robins narrative of

1769. They were : Rachel, who married John Reckliffe (or Ratcliffe)
:^
Eliz-

abeth, who married John Turvale ; and Bridget, who married Ebenezer Frank-

lin. From Ebenezer and Bridget (Whalley) Franklin was descended the

late Judge John R. Franklin, of Worcester County, Maryland.
Edward Whalley's youngest seta, Elias, married Sarah, daughter of Col-

onel Thomas and Sarah (Irving) Peel ; he died in 1720, two years after his

father, leaving an infant daughter, Leah, who was married in 17:'.s to Thomas
Robins, Jr., of Northampton County, Virginia. She died in 1740, leaving

one son, Thomas Robins third, the author of the Robins narrative of 176'J.

(See Pennsylvania Magazine, vol. i., No. 1, p. 60.) Through this mar-

riage, South Point and the house which Whalley built, and in which he

passed his last years, came in the possession of the Robins family. It is now
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the property of William Bowdoin Robins, Esq., of Berlin, Worcester County,
Maryland. Robert P. Robins.

Philadelphia, Sept. 13, 1878.

Marshall (ii. 230).—The ancestors of Chief-Justice John Marshall were
Dot of the Pennsylvania family of Marshalls. In Stiles's " History of An-
cient Windsor, Connecticut," page 692 (note), will be found a letter from
Edward Carrington Marshall, son of the Chief-Justice, giving some facts as

to his ancestry. The compiler of the Marshall family genealogy of Wind-
sor, Connecticut, had written Mr. E. C. Marshall to trace, if possible, a
connection between the Virginia and the Connecticut families. The follow-

ing paragraphs occur in Mr. E. C. Marshall's reply:

—

" You were correct in your impression that I am the son—the youngest

—

of the late Chief-Justice Marshall. I regret, however, that I cannot give

you the genealogy of my father's family at its earliest sources. All 1 can
learn is, that some six generations from me, making the time probably coin-

cident with the immigration of your ancestor, mine came from England to

Westmoreland County, Virginia. He came as agent in the employment of

a Mr. Markham, who had considerable property in the 'Northern Neck,'

and whose family estate iu England was large
" I infer that our family was, at the beginning, a highly respectable one,

because at an early period it became connected with some of the best fami-

lies in the State. The family names most common are John. Thomas, and
William. The names of John and Thomas have alternated with the oldest

sons throughout three generations.
" I will end this communication with a statement of the history of the

family of Virginia at its later period, which I think very remarkable. My
grandfather, Colonel Thomas Marshall, highly distinguished at the battle of

Brandywine, had fifteen children—eight daughters and seven sons. Every
one but one was highly distinguished for talents, and every daughter but
two married men of high distinction for talents. The oldest son was Chief-

Justice of the United States ; three others, that is, one son and two sons-in-

law, were made Federal Judges by the elder John Adams ; another son was
president of two colleges; another son-in-law was a Senator of the United
States."

I doubt not Bishop Meade's " Churches and Families of Virginia" can
throw some light on the matter; so also can Mr. R. A. Brock, the very
accommodating Secretary of the Historical Society of Virginia. I have
some data for a history of Hon. Humphrey Marshall's family, but cannot
place my hand on it just now. Horace Edwin Hayden.

Claim to New Jersey in 1784 (vol. ii. p. 228).—Your Camden corre-

spondent will find his inquiries answered in Whitehead's "East Jersey under
the Proprietary Governments," 2d edition, in notes to pages 8 to 10. The
book he refers to was probably a copy of the one Mr. Whitehead mentions

as being very rare, only three copies having come to his knowledge : having

been prepared by one Charles Valle, who came to America in 1784. claiming

to be part owner of New Jersey, as well as agent for the then Earl of

Ployden, who claimed it under a grant to his ancestor, Sir Edward Ploydeu.

The papers of the day contained "A Caution to the Good People of the

Province of New Albion, alias corruptedly called at present The Jerseys"

not to buy any land in the province, as they might see " true copies in Latin

and English of the original charter, registered in Dublin," by applying to

Captain Cope at the State Arm3 Tavern, New York.
A reference to the same subject will "be found in the " Memoirs of the

Pennsylvania Historical Society," vol. iv., part 1, by the late John Pening-

ton of Philadelphia. G. P.
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MAJOR WILLIAM JACKSOX.

Secretary of the Federal Convention.

BY CHARLES WILLING LITTELL.

The signature of William Jackson to the original draft of

the Constitution of the United States, as Secretary of the

Federal Convention, will preserve his name in the respectful

remembrance of his countrymen, so long as they retain their

reverence for this sublime achievement of inspired wisdom

and patriotism, and their determination that its principles

and its authority shall be perpetual.

The services of Major Jackson during the struggle for

American Independence well merit the grateful recognition

of Americans, wThile his character as a gentleman and a sol-

dier, his chivalric devotion to every cause which he espoused,

and to his friends, the reciprocal confidence and regard of

those with whom he wa3 most intimately associated,—among

whom were his immediate commander General Lincoln, and

his venerated Chief George Washington,—give a pure and

refreshing fragrance to his memory.

That so few records are left to us, of one so enduringly

identified with our country's history, is much to be regretted.

Vol. ll—25 (353)
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Most of the information contained in this sketch is derived

from a memoir of Major Jackson, prepared and read by my
father, the late John S. Littell, before the Historical Society

of Pennsylvania, and from original letters of Washington,

Lincoln, and others to Major Jackson, left to the Historical

Society, together with a liberal bequest, by his eldest daughter

the late Ann Willing Jackson.

From a letter of Miss" Jackson, we learn that her father

"was born in Cumberland, England, March 9, 1759. On the

paternal side he was of English, and on the maternal side of

Scotch descent—of an ancestry, the gentry of those countries,

and received the rudiments of an excellent education in Scot-

land. Early deprived of his parents, he subsequently from

the patrimony bequeathed him by his father, under the

guardianship of the brave and good Colonel Roberts, con-

tinued his studies nnder private tuition."

Having immigrated to Charleston, South Carolina, he ob-

tained in 1775, before he had completed his seventeenth year,

a commission m the First Regiment of South Carolina In-

fantry. His colonel was Christopher Gadsden, and his major,

his guardian, Owen Roberts.

In 1778, Lieutenant Jackson took part in the expedition

against St. Augustine, Florida, commanded by General Robert

Howe, of xTorth Carolina, with whom, among other distin-

guished officers, was Col. Charles Cotesworth Pinckney, be-

tween whom and this young subaltern, a friendship, which

proved lifelong, had already begun. The movement ended

with the capture of Fort Tonyn, on the St. Mary's River,

when an epidemic, which swept away nearly one-quarter of

Howe's force, the exhaustion of their stores and provisions,

and the movement of a British reinforcement, compelled a

retreat, which was effected with much hardship.

When Gen. Benjamin Lincoln, during the same year, took

command of the Southern Department of the Continental

Army, Lieutenant Jackson was, on the recommendation of

Charles Cotesworth Pinckney, made one of the aides-de-camp,

upon the staff of the commanding general, under whom he

was destined to see service, as severe as it was disastrous in
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its results. This appointment, with that of captain in his own
regiment, which he afterwards received, he held until the

close of the war. The acquaintance, thus begun, with Gen.

Lincoln soon ripened into a mutual attachment, of which we
shall see proofs in the story of their intercourse.

Jackson was engaged in the skirmish of Tullifiny Bridge,

in May, 1779, and on the 24th of June following, in the battle

of Stono Ferry, in which his friend, Colonel Owen Roberts,

who had been promoted to the command of a regiment of

artillery, was killed ; and on the 9th of October, 1779, he was
raised to the grade of captain, his staff appointment allowing

him to rank as major. On the very day on which his com-

mission was signed by Samuel Huntington, President of Con-

gress, he took part in the assault on Savannah, made by the

combined forces of Gen. Lincoln and Count D'Estaing, in

which the gallant Pulaski lost his life, which cost the assail-

ants nine hundred men, killed and wounded, and ended in

their repulse.

The dart " prospects" which, in the gloomy spring of 1780,

gathered o^er the troops ordered to the defence of Charleston,

and which preceded the bursting of the " storm" foreseen by

Washington, were brightened by their gallantry and fortitude.

Well did Lincoln justify the " greatest reliance" 1 of Washing-

ton on his judgment, and his assurance " that no exertion,

prudence, or perseverance" would " be wanting to defeat the

attempts of the enemy ;" and his aspiration " may the issue be

equally conducive to your personal glory, and to the advantage

of these States."2 Well was he in whom this trust was placed

supported by his subordinates.

The successful passage of the British fleet over the bar of

Charleston harbor, April 9th, 1780, rendered the position of

the city and its garrison critical in the extreme. The be-

siegers were stoutly resisted, and by none, within his sphere

of duty, more vigorously than by Captain Jackson, who was

frequently engaged in the hottest of the fight. He was in the

1 Washington to Stenben, Sparks, vol. vii. p. 10.

1 Washington to Lincoln, Sparks, vol. vii. p. 19.





356 Major William Jackson.

only sortie from the beleaguered city, made by three hundred

South Carolina and Virginia troops, commanded by Lt.-Col.

John Laurens and Lt.-Col. Henderson, who, with unloaded

muskets, attacked the men stationed in the most advanced

part of the British entrenchments, drove them back with the

sword and bayonet alone, and returned, after a fierce conflict,

with a few prisoners, having killed some twenty of the enemy.

Sir Henry Clinton steadily advanced, and pushed his lines so

close to the defences of the city that, on one occasion, when

Major Jackson was in the act of delivering a message from

Gen. Lincoln to Col. Parker of Virginia, the latter officer was

killed. After a most stubborn resistance of six weeks, the

provisions were exhausted, and the defences having been pro-

nounced untenable by General Du Portail, on the 12th of

May the town surrendered.

Major Jackson, on account of this unfortunate issue of af-

fairs, found himself a prisoner of war. It was not, however,

his fate to suffer a captivity as long as that to which many
others were obliged to submit. An " extensive exchange" took

place in the fall of the year, and, on the 9th of November,

Washington wrote to Lincoln, " I have now the pleasure to

congratulate you on your exchange. The certificate of it will

be transmitted to you by the commissary of prisoners ; Majors

Baylies and Jackson are also exchanged."1

The intimacy, which he had formed with Colonel John

Laurens during the days of trial in Charleston, doubtless led to

his appointment as secretary to this officer, when, in the year

following, 1781, he wa3 chosen by Congress a special Minister

to the Court of France. Laurens and his secretary sailed from

Boston on the 9th of February, 1781, in the frigate Alliance,

commanded by Captain John Barry. The young Envoy was

then in his twenty-fifth year, and his secretary three years his

junior. It is unnecessary to enter further into the details of

this well-known mission, which the accomplishments and

manly bearing of its chief rendered so successful, than to show

1 Sparks's Washington, vol. Yii. p. 290.
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the part taken by Major Jackson. 1 Towards its close, he was
sent to Amsterdam, to superintend the expenditure of a por-

tion of a loan, which the French Minister, Keeker, had autho-

rized to be opened in Holland for the benefit of the United

States, and to expedite the departure of munitions of war, so

purchased, to America.

The confidence reposed in Jackson by Laurens is fully

expressed in his letters to the President of Congress, one of

which closes with the following paragraph: " These de-

spatches will be delivered to your Excellency by Captain

Jackson, of the First South Carolina Eegiment, whose zeal

for the service made him cheerfully undertake the journey to

Holland, for the purpose of accelerating the departure of the

Indian, and to whom I am much indebted for his assistance

in this country."2

The vessel alluded to by Lauren3 had been sold, by the

Chevalier de Luxembourg, to the State of South Carolina.

Captain Alexander Gillon, who acted as agent for that

State, had negotiated the purchase, and had partially loaded

the vessel with stores. He had become involved in financial

difficulties, and had ceded his cargo to Col. Laurens for the

use of Congress. Jackson's instructions allowed him to com-

plete the freighting of the vessel, and in doing so a difficulty

occurred which occasioned some temporary embarrassment.

Supplies sufficient to load more than two ships were procured,

and, the Holland loan failing at first to meet with the antici-

pated success, Jackson was obliged to draw upon Dr. Franklin,

then our resident Minister at Paris, for the means to settle the

debts. This caused Franklin no little annoyance. The cor-

respondence which ensued added to the misunderstanding

which had occasioned the difficulty, and a visit to Passy on

the part of Jackson became necessary. The following letter

from John Adams, who was then at Amsterdam, to Congress

bears directly on the history of the case, and is given in full :

—

1 An account of the proceedings of Col. Laurens while Minister to France,

written by Major Jackson, can be found in the American Review, vol. i. p. 4115.

Philadelphia, 1827.

* Diplomatic Correspondence of the Revolution, vol. ix. p. 233.
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Amsterdam, June 27, 1781.

Sir : Major Jackson has been sometime here in pursuance
of instructions Irom Col. Laurens, in order to despatch the
purchase of the goods, and the shipping of the goods and cash
for the United States, which are to go by the South Carolina.

But when all things appeared to be ready, I received a letter

from his Excellency, l3r. Franklin, informing me that he
feared his funds would not admit of his accepting bills for

more than fifteen thousand pounds sterling, the accounts of
the Indian 1 and the goods amounted to more than fifty thou-
sand pounds, which showed that there had not been an under-
standing sufficiently precise and explicit between the Doctor
and the Colonel, there was, however, no remedy but a jour-

ney to Passy, which Major Jackson undertook, despatched the
whole business, and returned to Amsterdam in seven days, so

that I hope now there will be no more delays.

Major Jackson has conducted [himself], through the whole
of his residence here, as far as I have been able to observe,

with great activity and accuracy in business, and an exemplary
zeal for the public service.

I have the honor to be, &c,
JOHN ADAMS.*

" You may judge," wrote Franklin to Adams, on a subse-

quent occasion, in reference to this matter, that it was a " mon-

strous surprise to me, to have an account brought against me
of fifty thousand pounds, instead of five thousand pounds. I

agreed, however, to accept the bills, on Mr. Jackson's repre-

sentation, that the goods were bought and shipped ; that the

relanding and returning, or selling them, would make a talk,

and discredit us ; that they were only such as were absolutely

necessary, etc." "I do not think the least blame lies on you.

Captain Jackson, too, might be ignorant of the bulk of the

goods till they were assembled ; but methinks Messrs. Xeuf-

ville might have known it, and would have advised against

so enormous a purchase, if augmenting their commissions,

and the project of freighting their own ships had not blinded

their eyes."3

1 The vessel here alluded to is spoken of in the correspondence of the

day as the Indian, the South Carolina, and the South Carolina Frigate.

2 Diplomatic Correspondence of the Revolution, vol. vi. p. 75.

* Franklin to Adams. Works of Adams, vol. vii. p. 478.
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The interview with Franklin did not hasten the departure

of the store-ship, so much wished for in the letter of Adams.
On Jackson's return to Amsterdam, he suffered from a fever

contracted on his journey ; then occurred a correspondence

with Franklin, regarding the money for America mentioned

in the above letter, and, finally, it was discovered that the

vessel was overloaded, and two others had to be engaged to

carry the cargo.

The funds mentioned in the letter of John Adams were

a portion of the six millions of livres, a free gift of

Louis XVI. to the United States, which Franklin had in-

fluenced, and a part of which, he was not aware, had been

deposited at Amsterdam, by the French Ministers Xecker and

Vergennes, subject to the order of Major Jackson, to be con-

veyed to America as cash. Xot feeling entire confidence in

Captain Gillon, who was to command the vessel, in which

Jackson was to return home, and having need of all the money
he could command, to discharge the debts incurred by that

officer, Franklin declined to allow him the pleasure of carry-

ing, what would have been a very welcome present, to the

Treasury of the American Congress. Under the impression

that the money at Amsterdam had been obtained through the

mediations of Col. Laurens, and wishing to discharge the

trust committed to him, in exact compliance with the tenor

of his instructions, Jackson, with some warmth, protested

against the interference of Franklin. This called from the

latter an explanation, expressed with his usual clearness and

vigor, in which he pointed out to Jackson, how prejudicial to

their country the course proposed by him would be, and how
necessary the money under dispute was, to insure the departure

of the vessel he had freighted. 1 The course insisted upon by

Dr. Franklin at first occasioned Jackson some chagrin, but,

as will be seen, he had no occasion subsequently to regret it.

To relieve him of all responsibility in the matter, Franklin

wrote to the President of Congress, and gave the reasons for

1 Diplomatic Correspondence of the Revolution, vol. iii. pp. 216, 224; vol

iv. pp. 233-4.
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his action, adding :
" Captain Jackson, who is truly zealous

for the service, has been exceedingly solicitous and earnest

with me, to induce me to permit the money to go in this ship,

but for the reasons above mentioned, I find it absolutely neces-

sary to retain it for the present." 1

The month of August had nearly passed, before Captain

Gillon got his vessel under way, his departure at the last

being so hurried, that, to the mortification of all concerned,

the two vessels to which the stores had been transferred were

left behind. The Indian had the dimensions of a seventy-four

gun-ship, and was fully armed. Her crew consisted of five

hundred and fifty men. " Three hundred and fifty of these

were marines, who were called 'Volontaires de Luxembourg/
and who had been engaged by the king's permission in France

for the State of South Carolina." At that time the asso-

ciations of France and South Carolina were of a peculiarly

intimate character. That large portion of the population of

the latter, which was of French, especially Huguenot descent,

retained with fondness the customs of the country of their

ancestors, and to a great degree the use of their language.

There existed societies at whose meetings the English language

was prohibited. Their minutes, in French, are still preserved.

After cruising four weeks in the North Seas, and near the

British Channel, possibly with the hope of using his formid-

able force in the capture of a prize, as a partial compensation

for the vessels left at Amsterdam, Gillon put into Coruna.

A feeling of distrust, which had existed between Jackson and

the commander of the vessel, had not improved in the nar-

rowness of a ship's quarters, and at Coruna the former and

several other passengers left the vessel. From that place

Jackson wrote to Dr. Franklin :
" I am sorry to inform you

that the event has verified your prediction in every particular.

Mr. Gillon has violated his contract with Col. Laurens in

every instance. I beg leave to present you my most sincere

and cordial thanks, as well for myself as my country, for your

disposition of the money, which was to have been embarked

1 Diplomatic Correspondence of the Revolution, vol. iii. p. 233.
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on board this vessel, the event having fatally confirmed your

opinion of this man. I conceive my country indebted to your

prudence for the preservation of her property, as I do myself

for my freedom at this instant ; for I am assured, had not

your precaution prevented the embarkation, I should at this

hour been a prisoner, I need not say where."

The movements of Major Jackson in Europe, after he landed

at Coruua, are not very easily traced, but he doubtless returned

to France, and thence to America. Shortly after his arrival

at home, he was made assistant to his old friend, General

Lincoln, then Secretary at "War. "With what satisfaction to

his chief, and fidelity to the country, he discharged the duties

of his position, are best shown in the following letter, received

on his retirement from office, after the conclusion of peace.

Princeton, October 30, 1783.

I was this morning honored, my dear friend, with the re-

ceipt of your letter of this date, purporting your wish to

resign the office of Assistant Secretary at War.
While my own ease and convenience, in a tone loud and ex-

plicit, caution me against complying with your request, the

more silent, but persuasive, voice of friendship and justice

prevail, and tell me that I must sacrifice the former, to your
interest and happiness, and that I must, however reluctantly,

as your future prospects in life are involved in the measure,

accept your resignation.

Permit me, my dear sir, before I take leave of you, to re-

turn you my warmest thanks for your meritorious services

in the field, as my aid-de-camp, as well as for those you have
rendered as my assistant in the war office. These services. I

have the pleasure to assure you, have been seen, also acknow-
ledged and approved by your country, besides I have enjoyed

real satisfaction in your private friendship, your faithfulness

and integrity, have hourly increased my affection, and esteem

for you. Adieu, my dear friend ; that the best of Heaven's

blessings may encircle you, that your path in life may be

smooth and prosperous, your course through it easy and happy,

and that you may finally smile in unceasing bliss is the prayer

of, Dear Sir,

Your affectionate friend,

B. LINCOLN.
Major Jackson.
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If anything could have added to the satisfaction of such a

prompt and well-deserved acknowledgment of his services,

from one under whose eye they had largely been rendered, it

must have been the following, which reached him just prior

to his departure for Europe, where he was going on private

business.

Princeton, Nov. 1, 1783.

Dear Sir: Your letter reached me yesterday, and informed
me of your intention to embark next week for Europe.

"Wishing, from the esteem I entertain for your character,

to render you every service in my power, I could not avoid

troubling you with the two enclosed letters, tho' your acquaint-

ance in France made it almost unnecessary. 1

You will please to accept my thanks for your obliging offers,

and my wishes for your safe, pleasant, and prosperous voyage.

With great esteem,

I am, Dr. Sir,

Yr. Most Obed. Ser.,

G°. WASHINGTON.
Maj. Jackson.

On his return home in 1784, he was gratified by receiving,

from one so much respected as Gen. Lincoln, a greeting, in

which the warmth of the writer's heart is apparent, and whose

generous congratulations on his worldly prospects lead us to

suppose that the European trip was attended with some suc-

cess ; it is as follows :

—

Boston, Ang. 10, 1784.

I had the pleasure, my dear Sir, of receiving, a few day3
since, your very kind and affectionate letter of the 16th ult.,

which was the first since you left Philadelphia for Europe.
I can, by words, but faintly express the agreeable sensations

of my mind, on knowing that your prospects are now bright
and flattering—that the same Providence which protected and
succeeded [sic] you in life, may still guard and prosper you
through it, is my most ardent prayer.
We live in a world where all men do not act on the most

liberal principles. I am afraid you will not be enough guarded

;

1 One of the letters inclosed was to Dr. Franklin. See Letters and

Papers relating to Provincial History of Penna. Phila. 1857,
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suffer me, with all the sincerity and affection of a father and
friend, to tell you that that generosity of temper, so conspicu-

ous in you, must be kept within proper bounds. Xo one c;m
relieve the necessities of all, aud however we may feel for their

distresses, yet we must remember what we owe to ourselves,

and to those who have interested themselves in our interests.

If you are not too generous you must prosper; few of us, how-
ever, need this hint.

"With affection and esteem,

I am ever yours,

B. LINCOLN.
Major Jackson,

Late Assistant Secretary at War.

As this is the last allusion which will be made to the friend-

ship which existed between Gen. Lincoln and Major Jackson,

it may be well, here, to relate an anecdote illustrating how
warmly the feeling of the former was reciprocated by the

latter. A gentleman observing, in rather a derogatory man-

ner, that " Gen. Lincoln was always falling asleep," Major

Jackson, who was present, instantly replied with much
warmth, "Sir, General Lincoln was never asleep when it was

necessary for him to be awake."

In whatever business Major Jackson engaged after his re-

turn from Europe, it was soon abandoned for the study of the

law. In the office of the celebrated and able jurist, William

Lewis, whom Mr. Binney has named as one of the leaders of

the Old Bar of Philadelphia, he prepared himself for that

profession, and, on motion of his preceptor, was admitted to

practice in the Court of Common Pleas on the 9th of June,

1788, and subsequently in the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania.

The education received in early life had been improved as

occasion offered, and the almost constant use of a ready pen,

a3 secretary and aid-de-camp, had added to the ease of ex-

pression in which his thoughts took form. In 1786, the

Pennsylvania Society of the Cincinnati requested Major Jack-

son to deliver an oration before that body, on the anniversary

of Independence. A number of letters are extant, which

show how fully he justified the choice of the committee who
selected him as the orator of the occasion. "Washington, to

whom he sent a printed copy of his address, wrote :

—
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Mount Vernon, 28th Sept. 1786.

Dear Sir: I have received your letter of the 20th ult., to-

gether with the Pamphlets enclosed. I consider your sending
the latter to me, as a mark of attention which deserves my
warmest acknowledgments.

I cannot join with you, in thinking that the partiality of
your friends, in assigning to you so honorable a task, preju-

diced their discernment. The subject is nohle, the field ex-

tensive ; and I think it must be highly satisfactory, and in-

deed flattering to a man, that his performance, upon such an
occasion, is approved of by men of taste and judgment. With
sentiments of great esteem and regard

I am, Dear Sir,

Yr. Obedt. Hble. Servt.

G°. WASHINGTON.
Major Jackson.

The confidence in Major Jackson, inspired by the faithful

performance of duty, was now about to be proved. The
Federal Convention assembled in Philadelphia in 1787, and

on the recommendation of Washington and Hamilton, he was

chosen its Secretary. The delicate nature of the Convention's

work, and the difficulties that beset it, required that its busi-

ness should be conducted with the greatest secrecy. It was

important that whatever feeling was exhibited in the discus-

sions which took place during its sessions should not be made
public, as it would tend to inflame sectional or partisan pre-

judices, and prematurely array the people for or against the

Constitution which was being formed.

How conscientiously Major Jackson preserved the secrecy

imposed on him is evident from the fact, that no paper exists

in his handwriting giving the least idea of the proceedings

of the Convention, and that the same feeling which prompted

him to destroy his memoranda forbade him from ever allud-

ing to the subject. .

After Washington had been chosen President, he made

Major Jackson one of his secretaries, and for several yeare he

was an inmate of the President's family. He accompanied

Washington on his tours through the Eastern and Southern

States, and witnessed at every step u the manifestations of a

people's love" for one who had served them so well.
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During the entire period in which he was one of the house-

hold of Washington, Major Jackson enjoyed to the fullest

extent his confidence and esteem, and when, in the latter part

of the year 1791, he informed the President of his wish to

relinquish the office with which he had heen honored, he re-

ceived in reply the following letter.

Philadelphia, Dec. 26, 1791.

Dear Sir: At the same time that I acknowledge the receipt

of your letter, notifying me of your intention to enter upon
a professional pursuit—and, during the ensuing term, propose

yourself for admittance as a practitioner of law in the Supreme
Court of the State of Pennsylvania—I beg you to be persuaded
that my best wishes will accompany you, in that or in any
other walk into which your interest or inclination may lead

you.
That your determination is the result of the best view you

have of your circumstances and expectations, I take for

granted, and therefore shall say nothing which might embar-
rass tke decision ; but with pleasure equal to the justice of it,

shall declare to you, that your deportment, so far as it has
come under my observation, has been regulated by principles

of integrity and honor, and that the duties of your station

have been executed with abilities, and I embrace the occasion

your address has afforded me, to thank you for all your atten-

tions, and for the services which you have rendered me, since

you have been a member of my family.

Let your departure from it be made perfectly convenient to

yourself, and believe me to be with sincere esteem and regard,

Dear Sir,

Your Affect. Hble. Servt.

G°. WASHINGTON.
Maj. Jackson.

There can be no doubt, that the wish of Major Jackson to

resume the profession he had chosen led him to retire from

the position he occupied in the family of Washington ; but

from the following answer to a letter from the President,

offering him the office of Adjutant-General of the army, we
may easily understand the true reason why he desired to

establish himself at the Bar.





366 Major William Jackson.

Philadelphia, Dec. 5, '92.

Sir: "While I acknowledge, with most grateful sensibility,

the repeated obligations which your goodness has conferred

upon me, I persuade myself that under the circumstances

which compel me to decline the honor of your nomination to

the important post of Adjutant-General of the Army of the

United States, I shall not forfeit any part of that regard which
it is my study and ambition to merit and preserve.

Implicit confidence in your delicacy has already induced

me to declare to you, Sir, that no other consideration but an
engagement of the heart, involving the happiness of a most
amiable woman, who is, as she ought to be, peculiarly dear to

me, would prevent a prompt and grateful acceptance of this

additional, and highly respected mark of your esteem.

I cannot but flatter myself, Sir, that a long and faithful

series of military service, during the late war, will assign to

this refusal its true place in your estimation—and that I shall

always be permitted to prove, by every possible demonstra-

tion, how ardently I wish to retain your kind regard, and how
sincerely I am, Sir,

Your most respectful,

and affectionate servant,

W. JACKSON.
The President

of the United States.

The lady alluded to in the above letter was Elizabeth, second

daughter and youngest child of Thomas "Willing, the well-

known merchant, and at that time President of the Bank of

North America, in Philadelphia. The marriage of Miss "Wil-

ling and Major Jackson did not take place until several years

after his retirement to private life, as he was induced to defer

the practice of law, and visit Europe, as the agent for the

sale of lands belonging to William Bingham, the husband

of the elder sister of Miss "Willing. After returning from

Europe in 1795, Major Jackson was married on the 11th of

November. The ceremony was performed by Bishop White,

assisted by his associate, Dr. Blackwell. Among those pre-

sent, were General and Mrs. Washington, Robert Morris and
his wife, Hamilton, Lincoln, Knox, and Yicomte de Xoailles,

the brother-in-law of Lafayette, and many others who then

added so much to the attraction of Philadelphia society.
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Shortly after his marriage, Maj. Jackson was appointed hy
"Washington (Jan. 14, 1796) Surveyor of Customs at the port

of Philadelphia, a position he held until removed by Jefferson.

On the 22d of February, 1800, Major Jackson, who was
then Secretary of the General Society of the Cincinnati, on
invitation of the State Society of the Cincinnati of Pennsyl-

vania, delivered a eulogy on the character of Washington.

Of the excellence of this well-known address, it is unnecessary

to speak. How well Jackson acquitted himself, we gather

from the letter of one who wrote: " I have read your Oration

with a degree of pleasure, second only to that which I received

when I heard you deliver it, with every advantage to this

excellent performance which a manly, clear voice, graceful

manner, and most appropriate action could possibly give."

This eulogy was delivered in the Lutheran Church, on Fourth

Street, Philadelphia, which was crowded. Among his audi-

ence were the President of the United States, the members

of both Houses of Congress, and the British Minister.

Among other letters received by Major Jackson, on this

subject, is the following :

—

Headquarters, at Shepherd's Town,

May 15, 1800.

Dear Sir: I am exceedingly obliged to you for a copy of

the very elegant, pathetic, and eloquent discourse you pro-

nounced on our deceased Patron, Father, and Friend. You
knew him nearly and well, and could best declare his worth.

I was greatly pleased when I first heard the Cincinnati had
entrusted his eulogy to your talents, but I was enthusiastically

delighted and affected when I perused your admirable oration.

Again and again I thank you for it . . . .

Yours truly,

CHARLES COTESWORTH PIXCKNEY.

Prior to the departure of Major Jackson for Europe, in

1793, he received, from Mr. Jefferson, a highly compliment-

ary letter of introduction to Mr. Short, our Minister at

Madrid. By 1802, however, party politics had grown so

bitter, that Mr. Jefferson did not continue Major Jackson in

office, differing as they did on the questions of the day, al-
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though that gentleman was as deserving of his confidence, as

when, nine years previously, he had sent him the unsought-for

letter to Mr. Short. The pretext of Major Jackson's removal

was on his alleged harshness to his subordinates, a charge

which was refuted by the following paper, which was signed

by those who, it was said, suffered from his partisanship.

Port of Philadelphia, Nov. 20, 1802.

Sir: Having understood that your Conduct towards the

Inspectors has been represented as being marked with harsh-

ness, we feel it our duty to declare that your Conduct as Sur-

veyor of the Customs for the District of Philadelphia has

been uniformly marked with politeness, kindness, and impar-

tiality, and that we know of no instance in which you have
attempted to influence the political opinion of any one of us.

William Jacksox, Esq.,

Surveyor.

For a number of years after his removal from office, Major

Jackson edited The Political and Commercial Register, a paper

devoted to the advocacy of the principles of the Federal party.

In the years 1818 and 1819, he was appointed, by the sur-

viving officers of the army of the Eevolution, their solicitor,

to obtain from Congress an equitable adjustment of their half-

pay for life. Although unsuccessful in his efforts to promote

the interests of his associates, Major Jackson received their

cordial thanks. One of his last public acts was his tender

of the welcome of Philadelphia to Lafayette, in Independence

Hall, a duty that was accepted on invitation from the citizens

of Philadelphia, and the members of the Society of the Cin-

cinnati of Pennsylvania, when that distinguished guest visited

our city in 1824.

Major Jackson closed his life on the 17th of December,

1828, and lies buried in Christ Church-ground, at Fifth and

Arch Streets, Philadelphia. The Cincinnati Societies of the

States of Pennsylvania and South Carolina passed resolutions

appropriate to the event. His wife, with whom he lived in

uninterrupted happiness for upwards of thirty-two years, died

on the 5th of August, 1858, and lies buried with him.

Major Jackson left one son, his youngest child, William,
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who married Martha, daughter of Dr. Thomas C. James;1

a daughter Caroline, his third child, who married Philip

Physick (both Mr. Jackson and Mrs. Physick died, leaving no

surviving children) ; and two daughters, Mary Rigal, and Ann
Willing. The latter, who was his eldest child, died February

11, 1876. All who bore his name, and shared his honors, have

passed away ; but, the memories of his associates, which he

so proudly and so warmly cherished, linger, with his own
guardian spirits, among the scenes which they immortalized,

and the institutions which they established.

!-The present Mr. Saunders Lewis married one of the daughters of Dr.

James, whose only son, the late Thomas C. James, was captain of that veteran

body, the First Troop of Philadelphia City Cavalry, of which his brother-

in-law, William Jackson, was a lieutenant.

Vol. n.—26
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REMINISCENCES OF THE FIRST RAILROAD OYER
TIIE ALLEGHENY MOUNTAIN.

Read before the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, April 8, 1878.

BY SOLOMON W. ROBERTS,
CIVIL ENOI^EJEK.

The following reminiscences of the First Railroad over the

Allegheny Mountain, have been prepared at the request of

the Council of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania.

They relate to the Portage Railroad; the building of

which was begun by the State in the year 1831 ; which was

opened for use as a public highway in 1834 ; and was an im-

portant thoroughfare for about twenty years, until it was

superseded by the opening of a railroad without inclined

planes.

As the Portage Railroad was considered for years to be a

great triumph of civil engineering, and as it has ceased to

exist, I embrace this opportunity to give my recollections of

its construction, having been employed upon the line, in the

service of the State.

The undertaking of an extensive system of internal im-

provements at the expense of the Commonwealth, was an

event of no small importance in the history of Pennsylvania.

An account of this great enterprise, which increased the State

debt to about forty millions of dollars, has never been ade-

quately written. The high hopes with which the work was

begun; the large premiums at which the five per cent, loans

of the State were for a time sold ; the great revulsion of feel-

ing, and the fall of prices, which caused the loans to sell at

one time for about thirty-three cents on the dollar; the sub-

sequent sale of the public works to corporations, and the

complete recovery of the State credit, are facts well worthy

of remembrance.

The geographical position of Pennsylvania, so often called

" the Keystone State," is peculiar and remarkable. Washed
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on its southeastern border by the Atlantic tides, it extends on
the northwest to the shore of Lake Erie, and includes, in Al-

legheny County, the head of the Ohio River. Various line3

of internal improvement were proposed in the early history

of Pennsylvania, but the rugged topography of much of its

territory delayed their execution.

The level character of the country between Albany and

Buffalo, enabled Xew York to construct the Erie Canal, which

was opened for use in October, 1825. This stimulated similar

action on the part of the legislature of this State, and the

Pennsylvania Canal was begun on the 4th of July, 1826.

In the following year I entered the service of the Lehigh

Coal and Navigation Company. A native of Philadelphia,

and educated in Friends' Academy, I witnessed the construc-

tion and opening of the Mauch Chunk Railroad in 1827,

and of the Lehigh Canal, which was opened from Mauch
Chunk to Easton in 1829, having been employed as a rodman

and leveller on fifteen miles of the canal. For more than two

years I lived in the house of my uncle, Josiah White, who
was then acting manager of the company, and had the ad-

vantage of receiving instruction from that able, practical

engineer; and, in the engineer corps on the canal, I received

scientific and technical tramms: under those masters of the

profession, Canvass White and Sylvester Welch, who had

been employed on the Erie Canal.

When the work on the Lehigh was done, in the autumn of

1829, Sylvester Welch was employed by the State of Pennsyl-

vania as principal engineer of the Western Division of the

Pennsylvania Canal, and removed to Blairsville, on the Cone-

maugh, to which place I accompanied him. The canal was
then nearly completed from Pittsburgh to Blairsville, and

was in progress from Blairsville to Johnstown. Much of the

work was badly done, and was not strong enough to with-

stand the occasional floods to which it was exposed. The
Canal Commissioners were politicians, there was great com-

petition for contracts, and work contracted for at low prices

often failed to endure the strains to which it was subjected
;

the laws of nature having no respect for political parties.
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"We struggled on with the work, and the canal was opened to

Johnstown, at the western hase of the Allegheny Mountain,

in December, 1830. On my division, there was an aqueduct

across the Conemaugh River at Lockport, having five arches,

each of sixty feet span, built of cut stone.

My intimate friend and colleague in this arduous and thank-

less service, was the late Edward Miller, civil engineer, after-

wards so well known for his great intelligence, and for hi3

high character as a Christian gentleman. The pay that we
received from the State was two dollars per day, for the time

actually employed, and we paid our own expenses.

The canal being done from Pittsburgh to Johnstown, I

returned to my father's house in Philadelphia, on the 23d

of January, 1831, far from being pleased with the general

results of my experience on the canal in the valley of the

Conemaugh.

At that time there was much discussion as to the best mode
of crossing the Allegheny Mountain, so as to form a con-

nection between the canals on its eastern and western sides.

Some surveys had been made for a continuous canal, both

by the Juniata route and by the "West Branch of the Susque-

hanna ; but the natural obstacles were too great, and the

Bcheme was given up. Several lines for a railroad had also

been run, and inclined planes of different kinds had been

proposed.

On the 21st of March, 1831, the law was passed authorizing

the Board of Canal Commissioners to commence the construc-

tion of a Portage Railroad over the Allegheny Mountain.

The Board appointed Sylvester Welch, the principal engineer

of the western division of the Pennsylvania Canal, to the same

position in the building of the Portage Railroad, and he nomi-

nated me a3 his assistant. Mr. Welch wa3 an elder brother

of Ashbel Welch, the distinguished civil engineer of i^ew

Jersey. Sylvester "Welch was a man of great ability and

integrity, and of untiring industry, as I who was one of

his assistants for more than eight years can testify. At his

request I joined him at Blairsville, and on the 5th of April,

by a resolution of the Board of Canal Commissioners, I was
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appointed to my position, being then in the twentieth year of

my age.

On the 8th of April, 1831, just 47 years ago, we began our

explorations near the summit of the mountain. The weather

was cold, stormy, and unfavorable ; there was much snow on

the mountain ; and I remember particularly that on the even-

ing of the first day, the wind was so high as to blow heavy

pieces of bark from the bodies of dead hemlock trees.

On the 12th of April, our party of sixteen persons went

into camp near the head of the mountain branch of the Cone-

maugh, and began to locate the railroad. We had tents owned
by the State, and four of us slept on buffalo robes, in what

had been used as a surgeon's tent ; and to my surprise I did

not take cold. It had been intended that another engineer,

older than myself, should lead the locating party ; but his

health failed before the work was begun, and he had to retire.

The country was very rough, and the running of the line much
obstructed by fallen timber.

The general character of the country had been ascertained

from the results of former surveys, made by Mr. Moncure

Robinson, Colonel Long, and other engineers. It was known
that the distance over the Allegheny Mountain, from Holli-

daysburg to Johnstown, was about thirty-six miles, and that

the summit at Blair's Gap was about 1400 feet above Holli-

daysburg, and 1200 feet above Johnstown. The eastern slope

of the mountain is much steeper than the western. The slates

and sandstones of the bituminous coal measures dip into the

mountain on its eastern slope, and show the broken ends of

the strata, as if an immense wedge had been driven, in a

northwesterly direction, under that part of the earth's crust.

At the head of one of the inclined planes on the eastern slope,

a well was boted 712 feet deep, without finding water. The

western slope of the mountain is comparatively gentle, and

the stratification flattens out as it approaches Johnstown.

Modern railroads were in their infancy when this work
was begun, and the powerful locomotives that now draw heavy

loads up high grades had no existence. It was in October,

1829, about eighteen months before, that the little engine,
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called " the Rocket," the first oue built on the modern plan,

was tried on the Liverpool and Manchester Railroad. The
combination of the tubular boiler with the blast pipe in the

chimney was the cause of its success.

The general design for the Portage Railroad was this: The
principal part of the elevation was to be overcome by inclined

planes, which were to be straight in plan and profile ; to be

on an average somewhat less than half a mile long ; and to

have an angle of elevation of about five degrees, or about the

same as moderately steep hills ou turnpike roads ; so that the

average height overcome by each plane might be about 200

feet. These planes were to be worked by stationary steam

engines and endless ropes.

As ultimately constructed there were ten inclined planes,

Hve on each side of the mountain ; and their whole length

was four miles and four-tenths, with an aggregate elevation

of 2007 feet. Their angles of inclination ranged from four

degrees and nine minutes to five degrees and fifty-one minutes.

The railroad between the planes was located with very mode-

rate grades, and the minimum radius of curvature was about

442 feet, but only a small proportion of the curvature had a

less radius than 955 feet. The gauge, or width of the track,

was four feet nine inches.

In locating the line, our levelling instruments were good,

as perfect levelling had been required on the canals, where

water tested the work ; but our instruments for running curves

were poor, and the work was mostly done with a surveyor's

compass. At that time the importance of straightness on a

railroad was not adequately appreciated.

When the weather became warmer we were annoyed by

multitudes of gnats, and resorted to the smoke of burning

leaves to mitigate the evil. We also tried greasing our faces

to keep the insects from biting them. It occurred to me that

this might be one of the reasons why Indians often paint their

faces.

Rattlesnakes were numerous and of course dangerous, but

none of us were bitten by them. They are usually sluggish

reptiles, and will let men alone if they are not trodden on or
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attacked. They also give warning with their rattles before

they strike. Our axemen made a collection of live rattle-

snakes, and kept them in a box. They were easily caught by

an expert hand. To the end of a stick about four feet long,

a short piece of strong twine was tied, so as to form a slip

knot. The snake wben defending itself, would lie partly

coiled on the ground, or on a rock, with the rattles on its tail

at the outside of the coil, and its head upraised in the middle.

The man approaching with the stick would slip the loop of

the twine over the snake's head, and round its neck ; and, by

giving a little jerk, would draw the slip knot tight, and lift

the snake from the ground. The snake would then writhe

in vain, and would be powerless to strike. To carry it to

camp, it was put into a tube made of the bark of a sapling,

or small tree, peeled off for the purpose, which was readily

done by an expert woodman. Catching snakes was the amuse-

ment of our men, and eating maple sugar was our luxury. I

remember that George Wolf, then Governor of Pennsylvania,

visited our camp while we had the box of snakes.

When we reached the Horse-shoe-bend of the Conemaugh,
about eight miles from Johnstown, I was in charge of the

locating party. The line was made to cross the stream, and

cut across the bend, so as to save distance, which made a high

bridge necessary. The Horse-shoe-bend, or Conemaugh via-

duct, is still standing, and is used by the Pennsylvania Rail-

road Company as a part of its main line ; and it is I believe

almost the only structure of the old Portage Eailroad now in

use. It is a substantial and imposing piece of masonry, about

seventy feet high, and with a semi-circular arch of eighty feet

span. The chief engineer had prepared a plan for a bridge of

two arches, each of fifty feet span, but afterwards adopted the

plan of the present structure. It was designed, and its erec-

tion superintended by me, and the work was clone by an honest

Scotch stone-mason, named John Durno, who was afterwards

killed by falling from another high bridge. The arch is three

and a half feet thick at the springing line, and three feet at

the crown; tbe arch stones are of light-colored sandstone, and

the backing of silicious limestone, found near the spot. The
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sandstone was split from erratic blocks, often of great size,

which were found lying in the woods, on the surface of the

ground. The contract price for the masonry was §4.20 per

perch of twenty-five cubic feet, and the work was remarkably

well done. The face stones were laid in mortar from the sili-

cious limestone, without the addition of any sand.

The cost of the viaduct was about fifty-five thousand dol-

lars, and by building it a lateral bend of about two miles was

avoided. The embankment at the end of the viaduct was

sixty-four feet high. Since that work was done, iron bridges

have taken the place of such structures. At the staple bend

of the Conemaugh, four miles from Johnstown, a tunuel was

made through a spur of the Allegheny, near which the stream

makes a bend of two miles and a half. The length of the

tunnel was 901 feet, and it was twenty feet wide, and 1$ feet

high within the arch ; 150 feet at each end being arched with

cut stone. Its cost was about §37,500. This was the first

railroad tunnel in the United States. Inclined plane Xo. 1,

being the plane nearest to Johnstown, was located at the

western end of the tunnel. The western terminus of the

Portage Railroad, at the canal basin at Johnstown, 21 miles

from the starting point, was located on the 14th of May.

Johnstown, in Cambria County, is now a large town, and

the seat of the great Cambria iron works. "When I first saw

the place, it was a very quiet village, with tall elder bushes

growing in the streets. It had been at first called Conemaugh,

and I remember to have seen the original plan of the place,

with its title marked :
" The town of Conemaugh, the only

port for boating on the western waters, east of the Laurel

Hill." It had been practicable, at times of high water, to

run rafts and small flat boats from there to Pittsburgh.

"W. Milnor Roberts joined the engineer corps in the month

of May, as principal assistant, and located the eastern por-

tion of the Portage Railroad, from the point where we began,

over the summit of the Allegheny Mountain, and down to

Hollidaysburg, a distance of about sixteen miles; which in-

cluded the steep eastern slope of the mountain, and most of

the inclined planes. He has since distinguished himself as
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tlie engineer of many important works, and continues to be

one of my most intimate friends, as he has been since we
were together in the engineer corps on the Lehigh in 1827.

Proposals from contractors having been invited, the grading

and masonry of the twenty-six miles from the summit of the

mountain to Johnstown, were contracted for at Ebensburg, the

county seat of Cambria County, on the 25th of May, and the

work on the eastern slope of the mountain, at Hollidaysburg,

on the 29th of July, 1831. It was determined to grade the

road at once for a double track, and to build all the bridges

and culverts of stone. There was no wooden bridge upon the

line. In the case of one small bridge of two spans, which

had to be built at an oblique angle, I proposed an iron super-

structure, but the plan was not approved.

The principal office was established at Ebensburg, although

it was several miles from the railroad, because it was on the

turnpike, and readily accessible. Before our office windows

the Conestoga wagons loaded with emigrants, with their bag-

gage and furniture, slowly wended their way to the West.

We had to travel on foot along the line of the work, and

very bad travelling it was for a long time. A large part of

the line ran through a forest of heavy spruce or hemlock
timber, many of the trees being over 100 feet high; through

this a space 120 feet wide was cleared, which was difficult

work. Immense fires were made, but the green timber did

not burn well, and many of the trees were rolled down the

mountain slopes, and left to decay.

In looking back at the location that was thus made about

forty-seven years ago, it appears to me that it was about as

well done as could be expected, under the circumstances as

they then existed. Railroad construction was a new business,

and much had to be learned from actual trial ; but it was known
at the time, that the location was too much hurried, which

arose from the great impatience of the public. A good deal of

curvature might have been saved by a careful revision of the

line; but the reduction of the height of the summit by a

tunnel, as has since been done, the legislature had refused to

permit.
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After the grading and masonry of the Portage Railroad

were put under contract, the line was divided ; the western

half heing in my charge, and the eastern in charge of my
friend, W. Miinor Roberts. The work was pushed forward

with energy, a force of about two thousand men being at one

time employed upon it.

Whilst our office was in Ebensburg, which was for about a

year, the most noted person in the neighborhood was the Rev.

Dr. Demetrius Augustine Gallitzen, whom I well remember.

The summit station on the Pennsylvania Railroad is named
after him. He called himself Parish Priest of Loretto and

Vicar-General. lie was a Russian nobleman, born in 1770;

and he left the Greek Church, and became a zealous Roman
Catholic Missionary. He founded the town of Loretto near

Ebensburg, and died there in 1840. He is believed to have

expended about §150,000 at that place; but, having been de-

prived of his estate in Russia, he became poor. He was a

small man, of an olive complexion, with very bright eyes, and

I considered him to be the most perfect example of a religious

enthusiast that I had ever seen. He was deservedly held in

very high esteem for his self-denying earnestness. He spent

much money in building a church at Loretto, and tried hard

to make the rough people on the mountain behave as he

wished, when they visited it. The country was very poor,

and he became involved in debt, which troubled him much.

It was currently reported, and I believe it to be true, that he

had made a vow that he would not ride on horseback or in a

carriage until his debts were paid, so that wThen his services

were needed at a distance from home, he was sometimes hauled

on a sled.

In 1831, my friend, Edward Miller, went to England to

obtain the most recent information on the subject of railroads,

and he returned about the close of that year. He was soon

after appointed principal assistant engineer, in the service of

the State, and was given the charge of the machinery of the

inclined planes of the Portage Railroad.

The machinery was designed by him, and it worked well.

At the head of each plane were two engines of about thirty-
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five horse-power each ; and each engine had two horizontal

cylinders, the pistons of which were connected with cranks

at right angles to each other, which gave motion to the large

grooved wheels, around which the endless rope passed, and by

which the rope was put in motion. The engines were built

in Pittsburgh, and could be started and stopped very quickly.

One engine only was used at a time, but two were provided

for the greater security. Ilemp ropes were at first used, and

gave much trouble, as they varied greatly in length with

changes in the weather, although sliding carriages were pre-

pared to keep them stretched without too much strain ; but

wire ropes were afterwards substituted, and were a great im-

provement.

The laying of the first track and turnouts, with a double

track on the inclined planes, was contracted for on the 11th

of April, 1832. The rails used weighed about forty pounds

per lineal yard, and they were rolled in Great Britain. The
hauling of them in wagons from Huntingdon, on the Juniata?

was a laborious work. The rails wrere supported by cast-iron

chairs, weighing about thirteen pounds each ; the chairs being

placed three feet apart from centre to centre, with a wrought-

iron wedge in each chair. In most cases, these chairs rested

upon, and were bolted to blocks of sandstone, containing

three and a half cubic feet each, and imbedded in broken

stone. These stone blocks were required to be two feet long,

21 inches wide, and 12 inches deep. They cost about 53 cents

each. On high embankments a timber foundation was used,

with cross-ties, and mud sills, which stood much better than

the stone blocks. On the inclined planes, which were to be

worked by means of rope3, fiat bar rails were laid upon string-

pieces of timber.

Great care was taken in the drainage of the road-bed, and

a large number of culverts and drains were built, there being

159 passages for water under the railroad. It was found by

experience, that the track must be tied across with cross-ties,

or it could not be kept from spreading, and many such ties

were put in between the stone blocks. The attempt to con-

struct a permanent railroad track, containing no perishable
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material, was in this case a failure. We were striving to

build a great public work to endure for generations, and, as

it turned out, it was superseded by something better in about

twenty years.

On the 2Gth of Xovember, 1833, about two years and a half

from the beginning of the work, the first car passed over the

road, carrying a committee from Philadelphia, among whom
were Josiah White and Thomas P. Hoopes, representing the

Board of Trade. They were returning from Ohio, where they

had been inspecting the proposed lines for connecting the

Pennsylvania and Ohio Canals.

On the 18th of March, 1834, when canal navigation opened,

the Portage Railroad was opened for use as a public highway,

the State furnishing the motive power on the inclined planes

only ; and it continued in use until the end of the year, when
the canals were closed for the winter. The railroad was again

opened on the 20th of March, 1835 ; shortly after which the

second track was completed.

The experiment of working the road as a public highway
was very unsatisfactory. Individuals and firms employed

their own drivers, with their own horses and cars. The cars

were small, had four wheels, and each car would carry about

7000 lbs. of freight. Usually four cars made a train, and that

number could be taken up, and as many let down, an inclined

plane at one time, and from six to ten such trips could be made
in an hour. The drivers were a rough set of fellows, and

sometimes very stubborn and unmanageable. It was not prac-

ticable to make them work by a time-table, and the officers

of the railroad had no power to discharge them. My memory
recalls the case of one fellow, who would not go backward,

and could not go forward, and so obstructed the road for a

considerable time. It resembled the case of two wild wago-

ners of the Alleghenies, meeting in a narrow mountain pass,

and both refusing to give way. Our nominal remedy was to

have the man arrested, and taken before a magistrate, perhaps

many miles off, to have him fined according to the law, a copy

of which I used to carry in my pocket.

When the road had but a single track between the turnouts,
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a large post, called a centre post, was set up half way between

two turnouts, and the rule was made that when two drivers

met on the single track, with their cars, the one that had gone

beyond the centre post had the right to go on, and the other

that had not reached it must go back to the turnout which

he had left. The road was in many places very crooked, and

a man could not see far ahead. The way the rule worked was

this : When a man left a turnout, he would drive very slowly,

fearing that he might have to turn back; and, as he ap-

proached the centre post, he would drive faster and faster, to

try to get beyond it, and thus to drive back any cars that he

might meet, and in this way cars have been driven together,

and a man killed by being crushed between them. We had

no electric telegraphs in those days.

The evils of this system were so great, that I resolved that,

for one, I would not continue to be responsible for its adminis-

tration ; but to get it changed was no easy matter, as it re-

quired an act of the legislature. The State government

was Democratic, and this was considered to be the popular

way to work a railroad, every man for himself. The opposi-

tion party in the legislature was led by a very able man, the

late Thaddeus Stevens, of Lancaster County ; and they were

opposed to increasing the power and patronage of the Demo-
cratic Board of Canal Commissioners, which would be done

if locomotives were bought, and all the motive power fur-

nished by the State. I went to Harrisburg, and obtained an

introduction to Mr. Stevens. I tried to do my best to ex-

plain the matter to him ; and it was a great satisfaction to

me to find that he allowed the bill to pass without opposing

it. The feeling of the people living on and near the lines of

the two railroads owned by the State, the Portage, and the

Philadelphia and Columbia, was very strong against the mea-

sure, for a reason which the following anecdote will show :

—

Whilst I was advocating the change, I came to Philadel-

phia, and then returned to Harrisburg. On my return, I was

riding in a horse car on the Columbia Kailroad, near Down-
ingtown, which was divided into small compartments, some-

what like the interior of an old-fashioned stage coach. Two
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gentlemen were sitting opposite to me who were members

of the legislature from Chester County, one being a Senator.

The car stopped, and a man spoke to my travelling com-

panions, saying that he hoped that they would oppose the bill to

authorize the Canal Commissioners to put locomotives on the

road, and control the motive power. The Senator said that

it should never be done with his consent. Thereupon, as the

car drove on, I proceeded to argue the matter, but with poor

success ; the reply being that the people were taxed to make
the railroad, and that the formers along the line should have

the right to drive their own horses and cars on the railroad,

as they did their wagons on the Lancaster turnpike, to go to

market in Philadelphia ; and that, if they were not permitted

to do it, the railroad would be a nuisance to the people of Lan-

caster and Chester Counties. It required time to overcome

this feeling ; and, in 1834, that good man, and excellent me-

chanic, M. W. Baldwin, of Philadelphia, built three locomo-

tives for use on the Philadelphia and Columbia Eailroad.

The law having been passed, locomotives were bought, and

the State began to furnish motive power on the grade lines

between the planes on the Portage Railroad. The first loco-

motive used on the mountain was called the " Boston," from

its having been built in that city, in 1834. It was a light

engine, with one pair of driving wheels, which were made of

wood, with iron hubs and tires. The front end of the frame

rested on a truck, having very elastic steel springs. The fuel

used was wood, and the engine ran readily around short

curves, and, although its power was not great, the machine

worked well, and gave satisfaction. It ran on what was

called the long level, thirteen miles in length, between planes

numbers one and two, and it did not pass over the planes.

The number of locomotives was gradually increased, and

that of horses diminished, and on the 11th of May, 1835, the

State began to furnish the whole motive power. In that year

I had the charge of the working of the Allegheny Portage

Railroad, and acted as superintendent of motive power, al-

though called principal assistant engineer.

In October, 1835, Joseph Ritner was elected Governor of
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Pennsylvania, having been nominated by the Anti-Masonic

party; and with his inauguration the control of the State

government passed out of the hands of the Democratic party,

which had Ions: held it. At that time the feeling against

secret societies was very strong, and to be connected with them
was very unpopular. It is remarkable that such a change

should have taken place in this respect, as secret societies are

now so numerous, and their membership so very large ; which

seems to me to be a curious instance of the strange fluctua-

tions of popular feeling.

The Portage Railroad was a great thoroughfare in 1835
;

and towards the close of the year Joseph Ritner passed over

it on his way to Harrisburg as Governor-elect. He was at-

tended by Joseph Lawrence, of Washington County, who was

his confidential adviser. In the same train were Henry Clay

and Felix Grundy, on iheir way to Washington, for the open-

ing of Congress. There was a large party, and we dined

together on the summit of the mountain. Joseph Ritner sat

at the head of the table, with Henry Clay at his right hand.

I remember saying that I had both masonry and anti-masonry

entrusted to my care. After dinner, I walked down one of

the inclined planes with Joseph Lawrence, and was gratified

at being told by him, that the new administration wished me
to remain in charge of the railroad; but I had already con-

cluded to resign, and to sail for Liverpool as inspector of the

manufacture of railroad iron, in South Wales, for the Reading

and other railroads. I had taken no active part in politics,

and was weary of the service of the State. The highest pay

received by me had been four dollars per day, paying all my
own expenses, and carefully abstaining from all speculative

interests. It is true that living was cheap ; in the best hotel

in Johnstown, with a good table, fuel, and light, the price of

board was only $2.62J per week. "We had venison and wild

turkeys in season. Venison was sometimes as low as three

cents per pound, and bituminous coal for domestic use cost,

I think, about one dollar per ton. Clothing was, however,

comparatively dear, and its wear and tear on the mountain
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was great; besides which it C03t a good deal to keep a saddle

horse.

My experience in the State service has convinced me, that

our form of government is badly adapted to the successful

management of public works. Civil service reform might

make some improvement, but so long as the tenure of office

depends upon frequently recurring popular elections, and the

nominations are made by majorities in a party caucus, other

considerations than those of honesty and fitness will very often

determine the result. For the proper management of a rail-

road, strict discipline is necessary, and the power of discharg-

ing employes is needed to insure prompt obedience. In the

service of a corporation this is understood, but in that of the

State other considerations are apt to interfere.

It is my desire to record my belief, that James Clarke, the

President of the Board of Canal Commissioners, was a man
of good intentions, and of upright character, who occupied a

very difficult position. His home was in Western Pennsyl-

vania, and I knew him well. The Secretary of the Board was

Francis P. Shunk, who was afterwards Governor of the State.

He was noted for his quaint humor, was an admirable penman,

and for a long time Clerk of the House at Harrisburg.

In the official history of the Pennsylvania Railroad, pub-

lished by the Passenger Department of that Company in

1875, it is stated that, "The Portage Railroad over the Alle-

gheny Mountain was, during all the time it remained in ope-

ration, one of the wonders of America."

In 1838 was published in London a book called "A Sketch

of the Civil Engineering of Xorth America," by David Ste-

venson, civil engineer. The author was a son of the distin-

guished engineer of the Bell Rock Lighthouse. In his sixth

chapter, when speaking of the Portage Railroad, he says that

America "now numbers among its many wonderful artificial

lines of communication, a mountain railway, which, in bold-

ness of design, and difficulty of execution, I can compare to

no modern work I have ever seen, excepting perhaps the

passes of the Simplon, and Mont Cenis, in Sardinia; but even

these remarkable passes, viewed as engineering works, did not
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strike me as being more wonderful than the Allegheny Rail-

way in the United States." In another part of the book, he

gives an account of his passage over the road.

Michel Chevalier, the distinguished French engineer, and

political economist, visited the railroad, and gave a descrip-

tion of it in his book on the public works of the United

States, which was published in Paris in 1840. He is now a

leader in the project for a railway tunnel under the sea from

France to England.

One thing that was considered to be a great curiosity, was

the carriage of canal boats over the mountain, which was done

to a considerable extent. The road being, as its name implied,

a Portage Railroad, a transhipment of some sort was required

at both ends of the line, which caused expense and delay.

Different firms, engaged in the transportation business, tried

different plans to diminish the evil. One plan was the use

of boats built in sections, and carried on trucks over the rail-

road. Another mode of carrying freight was in cars, having

movable bodies, wThich could be lifted off the wheels, and

transferred to canal boats fitted to receive them. The wear

and tear of the sectional boats, and movable car bodies, and

the amount of dead weight that had to be carried, were found

to be serious objections to both these plans.

For the prevention of accidents, safety cars were used upon

the inclined planes. They were devised by Mr. Welch, the

chief engineer, and they worked well. The cars were at-

tached to the endless ropes by small ones called stopper ropes.

In case of the failure of any of the fastenings, or the break-

ing or giving way of a splice in the main rope, the safety car

prevented any serious accident, by acting as a brake-shoe or

drag, so as to stop the cars, and prevent them from running

down the plane.

Thus the communication was kept up between Philadelphia

and Pittsburgh, until the time came for something better to

be provided. The time required for passenger cars to pass

over the road was reduced to about four hours. Many dis-

tinguished persons visited the line, the travel was very safe,

Vol. ii.—27
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and the business of 1835 amounted to about fifty thousand

tons of freight, and twenty thousand passengers.

The Portage Railroad crossed the Allegheny Mountain at

Blair's Gap, a point nearly due east from Pittsburgh ; and the

excavation or cut made to reduce the summit was only about

twelve feet deep, the natural summit being somewhat fiat and

wet. This summit, as ascertained by recent railroad surveys,

was 2322 feet above mean tide, or 161 feet higher than Gal-

litzin Station on the Pennsylvania Railroad, which is at the

western end of the summit tunnel, at Sugar Run Gap, about

two miles from Blairs' Gap.

There were eleven levels, so called, or rather grade lines,

and ten inclined planes on the Portage; the whole length of

the road being 36.69 miles. The planes wTere numbered east-

wardly.from Johnstown; and the ascent from that place to

the summit was 1171.58 feet in 26.59 miles, and the descent

from the summit to Hollidaysburg was 1398.71 feet in 10.10

miles.

The planes were all straight, and their lengths and eleva-

tions are given in the note at the conclusion of the paper.

The descent on each plane was regular from the top to a

point 200 feet from the bottom ; the last 200 feet having a

gradually diminishing inclination, equal to that of 100 feet

of the upper portion. Part of the track, generally 300 feet

long, adjoining the head and foot of each plane, was made
exactly level. The object of this was to facilitate the han-

dling of the cars.

The cost of the road at the close of the year 1835 was

$1,634,357.69, at the contract prices. This did not include

office expenses, engineering, or some extra allowances made
to contractors, in a few instances, by the legislature, after the

work was completed ; nor did it include the cost of locomo-

tives and cars. The cost of the rails for the second track,

imported from Great Britain, was §48.51 per ton, when landed

in Philadelphia. Acting for the State, I audited the accounts

of the importers at the time. Many of the final estimates of

the work were made out by me, but I will not encumber this

paper with their details.
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I may here mention the fact that in 1851, the State began

the construction of a road to avoid the inclined planes, with

a maximum grade of To feet per mile, and a summit tunnel

about 2000 feet long. Parts of the old line were used, and

the road was lengthened about six miles. A single track was

laid down, and was in use in 1856 ; but in the following year

the whole work, as a part of the main line, was sold by the

State to the Pennsylvania Kail road Company.

Antes Snyder, the youngest son of Governor Simon Snyder

of Pennsylvania, had been inspector of railroad iron in Wales

for the State. He was an engineer of good abilities, and of

excellent character, and a graduate of the West Point Mili-

tary Academy. After his return from Wales, he was em-

ployed in the State service in "Western Pennsylvania. He
was offered an engagement to go abroad again, to inspect rails

for the Reading Railroad, and other lines, but was unwill-

ing to accept it, so I took his place. He was afterwards in

the service of the Philadelphia and Reading Railroad Com-
pany on the Lebanon Valley line. He has been dead for some

years, and it gives me pleasure to record my high respect for

his memory, and for the Christian graces that adorned his

character. As the State works were not directly profitable,

it has been too much the fashion to assume that the manage-

ment was utterly corrupt and bad. That such was the case in

many instances cannot be denied, but there were many bright

exceptions.

Having retired from my position on the Portage Railroad

in January, 1836, I sailed soon after from Xew York for

Liverpool. To 3how the great changes which have occurred

in travelling since then, I may mention, that on the 14th of

February, 1836, 1 left Philadelphia at 5 P. M., and was four-

teen hours going to Xew York, with the great Southern mail,

although the sleighing was good. We rode in an open sled, or

box on runners, and the four passengers sat on the mail bags.

The fare from Philadelphia to New York was six dollars.

It is now two dollars and a half, and the time is reduced to

less than two hours and a half, being less than one-fifth of the

time, and less than one-half of the price. My recollection is
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that we rode fourteen miles in a railroad car, from Elizabeth-

town to Jersey City.

Having remained abroad until October, 1837, 1 examined

many public works, and superintended the manufacture of a

large amount of railroad iron, and railroad equipments. At
the time of my going abroad, anthracite coal was nowhere

used for smelting iron ore ; but in May, 1837, 1 saw the prob-

lem successfully solved by means of the hot blast, by the late

George Crane, of the Yniscedwin Iron Works, near Swansea,

in South Wales. About the same time, at Bristol, England,

I walked over the keel of the steamship Great Western, which

had been laid not long before. Her success as a transatlantic

steamer was then a question keenly contested, but it turned

out to be complete. The length of my return voyage from

Liverpool to Philadelphia, in a packet ship, was forty-one

days.

The competition which existed between Philadelphia, is'ew

York, and Baltimore for the trade of the West, led to the

passage of an Act to incorporate the Pennsylvania Railroad

Company, on the 13th of April, 1846 ; but the conditions

contained in the Act were so stringent, that the Charter was not

issued by the Governor until the 25th of February, 1847. A
joint special committee of the City Councils of Philadelphia

made a report in July, 1846, recommending a subscription

to the stock on the part of the city. The committee sub-

mitted letters on the subject from a number of engineers,

which were printed with the report. In one of these letters

written by me, I urged the adoption of the Juniata route, and

the use of the Portage Railroad, temporarily, as part of the

line. The Charter, however, did not authorize the use of the

Portage Railroad, as the legislature was afraid of the compe-

tition of the Pennsylvania Railroad with the main line of the

public works. There was also a tonnage tax imposed, to pro-

tect the business of the main line, during the season of canal

navigation, which was at the rate of five mills, or half a cent,

per ton per mile, between the 10th of March and the 1st of

December in every year, but the railroad was to be free from

the tonnage tax in what was considered to be the winter sea-
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son. Although this tax was modified, it was not abolished

until after the purchase of the main line by the Pennsylvania

Railroad Company.

On the organization of the Pennsylvania Railroad Company

in 1847, Samuel V. Merrick was chosen President ; John

Edgar Thomson, chief engineer; William B. Foster, Jr.,

associate engineer of the eastern division ; and Edward Miller,

associate engineer of the western division. These gentlemen,

so eminently fitted for their positions, as I know from per-

sonal knowledge, thev havin°; been mv intimate friends, are

all dead.

In my opinion, the location of the Pennsylvania Railroad

deserves great praise; and, as now constructed, it is an admi-

rable road. It has become the main artery of the trade and

travel of the Commonwealth, and the population of Phila-

delphia is about three times as great as when it was begun.

On the 17th of September, 1850, the Pennsylvania Railroad

was opened from Harrisburg to a point of connection with

the Portage Railroad, at Duncansville, near Hollidaysburg,

portions of the line having been opened previously. About
that time, Thomas A. Scott, who is now the distinguished

President of the Pennsylvania Railroad Company, entered the

service , of the company as station agent at Duncansville;

where he had charge of the transfer of the cars between the

road of the company and that of the State. He wa3 soon

after transferred to the western division as its superintendent,

where he distinguished himself by his remarkable energy,

and great executive ability.

On the 15th of February, 1854, the mountain division of

the Pennsylvania Railroad was opened for use, with a summit
tunnel, and no inclined planes, and the company ceased to

make use of the Portage Railroad. There had been much
difficulty in obtaining the legislation to authorize the use of

the Portage Railroad by the company. The original act of

incorporation, passed in 1846, was very defective, and the

efforts made to amend it, in the following year, were not suc-

cessful. The necessary legislation was not obtained until

1848. In that year I was a member of the House of Repre-
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sentativcs of Pennsylvania, Laving been elected from the city

of Philadelphia, as one of the five members chosen to represent

the old city proper, on a general ticket. The railroad bills

in which the city was interested were placed in my hands.

A supplement to the Charter of the Pennsylvania Railroad

Company was obtained, which conferred many valuable privi-

leges. It provided a more just and equitable mode of assessing

land damages ; it confirmed the city subscription to the stock

;

it authorized the county of Allegheny to subscribe for stock

to the amount of a million dollars, which was afterwards

done; and it authorized the connection with the Portage

Railroad. It also made some reduction in the tonnage tax.

Legislation was obtained in another bill for the survey of a

line to avoid the inclined plane near Philadelphia.

At the same session a charter was obtained for a railroad

from Pittsburgh westward, on the line towards Fort Wavne
CD ' •/

and Chicago. I was afterwards the chief engineer of it, from

Pittsburgh to Crestline, a distance of 188 miles. I had charge

of the location, construction, and working of the road as far

west as Crestline, from 1848 to 1856, and the towns of Alli-

ance and Crestline were located, and their names selected by

me. This line was originally called the Ohio and Pennsyl-

vania Railroad, as it was chartered by both of those States,

and was the first line to connect their railroad systems. It

has become a most important feeder to the Pennsylvania

Railroad. On the 6th of January, 1852, the road was opened

from Pittsburgh to Alliance, 82 miles, where it connected with

a railroad to Cleveland; and, very shortly after, I took Louis

Kossuth and his party of Hungarians over it, which was the

occasion of a great ovation. The road was opened to Crest-

line on the 11th of April, 1853, where it connected with a

direct railroad to Columbus and Cincinnati. This road thu3

opened has now been in use for about twenty-five years, and

has been of great public utility.

The completion of the line between Crestline and Chicago

was delayed by financial difficulties for some years ; but it was

opened throughout in Decernter, 1858, mainly by the efforts

of John Edgar Thomson.
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The competition which was for some time carried on be-

tween the Pennsylvania Railroad and the main line, owned

by the State, was found to he injurious to both ; and, after

protracted negotiations, the State sold its line to the company.

On the 20th of July, 1857, a meeting of the stockholders of

the Pennsylvania Railroad Company was held at Sansom Street

Hall, to act upon the purchase of the main line, of canals, and

railroads between Philadelphia and Pittsburgh. Having been

selected for the purpose, I offered the resolutions, and spoke

in their favor. The measure was adopted with but little op-

position, and on the first of the following month, August 1st,

1857, the Governor, by proclamation, transferred the main

line to the railroad company. The Pennsylvania Railroad

Company thus became the owner of the Portage Railroad, and,

as it was not the interest of the company to keep it up and

work it, it soon went out of use. It had had its day, and

something better had taken its place ; and, instead of lasting

for many generations, the time of its existence was but about

twenty-five years.

The great improvements made in locomotive engines have

enabled them to work to advantage on steep grades, so as to

supersede stationary power, and to draw long and heavy trains

continuously for many miles, without stopping for any change.

Railroad tracks have also been greatly improved. The founda-

tions are better ; the rails are longer and stronger ; the joints

are fewer and much safer ; and the switches and signals are

much better than they were. Steel rails, and steel tires on

locomotive driving-wheels, have come into extensive use, and

add much to the durability and safety of the roads. Switch

rails were at first of cast iron; and afterwards of rolled iron,

with a pivot, or hinge, welded on at the heel of the switch.

On the Portage Railroad I introduced the plan of holding the

switch rail fast in a chair, and bending the rail by the switch

lever, as is now done in the common stub switch. Improved

safety switches have since been invented, and are now exten-

sively used.

When I went to the iron works in Wales in 1836, the rails

were allowed to get cold, after coming from the rolls, and the
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ends were afterwards reheated, and the fag ends cut off by
hand. While I was there, the circular saws were brought

into use, by which the ends of the rails are now cut off when
hot from the rolls. The iron rails made under my direction,

at the Ebbw Yale Iron Works, for the Reading Railroad, were

unusually good for that time; but good steel rails of Ameri-

can manufacture can now be bought for less than those cost

in Wales.

Fifty years have passed since I rode on the Mauch Chunk
Railroad, on the first train of cars that ever ran in Pennsyl-

vania, and during that long period my interest in the growth

of our railroad system has never ceased. Four years later,

when I led the locating party on the Allegheny Portage Rail-

road, it was with a feeling of enthusiasm for my professional

employment, which it gives me pleasure to recall. To be

useful to my native State and city, and to help to promote the

prosperity of Pennsylvania, were my lively hope and strong

desire, for it is a State of which we may well be proud.

The strong foundations of her history were laid by William

Penn, in principles of truth and justice which must endure

forever. Although the railroad of which I have spoken has

ceased to exist, yet I need not say,

" So fades, so perishes, grows dim, and dies,

All that this world is proud of."

Or, ""What profit hath a man of all his labor, which he taketh

under the sun ?"

The present is the child of the past, and will be the parent

of the future, and to keep the past from being forgotten, and

to preserve its lessons for our instruction, is the highly useful

office of the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, which I trust

it will continue to fill, for the benefit of those who may come
after us, for many generations.

NOTE.

The following Table gives the profile of the Portage Railroad. The grade

lines between the inclined planes, and between the planes and the terminal

stations, which were worked by horse power, or by locomotives, were called

"levels." There were some minor variations in the grades on the levels,
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made to suit the ground, which are omitted from the

lengths and heights here given, the average grade of

obtained correctly.

Length.
Level No. 1. From Johnstown to

Plane No. 1 4.13 miles

Plane No. 1. Ascending eastward 1607.74 feet.

Level No. 2.

Level

Plane No. 2.

Level No. 3.

Plane No. 3.

Level No. 4.

Plane No. 4.

Level No. 5.

Plane No. 5.

Level No. 6.

Long

Summit

Level at Blair's Gap

13.06 miles.

1760.43 feet.

1.49 miles.

1480.25 feet.

1.90 miles.

2195.94 feet.

2.56 miles.

2628.60 feet.

1.62 miles.

Table ; but from th<

each " level" may be

Rise.

, 101.46 ft.

150.00 ft.

189.58 ft.

132.40 ft.

14.50 ft.

130.50 ft.

18.80 ft.

187.86 ft.

25.80 ft.

201.64 ft.

19.04 ft.

Fall.

Plane No. 6. Descendmgeastw'd 2713.85 feet. 266.50 ft.

Level No. 7. " .15 miles. 0.00 ft.

Plane No. 7. 2655.01 feet. 260.50 ft.

Level No. 8. " .66 miles. 5 80 ft.

Plane No. 8. " 3116.92 feet. 307.60 ft.

Level No. 9. " 1.25 miles. 12.00 ft.

Plane No. 9. " . 2720.80 feet. 189.50 ft.

Level No. 10. " 1.76 miles. 29.58 ft.

Plane No. 10. " . 2295.61 feet. 180.52 ft.

Level No. 11. " to Holli-

daysburg * 3.72 miles. 146.71 ft.

1171.58

1398.71 ft.
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COMPUTATION OF TIME, AND CHANGES OF STYLE
IN THE CALENDAR.

ADDRESSED TO STUDENTS OF HISTORY AND GENEALOGY.

BY SPENCER BONSALL.

Julian and Gregorian Calendar.

More than one hundred and twenty-five years have elapsed

since the British Government ordained that a change should

be made in the calendar, in order to prevent further errors

in the chronological record of events, by the adoption of the

Gregorian, or " Xew Style," of computing the length of the

year, in place of the Julian, or "Old Style," then in use.

This law applied to the American and all other colonies of

the English Crown; yet there are but few persons, at the

present time, who have a clear conception of the meaning of

the above terms ; and, as the subject has seldom been treated,

in the works of reference commonly used, in the manner it

deserves, mistakes are frequently made, even by literary men,

when writing of past events.

It is unnecessary to enter into an examination of the various

calendars that have been in vogue from time immemorial

;

therefore, I will confine myself to the two now in use by

Christian nations.

The solar or tropical year is that period which corresponds

to the sun's revolution in the ecliptic from any equinox or

solstice to the same again. If the civil year corresponds with

the solar, the seasons of the year will always occur at the

same period. But prior to the Christian era, the Roman
pontiffs, from self-interested motives, added to or took from

the year capriciously, so as to lengthen or shorten the period

during which a magistrate remained in office, and by this

means created such irregularity, that in the days of Julius

Caesar the spring season occurred in what the calendar called

summer.
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According to Censorinus, quoted by Dr. Smith in his Dic-

tionary of Greek and Roman Antiquities, the confusion was

at last carried so far that Caius Julius Caesar, the Poutifex

Maximus, in his third Consulate, with Lepidua for his col-

league, inserted between the months of Xovember and Decem-

ber two intercalary months, consisting, together, of 67 days,

and to the month of February an intercalation of 23 days,

which, added to the length of the previous year, 355 days,

made the whole of that year 445 days, thus bringing the

calendar to conform with the seasons. This year was called

by Macrobius " the last year of confusion.''

Caesar now undertook the formation of a new calendar.

With the assistance of Sosigenes, a famous Egyptian mathe-

matician, he calculated the solar year, which he fixed at 365

days and 6 hours ; and, to make allowance for the hours, he

determined on the intercalation of one day in every four

years, which, being a duplication of the 6th, before the Calends

of March, was called the Bissextile, or twice sixth. That is,

the day answering to the 24th of February was counted

twice, both days having the same name, which also gives us

our term of leap-year, which leaps over, as it were, one day

more than there are days in a common year.

This was the Julian method of computing time, the reckon-

ing by which commenced in the 45th year B. C, and intro-

duced our present arrangement of having three years of 365

days, followed by one of 366, dividing the year into months

nearly as at present.

In A. D. 325, the first Ecumenical or General Council as-

sembled at Xice, in Asia Minor, to deliberate and act on

ecclesiastical matters. They composed the Nicene Creed, etc.

etc., and fixed the days on which Easter and other movable

feasts should be celebrated. At that date, the Vernal Equi-

nox, the precise time when the days and nights are equal, fell

on the 21st of March, although in the time of Julius Caesar

that event happened on the 25th. £*ot knowing that the

error was in the calendar, but supposing the former date to

be correct, and that there would be no variation from it,

the Council decreed that Easter day should be "the first
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Sunday after the first full moon which happened next after

the 21st of March. And if the full moon happens upon a

Sunday, Easter day is the Sunday after." This rule is still

in force.

The calendar of Julius Caesar was found to be defective, for

in the year 1582, the vernal equinox fell on the 11th, instead

of the 21st of March. Pope Gregory XIII, assisted by seve-

ral learned men, made a complete reformation of it. The
Encyclopaedia Britannica gives the name of the author of the

system adopted as Aloysius Lilius, or Luigi Lilio Ghiraldi, a

learned astronomer and physician of Naples.

The solar or tropical year is found by observation to con-

sist of 365 days, 5 hours, 48 minutes, and 46.14912 1 seconds,

which not being equal to the year of 365 days, 6 hours, upon

which Julius Coesar established the leap-year (the difference,

11 minutes, 14 seconds, amounting in about 128 years to a

whole day), Gregory, assuming his fixed point of departure,

not A. D. 1, but the year of the Council of !Nlce, A. D. 325,

decreed that that year, 1582, should consist of 355 days only

(October 5th became October 15th), thus dropping 10 day3.

And to prevent further irregularity, it was determined that

a year, ending a century, should not be a leap-year, with the

exception of that ending each fourth century. Thus 1700

and 1800 have not been leap-years, nor will 1900 be so, but

the year 2000 will be. That is, when a centesimal year i3

divisible by 400, without a remainder, it is a leap-year, and

when there is a remainder, the year consists of 365 days only.

In this manner, three days are retrenched in 400 years, be-

cause the lapse of 11 minutes and 14 seconds makes three days

in about that period. All other years in the century divisible

by 4, without a remainder, are likewise leap-years. The Ball

which effected this change was issued February 24, 1582.

1 I am indebted to Professors Nourse and Hall, of the United States Naval

Observatory, Washington, D. C, for the exact length of the solar or tropical

year, which is given, from the most reliable data, as 365.2422008 days =365
d. 5 h. 48 min. 46.14912 sec. This varies a few seconds from previous cal-

culations, affecting only the length of time when the difference will amount

to a day.
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The year of the calendar is thus made, as nearly as possible,

to correspond with the true solar year, and future errors in

chronology will be avoided, as the difference will not amount
to much more than a day in 3342 years, or until A. D. 3607,

counting from the Council of Xice.

The Catholic nations, in general, adopted the style ordained

by their sovereign pontiff, 1 but the greater part of the Pro-

testants, with the exception of a portion of the Netherlands,

were then too much inflamed against Catholicism, in all its

relations, to receive even a purely scientific improvement

from such a source. The Lutherans of Germany, Switzerland,

and the remaining parts of the Low Countries at length gave

way in 1700, when it had become necessary to omit eleven in-

stead of ten days, in consequence of their having made that

year a leap-year.

It was not until 1751, and after great inconvenience had

been experienced for nearly two centuries from the difference

of reckoning, that an act was passed (24 Geo. II. c. 23, 1751)

for equalizing the style in Great Britain, Ireland, and the

Colonies with that used in other countries of Europe. It was

then enacted that eleven nominal days should be omitted ; the

last day of Old Style being Wednesday the 2d, and the first

of New Style (the next day) Thursday the 14th, instead of the

3d of September, 1752, and the legal year, which had pre-

viously been held to begin with the 25th of March, was made

to begin on the 1st of January. The Gregorian regulation of

dropping one day in every hundredth year, except the fourth

hundred, was also included.

The alteration was for a long time opposed by the prejudices

of individuals ; and even now, in some instances, in England,

the old style is so pertinaciously adhered to, that rents are

made payable on the old quarter days, instead of the new.

Assuming the Calendar to have been correct at the time of

the Council of Xice, the first centesimal year, A. D. 400, which

occurred only seventy-five years later, should not have been

made a leap-year, but as it was, the first excess of one day

1 Chambers's Encyclopaedia.
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took place. The following table, omitting the centuries 800,

1200, and 1(300, which were properly leap-years, will show the

difference which must be allowed in the respective periods,

for changing Old Style to New Style:—
From Maarch 1st, A.D. 400 to March 1st, A. D 500, omit 1 day

M II it 500 to
" ii i<

600,
ii 2 days

II (1 (i 600 to
<i <i it

700,
11 3 "

II II u 700 to
it ii K

900,
ii 4 "

II II II 900 to
<i ii a 1000, it 5 "

II <l II 1000 to
it it ii 1100, a 6 "

II II II 1100 to ii ii ii 1300,
ii 7 "

II II II 1300 to (i ii it 1400,
it 8 "

II II II 1400 to
it ii ii 1500,

ii 9 "

II (1 (1 1500 to ii it it 1700,
ii 10 "

U II II 1700 to Sept. 2d, " 1752,
ii 11 "

The change of eleven days in the last century, required to

reduce old style to new, has been the cause of many mistakes,

made by thoughtless persons, who apply that difference to all

past time. All events require a correction, respective of the

time of their occurrence. For example : Columbus discovered

America on Friday, the 12th day of October, 1492, O. S., by

the Xew Style this event happened on Friday, October 21,

1492, a difference of nine days only being made, as will be

observed by reference to the table. Again, William Penn

" arrived before the town of [New Castle, in Delaware," on

Friday, October 27, 1682, O. S., which reduced to X. S. is

Friday, [November 6th, ten days being then the difference, and

in the next century, to take a familiar example, Washington

was born on Friday, the 11th of February, 1732, and, as all

the world knows, we celebrate the anniversary of his birth on

the 22d of February, in this case properly omitting eleven days,

as required by the act of Parliament.

Russia, 1 and the countries following the communion of the

1 As this article was being prepared, the following appeared in the papers

of the day :

—

Associated Press Despatch.

London, Jane 21, 1878.— According to a Warsaw letter, the Gregorian

Calendar is likely to be adopted in Russia. The Council of State and the

Jtinisters have, for some time, been using both the old and new styles.
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Greek Church, are now the only ones which adhere to the

Old Style, an adherence which renders it necessary, when a

letter is thence addressed to a person in another country, that

the date should he given thus: April ^ or j^yf, for it

will be observed that the year 1800, not being a Gregorian

leap-year, has interjected another (or twelfth) day between

old and new style. Earlier examples of double-dating may
be found in the " Documents relating to the Colonial History

of Kew York," vol. ill., thus
T
9
gth of 9ber

, and g| 10ber
,

1665, etc. etc. The months September, October, November,

and December, were frequently written 7
ber

,
8***, 9ber

, and

lO 1*31
", or in Roman numerals. Also in " Macaulay's History

of England," in the foot-notes to Chapter IV., thus: Feb.

3 (13), April 18 (28), May 28 (June 7), 1685, etc. etc.

CiXENDAR OP THE " SOCIETY OF FRIENDS."

The numerical designation of the months used by the

Society of Friends did not originate with them. In the

calendar of Julius Caesar the months were not only named,

but were also numbered, thus:

—

10. December.

11. January.

12. February.

We find in early records, long before the advent of the

Society of Friends, that dates were frequently given, in which

the number of the month only was used, in accordance with

the above arrangement. 1

1 In the distribution of the days through the several months, Julius Caesar

adopted a simpler and more convenient arrangement than that which has

since prevailed. He had ordered that the first, third, fifth, seventh, ninth,

and eleventh months, that is March, May, July, September, November, and

January should each have 31 days, and the other months 30, excepting the

twelfth month, February, which in common years should have only 29, but

every fourth year 30 days. This order was broken to gratify the vanity of

Augustus, by giving the sixth month, 'bearing his name, as many days

as July, which was named after the first Caesar. A day was accordingly

taken from February and given to August ; and in order that three months

1. March. 4. June. 7. September.

2. April. 5. July. 8. October.

3. May. 6. August. 9. November.
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Soon after the arrival of William Peiiu in this country,

numerous laws were enacted for the government of the Pro-

vince. Among them was one relating to the days of the week,

and the months of the year, which is here given verbatim from

the original MS. document, in possession of " The Historical

Society of Pennsylvania," and which is entitled:

—

" The great Law or the Body of Lawes of the Province of

Pennsylvania and Territories thereunto belonging Past at

an Assembly held at Chester (alias upland) the 7th day of

y
e 10th month, called December 1682."

The 35th section is as follows:

—

" 35. And Be it further enacted by the authority aforesaid

that the dayes of the Week and y
e months of the year shall

be called as in Scripture, & not by Heathen names (as are

vulgarly used) as the first Second and third days of y
e Week

and first second and third months of y
e year and beginning

with y
e Day called Sunday and the month called March." 1

At the time the English Government passed the act requir-

ing a change from old style to new, it became necessary for the

Society of Friends to take action on the subject, which they-

did in this manner:

—

" Extracts from the Minutes of the Yearly Meeting held at

Philadelphia for Pennsylvania & Xew Jersey from the 14th

to the 18th day of the Seventh Month (inclusive), 1751.

" Began Business on the 17th, being the third day of the

Week.
"Israel Pemberton, Caleb Cowpland, Ennion Williams,

Daniel Smith, Ebenezer Hopkins, & Joseph Parker are ap-

pointed to adjust the Accounts, and report the state thereof

to-morrow.

of 31 days each might not come together, September and November were

reduced to 30 days, and 31 given to October and December.
1 It would appear from this, as though the year was to have commenced

on the 1st day of March, and it is so stated by Hazard, in a foot-note on page

58, vol. 1, of the " Minutes of the Provincial Council of Penna." That this

was not the case, may be seen by reference to " Votes of the Assembly of

Penna.," to the Journal of George Fox, fonnder of the Society of Friends,

and to the writings of William Penn, where double-dating is always used

until the 25th pf March, the commencement of another year.
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"On the 18th
" The Clerk is directed with the Extracts of the Minutes

of this Meeting to send Copies of the written Epistle from

the Yearly Meeting of London, this year, directed to the

Quarterly & Monthly Meetings of Friends in general.

"Agreed, that Friends within the Compass of this Yearly

Meeting should concur with the Minute of the Yearly Meet-

ing in London concerning the Method of computing time a3

prescribed by a late Act of Parliament, which minute is as

follows, Yiz fc

:
—

"Agreed, that, as by the late"Act of Parliament for regu-

" lating the Commencement of the Year, it is ordered, that

" the first day of the Eleventh Month next, shall be deemed

" the first day of the Year 1752, and that the month called

" January shall be successively accounted the first month of

" the Year, and not the Month called March, as heretofore

" hath been our Method of Computing.
" That from and after the time above mentioned, the Eleventh

" month called January, shall thenceforward be deemed &
" reckoned the First month of every year, & to be so styled

" in all the Records & Writings of Friends, instead of com-
" puting from the month called March, according to our pre-

" sent Practice : And Friends are recommended to go on with

" the Barnes of the following months numerically according

" to our Practice from the beginning, so that the Months may
"be called & written as follows, That named January to

" be called and written the first month, and February to be

" called and written the Second Month, & so on. All other

" Methods of computing or calling the months unavoidably

" leading into Contradiction.

" And Whereas for the more regular computation of Time
" the same Act directs, that in the Month now called Sep-

" tember, which will be in the year 1752 after the second day

" of the said month, Eleven nominal Days shall be omitted

" and that which would have been the third shall be reckoned

"& Esteemed the fourteenth day of the said month, & that

" which would otherwise have been the fourth day of the said

" month must be deemed the Fifteenth, & so on. It appears

Vol. ii.—28
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" likewise necessary that Friends should conform themselves
" to this direction and omitt the Eleven nominal days accord-

ingly,"
" Business being Ended, The Meeting adjourned to Burling-

ton on the 24th day of the Ninth Month in the next Year

according to this new Method of Computing of Time, which

will be on the Second First day of the "Week, in the month by

Law called September.
Extracted & Examined

by
ISR. PEMBERTOX,

Junr Clk»

According to both the Julian and Gregorian calendars,

January has always been January, but to change the eleventh

month to the first, and the twelfth to the second is making

"confusion worse confounded," particularly to genealogists

who wish to reduce dates of births and deaths from old style

to new.

It may be difficult for some persons to understand the last

paragraph of the preceding " Extracts," how the 24th of the

Ninth Month (September) could be the Second First day of

the week (Sunday) occurring in the month. It must be re-

membered, that the last day of Old Style was Wednesday, the

2d, and the first day of New Style, the next day, Thursday,

the 14th of September (or Ninth Month), the change only

affecting the numerical order of the days of the month, the

names of the days of the week continuing as though no alte-

ration had been made; consequently the first Sunday (or first

day of the week) in the month happened on the 17th, and the

second on the 24th ; the month, by the dropping of 11 days,

consisting of 19 days only.

Ecclesiastical axd Historical Year.

In England, as early as the 7th century, the year began on

the 25th of December, or Christmas day, and this date was

used by most persons until the 13th century. But in the 12th

century, the Anglican Church required that their year should

commence on the 25th of March (Annunciation, or Lady-Day).

This rule was adopted by the Civilians in the 14th century,
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and was adhered to until 1752. It was known as the Eccle-

siastical, Legal, or Civil year. The 1st of January, however,

had been considered as the beginning of the Historical year

from the time of the Conquest, A. D. 1066, and in Scotland

from A. D. 1600. This difference caused great practical in-

convenience, and consequently double-dating was usually re-

sorted to, for time between the 1st of January and the 25th

of March, thus: February, or 12th mo. 6th 168 £, or 1684-5,

as we often find in old records. This date in New Style

would correspond to February, or 2d month, 16th, 1685, the

lower or last figure representing the Historical year, ac-

cording to our present mode of computation, commencing
with the 1st of January ; and the upper or first figure the

Ecclesiastical or civil year, beginning with the 25th of March.

Without this method of double-dating it would be difficult

to know which year was intended, particularly for time be-

tween the 1st and 25th of March. There are instances, how-

ever, in which double-dating for the above months was not

used ; in such cases the year, as given, must be taken as com-

mencing on the 1st of January. This system was adopted,

occasionally, in each country earlier than the Gregorian or

Few Style.

In changing the days of the month from old style to new,

add to them the figures 9, 10, 11, or as the case maybe in the

respective periods of the preceding table ; always remember-

ing that in the numerical arrangement of the months, the

First month represented March, and so on, previous to the

year 1752 in Great Britain and her colonies. 1

It is, however, particularly recommended, that dates should

not be changed, in any case, but that the letters O. S. be added,

when necessary. This will relieve Historians, and others,

from much perplexity, as they can make their own calcula-

tions.2

1 For the date of change in other countries, see next number of the

Magazine.
2 A work entitled " Memorials of John Bartram and Humphrey Marshall,"

Philadelphia. 1849, furnishes a case in point. It i3 devoted almost exclu^

sively to a correspondence between members of the Society of Friends, in

the early part of the last century, who used the numerical method of dating,
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Dominical Letters.

It is sometimes of the greatest importance that we should

know on what day of the week a certain event took place (or

may happen in the future), or, having the day of the week,

what day of the month will correspond to it. ISTumerous in-

tricate methods of calculation have been suggested at various

times for solving this difficulty. The use of the following

table will save all that trouble and waste of time, and a few

miuutes' attention will make any person perfectly familiar

with it.

The first seven letters of the alphabet, A, B, C, D, E, F, G,

have been employed by chronologists to designate the several

days of the week, the first letter standing for the first day of

January, and so on, and since one of these letters must neces-

sarily stand opposite to Sunday, it is called the Dominical or

Sunday letter. When January begins on Sunday, the domini-

cal letter for that year is A, and, as the common year consists

of 52 weeks and 1 day, the year must begin and end on the

same day of the week; and the next year must begin on

Monday, therefore Sunday will be the seventh day, and the

letter G will be the dominical letter. The third year will

begin on Tuesday, and, as Sunday falls on the sixth day, F
will be the dominical letter. Hence it follows that the do-

minical letters will succeed each other in a retrograde order,

viz., G, F, E, D, C, B, A, and if there was no leap-year, the

same day of the week would, in the course of seven years,

return to the same days of the month. But since a leap-year

contains 52 weeks and 2 days, any leap-year beginning on

Sunday will end on Monday, and the following year will begin

on Tuesday, the first Sunday of which must fall on the sixth

day of January, to which the dominical letter F corresponds,

and not G, as in common years. As the leap-year returns

beginning the year with the 1st month, or March. The editor has changed

this, by naming the first month January, and consequently has dated a greater

part of the letters two months before they were written, and births and

deaths two months before they occurred. This is certainly a new style, and

not uncommon among oar younger genealogists.
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every fourth year, the regular succession of the dominical letter

is interrupted. Its next recurrence can be found by dividing

the year by 4 (see example below, with the dominical letter

F ; the lower figures representing the remainders), if there

be no remainder, the interval to the next year will be 6 years;

if 2 remain it will be 11 years; if 1 remain it will be 6 years,

and if 3 remain the interval will be 5 years.

GF. F. F. F. OF. F. F. F.

1844 -f 6 = 1S50 + 11 = 1881 -f 6 = 1867 + 5 = 1872 -f 6 = 1878 + U = 18S9 + 6 = 1895 -f 5

2 1 3 0.2 13
The cycle of recurrence is, therefore, 6, 11, 6, 5, except as

modified by the centesimal years.

I have been thus explicit, as I cannot find that any writer

has mentioned the above fact. They all appear to be unani-

mous in the statement, that the Solar Cycle, a period of 28

years, is the only time when the same days of the week will

correspond to the same days of the month. Previous to the

change of style in 175*2, 28 years always elapsed between any

two leap-years having the same dominical letters, but since

that time the rule will answer only for the leap-years of each

century separately.

Immediately above, or preceding every leap-year in the

table, there is a blank space, and in a line with it, under the

century, will be found the dominical letter that must be

used for the months of January and February, and in a

line with the year, the letter to be used for the remainder of

the leap-year; thus 1876 has B and A, 1880 D and C, 1884

F and E, etc. This, with the explanation at the top of the

table, should enable any one to prove its accuracy by com-

parison with almanacs, either in the old or new style, or with

books and newspapers. 1

The year 1752, on account of the change of style, had three

dominical letters. E from Wednesday, January 1st, to Satur-

day, February 29th ; D from Sunday, March 1st, to Wednes-

day, September 2d ; and A from Thursday, September 14th

(when New Style was adopted), to the close of the year.

1 A table similar to this, bnt not so extended, appeared in the N". E. His-

torical and Genealogical Register, vol. xx. 1866. It was communicated by

Isaac J. Greenwood, of New York.
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NOTES ON THE IROQUOIS AND DELAWARE INDIANS.

Communications from Conrad Weiser to Christopher Saub,

1746-1749.

COMPILED BY ABRAHAM CASSELL.

TRANSLATED BY MISS HELEN BELL.

(Concluded from vol. i. page 323.)

Concerning their Allies and Friends, we have heard from a

trustworthy Indian, who has travelled a great deal, that of

them there are as follows :

—

(1st) The Zis-a-gech-Roonu, who live in three great

cities on the eastern side of Huron's Lake, have of war-

riors about 2400

(2nd) The Unich-Kalliagon have of warriors . . 3000

These live on the west side of Lake Erie, and onward

to the strait of Huron's Lake.

(3rd) The RunadaAVadeeny are the next mentioned

neighbors. Their warriors are about .... 400

(4th) The Oyjachdanich-Roonu live near the Black

River, and have of warriors about .... 1000

(5th) The Towwichtowich-Roonu, on the Thunackgi

River have 300

(6th) The Gechdagech-Roonu, on the great River Mis-

sissippi . . . 500

(7th) The Ofkuniagis, on an arm of the Ohio towards

the west 1000

(8th) The Karbaguch-Roonu (in German wild people)

dwell and are to the north of Huron's Lake ; they do

not sow, but journey from one place to another ; their

number is uncertain. It is said they are more numerous

than all the rest in alliance with the Iroquois.

(9th) The Schawanos, on the River Ohio, have of

warriors 200

(10th) The Dellewar, in Pennsylvania and Ohio . 200

(11th) The Mohickander, which are scattered along

Hudson River and in New England, not fewer than 300

Thus in all such as bear arms in war there are . 9300
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The art of war they understand extremely well, particu-

larly in the wilderness, for it is their occupation from their

youth up. Indeed, they seek no other honor or happiness

than to he good warriors. The parents do everything in their

power to make their sons brave heroes ; they frequently send

them into battle when they are only 12 or 15 years old, but

under the coutrol of good officers. They are light on their

feet, can endure hunger three to four days, indeed, if it is

necessary, even longer, and at the same time march every day
thirty, forty, to fifty English miles and attack their enemy. In

war they are a crafty, cruel, and daring people. A European

who wishes to stand well with them, must practise well the

three following virtues : They are

—

(1) Speak the truth
;

(2) Give the best that he has

;

(3) Show himself not a coward, but courageous in all cases.

They believe that when the soul of a person leaves the

body, it takes a long journey to a happy land, where there

are quantities of fat game, and everything grows luxuriantly.

There the huckleberries are as large as a man's fist, and the

strawberries are equally as large, and their taste is much
better than ours. There a man can lie in the shade the whole

day, and the most beautiful maidens wait upon him. There

no one grows old. Those who have been the best and most

heroic warriors here, there have the pre-eminence, and rule

over the good women. Iso bad people come to this place, but

if a common man got there, he must be the servant of the

others for many a year.

The children inherit no property from their parents ; when
the old people die, they leave their property to others, it

generally remains with the friends; the oldest man of the

family makes presents out of it at his pleasure, the children

very seldom receive any of it, even though they desire it ; if

they are grown up they must take care of themselves.

If a young man is a good hunter, he is in no want, his wife,

or her mother, or his mother, if he is not married, is master

of his deerskins ; but he is well clothed, and everything neces-
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sary is given to him that he may live like a gentleman of his

kind.

What are here noticed are the universal manners and cus-

toms, but some differ from the others in their customs. I

have been at their burials ; there we see everything that the

dead man owned brought to the burying place, and as soon

as he is buried, everything is divided ; among others, every-

thing is put in the box with the dead ; but they always give

him bows and arrows, hatchets, kettles, and a dressed skin for

shoes, so that he is provided for in the long journey until he

reaches the pleasant land of souls, where they hope to meet

with their fathers and grandfathers, and other good friends in

a blissful life.

When a chaste wife has lost her husband, she is not married

again until a winter and a summer have passed, and then she

must be urged to it by her friends. During this time she

should rather lose her life than do anything dishonorable.

And. so, too, with an honorable man; they mourn along time,

and at first go to the grave almost every morning, afterwards

every month, and make their lamentations very mournfully

and sorrowfully to inspire one with pity; they allow no grass

to grow on the grave, but scrape the ground daily with their

hands, so that it looks as if it had been made yesterday.

When the time of mourning is over, the friends come and

bring gifts to wipe away the tears from the sorrowing eyes.

In the mean time, the deceased has arrived in the land of souls,

and the friends o;ive a feast. Xo one dare mention the name
of the dead person after he is buried; if any one does it igno-

rantly, he commits a misdeed; but if some one does it in de-

fiance, they often avenge it with death to cool their anger, etc.

Of their chastity and marriage, perhaps, another time.

I am your devoted,

CONRAD WEISER.

If we consider the condition and manner of living of the

Indians, whom we call savages and heathens, and compare
them with the so-called Christian people, who think they are

regenerate, there i3 very little difference, except that many
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know the Lord's will and do it not, and, therefore, shall be

beaten with many stripes, Luke xii. 47. The most sensible

Indians complain of the Christians for bringing so much rum
and brandy among them, by means of which their more frivo-

lous people have been so corrupted and deceived as to resemble

the Christians. He who writes this description, declares : He
has been among them thirty years, and has never seen two

sober Indians quarrel or fight. Ah I if an Indian could be

only a year among the Christians, and say : He had seen no

one get angry with another, quarrel, scold, fight, cheat, lie,

slander, backbite, etc., what a glorious renown that would be 1

He could scarcely find, I will not say a whole nation, lan-

guage, city, or village, but even a house that has that glory

to perfection.

Since the Indians take their sons to war early, to tram them
up to it, and since in Europe the high-born, or noble Chris-

tians instruct their sons betimes in fighting and tilting, and

such like sciences, by which one is sent to soar aloft, and the

other to oppress, and to make away with his enemies ; and
since even among the rest there are so many who have thi3

same love of a warlike life ; and delight m going to war,

therefore such Indians and such Christians are alike. Thus
the whole art of war must have come from wicked Cain's

manners and nature, and needs no regeneration, as men now-

a-days are born anew, because the heathenish nature brings

it with itself.

It is a praiseworthy thing that the Indians hate lying as

much as they do ; but among the Christian people ot to-day

it is certainly somewhat rare to find any one communicating

quite candidly with his neighbor, and it is no longer custom-

ary to hear the truth, we can often fancy beforehand that only

half or nothing at all is true, and afterwards it turns out as

we thought.

C. SAUR.
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EARLY DAYS OF THE REVOLUTION
IN PHILADELPHIA.

Charles Thomson's Account of the Opposition to the Boston Port Bill.

From the Sparks Manuscripts in the Library of Harvard College.

[The following letter from Charles Thomson to William Henry Drayton,

of S. O, was written when that gentleman was preparing a history of the

Revolution, to correct a statement which had been furnished him by Joseph

Reed ; and, as Thomson was one of the principal actors in the events of

which his letter treats, his views are entitled to a careful consideration.

The date of the letter is uncertain, but it was probably written after Dray-

ton had become a member of Congress (1778-79), of which body Thomson

was Secretary, as we have no evidence that they were acquainted prior to

that time. "While the narrative was prepared only to defend the conduct of

John Dickinson, it furnishes an interesting chapter in the secret history of

revolutionary politics. It shows the strenuous efforts that were made to en-

list Pennsylvania in the cause of Independence, and, at the same time, pre-

serve, as the Constitution of the State, the form of government under which,

as a colony, she had attained prosperity and position. Had such a course

been persevered in, there can be but little doubt that our State would have

.escaped one of the bitterest periods of her existence, and, undivided by local

dissensions, would have given to the Revolutionary cause even greater sup-

port than that which she was enabled to render.

A portion of Thomson's letter is quoted in the Life of President Reed,

and is the only part of it, we believe, that has ever appeared in print.

From a copy in the collection of manuscripts made by Dr. Sparks, and de-

posited by hi3 widow in the library of Harvard College, we are, through the

courtesy of Mrs. Sparks, and of Mr. Justin Winsor, the Librarian, able to give

in full this valuable addition to the records of the early history of the Ptevolu-

tion in Philadelphia. To Mr. Winsor we are also indebted for the careful

comparison of the copy sent us, with the one obtained by Dr. Sparks.

—

Ed.]

Observations on Mr. Reed's notes delivered to W. H. D. 1

Sir: I have run over your manuscript, and as I perceive

you must have had your information from some person who

judged only from appearance, without being acquainted with

the secret springs and reality of actions, I find myself obliged

injustice to a character, which is not represented in a true

1 The Hon. W. H. Drayton.
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point of light, to unfold the scene, and give you a sketch of

things as they really happened.

It is generally known what an early part Mr. D. 1 took in

the American disputes. His first piece in favour of America

was written in the year 1765, during the stamp act. The
sudden repeal of the stamp act rendered a farther continua-

tion of his labours at that time unnecessary. But the tea,

paper, and glass act called him forth again in the year 1767

or 1768, when he published his farmer's letters, which had

the effect to rouse America to a sense of its danger, and to

adopt measures for preventing the evils threatened, and ob-

taining a redress of grievances. The partial repeal of this

act in the year 1770, in a great measure put an end to the

apprehensions of the Americans, and peace and good humour
seemed to be again restored. During all this time, Mr. D.

was considered as the first champion for American liberty.

His abilities exercised in defence of the rights of his country

raised his character high, not only in America, but in Europe,

and his fortune and hospitality gave him great influence in

his own state. When the controversy was again renewed

between Great Britain and America in the year 1772, the

merchants of Philada
, who first took the alarm at the*

attempt of introducing tea to America through the medium
of the East india Company, were anxious to engage him in

the dispute. But from this he was dissuaded by one of his

most intimate friends, who seemed to be persuaded that this

new attempt of the Ministry would lead to most serious con-

sequences, and terminate in blood, and who, therefore, wished
him to reserve himself till matters became more serious.

For this reason he was not publickly concerned in the mea-
sures taken for sending back the tea. But in the spring of

1774, as soon as the news of the Boston port bill, &c. arrived,

his friend, who had taken an active part in the measures for

sending back the tea, immediately communicated to him the

intelligence, and gave him hi3 opinion that now was the time
to step forward. The measures proper to be pursued on this

occasion were secretly concerted between them.

1 Mr. Dickinson.
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And to prepare the minds of the people, D. undertook to

address the public in a series of letters. The next day the

letters arrived from Boston, and it was judged proper to call

a meeting of the principal inhabitants, to communicate to

them the contents of the letter, and gain their concurrence in

the measures that were necessary to be taken. As the qua-

kers, who are principled against war, saw the storm gather-

ing, and, therefore, wished to keep aloof from danger, were

industriously employed to prevent anythings being done which

might involve Pennsylvania farther in the dispute, and as it

was apparent that for this purpose their whole force would be

collected at the ensuing meeting, it was necessary to devise

means so to counteract their designs as to carry the measures

proposed, and yet prevent a disunion, and thus if possible

bring Pennsylvania with its whole force undivided to make
common cause with Boston. The line of conduct Mr. D. had

lately pursued opened a prospect to this. His sentiments were

not generally known ; the quakers courted, and seemed to

depend upon him. The other party, from his past conduct,

hope for his assistance, but were not sure how far he would

go if matters came to extremity, his sentiments on the present

controversy not being generally known. It was, therefore,

agreed that he should attend the meeting;. And as it would

be in vain for Philada
, or even Pennsylvania, to enter

into the dispute unless seconded and supported by the other

colonies, the only point to be carried at [the] ensuing meeting

was to return a friendly and affectionate answer to the people

of Boston, to forward the news of their distress to the South-

ern colonies, and to consult them and the Eastern colonies on

the propriety of calling a Congress to consult on the measures

necessary to be taken. If divisions ran high at the meeting,

it was agreed to propose the calling together the assembly in

order to gain time. To accomplish this, it was agreed that

his friend, who was represented as a rash man, should press

for an immediate declaration in favour of Boston, and get

some of his friends to support him in the measure, that Mr.

D. should oppose, and press for moderate measures, and thus,

by an apparent dispute, prevent a further opposition, and
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carry the point agreed on. For this purpose R. 1 and M.2 were

sounded, and an invitation given to dine with Mr. D. on the

day of the meeting. After dinner the four had a private con-

ference, at which D. was pressed to attend the meeting which

was to be in the evening. 3 D. offered sundry excuses, but at

last seemed to consent, provided matters were so conducted

that he might be allowed to propose and carry moderate

measures. T.,4 who was on the watch, and who thought he

saw some reluctance in one of the gentlemen to be brought to

act a second part, prevented a farther explanation by pro-

posing that R. should open the meeting, M. second him, T.

should then speak, and after him D.,and that afterwards they

should speak as occasion offered. After this the conversation

was more reserved, and soon after R. and M. returned to town.

At parting they pressed T. to bring D. with him, and T. as-

sured them he would not come without him. The carriage

was ordered up, and after they had been some time gone, so

that all might not seem to have been together, D. and T. stept

into the carriage, and drove down to the city tavern,5 the place

of meeting. The meeting was held in the long Room. The
company was large, and the rood [room?] exceedingly

crouded [crowded ?]

The letter ree'd from Boston was read, after which R. ad-

dressed the assembly with temper, moderation, but in pathetic

terms. M. spoke next, and with more warmth and fire. T.

succeeded, and pressed for an immediate declaration in favour

of Boston, and making common cause with her. But being

overcome with the heat of the room and fatigue, for he had

scarce slept an hour two nights past, he fainted, and was carried

1 Mr. Reed. « Mr. Mifflin.

' It is obvious that the friend alluded to was Thomson himself. To the

more moderate, he no doubt seemed a rash man, as John Adams tells us he

was called " the Sam. Adams of Phila.," and was " the life of the cause of

liberty."

* Thomson.
5 Smith's City Tavern, on the west side of Second Street north of Wal-

nut; at the south corner of the present Gold Street The meeting was held

on the evening of May 20th.
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out into an adjoining room, great clamour was raised against

the violence of the measures proposed.

D. then addressed the company. In what manner he ac-

quitted himself I cannot say. After he had finished, the

clamour was renewed. Voices were heard in different parts

of the room, and all was in confusion, a chairman was called

for to moderate the meeting and regulate debates. Still the

confusion continued. As soon as T. recovered, he returned

into the room. The tumult and disorder was past description.

He had not strength to attempt opposing the gust of passion,

or to allay the heat by any thing he could say. He, there-

fore, simply moved a question. That an answer should be

returned to the letter from Boston. This was put and carried.

He then moved for a Committee to write the answer, this was

agreed to, and two lists were immediately made out and

handed to the chair. The clamour was then renewed on

which list a vote should be taken, at length it was proposed

that both lists should be considered as one, and compose the

Comee
. This was agreed to, and the company broke up in

tolerable good humour, both thinking they had in part car-

ried their point. At what time D. left the room I cannot

say, as a great many withdrew, when the tumult raged.

iText day the Com66 met, and not only prepared and sent

back an answer to Boston, but also forwarded the news to the

Southern Colonies, accompanied with letters intimating the

necessity of a Congress of delegates from all the Colonies to

devise measures necessary to be taken for the common safety. 1

It was then proposed to call a general meeting of the inhabi-

tants of the city at the State house.

This required great address. The quakers had a aversion

to town meetings, and always opposed them. However, it

wras so managed that they gave their consent, and assisted in

1 The authorship of this letter was long attributed to Dickinson, but later

investigations show that it was written by Rev. William Smith, D. D. Al-

though Dickinson was not present when it was written (see American Ar-

chives, vol. i. Series 4th, p. 340, where the letter will also be found), he did

not hesitate to sign it (see Baltimore during the Revolutionary War, Pur-

viance, p. 112, Balto. 1849). Mr. Bancroft says the letter " imbodied the

system which, for the coming year, was to control the councils of America."
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preparing the business for this public meeting, agreed on the

persons who should preside, and those who should address the

inhabitants. The presidents agreed on were Dickinson, Wil-

ling, and Penington, 1 and the speakers, Smith, Reed, and

Thomson, who were obliged to write down what they in-

tended to say, and submit their several speeches to the revi-

sion of the presidents.

The meeting; was held, at which it was anions; other things

resolved to make common cause w^ith Boston. The resolu-

tions passed at this meeting are published in the newspapers

of the time, prefaced with Smith's speech at full length.2 In

the mean while it was judged proper to address the Governor

to call the Assembly. Tho' it was hardly expected the Gov-

ernor would comply, yet it was necessary to take this step in

order to prevent farther divisions in the city, and to convince

the pacific that it was not the intention of the warm spirits

to involve the province in the dispute without the consent of

the representatives of the people. The address was drawn up
and signed by the leading men of both parties, and presented

to the Governor. The answer was such as was expected.

That he could not call the Assembly for the purpose men-

tioned. And he added That he was sure the gentlemen did

not expect, considering his situation, that he would comply

with their request. His answer was considered as calculated

for the meridian of London. Whether the Governor wished

to gratify the inhabitants, and favour the cause of America,

by convening the Assembly, or whether thereby, from the

sentiments supposed to prevail in the members of the house,

he hoped to counteract the views of those who wished to bring

Pennsylvania into the dispute is uncertain. But from what-

ever motives he acted, certain it is that he immediately sum-

moned hi3 council, and in a very few day3 took occasion from

a report of indian disturbances to convene the Assembly. The

1 Probably Edward Penington. From the report of the meeting, which

was held on the 18th of Jane, 1774, printed in the papers of the day, it does

not appear that Penington was one of the presiding officers. In 1777, he

was one of the Friends exiled to Virginia.

2 It will be found in American Archives, 4th Series, vol. i. p. 427.
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refusal of the Governor to call the Assembly was far from

being disagreeable to the advocates for America. 1

They had no confidence in the members of the Assembly,

who were known to be under the iuiluence of Galloway and

his party, they, therefore, had another object in view. AVhen

the Merchants led the people into an opposition to the im-

portation of the East India Company's tea, those who con-

sidered that matter only as a manoeuvre of the Ministry to

revive the dispute between G. 13. and America, and who were

firmly persuaded that the dispute would terminate in blood,

immediately adopted measures to bring the whole body of the

people into the dispute, and thereby put it out of the power

of the Merchants as they had done before to drop the oppo-

sition, when interest dictated the measure. They, therefore,

got committees established in ever}' county throughout the

province. And a constant communication was kept up be-

tween those Committees and that of Philada
. Upon the

Governor's refusal to call the Assembly, it was resolved to

procure a Meeting of delegates from those committees. And
when the Governor agreed to call [the] Assembly, still it was

thought proper to convene a convention of the Committees

in order to draw up instructions to their representatives in

Assembly. In all these measures D. was consulted and heart-

ily concurred, and so earnestly did he interest himself that

he prepared the instructions, had them ready for publication

previous to the meeting of the Convention.

After the meeting of the inhabitants of Philada
, and

the resolutions passed at the State house, D., M.,and T., under

colour of an excursion of pleasure, made a tour through two
or three frontier counties in order to discover the sentiments

of the inhabitants, and particularly of the Germans.

1 The Governor was John Penn, grandson of the Founder, son of Richard.

From better evidence than was at the command of Thomson we learn the

real sentiments of Penn at this time. On the 31st of May, 1774, he wrote

to Lord Dartmouth: " I am told a petition has been framed for that purpose

[the convening of the Assembly], and is now handed about the town to be

signed, and will be presented to me in a few days. Should so aflfrontive an

application be made to me, your lordship may be assured I shall treat it as

it deservec."

Vol. ii.—29
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The Convention of committees met some days before the

Assembly, and having agreed to the state of American eriev-

ances drawn up by D. presented them to the Assembly in the

form of instructions, in order to engage them to pursue mea-

sures in concert with the other colonies for obtaining redress. 1

And as a Congress was now agreed on, they pressed the as-

sembly to appoint delegates to represent this province in Con-

gress, resolving at the same time in case the assembly refused

to take upon themselves to appoint deputies. To prevent

this the assembly agreed to appoint the delegates, but confined

the choice to their own members, thereby excluding Mr. D.

and "Wilson,2 whom the convention had in view. 3 At the en-

suing election on first Octr
., Mr. D. was chosen a member of

Assembly, and on the meeting of the assembly was added to

the number of Delegates. His election was on Saturday the

15, and on Monday the 17 Octr
. he took his seat in Congress,

and immediately entered deeply into the business then under

deliberation. He was appointed one of the Comee to prepare

an address to the people of Canada. And the first draught

of the petition to the King not meeting the approbation of

Congress was recommitted, and he was added to the Comee
,

and had a principal hand in drawing up that which was sent.

1 Mr. Bancroft says of these instructions, that Dickinson's " success in

allaying the impassioned enthusiasm of patriotism went beyond his intention."

2 James Wilson, signer of the Declaration of Independence.
8 This choice was far from satisfactory to many of the citizens. In Ame-

rican Archives it is stated that the convention recommended the names of

Thos. Willing, Jno. Dickinson, and James Wilson, as suitable persons to

attend the Congress. The following extract from the letter of an eye-wit-

ness gives an interesting, but not highly complimentary picture of our Co-

lonial Assembly :
" I believe the Committees, and. indeed, people in general,

are not well pleased at the Assembly's chusing the members of ye Congress

out of their own house; indeed, I think it is a reflection on them that the

Farmer was not one of the number. I assure [you] our Honorable House

made-bat a scurvy appearance the day the memorial was presented to them by

the Committees, it was enough to make one sweat to see a parcel of Country.

men sitting with their hats on, great Coarse Cloth Coats, Leather Breeches,

and woollen Stockings, in the month of July ; there was not a Speech made

the whole time, whether their silence proceeded from their Modesty, or from

their inability to speak I know not."

—

MS. letter of John Young to his

Aunt, Mrs. Ferguson of Graeme Park.
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After Congress broke up lie attended the Assembly, and

there exerted himself to obtain un approbation of the pro-

ceedings of Congress, which was carried in spite of Galloway's

efforts to the contrary.

During the winter sessions he frequently had occasion, which

he always improved, to call the attention of the House to the

danger that threatened, to rouse them to a sense of it, and to

stimulate them to adopt measures for their defence and secu-

rity, in which he was supported by Mifflin, Biddle, 1 Ross,2 and

Thomson, who were all in the Assembly. The part they had

to act was arduous and delicate. A great majority of the

Assembly was composed of men in the proprietary and quaker

interest, who, though heretofore opposed to each other, were

uniting, the one from motives of policy, the other from prin-

ciples of religion. To press matters was the sure way of

cementing that union, and thereby raising a powerful party

in the State against the cause of America. Whereas by pru-

dent management, and an improvement of occurrences as they

happened, there was reason to hope that the Assembly, and

consequently the whole province might be brought into the

dispute without any considerable opposition. And from past

experience it was evident that though the people of Pennsyl-

vania are cautious and backward in entering into measures,

yet when they engage, none are more firm, resolute, and per-

severing. A great body of the people was composed of Ger-

mans. The principal reliance was on them in case matters

came to extremities. And it was well known they were much
under the influence of the quakers. For this reason, there-

fore, it was necessary to act with more caution, and by every

prudent means obtain their concurrence in the opposition to

the designs of Great Britain. And had the whigs in assembly

been left to pursue their own measures, there is every reason

to believe tbey would have effected their purpose, prevented

that disunion which has unhappily taken place, and brought

the whole province as one man, with all its force and weight

of government into the common cause.

1 Edward Biddle; see this Magazine, vol. i. p. 100.

* George Ross of Lancaster, Signer of the Declaration of Independence.
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Danger was fast approaching. The storm which had heen

gathering hegan to burst. The battle of Lexington was fought.

Many of the members then in Assembly had long held seats

there, and were fond of continuing. They had hitherto joined,

with very little opposition, in defensive measures, and it was

evident that rather than give up their seats in Assembly, and

the importance derived from thence, they would go still farther,

and thus might be led on step by step till they had advanced

too far to retreat. Their past and future conduct justified this

conclusion, in the winter session they voted a sum of money to

purchase Ammunition. And in the summer of 1770 following,

though a majority of the Assembly were of the people called

quakers, they agreed to arm the inhabitants, and ordered five

thousand new muskets with bayonets, and other accoutrements

to be made. And as they had not money in treasury, and

could not have the concurrence of the Governor in raisins:

money to pay for them, they, by a resolve of their own, to

which there was only three dissenting voices, ordered 35,000

pounds to be struck in bills of credit, and pledged the faith

of the province for the redemption of it. Thus virtually de-

claring themselves independent, and assuming to themselves

the whole power of government. The original Constitution

of Pennsylvania was very favorable and well adopted to the

present American genicils [exigencies ?]. The assembly was an-

nual. The election fixed to a certain day, on which the freemen

who were worth fifty pounds met, or had a right to meet with-

out summons at their respective county towns, and by ballot

chusenot only representatives for Assembly, but also Sheriffs,

coroners, commissioners for managing the affairs of the county,

ard assessors to rate the tax imposed by law upon the estates

real and personal of the several inhabitants of their County.

The members of the Ilouse of Assembly when chosen met

according to law on a certain day, and chose their speaker,

provincial treasurer, and sundry other officers. The house sat

on its own adjournments ; nor was it in the power of the

governor to prorogue or dissolve it. Hence it is apparent

that Pennsylvania had a great advantage over the other colo-

nies, which by being deprived by their Governor of their
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legal assemblies or houses of representatives constitutionally

chosen were forced into conventions.

The Assembly of Pennsylvania, if they could be brought

to take a part, supplied the place of a convention with this

advantage, that being a part of the legislature they preserved

the legal forms of government, and had consequently more

weight and authority among the people. Xo man could re-

fuse to attend the election of Assembly men without taking

upon himself the consequence of what might follow by his

not attending and giving his vote. On the other hand, if he

attended and the men of his choice were not elected he had

no right to complain, as the majority of votes decided.

The cause of America was every day gaining ground, and

the people growing more and more determined.

The timid were acquiring courage, and the wavering con-

firmed in the opposition. Hence it was apparent the elections

would soon be wholly in the power of the patriots and whig

party. For these reasons the whigs who were then members
wished to temporise, and make use of Assembly rather than

a convention. But unhappily for the province "they were

thwarted in their measures by a body of men from whom
they expected to derive the firmest support.

The Committee of Philadelphia, which was elected for the

purpose of superintending and carrying into execution the

non-importation agreement, recommended by the Congress in

1774, of which Mr. Peed was president, was for the purpose

of giving them more weight and influence, increased to the

number of one hundred.

Many members of this body who were suddenly raised to

power, and who exercised an uncontrouled authority over their

fellow-citizens, were impatient of any kind of opposition.

The cautious conduct of the patriots in Assembly the [sic]

attributed to lukewarmness, and the backwardness of others

which was owing partly to a natural timidity of temper,

partly to the influence of religious principles and old preju-

dices, they constructed into disaffection.

Instead, therefore, of co-operating to keep down parties, they

were labouring to raise and foment them. And at the very
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moment when the Assembly were giving the most solid proofs

of their attachment to the cause, and gradually entrenching on

the powers of the governor in order to arm and put the province

into a state of defence, the Comee were adopting measures to

dissolve them and substitute a convention in their stead. And
proceeded so far as to vote a convention necessary, and ap-

pointed a special meeting in order to devise the means of

bringing the other county committees to a like determination.

D., M., and T., who were of the assembly, and who were also

members of the committee, attended the special meeting, and

by pointing out the ill-timed policy of the measure, and the

fatal consequeuce that might and would inevitably ensue, pre-

vailed upon them to desist. And thus for a time the province

was saved from being rent to pieces by parties.

D. and M. w-ere also members of Congress. The battle of

Lexington had drawn together a tumultuous army round

Boston, and that had brought on the battle of Bunker's Hill.

Much blood was nowT shed. And it was evident that the

sword must decide the contest. It was necessary, therefore,

to organise the army, and appoint a Continental Commander-
in-chief, and other general officers. A declaration was deemed

necessary to justify the Americans in taking up arms. D.,

who still retained a fond hope [sic] reconsiliation with Great

Britain, was strenuous for trying the effects of another peti-

tion to the King, and being warmly seconded the measure

was agreed to, and D. had a considerable hand in drawing up

both the petition and declaration, which were both sent at the

same time to England. The subject of the petition, as well

as the declaration, occasioned long and warm debates in Con-

gress, in which D. took a distinguished part, which was cir-

culated about in whispers to his disadvantage. However, he

maintained his ground among the generality of the people

of his own province, and particularly among those who
still wished and hoped to see a reconsiliation take place,

and it must be allowed that if his judgment had not quite

approved the measure, yet on account of the people of Penn-

sylvania, it was both prudent and politic to adopt it. With-

out making an experiment, it would have been impossible
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ever to have persuaded the bulk of Pennsylvania, but that an

humble petition drawn up without those clauses against which

the ministers and parliament of Great Britain took exceptions

in the former petitions, would have met with a favourable

reception, and produced the desired effect. But this petition,

which was drawn up in the most submissive and unexception-

able terms, meeting with the same fate as others, obviated

objections that would have been raised, and had a powerful

effect in suppressing opposition, preserving unanimity, and

bringing the province in a united body into the contest.

"Whatever hand, therefore, D. had in promoting it ought to

have redounded to his credit as a politician.

At the annual election in Octr
. 1775, some change was made

in Assembly, some old members were left out and some new
ones chosen, among the latter Mr. Eeed, as the Governor had

withdrawn himself in a creat decree from the affairs of gov-

eminent, the Assembly at their first meeting appointed a

council or committee of safety, and invested them with the

executive powers of government, reserving to themselves the

legislative authority, which they exercised by resolves.

In November the assembly returned among other delegates

to represent the province of Pennsylvania in Congress Mr.

Willing,1 one of the judges of the Supreme court, and Mr.

Allen,2 the attorney-general of the province, and brother-in-

law of the Governor. So that there was yet no appearance

of disunion in the province, except among some few of the

most rigid quakers, who kept aloof and refused to be con-

cerned in the election for assembly men, under pretence that

their religious principles forbad their countenancing war.

But neither influence, persuasion, or church discipline could

restrain a considerable number of their young men from
taking an active part. A distinction was taken between of-

fensive and defensive war, wdiich might easily have been

improved to divide the society in such a manner, as to have
rendered every opposition from that quarter weak and con-

temptible.

1 Thomas Willing.

* Andrew, son of Chief-Justice Allen ; see thi3 Magazine, vol. i. p. 208.
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SPANGENBERG'S NOTES OF TRAVEL TO OXOXDAGA
IN 1T45.

CONTRIBUTED BY JOHN W. JORDAN.

["When, in 1745, it became evident that the Moravian Mission among the

Mohegans of Shecomeko, in Duchess Co., N. Y., would have to be aban-

doned unless its members could be induced to migrate to some locality in

the then Iudian country, where they would suffer no molestation from the

whites, Bishop A. G. Spangenberg, David Zeisberger, and John Jacob

Shebosch, on behalf of the Mission Board, set out from Bethlehem in May
for Onondaga, to treat with the Six Nations for permission for the Moravian

Indians to remove to Wyoming. This consent was obtained, but the Indian

converts objected, stating, among other reasons, " that Wyoming lay on the

road of the Six Nations on their marauds southwards in the country of the

Catawbas ; furthermore, in a country abounding in savages, where the women
were so wanton as to seduce all the men. They therefore removed to Beth-

lehem and in 1746 to Gnadenhuetten.

Spangenberg and Zeisberger are too well known to require notice. She-

bosch, whose English name was Joseph Bull, was born of Quaker parent3

at Skippack, Pa., 27th May, 1721, receiving in baptism the name of John

Joseph. By the Indians he was called Shebosch (running water). In 1746

he married Christiana, a Mohegan convert. He died in Ohio, 4th Sept., 1788.

It will be noticed that a number of the names of places used by Spangen-

berg were figurative, and have not been retained.]

May 24. We set out from Bethlehem. Bro. Huber1 accom-

panied us to our first night's encampment, which was in the

woods under a tree.

May 25. Arrived in Heidelberg,2 where we spent the day.

May 26. Eeached Tulpehocken.3 As Conrad Weiser4 was

1 John Michael Huber, from the Tyrol, immigrated with the first organized

Moravian colony sent to America, in June of 1742.

8 In Berks Co. The route taken from Bethlehem to Heidelberg was by

the way of Macungy, past Daniel Levan's. and through Maxetawny.

* Corrupted from the Delaware word Tulpewi-hacki, signifying the land

of turtles. Tulpehocken was one of the rural districts of the Province, in

Berks Co., in which the Moravians labored in the Gospel with marked suc-

cess. Zinzendorf preached there frequently.

4 Bishop Spangenberg first became acquainted with Weiser while visiting
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not yet prepared for the Journey, we called on friends. "We

lodged at Michael Schaeffer's. 1

May 27. -Bro. Spangcnberg having determined to advise

the Governor of his journey, wrote him a letter to which

Conrad Weiser added a few lines, and dispatched it by Bro.

John Joseph.

May 28. Bro. Spangcnberg called on Pastor "Wagner, who
is in charge of the Lutherans. Spent the night with George

Loesch.2 His wife assisted us in completing our tent.

May 30. At Michael Schaeffer's, Bro. Spangenberg found

Bro. John Joseph, who had returned with letters from Phila-

delphia and Fredericktown ; he had travelled one hundred and

forty miles in three days. Gov. Thomas sent greetings through

Bro. Brockden,3 and that he approved of my journey to the

Six [Nations. Our company met at Christopher "Weiser's,

Conrad's brother. In the afternoon we set out from Tulpehoc-

ken with Conrad "Weiser, and his two sons. 4 Michael Shaeffer

accompanied us for a few miles, and Philip Meurer5 and Bro.

^ieke6 to our first night's encampment. After travelling ten

miles we came to the Kittatiny Hills,7 which are high and

among the Schwenkfelders of Towamensing Township, Montgomery County,

in 1736. The information he then gave him of the degraded condition of

the Indians led the Bishop to present their case to his church in Europe, as

one deserving of special consideration. The result of this appeal was the

appointment of Christian Henry Ranch, the first missionary of the Mora-

vians to the Indians of America.
1 Michael Schaffer and his wife came from Weisersdorf, Schoharie, N. Y.,

in 1725.

* George Loesch (now Lash) immigrated with other Palatines, under the

auspices of Queen Anne in 1710, and settled in Schoharie. In 1723 removed

to Tulpehocken, and united with the Moravians.

* Charles Brockden's name and autograph are familiar to every student

of the early deed history of Pennsylvania, between 1715 and 17G7.
4 Philip J., Frederick Weiser.

5 John Philip Meurer, from Alsace, immigrated to Pennsylvania in June,

1742.

6 George Nieke, from Herrnhut, immigrated to Pennsylvania in November

of 1743.

1 Written also Kechkachtany , Kittochtinny, Delaware, signifying endless

hills.
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rocky, and difficult for horses to climb. On reaching the top

we came to " Pilger Ruh," 1 where we dismounted and rested.

After descending, we entered Anton's "Wilderness,2 where we
pitched our first tent, built a fire, pastured our horses, par-

took of a light supper, and retired to rest. Our course to-day

was X. W. Observations: Noticed certain plants and roots,

e. g., 1. A certain plant, which, with its root, is used for snake

bites—has blossoms like " geese flowers.'*3
2. Steer's root, as

the English call it, good for colic. 4
3. Hypocacooana, for

vomiting.5 4. Mountain tea. 6

Mag 81. Arose early, looked up our horses, took a little

breakfast, and then continued our journey in the name of God
our Saviour. Bro. Meurer and Xieke returned to Tulpehoc-

ken, with letters to Mary Spangenberg at Bethlehem. After

passing the Great Swatara,7 we climbed the Thiirnstein,8 a high

mountain, rocky, and almost impassable for horses. On the

summit we refreshed ourselves at Erdmuth's Spring,9 which

flows through the valleys until it empties into the Susque-

hanna. We were four hours in crossing the mountain. At
"Ludwig's Ruh," 10 at the foot of the mountain, we nooned.

Here Laurel Creek11 flows past. After dinner our course was

1 " Pilgrim's Rest," a plain on the top of the mountain. The passage of

the mountain was effected at the Great Swatara Gap, called Toleheo by the

Indians, corrupted into " The Hole."
2 Noted on Lewis Evan's map of 1759. Named for Anton SeyfFert, one

of the nine colonists whom Spangenberg led to Georgia in 1735. where the

Moravians proposed establishing themselves with a view of commencing

missions among the Creeks and Cherokees.

* Quere, black snake root or cohosh?
4 Quere, colic root or star grass ?

5 Ipecacuanha. * Gaultheria.

7 Pine Grove Township, Schnylkill County.
8 Peter's Mountain. Conrad Weiser gave it this name in honor of Zin-

zendorf when guiding him to Shamokin, in 1742. Zinzendorf was Count

and Lord of Pottendorf, and Lord of the Baronies of Freydeck, Schceneck,

and Thiirnstein.

9 The headwaters of Wiconisco Creek, named in honor of the Countess

Erdmuth, the first wife of Zinzendorf.
10 " Lewis's Rest," in TTiconisco Township, Dauphin County. Zinzendorf

was often familiarly called Brother Ludwig by the Moravians.
11 A branch of the Mahantango, noted on Lewis Evans's map of 1749.
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N. W. AVe passed through Anna's Valley,1 beautiful and

pleasing to the eyes, which lies in among the hills. At the

Double Eagle,2 on Benigna's Creek,3 we passed the night.

Jane 1. We set out early, crossed the Leimback,4 and came
to Jacob's Heights,5 the place where Bro. Jacob Kohn lost

Bro. Ludwig's Hebrew Bible, and subsequently found it. At
noon we reached u Cool Bank'' on the Susquehanna, where we
dined on a mess of fish caught by Bro. Zeisberger. Hence
we passed through Joseph's6 Valley. Here four large snakes,

stretched on a fallen tree, opposed the brethren who were

leading the horses, and for a long time would not budge. At
" Marienborn" 7 we rested, and afterwards reached the u Span-

genberg."3 The descent was perilous to limb and life ; came

to Eva Creek,9 and thence to Shamokin 10 to Shikellmy's house.

We found neither him nor Andrew Montour 11 at home. The

1 Named in honor of Anna Nitschman. who accompanied Zinzendorf to

Shamokin in 1742. Probably Lykens Valley in Lykens Township, Dan
phin County.

2 The Spread Eagle is noted on Scull's map of 1759.

3 The Mahantango, or Kind Creek. Zinzendorf, on his way to Shamokin

in Sept. of 1742, gave it this name in honor of his daughter, the Countess

Benigna.
4 The Mahanoy Creek, in Jackson Township, Northumberland County.

Zinzendorf on the same journey gave it this name for Henri/ Leimback, of

Oley, one of his fellow travellers.

5 A spur of Line Mountain, in Lower Augusta Township, Northumber-

land County.
6 Named after Bishop Spangenberg, who was familiarly called Brother

Joseph by his brethren.

7 Named after the Castle of Marienborn, near Frankfort on the Main, be-

longing to Zinzendorf, and for some time used by the church for the educa-

tion of her theological students.

8 " Riding along its bank (Susquehanna) we came to the boundary of

Shamokin, a precipitous hill, such as I scarce ever saw."

—

Zinzendorf, Sept.

1742.

9 The Shamokin Creek in Upper Augusta Township, Northumberland

County. Named after Eve May, the wife of Bishop Spangenberg. The

Delawares called it the Srhachamekhau, i. e., eel stream.

10 "Written Schahamdki or Schaham6kink by the Delawares ; by the

Iroquois Otzindchse. Sunbury occupies the site of the old Indian town.

11 Andrew Montour, alias Sdttelfhu, son of Madam Montour, was for many

years in the service of the proprietaries as assistant interpreter. At the
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former had gone to the mill, 1 a ride of forty miles, and the

latter was out hunting. "We were told that two ministers and

an Indian had been lately here—probably it was the Presby-

terian Brainerd,2 and his interpreter Tatami. 3 He had assem-

bled the Delawares in Shikellmy's house, and (as Shikellmy's

people told us) informed them that on Sundays they should as-

semble as the whites do, and pray as they do. Hence he would

build a house for that purpose, and stay with them two years.

That the Governor had given him orders to that effect, and he

would be glad to see the Indians hearken to him. To this

Shikellmy said : "We are Indians, and don't wish to be trans-

formed into white men. The English are our Brethren, but

we never promised to become what they are. As little as we
desire the preacher to become Indian, so little ought he to

desire the Indians to become preachers. He should not build

a house here ; they don't want one." They departed for Phila-

delphia the next day. 4

time of the visit of Zinzendorf to Shamokin, in the autumn of 1742, he met

Andrew for the first time, and thus describes him :
" His cast of countenance

is decidedly European, and had not his face been encircled with a broad

band of paint, applied with bear's fat, I would certainly have taken him for

one. He wore a brown broadcloth coat, a scarlet damasken lappel-waistcoat,

breeches, over which his shirt hung, a black Cordovan neckkerchief decked

with silver bugles, shoes and stockings, and a hat. His ears were hung

with pendants of brass and other wires plaited together like the handle of a

basket. He was very cordial, but on addressing him in French, he, to my
surprise, replied in English." In April of 1752, Governor Hamilton fur-

nished him with a commission under the Lesser Seal, " to go and reside in

Cumberland Co., over the Blue Hills, on unpurchased lands, to prevent

others from settling there or from trading with the Indians." In 1755 he

was still living on his grant, ten miles northwest of Carlisle, and was a cap-

tain of a company of Indians in the English service ; rose to be a major.

Andrew acted as interpreter for the Governor of Virginia in several import-

ant treaties. The French in 1753 set a price of £100 upon his head. In

May of 17G2 he was his Majesty's Interpreter to the United Nations.
1 Chambers's Mill, erected at the mouth of Fishing Creek, Dauphin

County, between 1730-35.
2 The well-known David Brainerd.
3 Moses Fonda Tatemy was baptized by Brainerd July 21, 1745. He

had been acting interpreter for the latter since his advent among the Fork

Indians.

4 Shikellimy, alias Sivatane, an Oneida chief, was, in 1728, acting repre-
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June 2. This morning Conrad Weiser despatched a mes-

senger per horse to Shikellmy, for him to return without

delay, as we were waiting for him to guide us to Onondaga,

Bro. Spangenberg called to see Shikellmy's daughter's child,

a girl of fifteen years, who has had the fever and ague over

two weeks. lie gave her some fever powders, and soon the

fever left her. They are fine people. Bro. Joseph also went

over to the island, to visit Madam Montour from Canada, 1 who
lately with her family had become Indianized. Sattelihu's sis-

ter had a boil on her neck, on which Spangenberg laid a plaster

to soften it. Bro. Joseph wrote to his wife. In a conversation

with Conrad Weiser, he proposed that the Moravians should

send a good blacksmith to live in Shamokin,2 to serve the In-

dians. " These," said he, " would be glad, and agree to all

reasonable conditions ; the Governor, also, would not object."

We will take the matter into consideration. In regard to

Wyoming
—

"Weiser yesterday expressed himself thus : "That

he deemed the exile of the Indian converts from Shecomeko

necessary for the salvation of the other Indians from their

misery." We must await developments at Onondaga.

June 3. Joseph and Conrad crossed the river to visit the

Indian King3 who lives there, and had the honor to smoke a

sentative of the Five Nations in business affairs with the Proprietary

government. About the date of this narrative he was appointed their vice-

gerent, and in thi3 capacity administered their tributaries within the pro-

vince, with Shamokin for his seat. He was succeeded in the vicegerency by

his oldest son, Tachnachdoarus, i. e., "a spreading oak," alia3 John

Shikellimy. See Memorials of the Moravian Church, edited by the Rev. W.
C. Reichel, Phila., 1870.

1 A sketch of Madam Montour has been prepared for the Magazine by

John G. Frieze, Esq., of Bloomsburg.

* " The town [about this time 1749] lies partly on the east and the west

shore of the river, and partly on an Island. It contains upwards of fifty

houses and 300 inhabitants. About one-half are Delawares, the others

Senecas and Tutelars." The Moravian blacksmiths who resided in Shamo-

kin from 1747 to 1755, were named Schmid, Wesa, Kieffer, and Hagen
—the latter deceased there shortly after his arrival.

8 Allummapees, or Sassocman, was King of the Delawares as early as

1718, and in that year headed the deputation of Indian chieftains at Phila-

delphia, who signed an absolute release to the Proprietaries for the land
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pipe with him. Spangenberg also visited Andrew Sdttelihu's

sister, and bled her, and bound up the boil which had dis-

charged freely. Shikellmy's grandchild has had a relapse,

having eaten bear's meat and fish. The Indians have no re-

gard fur advice as to diet. A runner was sent after Andrew
Sattelihu, who is hunting on the West Branch, to return at

once, to go with us to Onondaga. Philip and Frederic Weiser

returned home to-day, and took our letters to Michael Schaeffer

for delivery. Visited John Hickman, an intelligent Indian,

and also his neighbor Daniel, who formerly lived in Tulpe-

hocken. A number of the Indians who reside here, had

removed from Tulpehocken when their lands were sold. 1

Conrad AVeiser stated, that the Proprietor had recently written

to him, that he should associate some one with him who was

conversant with Indian affairs, who would in time be compe-

tent to succeed him. Query. Whether not some of the Mo-
ravians—say David Zeisberger—to go and spend some time

in the Six Nations to acquire the language, with also the

recommendation of Governor Thomas ?
2

June 4. Andrew Sattelihu returned this morning, and at

once came to see us. Bro. Spangenberg and Zeisberger went

over to the Island to visit his sister, and found her better.

The runner who had been sent after Shikellmy returned at

noon, and brought us word that he would return to-morrow.

We also visited Allummapees, the hereditary King of the

Indians. His sister's sons are either dead or worthless, hence

it is not known on whom the Kingdom will descend.3 He is

situated between Delaware and Susquehanna, from Duck Creek to the

mountains on this side Lechay, which lands had been granted by their

ancestors to "William Fenn. In 1728 he had removed " from on Delaware

to Shamokin."
1 In March of 1705 the Conoy3 requested permission of Gov. Evans

to remove from their towns on the Susquehanna to Tulpehocken. In July

of 1707 the Governor visited the Indian town of Tulpehocken, which tradi-

tion locates near the site of WTomelsdorf, in Berks County. Subsequently,

in 1733, the Indian claim was purchased by Thomas Penn.
2 Zeisberger, in 1752, visited Onondaga to perfect himself in the Iroquois

dialects.

3 Allummapees, in 1731, killed his nephew, Sam Shakatawein, in a

drunken brawl in Shamokin.
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very old, almost blind, and very poor; but withal has still

power over, and is beloved by his people ; and is a friend of

the English. Observations : A certain plant which has leaves

like hyssop, and a very aromatic odor. Another root, which

has a very pleasant taste, blossoms with violet flowers, has

two leaves above, four in the middle, and two below.

June 5. Shikellmy returned to-day. We made the acquaint-

ance of one Patrick, an Indian Doctor.

June 6. Prepared for our journey. Bro. John Joseph and

Andrew Sattelihu went to hunt horses on the other side of

the Susquehanna, and were successful.

June 7. Began our journey to Onondaga. Our company is

composed of Spangenberg, Conrad "Weiser, John Joseph,

David Zeisberger, Shikellmy, Andrew, his son, and Andrew
Sattelihu ; seven in all. Crossed the river, and traveled up

the West Branch. Passed Shawane Creek,1 and the site of

the town that formerly stood there.2 NText came to the place

where Shikellmy formerly lived—it is now deserted. 3 The

land is excellent in this vicinity, the equal of which is seldom

found. Our course has been several miles TV., and then X.W.,

until we reached Warrior's Camp,* where we passed the night.

Two Indian warriors overtook us, one belonging to Otston-

waken, and the other to Onondaga. The latter had neither

shoes, stockings, blanket, gun, hatchet, steel, or knife, and

was almost naked
;
yet was determined in this condition to

undertake a journey of 300 miles through the wilderness.

Conrad asked him how he expected to continue his journey

in his present condition. He replied: " God, who was in the

Heavens, had created the earth and all creatures ; he kept so

many creatures alive in the wilderness, that he was able and

1 The Chillisquaque, emptying into the Susquehanna from the northeast,

in Northumberland County.
2 Scull's Map locates an Indian village of the same name at the mouth of

the creek.

s Near the site of the present borough of Milton.

4 Probably in Delaware Township, Northumberland County. So named

by Spangenberg, from their meeting two Indian warriors on their return

from a maraud.
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would provide for him.'' 1 Both warriors had returned from

a maraud against the Flatheads, and had lost all save their

lives.

June 8. Our course was X. ~>\r
. "We crossed a creek near

the Susquehanna, called Canachrirage. 2 On the way we found

haif a doer, which an Indian from Otstonwaken had shot, and

being unable to carry all of it home, had hung the rest of it

up in a tree, so that whoever needed it might take it—which

we did. At noon we reached Otstonwaken. 3 The Indians

here treated us very well ; boiled meat, and placed it before

us in a large kettle. In the afternoon we proceeded on our

journey, and at dusk came to the " Limping Messenger," or

Diadachton Creek, 4and encamped for the night. 5 Observations:

On our route we passed the Shawanese town, and the place

where two vears a^o, when Conrad was travelling to Onon-

daga, he was met by twenty Shawanese, eaeh with a rifle, two
pistols, and a sabre.6

1 Weiser relates this incident in his communications to Christopher Saur.

See this Magazine, Vol. I., p 164.

2 Money Creek. Called Ocochpocheny on Scull's map.
3 Otstonwaken, or " French Town." Written also Olstuago, Otsnehage,

Otstuacky, by Weiser, who visited the town for the first time in February

of 1737. " It is so called," he writes in his journal, " from a ' high rock'

which lies opposite." The village lay on both sides of the mouth of the

Loyalsock (the Olstuago). Weiser's last visit to the town was in June of

1755, when he found it almost deserted. It is not noted on Scull's map of

1759. Zinzendorf visited the town in 1742. In 1743 David Bruce and his

wife were sent there as missionaries by the Moravians. Meginnes, in the

History of the West Branch Valley of the Susquehanna, spells the name

Otzinachson. Montoursville commenced in 17G9, perpetuates the name of

Madam Montour, who at one time resided there.

4 Lycoming Creek, written Lycaumick on Scull's map.
5 Probably Eldred Township, Lycoming County.

• See Colonial Records, Yol. IV., p. 660.

(To be continued.)
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WILLIAM ELLERY.

Signer of the Declaration of Independence.

BY THOMAS WENTWORTH HIGGINSON.

(Centennial Collection.)

William Ellery was born Dec. 22, 1727, at jSTewport, R. I.

He was the son of William Ellery, Esq., a wealthy merchant

of Xewport,whowas successively a judge, and deputy-governor

of the Colony. The father had graduated at Harvard College

in 1722, and in due time sent his son thither; and William

Ellery, Jr., with his elder brother Benjamin, took their first

degrees in 1747. The college traditions of the younger bro-

ther represent him as overflowing with fun and humor ; but

he acquired in that institution a taste for knowledge, and

especially for the ancient languages, that lasted his life long.

After leaving College, he engaged in mercantile business at

his birthplace. Three years later, he married a young lady

whose acquaintance he had made in Cambridge, Ann Rem-

ington, daughter of Judge Remington of the Massachusetts

Superior Court. His marriage was uncommonly happy, and

he used to tell with satisfaction that he was recalled from the

bachelor habit of spending his evenings at a tavern, by dis-

covering a memorandum in his wife's almanac of her delight

at his having staid home for a single evening.

For several years after his marriage, he was engaged in

commerce, and was at one time Xaval Officer of the Colony.

In 1764 his wife died; three years after he married again, and

in 1770 began the practice of the law, having previously served

two years as clerk of a Court. He was a "Son of Liberty,"

served on several important patriotic Committees, and gave

more than once his legal services gratuitously in cases involv-

ing popular rights. He took his seat in the Continental Con-

gress, as Delegate from Rhode Island, in May, 1776 ; and,

within two months afterwards, put his name to the great

Vol. n.—30
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Declaration. He fully appreciated the important results

likely to follow this event, and delighted to describe it to his

grandchildren. lie said that he took his place beside the

Secretary, and observed the manner and expression of each

member as he came up to sign his name. He was in Congress

from 1776 to 1786, except during 1780 and 1782. He did

much service on the Marine Committee, and on the Board of

Admiralty, afterwards appointed ; also on a Committee to

hear appeals from the Admiralty Courts. He was in public,

as in private, a man of courage, judgment, shrewdness, and

wit. He unfortunately yielded to a bad habit, too prevalent

in that day, of destroying private correspondence, asking his

friends to do the same ; but there fortunately remain a few

letters, books, and some lively diaries of his annual journeys

on horseback, between his home and Philadelphia. Extracts

from these diaries are shortly to be published, and will fully

indicate his claim to the above-named qualities.

On leaving Congress at the end of 1785, he found his house

burned by the British soldiers, his business destroyed, and

his native town almost ruined. He was sixty years of age,

and had to begin life anew. During the following year, Con-

gress appointed him Commissioner of the Continental Loan
Office for Rhode Island; and, on the adoption of the Federal

Constitution by that State in 1790, he became Collector of

Customs for the Newport District. This office he held until

his death, which took place Feb. 15, 1820, at the age of 92.

There may be found in Mr. Ellery's papers ample evidence

to confirm, what tradition also reports, that he was a model

officer. One of his grandsons (Rev. George G. Channing) re-

members to have ventured, in early youth, to take a sheet of

paper off a desk at the Custom House, in order to write a

letter. Mr. Ellery stopped him, and said: "My boy, if you

want paper I will give you some ; but that is Government
paper." It is pleasant to know that a standard of morality

so rigid once prevailed in our public offices. It is no wonder
that he wrote :

" A Collector's office is a very troublesome

one, and if it did not furnish me and my children with the

necessaries of life, I would resign it at once."
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He adds in the same letter, I have business enough to take

up much of niy time; the rest I give to reading. Indeed,

my almost only time, if the time of sleep can be called so, is

in bed. To that I repair about nine, and leave it about five.

So goes away my time ; but not without thoughts of my ex-

istence, when time shall be swallowed up by eternity. " Vive

etjloresce."

Mr. Ellery left several children, and his descendants of the

same name still reside in Newport. One of his daughters

married William Channing, Esq., a prominent lawyer of New-
port, and was the mother of a large family of sons, one of

whom was the celebrated divine. Another of Mr. Ellery's

daughters married Francis Dana, Esq., afterwards Chief-Jus-

tice of Massachusetts, and was the mother of Richard H.

Dana, the poet. "William Ellery's Latin motto, just quoted,

might well be taken to apply to his descendants :
" Vive et

jloresce"
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NATHANIEL FOLSOM.

BY CHARLES H. BELL.

(Centennial Collection.)

Nathaniel Folsom was born in the year 1726, in Exeter,

New Hampshire, the home of his ancestors for three genera-

tions. He enjoyed no advantages of early instruction beyond

those afforded by the schools of his native town. Nature

gave him a robust constitution of body and mind, and from

his youth he is said to have manifested an inclination for

military pursuits. His first active service was in 1755, as a

captain in the regiment furnished by New Hampshire for the

expedition against Crown Point, under the command of Gen.

"William Johnson. On the 8 th ofSeptember, while the French

army of Dieskau were retiring from an unsuccessful assault

upon Johnson's position, Capt. Folsom attacked them, at the

head of little more than a company, and in an obstinate en-

gagement inflicted upon them a severe loss of men and sup-

plies. By this gallant exploit, as well as by his conduct

throughout the campaign, he acquired the reputation of an

energetic, brave, and skilful officer.

He engaged afterwards in mercantile business with success,

and his military talents were recognized by the command of

a regiment of militia, conferred upon him by the last royal

Governor ofNew Hampshire. Gov. Wentworth distinguished

him also by other marks of his confidence, and would gladly

have attached him to the cause of the Crown, in the rupture

which was evidently approaching, but Folsom's sympathies

were steadfastly writh his countrymen. He was early recog-

nized as a leader in the popular cause.

In the spring of 1774, he was elected to the Provincial As-

sembly, which was dissolved by the Governor for presuming

to choose a Committee of Correspondence. The members,

however, did not disperse until they had issued a call for a
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popular convention, to select Delegates to the general Con-

gress at Philadelphia. In the deliberations of that historic

body, Col. Folsoin had the honor of taking part, as one of the

representatives of Xew Hampshire. This circumstance, to-

gether with his public advocacy of the cause of the sufferers

by the Boston Port Bill, and his participation in the raid

which stripped Fort William and Mary, in Portsmouth har-

bor, of its arms and munitions, cost him his commission under

the Crown, but gained him advancement from the people.

Again returned to the Assembly in 1775, he was by the popu-

lar administration created Major-General of all the troops of

New Hampshire, three regiments of which were then en-

camped around Boston. Of these he assumed the command,
until they were adopted into the Continental service. Cir-

cumstances in no way discreditable to Gen. Folsom, prevented

his appointment as a general officer by Congress, and he cheer-

fully retained the humbler, but not less important, command
of the militia of the State, detachments of which were fre-

quently summoned to the field during the war.

In January, 1776, on the adoption of the first Constitution

of the State, he was elected a Councillor, a Judge of the In-

ferior Court, and a member of the Committee of Safety, a

body clothed with almost dictatorial powers. In April, 1777,

he was re-elected to Congress for a year, and attended its

sessions; and in November, 1779, he wa3 again returned, and

took his seat for a time. But on being chosen for the fourth

time, in February, 1783, it does not appear that he accepted

the position. The same year he was a member, and tempo-

rary President, of the Convention for framing a new Consti-

tution for his State.

The life of this true patriot, and honest and able man, was

happily so prolonged that he was enabled to witness not only

the independence of his country, but also the adoptiou of the

Federal Constitution, and the election of the first President.

He died in his native town on the 26th of May, 1790, in the

sixty-fifth year of his age. A contemporary notice justly

commends him as exemplary in all the relations of life, a

faithful public servant, and a sincere Christian
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JONATHAN DICKINSON SERGEANT.

BY EDWIN F. HALTIELD, D.D.

(Centennial Collection.)

The subject of this sketch was one of the illustrious Foun-

ders of the Great Republic. Young as he was, wheu the

Eevolution was inaugurated, no one more ardently espoused

the cause of Independence, or labored with a more genuine

and zealous patriotism throughout the struggle, than Jona-

than Dickinson Sergeant.

He was a descendant of Jonathan Sergeant, one of the

founders of Branford, Ct., who died in 1652, and whose son

Jonathan was one of the founders of Xewark, X. J., in 1667.

His father, Jonathan (brother of Rev. John Sergeant, Mis-

sionary to the Stockbridge Indians), married Hannah, daughter

of the Rev. John N"utman, of Hanover, NT. J. She died in

1743, leaving twTo daughters, Hannah (who married Rev.

John Ewing, D.D.), and Sarah (who married Jonathan Bald-

win, a graduate of the College of N*ew Jersey). In 1745, Mr.

Sergeant became the happy husband of Abigail, the second

child and eldest daughter (born 1711) of the Rev. Jonathan

and Joanna (Melyn) Dickinson, of Elizabethtown, X. J.

Mr. Dickinson had Ions; ranked as anions: the most eminent

divines of America. He was the principal founder, and the

first President of the College of Kewr Jersey.

The first fruit of this second marriage received the name

of the honored grandfather. The child was born in 1746, at

Kewark, N\ J. Soon after his birth, his parents removed to

Princeton,^*". J., where he resided until the "War of the Revo-

lution. He was educated for the law, having graduated when
only sixteen (1762) at the College of New Jersey. His legal

studies were prosecuted in the office of the Hon. Richard

Stockton, of Princeton, IS. J. Having been duly admitted

to the bar, he entered on the practice of his profession with

high promise of distinction.
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In the excitement consequent on the passage (Mar. 22, 1765)
of the Stamp Act, young Sergeant, not jet twenty years of
age, took an active and determined part. When the first

Provincial Convention of Xew Jersey, chosen to elect Dele-
gates to the Continental Congress, met at New Brunswick,
N. J-, July 21, 1774, Sergeant was chosen the Clerk of the
Convention. On a visit to Princeton, August, 1774, John
Adams (afterwards President of the United States) became
quite interested in the " young lawyer," and spoke of him as
" a cordial friend of American liberty."

The second Provincial Convention of the Colony met at

Trenton, X. J., May 23, 1775, when Sergeant was chosen the

principal Secretary. Subsequently, at their meeting in August
of the same year, he was appointed Treasurer, and a member
of the Committee of Safety. February 14, 1776, he was

chosen to represent the Province in the Congress, then sitting

in Philadelphia. Of this body he continued an active and

useful member, until having been duly elected on the fourth

Monday of May, 1776, a member of the Provincial Congress

of isew Jersey, and believing that he could thus better sub-

serve the noble cause of American Independence, to which he

had devoted all his energies, he resigned his seat in the Con-

tinental Congress. It thus appears that the very fervor of

his patriotism, and not a want of it, deprived him of the

honor of being enrolled among "the Signers of the Declara-

tion of Independence."

In the Provincial Congress that met June 10, 1776, at

Burlington, 1ST. J., he distinguished himself from the first as

an advocate of Liberty. Writing from Burlington, June

loth, to his friend, John Adams, he says: " Jacta est alea!

We are passing the Rubicon, and our Delegates in Congress

on the first of July will vote plump. The bearer is a staunch

Whio-, and will answer any questions you may need to ask.

I have been very busy here, and have stolen a minute from

business to write this." On the 24th of June, he was ap-

pointed one of a Committee to prepare a Constitution for

the new State. The Committee reported on the 26th, and

the Constitution was adopted July 2d, the very day of the
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adoption, at Philadelphia, of the Declaration of Independence.

On the 21st, he wrote again to Adams, as follows: " We want

wisdom here—Raw, young, and inexperienced as your humble
servant is, I am really forced to bear a principal part. Would
to Heaven that I could look round here, as when with you,

and see a number in whose understanding I could confide."

M We are mending very fast here. East Jersey was always

firm. West Jersey will now move with vigor. The tories

in some parts disturbed us ; but they have hurt us more by
impeding the business of the Convention, and harassing with

an infinity of hearings. But for this we have provided a

remedy, by an ordinance for trying treasons, seditions, and

counterfeitings." "However, we have formally ratified Inde-

pendence, and assumed the style of the Convention of The

State of New Jersey. This very unanimously.

"

He was chosen Xov. 80, 1776, by the Legislature of the new
State, with Richard Stockton, John Witherspoon, Abraham
Clark, and Jonathan Elmer, to represent them for one year

in the Congress of theUnited States. In the course of the

following year, he became a resident of Pennsylvania, and

was appointed by the Supreme Executive Council of Penn-

sylvania, July 28, 1777, the Attorney-General of the Common-
wealth of Pennsylvania, wdth a salary of £2000, a high mark
of distinction and confidence. As such, He was appointed by

the Congress of the United States, Feb. 8, 1778, with William

Patterson, Attorney-General of Xew Jersey, as Counsellor,

to co-operate with the Judge Advocate, in conducting the

trial of several general officers of the Northern Army, for

evacuating Ticonderoga. He resigned the office Xov. 20,

1780.

Through all the trying period of the Revolution, Mr. Ser-

geant proved himself the inflexible patriot, and the devoted

friend of his country. "Declining after the peace, like many
of the patriots of '76, to accept of any office, his acquaint-

ance was courted, and his advice and aid were constantly

sought by the republicans who took part in the important

transactions of those days." His zeal for republican principles

led him to espouse, with characteristic ardor, the cause of the
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French Revolution, and to bail it as the harbinger of a glo-

rious era for the Old World.

In the summer of 1703, Philadelphia was visited with that

desolating scourge—" The Yellow Fever." In concert with

a few other philanthropic citizens, Mr. Sergeant devoted him-

self, as a member of the Committee of Health, to the care of

the sick and the dying, and of the widows and orphans of the

victims of the pestilence. In the faithful and indefatigable

discharge of these self-imposed duties, he became himself a

subject of the fatal disease, and died October 8, 1793, in the

48 th year of his age.

" As a lawyer, he was distinguished for integrity, learning,

and industry, for great promptness, and an uncommonly fine

natural elocution. As a man, he was kind, generous, and

actively benevolent; free from selfishness and timidity, and,

at the same time, prudent and just, maintaining in his house

a liberal hospitality, without ostentation or display. As a

citizen and a public man, he was ardent, sincere, and indefati-

gable ; fearless of every consequence of the honest discharge

of his duty."

He was remembered by his son, the late Hon. John Sergeant,

a3 "of a cheerful, and, at times, even playful disposition."

"From other sources," says the son, "I know that he had at-

tained the highest professional eminence, that he took an

earnest and decided part in public affairs, was a public-spirited

citizen, an excellent husband and father, a good neighbour, and

cordial friend."

He married, March 14, 1775, Margaret, the sixth child of

the Rev. Elihu Spencer, D.D., and Joanna, daughter of John
and Joanna Eatton, of Shrewsbury, ]S"ew Jersey. Dr. Spencer

was then of Trenton, Is. J., and previously the successor of

President Dickinson, at Elizabethtown, 1ST. J. She was born

January 5, 1759, and died June 17, 1787. Their children

were

—

1. William, born January 1, 1776 ; member of the Phila.

bar* Married, Sept. 3, 1801, Elizabeth Morgan, and had issue

one daughter, Mary Valeria, who intermarried with George

W. Blight, and had issue. He died March 7, 1807.
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2. Sarah, bora January 1, 1778, and married October, 1801,

to tbe Rev. Samuel Miller, D.D., one of the pastors of the

Presbyterian Church of the city of New York, and subse-

quently Prof, in the Theo. Sem. at Princeton. She was the

mother of eleven children.

3. John, born December 5, 1779, and a graduate (1795)

of the College of New Jersey ; an eminent lawyer, and a dis-

tinguished statesman. Married June 23, 1813, Margaretta

"Watmough. He died November 25, 1852, at Philadelphia,

Pa. ; had ten children.

4 and 5. Thomas and Henry (twins), born January 14, 1782,

both grads. of the Col. of N. J., 1798. Thomas became an

honored member of the bar, and a Justice of the Supreme

Court of Pennsylvania. Married Sept. 14, 1812, Sarah Bache,

granddaughter of Benjamin Franklin. He died May 8, 18G0 ;

had issue three sons and one daughter. Henry died March 24,

1824. S. p.

6. Elizabeth, born January 3, 1784; died December 31,

1845. S. p.

7. Jonathan, born January 4, 1786 ; died July 4, 1786.

8. Elihu Spencer, born May 29, 1787, a grad. of the Col.

of N. J., 1804 ; member of the Phila. bar. Married July 1,

1819, Elizabeth Fox Norris; died August 4, 1824. Had
three children.

Mr. Sergeant married, as hi3 second wife, Dec. 20, 1788,

Elizabeth Rittenhouse, daughter of David Rittenhouse. They

had three children:

—

1. Esther, bora October 16, 1789 ; died June 4, 1870. Mar-

ried, 1814, William P. C. Barton, M. D., a grad. of the Col.

of N. J., 1805, who organized the Bureau of Med. and Surg.

TJ. S. Navy, and became its first Chief. He was Prof, of

Botany Univ. Pa., and Prof, of Mat. Med. and Bot. Jefferson

Med. Coll., Phila. They had fourteen children.

2. David Rittenhouse, born July 1, 1791 ; died August 8,

1872. S. p.

3. Frances, born November 17, 1793, and married to Mr.

John C. Lowber, member of the Phila. bar, 10th Nov. 1819,

and died November 3, 1847. Had five children.
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THE DESCENDANTS OF JORAX KYN, THE FOUNDER
OF UPLAND.

BY GREGORY B. KEEN.

(Continued from page 335.)

4. Anna or Anntka Kyn or Keen,2 daughter of Joran Kyn,

was born in New Sweden, and resided with her father at U]>

land. She was married to James Sandelands, of that place,

whose mother* still lived there in February, 1683-4, and

whose fatherf was a native of Scotland. Her husband is

mentioned for the first time August 6, 1665, when he received

a patent for land, probably the same as that dated, according

to another authority, August 6, 1668, " for two lots of land

in Upland at Delaware, upon the North side of the creek or

kill." He afterwards, June 13, 1670, procured a grant of two

others, similarly situated, adjoining the property of his father-

in-law.^ His name occurs in a List of Discharged Soldiers

* She is mentioned in the course of the trial of Margaret Matson for

witchcraft before William Penn and the Provincial Council, sitting at Phila-

delphia " y
e 27th of y

8 12 th mo. 1683."

f He may possibly have been a certain Jacob Evertsen Sandelyn (unless,

of course, as his name may indicate, that person was a Hollander), master

of the ship " Scotch Dutchman," who visited the Delaware, and sold the

Swedish Governor " duffel cloth and other goods" to the value of "2500

Guilders," in 1646, the year of the younger Sandelands's birth. The coat

of arms engraved upon James Sandelands's memorial tablet by the direction

of his eldest son does not display the illustrious Douglas quartering of the

Baron Torpichen, but is the simple argent, a bend azure of Sandilands.

The family, according to Barke, "driven from England by the Conqueror,

settled in Scotland in the reign of Malcolm III." The authoritative " In-

quisitionum ad Cap. Bom. R. Retornatarum, quce in Pub. Arch. Scotice

adhuc servantur, Abbreviation exhibits the name in several places in

Scotland at the time of Sandelands^ emigration to this continent, but does

not enable us to determine to what portion of the family the colonist be-

longed.

t Both of these grants are entered in the " Abstract of Patents" pre-

served in the Office of the Secretary of State at Albany.
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for 16G9, preserved in the Office of the Secretary of State at

Albany, indicating, apparently, an early taste for the military

career, and as late as May 17, 1675, we find hira occupying

the position of Captain of a Company of Militia, composed

of his friends and neighbours within the jurisdiction of Up-
land Court. "While in the latter post he was accused of

"being the cause of the death of an Indyan" (as the record

rather vaguely makes the statement), to which charge he

pleaded "not guilty," and was "cleared by proclamation."

Either this judgment was subsequently reviewed by Governor

Andros, or an offence committed the nature of which is not

set down in the Court Minutes, for a few days after he was

convicted of some misdemeanor, and "it v^as ordered that

he pay the sume of 300 Guilders .... the one halfe to bee

towards the building of the new Church at Weckakoe, and

the other to the sheriffe," and was "put off from being Cap-

tain"—an office which he never afterwards resumed. As early

as 1680, in a deed conveying to him a few acres of land at

Upland owned by Israel Helm, he is described by his distinc-

tive occupation as "merchant"—a calling which might al-

most be said to characterize him among the peculiarly agri-

cultural Swedes by whom he was surrounded. "What kind

of merchandise he chiefly dealt in does not appear ; the only

record of his traffic still preserved relates to a purchase of

tobacco in Maryland, not delivered according to agreement,

on which account "a Certayne great Boate or siallop," be-

longing to the delinquent, was "attached," and "publicqly

sould." He continued to add to his real estate at Upland,

acquiring about five hundred acres of land on the west side

of Ridley Creek, and also obtained tracts of land at Mar-

cus Hook or Chichester, on JSTeshaminy Creek, above the

"Paequessink," and in West Xew Jersey, and was one of

twenty-four " Petitioners" for the right to " settle together in

a Towne att the west syde of the lliver, Just below" Trenton
" faalls"—a privilege not conceded to them, however, as far

as known. Of his success in the majority of his enter-

prises we are sufficiently assured, and the fact of his wealth

and prominence of position among the early residents on the
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Delaware does not stand in need of the testimony of anti-

quarian research. During the prevalence of the Swedish and
Dutch influences at Upland he often practised as Attorney in

the Court which held its sessions at that place, and on one

occasion, at least, represented a client hefore the more remote

tribunal at Xew Castle. In the " Record" of the former

Court he is mentioned with marked frequency. In one

instance a In behalfe of y
e Rest of y

9 Inhabitants of Upland"
he obtains an injunction on an encroachment of one of the

townspeople upon a right of way common to all. In an-

other it is rather curiously decreed "to bee paid To James

Sanderlins for payment of the Indians that whipt etc." a cer-

tain sum of money—explained as referring to the punishment

of a criminal at a primitive whipping-post. He was one of

the "Tydables" residing at Upland in 1677, and was at that

time the only person who owned a slave upon the river Dela-

ware from Upland northwards. He was also one of the "re-

sponsible housekeepers" of that place returned in the "Cen-

sus" of 1680. On the coming hither, in 1681, of Colonel

"William Markham, the representative and precursor of the

great Founder of Pennsylvania, Sandelands's abilities and

experience in the affairs of the older colony received imme-
diate recognition, and he was appointed by the Deputy-Gov-

ernor one of the nine members of the "Council" which that

gentleman's commission authorized. Unfortunately no part

of the record of their doings has come down to us, except the

attestation, which is " Dated at Vpland, y
e third day of

August, 1681."- Sandelands was at the same time constitu-

ted by Governor Markham a Justice of the newly-organized

Upland Court. William Perm visited him on arriving in the

Delaware, and it was " talkt among the people" of that day
" that it was with Intent to have built a City" at Upland,

"but that he and Sanderlin could not agree."f Sandelands's

interest in public affairs did not abate under the Quaker

* See " Pennsylvania Archives," vol. i. p. 37. At pasre 46 of the same

volume occurs a note addressed by Sandelands and Robert Wade to Gover-

nor Markham, dated "Ypland, June 12th. 1GS2."

f The Breviate, Penn v. Lord Baltimore, f. 105.
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Government, and in 1686 we find him promising the Court

"a Convenient peese of Land in the town of Chester, where

they may erect a Court house and Prison," and the latter

building, at least, was put up on his ground. From 1688 to

1690 he represented Chester County in the General Assem-

bly of the Province of Pennsylvania. As late as 1690

he acted as Justice, and in 1691, the want of a new prison

having been presented by the Grand Jury, he and another

gentleman of the neighbourhood were "intrusted and em-

powered to complete the charges and make return of the

same at the next County Court." As contrasted with these

exhibitions of the graver aspect of his character, we meet

with an amusing intimation of hi3 native gayety of tempera-

ment and the festive manners of the time in the presentation

of him by another Grand Jury " for keeping an ordinary att

Chester without Lysence, as also for keeping disorders in his

house upon the 1st day of the week. The Court dispences

with his keeping the ordinary until the Provincial Council

shall sit, & remits the other on his promising not to do so

any more." Whereupon at a Meeting of the Council " y
e

18th of y
9 3d Mo., 1686, upon y

e Petition of James Sander-

ling for a Lycence to. keep an Ordinary, it was granted him."

The house alluded to in the indictment is, without doubt, the

"large dwelling-house" mentioned by Mrs. Deborah Logan in

one of her notes to the " Penn and Logan Correspondence," pub-

lished by the Historical Society (vol. i. p. 46), " called by the

inhabitants 'the double house/ the property of the Sanderlins,

in which the first Assembly for the province and territories

was held, and which, being built with lime made of oyster-

shells, became ruinous, and fell down many years since."*

James Sandelands died at Chester on the 12th of April, 1692,

aged fifty-six years. His friend, Patrick Robinson,f and his

* In some MS. "remarks" intended to be subjoined to Mr. John F. Wat-

son's account of bis visit to Chester in 1827, given in the " Annals of Philadel-

phia," Mrs. Logan says : "James Sandeland built himself a large brick House

near the Creek and road leading from Philadelphia. It was called 4 The

Double House' by the way of distinction. My mother well remembered it."

t A gentleman of considerable prominence in the early colony, merchant

and lawyer, at one time Clerk of the Court for the County of Philadelphia,
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son-in-law, George Foreman, were appointed overseers of his

last will and testament—a writing which existed until re-

cently, but, unfortunately, cannot now be found. Anne San-

delands survived her husband, and after a comparatively

brief period of widowhood married Peter Baynton, indiffe-

rently described as "shopkeeper" and "merchant," who
came, it is said, from England. He is known to have been

residing on the Delaware as early as June, 1686, when he

served on a petty jury at Chester Court ; and in October,

1689, when he made an assignment of interest in land at

Chichester, was living in the County of Xew Castle, which

he represented during that year in the General Assembly. In

1693 he was appointed a Justice of the Court at Chester,

and presided at its sittings, which were sometimes held at

his house. He was tenacious of his privileges as " successor"

of Sandelands, and " denied to give security" for the admin-
' istration of his step-children's estate, and very soon developed

traits of character, the existence of which had not been sus-

pected by his friends. In 1694 he abandoned his wife and

only child, and "removed himself and the most of his estate

to England, promising in some short time to return," but de-

layed to keep his word, until Mrs. Baynton was obliged, May
19, 1698, to obtain from the Provincial Council the right to

appropriate the residue of his property in Chester for her

support. He afterwards came back to America, and, if con-

fidence may be placed in the unusual phrases of Christian piety

which adorn his will, must have repented of his misdeeds.

He bequeathed all his possessions, both real and personal, to

his young daughter, and constituted her sole executrix of his

and from 1693 to 1700 Member of the Provincial Council and Secretary

of the Province of Pennsylvania, being succeeded in the latter office by

James Logan. His widow, Elizabeth Robinson, m., 2dly, Griffith Jones,

Member of the General Assembly of the Province from Philadelphia

County from 1706 to 1709, and third Mayor of the City of Philadelphia

(d. October, 1712); and 3dly, John Swift, constantly Member of the Gene-

ral Assembly from County Bucks from 1689 to 1719, and from Philadelphia

County from 1721 to 1730, and the ancestor of branches of the family of

Joran Kyn.
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last testament,* appointing as Trustees for her during her

minority u his friends, Thomas Powell, Senior,f and Thomas
Powell, Junior," two eminently respectable "yeomen" of

Chester County. lie styles himself in the instrument referred

to " now resident in y° City of Philadelphia, Chirurgcon." He
must have died between the date of it, June 1, 1710, and the

proving of it, during October following. The death of his

wife preceded his, and she was buried by the side of her first

husband, October 5, 1704. In "An Account of the Building

of St. Paul's Church in Chester," rendered to the English

"Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parti,"

June 25, 1714,;J: occur the following interesting statements

:

"The ground on which this small but compact fabrick of

Brick is built was formerly a burying place belonging to a

Colony of Swedes, the first Inhabitants of this Province from

Europe In this Swedish Dormitory James Sande-

lands of Chester (or, as it was first called, Uplands), Merchant,

a man of good reputation in the Country, was on account of

affinity interred to keep up the memory of this founder of a

growing family; 'twas agreed on amongst his relations that

his grave, as also that of his kindred and family, who were

or might be buried there, should be distinguished & set

a part from the rest of the burying ground by an enclosure or

* He also names in it his " sister Rebecca," married to " John Budd" (son

of Thomas and Susanna Budd, of West New Jersey and Philadelphia, and

grandson of the Reverend Thomas Budd, of the parish of Martock, Somer-

setshire, England), Sheriff of Philadelphia County, 1706-7, his " sister Sarah

Morrey" (wife of Humphrey Morrey, from New York, sometime Member of

the Provincial Council of Pennsylvania), and his "kinsman, Peter Bayn-

ton, son of his nephew, Benjamin Baynton," the former of whom was born

in 1606, m. in 1723 his cousin Mary, daughter of John and Rebecca (Baynton)

Budd (d. in 1739), was for many years Vestryman and Warden of Christ

Church, Philadelphia, and wa3 drowned in the river Delaware in 1746.

f A gentleman who is spoken of in the " Account of the Building of St.

Paul's Church in Chester," soon to be referred to, as "
y
e principal supporter

of the Ministry here, for y
e further encouraging of which in the place he has

of late given a valuable piece of ground for a Minister's house, garden, &
Other conveniences too long to be inserted in this paper."

t Contained in " Historical Collections relating to the American Colonial

Church, edited by "William Stevens Perry, D. D.," vol. ii. pp. 78, et seq.
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wall of stone. This design wa3 no sooner formed k noised

abroad, but 'twas happily suggested by a projecting fellow in

Town, that, if it seemed good to Mr. Sandeland's relations,

the intended stone wall about the place of his interment

might be w th some what more charges carried up, k formed

into a small chapel or Church. This new motion was well

liked of by y
e

s
d relations & encouraged by every body in

the neighbourhood that wished well to the Church of Eng-

land, but they who put life into this proposal & prosper-

ously brought it to pass were Jasper Yeates, Merchant in

Chester, and James Sandelands, son to the abovenamed Mr

Sandelands, the latter of which two Gentlemen, besides other

gifts, gave some land to enlarge the Church Yard, but the

former, to wit, Mr Yeates, a zealous assertor of our constitu-

tion in Church & State, must be allowed to have been the

main promoter of the founding of St. Paul's upon Dela-

ware." The ancient tablet indicating the burial place of

James and Ann Sandelands still exists, and may be seen in

the new Church at Chester to-day. It is "massive, and of

gray sandstone, and is interesting from the excellence of its

execution, and as a specimen of early art." A description of

it is to be found in the "Record of Upland Court," published

by the Historical Society, and a fine Engraving of it forms

the Frontispiece to that book.

By her first husband, James Sandelands, Ann Keen had

seven children

:

11. Eleanor, m. George Foreman, a prosperous merchant of the colony,

mentioned as early as November 30, 1681 (when he served as juror,

described as " gentleman," at a Court at Upland), and one of the

witnesses, October 28, 16S2, to the delivery of New Castle by the

representatives of the Duke of York to "William Penn. After

residing a few years at Passyunk, on the east bank of the Schuyl-

kill, in Philadelphia County, he removed, in 1686, to Marcus Hook,

or Chichester, in Chester County, and was commissioned May 13,

1693, "Justice of peace for the Countie of Chester," and May 16

" had the oaths and Test and oath of a privie Councillor for this

province administred to him, & by his Excellency was appointed

to take place at the Councill board"—a position which he occupied

until the close of Governor Fletcher's administration and the "end

of the Second Sessions of Councill and Assembly," June 9, 1694.

Vol. ii.~31
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He assisted in the settlement of his father-in-law's valuable estate,

and was chosen as guardian by Christian, Mary, and James Sande-

lands, who were minors at the time of their father's death. On the

23d of June, 17%, he granted powers of attorney to his wife and

brother-in-law, Jasper Yeates, enabling them to convey away hi3

property in the Province, and shortly after went to Great Britain,

where he is described June 3, 1698, and July 12, 1699, as " of Cain,

in the County of Wilts, in the Kingdom of England, Gentleman."

This is the last mention of him met with. Mrs. Foreman sold her

husband's land during these years, and may have followed him

across the sea, since nothing more is heard of her here. It is not

known whether they left posterity.

12 Catharine, b. January 26, 1671 ; m. Jasper Yeates.

13. Christian, living January, 1693-4.

14. Mary, m., 1st, Maurice Trent ; 2dly, Robert French ; and 3dly, Robert

Gordon.

15. James was born and lived at Upland, where he followed the occupa.

tion of merchant. He was a member of the Church of England,

and a Yestryman of St. Paul's Congregation at Chester, his libe-

rality to which parish has been commemorated. He was married,

his wife's Christian name being Prudence. He d. s. p., and was

^ buried in the Church at Chester, December 26, 1707. His wife

* survived him, and afterwards married Henry Munday, and was

buried at Chester, March 10, 1731-2.

16. Jonas, m. Mary Taylor.

17. Ltdia, living February, 1693-4.

By her second husband, Peter Baynton, she had erne child

:

18. Rebecca, b. 1693-4; m. (Records of St. Paul's Church, Chester),

December 21, 1713, Thomas Weston.

5. Matthias Keen,3 eldest son of Hans and Willemka Keen,

was born at Upland in 1667, and in boyhood remoyed with

his parents up the Delaware towards Wissinoming and Pen-

nipack Creeks. He inherited his father's estate before attain-

ing his majority, and resided on that property throughout his

life. His dwelling stood on the upper of the two tracts as-

cribed to "Enock & Keene" upon Holme's Map, not far from

the site, at present, of St. Vincent's Orphan Asylum, Tacony,

Philadelphia. To thi3 land, of which he, in time, obtained

exclusive ownership, he added the triangular tract to the rear

of it, exhibited in the Map referred to as belonging to " Ha
Salter," as well as valuable " meadow lots" along the river
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bank ; so that the "plantation" at last embraced at least four

hundred acres, with a front of half a mile upon the Delaware,

and a depth by the northeastern boundary, the Township
Line, of a mile and a half, and a breadth of nearly a mile at

the Bristol Turnpike.- He was, like his forefathers, chiefly

occupied with the pursuits of agriculture, and i3 described as

"husbandman" and "yeoman" in legal documents. He is

named in Charles Springer's list of Swedes residing on the

Delaware in May, 1693, his household consisting of three

persons—himself, his wife, and eldest child. Among the hun-

dred heads of families comprised in the Swedish congregation

of Wicacoa in 1697 he was one of only five possessors of

negro servants, probably slaves. The piety which so distin-

guished his grandsire Jo'ran seems to have descended upon
Matthias Keen in double portion, and, with the fact of his

temporal prosperity, constitutes the best-attested feature of

his life. His name appears at the early age of seventeen

years among those of his seniors as a contributor to the sup-

port of the Lutheran pastor, Jacobus Fabritius, and again, on

occasion of appointing Trustees for the congregation, imme-
diately on reaching his majority. His donations to the clergy

at subsequent periods were conspicuously liberal, and at the

erection in 1700 of the existing structure known as the Church

of Gloria Dei, Philadelphia, he was a subscriber to the largest

individual amount. He was chosen a Vestryman of the

Parish, and was appointed Chairman of the Committee on

Building, in which capacity he recommended the addition to

the edifice of the two wings or porches, still standing, used as

a vestibule and sacristy. The first list of pewholders contains

his name, with the position of his sitting. There is this fur-

ther evidence of his interest in ecclesiastical affairs: "At a

general meeting, May the 1st, 1705," says the Reverend An-

drew Sandel in the Parish Record preserved at Gloria Dei

Church, " Matthias Keen presented to the whole congregation

a petition from the upper inhabitants for occasional divine

* Conjointly with his brothers Erick and George, he appears, also, to have

owned at least fifty acres of land in Byberry, Philadelphia Co. See will of

John Hiberd, registered at Philadelphia, January 29, 1718-9.
J
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"worship in the winter, hecause of their distance from the

Church, as myself and the congregation may deem proper.

We agreed," continues the pastor, "that I should officiate there

twice in the winter season." These services, so originated,

says General W. W. II. Davis, in his "History of Bucks
County, Pa.," were one of the beginnings of what many years

afterwards came to be known as the Bensalem Presbyterian

Church. In the spring of 1707 Mr. Keen, with other Swedes

residing on the Delaware, received a present from King
Charles XII., of Sweden, of a parcel of books (bibles, prayer-

books, primers, and spiritual meditations), which he, in com-

pany with the chief members of the congregation at Wicacoa,

acknowledged by a gift of American fur, the following year,

to Mr. Peringer Lilljeblad, Secretary to his Majesty, through

whom thev were sent out. The instances in which Mr. Keen
appears in personal relationship with the Government of

Pennsylvania are not numerous. On one occasion he signed

an appeal to Lieutenant-Governor John Evans and Council,

praying them to disallow a wrongful election of Sheriff for

the County of Philadelphia effected by the "Townsparty" as

it was called, and identifying himself with the opposite inte-

rest of the so-called "Country party."- And again, in fellow-

* The original of this petition still exists, and is in the possession of the

Historical Society. It is entitled "The humble Petition of severall {Free-

holders of the County of Philadelphia on behalfe of themselves and divers

others," and is curious from the lively picture it presents of the method of

" stuffing the ballot box" of usage with the early colony. " Having spent

the whole day in the Election of Representatives, The Sherriffe would and did

adjourn till y* next morning, wch not being condescended to, the Election of

Sherriffe came on, and upon a view a Candidate was Chosen, and then two

more put up, one whereof was also very fairly and undoubtedly Elected, and

so generally cry'd out, Whereupon the Couutry party (among whom lay the

Interests of the last Elected), it being very late, withdrew for their severall

habitations. After which the Townsparty began to be eager for the Box,

knowing that then they were able to carry on their Clandestine Design

(The Sherriffe having long before withdrawn), and accordingly amongst

themselves they hatch'd it, permitting Serv* and all that went for their

Cause to have their Yote, and objecting against and denying others y* had

Competent Estates to have any ; besides, their method of Electing was con-

trary to the positive Agreem 1 had, and the Practises used in such cases be-
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ship with other Swedes, "antient settlers and first inhabitants

of thi3 Province/' he presented a petition to the General As-

sembly, June 1, 1709, for redress of grievances experienced at

the hands of "^Yilliam Penn and his officers," especially u the

collector James Logan," charged with fraudulently getting

possession of their deeds, abstracting their lands, and increas-

ing their quit-rents. The complaints in this case were deemed

of sufficient consequence to be sent by the Representatives to

Great Britain to the Proprietor, who " did not omit to com-

municate them," says Acrelius, u to Count Charles Gyllenborg,

who was at the time the Swedish minister resident in London.

Whereupon His Excellency, the Count, brought the affair to

the notice of the Royal Swedish Council, from which an earn-

est admonition was despatched to the members generally of

the Swedish congregations upon the Delaware in America, to

conduct themselves in obedience to the laws of the country

and of the English Court, as well as to Penn, the lord and

proprietor of the country, if they expected hereafter from

Sweden any services for their spiritual edification. This was
taken very hard by our Swedes," pursues Acrelius, "that they

should be represented in London as disorderly, and still more

bo with regard to the government in Sweden ; as they believed

that they were only demanding a manifest right. "Wherefore,

in order to bring their innocency to light before the whole

world, they presented a petition to the Assembly of 1713,

demanding their good testimony, that, during the whole time

fore on that day (viz 1

) of nominating only one at a time, wch in this particu-

lar howeV was rejected, together w th severall more partiall and unfair

Proceedings \^h can readily be made appear." The names appended to the

paper are forty-two in number, headed by that of " Andreas Sandel, Swedish

Minister at "Wicaco." Among them occur those of Nils Laican, " Andris

Langakr," John Stille, and John Cadwalader, ancestors of branches of the

family of Joran Kyn. Matthias Keen's signature is written in a clear and

legible hand for a period marked by peculiarly crabbed chirography. The

petition was presented at a meeting of the Provincial Council, October 4,

1705, by Peter Evans, the candidate of the " Country party," " together

with severall Papers Subscribed by Sundry inhabitants of the County and

City of Philadelphia in favour of his Election," but without satisfactory

result, siuce Governor Evans commissioned his opponent, Benjamin Wright.
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that the country had been under the English Government,
and even to the present time, they had conducted themselves

as quiet and loyal subjects; and also desired that this might
be so represented to the Royal Swedish and English Courts,

and that this testimony might be sent over to England and
Sweden by Provost Bjork. Herewith also followed a state-

ment of the petitioners to the Resident Count Gyllenborg, in

which they set forth their grievances at length, with various

statements, which do not seem to be consistent with justice

on the side of the Proprietor/"* Matthias Keen was married

to Ilenricka or Henrietta, daughter of Jan Claassen, of Swe-

dish or Dutch extraction, the original grantee, in 1666, of

"Leasy Point," identified by Mr. Edward Armstrong (in his

foot-note to the "Record of Upland Court;' p. 140), as " the

upper point of land at Burlington, formed at the junction of

the Assiscunk with the Delaware," conveyed by him to Peter

Jegou, two years afterwards, and possessing a certain interest

as having been a lodging-place of "George Fox on his re-

markable journey in 1672 from c Middletown Harbour' to Xew
Castle," described in that Friend's " Journal." Her father was

owner of land at " Passayuncke" in 1676, and was numbered
among the "Tydables" residing at "Taokanink" in 1677, and

for several years previous to his death dwelt on a tract of 300

acres (increased by a grant from William Penn, July 31, 1684,

* For a tolerably fall account of these transactions, and a clear explanation

of the nature of the grievances inflicted by the Quakers on the early Swedish

colonists, see Provost Israel Acrelius's " History of New Sweden," translated

by the Reverend Dr. W. M. Reynolds, published by the Historical Society,

pp. 125-9. Two of the papers referred to in the text are preserved among

the Records of Gloria Dei Church, Philadelphia, and appear in the second

edition of the Rev. Dr. J. C. Clay's " Annals of the Swedes on the Delaware."

I have been told by a noble gentleman and illustrious lawyer of our city,

not long since deceased, that a sentiment of distrust of civil officers, growing

out of the remembrance of these ancient wrongs, still obtains among some

living descendants of the first settlers on our river. Not many yeara ago he

found it quite impossible, he said, to prevail upon a certain farmer of Swe-

dish ancestry to record a deed for property which had been in the possession

of his client's family for several generations, and, in order to secure the man
from future inconvenience, was obliged to have .the entry made at his own

expense, and without informirg the suspicious countryman of his act.
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to 520 acres), "called Yianna," surveyed to him "by virtue

of a "Warrant from the Courte of Upland," by Richard Xoble,

"the 17 th 4 th mo. 1680,"* not indicated on Holme's (somewhat

incomplete) Map of Pennsylvania, but situated (according to

the plan of it preserved in the Surveyor-General's Office at

Harrisburg) directly opposite to the land accredited to Fran-

cis Walker, on the east side of Xeshaminy Creek, rather more

than a mile above its mouth, in the subsequent Bristol Town-
ship, Bucks Co., Pa. His daughter Henrietta inherited an

interest in his large property. She must have died before her

husband, since letters of administration on his estate were

granted to a widow named Sarah, who seems, therefore, to

have been a second wife of Matthias Keen. Mr. Keen died

in Oxford Township, July 13, 1714, and was buried in Gloria

Dei Church-yard, where his tombstone, the oldest to the me-
mory of an adult in that ancient cemetery, is still to be seen

to-day.f He had six children, all born in Oxford Township,

Philadelphia Co., Pa., the first five of them, certainly, by
his first wife:

* Recorded in an old Book of Surveys preserved in the Surveyor-Gene-

ral's Office at Harrisburg'. The tract may reasonably be presumed to be

the same as that granted to Mr. Glaassen at Upland Court, Sept. 11, 1677,

described as " three hundered acres of Land In nishammenies Creeke next

unto y
e Land of James Sanderling, twoo myll up on y East syde of the s

1

Creeke." Here, as well as, sometimes, elsewhere, he is called "Paerde

Cooper," dealer in horses, animals with which he appears to have supplied

the early colony. Acrelius refers to the fleetness of the horses owned by the

Swedes upon the Delaware in his day ; and the descendants of Matthias

Keen were generally noted for the superiority of their stock of every kind,

but especially for the excellence of their steeds. The horse which carried

the news of peace with Great Britain in 1815 from Philadelphia to Balti-

more was furnished by a great-great-grandson of Matthias and Henrietta

Keen, Mr. John Keen, Jr., of Oxford Township : like Robert Browning's

fictitious " Roland," he survived the furious ride, though ever after short of

wind.

f The epitaph is remarkably legible for its age : a copy of it may be seen

in the valuable contribution to Philadelphia antiquarian lore recently pub-

lished—" The Inscriptions in St. Peter's Church Yard, Philadelphia"—at

page 314.
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19. Maria, b. 1692 ; d. young,* unm., or s. p.

20. Christina, b. 1G93; m. during her father's lifetime a person whose

name has not been ascertained, survived her husband, and d. about

1734, leaving issue of whom nothing further is known.

21. John, b. 1G95 ; m. Susannah Steelman.

22. Anna, b. September 7, 1G97; d. young, unm., or s. p.

23. Jonas, b. September 16, 1G98; m. Sarah Dahlbo.

24 Matthias m., 1st. ITannah, daughter of Daniel Jackson," of Lamplugh,

co. Cumberland, Great Britain, fuller," by his wife, Hannah, daugh-

ter of Joseph Bains, " of Strangerthwaite, co.Westmoreland. Great

Britain, yeoman," the latter of whom obtained from William Penn,

May 24-5, 1GS3, a grant of 500 acres of land, which he conveyed,

Sept. 16, 1609, to his son-in-law, whose name appears upon the tract

(surveyed May 20, 1702), situated in Buckingham Tp., Buck3 Co.,

Pa., in Cutler's Map of Surveys, 1703. After her death, which

occurred some time after August 17, 1739, he m., 2dly, before April

13, 1743, her sister Susannah, widow of Jonathan Bourne. He
•was a carpenter, and passed a portion of his life in Bristol Bor-

ough, where he served as Common Councilman in 1742 and 1743,f

and as Second Burgess in 1747 and 1748. His name occurs in the

first list of Vestrymen of the Church of St. James the Greater, at

Bristol, in 1733, and for subsequent years till 1741, and as Church

Warden in 1739 and 1740, the frequent mention of him in Minutes

of Meetings also showing that he took a lively interest in the welfare

of the parish. He lived for several years after 1754. It is not

known whether he left posterity.

* Either she or her sister Anna is doubtless the child whose burial is men-

tioned (the name not given) in the Account Book of Gloria Dei Church

for 1699.

t Probably also from 1754 to 1757, the name then being inaccurately given

by Mr. William Bachc (" Historical Sketches of Bristol Borough," p. 37),

as Matthew Keen. He was, too, very likely, the Matthias Keen mentioned

(" Pennsylvania Archives," Second Series, vol. ii. p. 531) as Lieutenant of

the first of the nine " Associated Companies, Bucks County, 1756," " some of

which," says General Davis, " were called into service on the frontiers during

the French and Indian War." Certain deeds, recorded in the Philadelphia aud

Doylestown Offices, seem to intimate that his second wife died during June,

1743, and that he ra., 3dly, at the First Presbyterian Church, Philadelphia,

April 23, 1746, Mary Murray, and, with her, lived in that city, at intervals,

at least till the 25th of October, 1762.

(To be continued.)
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MEMORIAL NOTICE OF JOSEPH J. MICKLEY.

Read by William H. Ruddiman before the Historical Society of Pennsylvania,

March 11, 187S.

Mr. Mickley was born March 24, 1799, in Whitehall Town-
ship, and in what was then known as Northampton County.

His ancestors, according to tradition, were French Hugue-
nots, and their name Michelet. What is known, upon more

specific evidence, is that the great-grandfather—John Jacob

Mickley—of the subject of our notice, was born in Europe,

and came from Amsterdam to Philadelphia, in 1733 ; arriving

there August 23d.

The name (of the first settler)—John Jacob Mickley—is

memorable in the history of our Indian troubles ; two of his

children having been massacred by the savages in 1763. Some
account of this murder, and of others like it by the Indians,

was made the subject of a narrative for a family meeting, in

1863, a century after the event, by our deceased friend, which

was printed in 1875.

The subject of our notice, Joseph J. Mickley, received in

boyhood such fair elementary education as was usually given

to the youth, in the early part of this century in the region

where he lived. He subsequently was at school for a short

time in this city; and, showing a great fondness for music,

united with a mechanical ingenuity above the common, he

was taught the business of making piano-fortes.' He estab-

lished himself in our city in this branch of business on the

25th of August, 1822, and by his science in music, skill in

mechanism, and excellent qualities as a man of business, was

pecuniarily successful in hi3 art.

Having acquired, in comparatively early years, a compe-

tence, he retired from the matter of music as a means of live-

lihood ; but his love of music as a science, and as a source of

enjoyment, remained with him a dominant affection of his

life.
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But his tastes and Lis attainments were manifold. He was
one of the best numismatologists of our country; and an ac-

complished bibliopolist. His collections of coins and medals

at one time of his life were very large. For some years he

was President of the Numismatic and Antiquarian Society

in this city, and a member of many similar societies in this

country and in Europe.

A few years before his death—being then past his seventieth

year—he went to Europe, and spent a considerable time in

travelling over its principal countries. In Sweden, the nation

whose people first settled on our shores, he particularly en-

joyed himself. He began with the ardor of youth the study

of its lan^uasre and the examination of its libraries, to see

what they contained, as yet unpublished, which could minis-

ter to the history of our Province. Considering his much
advanced years, and, indeed, irrespective of considerations as

to his time of life, the attainments made by him in the Swe-

dish language, and in knowledge of its unpublished manu-

scripts, were remarkable. Having watched with great inte-

rest, and, to a certain extent, having assisted in the excellent

translation by Dr. Reynolds of the History of Swedish Co-

lonial Settlements on the Delaware, by Acrelius, he procured,

at his own expense, from the Royal Library at Stockholm, a

copy of the "Narrative of Lindstrom," giving much infor-

mation on the same subject, and had already made for our

Society a translation of two-thirds of it. He had caused

other valuable manuscripts to be copied; some of which ar-

rived in Philadelphia just before his death, which occurred

on the evening of Friday, February 15, 1878. It adds poig-

nancy to our grief for the sad event, that his labors should

have been arrested by the hand of death, when so near to

that completion of them which would have secured a know-

ledge of them by the public; a knowledge which would have

been surely followed by a high estimate. -
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RECORDS OF CHRIST CHURCII, PHILADELPHIA.

BURIALS, 1709-1760.

CONTRIBUTED BY CHARLES R. IIILDEBURN.

(Continued from page 339.)

July 27,1742. Craven,
Oct. 8, 172S. Crawford,
May 31, 1733. it

J^ov. 25, 1736. u

Dec. 7, 1736. u

April 23, 1740. u

Aug. 10, 1745. u

May 17, 1759. u

Nov. 13, 1751. Crawley,
Nov. 15, 1756. "

Dec, 30, 1748. Crear,

Feb. 11, 174S-9. «

Sept. 12, 1751. 44

Mar. 23, 1730-1. Crew,
Sept. 10, 1747. 44

June 28, 1746. Crib,

Aug. 13, 1741. Cribb,

Dec. 11, 1742. 44

Nov. 29, 1751. Crippin,

Jan. 16, 1749-50. Cristie,

Aug. 29, 1746. Cristy,

April 8, 1731. Crocker,

Aug. 13, 1751. Croesdale,

April 8, 1740. Croker,
Mar. 1, 1726- 7. Croley,

April 1, 1733. Crookendon,
July 29,1733. 44

Oct. 8, 1742. Crookshanks
Jan. 6, 1742-;3. Crosdale,

Dec. 14, 1721. Cross,

July 19, 1743. 44

Mar. 30, 1730-: L. Crosswhite,
Sept. 26, 1711. Croswhit,
Dec. 10, 1728. Crosswit,

Jan. 4, 1715-6. Crosswitts,

Sarah, wife of Thomas.
John. Poor.

Mary.
Rebecca, dau. of Peter. Beg'd.
Anne, dau. of Peter. Begd.
Thomas, son of Peter.

Sophia, wife of Daniel.

Elizabeth.

William, son of John/
dau. of John.

Rebekah, wife of Abraham.
Abraham, son of Abraham.
Abraham, son of Abraham.
William.
Samuel.
Arthur.
James, son of Arthor.
Arthor, son of Arthor. ,

William.
Robert.

Franie, dau. of Robert, (sic.)

Anne, dau. of Francis.

Mary.
Francis, wife of John.
William.
Thomas.
Elizabeth.

Patrick.

Susannah, wT
ife of Thomas.

Thomas. Drowned ye 13th.

William, son of Thomas.
Thomas, son of William.
Sarah, wife of John.
Hannah, wife of William.
John.
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Sept. 18, 1746. Crosthwait,

Feb. 19
Feb. 15
June 29
Oct. 30,

Oct. 1

Mar. 7

Jan. 31
Dec. 22
Dec. 11

Feb. 15
Oct. 22
Oct. 22
June 4
Nov. 2

Dec. 14
Oct. 14
Jan. 22
Feb. 15
Nov. 15

Feb. 20
June 16
Sept. 5

Feb. 9
Dec. 9

May 21

Jan. 24
Sept. 26

Nov. 21
Nov. 21

June 12
Feb. 10
July 30
Jan. 1

Sept. 12
Sept. 30
Sept. 3

Sept. 29
June 18
July 24
Aug. 2

June 13

1747-8. Crosthewait,
1734-5. Croswaite,

1711. Croswit,
1737. Crow,
1726. Crusher,
1733-4. Cuff,

1730-7. "

1738. Cumings,
1727. Cummings,
1729-30. "

1739. "

1740. "

1720.

1722.

1740.

1748.

1748-9.
1750-1. "

1756. Curders,
1726-7. Curtain,

1753. Cusack,
1747. Cusick,
1748-9. Custos,

1746. Cuthbert,
1753. "
1756. "
1723. -Cutts,

Cummins,
U

Cunningham,

Martha, wife of William. Not
baptized, therefore with-

out Christian burial.

William.
Anne, wife of William.
Richard, son of John and
Thomas. [Sarah.

Susannah.
Peter.

Elizabeth. Widow.
Mary, wife of Daniel.

Mrs. Anne.
Richard.
Sarah, dau. of John.
Sarah.

Elizabeth, dau. of John and
Edith. [Edith.

John.
Alexander.
Priscilla, wife of William.
Mary, dau. of William.

dau. of William.
Gilbert. Sailor.

Susannah, dau. of James.
William, son of James.
Catherine, dau. of Richard.
Catherine.

Anne.
Thomas.

niece of William.

1741.

1755.

1741.
1741-
1742.

1736-
1747.

1744.

1750.

1737.

1759.
1759.

1750.

1746.

Da <rg,

Daily,

Dalbey,
2. "

Dale,

7. Dalmas,
Dalton,

Daly,
Danby,
Danford,
Darby,

u

Darnel,
Darrud,

John.
John.
Elizabeth, dau. of Abraham.
Abraham, son of Abraham.
William.
Mark. Beg'd.
Margret, wife of Henry.
Mary. Widow.
Sarah.
Susannah, wife of William.
William, son of John.
Sarah, dau. of Letitia.

David, son of Thomas.
Henry, son of Henry. Stran-

gers' Ground.
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]S
T
ov. 29, 1726. Dart,

Sept. 18, 1741. u

July 1, 1741. Darvil,
Mar. 28, 1747-8. ^

July 31, 1749. M

May 29, 1750. Darwel,
Oct. 27, 1756. Darwil,
April 1, 1751. Davenport,
Aug. 13, 1747. Davey,
July 12, 1743. David,
Oct. 1, 1752. (4

Oct. 21, 1755. (4

Mar. 27, 1756. 44

Dec. 19, 1756. 44

Jan. 3, 1732-3. Davies,

July 11, 1734. u

Mar. 6, 1735-6. "
Aug. 14, 1737. u

Apri] 10, 1738. u

Xov. 19, 1738. u

Feb. 6, 1738-9. «

May 1739. cc

June 17, 1739. u

Jan. 21, 1739-40: "

Feb. 7, 1739-40. "
July 21, 1740. 44

Sept. 26. 1740. u

June 28, 1753. u

Apri' 3, 1748. Davil,
Sept. 17. 1712. Davis,
Feb. 1. 1729-30. "

XOV. 17. 1730. u

ISTov. 27 1730. it

Mar. 22, 1730-1. "
July 21 1731. (I

May 30
, 1732. a

July 16 1732. a

July 15
, 1734. u

Mar. 7 , 1734-5. "
Alicr. 11 , 1742. u

April 12 , 1743. a

Oct. 2 , 1743. a

Oct, 28 , 1743. a

Nov. 13 , 1743. (4

Aug. 6 , 1744. ((

Dec. 4 , 1745. ((

John. Sailor.

Mary. Strangers' Ground.
Ann, dau. of "William.
William.
Peter, son of William.
William, son of Joseph.

dau. of Josej »h.

Sarah, wife of Joseph.
Joseph, son of Hugh.
Ann, dau. of Peter.

Jane, wife of Peter.

Peter.

dau. of the widow.
Hugh.
William. P.
Henry, son of Thomas.
Philip, son of Thomas.
Mary. Widow.
Isaac, son of William.
Thomas, son of William.
David.
John. Beg'd.
Catharine.

Elizabeth, dau. of William.
Theodosia, dau. of Richard.

Isabella. WT
idow. Beg'd.

Mary.
Anne, dau. of William.
Anne. Widow.
Hugh.
Samuel, son of William.
Mary, dau. of William.
Joseph, son of John.
Hugh, son of David.
John, son of Thomas.
Isaac, son of William.

Hannah, dau. of Thomas.

Eebecca, dau. of William.

George, son of William.

Lycretia, widow of Joseph.

Jane, wife of Robert.

Elizabeth. Poor.

Hannah, dau. of Robert.

Elizabeth, dau. of James.
William, son of Richard.

James, son of Richard.
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July
Mar.
June
Dec.
Dec.
July
Nov.
June
Nov.
July
June
Oct.

June
July
Oct.

Mar.
June
July
Oct.

Aug.
July
Aug.
Nov.
Aug.
Nov.

20, 1748. Davis,

1, 1748-9. "

1, 1749. "

6, 1749. "

11, 1750. "

3, 1751. "

26, 1752. "

7, 1754. "

10,

28,

15,

4,

31.

Davison,
Daviss.

Davy,

Daws,
Dawson,

1754.

1755.

1756.

1756.

1757.

1757.

4, 1730.

14, 1734-

9, 1747.

9, 1747.

4, 1753.

7, 1758.

26, 1717.

17, 1741.

20, 1750.

1. 1753.

1. 1756.

Sept. 28, 1734.

Feb. 17,1736-7. "

Feb. 21,1736-7. "

Sept. 13, 1738. "

Oct. 5, 1746. "

Mar. 29,1746-7. "

Mar. 14, 1750-1. "

Nov. 26, 1728. Daye,
April 19, 1746. Daykin,
May 22,1746.

15, 1734.

4. 1757.

15, 1747.

5, 1746.

8, 1747.

26, 1749.

1. 1754.

Day,

Aug.
July
Sept.

July
Aug.
Oct.

Jan.

Jan-

Deal,

Dean,
Debitt,

Delath,
u

Deley,
Delintee,

1, 1743-4. Denby,

Deborah, dau. of Thomas.
Hugh.
Mary.
John, son of Thomas.
Francis, son of Thomas. -

Mary, dau. of James.
Philip.

Elizabeth, dau. of Richard.
Mary, wife of Albin.

son of John.
Elizabeth.

James.
Margery.
Ann^ dau. of Thomas.
Robert, son of Robert.
Mary. "Widow.
Ballard, son of Hugh.
Jenkin.
Anne, dau. of Hugh.
John, son of William.
Margaret.
Jane, dau. of Robert.
James, son of James.
William, son of James.

son of James.
Richard.
Mary, dau. of Humphrey.
Elizabeth, dau. of Humphrey.
Jane, dau. of Humphrey.
Thomas, son of Humphrey.
Edward.
Humphrey, son of Humphrey.
Humphrey, son of Humphrey.
George, son of Gilbert.

Sarah, dau. of Gilbert.

Thomas, son of Solomon.
John.
Hannah.
Martha, wife of John.
John.
Daniel.

James, son of Michael.
John.

(To be continued.)
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NOVEMBER MEETIXG OF THE HISTORICAL
SOCIETY OF PENNSYLVANIA.

A meeting of the Society was held November 11, 1878, the President (Mr.

"Wallace) in the Chair.

Mr. Peter McCall, on behalf of seventy-one contributors, presented to

the Society a handsome full-length portrait of Benjamin West, the artist,

copied by Marchant from Leslie's copy (in the Boston Athenaeum) of the

original by Sir Thomas Lawrence.

The President accepted the gift on behalf of the Society, expressing it3

thanks for the liberality with which the portrait was presented.

The President then introduced the Reverend George Morgan Hills, D. D.,

Rector of St. Mary's, Burlington, N. J., who read an able and interesting

sketch of the Reverend John Talbot, the First Bishop (A.D. 1722) of Brit-

ish America.

Mr. Joseph M. "Wilson, of "Washington, D. C, presented to the Society

the quill pen (made from the wing of an American eagle, shot on Mount
Hood, Oregon, by a member of one of the U. S. Surveying Expeditions,

and obtained for the purpose from the Smithsonian Institute), with which

the President of the TJ. S. signed in approval the Act of Congress of the

16th of February, 1876, in relation to the Centennial Celebration of our

National Independence, accompanying the same with letters proving its

authenticity.

Mr. Richard S. Smith, in the absence of Mr. Lars "Westergaard, pre-

sented on behalf of Mr. David Fransiz, a water-color picture of the Old

Draw Bridge, and Blue Anchor Tavern, as they appeared in 1750. The

picture, which once belonged to Mr. John F. "Watson, was framed with yel-

low pine, of the beam of the Blue Anchor Tavern, and with oak from the

Chestnut St. bridge, over Dock Creek.

On motion of Mr. Richard S. Smith it was

Resolved. That the thanks of the Society are hereby given to the Rev.

George Morgan Hills, D. D., for his instructive and interesting discourse on

the Rev. John Talbot, and that a copy be requested for deposit among the

Archives of the Society.

Adjourned.
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NOTES AND QUERIES.

Notes.

The Campaign of 1776 around New York and Brooklyn.—The Long
Island Historical Society have issued as a Centennial Contribution to the

literature of the Revolution, a volume with the foregoing title, forming the

third volume of the Memoirs of the Society. The care, industry, and ability

of Mr. Henry P. Johnston, its author, are manifested on every page of the

work, and the Directors of the Society are to be congratulated upon their

judgment in selecting him for its preparation.
The first three hundred pages of the book are taken up with the descrip-

tion of the subject of which it treats, the last two hundred with illustrative

documents. The significance of the campaign, the plans and preparations
made for it, the fortification of New York and Brooklyn, the composition of

the two armies, the battle of Long Island, the retreat to New York, the

loss of that city, the affairs of Kipps-bay, Harlem Heights, "White Plains,

Fort Washington, Treuton, Princeton, and the situation at the close of the
year, are all given.

The most elaborate chapter in Mr. Johnston's work is that treating of the

Battle of Long Island, and in his conclusions regarding it he differs from
Mr. Bancroft, Mr. Dawson, Mr. Field, and Dr. Stiles, in not charging Gen.
Putnam with the loss of the day. The true cause of disaster which befel

the army of Washington on the 27th of August, '76, was, Mr. Johnston
thinks, the quiet and secrecy attending the capture of five young Ameri-
can officers, who, iu the absence of cavalry, were guarding Jamaica Pass,

and allowed the British to gain the flank of the Americans before they
were aware that the troops of Howe were in motion. Mr. Johnston has

taken especial care to give the names, and note the services of all the officers

he has found mentioned who took part in the campaign, an act of justice

which it is impossible to render in a history of more general character and
which should insure his volume a wide circulation among their descendants.

Of Pennsylvania he writes : " Her troops participated in nearly every en-

gagement, and had the opportunity in more than one instance of acquitting

themselves with honor. Besides her large body of 'associators.' or home
guards, many of whom marched into New Jersey, the State sent four Con-
tinental regiments under Colonels Wayne, St. Clair, Irvine, and T>e Haas to

Canada, and eight other battalions, three of them Continental, to the army
at New York. Of these, the oldest was commanded by Col. Edward Hand
of Lancaster. It was the first of the Continental establishment, in which
it was known as the 'rifle' corps. Enlisting in 1775, under Colonel Thomp-
son, it joined the army at the siege of Boston, re-enlisted for the war under
Colonel Hand in 1776, and fought all along the continent from Massachu-
setts to South Carolina, not "disbanding until peace was signed in 1783.

Hand, himself a native of Ireland, and, like many others in the service, a
physician by profession, had served in the British army, was recosnized as a
superior ofiicer, and we find him closing his career as Washington's adju-

tant-general, and personal friend. The two other regiments raised on the

Continental basis were commanded by Colonels Robert Magaw, formerly
Major of Thompson's regiment, and John Shoe of Philadelphia. The re-

maining battalions were distinctively State troops, and formed part of the
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State's quota for the Flying Camp. Colonel Samuel Miles, subsequently
Mayor of Philadelphia, commanded what was known as the first regiment
of Riflemen. Unlike any other corps, it was divided iuto two battalions,

which under their enlistment in March aggregated five hundred men each.

The Lieutenant-Colonel of the first was Piper; of the second. John Brod-
head. The Majors were Paton and Williams, Another corps was known
as the First Regiment of Pennsylvania Musketry, under Colonel Samuel
John Atlee of Lancaster County, originally five hundred strong, and re-

cruited in Chester and the Piquea Valleys. Atlee had been a soldier in bis

youth in the frontier service, afterwards studied law, and in 1775 was active

in drilling* companies for the war. Mercer, who knew a good soldier when
he met him, wrote to Washington that Atlee was worthy of his regard as an
officer of ' experience and attention,' aud his fine conduct on Long Island

proved his title to this word of commendation from his superior. How much
of a man and a soldier he had in his Lieutenant-Colonel, Caleb Parry, the

events of August 27th will bear witness. The three other battalions were
incomplete. Two were composed of Berks County militia, under Lieutenant-

Colonels Nicholas Lutz and Peter Kachlein. Lutz's major was Edward
Burd, and their colonel was Henry Haller, of Reading, who did not join the

army until after the opening of the campaign. Another detachment con-

sisted of part of Colonel James Cunningham's Lancaster County Militiamen,

under Major William Hay." In speaking of the death of Colonel Parry in

the description of the battle, Mr. Johnston says :
" The men shrunk and fell

back, but Atlee rallied them, and Parry cheered them on, and they gained the

hill. It was here, while engaged in an officer's highest duty, turning men to

the enemy by his own example, that the fatal bullet pierced his brow. When
some future monument rises from Greenwood to commemorate the struggle

of this day, it can bear no more fitting line among its inscriptions than this

tribute of Brodhead's, ' Parry died like a hero.'
"

The volume can be had by applying to Mr. George Hannah, Librarian of

the Long Island Historical Society, Brooklyn, N. Y. The price is $4.

New Sweden-

.—We have received from the author. Carl K. S. Sprinchorn,
Filosofie Licentiat, a pamphlet entitled Kolonien Nya Sveriges Historza,
Stockholm, 1878. This valuable treatise is the best dissertation hitherto

written on the history of the Colony of New Sweden during the supremacy
of the Swedes. Besides comprising much that is pertinent to the subject in

former authors, it contains a summary of the facts regarding the first four

expeditions to the Delaware, embodied in the only satisfactory account of

them heretofore published, the ;

' Kolonien Nya Sveriges Grundl'aggning
1637-1642" of Professor C. T. Odhner, and imparts fresh information (drawn
from official documents, and original MSS. in the Royal Archives at Stock-
holm), about the equipment and settlement of the six succeeding colonies

which left Gottenburg for our river during the Governorships of Printz,

Papegoya, and Rising. Among other papers in the Appendix occur the

"Relation" of the last-named officer, dated Christina. July 13, 1654. and a
contract signed by Governor Printz (discovered during the summer of 1S77),

mentioning the purchase of land on the Delaware from an Indian chief by
Peter Minuit as early as March 29. 1638. more definitely determining the

period of the arrival of the first Swedish Colony, as given in the foot-note on
page 326 of this volume of the Magazine. The neat little Map of New
Sweden accompanying the essay is worthy of notice, as indicating places of

principal interest, together with variations of boundary lines.

Corrections in "The Descendants of Joran Kyn."—On page 332. 10th

and 11th lines from the foot, omit the words " a certain Villus Lacie, or the

Vol. ii.—32
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person to whom he seems to have sold a portion of his land." He was un-
doubtedly the same individual as " Niels Laerson," the name baring been
incorrectly written by an English Scribe. On page 333, at the close of line

18, add this foot-note : The Reverend Dr. Nicholas Collin affirms her to be
identical with a certain Williamkie Kijhn. who was buried in the Swedish
Lutheran Cemetery on Raccoon Creek (now Trinity Protestant Episcopal
Church Yard, Swedesboro), New Jersey, between January and March,
1722; this is not improbably the fact. G. B. K.

Corrections in Volume II.—Several corrections in Black's Journal are
noted on page 49. On page 111, " Niarian Wischeart" should read "Ninian
Wischeart." On page l-ll, 3d line from foot, " charming delightfully" should
read " charming delightful." The Col. Livingston mentioned on page 141 was
"James," not ''Henry Philip" as supposed. On page 147, the last line of large

print should read " The enemy left about 300 dead on the field, we buried them
yesterday, and about 40 of ours among whom were three field officers. The
enemy left among their dead Col. Monckton, and 8 or 10 other officers. Thus
the pride," etc. On page 148, 8th line from top, " sure and fast" should read
"safe and fast." The word marked " itmnteUigible" on page 1G9, 18th line

from top, is " Cochran." On p. 285. 7th line from foot. " 1778" should be
" 1788." Col. Bayard was first chosen Speaker of the Assembly March 17,

1777. Gen. Win. S. rftryker. of N. J., who has closely studied the history of

the Battle of Trenton, thinks that the statement that Col. Bayard was
present at that engagement is incorrect. The name of Thomas Fitzsimmons,
page 306, should be Fitzsimons, and so all through the article. On page
340, Mr. Conner's name should read "Philip Syng Physick Conner." On
same page "Vice-President Kuru" should be "Vice-President Keiin."

Maryland Documents. 1692 to 1800.—Mr. John R. Lee, Librarian of the

Maryland Historical Society, has printed a small edition of " A Hand List

of Laws, Journals and Documents of Maryland to the Year 1800." A
note on the reverse of the title informs us that it was prepared with a view
of printing at some future date a full bibliography on the subject, and it is

hoped that the list as printed will elicit information on publications not re-

corded in it. The Library of the Maryland Historical Society contains a
larger proportion than any other collection of the publications of that State,

and it is suggested to persons who have any mentioned in the list, or copies

of those not recorded, -to place them in the Society's Library. We shall be
glad to show Mr. Lee's list to any person who desires to help along the good
work.

Father Marquette.—On the evening of the 15th of October last. ITenry

M. Hurlburt, Esq., read a paper before the Chicago Historical Society, ques-

tioning some of the views expressed by Rev. Dr. Duffield in an Oration
delivered at Mackinaw in August. Mr. Hurlburt thinks that Louis Joilet

was the true head of the expedition down the Mississippi in 1673, Marquette
being an ecclesiastical attache. The address has been printed by the Chicago
Historical Society.

The American Antiquarian.—The effort that is being made by the Rev.
Stephen D. Peet, of Unionville, Ohio, to establish this quarterly, devoted
entirely to Early American History. Ethnology and Archaeology, is deserv-

ing of all the support that can be given it, by those interested in the Anti-
quities of America. The numbers that have reached us are full of interesting

and valuable articles. The price of the " Antiquarian" is $2.00 per year.

Beattt, Eole, and Thomas.—The undersigned has in preparation a
Genealogy of the above Pennsylvania families, and would be under obliga-
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tions to anyone who may favor him with data concerning either of those
named. William II. Egle, M.D.

Harrisburg.

Acreltus.—The following- letter to the late Rev. A^m. M. Reynolds, D.D.,
the translator of the History of New Sweden by Israel Acrelius, issued by
the Historical Society of Pennsylvania, was received about a year ago.

Sir: Permit me to address a few lines to you concerning your translation

of Acrelius. On page bG. note, you say :
" Laus Deo. I am not sure

whether this denotes a locality, or is only a religious expression." I myself
am translating the Dutch records of this State, and have found this expression
frequently used as superscription of letters, which were dated at end with
name of locality, and day of the month ; hence I must surmise it to be a
religious formula, the more so as it reads also: Laus Deo semper!

In speaking of a letter or deed by Armgardt Printz, daughter of Gov.
Printz, and wife of Lieut. John Papegaya, dated 1673 (I forgot to note the
page), you say in a foot-note :

" There is probably an error in this date, as it

is not likely that she (A. P.) remained 19 years in this country after her
husband's departure." The date must be correct, for I have here a letter

from her to Samuel Edsal of New York, dated at Printzdorp, the 3d of
March, 1GTG. She had been in Europe in the mean time (1G62-3). but
seems to have returned before 1671, in which year, on the 8th of March, she
signed a petition to Capt. Carr at New Castle. (N. Y. Col. MSS. vol. xx.

fol. 26 and 82 ; lb. vol. xxi. fol. 51.)

Hoping you will excuse the liberty which I have taken in giving this in-

formation, I am, sir,

Very respectfully yours, B. Fernow,
Custodian of Hist. Records.

Albany, July 9, 1877.

Philadelphia, 1818.—In the lately published Crosby Family, by Nathan
Crosby, of Lowell, Mass., we find the following account of his visit to Phila-

delphia, in 1818. "After spending a few weeks with my Brother Asa, I made
a trip from Philadelphia by stage to Bristol, and thence by boat. There
were three grades of coaches ou the line at different prices, at three, four,

and five dollars. There were a dozen or more of them running together. Of
course being a member of college, I entered the highest priced coach, ex-

pecting to go forward and to be treated with especial respect and favor, but

I soon learned that the coaches run for luck, outstripping each other and
trying to escape each other's dust as best they could. I found, too. that my
companions were dashing young chaps, and flashy people, while the four-

dollar coaches were filled with solid looking business men, so when I

returned I took another grade. It took two days to get from New
York to Philadelphia, but I stopped over a day to attend commencement
at Princeton, where a little balloon was sent up in the evening, to the great

admiration of everybody and to my great surprise. I had learned in New
York that our ninepence was a shilling there, and fourpence halfpenny was
a sixpence, but when I came to pay for a dinner in New Jersey, and was
required to pay 'two levies, a phipeny bit, and two cents:' I did not

know what the fellow meant, so gave him a half-dollar and by the change
returned. I cyphered out the value attached to the names ; the York shilling

had become an elevenpence, and the sixpence a fivepence, with fractions. I

spent seven traveling days to get to Philadelphia then, but twelve hours

will take me there now. I took the mail stage from New York to Boston,

and thence to Concord, and then walked to Gilmanton, leaving my trunk

for the mail carrier to bring. I do not remember how many days I was on
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the road, but I do remember it was a horrible journey: the stages were
crowded, the roads were rough, with cold mornings and evenings ; and I was
the bearer of $700, which gave me anxiety enough. 1 was glad to get home
again, however, and I spent the winter alter in Xo. 12 upper story, in the

great college building all alone, to make up my absent studies as best I

could, after six or more weeks' absence.

When I returned to Hanover, my stories of travel by stage and steam, of
Independence Hall, and the Franklin Library, shot tower, museums, public
buildings, Princeton commencement, of Aaron Burr, and other creat men
I saw about the courts in New York—how nobody cared for me, but left me
to look out for myself—how I looked for the big lions—for everything was a
lion to me—and all about the wharves and vessels lying by them, the great
heaps of merchandise, the great stores and the little chimney sweepers—all

about the horse boats running everywhere, and about my going to the
theatre (the only time in my life, as I never had faith in their usefulness)

and circus, all were wonderful, and enough to entertain country college boys,
and to give me a cordial reception."

Citieries.

Map.tix, John and Sarah.—Can any of your readers give any information
as to the address of John and Sarah Martin, late of Newton. Bucks County,
Pennsylvania, who left that place about the year 1817 to go West ? Their
father's name was John Martin, and they are mentioned in the will of their

Aunt Jane Bartram of Newton. The purpose of this inquiry is to discover

whether the said John or Sarah Martin, or any of their descendants, can in-

form the writer of the name of their father John Martin's wife, their mother,
and the name of his second wife, and also the name of his. John Martin's

father, and also to what Friends' Meeting the said John and his parents be-

longed. J. Hilx Martin.
Philadelphia.

J. B. R—Who was J. B. R.. Washington, D. C, March, 1862. who com-
municated to the Historical Magazine, vol. vi., New York, 18G2, extracts

from the Journal of Aaron Wright of Capt. John Lowden, in Col. Thomp-
son's regiment, 1775, and who has possession of the Journal ?

Harrisburg, Pa. John B. Linn.

Isaac Brown.—Can any of the readers of the Pennsylvania Magazine
give information regarding Isaac Brown, who was in Philadelphia in 1855,

and made likenesses of persons in wax ? K.

The Scotch-Irish Immigration to Pennsylvania.—Great difficulty is

experienced in tracing the genealogy of the ScotchJrish families who settled

in Pennsylvania between the years 1710 and 17C0. By a law of the Province
a record was kept of ail German. Swiss, French, and other foreigners, and
this Registry, most of which is embodied in Rupp's "30.000 Names" is of

incalculable value in genealogical research, but can any one inform me if

records were kept at the English port of sailing of the natives and subjects

of Great Britain ? If this was the case what a valuable acquisition it would
be to our Pennsylvania genealogy 1 W. H. E.
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Susquehannocks.—I have been informed that there was a Dutch work
on America, published in 1073, in which there was au engraviug of " The
Indian Fort of Susquehannocks." Can any of the readers of the Pennsyl-

vania Magazine give me the title of the volume ? Seventy-nine.

Robert Stobo.—In the Historical Magazine of April. 1857, the late Nevil
B. Craig, of Pittsburg, asked for an)' information regarding Robert Stobo,
one of the hostages of the surrender of Fort Necessity, in 1754. not found
in the Memoir of that officer (printed at Pittsburgh in 1^54). This
<; Query" called forth a reply, which was given in the Magazine for the

following May, in which the writer states that the whole proceedings in

Stobo's case, and the account of his escape from Fort Du Quesne had been
recently found in Canada, and that the Rev. J. B. Ferland, of Quebec, in-

formed him that they were to be published by the Canadian Government.
Can anv of our Quebec readers tell us if the papers in question have ever

been printed ? F. D. S.

fteplies.

Early Records of Pittsburgh (vol. ii. p. 303).—[We have received from

Mr. Isaac Craig of Alleghany the following annotations to the list of early

settlers at Pittsburgh printed in the last number of the Magazine. At the

time of the publication of the document we forbore adding any notes re-

garding the settlers, not feeling competent to perform the work. We are

glad that our omission to do so has called forth a communication from one so

well informed on the subject as Mr. Craig, and hope that he will furnish us

with any further data he may obtain.

—

Ed.]

1. John Langdale—an Indian Trader ; May 20, 1760. he and Josiah Daven-
port, and Robert Burchan were nominated and recommended to the

Governor as suitable persons for Agents at Pittsburgh, by the com-
missioners under an Act for Preventing Abuses in the Indian Trade.

In 1765 he married Alice Coates.

2. John BarJclet; probably John Barkley, an Indian Trader a3 late as

1772.

5. Philip Bayle enlisted May 4, 1756. in Capt. Joseph Shippen's Company,
in Col. "William Clapham's Regt. ; after the capture of Fort Du
Quesne, he was employed by Col. Croghan in the Indian Trade.

12. Jno. Pierce, subsequently Paymaster-General of Penna. Militia.

13. William McAllister was living in "Washington County during the

Whiskey Insurrection in 1794.

15. Erasmus BoJcias ; a family named Bokius settled very early in that

portion of Washington County on the Monongahela River above
Redstone Old Fort.

18. Edward Cook was a man of great ability and influence; he held nume-
rous offices, both civil and military, fie was one of three persons

who ordered the building of the Fort at Hannastown in 1776. He
was a delegate from Westmoreland County to the Convention of 1776 ;

County Lieutenant in 1782. and Judge of the Court of Common
Pleas for Washington and Fayette Counties in 1786.



.
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20. James Harris, of Cumberland County; April 18, 1785, was appointed
Deputy-Surveyor under Act 7th of April, 17b 5. and he was the Sur-
veyor of Harris's District, No. 11. April 6, 1787, he was appointed
one of three commissioners for laying out a road between Frankstown
Branch and Conemaugh River. April 3, 1789, he was appointed one
of three commissioners to run the boundary line of Huntingdon
County.

22. William Work was a Paxton man, and one of the signers of a circular

addressed "To all his Majesties' subjects in the Province of Penn-
sylvania or elsewhere," dated at " Paxton, October 31, 1755. from
John Harris's at 12 o'clock at night." The address will be fouud in

Pa. Colonial Records, vol. vi. 669. March 15, 1758. he was appointed
an Ensign in Capt. Patrick Davis's Company, aud stationed east of
the Susquehanna. May 4. 1759, he was commissioned a Lieutenant
in Col. Wm. Clapham's Regiment.

24 James Milligan was commissioned April 16, 1779, a Lieutenant in 7th
Pa. Regiment, and by the arrangement Jan. 20. 1780. he was trans-

ferred to the 4th Pa. Regt., commanded by Lt.-Col. William Butler.

I think he was a delegate to the Provincial Convention of January,
1775.

25. John Lindsay, a private in Capt. "VVm. Butler's Company of St. Clair's

Battalion in 1776.

26. Alex. Ewing, an Indian Trader as late as 1772.

29. Lazarus Loicrey, and his brother James, were licensed Indian Traders
as early as July, 1744. They had great influence with the Indians,

and the Governor of Canada authorized the commandant at Detroit

to offer a very high price for their scalps, in order to get rid of them.

31 and 32. Edward Ward and William Trent are too well known to re-

quire any notice.

33. Jno. Finly—Indian Trader, licensed in 1774. Afterwards a Captain
in Col. Richard Butlers Regt., and Assistant Quarter-Master in

Wayne's Army.
34. Hugh. Craivford, an Indian Trader. July 31, 1750, " Governor Hamil-

" ton laid before the Council at Philadelphia a Message from the
" Chiefs of the Four Nations of the Twightwees which was spoke to

"Mr. Hugh Crawford, Indian Trader, in one of the Twightwees
"Towns on the Owaback, where he was trading last winter, and which
"he put down in writing." The message can be found in Pa. Col.

Rec. v. 437. In 1756 he was a Lieutenant in Capt. James Patterson's

Company of Col. AVeiser's Battalion.
35. Joseph Spear, an Indian Trader as late as 1775 : he then resided in

Pittsburgh, near John Ormsby's House. Spear was also one of His
Majesty's Justices of the Peace in "Westmoreland County in 1774 and
1775. He appeared prominently in the controversy between Dr. John
Connolly and the Pennsylvania" authorities in regard to the boundary
line between Pennsylvania and Virginia.

36. John McClure was Coroner of Cumberland County 1754-8. An uncle

of Major Ebenezer Denny—mentioned in his Journal, page 321, as

residing "nine miles above Pitt on the Monongahela," and ancestor

of all the McClures in that neighborhood.
40. Samuel Heyden; a Captain in the King's Rangers in Revolution. In

1777, taken prisoner, violated his parole, and sent to the Council of

Pennsylvania.
41. James Reed is doubtless Read of Reading; he afterwards held many

offices, both civil and military.
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42. John Daily resided in Rostravcr Township,"Westmoreland County. Nov.
25, 171)4, he was accepted by Judge Addison as bail for the appear-
ance of Moses Devore, who was charged with being concerned in the

Whiskey Insurrection.

43. Charles Boi/le, brother of No. 5.

45. Robert Paris ; this is perhaps a mistake, and should he Richard Pari3.

Col. John Armstrong frequently mentions Paris as a Trader. Tn

1757, Paris brought a number of Cherokee and Catawba Indians to

aid Pennsylvania. In a letter dated Carlisle, May 5, 1757. Col.

Armstrong writes the Governor :
" Besides the inclination which the

Cherokees have expressed to be acquainted, and occasionally join

with us, I am weil acquainted with Paris the Trader, who is at the

head of those people, and can, I am persuaded, get him to visit and
assist us with more or less of his people, except when they may be
put on some expedition, or particular service from Virginia, but have
not taken the liberty even of writing to that gentleman on the sub-

ject, until I have your Honor's authority for so doing."
49. Cornelius Atkinson enlisted April 20, 1756, in Capt. Joseph Shippen's

Company, and June 5th was sent with Cazarus and James Lowrey,
and others on a scout, for an account of which see Col. Rec. vii. 155.

52. Jno. Work, subsequently a Justice of the Peace in Cumberland County.
Jno. Work signed a petition from the inhabitants of "Westmoreland
County to Gov. Penn, dated Pittsburgh, June 14, 1774. See Pa.
Arch. iv. 518.

53. George Tomb, probably Geo. Tomp, a militia man and spy during the
Revolution.

56. Chris. Millar resided in or near Pittsburgh, he also signed the petition

of the inhabitants of Westmoreland County to Gov. Penn, dated
June 14, 1774.

57. Wrn. Heath; this was probably Wm. Heth, afterwards Lt.-Colonel of

the 3d Va. Regt. in the Revolutionary War. The name was quite

commonly written Heath.
59. John Graham was in the Indian trade as late as 1772.

70. Jno. Coleman. Can this be the man whose case before the Presbytery
April 15, 1788, is noticed in Smith's Old Redstone, page 355 ? There
was a family of this name in Lancaster engaged in the manufacture
of rifles and pack-saddles, and in the Indian trade. Robert and Wil-
liam are the best known of the family. I am under the impression

that Gen. Hand became associated with them after the Revolution in

the manufacture of rifles.

88. Ephram Plane was Commissary General for the Middle Department in

the Revolution, and great-grandfather of Hon. James G. Blaine, U.
S. Senator from Maine.

Fifth Street Grave-yard (vol. i. p. 227).—" A" sends us the following

reply to the Query in a former number about the grave-yard on Fifth Street
above Chesnut Street.

In the beginning of the last century Richard Sparks of the city of Phila-

delphia was the owner of the piece of ground referred to, and by his will,

dated Jan. 14, 1716, he devised " his lot of land containing 100 feet on 5th
Street south of High Street for a burying place for the 7th day Baptists

forever."

Mr. Sparks died in the same year, and was the first person interred there-

in. Subsequently a few other persons were also buried in this ground, being
the bodies mainly of members of the denomination residing in Cumberland
Co., New Jersey, which were brought here for that purpose. The burial
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ground at a later period fell into disuse, and in 182S. the Society offered it

for sale or lease. A proposition from Stephen Girard to purchase it for the

sum of $5000 was accepted, and the Hopewell Baptists of the County of

Cumberland, X. J., and others, constituting the Society of 7th day Baptists,

leased to him the lot for the period of 999 years for the above consideration,

reserving, however, the right of burial on the northern half, or fifty feet.

In 1838 the same parties, in consideration of a further payment, released

to the City, trustee of Stephen Girard, the southern half of the 50 feet from

the restriction contained in the original lease, leaving the northern 25 feet

still subject to be used for purposes of interment. The brick building which

is nowT used as the office of the Board of City Trusts, aud of the Girard

Estates, was then erected upon the portion of the lot that was free from re-

striction.

The northern 25 feet have been carefully kept from all encroachment, and
are separated from the street by the brick wall, which extends from the

Girard Building to the Market House on the north. In this portion, still

rest the remains of the few who were interred there, and on a marble Tablet

against this wall may be read an inscription, the material part of which i3

as follows :

—

"This monument erected 1829 by the Trustees of the 1st Congregation
of 7th day Baptists residing in the township of Hopewell, in the County of

Cumberland, West New Jersey, and the Trustees of the 7th day Baptist

Church of Christ in Piscataway, East New Jersey, to perpetuate the memory
of Richard Sparks, who was interred therein A. D. 1716, agreeably to his

request in said will," and several others, ''ancestors and relatives of mem-
bers of said Societies, who were laid within 25 feet of the north end of the

same."

Octorara (vol. ii. page 349).—" Indian (Iroquois) name Ottohohaho

—

signifying where money or presents were distributed," Campanius. Otte-

raeoe, see Col. Rec. 2. p. 402. Modern name Octararo or Octorora. E.

Translator of Chastellux's Travels (vol. i. p. 227 and 360).—As we
have received another Query on this subject, we give the following abridg-

ment of the Article in the Proceedings of the Massachusetts Historical So-

ciety, referred to by " S. H. G." Our space will not allow us to do justice

to the investigation Mr. Trumbull has given the question, but from what we
publish we think our readers will accept his conclusions.

In a letter of March, 1869, to the Hon. Robert C. Winthrop, Mr. J. Ham-
mond Trumbull, President of the Connecticut Historical Society, informed

him that he had met with a letter of one George G reive, which went far to

prove, what Mr. TS'inthrop had been led to believe, from a memorandum of

Eberling, that Greive was the translator of Chastellux's Travels. From
the notes to the Dublin edition of Chastellux, Mr. Trumbull shows that the

translator had probably resided in England near the Scottish border, as he
had heard Dr. Witherspoon previous to that gentleman's coming to Ame-
rica ; and in early life was acquainted with one Rumney, whose father had
kept a school at Alnwick, in Northumberland. That the translator had
spent some years in a counting-house in Switzerland, and was acquainted
with Silas Deane; that he was in America in 1780, but returned to England
in the autumn, or early winter of that year, and that he was in Holland in

August, 1781. That he was in America again early in 1782, and in Dec.
returned to France with several officers of Roehambeau's army, and after a

seven weeks' voyage arrived at Bordeaux. The letter alluded to by Mr.
Trumbull is written by Greive, from Bordeaux, Jan. 21st, 1783. to Silas

Deane, and shows a friendship to have existed between them, and that the





Notes and Queries. 473

writer had just returned from America. From other sources Mr. Trumbull
informs us that Greive was an attorney at Northumberland, his father hav-
ing followed the same profession at Alnwick. That George had been ap-
prenticed to Peter Thellusson, a Swiss merchant residing in London ; and
that his character in many ways agrees with what is known of the translator

of Chasteliux. E. D.

The Shoemaker Property, Geruantown (vol. ii. p. 230).—The house
mentioned by Watson (vol. ii. p. 23) in which William Penn preached in

Germautowu, is standing at the present day. It is on the north side of

Shoemaker's Lane, immediately east of the railroad, and is known as the

Rock-Ilouse. The property, subsequently Duval's, was the country residence

of Samuel Shoemaker, the account of whose interview with George III. will

be found in the Pennsylvania Magazine (vol. ii. p. 35). The plan of Ger-
mantown in 1714 shows that Isaac Shoemaker owned the entire lot of ground
on the east side of the main street, between the present Shoemaker and
Church Lanes, extending to the township line. On the same plan. Shoe-
maker's Lane, which name it undoubtedly received from that family, is called

the road to Conrad Weaver's mill. The modern house stood, as mentioned
by T. II. 3ML, at the corner of the lane and the main street. A, W. S.

Col. John Butler (vol. ii. p. 349).—Although we are not able to answer
the question of B. C. S. in your last number, it may be interesting for him
to know that Col. John Butler was settled in Tryon County. N. Y.. as early

as 1757. He owned a fine farm near Johustown, and on this farm his son

Walter was born ; the latter studied law in the city of Albany. See Willetts's

Narrative, p. 87. Stone's Life of Sir WT
. Johnson, vol. ii. p. 27.

R M. T.
Paul Allen (vol. ii. p. 111).—T. H. M. will find information regarding

Paul Allen in Allibone's Dictionary of A uthors. and in Duyckinck's Cyclo-

pedia of American Literature. Allen, according to Duyckinck, was an
inordinately lazy man. and received considerable assistance in his literary

labors from Nicholas Biddle, John Neal, and Watkins. The former

prepared the Travels of Lewis and Clark ; the last two, a History of the

American Revolution, both of which works appeared in the name of Allen.

Griswold, in his review of Duykinck, is very careful to state that Allen did

not prepare the Journal of Lewis and Clark, which fact he could have
learned from Duyckinck's volumes in the sketch of Biddle ; and then fails

to show what he could also have learned from the volumes he was reviewing

that Allen did not issue a Life of Washington, as stated on vol. i. p. 643

;

but that the work to which allusion was made was the History of the Revo-
lution. L. M.

Capt. William Evelyn (vol. i. p. 358).—In the lately published Campaign
of 1776 around New York and Brooklyn by Henry P. Johnston (3d vol.

of L. I. Historical Society's' Memoirs), the following account is given of the

capture of an American patroling party of five officers, en the morning of

the 27th of August, 177G, the day of the Battle of Long Island :
" Captain

William Evelyn, 'a gallant officer' of the Fourth Infantry, or King's Own,
and a descendant of the eminent John Evelyn, of England, led the British

advance this night, and it fell to his fortune to surround and capture all five

American officers, and send them immediately to Clinton, who commanded
the leading column." The authority for this statement is a letter f:om the

Hon. Mrs. Boscawen to Mrs. Delany in the Autobiography of the latter,

dated 17th Oct. 1776, which reads :
" We have had a letter from Capt. Eve-

lyn from the field of battle ; he was in y* brigade of light infantry, and took
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5 officers prisoners, who were sent to observe our motions." Mr. Johnston
attributes the overwhelming defeat of our army at Long Island to the cap-
ture of this party, to whom Putnam and Sullivan looked for information of

the advance of the British through Jamaica Pass. Captain Evelyn was
mortally wounded at the skirmish at Throg's Neck on the 18th of Oct. '76.

John Philip De Haas (vol. ii. p. 345).—I notice two errors in Mr.
Stauffer's valuable data relating to Gen. De Haas. Lebanon was not " in

Lancaster County until 1813." From the formation of Dauphin in 1785 to

1813 the town of Lebanon was in the latter county. Col. De Haas was not
at the battle of Long Island, but at that date was at Ticonderoga.

W. H. E.

Rev. Joseph Montgomery (vol. i. pp. 217, 356).—Owing to the meagre data
at hand when the brief memoir of the Rev. Mr. Montgomery was written,

a number of errors and omissions were made. After considerable research

we have obtained the following additional information : Joseph Montgomery,
the son of Johu and Martha Montgomery (natives of Ireland), was born
Sept. 23, 1733, in Paytang Township, Lancaster (now Dauphin) County, and
died at Harrisburg. Oct. 14, 1794. He married, 1st.. Elizabeth, daughter
of Andrew Reed, of Trenton, and a sister of President Joseph Reed, of

Pennsylvania. She died at Georgetown. Md., in March, 1760, the funeral

discourse being delivered by the Rev. Elihu Spencer. He married. 2dly,

Rachel Boyce, the widow of Angus Boyce, and sister of Dr. Benjamin Rush,
born in 1741. She died at Harrisburg, July 28, 1793. By his first wife, he
had one daughter, Sarah, born July, 1768. She married Col. Thomas Fors-

ter, and died July 27, 1808. at Erie. By his second wife he had (1), Eliza-

beth, born July 17, 1770, married Samuel Laird, and died Oct. 12. 1814, at

Harrisburg; and (2) John, born Dec. 23, 1771. At the close of his term in

Congress, Mr. Montgomery served in the Pennsylvania Assembly as a mem-
ber from Lancaster County. W. H. E.





REPORT OF COUNCIL

TO

THE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF PENNSYLVANIA,
May 6, 1878.

To the Historical Society of Pennsylvania:—
Your Council begs leave to report that, in the year 1877, the Hall

was visited by a large number of persons, twelve hundred and

eleven of whose names, as strangers, were entered on the Register.

The increase in the Library and Collections for the year Tvas

—

Books 1108

Pamphlets ' . 1205

Maps 21

Manuscripts 50

Magazines 29

Miscellaneous 305

The accumulation by the Society during many years of a great

body of original manuscripts, much increased a few years ago by

those of the Penn Family, has resulted in a collection so large and

valuable as to be justly ranked among the first in the country.

Their proper arrangement could hardly be entrusted to any but

those now living, who possess a knowledge of their character and

value. Constant applications for an examination of these papers

rendered it necessary, if the Society would faithfully perform its

proper labor, that their arrangement should be undertaken at once.

The same may also be said of the large and valuable collection of

pamphlets owned by the Society. If the Council, some years ago,

had had at its disposal the sum of ten thousand dollars for the

arrangement and binding of these manuscripts and pamphlets,

it would no doubt at once have been so used. Without such

means, it was thought proper to depend upon the liberality of the

members of the Society for special contributions for the purpose.

This dependence has not been misplaced, the arrangement and
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binding, now several years in progress, and to continue for three

or four years to come, has involved an expenditure of about one

thousand dollars a year. This has caused what we believe to have

been a justifiable annual deficiency in the funds of the Society,

met, however, by generous subscriptions in each succeeding }~ear;

and to be continued we hope, with the approbation of the members,

until the desired work shall be completed.

The deficiencies of the years 1875 and 1876, amounting to $1605,

were met by such contributions. That of 1877, amounting to $786,

it is proposed to meet in the same manner.

No better evidence than this statement can be required to prove

the wisdom of the commencement last year of the Endowment
Fund, which it is hoped may be steadily increased, in order to

avoid the necessity for special subscriptions.

The following is a summary of the financial reports of the year

1877.

Treasurer's Report,

Income from members . . . $3200 00

Interest " investments

Contributions ....
Total receipts

Expenditure

Deficiency, Dec. 31, 1877 . . . $786 88

Publication Fund Trust.

Investments $24,250 00

Principal uninvested . . . 1,452 25

528 50

436 00
. . $4164 50

• • $4951 38

Total .... $25,702 25

Receipts from interest and sales in 1877 $2381 17

Expenditure " 2564 69

The first volume of the Pennsylvania Magazine of History and

Biography, recently completed, has been received with a favor

that insures success. It has already led to a largelj' increasing

correspondence with students and authors in many parts of the

territory of the State, as well as elsewhere, and proves to be the

medium long and greatly desired.

The late Stephen Taylor, for many years an honored member of

the Society, has bequeathed to this Fund the sum of one thousand

dollars, to be paid on the final distribution of his estate.
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Sixty new subscriptions, resulting in the receipt of $1500, were

received during the year.

Binding Fund Trust.

Investments $3300 00

185 volumes were bound during the year, and 42 maps were

mounted.

Library Fund Trust.

George "Washington Smith's Donation

Jesse George's Bequest

Total

$1000

4000

S5000

The number of volumes purchased during the year was 176.

Building Fund Trust.

Investments and cash on deposit . . . $14,361

Endowment Fund Trust.

This fund, the result of subscriptions, now amounts to $2500.

The Society's Funds by Bequest, etc.

Paul Beck's Bequest $100

Athenian Institute Donation

Peter S. Du Ponceau's Bequest

Thomas Sergeant's Bequest .

George Chambers's Bequest .

Jesse George's Bequest

Mrs. Eliza Gilpin's Bequest .

Life Membership Fund .

Total

350

200

100

100

1000

5100

1000

$7950
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Abrahams, Dr. Galenus de Haan, 274
Abrabarason, Daniel, 253
Acrelius. note on Ilist. Society's trans-

lation, 467
Adams, Capt., of Pa., 236
Adams, John, letter from regarding
Maj. Wrn. Jackson, 358

Addison, Rev. Henry, 63
Alcock, Jane, wife of Wni. Atlee, 74
Alexander, 231
Alison, Rev. Francis, 66
Allegheny Mountain, First Railroad

over, by Solomon W. Roberts, 370
Allen, Andrew, 4i'3

Allen, Professor George, chess library
of, 348

Allen, Paul, query regarding, 111

;

answer to, 473
Allen, William, Chief Justice. 46
Allummapees, or Sassoonau, King of

the Delawares, 429, 430
Altena Fort, 330
Ames, William, 239, 210, 241, 251, 252,

265, 263, 276
Amory, Thos. G., contribution by, 196
Anderson, 225
Anderson, Capt. Pat., 77, K0

Anderson, Capt. of Ship Morris, 4-5

Andreas, Christian, 254
Andreas, Dr., 272
Andrews, Rev. Wm. G., address by,
on Moravians, noted, 310

Andros, Gov. Sir Edmund, 333, 335
Antiquarian, The American, notice of,

466
Apostool, Samuel, 274
App, Ensign Michael, 77, 80
Areuts, Jacob, 241
Arets, Lenert, 280
Armand, Gen. Charles Marquis de la

Rourie, by T. Ward, 1 ; Mother of,

26 ; mention of, 343
Armstrong, Maj., 17
Arnd, Johann, 247

Arnold, 214
ASHHfliST, 216
Asseburg, Rosemunde von, 262

Vol. ir—33

Atkinson, Cornelius, 301. 171

Atkinson, Mary, 3 '4
; Robr., 305

Atte-Bee, « e Atlee
Atlee, Col. Samuel John, by Simuel
W. IVnnypaeker, 74; mention of,

232, 405
Atlee, William. 74

Auguwick, meaning of, 115

Bache, Sarah, Mrs., 169
P.aciu:, A U
Bains, 456
Baker, Anthony, 304
Baldwin, 116
Ballot box tuuihng, early instance of,

-152

Bancson, 22.", 220, 227
Barber, Col. Francis, 11-1

Barclay's Religious Societies, quoted,
123

Barclay, Robert, 23*, 251, 257, 259
Ban-more, Major, capture of, 8
Barker, 214
Barklet, John (Barklit), 303, 469
Bartholomews, 227, 228
Barton, 442
Basire, quoted, 30, 31
Bauer, Jacob, 6
Bauer, M. J. von Eiseneck, 260, 264
Bayard, Col. John. 2S4, 466
Bayle, Philip, 469

'

Baylies, Maj., exchanged, 356
Baylor, 5>i, 218
Baynton, 332, 349, 447, 448, 450
Beatt v, 466
Behber, Matthias, and Isaac van. 275
Behagel, Daniel, 263
Bell, Charles H., contribution by, 43S
Bell, Helen, translations contributed

by, 407
Bell, Rev. Saml., 345
BenGTSSON, 342
B.-usalem Presbyterian Church, 452
Berends, Claas, 274
Bernard, Lewis, 803
Besse'3 Suilerings of Friends, quoted,
253

(481)





482 Index.

Bethlehem, Pa., proposition to make
seat ot" government, contributed by
John W. Jordan, 103; mentioned,
155, 424

Beverly, Wni., 43
Biarlv, Andrew, 303
Biddfe, Col. Clement, 288
Biddle, Edward, 419
Biddle, James, 67
Biddle, Mrs. Nicholas, 2
Bjurk, Provost, 454
Black, William, Journal of from Va.

to Phila. in 1744, 40
Bland, 216
B'.ane, Epbram, 304, 471
Bleickers, Johannes and Peter, 2S0
Blewer, Capt., 294
BoGGS, 214
Bogardf, Jost van, 326
Bohemian Manor, 27_', 349
Bohm, Jacob, the "Mystic," 240, 275
Bohm, Samuel, 136
Bokias, Erasmus (Bokius), 303, 469
Boxde, 342
Bonsali, Spencer, article by, 394
Boox, 227. 228
Book, 225
Borden, 318
Bonier, Jacob, 136
Boston Port Bill, Thomson's account

of opposition to in Phila., 411
Boucher, Rev. Jonathan, 63
Bourignon, Antoinette, 262
Bourne, 456
Bowler, 226
Bowles, 349
Boyce, 474
Boyle, Charles, 304, 471
Boyle, Elizabeth, 304 ; Rebekah, 305

;

Marge t, 305
Boyle, Philip, 303
Braden, James, 303
Bradford, Col. William, 286, 294
Brainerd, Rev. David, 428
Beeakley, 56, 218
Brechtbuhl, Benedict, 126, 130
Brehan, Marchioness de, portrait of
Washington by, 175

Bretewitz, M. de*, 260
Bretton, Thomas, 304
Brinley, 216
Brock, R. Alonzo, editor of Black's
Journal, 40

Brockden, Charles, 425
Brodhead, Col. Danl., 76, 79
Brodhead, Lt.-Col. John, 465
Broglie, Le Prince de, 166
Brooke, Robert, 42, 46
Brouwer, Hubert, of Xeuwied, 130
Brown, Benjamin, 56
Brown, Isaac, 468
Bruck, Count of, 208, 278
Brack, Countess of, 268, 273
Budd, 215, 448
Budd, Thomas, 335

Bunington, Richard, 228
P.uissoti, Chevalier du, 15

BUJAC, 214
Bull, Joseph, sre Shebosh, J. J
Burchi, sec Burghalter, 12(5

Burghalter, Hans, 126, 130
Burton, 349
Burton, Rev. John, 345
Butler, Col. John, 349, 473
Buyteudvk, WilhHmine de, 256
Byarly, Philip, 304; Phebe, 304; Ja-

cob, 305
Byers, John, 111, 230

Cabb, 228
Cadwalader, 453
Cadwahuler, Gen. John, 76
Cahoon, James, 304
Caldwell, Lieut. Robert, 77
Calkoon Hook, 228
Calendar, changes in, 394
Calonue, 31
Campanius Holm, quoted, 325, 327,

331
Campbell, 211
Carothers, 231
Carr, George, 303
Carre, Capt., 332
Casdorp, Harmen. 275
Cassel, Abraham H., contribution by,
407 ; mention of, 132, 134

Cassel, Arnold and Johann, 207
Caswell. Richard, 14
Caton, William, 240, 244, 245, 251, 265,

276
Cayanna, 218
Centen, J. S., 136
Chambers's Mill, 428
Champlain's Expedition into Western

oSTew York in 1615, by Dr. J. G.
Shea, 103

Chancellor, 55, 213
Chaplin, 217
Charles Louis, Elector Palatine, 240,

245, 249
Chastellux, Marquis de, 166

Chasteliux's Travels, translator of,

472
Chateaubriand, 26
Chealy, Rev. Wm., 345
Chester, sre Upland
Choisy, M. de, 22
Christ Church records, burials 17^9-

1760, Br to Car, 97; Car to Coa, 219
;

Coa to Cra, 336 ; Cra to Den, 459

Christian, Godl'rev, 305
Cilley, Col. Joseph, 144
CLAASSEN, 333, 349, 454, 455
Claassen, Cornelia, 121
Claesen, Cornells, 275
Clapier, 213
Clark. 212
Clark, Wm., 232
Clarkson, Gerardus, 67
CLASSON, 226, 227, 342
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Clans, John, 251, 270, 278

Clavpole, James, 280
Clayton, William, 231
Clivelaud, Gen., 7U

Clifton-

, 55, 218
Cloud, 116
Coal, mentioned in non-importation
agreement, L'30

Cock, see also Cox, 311, 342
Cogliran, Marg't, 305
Coleman, Jno., 304, 471
Collin, Rev. Nicholas, note of, regard-
ing Swedish records, L'24, 34.1

Collins, Rev. Johu, 345
Colman, 223
Computation of Time, and changes of

Stvle in the Calendar, by Spencer
Bonsall, 394

Congress, First, of U. S., opening of,

1789, 171
Conoys, the, an Indian tribe, 430
Conway, Countess of, 238
Couyngham, Redmond, 316
Cook, Arthur, 232
Cook, Edward, 303, 469
Cooper, Dr., of King's College, 63
Copper, R., 258, 273
Cornwallis, Lord, sails for England,
70

Corrections to Volume II., 466
COURTAULD, 211
Cox, s>:e also Cock, 224 225, 226, 227,

228, 349
Coycault, 56, 218
Craig, 213, 216
Craig, John, 2
Craig, Mrs., 2
Craigh. Col. Thomas, of Pa., 144
Crawford, Hugh, 303, 470
Crawford, Judah, 304
Creamer, Cate, 305 ; George, 305
Creamer, Windle, 304
"Crisis, The," author of, 232
"Crisis, The," Nos. 5 and 6, 294
Crisp, Stephen, 240, 241, 251, 257, 265,
272

Crispin, 212
Croese, Gerhard, 274
Crone, Conrad, 304
Crone, Marge 't, 305
Culen, 228
Cunningham, Col. James, 465
Cunning'ra, Patrick, 304
Cttthbert, 55
Cuthbert, Thomas, 67
Cuthbertson, Ensign, of Pa., 236
Custis, Eleanor, 172
Custis, G. W. P., quoted, 141 ; men-

tion of, 172

Dahlbo, 225, 456
Dahlboe, 312
Daily, Jno., 304, 471
Daily, Sarah, 301 ; Susan, 305
Danielsen, Jost, 332

Dankers, Jasper, 272
Davies, Pres. of Princeton Coll., 311
Davis, Ensign, .Joseph, 77

Davis, Lieur. John, 77

Davis, Septimus, 80
Declaration of "War against France in

1741, 43
De Grasse, see Grnsse
De Haas, Gcu., 34'., 464
Dehaven, Peter, 07

Dehuff, Capt. Abraham, 77, 80
Deichmann, Heinrich Johann, 247
De Laney, see Lancy
Delaware and Iroquois Indians, notes

on, by Conrad Weiser, 407
Dennis, 215
Dickinson. John, defence of his con-
duct in 1774, by Chas. Thomson, 411

Dig by, 297
Dirricks, Annecke, 240
Dirricks, Gertrude, 241, 257
Doberick, Matthias, 304
DOCENIUS, 273
Dominical Letters, 404
Donne l, 57
Doughty, 57
Downey, Wm., 303
Dravton, AYm. Henry, 411
Drexel, 216
Drieshach, Jost, 6
Duche, 58
Duche, Elizabeth, wife of Jacob, 61,

71, 73
Duche, Rev. Jacob, by Rov. E. D.

Neill, 58 ; mentioned, 320, 321
Duche, Thomas Spence, son of Rev.
Jacob, 72

Duverge, 218
DUFFIELD, 58, 61, 234
Dufrield, Edward, 61, 295
Dunbar, Col., 110
Duncastle, John, 304
Dunster, 113
Du Ponceau, Peter S., 24
Du Portail, see Portail
Durv, John, 259
Dyer, 314

Eakin, Rev. Samuel, 345
Eatton", 441
Eddy, Charles, t». R. Morris, 176
Edmonds, William, 154
EGLE, 466
Election in Phila., 170', 452

Elizabeth, Princess, 249, 254, 255, 257,

259, 270
Elba 224
Ellery, William, sketch of, by Thos.
Wentworth Higciuson, 433

Elliott, Andrew, 297
English, 112
Enoch, 342
Enochs, 226, 228
Errata, see Corrections to Volume II.,

466
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Ettwein, "Rev. John, letter from, 153,
156

Evans. 210, 217, 041
Evans, Rev. David, 344, 345
Evans, Peter, 453
Evans, Rev. Xathanael, 344
Evans, Rev. Rees C, contribution bv,
343

Evans, Samuel, contribution bv, 232
Evans, Rev. Thos., 344. 345
Evelyn, Capt. Win., 473
Everlow, John, 303
Ewald, Capt. J. (Hessian), 22, 319
Ewing, Alex., 303, 470

Fabritius, Rev. Jacobus, 333, 335, 342,
451

Falkenstein, Count of, 208, 278
Faris, Jacob, 345
Favrington, Geo. (artist), 36
Fauquier, Gov. Francis, 298, 302
Feagan, Patrick, 305
Federal Convention, 170, 191 ; Maj.
Jackson, Sec. of, 364

Ferguson, Mrs. Elizabeth, 70
Fernow, B., quoted, 329 ; communica-

tion from. 407
Feustking, Rev. J. K., 262
Flanders, Henry, contribution by, 306
Flemming-, 112
Figken's Historia Fanaticorum, quo-

ted, 252
Finly, Jno., 303, 470
First Child of English Parentage b.

in Pa., 228
FlSCK, 333
Fish, 224,228
Fisher, 116, 212, 214
FiSK, 342
Fitch, John, map by, 102
Fitzgerald, John, Aid to Washington,

145
Fitzsimraons, see Fitzsimons, 466
Fitzsimons, Thomas, sketch of, 306
Folsom, Nathaniel, sketch of, by Chas.

E. Bell, 436
Foote, Rev. Geo., 345
Foreman, Geo., 349, 447, 449 -
Fort Pitt, journal of a march from to
Presqu' Isle, 1700, 149

Foster, 474
Fowler, Wm., 304
Fox, 212
Fox, Geo., 238, 251, 254, 257, 261, 270,

276
Frankford Company formed, 263
Franklin, B., letter to, from Thos.
Paine, 283

Franklin, B., and Maj. W. Jackson,
357, 358, 359, 360

Fkeedley, 213
Fkedrics, 227
Freeze, John G.. communication from,
343

French, 450

Friend, 223
" Friends' '* Calendar, 399
Funck, Martin, 136
Funk, Martin, information wanted
regarding, 229

Funk, Henry, 131
Furlv, Benj., 241, 249, 250, 251, 257,

239, 204. 270, 273, 270, 278. 280
Furly, John, 238, 249
Finney, Lieut. Walter, 77, 80

Gaegh, Cornells van der, 275
Gaetschalck, Jacob, 121
Gales, 341
Gallitzen, Rev. Dr. Demetrius Augus-

tine, founder of the town of Loretto,
Pa., 378

Galloway, Joseph, 174
Gardner, Thomas, 335
Garret, 2^0, 341
Garret, Lieut. Morton, 77
Gates, Gen. II., 15

George, Joseph, 304
George III., Shoemaker's interview

witb, by Wm. Brooke Rawle, 3d
Germantown, battle of, Paine's ac-
count of, 288

Germantown, Pa., settlers of, 275
Gerts, 341
Gichtel, 275
GlLLILAN, 217
Giilon, Capt. Alexander, commands

the South Carolina frigate, 357, 3C9,

360
Gilpin, 214
Giurgen, 341
Gloria Dei Church, Phila., records of,

224, 341 ; erection of, 451
Godschalck, Jacob, 134
Gorden, 57
Gordon", 4"0

gouverxeue, 214
Governors of Pennsylvania, not in

list, 110, 231
Graham, Edward, 303
Graham. Jno., 304, 471

Grasse, Count de, 108
Gravevard in 5th St., Phila., 471
Greene, Col. Christopher, 10, 290
Greene, Gen. Nathaniel, by George
Washington Greene, 84 ; mentioned,
288, 291

Greenfield, Jno., 303
Green leaf, James, 176
Griffith, 215,

Griffitts, 56
Grytiydd, Timothy, Rev., 344, 345
Guion, Mad. de la Mothe, 262
Gustafsox, 349
Guyomerais. Mons. De la, 32
Gyllenborg, Count Charles, 4j3, 454

ITaar, Emila van der, 256
Haas, Gen. John P., de, 345, 474
Haasbaard, Dr. J. W., 272
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Hall, 150, 213
Hail, Isaac, 303
Hall, .Miss Molly, Patty, and Sophia,

171
Haller, Col. Henry, 465
Haman, 341
Hamilton, CoL Alex, letter of, on bat-

tle of Monmouth, 110 ; on the aban-
donment of the army, 309

Hammill, Itev. Hugh, 315
Ha to son, Francis, 232
Hand, Col. Edward, 4G1
Hannum, 116
Harnider, France F., 301
Harris, James, 303, 170
Harrisburg, Pa., in 1787, 100
Hart, Charles Henry, communication
from, 310 ; contribution of, 157

Hart, John, letter from, to Francis
Hopkiuson, 321

Harvey, 217
Hascvoelt, Abraham, 263
Haslett, Col., 78
Hay, Maj. William, 165
Haydock, 211
Hays, Charles, 301
Hays, Mary, 305
Hazelwood, Com. John, information
wanted regarding, 111 : mentioned,
203

Heath, Wm., 301, 471
Helm, Israel, 332, 444
Henderson. 231
Henderson, Ensign Wm., 77, 80
Henderson, Lt.-Col., 356
Hendricks, Elizabeth, 257
Hendricks, Gerhard, 267
Hendricks, Peter, 244, 270, 275, 278
Hendrickson, 330
Henricson, 227, 228
Herbert, Capt. Thomas, 77, 80
Herman, 340
Heth, Col. Wm., see Heath, 471
Heroes of War of 1812, query regard-

ing, 220
Heyden, Sam'l, 304, 470
Hiberd, John, will quoted, 451
Hickman, John (an Indian), 430
Hicks family, history of, to be pub-

lished, 111
Higgins, John, 241, 251
Higgiuson, Thomas Wentworth, con-

tribution by, 133
Hildeburn, Chas. P., contributions of,

97, 210, 206, 311, 336, 150
Hill. 341
Hill, Harry, 66
Hill, Uriah, 303
Hills., Per. Geo. M., delivers an ad-
dress before Hist. Society of Pa., 463

Historical Society of Pa., proceedings
of, 102, 223, 340, 463: Report of
Council, 475; officers, 478; meetings
of, 1870, 470; dues, etc., 479

Hogg, Lt., of Pa., 236

i Hollender, Peter, 326
Hollixgswouth, 214
Holm, Campauius, quoted, 325, 326,

327, 331
Holme, Thomas, 231
HOLSTEEN, ;;i2

holstein, 227
Human, 225, 227

, Hook, Robt., 303
Hookey, 216
Hopkinson, 217
Hopkiuson, Francis, mentioned, 50,

70; sketch of, by C. R. Hildeburn,
311

Hopkinson, Thomas, 61, 311
Hoppmann. 3.15

Homes. Countess of, 25S, 259
Houssacker, Major, 80
Howe, 340
Howell, 57
Howell, Pev. H. S., 315
Howell, Capt. Joseph, Jr., 77, 30
Huber, John Michael, 424
Hughes, 234
Hughs, 341
Hulings. 225
Humphreys, 61, 234
Huston, Ensign, Alex., Jr., 77
Hutchins, Capt. Thomas, Geographer,
paper from collections of, 140

Hutchinson, 112
Huygen, Dutch Commissary, 329
Huygins, Louisa, 256
Hyden, Samuel, 303

Illius, 214
Indian nomenclature, 343

j
"Iroquois," notes on, by Conrad
Weiser, 407

Irvine, Gen. James, papers of. quoted,
143

Irvine, Gen. Wm., letter about Mon-
mouth, 147 ; letters to, from Firzsi-

mons, 310
i Irwin. 217

! Ivon, Peter, Labadist minister, 256,

257, 271

|
Jackson, 456

|
Jackson, Paul, 59

I Jackson, Maj. William, Sec. of Con-
vention of 1785, sketch of, by C. W.
Littell, 353 : letter of, to Washing-
ton, declining post ofAdjutant-Gen.,
306

Jacobs, Elizabeth, 304 ; Marger, 305
Jacobs, Wm., 304
James, 360
James, Samuel, 344
Jansen, , 275
Jansen, Cnnradr, 121
Janson, 3-11

Jansson, 342
Jauncey, 207
Jawert, Balthasar, 263, 264
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Jay, John and Mr?., 107
Jeffries, Capt. William, 230
Jegof, 454
Jenderman, 220
Jeuiugs, Samuel, 335
Jerstberg, 342
Jervis, Rev. T. B., 345
Jestexberg, 225, 21:6 342
JOCOM, 220
johanson, 341
Johns, 213, 210
Johnson, 225, 220, 223, 341
Johnson, S., of Briel, 1677, 249
Johnston, Francis, 82
Joilet, Louis, 460
JOKUM. 341
JONASON, 342
Jones, Moans, 226 ; Nicholas, 227,
Andrew, 227

Jones, Elizabeth, w. of Griffith, 447
JONSSON, 342
Jordan, John W., contribution by, 153,

424
JoSTASSON, 342
Jostes, 342
Jb'STSSON, 342
Judy, John, 304
Judy, Mary, 304; Mary, 305; Eliza-

beth, 305
Juriaensen, Jonas, 332
Jurian, Hans, 332, 335
Justis, 220, 227, 228, 341

Kachlein, Lt.-Col. Peter, 405
Karsdorp, Hartnen, 121
Kassel, Yillis, or Gillis, 134
Kaufman, Michael, 130
Kearsley, Dr. John, 234
Keen, 225, 220, 341, 340, see, also, Kyn
Keen, Gregory B., contributions by,

224, 325, 341, 443
Keith, Elizabeth, 23S
Keith, Geo., 233, 250. 270, 273
Keller, Bev., of Kriezsheim, 205
Kelpius, John, of the Wissahickon, 247

Kembler, Johannes, 263, 204
Keurlis, Peter, 280
Kevser, Peter and Dirk, 275

t

Kichline, Col., 78
Kijhn, see Kyn, 325 -

Kun, see Kyn, 325
King, 224
Kinnersley, Ebenezer, 61
Kirk, Ensign, John, 77
Kirkbride, Col. Joseph, 287, 291, 292
Klein, Lt.-Col., 7

Klincken, Aret, 275
Kolb, Dielman, 134
Kolb, Martin, 121, 134
Konig, 342
Krev, Johann, 207
Kruger, 213
Kyn, Joran, the founder of Upland,
descendants of, by G. B. Keen, 31:5,

443 : corrections in, 405

Kuhn, 312
Kuijhn, 342
Kuper, Mr. (Copper,"!
Kunders, Tunes, 2o<

Labadie, Jean, 249, 1" .~

"Labadists," 24^, 25 -~ ~ 272

Laeie, Villus, 3^2
;

ft __^ i^.-.::^n,

4G5-G0
Lacony, 341
Ladislaus IV., King : "_—~.i. _50

Laersen, Niels, 332
Lafayette, 141, 141:. 16
Laican, 335, 341

Laican, Nils, 433
Laijkan, 342
Laird, 474
Lancy, de. Col., G. I

Lang, Ens. James, 7"

Langakr, Andri -.'.

Langdale, John, 30^ 4:

Lash, see Loesch, 42'

Latta, Rev. Jam*--. a

Laurens, Col. John 1_ :
:

. X"T : his

mission to Fran^v r_ Hi. JJO. 357,

359
I Laurentz, Johann. 20
! Lauzun, Duke de. 2-.S-

|

Lawson, Alexander errr:
—
~t. 102

I
Lawrence, Col. (Lau:^_ _
Laykan, 342
Leade, Jane, 247
Lebrun, Johannes. 20
Lee, Gen. Charles. 1-

—

- ~J3

Lee, Philip Ludwel.. S£ __—L"S Jour-
nal, 43

Lensen, Jan, 2S0
1 Lerfner, Maxirniliar. S&-L

Levis, 212
Levy, Miss Ilettie. 4=

i Levy, Sansom, 44
! Lewis, 55, 212, 217

|

Lewis, "Wm., 363
Lignon, Peter du. LiibaiES Minister,

I 256, 257, 271
' Lilljebald, Peringe:. -1.

j
Linde, Adrian voi ..-^-TJ

|
Lindsay, John, 30; iZ

I

Lingenfilder, Abran.

I

Lincoln, Gen. B., 35^ " 51-563

Littell, Chas. W., c -_— - - ron by. 353

Littledale, W. F., coi^riunoa from,

236

i
Littlepage, James an; j^ns, 40^

I

Livingston, Henry P.v. It. 144, 406
i Livingston, Miss Sari, —i: 3., 167

I
Livingston, James an _=inry P., 460

|
Livingston, Gov. TV". ::-. 167

Lloyd, Capt. Peter I_ T. -*J

Lock, 225, 226
Lock, Bev. Lawrence ~,:'.r:es> 332

Loesch, George, 42"

longacre, 220
lonoaker, 341
Logan, 213
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Logan, James, charges against, 1709,
4">3

LOVERING, 214
LOWBER, 412
Lowrev, Lazarus, 303, 170
Lucken, Jan. 2S0
L uken, Jan, 275
Lutz, Lt.-Col. Nicholas, 78, 465
Luxembourg, Chevalier de, soils a ves-

sel to the State of S. C, 3-j7

Luzerne, Chevalier de la, 106, 167
LYCON, 226, 227, 311
Lyman, 211

Macky, Capt., 43
Maclay, "William, 82
Magaw, Col. Robt., 464
Magaw, Rev. Samuel, 59
Mallier, , 149
Markoe, 212
Marquette, Father, 466
Marshall, Capt. Abraham, 77
Marshall, C. J., John, and Humph rev,

230
Marshall, Mrs. James, d. of R. Mor-

ris, 177
Martin, John and Sarah, 468
Martyr's Mirror of van Braght, prin-

ted" at Ephrata, Pa., 1748, 135
Maryland documents, 1692-1800, 466
Mastricht, Dr. Gerhard von, 268,

269, 273
Matson, 224, 227, 228
Matson, Niels, 332
Mattson, 342
Mazzei, Citizen, 166
McAllister, John, Jr., memorial no-

tice of. 92
McAllister, Lt., of Pa., 236
McAllister, William, 303, 469
McCall, 297
McCallister, John, 230
McCarty, Lydia, 303
McCarty, Patrick, 304
MeClellan, Lieut. Joseph, 77. 80
McCienaghan, Rev. Wm., 60
McCluer, Jno., 304
McCLtjyEY, 211
McClure, John, 470
McCollum, Chris'm, 305; Thos., 305
McCollura, Neil, 304
MCCULLOCH, 212
McDonald, Rev. A., 345
McDoagal, Gen. Alex., 291
Me Barren, Lt,, of Pa., 236
MeGraw, Rev., 74
Mcintosh, Fort, 83
Melntyre, Rev. Janes, 345
MeKellar's American Printer, notice

of, 318
McLane, Capt., of Pa., 236
McLane, Allan, Capt., 23
McMullin, 217
McPherson, Major, 22

McSwine, Hugh, 303 ; Susannah, 301
;

George, 3n5
; Mary, 30fi

;
Meade, Gen. George G., bust of, pre •

sented to Hist. S>>e., 2l'3

]
Meade, Robt. and George, 3u7
Mellon, 229
Memoirs deposited in Independence
Hall (Centennial Collection), 74
91, 185-210, 306-321 433-442

Mennonites, 271
: Mennonite Emigration to Pennsyl-

vania, by J. G. de Hoop Seheffer,
translated by S. "W. Peunypaeker,
117

I
Mennonites in Germany affiliate witli

the "Friends," 242
' Mercer, Lt.-Col. , 22

i

Mercer, Col. George, 299-302

i
Mercer, Fort, 292
Merian, Caspar, 263

I
Merlau, Johanna Eleonora, 260, 261,

262, 263, 264, 265, 270
Meurer, John Philip, 425
Mickloy, Joseph J., memoir of, by W,
H. Ruddiman, 157

Mifflin, Fort, 2<J0, 292
Mifflin, Gen. Thomas, 414-22
Miles, Col. Saml., 75, 76. 465
Millar, Chris., 3u4, 471
Millar, Elenor, 305 ; Henry, 305
Miller, 412

,

Milligan, James, 303, 470

j

Minuit, Peter, 326, 465

I

MOLL1CKA, 225, 226
i
Mollock, 342

! MONC, 112
Monmouth, battle of, described by

! Hamilton and Gen. W. Irvine, 139
;

i corrections in their accounts of, 34",

466
! MONSSON, 342

\

Montgomery, 215
s
Montgomerv, Rev. Joseph, 474
Montour, Andrew, 427, 428, 430, 431
Montour, Madam, 429

J

Moore, 116, 298
|
Moore, Lambert, 297-98

i Moore, Lieut., 80
i Moore, William, 211, 265
i Moore, TVm., Pres., of Pa., 230

I

Morgan, 211, 213, 441
I Morgan, Abel, 344

|
Morgan, Evan, sermon on death of, 62

j
Morgan, Dr. John. 59

i Moravian blacksmiths at Shamokin.
i

429; missions in Duchess Co., New-
York, 424

! Moravians in the Housatonic Yallev,

note of, address on, by Rev. Yv\ G,
Andrews, 340

Morrey, 448

j

Morris, 57, 184, 185
Morris, Charles M., remarks by, en

I John McAllister, Jr., 92
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Morris, Gouverneur, sketch of, by
Miss C. K. Meredith, 183

Morris, Gouverneur, 170, IT'J, 1.^0

" Morris," loss of ship, 313
Morris, Robert, 112, 103
Morris, Mrs. Hubert, by C. H. Hart,

157 ; mentioned, 343
Morris, Robt., son of Robt., 171
Morris, Thomas, son of Robt., 171, 17!)

Morton-, 220, 22g, 341
Muhlenberg, Gottlieb Ilenry Ernest, !

D.D., 109
Mullica, Erik, 333
Mnlloy, Cap. Terrance, 110
Mumaw, Peter, 304
JlUNDAY, 450
Murray, 456
Murray, Capt. Francis, 77, 80
MUSGRAVE, 55, 212
"Mystics" of Germany, 246

Nash, Gen., wounded, 2S8
Nazareth, Pa., 155
Neill, Rev. Edward D., contribution

by, 58
Kelson, 224, 228
Kelson, Maj., 20
Kewbold, 214
New Jersey, claim to, 1784, 228, 352
New Sioeden, essay on, by Carl K. S.

Sprinchorn, 465
New York and Brooklyn, campaign of
1776 around, by Mr. Henry P. John-
ston, 464

Nezelius, 228
Nice, Capt. John, 77, 80
Nicholson, John, 176, 179
Nieke, George, 425
Nieson, Gertrude Dirick, 276
NlLSSON, 342
Nitapkung, 226
Nitschman, Anna, 427
Nixon, 349
Notes and Queries, 103, 224, 341, 464
Noble, Richard, 455
Norris, 442
Nugent, 56, 218

"Octorara," meaning of, Indian
name, 349 ; mentioned, 472

Ogier, 211
"Old Style" and "New Style" of
computing time, 394

Olney, Lt.-Col. Jeremiah, 143
Onondaga, Span^enberg's notes of
travel to, in 1745. 424

Op-deu-Graef, Dirk, Herman, and
Abraham, 275, 280

Ormsby, 56, 217
Osborne, Sir Geo., 70
Oswald, Lt.-Col. Eleazer, 144
Ottendorff, Count, von, 6
Otter, Elizabeth. 305
Otzindchs?, see Shamokio, 427
Overwinter, Adam, 304

Page, 217
Paine, Thomas, letter from, to Frank-

lin, 283
Palatines, 122-38
Papegaya, Lt. John, 467
Paris, Robt., 304, 471
Parke, Col. Jehu, 143
Parker, Col. Richard, of Va,, 114
Parker, Col., of Va., killed at Charles-

ton, 356
Parrish, 214
Parry, 61, 234
Parry, Col. Caleb, 79, 80, 116, 465 -

Passage, 56, 218
Pastorius, Francis Daniel, 250, 263,

264, 273, 2S0

Patrick, an Indian Doctor, informa-
tion wanted regarding, 111 ; men-
tioned, 431

Paul 216, 227
Pawling, 213
Pell, Joshua, Jr., diary quoted, 236
Pencader, Del., Welsh settlers of, 343
Pen used to sign Centennial Bill pre-
sented to Hist. Society, 463

Penu, Gov. John, conduct of, in 1774,

417, 423
Penn, Lady Juliana, 71
Penn, Richard, sermon on death of,

63
Penu, William, and Anthony Duche,

58 ; travels of, in Holland and Ger-
many, 1677, 237 ; Swedish settlers

and, 453 ; mentioned, 119
Peniugton, Edward, 416
Pennsylvania troops in the campaign

of 1776, tribute to, by Henry P.
Johnston, 464

Pennsylvania Officers at Isle Aux
Noix, 236

Pennypacker, S.W., contributions by,
74, 117

;
quoted, 275

Persson, 342
Peters, Rev. Richard, 63
Peters, William, 59
Petersen, Dr. Wilhelm, 260, 265
Peterson, 228
Philadelphia, Doctors in, 234 ; election

in 1705, 4~<2; military operations
near, in 1777-78, Paine's account of,

283 ; revolution in, 411 ; citv of, in
1818, 467

Phillips, Nicholas, 304 ; Chris., 305
Physick, 369
Physick, Edmund, 67
Pleasants, 216
Plumsted, 297
Pickering, 57
Pidgeon's Run, 344
Pierce, Jno., 303, 469
" Pietists," 261
Pincknev, Gen. C. C, to Wm. Jack-

son, 367
Pinp, R. Edge, artist, 131
Piper, Lt.-Col., 465
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Pittsburgh, list of settlers at, in 1700,
3u3 ; notes on the list of settlers at,
in 1700, by Isaac Craig, 409

Polsso.v,312
Pomry, Marget, 303; Elizabeth, 303
Pordage, Dr. J., L>47

Portage Railroad over the Allegheny
Mountain, ."70

Portail, Gen. du, 356
Porterfield, Col., 17, IS
Potts, Win. John, contribution by, 229
Powell, Mrs. Eliza, 177
Powell, Thomas, Jr. and Sr., 448
Praj-er in Congress by Duche, 07
Prcsqu' Me, Journal of a march to,

from Fort Pitt in 1760, 149
Price, Ileneritta, 301
Printz. Armgar.lt, d. of Gov. P., 407
Printz, Gov. John, 325, 320, 327, 323,

331, 40"), 407
Piittel, Christian, 253
Pl'LE, 55, 110

Quakers, their treatment in Germany,
241

Railroad, first, over the Allegheny
Mountain, 370

Rambo, 225, 226, 227. 341, 342, 349
Rambo, Peter, 333, 335
Ramsay, Lt.-Col. Nathaniel, 143
Randall. Elizabeth, 304
Randolph, Anne Carev, w. of G. Mor-

ris, 194
Randolph, officers of the frigate, 230
Randolph, Peter, 299
Randolph, Peyton, death of, 00
Ranch, Christian Henry, 425
Rawle, 213
Rawle, Wm. Brooke, contribution by

(extract from diary of S. Shoema-
ker), 35; mentioned, 102

Ravnal, Abbe, 27
Read, Mr., of S. C, 25
Records, see Christ Church, and Gloria
Dei Church

Red Bank, 290, 292
Redskin, Capt. Henry, 14
Reed, 474
Reed, Joseph, Gen., 411-23
Reed, James, 3<>4, 470; Martha, 304;
Marv, 3')4, 305 ; George, 305 ; Jno.,
305 fRobt., 304

Reinagle, Mr. (music teacher), 171
Remedies for restoring Sunk Credit of

Pa., name of author wanted, 229
Reminiscences of the first railroad
over the Allegheny Mountain, by S.

W. Roberts, 370; mentioned, 340
Reneval, Mademoiselle de, 258
Reyniers, 349
Reynolds, James, 07
Richardson, Sarah, 76
Rtpgway, 210
Ridley, Matthew, 107

RlTTEN-TIOUSE, 412
Rittenhnyseu, Claus, Willem, and
Gerrard, 275

Roberts, Solomon W., contribution
by, 370 ; address by, noted, 340

RoBEsoar, 213
RoBIN, 214
Robin, L'Abbe, 100
Robinson, John, 304
Robinson, Patrick. 440
Rochambeau, Count, 25, 27
Rodman, 213, 214
Rods, 2 %

j7

Roelof, Jan, 250
Rogers, Rev. Jason, 345
Rogers, Lenora, 3('5

Rolfe (Rolf), Geo., 241, 2G5
Roos, see Ross
Rorabunck, Chris., 304
ROSS, 218, 227, 343
Ross, George, 419
Rouerie, Marquis de la, 1

ROWLAND, 214
Rnddiman, \V. H., memoir of Joseph

J. Mickley, by, 457
Rudman (Swedish Miuister), 224, 341,

342
Runnels, 226
Rush, 474
Ruston. 116
Ruston, Dr., 179

Salter, 57
Salter, Ha, 450
Saltzungeu, Hermann, von, 247
Sampson, James, 304
Sampson, Marget, 305
Sandel, Rev. Andrew. 451. 453
Sandelands, 330, 332, 349, 443
Sandelands, James, 443
Sandelyn, Jacob Evertsen, 443
Sassoonan, see Allunimapees
Sattelihu, see Andrew MoDtonr
Saunderlaine, see Sandelands
Saur, Christopher, communications

to, regarding Indians, 4».>7

Schaeffer, Michael, 425, 430
Schaffner, George, 6
Schaffner, Lieut. Peter, 77
Schaffner, Major, 27

Schahamokinfc, se r
- Sbamokin

Seherler, J. G., de Hoop, article bv,
117

Sehiehaeh (Skippack), 137

Schl liter, Peter, 272; Henry and
Peter, 250, 257 ; Mrs. P^ter. 256

Schmidt. K., of Spieldorf, 209

Schnevder, Johannes, 130

Sehotel, Dr., 271
Schott, Capt. John Paul. 6, 13

Schumacher, s>'e Shoemaker
Schurman, Anna Maria von, 249, 256,

270, 271, 272
Sehwenkfeld, Caspar, 247

Sehwenkfelders, The, 132, 425
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Scotch-Irish Immigration to Pa., re-

cord of, wanted, 408
Scott, 217
Scott, Gen. Chas., 140
Scute, 341
Scute b, 225
Seelin, Anthony, 6

Senamensing, 224
Seideusticker, Prof. Oswald, contribu-

tion by, 237
Sergeant, Jonathan Dickinson, sketch

of, by Rev. Edwin T. Hatfield, 438
Sewel, Jacob Williamson, 201
Seyffert, Anton, 42(3

Seymour, Sergeant, 18
Sbakatawein, Sara , an Indian, 430
Shall c boss, 214
Sham,kin, 427
Sharp, Paul, 304
Shaw, 212
Shea, Dr. John Gilmary, contributions

by, 103
Sheboscb, John Jacob, 424
Shee, Col. John, 464
Sheffer, Dr. (quoted), 275
Sheldon, Col., 10
Shikelimv, an Indian Chief, 427, 428,

429, 430*, 431
Shippen, 212
Shoemaker, 121, 211, 212, 349
Shoemaker, Isaac, 2G7 ; Peter, 267
Shoemaker, Saml., interview with
Geo. III., 35 ; mentioned, 102

Shoemaker pronerty in Germantown,
230, 473

Shutz, Dr. Johaun Jacob, 263, 264
Siruen*, Jan, 280
SlNKLEB. 216
Sinnott, Jacob, 304 ; Susannah, 305

;

John, 305; Philip, 305
Sintern, Isaac van, 275
Sjoerts, Cornells, 275
Skute, 226, 312
Sluys, Jan and Henrich van der, 275
Sly, Geo., 304; Marget, 305; Eliza-

|

beth, 305 ; Susanna, 305 ; Rachel,
305

Small, Thos., 304
Smith, Benj. R., 214
Smith. Jacob R., 216
Smith, James, of Bucks Co., Pa.,
112

Smith, James, 216
Smith, Matthew, Prothonotary of
Northampton Co., Pa., 231

Smith, Milton, 211
Smith, Peter, 304 ; Chris., 305
Smith, Samuel, Judge of Common

Pleas, Cumberland Co., Pa., 231
Smith, Sarah A., 57
Smith, Rev. Thomas, 345
Smith, Tineas, 304
Smith, Rev. Wm., D.D., 63, 415, 416

j

Snider, Jno., 304

Sobieski, John, 252, 253, 254
Sonmielsdyk, Anna, Maria, and Lu-

cia, 256, 271; Cornelius, _:71

Souneman, Aaron, 249
South Carolina Erigate ( The Ind'wn)^

357, 360
Spaugenberg's notes of travel to
Onondaga in 1745, 424

Spear, Joseph, 304, 470
Spencer, 441
Spencer, Elihu, Rev., 345
Spener, John Jacob, 248, 249,260, 261,

264
Splane, V^illiam, 303
Spring, 216
Springer, Charles, his list of Swedes
on Delaware in 1693, referred to,

451 ; mention of, 334
Springer, Lucia, 256, 271; Cornelius,
271

Stamp Act in Xew York and Virginia,

notes on, by Charles Ii. Hildeburn,
296

Stamper, Molly, 40, 44
Stautter, Danipl, 136
Stauffer, D. McN., communication
from, 347

Stedman, Charles, 67

Steel, Rev. Capt. John, of Carlisle,

Pa,, 231
Steelman, 224, 225, 456
Steigel, Baron, of Pa.. 162
Stewart, Col. Walter, 113
Stidden, Dr. Tvmen, 330
STILLE, 227, 341, 342
Stirling Lord, 141, 142, 143
Stobo^Robert, 469
Stock er, 55, 217
Stout, 56, 217
St. Clair, James, 303
St. Peter's Church, Phila., inscriptions

in yard of, 347
Strauss, George, 263
Strepers. Wilhelm, 280
Strettell, 115
Srretteil, Robt., 43, 4S, 109, 110, 115

Stuabt, 57
Stubbs, John, 241, 251

St. Vincent and Puke's Land Associa-
tion, 236

Sullivan, Gen. John, by Thos. C.

Amory, 196 ; mentioned, 291
Sunbury, Pa., 427
" Susquehannocks," query regarding,
469

Sutor, Ensign, James, 77
Swanson, 226, 223
Swanwick, Hon., 313
Swedes Church, Phiia., records of to

be published, 111
Swedish records in Pa., 224, 341

Swensson, 342
Swift, 61, 447
Symcock, John, 232





Index, 491

Talokan, 225, 332-334
Talbot, Rev. John, address on, de-

livered before Hist. Society of Pu.,
403

Tallack, William, quoted, 246
Tailcoat, Wm., 233
Tallman, 211
Tamoc, Caspipina, letter of, 03
Tanck, 342
Tatemy, Moses Fonda, an Indian, 428
Tauler, Jobann, 247
Tay, 342
Taylor, 227, 450
Taylor, Abraham, 40
Taylor, Stephen, memorial notice of,

95
Tellner, Jacob, 122, 250, 275
Ternant, Col., 20. 22
Terstegen, G., 209
Thomas, Anna, 304; Nelly, 305
Thomson, Charles, account of the op-

position to the Boston Port Bill, by,

411
Thomas, Gov. George, of Pa., 41, 43,

48, 425, 430
Thomas, Joseph, 345
Thompson, 212, 227
Thompson, Prof. R. E., quoted, 247
Thompson, Gen., and Col. Wm., 148
464

Thurston, 214
Tincker, John, Gov. of N. Providence,

59
Tinicum, 331
Tisen, Reinert, 280
Tomb, Agnus, 305 ; George, 301, 471
Tomp, see Tomb, 471
Tonyn, Fort, Maj. Jackson at, 354
Toussard, Col. Louis, 147
TOY, 224, 225
Trapp, Monastery of la, 3
Treat, Rev. Richard, 43

Trediffryn Meeting House, 344

Trent," 340, 450
Trent, Wm., 303, 470
Tronjoli, Myiien le, 30
Trumbull, John (artist), 36

Trumpeter's Creek, 225

Turin, Gen. Charles Armand, 1

Tullifiuy Bridge, Maj. Jackson at

skirmish of, 355
Tulpehocken, Pa., 424

Tunes, Abraham, 286
Twells, 213
Tyler, 55

Ueberfeldt, John Wilhelm, 263
Undereyck, Theo., 273

Upland, now Chester, founder of, 325,

443
TJRIAN, 328

Valentine, Ensign Henry, 77

Valley Forge, G. Morris at, 188; T.

Paine at, 294

Van Braght, Tilleraan Jans, his
Bloodv Theatre ou Martyr'b Mirror,
133, 135

Van der Sinissen, Henry, 132 ; Dr.,
138

Vunderwalle, 200, 201
Vauderwerf, Jan RoelorT and Rich-

ard, 275
Vandorc, Chevalier de, 21
Van Sintereu, Isaac, 121
Varleth, 349
Vettekeukeu, Mariecke. 2 P.), 250
Vieune, Marquis de la, 147
" Volontaires de Luxembourg," 360
Voss, Jande, 121
Vossen, Arnold van, 275
Vries, , 256

Wadsworth, 216
Wagner, Rev., 425
Walker, 50, 218, 333
Walle, Jacob van de, 203
Wallen, Mary, 304
Walx, 211, 349
Walter, 216
War against France declared in Phila-
delphia, 1744, 44

Ward, Lieut. Barnard, 77
Ward, Edward, 303, 470
Ward, Townsend, paper on Gen.
Armand, 1 ; contribution bv, 95

Wasey, Capt., 280
Washington, Gen. Geo., at Monmouth,

143; residence of, in Phila., 173;
departure of from Phila., 175

;
por-

trait of, by Marchioness de Brehan,
175 ; letters to Maj. Wm. Jackson,
302, 304, 305 ; letter to Hopkinson,
323

'

Washington, Martha, 172, 177
Washington, Col. Wm., 15
Watmough, 442
Watts, George, 238
Wayne, Gen., 141, 143
Webb, Rev. Edward, 345
Weehler, see Wheeler
Wehtritz, Baron de, 6
Weidman, Lieut. Mathias, 77
Weiser, Christopher, 425
Weiser, Conrad, notes by, on the Iro-
quois and Delaware Indians, 4»-7

;

mentioned, 424, 429, 430, 432
Weiser, Philip J. and Frederick, 425,

430
Weiss, Lewis, 153, 154
Welsh settlers of Pencader, Del., 343
Welsh, Thomas, 304
Wentz, John, 288
West, B., portrait of, presented to
Historical Society of Pa., 303 ; men-
tioned, 37

Western Pennsvlvania in 1700, 149
Weston-, 349, 450
Whalley, Edward (the Regicide), 115,

234, 356
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Whann, William, 345
Whartox family, by Anne H. Whar-

ton, 50, 211
Wharton, Lt.-Col. Franklin, 55
Wharton, Robert, 50
Wharton, Thos. I., sketch of, 215
Wheeler, 227, 342
Whitaker, 116
White, 212, 216
White, Mary—Mrs. Robert Morris,
157

White, Col., at battle of Camden, 15
White, Mrs. (\v. of Col. Thos.), death

of, 180 ; mentioned, 104
White, lit. Eev. William, 73, 160, 163
Whyte, Bobert, 67
Wicacoa, see descendants of Joran
Kyn, 451 ; mentioned, 226

Wildes, Eev. Geo. D., quoted, 9
Willing, Elizabeth, dau. of Thos.,
married to Win. Jackson, 366

Willing, Thos., 65, 158, 366, 418, 423
Williams, 227
Williams, Gen. O. H., 17, 18, 19
Williams, Peter, 345
Williams, Thomas, 267
Williamson, Hugh, M.D... 59
Wilson, James, 418
Winsor, Bridget, 305 ; Win., 304

: Wischeart, Niarian, or Xinian, 466
;

qn«*ry regarding. Ill
; WlSTAB, 55. 213,217
j WoeBtyue, Jan van de, 275
Woodford, Gen., death of, 313
Work, Jno., 304, 305, 471

; Elizabeth,
305; William, 303, 470

Worrall, 112
Worrell. 216
Wright, Aaron, journal of, wanted,

4158

Wright, Benj.. 4",3

Wurnbock, Henry, 304
Wunderlich, George, 247, 2."3

Wylich, Dr. Thomas von, 263

|
YEATES, 449, 450

- Yeomans, Isabella, 238

I

YOCHEM, 342

;

Yvon? (Ivou), 256, 257, 271

I Zaller, Melchoir, 126
» Zeisberger, David, 424, 430 ; extract
I from his MSS., 110
Ziegler, Michael, 134

' Zinspenning, Judith, 251

j

Zinzendorf, Count, 426, 452 ; Countess,
426
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FLORIDA.

Stbkes—Boyd, Wm., Jacksonville]

ILLINOIS.

fBushnell, N., Ouincy fHollowbush, Jacob R., Quincy
fCox, John C, Ouincy Rowland, Jos. Galloway, Ouincy
Ellis, Thomas H., Chicago

INDIANA.

Hough, Daniel, Indianapolis

IOWA.
Rorer, David, Burlington

KANSAS.

fLarimer, William, Jr., Leavenworth

MAINE.
Brown, John Marshall, Portland

MARYLAND.
•

Abbett, Henry M., Baltimore Library, Peabody Institute, Baltimore
Conner, Philip S. P., Rowlandsville Logan, J. Dickinson, Baltimore
Field, Francis K., Mt. Washington, fSmith, William Prescott, Baltimore

Baltimore County Stewart, William A., Baltimore
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MICHIGAN.

fLloyd, Franklin, Bay City

MINNESOTA.
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MISSISSIPPI.

fDuncan, Henry P., Duncansby

MISSOURI.
Wilson, John H., St. Louis

NEW JERSEY.
Bourquin, Frederick, Camden
College of New Jersey, Princeton
Cooper, Joseph B., Camden
Coryell, Martin, Lambertville
Croft, Samuel, Camden
Culin, Robert S„ East Moorestown
Davis, Lemuel H., Riverton
Grubb, Edward Burd, Edgewater
Hunt, Mordecai, Moorestown
Library, Cliosophic Society, Princetoi

Morris, Anthony S., Pemberton
fParrish, George D., Burlington Co.

Parry, Richard Randolph, Woodbury
Potts, William John, Camden
Scranton, Selden T., Oxford, War-

ren Co.
fSlack, J. Hamilton, Bloomsbury
Smith, Charles Perrin, Trenton
fVan Rensselaer, Cortlandt, Burling-

ton
Warrington, Joseph, Moorestown
White, Barclay, Mount Holly
Whitehead, William A., Newark
Whitney, Thomas H., Glassboro'

NEW YORK.
fArcher, Ellis S., City
Arnold, Simon W., City

Astor Library, City

fBarton, Thomas Pennant, City
fBradish, Luther, City
Burdge, Franklin, City
Bushnell, Charles J., City
fChambers, Thomas, City
Clymer, Edward M., City
fCogswell, Joseph G., City
Columbia College, City

De Voe, Thomas F., City
Drowne, Henry T., City
Duncan, William Butler, City
Emmet, Thomas Addis, City
Harrison, William Henry, City
Hayes, I. I., City

Johnson, Theodore T., City
Knowles, Daniel W.
Lenox, James, City
fLudewig, Herman E., City
fMcAllister, Wardale G., City

City

Menzies, William, City
Montgomery, Thomas H.
Moreau, John B., City
Myers, T. Bailev, City

Packer, E. A., City

fPutnam, George P., City-

Quintard, Edw. A., City

tReed, William B., City
Sabin, Joseph, Citv

fWard, Richard Ray, City

Welsh, John, Jr., City

fWight, Andrew, Jr., City

DePeyster, J. Watts, Tivoli, Duchess
Diven, Alexander S., Elmira
Helfenstein, William L., Mott Haven
Hicks, Benjamin D., Old Westbury
Munseil, Joel, Albany
Read, John M., Jr., Albany
Sanford, E. S., Brooklyn, L. I.

fWetmore, Henry C, Fishkill

Williams, Miss Rachel M., L'tica

Woodward, Royal, Albany

[Co.

NORTH CAROLINA.
Salem Female Academy, Salem, renewed

OHIO.
fBuchanan, R., Cincinnati
{Clements, Richard, Gambia
Ely, Heman, Elyria
Goshorn, A. T., Cincinnati

Jones, John D., Cincinnati

Library of Cincinnati, the, Cincinnati

fResor, Jacob, Cincinnati

State Library, Columbus
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OREGON.
Arnold, Frederick K., Portland
Davis, Thomas A., Portland

Library Association, Portland
Schuyler, P. C, Jr., Portland

PENNSYLVANIA.
Adams County.

McCammon, David C, Gettysburg McPherson, Edward, Gettysburg

Allegheny County

fBrereton, Thomas J., Pittsburgh

Brunot, Felix R., Pittsburgh

Darlington, William M., Pittsburgh

fDenny, William H., Pittsburgh

fHaven, William S., Pittsburgh
Irwin, John, Edgeworth
tKramer, Allen, Pittsburgh

fMcHenry, Isaac, Pittsburgh

Murray, James B., Pittsburgh

Negley, W. B., Pittsburgh

Schwartz, Jacob E., Pittsburgh

Shea, C. B., Pittsburgh

Shoenberger, John H., Pittsburgh

Thaw, William, Pittsburgh

Tibbv, John, Pittsburgh

Wilson, David Shields, Fort Pitt Bank

Armstrong County.

Golden, Edward S„ Kittaning.

Beaver County.

Agnew, Daniel, Beaver Court House
fBaker, R. L., Economy
Hoopes, Henry, New Brighton

Berks County.

Baer, George F., Reading
Baer, S. A., Kutztown
Ermentrout, Daniel, Reading
GraefF, Moses K., Reading
Hawley, Jesse G., Reading
fHiester, William M., Reading
Jones, F. Marion, Reading
fjones, J. Pringle, Reading

Quay, Matthew S.,

House
Beaver Court

Keim, De B. Randolph, Reading
fKeim, George M., Reading
Keim, Henry M., Reading
Messchert, M. H., Douglassville
Muhlenberg, Henry A., Reading
Muhlenberg, Hiester H., Reading
Smith, Frederick L., Reading
fWoodward, Warren J., Reading

Blair County.

Mathias, John T., Tyrone

Bradford County.

Craft, David, Wyalusing

Chapman, Henry, Doylestown
fCoryell, Lewis S., New Hope
Davis, W. W. H., Doylestown
Ely, Richard Elias, New Hope
Kirk, Harriet E., Mrs., Davisville

Lennig, Charles F., Chelwood, Anda-
lusia

Bucks County.

Ross, George, Doylestown
Sheilenberger, J. Monroe, Doylestown
fSnowden, James Ross, Hulmeville
Watson, Richard, Doylestown
Wiggins, Benjamin, Pineville

Yerkes, Harman, Doylestown
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Carbon County.

Albright, Charles, Mauch Chunk fPacker, Asa, Mauch Chunk

Centre County.
Beaver, James A., Bellefonte Milliken, James, Belle ronte
Bellefonte Library Association Pennsvlvania State College, State
Furst, A. O., Bellefonte College P. O.
Hale, E. \V., Bellefonte Rhoads, Daniel, Bellefonte

Jackson, George YV., Bellefonte Valentine, Robert, Bellefonte
Linn, John B., Bellefonte

Chester County.
Baker, Joseph B., Thorndale Passmore, Benjamin W., Westtown
Cope, Gilbert, West Chester Boarding School
Everhart, James BM West Chester Pennypacker, Charles H., West Ches-
Futhey, J. Smith, West Chester ter

Library, Athenaeum, West Chester Sharp, Joseph W., Leopard P. O.

McFarland, David M., West Chester Steele, Hugh E., Coatesville

fMeconkev, David, West Chester Wayne, William, Paoli

tMiller, John, Oxford

Clearfield County.

Bigler, William, Clearfield

Columbia County.

John G. Freeze, Bloomsburg .

Crawford County.

Huidekoper, Alfred, Meadville Tyson, James, Titusville

Huidekoper, Frederick, Meadville

Cumberland County.
{Hamilton, James, Carlisle Parker, John B., Carlisle

Hays, John, Carlisle Ross, Andrew, New Cumberland
Murray, Joseph A., Carlisle. Wr

atts, William M., Mechanicsburg

Dauphin County.
Cameron, Simon, Harrisburg Hartranft, John F., Harrisburg
Dauphin County Historical Society, Lamberton, Robert A., Harrisburg

Harrisburg Library of State, Harrisburg
Egle, William H., Harrisburg

Delaware County.
Askin, J. Henry, Radnor Library of Swarthmore College
Broomall, John M., Media Miskey, William F.
Crozer, J. Lewis, Upland Okie, J. Brognard, Linwood
fCrozer, John P., Upland Pennock, Mrs. Caroline, Howellsville
tFallon, Christopher, Whitney, John R., Glen Brock Farm,
Felton, S. M., Chester Bryn Mawr
tKelly, Charles, Kellyville Ward, William, Chester
Library, Delaware County Institute

of Science, Media
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Elk County.

Earley, Charles R., Ridgway

Fayette County.

Nutt, A. C, Uniontovvn Rogers, James Slocum, Brownsville

Franklin County.

Chambers, Benjamin, Chambersburg fChambers, George, Chambersburg

Huntingdon County.

Africa, J. Simpson, Huntingdon

Lancaster County.

Baumgardner, Thos., Lancaster City fJacobs, Samuel F., Churchtown
Hager, John C, Lancaster City Shoch Library, Columbia
Haldeman, Paris, Chickies Furnaces Steinman, Andrew J., Lancaster City

Lebanon County

Coleman, Mrs. Debbie B., Lebanon
fColeman, G. Dawson, Lebanon
Hammond, D. S., Lebanon
Killinger, John W.j Lebanon

McCauley, Edwin H., Lebanon
Mish, John Weidman, Lebanon
Ross, George, Lebanon
Weidman, Grant, Lebanon

Lehigh County.

Jones, D. D., Slatington Thomas, David, Catasauqua
fLongnecker, Henry C, Allentown Wright, Robert E., Jr., Allentown
fMcDowell, Robert, Slatington

Luzerne County.

Boies, Henry M., Scranton
fConyngham, John N., Wilkes-Barre
Coxe, Eckly B., Drifton, Jeddo P. O.
Darling, E. P., Wilkes-Barre
Dickson, Thomas, Scranton
fDrake, Charles B., Wilkes-Barre
Laux, James B., Scranton
fMaxwell, Volney L., Wilkes-Barre

tMiner, Charles, Wilkes-Barre

Pardee, Ario, Hazleton
Parrish, Charles, Wilkes-Barre

tRoss, William S., Wilkes-Barre

Scott, E. Greenough, Wilkes-Barre

fSlocum, J. J., Wilkes-Barre

Welles, Edward, Wilkes-Barre

Lycoming County.

Allen, Robert P., Williamsport

McKean County.

Kane, Thomas L., Kane
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Monroe County.

Brodhead, Luke W., Delaware Water Croasdale, Miss
Gap Water Gap

Montgomery County.

Susan. Delaware

Bines, William H., Pottstown
Boyd, James, Norristown
Buck, William J., Jenkintown
Bullock, George, West Conshohocken
Cassatt, Alexander J., Haverford
Comly, Franklin A., Fort Washington
Emory, John, Chelten Hills

Fisher, Henry M., Alvcnhorpe
fFisher, J. Francis, Alverthorpe
Gumbes, Charles W„ Oaks P. O.
Heacock, John, Jenkintown
Hunsicker, Henry A., Freeland
Kent, Rodolphus, Gwynedd

Jones, J. Aubrey, Wynnewood
Lambert, John, Aysgarth, Abington
Lardner, Richard Penn, Graydon
Mellor, Thomas, Shoemakertown
Morris, Wistar, Overbrook
Shoemaker, Robert, Shoemakertown
Thomson, Frank, Merion
Tyson, James L., Penn Llyn
LTnion Library Companv, Hatboro
tWitte, William H., White Marsh
Yeakle, W. A., Flourtown
fYost, J. S., Pottstown

Montour County.

Maus, Philip F., Danville

Northampton County.

Bleck, Ernest F., Bethlehem
fFirmstone, William, Easton
Henry, Granville, Nazareth
Hutchinson, John N., Easton.

Jones, Maurice C., Bethlehem
fLeibert, James, Bethlehem
Lerch, John, Bethlehem
Library of Lafayette College, Easton

Library, Congregation of United Breth-
ren, Bethlehem

Library, Moravian Seminary, Bethle-
hem, renewed

Library, Nazareth Hall, Nazareth, re-

newed
tMaxwell, Henry D., Easton
fMichler, Peter S., Easton
Roepper, William T., Bethlehem

Northumberland County.

Greenough, William J., Sunbury Rockefeller, William, Sunbury
Packer, John B„ Sunbury Wolverton, S. V., Sunbury
fPriestley, Joseph R., Northumberland

Potter County,

tjoerg, Edward, Kettle Creek

Schuylkill County.

Atkins, Charles M., Pottsville

Brown, David P., Pottsville

Hughes, Francis W., Pottsville

Kaercher, George R., Ports .ille

Keim. George de B., Pottsville

Passmore, J. A. M., Pottsville

fRepplier, George S„ Pottsville

Sheafer, Peter W., Pottsville

Shippen, Samuel S., Pottsville

Snyder, George W., Pottsville

Taylor, Charles K., Minersville
Washburn, Daniel, Ashland
Wetherill, J. Macomb, Pottsville

White, J. Claude, Swatara
Zulich, Thomas C., Schuvikill Haven
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Somerset County.

Ross, Moses A., Addison

Union County.

Linn, J. Merrill, Lewisburg

Warren County.

Irvine, William A., Irvine fNewbold, Thomas H., Irvine

Library Association, Warren

Wayne County.

fDickson, James R., Honesdale fPreston, Paul S., Stockport
Preston, Miss Ann, Stockport

York County.

fWagner, Samuel, York

Philadelphia.

fAdams, Robert
Aertsen, James M., Germantown
Allen, Samuel
Allen, William H.
fAllibone, Thomas
Allison, Walter
Alter, Solomon
Altemus, S. T.

Anspach, John, Jr.

Archer, Pierce, Jr.

fArmstrong, Edward, Germantown
Armstrong, William G.
Arrott, William
fAshbridge, William
Ashhurst, Henry
Ashhurst John
Ashhurst, John, Jr.

fAshhurst, Richard
Ashhurst, Richard, Jr.

Ashhurst, Richard L.

fAshmead, Samuel B.
Ashton, Samuel K., Germantown
fAtlee, Washington L.

Audenried, J. Thomas
fAudenried, Lewis
Austin, John B.

fBache, Franklin
fBackus, F. R.
Bailey, E. Westcott
Baird, Alexander
Baird, Henry C.

Baird, John
fBaird, Matthew
fBaird, William M.
Baker, Alfred G.
Baker, John R.
Baker, WT

illiam S.

fBalch, Thomas
Bald, J. Dorsey
fBalderston, Jonathan
tBaldwin, Matthias W.
Ball, George W.
fBarton, Isaac

Bates, Joseph William
Bates, Jos. Wm., Jr.

fBeck, Charles F.

Bell, Miss Helen
Benners, William J., Germantown
fBenson, Alexander, Jr.

Benson, Gustavus
Besson, Charles A.
Bettle, Samuel
Bettle, William
fBetton, Thomas F., Germantown
Biddle, Alexander
Biddle, Chapman
f Biddle, Charles J.

fBiddle, Clement
Biddle, Craig
Biddle, Edward C.

Biddle Henry D.
Biddle, James S.
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Biddlc. Thomas A.
Bines, Samuel M.

( Ocrmantown
tBlanchard, Will, am A.
Blight, Athcrton
Board man, Henry A.
Boker, Charles S.

Boiler, Frederick J.
fBond, James
Bond, L. Montgomery
Borie, Adolphc E.
Borie, Charles L.

Bowen, Ezra
fBrady, Patrick

fBreck, Samuel
Brewster, Benjamin Harris
Brick, Samuel K.
Bringhurst, John H.
Brock, John P.

Brockie, William, Gcrmantown
Brotherhead, William
fBrown, David S.

fBrown, Frederick
fBrovvn, John A.
fBrown, Joseph D.
fBrown, Washington, Chestnut Hill

fBrowne, N. B.

fBrowning, Edward
fBuck. Francis N., Chestnut Hill

Bullitt, John C.

fBunting, Jacob T.

fBurgin, George H.
Burgin, George H., Germantown
Burgin, Herman, Germantown
Burnham, George
Burns, Robert
Burroughs, Horatio N.
Burt, Nathaniel, Roxborough
fBusch, Edward
fButler, John M.
Cabeen, Francis von A., Germantown
Cadwalader, John
Cadwalader, Richard M.
fCadwalader, William
fCaldcleugh, William George
Caldwell, James E.

Caldwell, S. A.

fCampbell, Archibald, Germantown
fCannell, S. Wilmer, Bcechwood
fCarey, Henry C.

Carpenter, Edward
Carpenter, J. Edward
Carpenter, Joseph R.

fCarpenter, Samuel H.

fCarpenter, Samuel H., Jr.

Carson, Hampton L.

fCarson Joseph
Carter, William T.

Carver, Alexander B.

Cassatt, Robert S.

Cassidy, Lewis C.

fCastle, James H.
Caven, Joseph L.

Cavender, Thomas S.

Chambers, Harmon A.
Chandler, James B.

Chew, Samuel, Cliveden, Germant'n
Childs, George W.
Christian, Samuel J.

Claghorn, James L.

fClaghorn, John W.
Clark, Clarence H.
Clark, Edward XV.

fClark, Elisha W.
Clarke, Edward S.

Clayton, John
Coates, Benjamin
Coates, Benjamin H.
Coates, Henry T,

Cochran, Travis
Cochran, William G.
Coffin, Arthur G.
fColes, Edward
fColladav, George W.
fCollins, T. K.
fColwell, Stephen
Comegys, B. B.

Conarroe, George W.
Conrad, Thomas K.
Cooke, Jay
Cooke, Jay, Jr.

Cooley, Aaron B.

fCooper, Lewis
fCope, Alfred, Fairfield

Cope, Caleb
Cope, Francis R., Germantown
Cope, Thomas P., Jr., Germantown
Corlies, S. Fisher
Coxe, Brinton

f Cowan, Richard
fCrabb, William A.
Craig, Andrew C.
Cramp, Charles H.
Cramp, Henry W.
fCraven, Thomas
Cresson, Charles C.
fCresson, John C.
Cresson, William P.

fCrissy, James
fCroasdale, Jeremiah
fCroasdill, Charles W.
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Cummins, D. B.
Curtis, Joseph
Cushman, Herbert
fDa Costa, John C.
Darlev, Francis T. S.

fDayids, Hugh
Davies, Thomas F.

fDawson, Josiah
fDawson, Mordecai L.

Dawson, William
fDay, Alfred
fDerbyshire, Alexander J.
Dick, Franklin A.
Dickinson, Mahlon H.
fDickson, Levi
Dickson, L. Taylor
Disston, Albert H.
Disston, Hamilton
Disstory, Horace C.

Dougherty, Daniel
Dougherty, James
Dreer, Ferdinand J.

Drexel, Anthony J.
Duane, William
Du Barrv, J. N.
fDulty, William
fDundas, James
Dungan, Charles B.

fDunlap, Thomas
Earl, Harrison
Earle, James M.
fEariy, William
fEckert, George N.
Edwards, Richard S.

Eisenbrey, Edwin T.
Eisenbrey, William Harrison
Eldridge, G. Morgan
Elkin, Solomon
fElliott, Isaac

tEllis, Charles
Ellmaker, Peter C.
Elverson, James
Elwyn, Alfred Langdon
fEly, John
fEly, Miss Louisa, Germantown
Ely, William, Germantown
Emery, Titus S.

Emley, Gilbert

fEmory, Charles
fErrickson, Michael
Evans, Horace Y.
Evans, Joseph R.
fEvans, J. Wistar, Germantown
Fagan, George R.
fFagan, John

fFahnestock, B. A.

fFahnestock, George W.
Fallon, John
Farmer, James S.

fFarnum, John
Fay, William A.
fFcll, Franklin
fFell, J. Gillingham
fFenimore, Jason L.

Fernon, Thomas S.

fFish, A. J.

tFisher, Charles Henrv, Brookwood
fFisher, Miss Elizabeth' R., Wakefield,
Germantown

Fisher, George Harrison
Fisher, J. B.

Flanagan, James M.
Flanagan, Stephen
Fitler, Edwin H.
fFoster, William B., Jr.

fFoulke, William Parker
Foust, Robert M.
fFox, Charles P., Champ-lost
Fox, George S.

Fox, Miss Mary D., Champ-lost
Fox, Philip L.

Fox, William Logan
Fraley, Frederick
Franciscus, A. H.
Freas, P. R., Germantown
Freeman, Chapman
French, Samuel H.
Fritz, Horace
Frohmann, August
fFuller, Henry M.
fFullerton, Alexander
Furness, Horace Howard
Gallagher, Augustus B.

Gardette, Emile B.

Garrett, Thomas C, Germantown
Garrett, Walter
Garrett, William E., Jr.

fGaul, Frederick
Gaw, Alexander G.
Gawthrop, Henry
Gazzam, Joseph M.
fGerhard, Benjamin
Gerhard, John S.

Gest, John B.

Gibbons, Charles
Gibson, Henry C.

fGilbert, David
fGilbert, John
fGilpin, Henry D.
Goforth, John
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tGordon, N. P.

Gowen, Franklin D., Mount Airy
Graff, Frederick
Grant, Samuel, Jr.

Grant, William S.

tGratz, Robert H.
Gratz, Simon
Greble, Edwin
fGreeves, James R.
tGries, John M.
Grifiits, William F., Jr.

tGrigg, John
Grout, Henry T.
tGrugan, Charles
Gulager, William
fHacker Isaiah C.
fHacker, Jeremiah
fHacker, William E.
fHaines, Ann, Germantown
Hamilton, Charles L.

fHammersly, George
Hammond, Charles, Jr.

Hand, James C.
fHarlan, Charles

fHarmar, Charles, Harmar's Retreat
Harmar, James Lanman
Harrah, C. J.

Harris, Franklin M.
Harrison, Alfred C.
Harrison, Charles C.
Harrison, George L.

Harrison, John
tHarrison, Joseph, Jr.

Harrison, Thomas S.

Hart, Abraham
Hart, Thomas, Jr.

Hartshorne, Edward
Harvey, Alexander E.
fHaseltine, John
Haseltine, Ward B.

Haupt, Herman
Hay, Miss Mary
Hay, Thomas
tHazard, Erskine
fHazard, Samuel
fHeazlitt, Charles F.

Heberton, G. Craig •

Henry, Morton P.

Henszey, William C.

Hering, Constantine
Hildeburn, Henry M.
tHill, Marshall
Hilles, Nathan, Frankford
Hockley, John, Jr.

fHodge, Hugh L.

Hoffman, Francis S.

tHoilingsworth, Thomas G.

fHolsman, Daniel

tHone, Isaac S.

tHood, Samuel, Mount Airy

Hoopes, Penrose R.

Hopkins, Edward M.
tHorstmann, Sigmund H.
tHorstmann, William J.

Houston, Henry H., Germantown
Howard, Daniel W.
Howard, James W.
t Howard, N. G.

Huddv, Benjamin F.

Huff, John W.
Huidekoper, Rush Shippen
tHumphreys, Charles
tHunt, Benjamin P.

Huntington, L. C. L.

Hutchinson, Charles Hare
Hutchinson, Emlen
Ingersoll, Charles
flngersoll, Joseph R.
Ingram, Harlan
flngram, Thomas R.
Iseminger, Charles F.

Jackson, Charles M.
Jacobs, William Boyd
James, John O.

tjames, Thomas C.

Jamison, B. K.

Janney, George
Jayne, E. C.

tjayne, David W.
Jeanes, William C.

Jenkins, Jabez, Jr.

Jenks, Barton H.
Jenks, John S.

Jenks, William H.
Jenks, William P.

Jennings, N, A.
Johnson, John G.

tjohnson, Lawrence
Johnson, R. Winder
tjohnston, Alexander
Johnston, William Stoddart
Jones, Caleb
Jones, Horatio Gates, Roxbcrough
Jordan, Edgar F.

Jordan, Francis
Jordan, John, Jr.

Justice, Philip S.

Kane, Robert P.

Kay, J. Alfred
Keating, William V.
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Keith, Charles Penrose
Kellev, William D.
Kemble, William H.
fKempton, James C, Manavunk
Kent, William C.
Kern, William H.
Kessler, John, Jr.

Keyser, Charles S.

fKeyser, Peter A.
IKimball. Stephen
Kimber, Thomas, Jr.

fKing, C. Murray
King, D. Rodney
fKing, Robert P.

Kirkbride, Thomas S.

fKirkham, William
Kirkpatrick, Edwin
Kirtley, Thomas H.
Kneass, Strickland
Kneedler, J. S.

Knight, Edward C.

Knowles, George L.

Koecker, Leonard R.
fKuhn, Hartman
fKuhn, J. Hamilton
Lambdin, James R., Germantown
Landreth, Oliver
Lea, Henry C.
Lea, Isaac

Lee, George F.

Leedom, Benjamin J., Germantown
fLehman, William H.
Lejee, William R.
fLennig, Frederick
fLevering, Lemuel S.

fLevy, Lyon Joseph
fLewis, Ellis

Lewis, George T.

Lewis, Henry
Lewis, John T.

fLewis, Mordecai D.
fLindsay, John
Lippincott, J. B.

Littell, C. Willing, Germantown
fLocke, Zebulon
Long, James
Longstreth, William C.
Lovering, Joseph S., Oak Hill

fLowry, Robert O.

fLukens, Casper P.

Lucas, John
Library, Athenaeum
Library, Carpenters' Company, re-

newed
Library Company, Philadelphia

Library of the Grand Lodge of Masons
of Pennsylvania

Library, Mercantile
Library, Presbyterian Historical So-

ciety, renewed
Library Company, Southwark
McAllister, James W.
McAllister, John A.
McArthur, John, Jr.

McCall, Harrv
McCall, John C.

fMcCanles, John
Mclntyre, Archibald
fMcKibben, William C.

McKean, H. Pratt, Germantown
McMahon, George W.
fMcMichael, Morton
fMacalester, Charles, Torresiale
Macdowell, William H.
fMaceuen, Malcolm
Mackellar, Thomas, Germantown
MacVeagh, Wayne
Maddock, Edward
Magarge, Charles, Germantown
fMagee, James
fMalone, Benjamin
Manderson, Andrew
Mann, William B.

Mann, William J.

fMarkley, Edward C.

Marsh, Benjamin V.
fMarshall, Benjamin
fMartin, George H.
Martin, John Hill

Mason, Samuel
fMassey, Robert V.
Maule, Edward C.

Meade, George
Megargee, Svlvster J.

fMeredith, William M.
fMercer, Singleton A.

fMerrick, Samuel V.
Michener, Israel

Michener, John H.
fMicklev, Joseph J.
fMiddleton, E. P.

Middleton, Nathan
fMiles, Edward Harris
fMiller, Andrew
fMiller, E. Spencer
Miller, J. Christian

Mitchell, James T.
Mitchell, John C.

fMitchell, John K.

fMitchell, Thomas S.
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Mitchell, William A.
Montgomery, John T.
Monges, Gordon
fMoore, Bloomfield H.
Morris, Casper
Morris, Charles M.
Morris, Israel

fMorris, Jacob G.
Muirheid, Charles H.
fMyers, Joseph B.

Nei'll, John
Newbold, James S.

Newbold, John S.

fNewbold, William H.
Newhall, Thomas A., Germantown
fNewkirk Matthew
Newland,,Edward
Newton, Richard
Nicholson, James B.

Nicholson, Richard L.

fNorris, George W.
Norris, Miss Hannah Fox
Norris, Isaac

fNorris, Samuel
fNotman, John
Ogden, Charles S.

Ogden, John M.
fCrne, James H.

fPalmer, Jonathan
Parrish, Dillwyn
Parrish, Samuel
Parrv, Charles T.

Paschall, Robert S.

Patten, William
Patterson, Robert
Patterson, Robert
Paul, Bettle

Paul, James
Paul, James W.
Pawson, James
fPaxton, Joseph R.

fPeace, Edward
Peirce, William S.

Pemberton, Israel

Pennypacker, Samuel W.
Pepper, George N.
Pepper, George S.

fPepper, Henry-

Pepper, Lawrence S.

fPeters, Francis
Philler, George
Phillips, Henry M.
Phillips, Horace
Phillips, Moro
Phillips, Samuel R.

fPlatt, William, Jr.

fPleasants, Samuel
f Plitt, George
Porter, William A.
Postlethwaite, Edward T.
Potter, Alfred R.

Potts, Joseph D.
Powell, Washington B.

fPowers, Thomas H.
Price, Eli K.
Price, J. Sergeant
f Price, Richard

fPrimrose, William
fPringle, James S.

Purves, William
Queen, Frank
fRandall, Josiah
fRandolph, Edward T.
Randolph, Evan
fRandolph, Nathaniel
Rau, Edward H.
Rawle, William Brooke
Rawde, William Henry
fReeves, Samuel J.

fRemington, Thomas P.

Repplier, John G.

f Repplier, Joseph M.
Rice, John
Richardson, Richard
Richardson, Thomas
Ritchie, Craig D.

fRitter, Jacob B.

Robbins, John
f Roberts, Algernon S.

Roberts, Charles
Roberts, George H.
Roberts, Solomon W.
Roberts, William R.

Robins, Thomas
fRogers, Alfred W.
Rogers, Charles H.
Rogers, Fairman
fRowland, William

fRupp, J. Daniel

fRutter, Robert L.

f Ryerss, Joseph W.
Santee, Charles

fSargent, Winthrop
Scattergood, George J.

Schaffer, Charles
Scott, James P.

Scott, Lewis A.
Scott, Thomas A.
Scull, David, Jr.

Scull, Edward L.





506

Seal, Joseph H.
Sellers, David W.
Sellers, John, Jr.

Sellers, William
Seltzer, J. H.
Sergeant, J. Dickinson
fSergeant, Thomas
fSergeant, William
Sexton, John W.
fSharpless, Henry H. G.
Sharpless, Nathan H.
Sharpless, Samuel J.

Sharswood, George
Sheafer, William H.
Shelton, F. R.

Sheppard, Furman
Sherman, Roger
Shipley, Augustus B., Germantown
fShippen, Franklin
fShippen, William
Shober, Samuel L.

Shoemaker, Benjamin H.
Simons, Henry
Sinclair, Thomas
fSingerly, Joseph
Smedley, Samuel L.

Smith, Aubrey H.
Smith, A. Lewis
fSmith, Beaton
Smith, Benjamin R.
Smith, Charles E.
Smith, Davis R.
Smith, Elwood M.
Smith, George Plumer
Smith, James C.
Smith, Jesse E.
Smith, John F.
Smith, Joseph P.

Smith, Lewis Wain
fSmith, Newberry A.
Smith, Richard
Smith, Richard S.

Smith, Robert
Smith, Robert P., Germantown
Smith, Samuel Grant
Smyth, Lindley
Solms, Sidney J.

Sower, Charles G.
Spackman, John B.
Spangler, C. E.
fSparks, Thomas
Sparks, Thomas W.
Speel, Joseph A.
Spencer, Charles, Germantown
Spencer, Howard

Spencer, James S.

fSpooner, Edwin
fSproat, Harris L.

Steel, Edward T., Germantown
Steele, James L.

fSteever, Henry D., Germantown
fStevens, James E. P., Germantown
Stille, Alfred
Stille, Charles J.

Stocker, Anthony E.
tStokes, William A.
Stone, Frederick D., Germantown
Stone, James N.
fStone, William E., Germantown
Stuart, George H.
Stoddart, Curwen
tStruthers, William
fSully, Thomas
Swain, Charles M.
Swift, Joseph
Taggart, William H.
Tasker, Stephen P. M.
Tasker, Thomas T.

fTasker, Thomas T., Jr.

Taylor, Enoch, Germantown
Taylor, Samuel L.

fTaylor, Stephen
Thomas, George C.

fThomas, John Dover
fThomas, Joseph M.
fThomas, Martin
Thomas, William B.

Thomas, William G.
Thompson, E. O.

fThompson, John J.

fThompson, Oswald
{Thomson, George H., Germantown
{Thomson, J. Edgar
Thomson, William
Thorn, George W.
Tobias, Joseph F.

fToland, Henry
Tower, Charlemagne, Jr.

Townsend, Henry C.
Traquair, James
Trautwine, John C.

Trotter, Charles W.
Trotter, Joseph H.
Trotter, Newbold H.
Trotter, William Henry'
Trump, Daniel
Tucker, John
fTurnbull, William P.

Turnpenny, Joseph C.

Tyler, George F.
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Tyndale, Hector
fTyson, Job R.
Valentine, John K.
fVan Syckel, James J.

Vaux, George
Vaux, Roberts
Vaux, William S.

Veiree, John P.

Von Utassy, A. W., Germantown
Wagner, Charles M.
Wagner, Mrs. Mary-
Walker, Jerry
Walker, R. J, C.
Wallace, John William
fWaln, S. Morris
Ward, Townsend
fWarder, Benjamin H.
fWarner, Joseph
Warner, Redwood F.
Watkins, Samuel P., Jr.

Watson, George N.
Webster, David
Webster, Thomas
Weightman, William
Wells, Wm. Lehman
Welsh, John
Welsh, Samuel
Westergaard, Lars
Westcott, Thompson
Wetherill, John Price

Wetherill, Samuel
fWharton, George M.
Wharton, Joseph
fWharton, Thomas J.
fWhitall, John M.
White, C. Brooke
White, William R.

fWhiternan, William A.

fWhitney, Asa
Wilcocks, Alexander
Willcox, Mark
Williams, Edward H.
Williams, Francis H.
fWilliams, Henry J., Chestnut Hill

Williams, Isaac L.

fWilliams, James W.
f Wilson, Oliver Howard
Wilson, W. Hasell
fWilson, William S.

Wiltbank, Wm. W.
Winsor, Henry
Wistar, Dillwyn
fWistar, Mifflin

fWistar, Richard
Wister, Casper
Womrath, F. K.
Wood, George A.

fWood, George B.

Wood, James F.

Wood, Richard
Wood, Robert
Wood, R. Francis
Wood, Walter
Woodward, H. C.

Workman, Henry Weir
fWorrell, James C.

Wright, John
Wurts, Charles Stewart
fWynkoop, Francis M.
fYarnall, Charles
fYarnall, Edward
Yarnall, Ellis

Yarnall, Francis C.
Yarrow, Mrs. Matilda

fZiegler, George K.

RHODE ISLAND.

Cooke, Joseph ]., Providence Harris, C. Fiske, Providence

Armstrong, Miss Julia M
Albemarle Co.

fConway, Henry R., Stafford C. H.
Daniel, Peter V., Richmond

VIRGINIA

Keswick, Dulany, Henry Grafton, Jr., Wel-
bourne Hail, Loudon Co.

fFoote, William Henry, Romney

WASHINGTON, D. C.

Bancroft, George
Library of the Department of State

McElhone, John J.

Pickett, John T.

Riggs, George W.
Strong, William
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UNITED STATES ARMY.

Crosman, George H. tGraham, James D.

Cullum, George W. Humphreys, A. A.

Davis, Charles L. Kendig, Daniel

fGarrard, Kenner fMcCall, George A.

Gibson, George, Jr. Pollock, O. W.

UNITED STATES NAVY.

fFoltz, Jonathan M. Lardner, James L.

fGillis, John P. Ruschenberger, W. S. W.

CANADA.
Cawthra, William, Toronto Redpath, Peter, for McGill College,

Montreal

CUBA.

Guiteras, Eusebio, Matanzas Guiteras, Pedro J., Matanzas

ENGLAND.

Biddle-Cope, James, Worcester Col- Penn-Gaskell, Peter, of Shannagarry,
lege, Oxford Ireland, and London

fHunter, John, Liverpool Schenley, Mrs. Mary, Prince's Gate,

McHenry, George, London Hyde Park, London
Man, William, London Scull, Gideon D., The Laurels, Houns-
fPeabody, George, London low Heath
fPenn, Granville John, Pennsylvania Stuart, William, Tempsford Hall, San-

Castle, Isle of Portland dy, Bedfordshire
Timmins, Samuel, Birmingham

FRANCE.

Camac, J. Burgess, Dinard, Ille et Stewart, William H., Paris

Vilaine Van der Kemp, John J., Paris

GERMANY.

tFreytag, Godfrey, Bremen Weber, Paul, Munich
Plate, Theophilus, Jr. Wicht, William V., Nassau

HOLLAND.

fAlofsen, Solomon
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ITALY.

Wickersham, Morris S., Piacenza.

AUSTRALIA.
The Public Library and Museums of Victoria, Melbourne.

BEQUESTS.
James Hamilton, Carlisle, Pa., $500. Ann Willing Jackson, Phila., $100.

Stephen Taylor, $1000.

WORKS ALREADY ISSUED BY THE FUND.

History of Braddock's Expedition.

Contributions to American History, 1858.

Record of Upland, and Denny's Military Journal.

Republication of Memoirs of the Society, Vol. I.

Minutes of the Committee of Defence of Philadelphia.

Penn and Logan Correspondence, Vol. I.

Penn and Logan Correspondence, Vol. II.

Acrelius's New Sweden. Translated by Reynolds.

An Historical Map of Pennsylvania.

Heckewelder's History of the Indian Nations.

The Pennsylvania Magazine of History and Biography, Vol. I.

« tt a n u Vol. II.

" "•« "
, " " Vol. III.
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